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1.  Ashuganj Fertilizer & 

Chemical Com. Ltd. & ors.  

Vs. 

 Md. Abu Sufian Bhuiyan 

& anr.   

 

(Syed Mahmud Hossain 

C.J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] AD 1 

Dismissed from 

service, 

termination 

simpliciter 

 

The orders of termination were not 

termination simpliciter. Consequently, this is 

the outcome of arbitrary exercise of power 

in a malafide way and as such, the High 

Court Division was justified in making the 

Rule absolute declaring the orders of 

termination to have been passed without 

lawful authority and to be of no legal effect. 

 

There was an inquiry about the appointment 

of the writ-petitioner and pursuant to the 

said inquiry, the writ-petitioner were 

terminated from service. Therefore, it cannot 
be said that the writ-petitioner were 

terminated from service and in fact, they 

were dismissed from service in the garb of 

termination 

 2. Mir Showkat Ali & ors.  

Vs.  

Md. Morsalin Khan & ors.   

 

(Muhammad Imman Ali, J)   

 

12 SCOB [2019] AD 8 

 

Authority of the 

Executive 

Committee of 

the Orphanage 

to deal with 

property; 

 

The Management/Executive Committee of 

the Orphanage had no authority to deal with 

the land other than for the purpose stipulated 

in the indentures. Those persons at the helm 

of the affairs of the Orphanage could not 

arrogate to themselves the authority to 

transfer the title in the property, which they 

themselves did not have. The Orphanage 

was given the property on a short term lease, 

which was apparent from the lease deeds. As 

long as these lease deeds existed and as long 

as the terms were not altered by the 
executant of the deeds none had the 

authority to deal with the land other than the 

purpose for which the lease was granted. 

 

3.  BADC Dhaka & ors.  

Vs.  

Md. Shohidul Islam & ors. 

  

 

 (Hasan Foez Siddique, J)  

 

12 SCOB [2019] AD  23  

Voluntary 

retirement of 

service; 

After 10 years of their voluntary retirement 

and after receiving full financial benefits as 

offered the prayers for reinstatement cannot 

be termed as reasonable and fair. After 

having applied for voluntary retirement of 

service and taken the money it is not open to 

contend that they exercised the option under 

any kind of coercion and undue influence. 
Who had accepted the ex gratia payment or 

any other benefit under the scheme, could 

not have resiled therefrom. It became past 

and closed transaction. The writ petitioners 

having accepted the benefit could not be 

permitted to approbate and reprobate nor 

they be permitted to resile from their earlier 
stand.   

 

 



Cases of the Appellate Division 

4.  Rashed  

Vs.  

The State   

 

(MIRZA HUSSAIN 

HAIDER, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] AD 34 

Dying 

declaration, 

section 32(1) of 

the Evidence 

Act 1872; 

 

Dying declaration cannot be considered as 

the sole basis for conviction and awarding 

sentence to the appellant, specifically in the 

absence of any of the witnesses who were 

present in the hospital during the time when 

the alleged dying declaration was made by 

such a critically injured person who was 

under intensive care and not supposed to be 

in conscious. As such the finding of the 

High Court Division that ‘the prosecution 
has clearly established the motive of the case 

and the oral dying declaration has also been 

supported by the medical evidence and other 

circumstances and materials on record’ is 

not sustainable in law. 
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1.  Liberty Fashion Wears 

Limited 

-Versus- 

Bangladesh Accord 

Foundation  and others   
 

(Tariq ul Hakim)  

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD1  

 

 Article 102(2) of 

the Constitution.  

For Article 102 (2) to be attracted  however 

the petitioner must be aggrieved by an action 

of a person  performing functions “in 

connection with the affairs of the Republic”, 

or local authority or statutory body and he 
should be without  any other alternative 

remedy or redress . The remedy sought by 

the petitioner is simply a direction on the 

Respondent No. 1 for inspecting the 

petitioner’s factory and publishing the 

findings in its website. If the petitioner’s 

factor is unsafe and not fit in any way then 
the  Respondent No. 1  has nothing to loose. 

The petitioner  cannot seek remedy from the 

Civil Court or any other forum in the form of 

a direction since there is no contractual 

relationship with the respondent   No. 1. 

Similarly an action for defamation also will 

not serve any purpose since  the petitioner 

wants  the Respondent No. 1 to publish the 

accurate condition of its factory. Thus to 

compel the Respondent No. 1 to inspect its 

factory and  publish the findings in its 

website  the petitioner  does  not appear to 

have any other alternative remedy. In such 

view of the matter therefore this Rule is also 

maintainable under Article 102 (2).   

2.  Md. Reza Kamal  

-Versus- 

Secretary, Ministry of 

Civil  Aviation, 

Bangladesh 

Secretariat, Ramna, 

Dhaka and others 

 

(Tariq ul Hakim, J.) 

 

12SCOB[2019]HCD 15 

Promotion solely 

on the basis of an 

interview. 

In Bangladesh Vs. Shafiuddin Ahmed 

reported in 50 DLR (AD) 27 it has been  

clearly  stated that  marks fixed  for interview  

should be  kept  to a minimum  so that  the 

accumulated credits achieved by the 

candidates over  the years in their respective  

ACRs should not be  disregarded  by a 

momentary impression created in the minds 

of the Interview Board. 

However as stated earlier, such practice  for 

providing promotion to the employees solely 

on the basis of an interview is unfair  and 

creates sufficient  scope for arbitrariness and 

unlawful decisions  for which  aggrieved  

persons may  take the opportunity  of getting  

redress.  It is therefore hoped that the 

respondents Biman authority shall take 
appropriate measure in this regard  to fill up 

the lacuna. In this respect it is  to be pointed 

out that  in several decisions in the Indian 

jurisdiction including B.V. Sivalah V. K. 

Addanki Babu reported in  1998  6 SCC  720  

as well as  Horigovind Yadav  Vs.Rewa Sidhi 

Gramin Bank and others  in  (2006) 6 SCC 



Cases of the High Court Division 

 
Sl. 

No. 

Name of the Parties 

and Citation 
Key Word Short Ratio 

 

145  promotions  with seniority were given  

to certain officers  with retrospective  effect 

for not having been promoted earlier for the 

ends of justice  and in the instant case we 

feel that  the petitioner  is in a  similar   
position  and  has been  deprived unlawfully  

by an unfair method of selection for 

promotion and deserves to  be  promoted  

along with  those listed  in the impugned 

order 

3.  Dr. A. Y. M. Akramul 

Hoque 

-Versus- 

Government of the 

People’s Republic of 

Bangladesh and others  
 

(MOYEENUL ISLAM 

CHOWDHURY, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 24 

Exhaustion of 

efficacious 

remedy provided 

by law: How far it 

bars the invocation 

of the writ 

jurisdiction,  
 

Liberal 

interpretation of 

Equality before 

law: 

There is a constitutional bar to the invocation 

of the writ jurisdiction of the High Court 

Division under Article 102(2)(a) of the 

Constitution, if there is any other equally 

efficacious remedy provided by law.  

   

If any impugned action is wholly without 
jurisdiction in the sense of not being 

authorized by the statute or is in violation of 

a constitutional provision, a Writ Petition 

will be maintainable without exhaustion of 

the statutory remedy. Besides, on the ground 

of mala fides, the petitioner may come up 

with a Writ Petition bypassing the statutory 
alternative remedy.  It is well-settled that 

mala fides goes to the root of jurisdiction and 

if the impugned action is mala fide, the 

alternative remedy provided by the statute 

need not be availed of.    

    

Equality before law” is not to be interpreted 
in its absolute sense to hold that all persons 

are equal in all respects disregarding 

different conditions and circumstances in 

which they are placed or special qualities and 

characteristics which some of them may 

possess but which are lacking in others. The 

term “equal protection of law” is used to 

mean that all persons or things are not equal 

in all cases and that persons similarly 

situated should be treated alike. Equal 

protection is the guarantee that similar 

people will be dealt with in a similar way and 

that people of different circumstances will 
not be treated as if they were the same.  

      

When a case can be decided without striking 

down the law but giving the relief to the 

petitioners, that course is always better than 

striking down the law.”      
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and Citation 
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4.  Shakwat Hossain 

Bhuiyan  

-Versus- 

Bangladesh and others 

 
(Md. Emdadul Huq, J; 

F.R.M. Nazmul 

Ahasan, J; Md. Abu 

Zafor Siddique, J)   

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 39 

Article 102 of the 

Constitution of the 

People’s Republic 

of Bangladesh, 

Article 66 of the 
Constitution of the 

People’s Republic 

of Bangladesh 

Public Interest 

Litigation, 

Election 

Commission, 

It is now a well settled proposition of law 

that if there is efficacious and alternative 

remedy is available, a writ petition under 

Article 102 of the Constitution is not 

maintainable. Admittedly it has been raised 
whether Article 125 of the Constitution puts 

a bar in the instant case in hand. Admittedly 

as per the aforesaid provision of law there is 

a legal bar questioning the result of the 

election declared by the commission except 

following the provisions of RPO. In the 

present case in hand it appears that the 
petitioner in the disguise of Article 102 of 

the Constitution trying to enforce the 

provisions of RPO. In the present case in 

hand it further appears that the question as 

raised by the petitioner regarding certain 

declarations made by the respondent No.7 

before the Election Commission which is 

completely a dispute to be resolved by the 

competent authority as provided in the 

Represented People Order (RPO). 

 

It follows that the petitioner can very 

well seek a remedy under article 102 (2) 

(b) (ii), of course subject to the condition 

that no other efficacious remedy is 

available to him. In seeking a remedy 

under clause 102(2)(b)(ii). He does not 

have to be an aggrieved person for filing 

this case.  

  

The underlying principle of a writ quo 

warranto, as interpreted by the Supreme 

Court of India and as quoted above, is 

clearly the same as enshrined in clause 

102(2) (b) (ii) of our Constitution. Under 

this clause, “any person” can file an 

application and this court can, upon such 

an application, exercise the jurisdiction a 

writ of quo warranto. The applicant is not 

required to be “an aggrieved person” as 

opposed to the requirement of clause (1) 

and (2) (a) of article 102 under which a 

public interest ligation may be filed. In 

such a case the duty of this is court to 

hold an inquiry on the allegation and to 

arrive at a decision keeping in view of 

the legal and factual issues. 
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and Citation 
Key Word Short Ratio 

 

 

(a) The issue of maintainability on 

account of standing of the petitioner to 

file this case under article 102(2)(b)(ii) 

(Issue No. 1)  is a purely legal issue, and 

it has been held that the case is 

maintainable on that count.  

 

(b) The issue of maintainability on 

account of the bar or restriction imposed 

by article 125 of the Constitution (Issue 

No. 2) is purely a legal issue, and it has 

been held that article 125 article is not a 

legal bar to entertain this case and that 

the case is maintainable. 

  

More over admittedly he was relased 

before expiry of 10 years. In such a back 

ground, it is the well settled principle of 

law that the fact of merely raising a claim 

different to the claim of jail authority or 

the finding of this court does not render it 

as a disputed question of fact. In fact, the 

date of his release as decided by this 

court as being on 01.06.2006 goes to his 

benefit in calculating the period of 

sentence served out by him and the 

quantam of remission permissible to him. 

If the date of his release claimed by him 

being 01.12.2005 is taken as correct he 

would be required to serve a longer 

period. So the issue of date release is not 

a disputed question of fact.    

(Ratio of Md. Emdadul Huq, J 
 

Article 66(2) of the Constitution of the 

People’s Republic of Bangladesh and the 

Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO relates to the 

election disputes triable before the election 

Tribunal. These factual aspect of the writ 

petition which discussed above are not 

admitted rather, it is disputed in different 

aspect and without taking evidence about the 

disputed fact of date of release of the 

respondent No.7 from Jail custody, the 

calculation of blood donation to the Sandhani 

and the special remission provided in the Jail 

Code which is recorded in the history ticket, 
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Sl. 

No. 
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and Citation 
Key Word Short Ratio 

 

it cannot be decided in a summary 

proceeding in the writ petition. 

 

In this respect Article 125 of the Constitution 

of Bangladesh is very much applicable in the 
facts and circumstances of the case. 

Particularly, the facts and circumstances 

arises in the writ petition is a clear bar as this 

type of dispute cannot be decided without 

any evidence both oral and documentary. 

 

An election dispute can only be raised by 
way of an election in the manner provided 

therein. Where a right or liability is created 

by a statute providing special remedy for its 

enforcement such remedy as a matter of 

course must be availed of first. The High 

Court Division will not interfere with the 

electoral process as delineated earlier in this 

judgment, more so if it is an election 

pertaining to Parliament because it is 

desirable that such election should be 

completed within the time specified under 

the Constitution. In the instant case, a serious 

dispute as to the correct age of the appellant 

was raised before the High Court Division 

which was not at all a subject matter of 

decision on mere affidavits and certificates 

produced by the parties. 

 

As regards the first ground, it may be stated 

that if the purpose of the writ petition was 
only to challenge the election of the appellant 

on the alleged ground of his being a defaulter 

then we would have felt no hesitation to 

declare at once that the writ petition was not 

maintainable. Indeed, we have already held 

while rejecting CPSLA No.21 of 1988 

(quoted in the affidavit-in-opposition) that 

“such questions as to disqualification, etc. 

which are questions of fact are better settled 

upon evidence which can be done more 

appropriately before a Tribunal. In the 

summary proceeding under Article 102 it is 

not desirable and, more often than not, not 

possible to record a finding as to a disputed 

question of fact.” 

5.  Md. Rafiqul Islam and 

others.  

-Versus- 
 Md. Abdul Hadis  

Ingredients to 

prove the suit for 

specific 
performance of 

In a suit for Specific Performance of 

Contract the essential ingredients which 

the plaintiffs are required to prove in 

order to succeed in a suit for Specific 



Cases of the High Court Division 

 
Sl. 

No. 

Name of the Parties 

and Citation 
Key Word Short Ratio 

 

 

(Md. Rais Uddin, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

121 

Contract; 
 

Performance of Contract, are that the 

Bainapatra is genuine, considerations 

money passed by the parties and delivery 

of possession was given in pursuance 

thereof.  

6.  British American 

Tobacco Bangladesh 

Company Ltd. 

-Versus- 

Begum Shamsun 

Nahar 
 

(Syed Md. Ziaul 

Karim, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

125 

Principle to amend 

Pleadings; 

We find that one of the fundamental 

principles governing the amendment of the 

pleadings is that all the controversies 

between the parties as far as possible should 

be included and multiplicity of the 

proceedings avoided.  

7.  Proshika Manobik 

Unnayan Kendro  

-Versus- 

 The Commissioner of 

Taxes and others.  

 
(Borhanuddin, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

129 

 Section 158 of the 

Income Tax 

Ordinance 1984:  

 

The proviso to Sub-Section (2) of section 

158 of the Ordinance vests discretion with 

the Commissioner of Taxes to reduce 

statutory requirement of payment under Sub-

Section(2) of section 158 of the Ordinance, if 

the grounds stated in the  application filed by 
the assessee applicant under the proviso 

appears reasonable to him/her. From the 

language of the proviso, we do not find any 

statutory duty of the CT to pass an order 

assigning reason.     

   

Though there is no requirement to give an 

opportunity of hearing to the assessee-

applicant or recording reason, but still the 

Commissioner of Taxes should be aware that 

his /her order must reflect reasonableness 

from where it can be transpire that the   

Commissioner of Taxes applied his/her 

judicial mind in passing the order. But for 

inadequacy or absence of reasonableness, the 

order cannot be set aside. It is discretion of 

the Commissioner of Taxes. 

 

8.  Begum Khaleda Zia  

-Versus- 

Anti Corruption 

Commission (ACC) 

Dhaka and another 

(Obaidul Hassan, J) 

12 SCOB [2019] 

HCD136  

 

 

Cr.PC section 

540A  

In the case at hand, we find that the Petition 

under section 540A was filed by the Public 

Prosecutor, though it has not been expressly 

mentioned whether the Public Prosecutor can 

file such an application; the Code does not 

prevent the Public Prosecutor from filing as 

such. The case reported in 14 DLR, aides us 

in concluding that, where there is no such 

provision preventing the Public Prosecutor 

from filing such an application, there is no 
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harm if the Public Prosecutor draws the 

attention of the Court by filing such an 

application for the sake of expedition and 

deliverance of Justice 

 

9.  Begum Khaleda Zia  

-Versus- 

 State & another 

(M. Enayetur Rahim, 

J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

146    

Section 5 (2) of 

Prevention of 

Corruption 

Act,1947, Section 

409/109 of the 

panel Code, 

Corruption, Prime 

Ministers 

orphanage Fund, 

Misappropriation, 

Criminal design. 

Facilitating misappropriation of the fund 

which was meant to be used for welfare of 

orphans, particularly when Begum Zia, the 

Prime Minister, had entrustment and 

dominion over it indisputably shocks the 

human conscience and such act reflects a 

mindset derogatory to humankind. Obviously 

Begum Zia had liability and obligation to 

look after whether the Trust so formed was 

in actual existence. But she did not do it. 

Thus Begum Zia was a conscious part of a 

designed plan to the criminal acts 
constituting the offence of Criminal breach 

of Trust as defined in section 405 of Penal 

Code.            
 

Merely for the reason of political identity of 

a person prosecuted for an offence 

punishable under the penal law it cannot be 

said that she has been brought to justice on 

political victimization.    

         

We do not find any legal justification and 

cogent ground to award lesser punishment to 
the principal offender Begum Zia than the 

other convicts who were the abators, 

considering her political and social status. 

   

We consider it appropriate that justice would 

be met if the maximum sentence prescribed 

in section 409 of the Penal Code is awarded 

to Begum Zia so that the persons enjoying 

the highest position in any organ or any 

public office of the State thinks twice to go 

ahead with such criminal design in coming 

days. 
 

10.  Softesule Private 

Limited  

-Versus- 

Govt. of Bangladesh 

& ors.       

 

(Naima Haider, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

205  

CPTU, Rule 60 of 

the PPR, Review 

Panel, NOC 

 

It has been settled by this Division that when 

a proceeding is initiated which affects the 

rights of a party, the party whose right would 

be affected is to be given the opportunity to 

represent its case, whether statutory 

contemplated or not.  
 

The Review Panel cannot, in exercising 

powers under Rule 60 of the PPR, proceed to 

assume more powers than actually conferred. 

In the instant case, the Review Panel has 
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 exceeded jurisdiction and therefore, its 

findings cannot be sustained.   
 

It serves no purpose if the petitioner is 

awarded the tender but the NOC is not 

issued.  
 

We take the view that the failure of the 

respondents in issuing the NOC is manifestly 

arbitrary and without lawful authority.  
 

11.  Azadul Islam and 

others. 

-Versus- 

Most. Asis Bewa and 

others. 

 

(Md. Rezaul Hasan, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

211 

 

Declaration of 

Title and 

permanent 

injunction,  

Lawful possession  

I am also of opinion that, in a suit for 

permanent injunction, this Court should 

satisfy itself as regards the lawful nature of 

the plaintiffs’ possession. In a suit for 

permanent injunction, the issue regarding 

title need not be and should not be 

conclusively decided, because the purpose of 

granting the relief of permanent injunction is 

to prevent forceful ouster of an apparently 

lawful occupant of the suit property, thereby 

disapproving the act of taking law into the 
defendants own hands. Nonetheless, the 

court should incidentally look into the title or 

other lawful basis of the plaintiffs acquiring 

and continuing in possession, to satisfy itself 

that the plaintiff is not an usurper or 

trespasser or a land grabber and that he has 

come in clean hands. 
 

12.  Md. Hossen and 

others. 

-Versus- 
Haji Shamsunnahar 

Begum and others. 

 

(Md. Rezaul Hasan, J) 
 
12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

215 

Order 1 Rule 10 of 

the Code of Civil 

Procedure, Co-
plaintiffs, interest , 

the Waqf Estate in 

the suit property 

The applicant Md. Hossen and others, who 

had filed the application under Order 1 Rule 

10 of the Code of Civil Procedure, were not 
entitled to be added as plaintiffs as heirs of 

deceased plaintiff No. 2 Haji Badsha Miah. 

Because, the admitted position is that, the 

suit property has been claimed (in the plaint) 

as the property of Abdul Nabi Malum Waqf 

Estate, not personal property of Haji Badsha 

Miah.    
 

As such, the added plaintiff-petitioners have 

denied the interest of the Waqf Estate in the 

suit property by asserting their personal right 

in the same. Hence, their interest in the suit 
property is in conflict with that of the 

(surviving) plaintiff who claims herself as 

the sole Motwali (Manager) of the Waqf 

Estate, since another Motwali (plaintiff No. 

2) has died.  

     

Therefore, the interest claimed by the 

petitioner being in clear conflict with that 

claimed by the plaintiff, these Md. Hossen 
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and 4 other are not entitled to be added as co-

plaintiffs.              

13.  Kapasia Overseas Ltd. 

-versus- 

Government of the 

People’s of  

Bangladesh, and 

others.  

 

(Md. Faruque (M. 

Faruque, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

219 

 

Emigration 

Ordinance, 

recruiting license 

being, Emigration 

Ordinance, 1982, 

 section 14 of the 

Emigration 

Ordinance, 1982, 

cancellation of the 

license and 

forfeiture of 

securities 

It is a mandatory provision of law that before 

cancellation of a license, the authority must 

give a chance to the licensee of being heard, 

failing which the cancellation has no basis in 

the eye of law.      
 

In this case, the order does not show nor 

there is anything on record to show that the 

respondent has given any chance of hearing 

to the petitioner before making such an order 

of cancellation and forfeiture of securities. 

Therefore, the order is violative of the 

section 14(1) of the ordinance and was thus 

bad in law.              
 

The writ Court will not examine and weigh 

the aggrieved person’s case on merit as an 

Appellate Court but to ensure that he was 
given a fair deal by the authority in 

accordance with law. 
 

14.  Shahina Begum  

-Versus- 

 Election Commission 

of Bangladesh & ors. 

(F.R.M. Nazmul 

Ahasan, J) 

 
12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

225 

 Valid Candidate , 

Election 

Commission, Re-

election, schedule 

of re-election, rule 

37 (3) of Local 

Government 
Pourashava 

Election  Rules 

2010; 

That the period between the declaration of 

schedule of election till the publication of the 

result in the official gazette has been held to 

be comprised in the election process. The 

case in our hand it appears that the petitioner 

filed writ petition before this court invoking 

the Article 102 of the Constitution before 
publication of the official gazette. As such 

the writ petition is not maintainable and the 

rule is liable to be discharged.  
 

15.  Monto Sheikh & ors.  

-Versus- 

 Ibrahim Miah & ors. 

 (F.R.M. Nazmul 

Ahasan, J) 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

231 

It is also settled 

that the defendants 

may have 

thousand of defect 

but it does not 

help the plaintiff 

to prove their 
case: 

It appears that the plaintiff could not prove 

their case that they have any title in the suit 

land and also the possession. The main 

reasoning of this findings stated above that 

the basis of the title of the plaintiff is the 

settlement which was cancelled and the order 

of cancellation is in existence.   

16.   The State  

-Versus- 

Oyshee rahman 

 
(Jahangir Hossain, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

238  

Mitigating factors 

to consider the 

lesser punishment 

from death 
sentence to life 

imprisonment. 

This sentence that someone be punished in 

such a manner is referred to as ‘Death 

Sentence’, whereas the act of carrying out 

the death sentence is known as execution. 
The execution is not only an exemplary 

punishment alone that can erase the crime 

from the society forever. Lesser punishments 

may significantly prevent or reduce the 

crimes from the society depending on the 

good governance and awareness of the 

people.  
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To consider the lesser punishment from 

death sentence to life imprisonment 

mitigating evidence or circumstances must 

be stronger than that of aggravating evidence 
produced by the prosecution. In this case we 

find the following circumstances outweigh 

the aggravating circumstances,  

1. Condemned prisoner committed 

double murder without any 

apparent motive and was 

suffering from mental derailment 
or  some sort of mental disorder 

and also suffering from ovarian 

cyst and bronchial asthma; 

2. Her paternal grandmother and 

maternal uncle had a history of 

psychiatric disorders according 

to exibit-15; 

3. She was around 19[nineteen] 

year old at the relevant time and 

the occurrence took place just 

immediately after her attaining 

the age of majority; 

4.  She has no such significant 

history of prior criminal activity 

[criminal cases] and  

5. She had willingly surrendered to 

the police station soon after two 

days of the occurrence. 
 

17.   The State  

-Versus- 

Md. Sharif and 

another 

 

(Jahangir Hossain, J) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

258 

 

 

Mitigating factors 

to consider the 

lesser punishment 

from death 

sentence to life 

imprisonment. 

The contention of learned Advocate Mr. 

S.M Abdul Mobin for the defence is that 

the sentence of death is too harsh in this 

case because both the accused persons 

tried to save the life of the victim 

removing him to more than one hospital 

from the place of occurrence as disclosed 

by the prosecution witnesses. Now the 

question is commutation of sentence as 

pointed out by the defence to be 

considered or not. In true sense, it is most 

difficult task on the part of a judge to 

decide what would be quantum of 

sentence in awarding upon an accused for 

committing the offence when it is proved 

by evidence beyond shadow of doubt but 

the judge should have considered the 

legal evidence and materials for 

punishment of the perpetrator not as a 
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social activist [63 DLR 460, 18 BLD 81 

and 57 DLR 591]. Sometimes, it depends 

on gravity of the offence and sometimes, 

it confers upon an aggravating or 

mitigating factor.  

 

In such a situation, it is a very hard job 

for the court to determine the quantum of 

sentence whether it will be capital 

punishment or imprisonment for life 

upon the accused persons since they 

played a role for saving the victim’s life 

soon after occurrence as evident by the 

said prosecution witnesses. At the same 

time it is very important to note that the 

victim was completely an innocent 

teenager who had no fault of such dire 

consequences at the hands of the accused 

persons. Since the determination of 

awarding sentence to the accused persons 

is at the middle point of views, it may 

turn to impose capital punishment or 

imprisonment for life and that is why, the 

advantage of lesser one shall find the 

accused persons to acquire in the instant 

case. More so, both the accused persons 

have no significant history of prior 

criminal activities and their PC and PR 

[previous conviction and previous 

records] are found nil in the police report. 

In this regard it finds support from the 

decision in the case of Nalu –Vs-The 

State, reported in 1 ALR(AD)(2012) 222 

where one of the mitigating factors was 

previous records of the accused. 
  

18.  Dr. Farhana Khanum  

-Versus- 

Bangladesh and others 

 

(Sheikh Hassan Arif, J.) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

276  

Penal Code, 1860, 

Educational 

Institution, 

Corruption, 

Nitimala 2012, 

Anti- Corruption 

Commission, 

Public Servant 

(Discipline and 

Appeal) 

Rules,1985, 

Therefore, since the very definition of the 

term ‘Coaching Business’ has only attracted 

the involvement teachers of the above 

mentioned institutions as a mischief, this 
Nitimala in fact has not prohibited the 

‘coaching business’, or ‘coaching centers’, 

run by any individual in his or her private 

capacity who is not a teacher of the above 

mentioned institutions. This means 

involvement of an individual, who is not a 

teacher of the above mentioned institutions, 

in such coaching centers or business has not 
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Durnity Domon 

Commission 

Act,2004,Coacing 

Business, 

been prohibited by this Nitimala. Therefore, 

the prohibition, as provided by this Nitimala, 

only applies to the teachers of the above 

mentioned institutions and not to any 

individuals or private citizens or persons, 
who are not teachers of such educational 

institutions.     
 

From the above discussions, it appears that 

even in the absence of the said Nitimala, the 

petitioners and other teachers of non-

government and government schools and 

colleges are not allowed to engage 

themselves in any sort of coaching business. 

This prohibition has not been provided by 

the said Nitimala of 2012, rather this has 

been given by their concerned service Rules 
which are delegated legislations and 

applicable to them. When the petitioners, or 

other teachers of government and non-

government schools and colleges, joined 

their services, they joined as such fully 

knowing that the said Service Rules would 

be applicable to them. Therefore, by the said 
Nitimala, the government has in fact 

supplemented the provisions which are 

already in the statute books and in doing so, 

the government does not need to show any 

other sanction of statute or Act of parliament.  
It is the part of the constitutional power of 

the government as executive to run the 

governance and in running such governance, 

it is the duty and obligation of the 

government to take steps for implementation 

of the laws and regulations time to time 

enacted by the parliament or by the 

delegatees of the parliament. Under such 

obligations, the governments in modern 

countries issue various Circulars, Paripatra, 

Nitimala etc. and this has now become 

essential and normal administrative technic 

in modern countries. The only limitation in 

issuing such Nitimala or Nirdeshika is that 

by such Nitimala or Nirdeshika, the 
government cannot curtail the rights of any 

citizen which is already granted in his/her 

favour either by the Constitution or by law or 

by any other legal instruments.    
 

Therefore, in the facts and circumstances of 

the present cases, the petitioners have failed 

to show that either the Constitution or any 
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act of parliament or any delegated legislation 

of this Country has given them any right to 

get involved in coaching business. Rather, it 

has become evident from the above referred 

delegated legislations that in fact they have 
been prohibited by the law of the land from 

getting involved in coaching business. Thus, 

in so far as the said Nitimala is concerned, 

since the same has not curtailed any rights of 

the petitioners guaranteed either by the 

constitution or any law, it cannot be knocked 

down by this Court. Rather, it should be 
protected by this Court as it is the 

supplemental instrument to the already 

existing laws of the land. In this regard, the 

decisions of Indian Supreme Court in 

Bennett Coleman Co. v. Union of India, AIR 

1973 SC 106, Bishamber Daval Chandra 

Mohan v State of UP, AIR 1982 SC -33 and 

Distt. Collector, Chittoor v Chittor Disttt. 

Groundnut Traders Assn, AIR 1989 SC 989 

may be looked into as references. Therefore, 

on this point of unconstitutionality and 

unimplementablity of the said Nitimala of 

2012, as argued by the learned advocates for 

the petitioners, we find no substance.         
 

Therefore, it cannot be denied that when the 

teachers get involved themselves in coaching 

business, which is prohibited by law, they 

are disobeying the direction of law and they 

know it fully that such disobedience might 

cause injury to the students or their guardians 

in that by such engagement they are utilizing 

their resources, potentials  and capabilities in 

such coaching centers rather than using them 

in the class rooms. Therefore, this Court is of 

the view that, since this provision under 

Section 166 of the Penal Code has been 

incorporated in the Schedule to the Dudak 

Act, 2004, Dudak thinly had technical 

jurisdiction to enquire into the allegations as 

published in the news paper regarding the 

involvement of teachers in the coaching 
business. However, this thin and technical 

jurisdiction is only confined to the teachers 

of government colleges and schools and not 

to the teachers of non-government schools 

and colleges.             
 

Though we are saying that technically Dudak 

had jurisdiction to enquire into the said 
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matters, we are of the view that Dudak 

should have priority list as to which offences 

should get priority in their such enquiry and 

investigation when it is repeatedly reported 

in newspapers that Dudak does not have 
enough resources and logistic supports. We 

are of the view that leaving behind serious 

allegations of corruptions in National Banks, 

Customs Houses, Ports, Court Premises, 

Government Offices, Land Offices, etc. 

Dudak should not have inquired into the 

mere involvement of some teachers in 
coaching business relying on a newspaper 

report. When there are some other serious 

reports of corruption in the country, it does 

not also look well when Dudak shows such 

importance to some basically disciplinary 

matters when teachers of government schools 

are not attending classes on time. These 

apparently disciplinary issues should be kept 

at the bottom of Dudak’s priority list in 

particular when almost each and every 

institution of this country is now suffering 

from huge corruption being committed by its 

employees and staffs. Though by engaging in 

coaching businesses the said teachers have 

disobeyed the direction of law, but it cannot 

be said that they have committed any 

‘corruption’ as we understand the term in its 

general and common parlance. Therefore, we 

are of the view that, though thinly and 

technically Dudak had jurisdiction to enquire 
into the matters as published in the 

newspaper as regards involvement of the 

government teachers in coaching business, 

they should not have conducted such enquiry 

at all. Such enquires should have been done 

by the education directorate of the 

government or the concerned ministry itself. 

           

19.  Mrs. Mohua Ali  

-Versus- 

The State and another 

 

(Md. Nazrul Islam 

Talukder, J.) 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

294 

Criminal Law 

Amendment Act, 

1958, Money 

Laundering 
Protirodh Ain, 

2012,Durnity 

Daman 

Commission, 

Corruption, The 

Code of Criminal 
Procedure. 

It may be mentioned that the names of the 

accused-petitioners are not mentioned in the 

FIR but the investigation officer after 

holding investigation having found prima 
facie case submitted charge-sheet against 

them. It may be noted that the money 

laundering offences are non-violent crimes 

which are usually committed in the 

commercial and financial institutions for 

financial gain. Sometimes it is very difficult 
to prosecute against the money laundering 
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offenders because they resort to sophisticated 

means and techniques to conceal their 

activities through a series of complex 

transactions. In view of above situation, non-

disclosure of the names of the accused-
petitioners in the 161 statements of the 

witnesses does not mean that they are not at 

all involved in the commission of money 

laundering offences. 
 

20.  Md. Nasir Mia  

-Versus- 

The State. 

 

(Md. Shohrowardi, J.) 

 

 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

309  

Application of 

Section 561A of 

the Code of 

Criminal 

Procedure, 1898. 

On a careful reading of the provision of 

section 561A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure it is found that by inserting  

section  561A in the Code the legislature  did 

not  confer any new power to the Court  to 

bypass or override any  other statutory 

provision and this Court is not legally 

authorized to assess the evidence like an 

appellate court. On perusal of the evidence if 

this Court finds that there is no legal 

evidence to connect the convict with the 

charge framed against him then this Court to 

secure the ends of justice is competent to 

quash the judgment  and order of conviction 

and sentence passed by the  trial Court. If 

there is sufficient evidence against the 

convict it would not be just and proper to 

exercise its jurisdiction to quash the 

judgment and order of conviction and 
sentence passed by the trial Court.  
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Dismissed from service, termination simpliciter; 
 

The orders of termination were not termination simpliciter. Consequently, this is the 

outcome of arbitrary exercise of power in a malafide way and as such, the High Court 

Division was justified in making the Rule absolute declaring the orders of termination 

to have been passed without lawful authority and to be of no legal effect. 

 

There was an inquiry about the appointment of the writ-petitioner and pursuant to the 

said inquiry, the writ-petitioner were terminated from service. Therefore, it cannot be 

said that the writ-petitioner were terminated from service and in fact, they were 

dismissed from service in the garb of termination.  

 

 J U D G M E N T 
 

SYED MAHMUD HOSSAIN, C. J:  

 

1. All the appeals, by leave, are directed against the judgment and order dated 15.05.2014 

passed by the High Court Division in Writ Petition Nos.1755, 1756, 1758, 1759, 1760, 1763, 

1764, 1765, 1766, 1767, 1768, 1769, 1770, 1771, 1797, 1798 of 2008 making all the Rules 

absolute with direction. 

  

2. All the civil appeals have been heard together and are being disposed of by this 

common judgment as they do involve common questions of laws and facts. 

  

3. The facts, leading to the filing of all the appeals, in a nutshell, are: 

  

All the writ-petitioners were serving in different clerical posts as Senior Clerk, MLSS, 

LDA-cum-Typist, Bearer, Typist, Assistant Clerk, Office Assistant etc. At the Zia 

Fertilizer Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as ZFCL) for several years on daily 

basis. The writ-petitioners applied to the ZFCL authority to appoint them permanently in 

the vacant posts. On consideration of their quality of service and sound performance, the 

authority by Memo No.ZFCL/Proshason/ LSA/7(a)/1607 dated 09.10.2006 sent a 

proposal to the Chief of Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation (BCIC), which is 

the controlling authority of ZFCL seeking approval under Article 13(5) of the Bangladesh 

Chemical Industries Enterprise (Nationalization) Order, 1972 (P. O. 27 of 1972) for the 

permanent appointment of the writ-petitioners against vacant posts at ZFCL. It has been 

further stated in the said letter that “Zviv wbR wbR Kg©‡¶‡Î E−õM−k¡NÉ Ae`vb ‡i‡L‡Qb| ¢L¿º eQ‡ii 
ci eQi KvR Kivi ciI Zv‡`i‡K ’̄vqxfv‡e PvKzix‡Z wb‡qvM bv Ll¡u Zv‡`i g‡a¨ AwbðqZv I nZvkv weivR 
Ki‡Q| Zv‡`i‡K ’̄vqxfv‡e wb‡qvM †`qv n‡j Zv‡`i Kg© ¯ú„nv e„w× cv‡e|” It is further stated that as a 

regular practice vacant posts at the ZFCL are generally filled in by regular appointment 

from daily basis workers, who possess required qualifications.  

 

4. In response to the aforesaid letter dated 09.10.2006 seeking approval under Article 

13(5) of the Bangladesh Chemical Industries Enterprise (Nationalization) Order, 1972 (P. O. 

27 of 1972) for permanent appointment of the writ-petitioners, the Deputy Employee Chief 

on behalf of the Employee Chief vide Memo No.BCIC/Niog-3/ZFCL-6/45 dated 05.02.2007 

intimated the Managing Director of ZFCL about the approval of BCIC for permanent 

appointment of the writ-petitioners at ZFCL subject to approval of the ZFCL. In the letter it 

was clearly stated that ‘‘ Avcbv‡`i 09.10.2006 Bs Zvwi‡Li m~Î bs-‡RWGdwmGj/cÖkv/GjGmG/7(G)/1607 
Ges 31.01.2007 Bs Zvwi‡Li m~Î bs--‡RWGdwmGj/cÖkv/GjGmG/119/4995/3013 c‡Îi †cÖw¶‡Z Rvbv‡bv hv‡”Q 
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†h, ¢e−jÀ E−õ¢Ma 18(AvVvi) Rb †K ïb¨ c‡`i wecixZ Zv‡`i bv‡gi cv‡k¦© D‡jèwLZ c` †eZbµg/gRyixµg m¤ú~b© 
A ’̄vqx I GWnK wf‡Ë‡Z wb‡qvM`v‡bi Rb¨ KZª©c¶ Aby‡gv`b K‡i‡Qb|’’   

  

5. After getting formal approval from the Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation, 

ZFCL Authority vide Memo dated 06.02.2007 issued appointment letter to the writ-

petitioners and after getting the said appointment letters the writ-petitioners joined in their 

posts and started serving the authority to the satisfaction of all concerned. It is stated that 

there is no allegation from any quarter against the writ-petitioners’ service or their efficiency. 

Thereafter, suddenly by letter dated 29.11.2007, the Senior Assistant Secretary of the 

Ministry of Industries, informed the Chairman of the Bangladesh Chemical Industries 

Corporation that a newspaper article showed that there were certain irregularities in the 

appointment of 19 employees at ZFCL and that the writ-petitioners having been found 

unsuitable for the post, their services should be terminated. On receipt of the aforesaid Memo 

dated 29.11.2007, Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation by letter dated 05.12.2007 

informed ZFCL to terminate the Service of the writ-petitioners at once. The ZFCL Authority 

as per direction of writ-respondent No.2, thereafter, by the impugned letter dated 11.12.2007 

informed the writ-petitioners that their services were terminated and they would be entitled to 

one month’s pay in lieu of any prior notice.   

  

6. Being aggrieved by and dissatisfied with the impugned letters dated 11.12.2007 

(Annexure-B) issued by writ-respondent No.3 under the signature of writ-respondent No.5, 

the writ-petitioners filed the writ petitions before the High Court Division and obtained Rules 

Nisi in the above writ petitions.  

 

7. Writ-respondent Nos.2 and 5 contested the Rules by filing affidavit-in-opposition 

controverting the material statements made in the writ petitions. Their case, in short, is that 

the writ-petitioners were appointed on purely temporary and ad-hoc basis and the same was 

mentioned in their appointment letters. The petitioners joined their services accepting the said 

terms and conditions as stated in the appointment letters and the employer had every right to 

terminate their services without assigning any reason and this is also the case as per provision 

of Bangladesh Labour Law,2006. It has been further stated that since the appointment of the 

writ-petitioners were irregular, they were legally terminated as per instruction made by the 

Ministry of Industry in terms of clause-3 of the appointment letter and that the writ-

petitioners cannot have any grievance against the same. It has been further stated that as per 

P. O. 27 of 1972, the concerned Ministry has supervisory and controlling authority over 

BCIC and ZFCL and as such, ZFCL is bound to carry out the instructions of the Ministry as 

well as Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation. It has been further stated that the writ-

petitioners’ services have been terminated in accordance with the provision of law and that 

the impugned orders of termination are nothing but termination simpliciter and hence the 

writ-petitioners cannot have any grievance against the same and that the Rules are liable to be 

discharged.   

  

8. The learned Judges of the High Court Division, upon hearing the Rules, by the 

impugned judgment and order dated 15.05.2014, made the Rules absolute with direction.  

  

9. Feeling aggrieved by and dissatisfied with judgment and order passed by the High 

Court Division, the writ-respondents as the leave-petitioners have filed Civil Petition for 

Leave to Appeal Nos.3028-3043 of 2014 before this Division, in which, leave was granted on 

19.02.2015, resulting in Civil Appeal Nos.96-111 of 2015. 
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10. Mr. Tofailure Rahman, learned Senior Advocate, appearing on behalf of the 

appellants in all the civil appeals, submits that according to term and condition No.3 of the 

appointment letter, the writ-petitioner-respondents were terminated from service and as such, 

the termination in question is mere termination simpliciter and not a stigma and that the High 

Court Division taking into consideration some extraneous matter held that the orders of 

termination were arbitrary and malafide and as such, the impugned judgment should be set 

aside. He further submits that according to clause (2) of Article 11 of P.O. No.27 of 1972, the 

Board shall be subject to the superintendence and control of the Government and shall be 

guided, in discharge of its functions, by such general or special instruction as may, from time 

to time, be given to it by the Government and as such, the writ-petitioner-respondents were 

rightly terminated as per instruction of the concerned Ministry and as such, no interference is 

called for. 

  

11. In support of his submissions, the learned Senior Advocate relied on the case of 

Secretary, EPIDC vs. Md. Serajul Haque, (1970) 22 DLR (SC)284. 

  

12. Mr. A. F. Hasan Ariff, learned Senior Advocate, appearing on behalf of the 

respondents of all the civil appeals, on the other hand, submits that the instant orders of 

terminations were not termination simpliciter and in fact, the writ-petitioner-respondents had 

been dismissed from their service in the garb of termination and as such, the High Court 

Division was justified in making the Rules absolute.  

  

13. We have considered the submissions of the learned Counsel of both the sides, perused 

the impugned judgment and the materials on record.  

  

14. Admittedly, the writ-petitioners were appointed to the vacant posts at Zia Fertilizer 

Company Limited (ZFCL) as per recommendation of ZFCL authority. On consideration of 

their long standing service, the Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation at its discretion 

considered the recommendation of ZFCL and approved the appointment of the writ-

petitioners to the respective posts. The writ-petitioners joined those posts and continued to 

work without any complaint from any quarter. It appears that suddenly the Ministry of 

Industries by its letter dated 29.11.2007 issued by the Senior Assistant Secretary informed the 

Bangladesh Chemical Industries Corporation that the writ-petitioners were not fit for the job 

against which, they were appointed and consequently, they were liable to be terminated.  

  

15. For better appreciation, the letter dated 29.11.2007 is produced below:  

 
MbcÖRvZš¿x evsjv‡`k miKvi 
wkí gš¿bvjq 
¯^m-wewmAvBwm kvLv 
91, gwZwSj evwYwR¨K GjvK¡, XvKv| 
 
bs-wkg/¯̂m(wewmAvBwm)wewea-1/2007/1041 
        ZvwiL 29, b‡f¤¦i, 2007 
  
 welqtÐ AvïM‡Äi wRqv mvi KvivLvbvq †Mvc‡b wb‡qvM, AvovBk Rb ewÂZ msev` cwÎKvq cÖKvwkZ nIqvi 

‡cÖw¶‡Z B‡Zvc~‡e© MwVZ Z`š— KwgwUi `vwLjK…Z cÖwZ‡e`‡b D‡jwLZ wb‡qvMcÖvß 19 (Dwbk) Rb Kg©Pvix I kªwgK 
wb‡qvM hvPvB  wel‡q `vqx Kg©KZv/Kg©Pvix‡`i c¡u-`vwqZ¡ wbiƒc‡bi Z`š— cÖwZ‡e`b| 
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 Dchy©³ wel‡qi Av‡jv‡K ¢h¢pBC¢pl ZrKvjxb Kg©Pvix cÖavb Rbve Avãyi ingvb, wRqv mvi LviLvbvi ZrKvjxb 
e¨e ’̄vcbv cwiPvjK Rbve †Mvjvg wKewiqv, ZrKvjxb gnve¨e ’̄vcK (fvicÖvß) Rbve Gg, G, Av°vm, ZrKvjxb e¨e ’̄vcK 
(cÖkvmb) ˆmq` AvBbyj nK Ges  wmweGi cÖv³b I eZ©gvb  †bZ„e„›` h_vµ‡g me©Rbve †gvRv‡¤§j nK L›`Kvi, 
dwi`DwÏb Avn‡g`, †gvt MvDQyi ingvb I Avwgb L›`Kvi Gi wei“‡× wewa †gvZv‡eK e¨e ’̄v MÖnY Ges Z`š— cÖwZ‡e`‡b 
D‡jwLZ wb‡qvMcÖvß  19 (Dwbk) Rb kªwgK Kg©Pvix hvPvB A‡š—  A‡hvM¨ we‡ewPZ nIqvq wb‡qvMc‡Îi kZ© †gvZv‡eK 
Zv‡`i‡K Acmvib  Kivi Rb¨ Aby‡iva Kiv n‡jv|  

 
¯̂v¶i A¯úó 
29.11.2007 
(G, †K, Gg, p¡jp¤m Blg£e) 
wmwbqi mnKvix mwPe 
‡dvb t-9551435z 
 
16. The aforesaid letter reveals that inquiries against some other officers of Bangladesh 

Chemical Industries Corporation indicated that the writ-petitioners were not fit for the job 

and as such, they should be terminated. There is nothing on record to show that during the 

course of inquiry held at the instance of the Ministry, the writ-petitioners were heard and they 

were allowed to defend their case. There is no doubt that the Government in the Ministry of 

Industries is the controlling authority of ZFCL but it cannot direct BCIC to remove 

employees of ZFCL, who were appointed by the proper authority. 

 

17. In this connection, clause (1) and (2) of Article 11 of the Bangladesh Industrial 

Enterprises (Nationalisation) Order,1972 is quoted below:  

“11.(1) The general direction and administration of the affairs and business of a 

corporation shall vest in a Board of Directors which may exercise all powers and do all 

acts and things which may be exercised or done by the Corporation.  

 

(2) The Board shall be subject to the superintendence and control of the Government and 

shall be guided, in the discharge of its functions, by such general or special instruction as 

may, from time to time, be given to it by the Government.”  

  

18. Clause (1) of Article 11 provides that general direction and administration of the 

affairs of the business of a corporation shall vest in a Board of Directors, which may exercise 

all powers and do all acts and things, which may be exercised or done by the Corporation.  

 

19. Clause (2) of Article 11 provides that the Board shall be subject to the 

superintendence and control of the Government and shall be guided, in the discharge of its 

functions, by such general or special instruction as may, from time to time, be given to it by 

the Government.    

 

20. For harmonious construction, both clause (1) and (2) must be read together. 

Consideration of clause (2) in isolation without considering the other clause cannot give a 

harmonious interpretation. If the Ministry dictates the Corporation in all matters then the 

purpose of clause (1) of Article 11 will become nugatory. There is, of course, no doubt that 

the Ministry has the control and superintendence over the Corporation but the Ministry 

cannot interfere in its internal management without concurrence of the Board of Directors. 

Therefore, the letter dated 29.11.2007 issued by the Senior Assistant Secretary of the 

Ministry of Industry was malafide exercise of power. The concerned authority of ZFCL 

recommended the appointment of the writ-petitioners to Bangladesh Chemical Industries 

Corporation which after considering everything recommended the absorption of the writ-
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petitioners against the vacant posts. After that, the writ-petitioners were appointed to the said 

posts and no complaint was made by the Company about their performance. For the reasons 

best known to the Ministry, it instructed the Corporation to terminate the writ-petitioners’ 

job. Therefore, the orders of termination were not termination simpliciter. Consequently, this 

is the outcome of arbitrary exercise of power in a malafide way and as such, the High Court 

Division was justified in making the Rule absolute declaring the orders of termination to have 

been passed without lawful authority and to be of no legal effect.  

 

21. Mr. Tofailue Rahman, learned Senior Advocate, appearing on behalf of the appellants 

of all the civil appeals, relied on the case of Secretary, EPIDC vs. Md. Serajul Haque 

(1970)22 DLR (SC)284 where the orders of termination do not at all contain any charge or 

stigma against the respondents. By these orders, their services were terminated with an offer 

of 1 month’s pay in lieu of notice on the sole ground that their services were no longer 

required by the Corporation. These orders cannot, therefore, be regarded as orders 

terminating the services of the respondents by way of penalty.   

 

22. In the case in hand, at the instruction of the Ministry of Industries, the Corporation 

initiated inquiry against some officials of the Corporation and subsequently pursuant to the 

letter dated 29.11.2007 of the Ministry, the services of the writ-petitioners were terminated. 

Therefore, the termination in the instant case is not a termination simpliciter and as such, the 

case cited by the learned Senior Advocate for the respondents has no manner of application.  

 

23. In the case of The Chartered Bank, Mombay, vs. The Chartered Bank Employees’ 

Union and another AIR 1960 (SC)919, it has been held as under:  

“..............The form of the order of termination is not conclusive of the true nature of 

the order, for it is possible that the form may be merely a camouflage for an order of 

dismissal for misconduct. It is therefore always open to the tribunal to go behind the 

form and look at the substance; and if it comes to the conclusion, for example, that 

though in form the order amounts to termination simpliciter it in reality cloaks a 

dismissal for misconduct it will be open to it to set it aside as a colourable exercise of 

the power.” 

 

24. In order to arrive at a correct decision, the Court has the power to go behind order of 

termination and may look to the cause underlining the dismissal.  

 

25. Reliance may be placed on the case of Bangladesh Road Transport Corporation and 

another vs. Md. Shahidullah (2002)54 DLR (AD)124, it has been held as under:  

“It appears that the Corporation initially wanted to remove the respondent through a 

proceeding and that having failed, they wanted to take action for compulsory 

retirement under Regulation 55(2) of Service Regulations,1990 and that also having 

failed his service was terminated. As a matter of fact from the materials on record, the 

learned Judges of the High Court Division correctly held that in the present case, it 

was punishment/dismissal in the garb of termination and consequently set aside the 

order of termination.”  

 

26. Reliance may be placed on the case of Parjatan Corporation vs. Md. Ali Hossain and 

another, (2013) 65 DLR (AD)158 wherein it has been held that the impugned letter of 

termination passed against the petitioner of this case though appears to be a termination 

simpliciter, but in fact, it is not. The petitioner was dismissed from his service in the garb of 

termination by resorting to regulation 50(2) of the Employees Service Regulations,1990. 
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27. The principle expounded in the case referred to above also applies to the facts and 

circumstances of the present case as the letter dated 29.11.2007 reveals that there was an 

inquiry about the appointment of the writ-petitioner-respondents and pursuant to the said 

inquiry, the writ-petitioner-respondents were terminated from service by the letter dated 

11.12.2007. Therefore, it cannot be said that the writ-petitioner-respondents were terminated 

from service and in fact, they were dismissed from service in the garb of termination.  

 

28. In the light of the findings made before, we do not find any substance in these 

appeals. Accordingly, all the appeals are dismissed without any order as to costs.    
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APPELLATE DIVISION 

 

PRESENT: 

Mr. Justice Syed Mahmud Hossain, 

Chief Justice 

Mr. Justice Muhammad Imman Ali 

Mr. Justice Hasan Foez Siddique  

 

CIVIL PETITION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL NO.133 OF 2017 WITH CP NOS. 663  AND 

530 OF 2017  

 

(From the judgement and order dated the 17
th

 day of September, 2015 passed by the High 

Court Division in Writ Petition No.1940 of 2013 with Writ Petition No.6974 of 2013)   

 

Mir Showkat Ali : .       .     .    Petitioner (in CP No.133 of ‘17) 

   

Md. Khaled Ahmed (M. Khaled 

Ahmed) and others 

: .       .     .    Petitioners (in CP No.633 of ‘17) 

   

Shamsunnahar Khawaja 

Ahasanullah and another 

: .       .     .    Petitioners (in CP No.530 of ‘17) 

   

-Versus- 

   

Md. Morsalin Khan and others : . .  .  Respondents (in all the cases) 

   

For the Petitioner  

(in CP No.133 of ‘17) 

: Mr. Rokanuddin Mahmud, Senior Advocate 

instructed by Mr. Md. Taufique Hossain, 

Advocate-on-Record  

   

For Petitioner Nos.2-21 

(in CP No.663 of ’17,) 

:

  

Mr. A. J. Mohammad Ali, Senior Advocate Mr. 

M. Khaled Ahmed, Advocate instructed by Mrs 

Shahanara Begum, Advocate-on-Record 

   

For Petitioner No.1 

(in CP No.663 of ’17) 

:

  

Mr. Mohammad Ali Azam, Advocate-on-

Record 

   

For the Petitioner 

(in CP No.530 of ’17) 

:

  

Mr. Mahbub Ali, Senior Advocate instructed by 

Mr. Md. Zahirul Islam, Advocate-on-Record  

   

For Respondent Nos.1-3 

(in CP No.133 of ’17) 

:

  

Mr. A.Y. Masihuzzaman, Advocate instructed 

by Mrs. Madhumaloty Chowdhury Barua, 

Advocate-on-Record  

   

For Respondent No.5 

(in CP No.133 of ’17)  

:

  

Mr. Nurul Islam Chowdhury, Advocate-on-

Record 

   

For Respondent No.7 : Mr. Mahbubey Alam, Attorney General 
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(in CP No.133 of ’17    instructed by Mr. Soyeb Khan, Advocate-on-

Record  

   

For Respondent Nos.4, 6, 8-21 

(in CP No.133 of ’17)  

:

  

None represented 

   

For  Respondent Nos.1-3 

(in CP No.530 of ’17) 

:

  

Mr. A.Y. Masihuzzaman, Advocate instructed 

by Mrs. Madhumaloty Chowdhury Barua, 

Advocate-on-Record  

   

For Respondent Nos.7 and 12 

(in CP No.530 of ’17)  

:

  

Mr. Soyeb Khan, Advocate-on-Record  

   

Respondent Nos.4-6, 8-12 and 13-20 

(in CP No.530 of ’17) 

:

  

None represented  

   

Date of Hearing  :

  

The 12
th

 day of March, 2018   

Authority of the Executive Committee of the Orphanage to deal with property; 
 

The Management/Executive Committee of the Orphanage had no authority to deal with 

the land other than for the purpose stipulated in the indentures. Those persons at the 

helm of the affairs of the Orphanage could not arrogate to themselves the authority to 

transfer the title in the property, which they themselves did not have. The Orphanage 

was given the property on a short term lease, which was apparent from the lease deeds. 

As long as these lease deeds existed and as long as the terms were not altered by the 

executant of the deeds none had the authority to deal with the land other than the 

purpose for which the lease was granted. 

 

JUDGEMENT 

 

Muhammad Imman Ali, J:  
 

1. These petitions for leave to appeal have been filed against the judgement and order 

dated 17.09.2018 passed by the High Court Division in Writ Petition No.1940 of 2013 which 

was heard along with Writ Petition No.6974 of 2013 making the Rule Nisi absolute. 

 

2. The facts relevant for disposal of these civil petitions for leave to appeal are as follows:  

In Writ Petition No.1940 of 2013: a Rule Nisi was issued calling upon the writ-

respondents to show cause as to why failure of the writ-respondents to protect the 

property of Sir Salimuallah Muslim Orphanage (the Orphanage) and their failure to 

prevent the illegal transfer of the land in question to Concord Limited a real estate 

company (of which writ-respondent No.16 is the Managing Director) under the 

influence of the committee members of the Orphanage should not be declared to be 

without lawful authority and of no legal effect and further to show cause as to why the 

writ-respondents should not be directed to protect and maintain the property of the 

Orphanage in accordance with the purpose of the lease agreements signed by the then 

Government vide Annexure A, A-l, A-2, A-3. There was also an ad-interim order of 

direction upon writ-respondents Nos.13-17 to maintain status-quo in respect of the 

position of the entire land covered within the area of the Orphanage. 
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In Writ Petition No.6974 of 2013: a Rule Nisi was issued calling upon the writ-

respondents to show cause as to why failure of the writ-respondents in implementing 

the recommendation of the investigation committee dated 10.04.2013 should not be 

declared to be without lawful authority and was of no legal effect and accordingly, 

why writ-respondents Nos.1 and 2 should not be directed to implement the 

recommendation made under Memo No.41.00.0000.005.003.2012 dated 10.04.2013.

   

 

The facts of Writ Petition No.1940 of 2013: 

The writ-petitioners grew up as orphans in the Orphanage and were studying in 

different colleges. From their childhood, the writ-petitioners were directly involved 

with the interest of the Orphanage. They tried to stop the illegal transfer of the 

property of the Orphanage by raising their voice. They were waiting to get result, but 

due to interference of the influential people of the executive committee, it was not 

possible to protect the property of the Orphanage. Though several times initiative was 

taken and a committee was formed, but finally nothing could be done to recover the 

land. Even no investigation could proceed due to interference of the influential group 

of people. Being conscious citizens, they challenged the illegal acts of the influential 

persons, who upon violating the provisions of law transferred the land of the 

Orphanage for their personal gain and as such, for the interest of the orphans as well 

as of the writ- petitioners and for the benefit of the helpless citizens of the country and 

in order to establish the rule of law, the writ-petitioners moved this Public Interest 

Litigation (PIL) before the High Court Division under article 102 of the Constitution 

along with the prayer for direction upon the writ-respondents to take necessary 

measures as per article 31 of the Constitution to protect the property of the 

Orphanage. Late Nawab Sir Salimullah established the Orphanage under the name Sir 

Salimullah Mohamedan Orphanage Society in 1909 in Azimpur, Dhaka. A 

constitution was adopted and an Executive Committee was constituted for the 

Orphanage and subsequently, the constitution was amended. The purpose of setting 

up the said Orphanage was to look after the orphans of the society and to give them 

education to lead their life properly with the financial support of the said organisation. 

Subsequently, the then Government of India decided to give patronage to the said 

orphanage and accordingly, on 27.07.1915, 29.10.1929, 14.05.1931, 18.05.1934 and 

07.09.1934, the then Collector of Dacca, on behalf of the State of India, granted year 

to year lease of total 22 bighas land from different plots including Plot No.1014 of 

sheet No.20 of Ward No.7 under Police Station-Azimpur, Dhaka to the  Orphanage 

Committee for its foundation and extensions respectively through indentures: 

Annexures-A, A-1, A-2, A-3. The said indentures, amongst other conditions, 

contained a condition that the said leased out lands could not be used for any other 

purpose except for the purpose detailed in the indenture for the benefit of the 

Orphanage. 

 

3. The constitution of the Orphanage also contains a condition, like the terms and 

conditions of the lease deeds, not to transfer any land of the orphanage by any of the 

members of the executive committee without the approval of 2/3 of the members of the 

general committee. 

 

4. But by violating all the conditions of the lease deeds of the Government as well as the 

constitution, some members of the Executive Committee signed an agreement on 22.07.2003 

with Concord Real Estate Limited (the Developer) (writ-respondent No.16) for construction 
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of a Multi-storied Commercial-cum-Residential Building on 40 (forty) Kathas land of the 

Orphanage. According to the terms of the said agreement writ-respondent No.16 would get 

65% of the said multistoried building and the remaining 35% would go to the Developer. 

Subsequently, on 13.04.2004, some amendments were made in the said agreement which 

allowed writ-respondent No.16 to own and sell 70 % of the said building. Thereafter, the 

President and Honorary Secretary of the Executive Committee (writ-respondent Nos.15 and 

17 respectively) executed a Power of Attorney nominating writ-respondent No.16 to do the 

needfull to carry out the works to that effect. With regard to the irregularities and illegalities 

about the property of the Orphanage, some news items were published in different media. On 

the basis of such media report, the Director General, Department of Social Welfare, formed 

an inquiry committee to enquire, about the matter and submit a report. On 29.11.2007, after 

completion of the enquiry, the committee submitted a report to the authority stating that some 

members of the committee of the Orphanage by violating the terms, condition, rules and 

regulations have entered into an agreement by which they transferred the land of the 

Orphanage in favour of writ-respondent No.16, although there was no scope for anyone to 

transfer the property of the Orphanage. Despite the said specific report no step was taken by 

the authority to protect the property of the Orphanage. Rather, the influential and 

vested/interested group managed to stop the authority from taking further action against the 

illegal transfer of the property. Some influential members, including writ-respondent Nos.15 

and 17, of the executive committee of the Orphanage, who were responsible to protect the 

interest of the Orphanage, by way of taking some financial benefit acted against the interest 

of the Orphanage by executing the said deed for construction of the said multistoried 

commercial-cum-residential building on the land measuring 40 kathas in favour of writ-

respondent No.16. 

 

5. Thereafter, on the basis of the application submitted by the students of the Orphanage 

dated 21.11.2012, the Director General, Social Welfare Department formed another enquiry 

committee who fixed 28.11.2012 for holding enquiry and accordingly notified all concerned. 

Similarly, the Ministry of Social Welfare   also   formed   an   inquiry   committee to hold 

inquiry about the property and management of the Executive Committee of the Orphanage. 

Thereafter, on 03.01.2013, the committee issued a letter to the Superintendent of the 

Orphanage and requested him to be present, but subsequently no effective step was taken by 

the authority concerned. Several news items were published in the daily newspapers on 

different dates under different headlines. The writ-petitioners upon going through the said 

news items felt aggrieved about the inaction of the writ-respondents in protecting the 

properties of the Orphanage along with some other allegations therewith, and issued a notice 

demanding justice upon the writ-respondents through their learned Advocate, but in vain. 

Thus, finding no other alternative, they filed the instant writ petition and obtained the present 

Rule Nisi. 

 

6. The writ-petitioners filed a supplementary affidavit by annexing some relevant papers 

and documents which are also vital for disposal of the instant Rule. The papers and 

documents contain the 1
st
 Lease Deed No.1919 dated 27.07.1915 by which the Orphanage 

was set up and presently situated; the 68
th

 Annual Report of the Orphanage, published in 

1978 which contains the history of the Orphanage, including when and how the land 

belonging to the Orphanage were granted. It was stated that in the Government records the 

land in question was marked as belonging to the Government and this statement was admitted 

by writ-respondent No.7 in his affidavit-in-opposition dated 22.06.2015. While the order of 

status-quo was granted by the High Court Division, one Mr. Sameer Kanti Datta, Deputy 

Project Manager of writ-respondent No.16 (the Developer) led about 40 persons, who 
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claimed to be the flat purchasers from writ-respondent No.16, to forcibly enter into the 

disputed land, for which the police had to be called, who dispersed the unruly mob. A 

General Diary No.1295 dated 22.06.2015 was lodged with the Lalbag Police Station. The 

said incident was also published in the Daily Prothom Alo on 23.06.2015. 

 

7. The writ-petitioners filed another supplementary affidavit annexing the combined Zarip 

Map with the Government regarding the land of S.A. Plot No.9, 1004, 1013, R.S. Plot 

Nos.615, 1241, 1242 and City Zarip Plot No.1002. From the said combined Zarip Map it was 

clear that writ-respondent Nos.15 and 17 illegally transferred the land to writ-respondent 

No.16, which was situated in the main part of the Orphanage which was obtained by the 

second lease deed (1
st
 extension) being Deed No.1560 dated 29.10.1929 from the Khas 

Mohal land, sanctioned by the Government vide letter No.2713 dated 27.11.1927. 

 

8. When the Rule Nisi was ready for hearing, Mr. Asaduzzaman Siddique, on behalf of 

Human Rights and Peace for Bangladesh (HRPB), filed an application for impleading his 

organization as writ-petitioner No.5 in the Rule Nisi. After considering the application and 

for effective assistance to the Court for disposal of the Rule Nisi, his application for addition 

of party was allowed vide order dated 16.06.2015. Accordingly, he was made co-petitioner 

No.5 who relied upon the facts and circumstances of other petitioners of Writ Petition 

No.1940 of 2013 and made submissions accordingly. 

 

9. Writ-respondent Nos.1, 2 and 8 in one set; writ-respondent No.7 in another set, writ-

respondent Nos.15 and 17 as the 3
rd

 set and writ-respondent No.16 as the 4
th 

set contested the 

Rule Nisi contending, inter alia, that after publication of the news items in different 

newspapers about the illegal transfer of land of the Orphanage by the then Executive 

Committee, to writ-respondent No.16, a meeting was held on 01.11.2007 in the Ministry of 

Social Welfare, Bangladesh  Secretariat,  Dhaka whereupon it was decided that the matter 

should be investigated. Accordingly, a high level investigating committee comprising three 

members was constituted under section 9 of The Voluntary Social Welfare Agencies 

(Registration and Control) Ordinance, 1961(the Ordinance, 1961). After conclusion of the 

investigation, the said committee submitted a report holding that the allegations were correct 

and the executive committee violated the constitution of the Orphanage, the provisions of the 

Ordinance, 1961 and Order of 1962 and accordingly made some recommendations. Pursuant 

to which the then Executive Committee of the Orphanage was suspended and a five member 

Managing Committee was constituted to run the Orphanage and to hold election to elect the 

new Executive Committee and to operate the institution. It was further decided that the 

elected Executive Committee would take necessary steps against all the illegal acts of the 

suspended Executive Committee. But the elected committee did not take any step against the 

illegalities of the suspended Executive Committee nor took any step to recover the illegally 

transferred land of the Orphanage. According to the decision of the Ministry of Social 

Welfare, and letter No.pLj/fË¢axn¡x/H¢SJ-27/07-177 dated 20.05.2009 and the recommendation 

of the Anti-Corruption Commission vide Memo No.c¤cL/27-2008 (Ae¤x J ac¿¹-1/Y¡L¡/6202 dated 

22.04.2008, Md. Abu Siddik Bhuiyan, District Social Welfare Officer, Dhaka filed a criminal 

case against the suspended Executive Committee before the Court of the Chief Metropolitan 

Magistrate, Dhaka. According to the constitution of the Orphanage, the elected committee 

with the help of the general members of the organisation directly controlled the supervisory 

power about all the moveable and immoveable properties of the Orphanage. On 28.02.2013, 

the Deputy Director, District Social Welfare Office, issued letter No.41|01|26000|000| 
28|192(09) |13|386 to the General Secretary of the Orphanage (writ-respondent No.15) 

requesting him to take appropriate and effective steps about the demand of justice notice 
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issued by the learned Advocate for the writ-petitioners. By letter dated 11.03.2013, the 

Secretary of Sir Salimuallah Muslim Orphanage (writ-respondent No.15), informed the 

Deputy Director, District Social Welfare Office that they had taken necessary steps about the 

Demand Justice Notice issued by the learned Advocate for the writ-petitioners. 

 

10. It was stated that the present elected Executive Committee was responsible to 

maintain, run and protect the Orphanage including protecting the movable and immovable 

properties of the Orphanage. As such, since the previous Executive Committee illegally 

transferred the land of the Orphanage, the present committee was bound to explain and 

recover the same. It was not the responsibility of the Department of the Social Welfare 

Ministry. 

 

11. On 04.06.2013, a letter was issued by the Ministry of Social Welfare to the Deputy 

Commissioner, Dhaka vide letter No.41.01.000.046.24.043. 13-259 directing him to take 

necessary steps according to the investigation report and recommendations dated 10.04.2013 

against the corruption and mismanagement related to the movable and immovable property of 

the Orphanage. Accordingly with a view to take necessary steps, a letter was issued by the 

Ministry of Social Welfare to the Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka vide letter 

No.41.01.0000.046.24.043.13-259 to that effect and constituted a committee comprising five 

members and the working of that committee was still running. So article 21 of the 

constitution was followed properly along with other statements therewith. 

 

12. Respondent No.12 herein, the Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka (writ-respondent No.7) 

further contended, inter alia, that the property of Sir Salimuallah Muslim Orphanage is 

situated on S.A. Plot Nos.9, 1004, 1013 and 1014 measuring an area of 3.3288 acres land 

under 'Khasmahal' Touzi. The land in question was leased out to Sir Salimuallah Muslim 

Orphanage by the then Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka, on a nominal salami of taka 1 (one) 

only and the possession of the land was delivered to the Orphanage authority. In the R.S. 

record, the land was recorded as "Khas" land. City Zarip was also prepared in the name of the 

Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka as "Khas land". Thus the orphanage authority had no power to 

transfer a portion of the land to the Developer. Thus the transfer was illegal as the land of 

S.A. Plot Nos.9, 1004, 1013 and 1014 was recorded in the name of the Deputy 

Commissioner, Dhaka as khas land and the Orphanage was simply a lessee. Writ-respondent 

No.7 also filed an affidavit-in-reply to the affidavit-in-opposition of writ-respondent No.16 

and contended that on 01.10.2013, writ-respondent No.16, Concord Condominium Limited, 

filed a supplementary affidavit-in-opposition annexing a letter of the office of writ-

respondent No.7 dated 05.01.2004 (Annexure-"1") which on examination and on consultation 

of the office records was found to be not genuine. The office of writ-respondent No.7 did not 

issue any such letter, rather annexure-"1" was created by writ-respondent No.16 for its own 

interest. The said annexure was fake and managed with a view to grab the land of the 

Orphanage.  

 

13. Writ-respondent Nos.15 and 17contended that the allegations of the writ-petitioners 

were not true and they had no locus standi to file the instant writ petition though the writ-

petitioners were residents of the said Orphanage, now they were no more residents as they 

passed out and left the Orphanage. They were more than 18 years, thus writ-petitioner Nos.1-

4 were not connected with the said Orphanage anymore. As such, they had no locus standi to 

file the instant writ petition. The Executive Committee of the Orphanage was entitled to take 

decision for betterment of the orphans as well as the Orphanage. Since the Orphanage had no 

permanent source of income, writ-respondent Nos.15 and 17 took necessary steps to arrange 
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a permanent source of income for the Orphanage. Accordingly, for the betterment of the 

orphans of the said Orphanage, the agreement was executed on 22.07.2003 for the benefit of 

the Orphanage. The Orphanage had no money of its own to construct the building which 

could permanently provide huge income every month upon letting out the same to different 

persons. On the execution of the agreement with writ-respondent No.16, the orphanage 

initially earned taka 30,00,000.00 apart from owning a portion of the building after the 

construction was complete. Respondent Nos.15 and 17 along with other members of the 

executive committee, first took over the charge of the Orphanage vide Memo No.2706(6)/09 

dated 05.11.2009 issued by the registering authority of the Department of Social Welfare. 

After taking over the charge, the Executive Committee of writ-respondent Nos.15 and 17 

created pressure upon the Developer (writ-respondent No.16) to enhance the share of the 

Orphanage. Accordingly another supplementary deed of agreement was executed by writ-

respondent Nos.15 and 17 and the Developer, Concord Limited, where the share of the 

Orphanage was enhanced to additional 03% of the commercial space and 08% of the total 

residential spaces and also realised taka 50,00,000.00 (fifty lac) only in  cash  in addition to 

earlier amount of taka 30,00,000.00 (taka thirty lac) only and also added the saving clauses to 

its agreement. The supplementary agreement was annexed as Annexure-1. The writ-

respondents did not transfer any land to the developer. On the basis of some incorrect news 

published in some of the daily newspapers, the writ-petitioners filed the instant writ petitions 

falsely. 

 

14. It was further stated that in 2007, during the Caretaker Government, a high power 

committee was constituted, headed by Ms. Giti Ara Safia Chowdhury, the then Advisor in 

charge of Ministry of Social Welfare wherein writ-respondent No.7 was a member. In a 

meeting of the said committee, the then Additional Deputy Commissioner (Revenue), Dhaka 

representing writ-respondent No.7 stated that the land in question had already vested upon the 

Orphanage by way of permanent settlement and as such, the authority of the Orphanage had 

all power to own and manage the land which was vested upon the Orphanage. Accordingly, 

the authority of the orphanage concerned, in pursuance of the rules, entered into such deeds 

of agreement and power of attorney with writ-respondent No.16. A letter dated 05.01.2004 

(annexure-1) issued by the office of writ-respondent No.7 and the resolution dated 

01.11.2007 (annexure-7) if read together, it would be easily construed that the statements 

made in paragraph No.4 of the writ petition were false and the investigation report in question 

was concocted. 

 

15. Writ-respondent No.16 (Managing Director of the Developer Company) also 

contended by filing an affidavit-in-opposition that writ-respondent No.16 was not personally 

liable for any act done in the capacity of Managing Director of the Concord Condominium 

Limited, a company registered under Companies Act, 1994. The Orphanage which was not a 

party in the instant writ petition, was neither a statutory body nor it could be said to be a 

Government authority against whom judicial review would be maintainable. The writ-

petitioners purported to challenge the legality of the contract dated 22.07.2003 entered into 

between two private parties, the Orphanage and the Concord Condominium Limited to 

develop a private property belonging to the Orphanage which was not amenable to writ 

jurisdiction and as such, the writ petition was not maintainable. The subject matter of the writ 

petition involving a private contract entered into between two private parties writ-respondent 

Nos.1-10 and 12 had no connection with the said private contract dated 22.07.2003. The writ-

petitioners made them parties just to invoke the writ jurisdiction with a mala fide intention to 

by-pass the civil jurisdiction as they knew that they had no factual as well as legal basis in 

support of their contentions. The Orphanage being the perpetual lease holder of the 
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contracted property, it required no permission from any authority to sell or change the nature 

and character of the property, especially when the steps were taken to enhance the income of 

the orphanage smoothly. The Executive Committee of the Orphanage being empowered 

under Part ‘Tha’ Clause 2 Ka of its constitution took resolution to deploy writ-respondent 

No.16 as the developer for developing its property to enhance the funds of the Orphanage. 

Subsequently, the General Body of the Orphanage proposed to enhance the share of the 

Orphanage in the developed property which was accepted by writ-respondent No.16. The 

Orphanage sought an amendment of the agreement dated 22.07.2003 vide letters dated 

20.10.2011 and 22.09.2011, thereafter both parties entered into the amendment agreement on 

27.10.2011. Writ-respondent No.16 was carrying on the construction work for the last 10 

(ten) years and within that period, nobody had ever raised any question as to the legality of 

the project or the contract dated 22.07.2003. The structural construction work had already 

been completed. The interior decoration work was in progress now. Being empowered vide 

the aforesaid development contracts and the power of attorney executed thereunder most of 

the spaces/shops/flats of the developed property had already been transferred to third parties. 

The contract dated 22.07.2003 was not in any way an illegal or void/voidable contract; the 

contract was legal and valid. The writ-petitioners had no locus standi to file the instant writ 

petition. Since by now long time elapsed after entering into the contract dated 22.07.2003 

writ-respondent No.16 and other third party transferees acquired legal and vested rights over 

the contractual property under part ‘Tha’ of clause 2Ka of its constitution.  

 

16. The facts of Writ Petition No.6974 of 2013:  

In addition to the similar facts and circumstances as stated in Writ Petition  No.1940 of 

2013, the writ-petitioner in Writ Petition No.6974 of 2013 stated that for the purpose of 

establishment and running of Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage, the then Government of 

India granted five lease deeds wherein the orphanage was set up and run uninterruptedly. 

Recently when the Executive Committee entered into such agreement with writ-respondent 

No.16 the residents of the Orphanage submitted several applications to the writ-respondents 

to take steps against the illegality and requested to protect the property of the Orphanage. On 

the basis of the application dated 21.11.2012 the Director, Social Welfare Department, of the 

government of Bangladesh formed an inquiry committee. The date of the inquiry was fixed 

on 28.11.2012. Similarly the Ministry of Social Welfare also formed an Investigation 

Committee on 13.12.2012 to investigate about the property and management of the 

Orphanage. Thereafter, on 03.01.2013 the committee issued a letter to the Superintendent of 

the Orphanage and requested him to be present on 09.01.2013.  

 

17. Thereafter, on 10
th

 April, 2013 the said Investigation Committee comprising (i) 

Deputy Director (Current Charge), District Welfare Office, (ii) Deputy Director Institution-2, 

Department of Social Welfare and (iii) Deputy Director (Institution) Ministry of Social 

Welfare submitted the Investigation report. 

 

18. The said investigation report pointed out the following problems; 

"(a) 20 to 25 over aged boys are living in the Orphanage area and these over aged 

 students are involved in unsocial and immoral activities. 

 

19. As per S.A survery it was recorded that the orphanage owns Plot No.48 Azimpur 

Road, Mouja Lalbagh, Khatian No.15, Dag Nos.9, 10, 15, 146, 147 and 148 measuring up to 

8.14  acres.  But during the Metropolitan Survey no record has been made in the name of the 

Orphanage, rather all the properties of the Orphanage are shown under the name of D.C, 
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Dhaka (Khatian No.l, land-measuring 3.416   acres)   and   under   the   C   & B Bangladesh 

Government in Khatian No.1, Dag No.431 measuring up to 2.5640 acres. 

 

20. The agreement entered into between the Governing Body of the Orphanage and 

Concord Limited is against the interest of the Orphanage. 

 

21. That the said investigation report also made certain recommendations for the purpose 

of protecting the land of the Orphanage which are as follows: 

To recover the landed properties of the Orphanage and file civil cases to rectify the 

records. 

To evict the over aged students who are living in the Orphanage. 

To take steps to recover the properties which have been done away by the Governing 

Body illegally. 

To cancel the agreement with Concord Limited and recover its lost properties. 

As a long term development plan transform the Orphanage into children village. 

As the Governing Body has failed to carry out its duty properly, to suspend the 

current Governing Body and appoint an Administrator. 

To appoint an experienced lawyer to conduct the Writ Petition No.1940 of 2013 

pending before the  High Court Division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh.” 

 

22. In the meantime, several news items were published in the Daily Newspapers on 

different dates under different headlines in respect of the illegalities surrounding the 

Orphanage. The petitioner read the news items of the newspapers and felt very much 

aggrieved about the inaction of the respondents to protect the leasehold property of the 

Orphanage illegally transferred upon violating the provisions of lease deeds and the law. It 

was reported in the newspaper that some of the influential persons are behind the scene. 

 

23. After lapse of about two months when it was found that no step had been taken by the 

respondents to protect the properties of the Orphanage, the writ-petitioner, on 03.06.2013, 

wrote a letter to writ-respondent No.1 and requested to take steps according to the 

investigation report. But no step having been taken the writ-petitioners filed this writ petition 

and obtained Rule Nisi for direction for implementation of the aforesaid recommendation. 

 

24. Writ-respondent Nos.1, 2 and 4, Secretary, Ministry of Social Welfare, Director 

General (DG) Department of Social Welfare, Director (Institution) Ministry of Social 

Welfare appeared in the Rule Nisi by filing a joint supplementary affidavit-in-opposition 

contending, inter alia, that they supported the Memo dated 10.04.2013 of respondent 

No.1(Annexure-4) and pursuant to the recommendation of the investigation committee, writ-

respondent No.2, the Director General, Department of Social Welfare issued a show cause 

notice on 09.09.2013 upon writ-respondent No.8, Nawabzada Khawaja Zaki Ahsanullah, 

President, Executive Committee, Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage asking him to show 

cause, within seven days, as to why the Executive Committee would not be suspended under 

sections 9(1) and 9(2) of the Voluntary Social Welfare Agencies (Registration and Control) 

Ordinance, 1961. But on receipt of the said show cause notice, writ-respondent No.8 instead 

of replying to the same sent an application for time, on 22.09.2013 which was rejected. 

Thereafter, writ-respondent No.2, considering the investigation report and the 

recommendations dated 10.04.2013 (Annexure-4) temporarily suspended the Executive 

Committee of Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage and   appointed   the   Additional Deputy 

Commissioner (General) Dhaka, as the Administrator of the said Orphanage, vide order 

No.41.01.0000.046.24. 036.13-88 dated 19.02.2014. It further stated that the Additional 
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Deputy Commissioner (General), Dhaka, Md. Jasim Uddin has already taken over the charge 

of the office of Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage as an Administrator and issued three letters 

dated 03.03.2014, 13.03.2014 and 23.03.2014 to the Ex-President of the Executive 

Committee, Nawabzada Khawaja Zaki Ahsanullah for making an inventory of the assets and 

liabilities of the orphanage. 

 

25. Writ-respondent No.7, the Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka appeared  in the Rule Nisi 

by filing an affidavit-in-opposition contending, inter alia, that more or less 17 acres land was 

granted by lease in favour of purpose "Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage" with a condition 

not to use the said land other than the purpose for which it was leased out. Writ-respondent 

No.7 has come to know that some office bearers of the Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage by 

violating the terms and conditions of those lease deeds illegally handed over more or less 40 

kathas of land to the Concord Real Estate Company for construction of  Multi- storied 

Commercial and Residential Building. It was further stated that the case land is Government 

Khas land, the District Magistrate, Dhaka has got the right to investigate the matter for such 

transaction between the office bearers and the developer company accordingly appropriate 

steps are being taken in accordance with law. 

 

26. Writ-respondent Nos.8 and 9, Nawabzada Khawaja Zaki Ahsanuallah, the then 

President, and Md. Anisur Rahman, the then Secretary, of the Executive Committee of the Sir 

Salimullah Muslim Orphanage filed a joint affidavit-in-opposition denying all material 

allegations of the petitioner. But they did not appear at the time of hearing of the Rule. 

 

27. In due course, after hearing the parties, by the impugned judgement and order the said 

Rules Nisi were made absolute. Hence, writ-respondent No.16 filed Civil Petition for Leave 

to Appeal No.133 of 2017 before this Division. Against the same judgement and order, Civil 

Petition for Leave to Appeal No.633 of 2017 was filed by Md. Khaled Ahmed and others 

claiming that they have purchased flats from the Developer. Shamsun Nahar Khawaja 

Ahsanullah and another being the former President and present President respectively of the 

committee of the Orphanage filed Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.530 of 2017. 

 

28. For the petitioner in Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.133 of 2017, Mr. 

Rokanuddin Mahmud, learned Senior Advocate appeared. Petitioner Nos.2-21 and petitioner 

No.1 in Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.633 of 2017 were represented by Mr. A.J. 

Mohammad Ali, learned Senior Advocate and Mr. Mohammad Ali Azam, learned Advocate-

on-Record and Mr. Mahbub Ali, learned Senior Advocate, appeared for the petitioners in 

Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.530 of 2017.  

 

29. Mr. Rokanuddin Mahmud, learned Senior Advocate, appearing for the petitioner in 

Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.133 of 2017 submitted that the petitioner as a Real 

Estate Company on 22.07.2003 entered into a contract with the Orphanage to develop the 

private property of the Orphanage which was not amenable to writ jurisdiction and thus the 

writ petition was not maintainable; the High Court Division upon misconceived view made 

the Rule Nisi absolute with direction and observation declaring the contract as illegal. He 

further submitted that the High Court Division failed to consider that the Orphanage as 

perpetual lease holder of the contracted property requires no permission from the concerned 

authorities to sell or change the nature and character of the property, particularly any steps 

taken for enhancement of income from the said charitable  organisation  and  as  per clause  

2(Ka)  of the constitution, the Orphanage took resolution and deployed the developer 

company, namely, Concord Condominium Limited by entering into an agreement with 
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subsequent amendment, which had been made in accordance with law. Hence, the High Court 

Division erred in law in declaring the agreement as illegal and void ab initio. He further 

submitted that after entering into agreement the petitioner as Real Estate Company started 

construction over 8.5 bighas land of Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage and the authority of 

RAJUK on 26.05.2004 by a letter mentioned that earlier over the proposed land clearance 

letter was issued on 13.01.2004 for construction of 6 stories residential-cum-commercial 

building as per section section 75(1) of Building Construction Rules, 1996 and thus 

considered the proposal of construction of 18 storied building over more or less 6 bighas land 

of orphanage by the petitioner; the High Court Division overlooked the correspondence and 

earlier transactions by the managing committee of the orphanage and made the Rule Nisi 

absolute by declaring the legal private contract with the petitioner for developing the land of 

the Orphanage by making construction of residential cum commercial building as illegal and 

made some directions upon different authorities which are liable to be set aside. He further 

submitted that under the constitution of Sir Salimullah Orphanage, Dhaka to raise fund of the 

Orphanage, article 2 provides that “(L) Aœ NWea−¿»l ¢euj¡hm£ Ae¤p¡−l aq¢hm Eæu−el ü¡−bÑ ¢h¢iæ fËLÒf 
q¡−a ®eJu¡ k¡C−h Hhw (M) fËLÒf h¡Ù¹h¡u−el ü¡−bÑ NWea−¿» ¢h¢d Ae¤k¡u£ Øq¡hl ¢Lwh¡ AØq¡hl pÇf¢š pj§q m¢NÀ Ll¡ 
k¡C−h” and the managing committee of the Orphanage as per provision of the constitution 

entered into a contract with the petitioner for developing the property after issuing tender 

notice in the newspaper. Thus the High Court Division ought to have discharged the Rule as 

the agreement was approved in the general meeting of Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage on 

02.10.2003 in which 61 members were present and accepted the agreement unanimously. He 

further submitted that the writ-petitioner in response to the tender notice published in the 

daily Inqilab dated 17.03.1999  wherein Sir Salimullah Mulsim Orphanage authority called 

bid for development of a multipurpose complex on their land at Lalbagh through joint 

venture, submitted bid in the tender and became highest bidder, thus was awarded the 

contract, the High Court Division without considering such the facts abruptly declared the 

agreement as illegal and made directions, which is liable to be set aside. He further submitted 

that the writ-petitioner was awarded the contract in 1999, signed the project in 2003 and has 

undertaken construction work from 2007 and the writ petition was filed in the year 2013 

when the total structure of the building was completed. Furthermore, the petitioner has 

constructed the building upon getting necessary permission and approval from all concerned 

government bodies including RAJUK, the filing of writ petition under Public Interest 

Litigation depicts clearly dishonest intention as after 10 years of signing of the agreement and 

after 6 years of commencement of work, they filed the writ petition; the High Court Division 

ought to have discharged the Rule Nisi in holding that the writ petition is not maintainable. 

He further submitted that as perpetual lease property, Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage 

Trustees had the legal authority to handover the land to any outside party with a view to 

betterment of the orphanage and the High Court Division erred both in law and facts in not 

considering that the orphanage as a registered society had complied with the terms of the 

lease deeds, entered into an agreement with the petitioner for making construction of the 

building for the purpose  of enhancement  of funds  for betterment of the orphanage. 

 

30. Mr. A.Y. Masihuzzaman, learned Senior Advocate for respondent Nos.1-3, Mr. 

Mahbubey Alam, learned Attorney General for respondent No.7, Mr. Nurul Islam 

Chowdhury, learned Advocate-on-Record for respondent No.5, appearing in Civil Petition for 

Leave to Appeal No.133 of 2017 and Mr. Soyeb Khan, learned Advocate-on-Record for 

respondent Nos.7 and 12, appearing in Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.530 of 2017 all 

supported the impugned judgement and order of the High Court Division.  
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31. From the judgement of the High Court Division, it appears that the conduct of the 

supervisory and controlling authority of the said Orphanage, i.e. the Executive Committee, 

was found to be not satisfactory and the high power inquiry committee made some 

observations and recommendations to safeguard and protect the interest of the Orphanage 

which was considered by the High Court Division. The High Court Division observed that to 

protect the Government property and the orphanage, it needed to pass some directions for the 

interest of backward, disadvantaged and helpless Orphans of the said Orphanage. 

 

32. The High Court Division observed that the failure of the respondents to protect the 

Government property leased out in favour of the Orphanage and illegal transfer of land to the 

developer company (respondent No.16) under the influence of the committee members, 

namely, the President and the Secretary (respondent Nos.15 and 17 in the Writ Petition 

No.1940 of 2013) to be without lawful authority and of no legal effect. The High Court 

Division declared that the deed of agreement dated 22.07.2003 and amendment agreement 

dated 22.07.2003 and irrevocable power of attorney dated 13.04.2004 Annexures-C, C-1 and 

C-2 respectively between respondent Nos.15, 16 and 17 are also illegal and thus those were 

cancelled as those are void ab-initio. 

  

33. The High Court Division went on to hold that the building which was being 

constructed on the Government land along with all properties and structures situated thereon 

made in pursuance of Annexures-C, C1 and C2 be confiscated in favour of the Orphanage to 

be used for the purpose and benefit of the orphans and the Orphanage. Respondent No.16 was 

directed to hand over the said multi-storied building in favour of the Orphanage through 

respondent No.1 within 30 (thirty) days from the date of receipt of the order of the High 

Court Division. Respondent No.1 was also directed to take possession of the said land along 

with the multi-storied building from respondent No.16 and hand over the said building to the 

Orphanage within the said period, failing which respondent Nos.1 to 12 of Writ Petition 

No.1940 of 2013 were directed to take necessary steps for taking possession of said building 

and property by evicting respondent No.16 and his men from the said property within 

7(seven) days without fail in accordance with law and hand over the same to the said 

Orphanage.  

 

34. The High Court Division also directed respondent Nos.1 to 12 to take immediate steps 

for constituting an effective managing committee to run the administration and management 

of the said Orphanage who will protect, maintain, improve and run the administration of said 

Sir Salimullah Muslim Orphanage and properties situated within the campus of the 

Orphanage in accordance with law keeping in mind the purposes of the lease deeds executed 

by the Government vide annexures-A, A-1, A-2 and A-3 and H respectively. 

 

35. Respondent No.7 was also directed to take necessary steps against respondent Nos.15, 

16, 17 and others, if any, for committing forgery, cheating and abetting and purposefully 

acting against the interest of the orphans/Orphanage, in accordance with law. 

 

36. We find from annexures-‘A’ that the Government granted lease of land at various 

times for the benefit of the Orphanage at a nominal rent. Each of the deeds stipulates the 

specific purpose for which the land is to be used, failing which the land would revert to the 

Government. 

 

37. The High Court Division observed that the Management/Executive Committee of Sir 

Salimullah Muslim Orphanage framed its own constitution on 13.12.1987 giving themselves 
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the authority to sell land of the organisation, but there is no such provision to sell 

Government leasehold property of the Orphanage in any manner. By reference to the 

Government Estates Manual, the High Court Division held that the lease of the land of the 

Orphanage was short term and the land is not transferrable; the land is recorded in the name 

of the Government, and hence the entire land of the Orphanage is Government land, and as 

such, the transfer of the land by the Executive Committee was illegal. 

 

38. Turning to the inquiry report of the Ministry of Social Welfare, the High Court 

Division noted that the land used by the Orphanage is recorded in Khatian No.1 in the name 

of the District Collector, Dhaka on behalf of the Government. The high powered inquiry 

committee recommended, inter alia, to cancel the agreements between the Executive 

Committee of the Orphanage and respondent No.16-the Developer and thereby confiscate the 

said building in favour of the Orphanage.  

 

39. The claim of respondent No.16-the developer and respondent Nos.15 and 17-

President and Secretary respectively of the Executive Committee of the Orphanage is that the 

agreements Annexures-C, C1 and C2 are legal and valid being in accordance with article 

2(Ka) of the Constitution of the Orphanage. They also claim that the building was 

constructed with due permission from the Government through the Additional Deputy 

Commissioner (Revenue), Dhaka. Thereafter, RAJUK accorded permission to construct the 

multi-storied building. The claim of respondent No.16 that the lease was a perpetual one was 

refuted by the Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka (respondent No.7).  

 

40. With regard to the permission by RAJUK to construct a building on the land, the High 

Court Division, upon scrutiny of the affidavit materials found that there was no final approval 

letter issued by RAJUK for constructing the said Residential-cum-Commercial Multi-storied 

Building on any land of the Orphanage.  

 

41. On perusal of the five original lease deeds in favour of the Orphanage, it is plainly 

evident that each time more land was given on lease for the Orphanage, there was a specific 

purpose mentioned in the deed itself and there was a categorical bar on using the land for any 

purpose other than the one stipulated, and failure to observe the condition would result in the 

land reverting to the Government. We find from annexure-‘A’ series that on each occasion of 

new lease for land, the specific purpose of giving more land was to expand existing 

Orphanage for dormitory etc. In 1934, land was given for the purpose of a playground for the 

Orphanage. In each of the leases, there was a condition that if the land was not used for the 

purpose stipulated then it would revert to the Government. 

 

42. By no stretch of imagination can a multi-storied residential-cum-commercial building, 

where apartments have been sold to the public, be said to comply with the stipulations 

entrenched in the lease deeds. This, along with the record of rights and the reports of the high 

power committee, led the High Court Division to hold that respondent Nos.15 and 17 entered 

into agreement with respondent No.16 illegally to construct the multi-storied building. It was 

held that the deeds of contract and power of attorney in respect of the land in question were 

illegal and void ab-initio. 

 

43. In the case of Begum Khaleda Zia-Vs-Government of Bangladesh and others, 63 DLR 

385 it was held that “it is a well settled principle of law that void deeds need not be 

cancelled….[possession] for 28  years on the basis of a void deed cannot create vested right 

against the Government.” 
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44. We find it curious to note that writ-respondent Nos.15 and 17 defended their action of 

entering into an agreement with respondent No.16 by claiming that they were acting for the 

benefit of the orphans/Orphanage by arranging a permanent source of income and that they 

did not transfer any land to the Developer. On the other hand, it is patently obvious from the 

standpoint of respondent No.16 that the Orphanage held the land on the basis of a perpetual 

lease and there was no bar to sell or change the nature and character of the property. Indeed, 

respondent No.16 has admitted that third party transferees have acquired legal and vested 

rights over the contracted property. According to the third party petitioners (petitioners in 

Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.633 of 2017), they purchased apartments in the 

building constructed by the Developer on payment of large sums of money. The obvious 

legal and factual position is that the Developer can only transfer to others right/title/interest in 

the property if it had such right/title/interest in the property and had the authority to make 

such transfer. 

 

45. It is on record that the Deputy Commissioner, Dhaka (writ-respondent No.7) denied 

the issuance of the letter from his office which purportedly stated that the property was held 

by the Orphanage on a perpetual lease. Writ-respondent No.7 categorically stated that the 

letter dated 05.01.2004 (Annexure-1) claimed by the Developer to have been issued by the 

Office of the Deputy Commissioner, was a forgery. 

 

46. The report dated 10.04.2013 makes reference to the land of the Orphanage given 

under lease deeds dated 27.07.1915, 29.10.1929, 14.05.1931, 18.05.1934 and 01.09.1934, 

comprising in total more or less 22 bighas. The report indicates that the inquiry committee 

comprising officials of the Department of Social Services and Ministry of Social Welfare 

came to a finding that the agreement between the Executive Committee of the Orphanage and 

Concord Condominium Limited was contrary to the interests of the Orphanage. It 

recommended, inter alia, that steps be taken to recover the property of the Orphanage which 

had been illegally transferred.  

 

47. In any event, we are of the view that the lease deeds, Annexure-‘A’ series are short 

term leases incorporating specific terms and conditions, breach of which would result in the 

land reverting to the Government. The Management/Executive Committee of the Orphanage 

had no authority to deal with the land other than for the purpose stipulated in the indentures. 

Those persons at the helm of the affairs of the Orphanage could not arrogate to themselves 

the authority to transfer the title in the property, which they themselves did not have. The 

Orphanage was given the property on a short term lease, which was apparent from the lease 

deeds. As long as these lease deeds existed and as long as the terms were not altered by the 

executant of the deeds none had the authority to deal with the land other than the purpose for 

which the lease was granted. The agreements entered into between respondent Nos.15 and 17 

and respondent No.16 as well as the power of attorney are, therefore, illegal and void ab 

initio and of no legal effect. 

 

48. In view of the discussion above, we find the claims made by the petitioners in Civil 

Petition for Leave to Appeal No.530 of 2017 untenable. Hence we do not find any merit in 

the petition.  

 

49. With regard to Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.633 of 2017, the claims of the 

petitioners rise and fall with those of the Developer. Since we do not find any merit in the 



12 SCOB [2019] AD     Mir Showkat Ali & ors. Vs. Md. Morsalin Khan & ors.  (Muhammad Imman Ali, J)  22 

 

claim of the Developer, the claim of the petitioners in Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal 

No.633 of 2017 fails. Their claim, if any, may be against the Developer. 

 

50. Hence, we do not find any illegality or impropriety in the impugned judgement and 

order of the High Court Division.          

 

51. Accordingly, the Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No.133 of 2017 is dismissed. 

Consequently, the Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal Nos.530 of 2017 and 633 of 2017 are 

also accordingly dismissed. 
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Voluntary retirement of service;  
 

After 10 years of their voluntary retirement and after receiving full financial benefits as 

offered the prayers for reinstatement cannot be termed as reasonable and fair. After 

having applied for voluntary retirement of service and taken the money it is not open to 

contend that they exercised the option under any kind of coercion and undue influence. 

Who had accepted the ex gratia payment or any other benefit under the scheme, could 

not have resiled therefrom. It became past and closed transaction. The writ petitioners 

having accepted the benefit could not be permitted to approbate and reprobate nor they 

be permitted to resile from their earlier stand.      
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J U D G M E N T 

 

Hasan Foez Siddique, J:   
 

1. The above mentioned Civil Appeals, Civil Petitions for leave to appeal and Civil 

Review Petitions have been heard analogously since the facts and the questions of law 

involved in all the appeals, civil petitions and review petitions are identical.  

 

2. The respondents of the appeals and civil petitions and the petitioners of Review 

petitions were the employees of the Bangladesh Agricultural Development Corporation 

(BADC, for short). All of them went on voluntarily retirement from service (VRS, for short) 

before the age of superannuation and before 25 years of their respective service in the BADC. 

The High Court Division, on the basis of writ petitions filed by the respondents, directed the 

BADC to re-instate the writ petitioners, who have not yet crossed their 57 years of age, to 

join their service with continuity of their service and to pay the benefits with effect from the 

date of their respective VRS. The High Court Division also directed the BADC to pay the 

remaining benefits up to the age of superannuation to the writ petitioners who have already 

crossed the age of retirement.  

  

3. In the writ petitions, the writ petitioners, inter alia, stated that the BADC is a statutory 

body of the Government and its all employees are directly under administrative control, 

supervision and monitoring of the Ministry of Agriculture. The Government, by notification 

in the year 1990, framed Bangladesh Agricultural Development Corporation Employees 

Service Regulation, 1990 (Service Regulations, for short) and the service of the writ 

petitioners are governed by the said Service Regulation. The Ministry of Agriculture issued a 

notification communicated under Memo No.Krishi-5/5-2/52(Part-1) dated 13.12.1992 

regarding the option of VRS for the employees of the BADC. Last date of filing the 

application for VRS was fixed on 31.01.1993. Thereafter, the BADC extended the time for 

filing application for VRS from time to time. It was the case of the writ petitioners that the 

BADC Authority under coercion, threat and undue influence compelled the writ petitioners to 

go on prematured retirement by the impugned orders. It was stated in the writ petition that 

they were threatened by the authority uttering that they would lose their job and other service 

benefits if they do not seek VRS. They contended that VRS was an unilateral act of the 

employees but in the instant cases, the employer had done everything and by creating 

pressure had obtained signature of the writ petitioners and others under threat, coercion and 

undue influence. Though the writ petitioners had been retrenched from service in the name of 

VRS on the ground of downsizing the excess manpower in the BADC, subsequently, the 

BADC had appointed many employees who were terminated with three months notice, have 

also been reinstated in compliance with the orders of the Court. The said act of retrenchment 

of the BADC manifestly proved that they have been ousted malafide for the collateral 

purposes. The VRS have been implemented without any guideline and policy. The authority 

had adopted policy of “pick and choose” while dealing with the similarly situated employees. 

Those unguided and arbitrary action are liable to be declared unlawful. It was further 

contended that the provisions of Services (Reorganization and Condition) Act, 1975 ensured 

that all the public bodies and nationalized enterprizes are found to ensure equal term and 

service of its employees. Furthermore, under the provision of Constitution the writ petitioners 

cannot be discriminated with regard to their right to continue in service till the age of 57 

years in service (at present 59 years). Under section 4 of Public Servant (Retirement Act), 

1974 a Public Servant shall retire from service on the completion of 57
th

 year of his age. 
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Thus, the writ petitioners, impugning prematured retirement before 57
th

 year age, filed 

different writ petitions and obtained Rules. 

 

4. The common case of the BADC in those writ petitions was that the writ petitioners 

voluntarily signed the VRS forms without any intimidation or undue influence whatsoever. It 

was added that with a view to reorganize the manpower structure of the BADC it offered the 

VRS scheme on 13.11.1992 which was thereafter extended from time to time. The writ 

petitioners voluntarily accepted the incentives offered for VRS and that their prayers for 

voluntary retirement from service were accepted by the authority. For the reason best known 

to the writ petitioners they had subsequently made a summersault from their own original 

stand, which they resorted to of their own volition being allured by the financial incentive of 

the VRS offer. 

 

5. The High Court Division, hearing the parties, made all the Rules absolute. Then BADC 

filed Civil Petitions for Leave to Appeal and obtained leave. Thus, are the appeals. In Civil 

Petitions, the BADC sought for leave against the judgment and order of the High Court 

Division passed in separate writ petitions directing the BADC to re-instate the writ petitioners 

of those writ petitions. In the review petitions, the petitioners sought review of the judgment 

and order of this Division passed in Civil Appeals No.45-48 of 2012. In those appeals, this 

Division set aside the judgment and order of the High Court Division passed in connected 

writ petitions, by which, the High Court Division directed the BADC to re-instate the 

petitioners of those writ petitions. 

 

6. Mr. Mahbubey Alam, learned Senior Counsel appearing for the BADC, submits that 

since the writ petitioner-respondents voluntarily retired from service and, thereafter, 

withdrew voluntary retirement benefit/facilities and after about 10 years of their retirement 

they filed the instant writ petitions, they were not entitled to get any relief, the High Court 

Division erred in law in making the Rules absolute. He submits that the writ petitioners had 

availed the opportunity of voluntary retirement programme about 10 years ago and almost all 

the employees of the BADC including the writ petitioners, who applied for VRS, accepted 

almost all of their service benefits and that the BADC Authority had accepted their prayers 

for VRS, the High Court Division erred in law in making the Rules absolute. 

 

7. Mr. Abdul Wadud Bhuiyan, Mr. Abdul Matin Khasru, Mr. Md. Badrodozza and Mr. 

Shaikh Reazul Haque, learned Counsel appeared for the respondents in their respective 

appeals. They submit that under the terms of the provision of section 2D of the Public 

Servant (Retirement) Act 1974 “public servant” includes any person in the service of any 

Corporation and that the writ petitioners having been in service of the BADC they are public 

servants and their retirement should be governed by the provision of Public Servant 

(Retirement) Act, 1974. He submits that the provisions of section 4 and 9(1) of the said Act 

are applicable to the writ petitioners and that in view of those provisions the retirement of the 

writ petitioners before they completed 25 years of service is illegal, so the judgment and 

orders of the High Court Division are sustainable in law. He submits that there can be no 

waiver of the fundamental right of the writ petitioners and estoppel against statute, their 

alleged application for VRS would not deprive them from their fundamental and statutory 

right, the judgment and order of the High Court should not be interfered with. 

 

8. Mr. N.K. Saha, learned Senior Counsel appearing for petitioners of the Review 

petitions also endorsed the submissions of Mr. Bhuiyan and submitted that this Division erred 
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in law apparent on the face of the record in allowing the Civil Appeal Nos.45-48 of 2012 

inasmuch as writ petitioners are legally entitled to be re-instated.  

 

9. In these appeals, Civil petitions and Review petitions, the only question is whether the 

employees of the BADC who accepted the VRS programme and received almost all of their 

service benefits and incentives offered for VRS are entitled to be reinstated to their services 

in their respective former posts on the plea that their signatures were obtained in the forms 

prepared for voluntary retirement from service by exercising coercive force inasmuch as 

BADC in it’s affidavit-in-opposition contended that such story of taking signatures by 

exercising force in the forms of VRS is absolutely false. It is the case of the writ petitioners 

that since the writ petitioners are public servants the provisions of their retirement should be 

regulated by the provision of Public Servant (Retirement) Act and they were terminated from 

the service in the garb of VRS. Their service tenure is protected by the law.  

 

10. It appears from the materials on record that in order to downsize the strength of staffs 

of BADC, the Ministry of Agriculture issued a circular regarding voluntary retirement 

scheme, in which, some privileges were specially offered to its employees who would 

express their intention of retirement from their service voluntarily. Accordingly, the 

employees, who sought for voluntary retirement as per terms of the circular, were offered to 

accept the ex-gratia payment mentioned therein. There was a clause in the circular that, “GB 
e¨e¯nv m¤ú~Y© Hw”QK| Z‡e GKevi Aemi Mªn‡bi B”Qv cªKvk Ki‡j Zv c‡i cªZ¨vnvi Kiv hv‡e bv|” This clause 

speaks that the programme is purely voluntary. Once an employee has applied for VRS under 

the scheme, the option cannot be withdrawn. Such a programme is ordinarily floated with a 

purpose of downsizing the employees. When pursuant to or in furtherence of such a 

Voluntary Retirement Scheme an employee opts and he makes an offer which upon 

acceptance by the employer gives rise to a contract. Thus, the matter relating to voluntary 

retirement is not governed by any statute, the provisions of the Contract Act, 1872, therefore, 

would be applicable. [Bank of India V.O.P. Swarnakar (2003) 2SCC 721]. Similar view has 

been expressed by the Supreme Court of India in the case of HEC Voluntary Retd. 

Employees Welfare Society V. Heavy Engg. Corpn. Ltd. reported in (2006) 3 SCC page 708 

where it was observed,  

“An offer for voluntary retirement in terms of a scheme, when accepted, leads to a 

concluded contract between the employer and the employee. In terms of such a scheme, 

an employee has an option either to accept or not to opt therefor. The scheme is purely 

voluntary, in terms whereof the tenure of service is curtailed, which is permissible in law. 

Such a scheme is ordinarily floated with a purpose of downsizing the employees. It is 

beneficial both to the employees as well as to the employer.”  

 

11. Here, in these cases, in view of the offer, the writ petitioners accepted the same and 

they themselves prayed for voluntary retirement from their service and also prayed for their 

service benefits and incentives mentioned in the circular and, accordingly their prayers for 

VRS were duly accepted and approved by the BADC Authority. The entire scheme was 

offered to the employees as a package and the same had to be treated as such and in that view 

of the matter, it being within the realm of contract, statutory regulation cannot be said to have 

any application whatsoever.  

 

12. Almost in an identical circumstances, this Division in the case of Md. Nurul Haque V. 

Govt. of Bangladesh and others reported in 18 BLD(AD)142 has observed:  

“Sections 4 and 9 of the Public Servant’s (Retirement) Act, 1974 have no application 

in this case. The scheme of retirement of the petitioners were under some special 
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circumstances and that was outside the ambit of the Public Servant’s (Retirement) 

Act, 1974. It was in fact a special arrangement made for those who voluntarily want 

to retire on getting certain monitory and other financial benefits. There was no 

compulsion on any of the petitioners to accept the special scheme of retirement. The 

petitioners finding the scheme to be beneficial in their interests applied in the 

prescribed form and got the retirement. The petitioners themselves accepted the 

scheme out of their free will on some special considerations as given by the 

Government and went under voluntary retirement and as such the petitioners cannot 

now say that the scheme is illegal and violative of the provisions of Public Servant’s 

(Retirement) Act, 1974. Further, Public Servant’s Retirement Act, 1974 has no 

bearing at all with their acceptance of the special scheme with benefits. The 

petitioners having accepted the benefit cannot now term the same as illegal. The 

learned Judges of the High Court Division in exercising their writ jurisdiction which 

is a discretionary relief rightly refused to exercise their discretion in favour of the 

petitioners as it is unconscionable to blow hot and cold in the same breadth.” 

 

13. It is relevant here to peruse the nature of application for VRS submitted by the 

employees. Contents of one of such prayers run as follows: 

“evsjv‡`k K…wl Dbœqb K‡c©v‡ik‡bi Kg©KZ©v/Kg©Pvix‡`i †m̂”Qvq Aemi Mªnb I ZrmsµvšÍ Avw_©K myweavw` gÄyixi 
Av‡e`b cÎ| 
eivei, 
mwPe, 
evsjv‡`k K„wl Dbœqb K‡c©v‡ik‡bi 
K…wl feb 
49/51, w`jKzkv evwbwR¨K GjvKv, 
XvKv| 
g‡nv`q, 
wb¤èè ¯ev¶iKvix MYcªRvZš¿x evsjv‡`k miKv‡ii K…wl gš¿bvj‡qi ¯§viK K…wl-5/g-2/92 (Ask-1)/124 ZvwiL 
11/6/1994Bs Gi AvIZvq 30/9/1994Bs ZvwiL †_‡K †m̂”Qvq PvKzwi †_‡K Aemi Mªn‡bi B”Qv cªKvk KiwQ| 
Avgvi Av‡e`b I D‡j¬wLZ ¯§viK Abyhvqx Avw_©K myweavw` gÄyixi Rb¨ Aby‡iva KiwQ| 
Avwg AewnZ AvwQ †h, GB `iLv‡¯Zi gva¨‡g Aemi Mªn‡bi B”Qv cªKvk Kivi ci Zv cªZ¨vnvi Kivi AeKvk †bB 
Ges h_vh_ KZ…©c¶ GB cª Í̄ve Mªnb ev cªZ¨vL¨vb Ki‡Z cv‡ib| 
Avwg GB g‡g© AsMxKvi KiwQ †h, Avgv‡K cª`Ë A_© hw` cªv‡c¨i AwZwi³ e‡j cieZ©x‡Z cªgvwbZ nq, Zvn‡j Avwg 
Zv †diZ cª`v‡b eva¨ _vKe Ges cvIbv †_‡K KZ©b Ki‡Z Avgvi m¤§wZ Av‡Q| 
m¤ú~b© cvIbv cwi‡kv‡ai c~‡e© Avgvi g„Zz¨ n‡j Aewkó cvIbv A_© wb¤è ewY©Z DËivwaKvixMb cv‡ebt 
µwgK bs  bvg    m¤úK©   Ask” 
1|  ‡gvQvt dwRjvZzb‡bQv  ¯Gx  100% 
2| 
3| 
4| 
Av‡e`b c‡Îi mv‡_ wb¤è ewY©Z `wjjvw` mshy³ Kijvgt 
1|cvm‡cvU© mvB‡Ri mZ¨vwqZ Qwe 3(wZb)Kwc| 
2|bgybv ¯ev¶i I cuvP Avs¸‡ji QvccÎ 3(wZb) Kwc| 
 
Avcbvi AbyMZ 
¯ev¶itA¯có 
bvgt †gvt kwn ỳj Bmjvg 
wcZvi bvgt †gvt †Kvievb Avjx 
c`ext mnKvix †gKvwbK 
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Kg©¯njt weGwWwm (†mP) MveZjx BDwbU, 
MveZjx, e¸ov| 
‡hvMv‡hv‡Mi wVKvbvt H” 
 

14. The writ petitioners, making statements in the writ petitions, made an attempt to 

exclude the contents of their prayers for VRS stating that their signatures were obtained by 

the BADC authority by exercising coercive force and undue influence inasmuch as such 

claims are essentially a question of facts. In writ jurisdiction, it is dangerous to decide the 

allegation of departure from the contents of the written documents where signatures of the 

executants are admitted and the writ petitioners virtually did not deny the statements made 

therein specifically subsequent to making such prayers rather they themselves upon admitting 

the contents of their prayers received financial benefits.  
 

15. The BADC authority, accepting the prayers, sanctioned the financial benefits as per 

circular issued by the Ministry of Agriculture. Contents of the specimen copy of the financial 

sanction letters are as follows: 
Ò evsjv‡`k K„wl Dbœqb K‡c©v‡ik‡bi 
K…wl feb 
49/51, w`jKzkv evwbwR¨K GjvKv, XvKv-1000| 
(A_© †mj) 
 
gÄyix bs †¯etAt 001829/95-96   Zvs 25/03/1996 
 
welqt †¯et At Mªnb msµvšÍ K…wl gš¿bvj‡qi 13/12/1992 Bs Zvwi‡Li ¯eviK bs 5/g-2/92/(Ask-1)375 Ges 
K…wl 5/g-2/92(Ask-1)/124 Zvs 11/6/1994 Gi Av‡jvK =2,79,412/- UvKv cwi‡kva eve` A_© gÄyix| 
 
myÎt bw_ bs †¯et At Mªnb (2q ch©¨vq) bw_ bs 2698| 
 
‡¯̂”Qv Aemi Mªnb msµvšÍ K…wl gš¿bvj‡qi 11/6/1994 Bs Zvwi‡Li ¯̂viK bs 5/g-2/92/(Ask-1)375 Ges K…wl 
5/g-2/92(Ask-1)/124 Zvs 11/6/1994 Gi Av‡jv‡K †¯̂”Qv †mj cªav‡bi/ms ’̄vcb wefv‡Mi cª Í̄vebyhvqx wb‡¤èv³ 
LvZ mg~‡ni wbiæwcZ UvKv =2,79,412/- (`yB j¶ Dbvwk nvRvi PvikZ evi) wb¤èewY©Z  kZ© cvjb c~e©K Rbve †gvt 
kwn ỳj Bmjvg, c`ex-mnt †gKvwbK, eZ©gvb Awdm e¸ov †mP †Rvb e¸ov †K cwi‡kva Kivi wbwg‡Ë A_© gÄyix 
w`‡Z Avw`ó n‡qwQ| 
 

Kg©KZ©v/Kg©Pvixi cvIbv UvKv           ms ’̄vi cvIbv UvKv 
1|K)Avby‡ZvwlK eve`=1,30,600/-        1| M„n wbg©vb FY I my` 
L)Avby‡Zvwl‡Ki Dci AwZwi³ myweavw` 17 1/2   
wnmv‡e   = 22,855/-      2| gUi mvB‡Kj/gUi Kvi/mvB‡Kj FY my` 
2|GjwcAvi eve`        = 46,857/-   3| AwZwi³ M„nxZ †eZb=23,314/- 
3|†evbvm            = 6,530/-Ó  4| wbivcËv Znwe‡ji Puv`v=720/- 
4|QywU bM`x Kib eve`  = 37,570/-  5| BwÄ‡bi g~j¨=2400/- 
5|cwievi wbivcËv Znwej = 35,000/- 
  me©‡gvU UvKv = 2,79,412/-  me©‡gvU UvKv=26,434/- 
kZ©vejxt- 
1|gÄyixK…Z UvKv 2,23,530/-(`yB j¶ †ZBk nvRvi cuvPkZ wÎk) gvÎ n‡Z ms ’̄vi Dc‡iv³ cvIbv 
UvKv=26,434/= mgb¡qK‡i evKx UvKv =1,97,096/=(GK j¶ mvZvbeŸB nvRvi wQqvbeŸB )cwi‡kva †hvM¨ n‡e| 
2| Aewkó 20% UvKv 55,882/- UvKv mvwÛ †µwWU Lv‡Z eywKs K‡i ivL‡Z n‡e hv mswk¬ó Kg©KZ©v/Kg©Pvix‡`iI 
wnmve msµvšÍ mgvß K‡i| 
3|ms ’̄vi cªPwjZ wbqg Kvbyb cvjb c~e©K cwi‡kva Ki‡Z n‡e| 
4|cªtftZt Gi cvIbv wewfbœ fv‡e wnmve wefvM KZ©„K cwi‡kvwaZ mgwb¡Zn‡e| 
5|ms¯nvcb wefvM KZ©„K Aemi Mªnb msµvšÍ Awdm Av‡`k Rvixi ci gÄyix Kvh©Ki n‡e| 
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Dc‡iv³ LiP evK…DKi 1995-96 mv‡ji Ô‡¯̂”Qv Aemi(2q ch©¨vq)Õ Gi eivÏK…Z A_© n‡Z wbe©vwnZ n‡e| 
mnKvix A_© Dc‡`óv(†¯̂t †mj) 
evK…DK, XvKv 
Zvs 25/5/1996Bs 
¯̂viK bs †mt At (2q ch©¨vq)/95-96/2821(8) 
Abywjwct- 
1|†¯̂”Qv ‡mj cªavb, weGwWwm, XvKv| 
2|mwPe, weGwWwm, XvKv| 
3|mswk¬ó wefvMxq cªavb cª‡KŠkjx (‡mP) evK…DK, XvKv| 
4| Dwnwb (†¯̂t‡mj), weGwWwm, XvKv| 
5| Avnib I e¨qb Kg©KZ©v, weGwWwm, mnt cª‡KŠt †mP e¸ov †Rvb| 
6| Rbve †gvt kwn`yj Bmjvg, mnt †gKvwbK 
7| A/K/gvtdvt 
 
Abywjwc 
wej cwi‡kva †hvM¨ 
‡gvU=2,79,412/- 
gÄyix A_©=2,79,412/- 
KZ©b=26,434/- 
80%  cª‡`q 1,97,096/-(GK j¶ mvZvbeŸB nvRvi wQqvbeŸB) 
    (†mj cªavb) 
cªwZK bs 1892 
ZvwiLt30/6/1996 
we,wc Avi bs 
cwi‡kvaK…Z UvKv=1,97,096/- 
(GK j¶ mvZvbeŸB nvRvi wQqvbeŸB) 
Li‡Pi wnmve bs 013/0385 
¯̂vt A¯có 
cwi‡kva I evwZj 
¯evt A®úó, 
‡PK bs 2435192 
Zvs 30/6/1996 
‡mvbvjx e¨vsK K…wl feb kvLv 
49-50 w`jKzkv, ev/G, XvKv| 
¯evt A®úó|Ó 
 

16. The identical prayers were made and sanction letters were issued in respect of almost 

all the cases of the writ petitioners. It is clear from the undisputed facts that the writ 

petitioners prayed in the prescribed form to accept their prayers for VRS with immediate 

effect. The learned Counsel for the writ petitioner-respondents failed to notice any exception. 

About 10 years thereafter the writ petitioners filed the writ petitions. It is not the case of the 

writ petitioners that after tendering applications of VRS they filed any application for 

withdrawal of those applications. On acceptance by the BADC of the request for voluntary 

retirement made by the writ petitioners their jural relationship ceases.  
 

17. Mr. Bhuyian submits that inspite of withdrawal of benefits, the writ petitioners are 

entitled to get relief since there can be no waiver of fundamental right of the writ petitioners 

and estoppel against statute. Estoppel is a bar or impediment preventing a party from 

assertaining or putting up claim inconsistent with the position, he previously took, either by 

conduct or words. According to Black’s Law Dictionary, in estoppel, a party is prevented by 
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his own act from claiming a right to the detriment of the other party who was entitled to rely 

on such conduct and has acted accordingly. Submission of Mr. Bhuiyan is correct that there 

cannot be any estoppel against a statute and such doctrine cannot be used against or in favour 

of the administration as to give de facto validity to ultra vires administrative acts. But 

estoppel is a mixed question of law and fact. It appears from the materials on record that in 

these cases the writ petitioners, in fact, abandoned their right. Firstly by not filing the 

application for withdrawal of their prayers for VRS. Secondly, by accepting the benefits and 

incentives. In fact, the writ petitioners intentionally relinquished their rights. The writ 

petitioners long after making their prayers for voluntary retirement and acceptance of those 

prayers and receiving financial benefits have filed the writ petitions. They are guilty of 

acquiesance in accepting the retirement. By not asserting their right in time they allowed it to 

lapse by delay, latches and acquiescence and accepting the VRS by conduct, the Court cannot 

come to the rescue of such persons where they themselves withdrew the financial benefits 

accepting VRS. 
 

18. Mr. Bhuiyan mainly relied upon the provisions of Section 9 of the Public Servants 

(Retirement) Act, 1974 which run as follows: 

“9.Optional retirement-(1) A public servant may opt to retire from service at any 

time after he has completed twenty five years of service by giving notice in writing to 

the appointing authority at least thirty days prior to the date of his intended retirement; 

Provided that such option once exercised shall be final and shall not be permitted to 

be modified or withdrawn. 

(2) The Government may, if it considers necessary in the public interest so to do, 

retire from service a public servant at any time after he has completed twenty five 

years of service without assigning any reason.” 
 

19. The aforesaid provisions of the Act is not applicable for the writ petitioners. 

Voluntary retirement is an early retirement. Incentive is offered to the staffs to reduce 

workforce and right size the organizations. Such scheme is completely voluntary and 

different. It is virtually a contract between employer and employees. 
 

20. Section 9 of the Act provides for voluntary retirement from service on completion of 

25 years’ service by giving notice in writing to the appointing authority at least 30 days prior 

to the date of his intended retirement. The words “may opt to retire” clearly indicate that the 

aforesaid provision does not confer on the employee a right to retire. It confers on the 

employee a right to make an option to permit him to retire. An employee who has put in less 

number of years of service would not be on better footing than the employee who has put in 

longer service. The words “opt to retire” indicate that the right which is conferred by it is not 

the right to retire but a right to ask for retirement. The words “opt to retire” imply a request 

by the employee and corresponding acceptance by the authority. Here in the case, some of the 

writ petitioners claimed that since they opted to retire from service before completion of 25 

years of service so their option itself was bad in law as such the same was not acceptable and 

those do not carry any legal validity and those offers were not offers at law. It is upon the 

authority whether they shall accept such option or not. It cannot be said that an employee 

retires only on superannuation and there is no other circumstance under which an employee 

can retire. Retirement on superannuation is not the only mode of retirement known to service 

jurisprudence. There can be other types of retirements like premature retirement, either 

compulsory or voluntary. Here the proper authority, accepting those offers, sanctioned the 

retirement benefits and the writ petitioners withdrew those benefits. Since the appointing 

authority did not refuse to grant the permission for retirement rather accepted the same their 

retirement became effective from the date of acceptance. It was, in fact, a contract. The 

employer offered the proposal and the employees accepted such proposal voluntarily.  
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21. In the case of ITI Ltd. V. ITI Ex/VR Employees/Officers Welfare Association and 

others reported in (2010) 12 SCC 347 Supreme Court of India observed that “if an employee 

has got benefits under the VRS scheme, whether right or wrong, it cannot be reopened....”. 
 

22. Moreover, we have considered the whole scheme of VRS and found that there was 

specific stipulation to the effect, “GB e¨e¯nv m¤ú~Y© Hw”QK| Z‡e, GKevi Aemi Mªn‡bi B”Qv cªKvk Ki‡j Zv 
c‡i cªZ¨vnvi Kiv hv‡e bv|” That is scheme was purely voluntary and once an option to voluntary 

retirement is exercised by an employee and the same is accepted by the BADC authority the 

employee is not entitled to withdraw from voluntary retirement. 
 

23. We have already found that the writ petitioners did not file any application for 

withdrawal of their prayers for VRS and after 10 years of termination of their service and 

withdrawal of the pensionaries and other benefits they have filed writ petitions. In all the 

cases it appears that the writ petitioners themselves by their own conduct abandoned the 

service in lieu of some consideration. The severance of the relationship of employer and 

employee takes place immediately on acceptance of the prayers for VRS. The moment their 

prayers are accepted by the BADC authority their retirement became effective. After 10 years 

of their voluntary retirement and after receiving full financial benefits as offered the prayers 

for reinstatement cannot be termed as reasonable and fair. Here, the writ petitioners in their 

wisdom thought that in view of the situation VRS was a better option available and chose the 

same. After having applied for VRS and taken the money it is not open to them to contend 

that they exercised the option under any kind of coercion and undue influence. Who had 

accepted the ex gratia payment or any other benefit under the scheme, could not have resiled 

therefrom. It became past and closed transaction. The writ petitioners having accepted the 

benefit could not be permitted to approbate and reprobate nor they be permitted to resile from 

their earlier stand.  
 

24. In such view of the matter, our considered opinion is that the writ petitioner-

respondents were not entitled to get any relief as prayed for. The High Court Division 

committed error of law in directing to reinstate the writ petitioner-respondents to their former 

posts and to pay their  back salaries. 
 

25. Accordingly, we find substance in all the appeals. 
 

26. Thus, all the appeals are allowed. The judgment and order of the High Court Division 

are set aside. The Civil Petitions are disposed of in the light of the decision of the appeals. 

The review petitions are dismissed accordingly.  
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Dying declaration, section 32(1) of the Evidence Act 1872; 
 

Dying declaration cannot be considered as the sole basis for conviction and awarding 

sentence to the appellant, specifically in the absence of any of the witnesses who were 

present in the hospital during the time when the alleged dying declaration was made by 

such a critically injured person who was under intensive care and not supposed to be in 

conscious. As such the finding of the High Court Division that ‘the prosecution has 

clearly established the motive of the case and the oral dying declaration has also been 

supported by the medical evidence and other circumstances and materials on record’ is 

not sustainable in law. 

 

J U D G M E N T 

 

MIRZA HUSSAIN HAIDER, J:  

 

1. This criminal appeal, by leave, is directed against the judgment and order dated 

29.11.2007 passed by the High Court Division in Death Reference No.52 of 2004 heard along 

with Criminal Appeal Nos.1164 of 2004, 1187 of 2004, 1231 of 2004, 1504 of 2004, 1887 of 

2004 and Jail Appeal Nos. 393 of 2004 and 394 of 2004 rejecting the death reference with 

modification of sentence by commuting the death penalty to imprisonment for life and 

dismissing all the aforesaid appeals.   
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2. Facts leading to this criminal appeal in short are: 

That on  8.5.1996 at about  10.00 in the morning victim Aminul Isalm @ Babu, son of 

the informant Hosne Ara, P.W 1, left his residence No.  558/C Khilgaon, Dhaka, to 

meet his elder brother, Md. Shafiqul Hossain,(PW.2), at his office and when he 

reached near the T&T Bhaban adjacent to Bishwa Road, the appellant along with 

accused Moinul alias Ripon, Shahed, Biddut and Mohammad Hossain Faruque @ 

Poka Babu, abducted him at gunpoint, and took him to Shahjanpur; at that time, one 

unknown boy was in front of the T&T Bhaban, who came and informed the informant 

about the said incident. On receiving such information the informant immediately 

rushed to the spot and came to know from the local people that the above mentioned 

accused persons had taken the victim to Amtala, Shahjanpur, then she rushed back to 

her residence and sent Badal, son of her neighbour Matiar Rahman, to the office of 

her elder son P.W.2, who upon receipt of such information, went to the Motijheel 

Police  Station  and  then to Shabujbag Police Station where he came to know that the 

victim  was in the Hospital. PW 2 then went to the Dhaka Medical College Hospital 

where the informant also sent Shiuli Begum, the wife of her elder son (PW 2) and one 

Parul, a neighbour along with some local people. All of them found the victim in 

seriously injured condition and was being treated by the doctors of the hospital. The 

victim then disclosed to P.W .2 that the appellant and accuseds, Ripon, Shahed, 

Biddut and Poka Babu tied him up with a date-tree whereupon accused Ripon dealt a 

chapati blow on the back of his head and the appellant shot him in his stomach while 

the other accused persons struck him indiscriminately. Thereafter at about 1.40 PM 

the victim died in the hospital. At 3.00 p.m. P.W.2 came back home and narrated 

everything to the informant what the victim disclosed to him. Then at 22.35 hours the 

informant lodged a written FIR narrating the incident and also stating that after the 

occurrence the local people and one autorickshaw driver had taken the victim to the 

hospital and that out of previous grudge and enmity the appellant and other accused 

persons murdered the victim. It is also stated that prior to the occurrence, she made a 

complaint to the Police Commissioner against the appellant and other accused persons 

which was registered a G.D. Entry No.318 dated  5.12.95. She also filed an extortion 

case against the elder brother of the appellant. On the basis of the FIR Shabujbag 

Police Station Case No.25 dated 8.5.1996 was started under section 364/302 of the 

Penal Code.  

  

3. The police, after investigation, submitted Charge Sheet No. 469 dated 09.08.1996 

against the five accused persons including the present appellant under sections 364/302/34 of 

the Penal Code. The case record was transmitted to the Court of Metropolitan Sessions Judge, 

Dhaka, for trial and was registered as Metro Sessions Case No. 188 of 1996, which was 

subsequently transferred to the 2
nd

 Court of Metropolitan Additional Sessions Judge,  Dhaka, 

for disposal who accordingly commenced the trial upon framing charge against five accused 

persons under sections 364/302/34 of the Penal Code. The charge was read over and 

explained to the accused persons who pleaded not guilty and claimed to be tried. The 

prosecution examined 11 prosecution witnesses while the defence examined none. The 

defence plea, as it transpires from the trend of cross-examination of the prosecution witnesses 

and the statement of the accused persons recorded under section 342 of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, to be that of innocence and false implication and that the victim might have been 

killed by other assailants who were inimical to him.  
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4. The learned Metropolitan Additional Sessions Judge, after hearing the parties and on 

perusal of materials on record found the appellant and other accused persons, as aforesaid, 

guilty under sections 302/34 of the Penal Code and convicted and sentenced accused Moinul 

Huq @ Ripon and Rashed (appellant herein) to death penalty  with fine of TK.30,000/= each 

and also sentenced Shahed, Saifur Rahman @ Biddut and Md. Hossain @ Faruque Ahmed @ 

Poka Babu to life imprisonment with fine of TK.30,000/- each in default to suffer three years 

rigorous imprisonment more, by judgment and order of conviction and sentence dated 

11.04.2004. 

 

5. A reference was sent to the High Court Division under section 374 of the Criminal 

Procedure Code seeking confirmation of the death sentence which was registered as Death 

Reference No. 52 of 2004. On the other hand, the appellant preferred Criminal Appeal No. 

1164 of 2004 and Jail Appeal No.394 of 1994 and  the other condemned prisoner Moinul 

Hoque alias Ripon preferred Criminal Appeal No. 1187 of 2004 with Jail Appeal No.393 of 

2004. A Division Bench of the High Court Division, after hearing the aforesaid death 

Reference along with all the criminal appeals and jail appeals preferred by all the convicts, 

rejected the Death Reference and dismissed all the appeals upon modifying the sentence of 

the appellant and that of Moinul Haque @ Ripon from death to imprisonment for life, by the 

impugned judgment and order dated 29.11.2007. 

 

6. Hence the present appellant preferred Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal No. 291 of 

2008 and obtained leave giving rise to this appeal. 

  

7. Mr. Munsurul Hoq Chowdhury, the learned Counsel for the appellant submits that the 

High Court Division fell in error in not appreciating that the prosecution has miserably failed 

to establish a complete chain of circumstances and that no witness was examined regarding 

the alleged occurrence at Railway collony adjacent to Amtala, Shahjahanpur, nor the persons 

who took the victim to the Dhaka Medical College Hospital were examined. Apart from that, 

he submits that admittedly  no eye witness to the occurrence has been produced and not a 

single independent witness has been examined to prove the prosecution case beyond 

reasonable doubt; Moreover P.W.8, Dr. Tajendra Chandra Das has clearly stated that after 

having sustained the injury marked as ‘ka’ to the post-mortem report, it was almost 

impossible for the victim to retain his consciousness and further the victim being shot at 

around  10.30 a.m. making the alleged dying declaration around 1.00 p.m. even after loosing 

huge amount of blood is absolutely unbelievable and thus the alleged dying declaration made 

by the victim at that state of health condition was out of question and accordingly, the trial 

court fell in an error in convicting the appellant relying solely on the said dying declaration 

which was not even corroborated by  any independent witness. He submits that even if under 

such critical condition the victim made dying declaration to P.W.2 at about 1.00 PM before 

his death at 1.40 PM and then PW 2 having gone home at 3.00 PM narrating the same to his 

mother, the informant, lodging of the FIR after 7(seven) hours at 22.35 hours is totally a 

circuitous way of filing of the case relying on the alleged dying declaration raises doubt as to 

the veracity of the dying declaration. Thus the conviction and sentence handed down to the 

appellant wholly relying on such uncorroborated, doubtful dying declaration is not at all 

sustainable in law.  

  

8. Mr. Bashir Ahmed, the learned Assistant Attorney General appearing on behalf of the 

respondent, state, supported the impugned judgment and  without filing any concise statement 

he prayed for dismissal of this appeal.   
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9. On perusal of the materials on record including the impugned judgment and order it 

appears that the positive case of the prosecution is that on 08.05.1996 at about 10.00 in the 

morning the victim Amirul Islam @ Babu son of the informant (P.W. 1), came out of his 

house and on his way to meet his elder brother, Md. Shafiqul Hasan (PW 2) in his office, the 

accused persons forcibly abducted him at gun-point and took him to Shahjanpur where they 

tied him first with a date tree and then with a lamp post and caused multiple serious bleeding 

injuries by bullet shots and chapatti blows and left him in a profusely bleeding condition. 

Thereafter the local people took him to the Dhaka Medical College Hospital by a scooter in a 

critical condition where while he was being given medical attendance he made oral dying 

declaration to P.W. 2 at about 1 PM describing the manner as to how the accused persons 

took part in the occurrence causing/inflicting injuries upon his person and also disclosing the 

names of the accused persons. After making such statement the victim died in the hospital on 

the same day at about 1.40 pm. due to such severe injuries.   

 

10. In support of the FIR story the prosecution examined 11 (eleven) witnesses amongst 

whom PW 1 is the informant of the case and mother of the victim.  PW.2 is the elder brother 

of the victim who went to the hospital to whom the victim narrated the sequential occurrence 

disclosing the names of the accused persons and their role. PW 3 is the wife of PW 2. P.W. 4 

is the seizure list witness. PW 5 is the hearsay witness. PW 6 is a witness who after 2/3 days 

of the occurrence went to the Gausul Azam Jame-Mosjid for saying Magrib prayer when he 

saw gathering of people in the place of occurrence and put his signature in a blank paper on 

being asked by the Daroga. P.W.7 is the uncle of the victim. P.W.8 is Dr. Tajendra Chandra 

Das, who held post mortem examination and prepared the report. PW 9 is Sub-Inspector of 

Police who lodged the case pursuant to the written Ejahar filed by the informant. PW 10 is 

the Sub-Inspector who conducted investigation and submitted charge sheet. PW 11 SI who 

prepared the inquest report of the body of the deceased. 

 

11. The trial Court on consideration of the materials on record and the evidence adduced 

by the parties found the five accused persons guilty and sentenced, each one of them in the 

manner as stated above which the High Court Division on consideration of the materials on 

record sustained the conviction but modified the death sentence to imprisonment for life, for 

ends of justice. 

 

12. In this appeal filed by the convict-appellant, Rashed, the points raised for 

determination are whether the High Court Division erred in law in not appreciating that the 

prosecution has miserably failed to establish a complete chain of circumstances and also 

failed to produce any witness regarding the occurrence at the Railway Collony adjacent to 

Amtala, Shahjahanpur and also failed to consider prosecution’s failure to produce the persons 

who took the victim to the Dhaka Medical College Hospital, as witness. And whether there 

was any eye witness who could be produced to prove appellant’s involvement in causing 

death of the victim and whether there was any single independent witness to corroborate the 

alleged dying declaration and/or to prove the prosecution case beyond all reasonable doubt. 

Lastly whether the dying declaration of the victim made at around 1.00 pm even after 

sustaining such grievances multiple injuries causing loss of huge amount of blood is true and 

if not whether the conviction and sentence awarded against the appellant basing on the sole 

uncorroborated dying declaration of the victim is justified.  

 

13. To answer the aforesaid points, we need to examine the evidence of PWs 1, 2, 3, 8 

who are not police personnel and the post mortem report.   
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14. P.W. 1, Hosne Ara Begum, mother of the victim and informant of the case narrated 

the prosecution story as described in the FIR. She stated that she went to the police station 

with her elder son, P.W. 2 who wrote the ejahar which has been read over and explained to 

her, she put her signature therein. She proved her signature in the FIR which has been marked 

as Exhibits 1 and 1/1. She also identified the accused persons on the dock. In cross 

examination, she denied all material suggestions put forward by the defence and asserted her 

statements what she stated in her examination in chief. She categorically denied defence 

suggestions that victim did not make any oral dying declaration as alleged and stated to her 

son P.W. 2 and also denied that out of enmity they implicated the accused persons falsely. 

She further denied that the victim was caused to death by some unknown assailants inimical 

to him. 

 

15. P.W. 2. Md. Shafique Hasan, the elder brother of the victim and husband of P.W. 3, 

Shiuli Begum. The sum and substance of his evidence is that on 08.05.96 while he was in his 

office at about 11.30 am, his neighbour Badal came and informed him that accused Rashed 

and others had abducted his younger brother Aminul Islam @ Babu from T.N.T. Bhaban 

adjacent to Bishwa Road. Upon hearing the same he went to the Motijheel Police Station and 

then to Shabujbag Police Station and came to know from P.W. 5, Kabir that his brother was 

in the Hospital in a critical condition and then he went to the Dhaka Medical College Hospital 

where he saw his injured brother in ward No. 32 where his wife P.W.3, Shiuli Begum and 

another lady were present. Being asked by him (P.W. 2) as to what had happened, the victim 

replied in feeble voice that “accused Rashed, Poka Babu, Biddut, Ripon and Shahed abducted 

him forcibly at gunpoint from in front of the T.N.T. Bahaban and took him to the 

Shahjahanpur Amtala Road Colony and accused Ripon dealt a chapatti blow on the back of 

his head and then tied him up first with a date tree and later with a lamp post and accused 

Rashed shot him at his stomach (belly) and others shot him indiscriminately and left the place 

leaving him there. Then local people boarded him on a scooter and took him to the hospital.” 

The said PW also stated that at quarter to two pm his brother, victim Babu, died in the 

hospital. Then at around 2.15 pm he came back hom and at about 3.00 in the afternoon he 

told his mother, P.W. 1, about the occurrence. He further stated that he wrote the ejahar as per 

statements of his deceased brother and then it was read over and explained to his mother and 

then she put her signature on the same.  

 

16. He deposed that earlier on 05.12.95 his mother lodged G.D Entry No.318 against the 

accused persons and on  9.3.96 accused Rashed’s elder brother and  4 others attacked their 

house and demanded a sum of Tk.10 Lac as subscription for  which his mother filed 

Shabujbag P.S Case No. 28(3)96. He believes that due to that grudge the accused persons 

killed his brother. He identified the accused persons present on the dock. In his cross 

examination he denied all material suggestions put to him by the defence and asserted what 

he had stated in his examination  in chief,. he further  denied defence suggestions that the 

victim did not make any dying declaration to him as alleged and that he had deposed falsely 

and had implicated the accused persons due to enmity. 

 

17. P.W.3, Shiuli Begum wife of PW 2, stated in a similar way as that of PW 1 and 2 on 

all matters particulars. In cross examination, she also denied all the material suggestions 

made to her and asserted her statements relating to the occurrence and oral dying declaration 

as she stated in  examination in chief. 

 

18. P.W.8, Dr. Tejendra Chandra Das, held post mortem examination on 08.05.96 upon 

the dead body of the victim Amirul Islam @ Babu, aged 28 years brought and identified by 
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constable No. 4812 Delwar Hossain and on examination he found several injuries on his 

body. Accordingly he opined that the death of the victim was due to the injuries mentioned in 

the post mortem report, which were ante-mortem and homicidal in nature.  He proved the 

post mortem report Exhibit 4, his signature Exhibit 4(1) and the death certificate Exhibit 5 

and his signature Exhibit 5/1. In his cross-examination he described the injuries caused by 

bullet (in total 11 injuries) and sharp cutting weapon and further stated that having sustained 

those injuries the victim was not suppose to remain conscious. 

 

19. On scrutiny of the aforesaid evidence of the P.Ws and considering the nature of 

injuries, as reflected in the post-mortem report, it appears that P.W.2 in his evidence stated 

that on the date of occurrence upon receiving information from Badal, his neighbour to the 

effect that  his brother has been abducted by some persons he rushed to the place of 

occurrence and then having come  to know that his brother has been taken to the Hospital in a 

critical condition he went to the hospital and found him there with severe injuries. According 

to him the victim in such critical condition, in reply to the questions of PW 2, in a feeble 

voice  gave a vivid  description as to how the accused persons abducted him at gun-point and 

also who inflicted which blow with ‘chapati’ and gun shots indiscriminately and then how  he 

was brought to the hospital by the local people. From the post-mortem report, it appears that 

the doctor found a number of injuries including one on the right side of the chest which 

pierced through the body injuring the entire right lungs, liver and stomach and also found a 

number of gun short injuries on the right thigh, leg and ankle and toe/finger. He also found a 

severe cut injury at the occipital region which also cut the scalp of the head. The doctor in his 

report opined that the death was due to the aforementioned injuries causing severe bleedings 

paralyzing the nerves which were ante mortem and homicidal in nature. 

 

20. Admittedly, the victim was brought to the hospital at 11.00 a.m. and he died at 1.40 

pm. i.e. he was under treatment in the hospital for about 2½ hours. PW 8, the doctor, admitted 

in his cross examination that the injury caused in the head can cause death. He also admitted 

that a person upon receiving such injury is not supposed to remain conscious. He also 

admitted that there were bullets injuries all of which pierced through his body and one caused 

severe damage to right lung, liver and stomach and one is inside his body and such patient is 

required to be given intensive care treatment because such injury has caused profuse 

bleedings and his life was at high risk. 

 

21. From the nature of injury as mentioned above and from the evidence of PW-8 it 

cannot be said that the victim had good conscious of giving a vivid description as to which 

accused person inflicted which blow. PW-2 had admitted in his deposition that his mother 

lodged a GD Entry against the accused persons earlier on 5.12.1995 and thereafter, on 

09.03.1996, the elder brother of appellant, Rashed and four others attacked their house and 

demanded money from them which led their mother file Shabujbag Police Station Case No. 

28(3)96. He thus believes that due to the grudge of such GD Entry and filing of criminal case, 

the accused persons killed his brother, the victim. Admittedly, there is no eye witness of the 

occurrence or killing the victim at the place of occurrence. Only Badol, a neighbour, who, 

informed PW-2 about the abduction of his brother the victim who is not a witness of murder. 

Thereafter, PW-2 rushed to the hospital, after looking for his brother at three places, and 

claimed that the victim gave a full description of  the occurrence to him. PW 3, wife of PW-2, 

stated that the victim told the whole story in her presence and in presence of doctor, nurse and 

many other persons, but interestingly, none of the hospital staff nor anyone present there, 

including Parul or Badal has been produced as witness who could have been independent 

witness in the case so far the dying declaration is concern.   



12 SCOB [2019] AD  Rashed Vs. The State   (MIRZA HUSSAIN HAIDER, J)   40 

 

22. From the record it appears that the statement of the victim bearing 11 bullets injuries 

and one severe cut injury on the back of the head has been taken into consideration by both 

the Courts as an oral dying declaration of the victim, which, both the Courts believed to be 

true and trustworthy. The High Court Division observed that ‘the language of dying 

declaration need not be identical and of the same, but if substance of the same fulfills other 

conditions to act upon which such declaration, then it is admissible as evidence. A detail 

statement cannot necessarily lead to the inference that the statement is fabricated one. It is 

now well settled that a dying declaration, oral or written, when established as true can form 

the sole basis of conviction’. Taking the said dying declaration into consideration the High 

Court Division observed that ‘the same has been well proved by PWs 1 to 3 and the motive of 

the case has been established’. Although, the High Court Division has considered the oral 

dying declaration  to be proved but one thing is required to be noted that the said dying 

declaration has been made by a person, who admittedly  received 11 gun shot injuries on his 

body one of which pierced his body damaging his right lungs, liver and  stomach and there 

was a severe cut injury damaging the scull on back side of the head, whereupon the doctor 

admitted that any person receiving such injury is not supposed to remain conscious and give a 

vivid description as to how and which of the accused  inflicted such injury upon him.    

 

23. On a close scrutiny of the post mortem report it appears that the injury (Ka) is a bullet 

injury which pierced through the right chest mid line and went out of the body through the 

back side creating 8” x ½” diameter hole between 9
th

 and 10
th

 rib of the right chest  damaging 

the right lungs, liver and stomach and there are as many as 7 bullet injuries in the body of the 

victim and a cut injury on the occipital area creating  3” x ¾ “x ½”, bone injury  1½ x ¾  on 

the right side of the head creating blood clod with liquid blood below the occipital region. 

  

24. As such from the above report and the evidence of PW 8, it appears that the injuries 

were so severe in nature that at least one of the aforesaid injuries which pierced through his 

body damaging right lungs and liver and the sharp cutting injury at the back of the head 

which according to the doctor, who prepared the post mortem report, in his cross examination 

stated  ‘wfKwUg evey‡ji fwZ©i mgq I ZvwiL  g„Zz¨ cÖwZ‡e`b Abymv‡i Zvs  8/5/95 mgq mKvj  11.10 wgt Ges 
g„Zy¨i mgq ỳcyi  1.40 wgt wfKwUg eveyj Avgv‡`i nmwcUv‡j  2 N›Uv   30 wgt wPwKrmvaxb  wQ‡jb | †Kvb †ivMxi g„Zz¨ 
wbwðZ nB‡Z †Kvb Wv³v‡ii †ivMx‡K cixÿv Kwi‡Z  1 wgwbU ev  15 wgt ev  30 wgt mgq jvwM‡Z cv‡i Bnv  Wv³v‡ii 
AwfÁvZvi Dci wbf©ikxj | (K) injury w`†qI †jvK gviv †h‡Z cv‡i | H injury  nIqvi c‡i wfKwU‡gi Ávb _vKvi 
K_v bq |( O).......................... g„Z †`‡n injury mark  11 wU ey‡j‡Ui cÖek  I evwni c_ wgwjqv Ges  1wU ey‡jU 
evwni bv nIqvq me© †gvU ey‡jU injury  11wU GB ai‡bi injury wbqv †Kvb †jvK nvmcvZv‡j Avwm‡j  Wv³vi‡`i DwPr 
mve©ÿwbK †ivMxi cv‡k _vKv  | GB  injury  ¸wji mv‡_ mv‡_ cÖPzi i³ ÿib n‡q‡Q |’ Thus it is not believable 

that a person having received multiple injuries and who died after 40 minutes of making the 

alleged dying declaration can give a thorough description of the actions of his assailants. So 

the High Court Division erred in believing the uncorroborated dying declaration to be true 

and correct which from the nature of injuries and according to doctor’s opinion does not 

show that the deceased was in such physical condition that he could make such declaration. 

Moreover the said dying declaration has not been corroborated by any other or any 

independent witness as none of the hospital staff or the people present in the hospital at that 

time and people who brought him to the hospital having been examined.   

 

25. It is true that a dying declaration to be admissible under section 32(1) of the Evidence 

Act, is not necessarily to be recorded in accordance with the provisions contained in Chapter 

XXV of the Code of Criminal Procedure which includes both oral and written statements i.e. 

it may not necessarily be only in writing. It can be treated as evidence if it is found to be free 
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from suspicion and believed to be genuine and true, only in that case it may be sufficient to 

form a material basis for conviction. The main tests for determining the genuineness of a 

dying declaration requires three criterions (I) whether intrinsically it rings true, (II) whether 

there is no chance of mistake on the part of the dying man in indentifying or naming his 

assailant and (III) whether it is free from prompting from any outside quarter and is not 

inconsistent with the other evidence and circumstances of the case. 

  

26. In the case of Alais Miah Vs. State reported in 20 BLC(AD)341 this Division held 

“while considering dying declaration the Court is required to see whether the victim had the 

physical capability of making such a declaration whether witnesses who had heard the 

deceased making such statement heard it correctly. Whether they reproduced names of 

assailants correctly and whether the maker of the declaration had an opportunity to 

recognize the assailants.  Value of dying declaration depends on the facts and circumstances 

of the case in which it was made. Unlike English law, for admissibility of a statement a 

person should not necessarily be in the expectation of death when he made the statement.”  

  

27. In the instant case, from the materials on record, it appears that other than the elder 

brother PW-2 and PW-3 wife of PW-2, none were produced at whose presence the victim 

made such dying declaration in the hospital. Admittedly, PW-2 stated that when he went to 

the hospital, he found  Doctor and other staffs of the hospital were giving him treatment and 

medical attendance. He also found his wife and one lady with her beside the victim. He said 

that when he asked his younger brother, the victim in a feeble voice, stated  the names of the 

accused persons and the blows inflicted by them. But, unfortunately, none of the hospital 

staffs or the lady named Parul was produced to prove making of such dying declaration by 

the victim, who heard the statement made by the victim. Moreover, PW-8, Doctor, who held 

the post mortem examination, in his cross examination clearly stated that the injuries found 

on the body of the victim, specifically the bullets which pierced through the right chest 

damaging the right lungs, lever and stomach and the injury cutting the scull of the victim at 

the back of the head along with other 11 bullet injuries, he was not suppose to be conscious 

and, such a patient requires intensive care treatment which was being given to him within 2½ 

hours time till his death. He also opined in his deposition that such patient is at the verge of 

meeting death because of such injuries and profuse bleedings. 

  

28. From the above, it is clear that the victim was not in physical capability of making 

such declaration  before 40 minutes of his death. It has already been stated that other than PW 

2 who is the elder brother of the victim and PW 3 wife of PW 2 both being closely related to 

the victim and admittedly there were some enmity between the appellant’s family and the 

victim’s family the circumstances clearly show that the the three requirements as mentioned 

above to determine the genuinity of the dying declaration is absent in this particular case. 

Thus the same cannot be the basis for conviction and, as such, the same cannot be the sole 

basis for conviction.      

  

29. Thus from the above facts and circumstances of the case, it appears that such dying 

declaration cannot be considered as the sole basis for conviction and awarding sentence to the 

appellant, specifically in the absence of any of the witnesses who were present in the hospital 

during the time when the alleged dying declaration was made by such a critically injured 

person who was under intensive care and not supposed to be in conscious. As such the 

finding of the High Court Division that ‘the prosecution has clearly established the motive of 

the case and the oral dying declaration has also been supported by the medical evidence and 

other circumstances and materials on record’ is not sustainable in law. Consequently, the 
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impugned judgment passed by the High Court Division basing on the such uncorroborated 

oral dying declaration against the present appellant is liable to be set aside. 

  

30. Accordingly, this criminal appeal is allowed. The impugned judgment and order of 

conviction and sentence so far the present appellant, Rashed, is concerned, is set aside. The 

convict-appellant Rashed son of Formuj  Ali Bhuiyan, Village-Rajapur, PS. Burichang, 

District-Comilla at present 517/C Khilgaon, PS. Sabujbag, District-Dhaka, be acquitted of the 

charge and be set at liberty forthwith if not wanted in connection with any other case. 
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Article 102(2) of the Constitution.  
 

For Article 102 (2) to be attracted  however the petitioner must be aggrieved by an 

action of a person  performing functions “in connection with the affairs of the 

Republic”, or local authority or statutory body and he should be without  any other 

alternative remedy or redress . The remedy sought by the petitioner is simply a 

direction on the Respondent No. 1 for inspecting the petitioner’s factory and publishing 

the findings in its website. If the petitioner’s factor is unsafe and not fit in any way then 

the  Respondent No. 1  has nothing to loose. The petitioner  cannot seek remedy from 

the Civil Court or any other forum in the form of a direction since there is no 

contractual relationship with the respondent   No. 1. Similarly an action for defamation 

also will not serve any purpose since  the petitioner wants  the Respondent No. 1 to 

publish the accurate condition of its factory. Thus to compel the Respondent No. 1 to 

inspect its factory and  publish the findings in its website  the petitioner  does  not 

appear to have any other alternative remedy. In such view of the matter therefore this 

Rule is also maintainable under Article 102 (2).               ... (Para 43) 

 

JUDGMENT 

Tariq ul Hakim, J: 
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1. On an application under Article 102 of the Constitution  by the petitioner Rule Nisi was 

issued calling upon the Respondent No.1 to show cause why  it should not be directed to 

circulate the name of the petitioner as a compliant garment-manufacturing factory amongst its 

members all over the world and/or pass such other or further order or orders as to this Court 

may seem fit and proper.   

 

2. In the midst of hearing of the Rule on another application of the petitioner, a  

Supplementary Rule  was also issued  on the Respondent No.1 to show cause why  it should 

not be directed to immediately arrange for  inspection of the factory of the petitioner  as per  

Clause 10 of the Accord agreement in accordance with all necessary protocols  and publish 

the inspection report in its website  and/or pass such other or further order or orders as this 

Court may seem fit and proper.  

 

3. The case of the  petitioner is that it is  a private   limited company incorporated under 

the Companies Act, 1994, engaged in the business of manufacturing readymade garments. 

The factory of the petitioner comprises three buildings, plant and machineries valued at about 

Taka 120 crore. It was established in the year 2001 and about 5000 workers directly 

depended on it for their livelihood. In 2013 the petitioner made a gross annual income of 

about Taka 200 crore by manufacturing and exporting readymade garments to European and 

American buyers  including  the respondent No.2 Primark, Debenhams, Target, K-mart and 

other well known brands/ companies .  

  

4. The respondent No.1 Bangladesh Accord Foundation (hereafter referred to as Accord) 

is registered in the Netherlands  with the primary objective of ensuring fire and building 

safety in the garments factories of Bangladesh for a period of five years pursuant to an  

agreement amongst its members  under the name and style  “Accord on fire and building 

safety in Bangladesh”  (hereafter referred to as the Accord Agreement). The signatories to the 

Accord Agreement are more than 150 apparel corporations including the respondent No.2, 

2(two) global trade unions,  eight  Bangladeshi trade unions and the International Labour 

Organization (ILO). The Accord Agreement was signed on 13.5.2013 after the Rana Plaza 

disaster  where 1129 people died and the Tazreen  Garments devastating fire of 24.11.2012.  

The Ministry of Labour and Employment  of the Government of Bangladesh also formed a 

National Tripartite Committee, respondent No.4,  with the owners of garments factories  and 

Labour Organizations and adopted a National Tripartite  Plan of Action (NTPA or NAP)  to 

ensure  fire and  building safety in garments factories. The committee in their joint statements 

welcomed assistance from stakeholders (foreign garments buyers International Development 

Organizations, donors etc.) wanting to help  improve the fire and building safety conditions in 

garment factories  in  Bangladesh  leading  to the  setting up of  the Accord Foundation by 

European Buyers.  

 

5. Similar to Accord, American buyers of Bangladeshi garments formed an Association 

under the name and style “Alliance” with objectives similar to “Accord on fire and building 

safety in Bangladesh”. They also entered into an agreement among themselves with similar 

objectives like the Accord  Agreement. There is an unwritten understanding between Accord 

and Alliance that the  inspection report of Accord regarding the infrastructural fire and 

building safety conditions of a particular garments factory in Bangladesh would be accepted  

by Alliance and vice-versa. Thus if a negative report  is published either by Accord or 

Alliance  in its website, the members of both Accord and Alliance stops sourcing ready made 

garments from that factory and in effect the whole world stops taking goods from such a 

factory. Both Accord and Alliance committed  themselves to work under the platform created 
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by the respondent No. 4  National Tripartite Committee (NTC) to ensure  fire and building 

safety measjures  pursuant to  the National Tripartite Action Plan (NAP) as stakeholders. The 

Accord agreement  came into effect on 23.5.2013.  

 

6. After the collapse of Rana Plaza, foreign buyers  of readymade garments from 

Bangladesh became concerned  about fire and safety hazards in  garment factories in the 

country and the respondent No.2 appointed the respondent No.3 Medway Consultancy 

Services  to inspect the factory of the petitioner. The respondent No.2  and 3 visited  the 

factory of the petitioner on 18.5.2013  and 25.5.2013  and after a cursory visual inspection, 

the respondent No.3  reported that there was a serious  structural weakness in the  main 

production building i.e. building No. 2. The same building however was reported to be safe  

by the respondent No.2  in an earlier report dated 28.06.2012. The respondent No.3’s report   

stated that the slab of  each floor is only just able to support its own weight and that the 

weight of workers or equipment on each floor is likely to cause one of these floors to collapse 

. Should  one floor collapse, the extra weight on the floor will cause the building to 

progressively collapse.  This was a complete surprise  to the petitioner and he immediately 

requested  the Bangladesh Garment Manufacturers  & Exporters Association (BGMEA)  to 

inspect the said building. The  engineers of BGMEA certified that the aforesaid building  no. 

2   was safe   vide their letter dated 10.06.2013. Thereafter the petitioner engaged  

Bangladesh  University  of Engineering and Technology (hereinafter referred to as the 

BUET)  which is the most reputable Institution on civil engineering in the country and they 

also by their letter dated 29.06.2013  certified that the petitioner’s  buildings may be used 

with caution but  minor retrofitting work  should be done to make the building better. 

Thereafter the petitioner, at the insistence  of the respondent no. 1, took advice from one Ali 

Asgar & Associates, a renowned engineering  firm who also confirmed that the building may 

be used for production. Thereafter  on 11.06.2013 the Respondent No.2 along with  Primark ( 

an apparel Corporation  based in UK and the Respondent No.3 went to  the petitioner's 

factory and compelled  the petitioner  to shut down  building no. 2 completely. After the 

petitioner's factory was shut down the petitioner  wrote several letters  to the Respondent No. 

2 to review their decision but the respondents insisted that the petitioner submit proposals for 

retrofitting. The petitioner  submitted retrofitting proposals prepared by Ali Asgar  and 

Associates but the respondent no. 1 asked for Professional Indemnity Insurance (PII) from 

Ali Asgar and Associates  amounting to  10 Million Pounds Sterling but  that engineering 

firm was not willing to  provide the indemnity Insurance  nor did  any other Engineering 

Consultancy Company agreeable to  do so.  The petitioner  accordingly requested Accord to 

withdraw the condition of  Professional Indemnity Insurance but while negotiations were 

going on  suddenly on 15.10.2013 the Respondent No.1 informed  the petitioner that  all 

Accord brands ( members of Accord) would terminate their relationship  with the petitioner if  

it did not repair its factory. The petitioner  by its letter dated 21.10.2013 and 27.10.2013 

offered to comply  with the requirements of the Respondent No.1  but requested it to 

withdraw its demand for the Professional Indemnity Insurance  of 10 Million Pound Sterling 

because  the engineering firms of this country were  unwilling to provide it .  

 

7. It is further stated that  by this time all buyers  cancelled  their orders with the 

petitioner  and  the petitioner  was thrown out of its business but  the Respondent No.1 did 

not bother to inspect  the petitioner's factory  to determine the actual condition of the 

buildings.The Government of Bangladesh  intervened in the matter and requested the 

Respondent No.1  by letter dated  24.11.2013 under the signature of the Senior Assistant 

Chief, Planning Cell, Ministry of Labour and Employment  to inspect  the petitioner's factory  

but the Respondent No.1 by its letter dated 08.12.2013  addressed to  the Secretary,  Ministry 
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of Labour and Employment  of the Government  of Bangladesh  informed it that the 

Respondent No.1 had accepted  the inspection report of the Respondent No. 3 and  did not  

place  the petitioner's factory  in its list for inspection.   

 

8. It is further stated that  under Clause 10 of the Accord Agreement  the Respondent 

No.1 is required to arrange inspection of  all  factories of  readymade garments at least once 

by a Safety Inspector  appointed  by Accord to determine its safety standard  but the  

Respondent No.1 has been  refusing to  inspect the petitioner's factory .  On the other hand 

Accord published the name of the petitioner's factory  in its web site  as non compliant and 

risky causing   buyers all over the world  to refrain from placing orders  for ready made 

garments   to the petitioner’s factory . It is further stated that  although  the Respondent No.1 

undertook to work in sync  with the NTPA i.e. the Respondent No. 4  but the Respondent 

No.1 has refused  to listen   to the requests made by the Government of Bangladesh  to 

inspect  the petitioner's factory  pursuant to clause 10 of the Accord Agreement resulting  in 

complete  shut down  of the petitioner's factory  causing  it  substantial financial loss. The 

petitioner again wrote  to the Respondent No.1  on 30.4.2014 and 4.5.2014 to inspect its 

factory and the BGMEA  vide their email dated 08.09.2014 also requested  the Respondent 

No.1 to inspect   the condition of  the petitioner's factory . Similarly the Inspector General  

(Additional Secretary of the Department of Inspection  for Factories and Establishments) i.e. 

respondent No. 5 , by its letter dated 14.9.2014  also requested the Respondent No. 1 to 

inspect  the petitioner's factory  but the Respondent No.1 has continuously refused to inspect  

it. The petitioner  sent a Notice for  Demand of Justice  through  its learned  Advocate  to the 

respondents  on 27.10.2014 (Annexure  L)  to inspect  the petitioner's factory  but  the said 

respondents  did not bother to take any steps or even  reply to the said notice.  

 

9. It is further stated that (the International Labour Organization (ILO) appointed)  TUV 

SUD, a Bangladeshi private limited company inspected  the petitioner's factory  on the  

recommendation of BGMEA  and found  it  to be absolutely safe  and satisfactory. Thereafter 

the BGMEA   again  wrote  to the Respondent No.1 on 12.08.2015 to inspect the petitioner's 

factory but the said respondent continued to ignore the request of every one. It is also  stated 

that  Clause 10 of the Accord Agreement imposes a duty upon the Respondent No.1 to 

inspect the petitioner's factory  as it is  a supplier of  readymade garments to many of  

signatories of the Accord Agreement  but  the persistent  refusal of the Respondent No.1 to 

inspect the petitioner's factory  and publication of a false report  in its website  about the 

petitoner’s factory being  risky  and unsafe has made the petitioner  bankrupt  and  having no 

other alternative remedy it has been  compelled to come to this Court and obtain  the present 

Rule.  

 

10. In a Supplementary Affidavit  on behalf of  the petitioner  it has been  further stated 

that  BUET after inspecting  the petitioner's factory  submitted  its report  on 29.6.2013 

making seven recommendations  and corrective works  and the petitioner complied  with the 

said recommendations . 

 

11. The Respondents are contesting the Rule by filing separate  Affidavits-in-Opposition.  

 

12. The Respondent No.1 Accord   in its Affidavit-in-Opposition has denied the material 

allegations against it and stated inter alia that the  Accord Agreement was signed  in May, 

2013 by global  apparel companies, international retailers,two global trade unions and eight 

Bangladeshi trade union Federations. The agreement is designed to make RMG factories in 

Bangladesh  safe and sustainable. Accord   was established in the Netherlands with its  liaison 
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office  in Bangladesh  with permission from the Board of Investment  to  implement  

commitments of the signatory companies towards making  their  supplier RMG  factories  in 

Bangladesh  safe. One of its  objectives is  to provide technical support to the  National 

Tripartite Committee (NTC)  but neither  the NTC   nor  Accord   has any authority  to give 

directions to each other.  Accord  has conducted  engineering  based safety inspections of 

more than 1400 RMG factories in Bangladesh.  Accord and its signatories  provide  

significant  technical support and resources to all the RMG factories  to ensure that safety 

hazards are  identified   through inspection and are properly corrected and has spent  almost 

50 million US Dollars over  the 5 years  of their agreement  period for the purpose .   

 

13. It is further stated that in cases where factory   buildings after inspection  are found 

unsafe rectifications are recommended and if a factory owner does not comply , the 

Respondent No.1 publishes it as non-compliant   and since  the petitioner's factory  was 

unsafe and  the petitioner did not co-operate  with the Respondent No. 2 ,  Accord   decided 

not to source from  the petitioner's factory.It is further stated that  the members of the 

Respondent No.1 cannot continue to do business with a factory which does not have  a safe 

building. The petitioner's factory was inspected by the Respondent no. 2 and 3 before the 

Respondent No.1 opened any office  in Bangladesh .  Since the inspection was conducted  on 

behalf of  a signatory  organization  of the Respondent No.1, Accord  accepted  the findings  

of the Respondent No.3 and considered it as part of its program activities  pursuant to clause 

10 of the Accord Agreement. As per clause 10 of the Accord Agreement the Respondent 

No.1 Accord   had accepted  the report prepared  by the Respondent No.3 as it met  the 

standards of thorough and credible inspection.  The provisio to Clause 10 of the  Accord 

Agreement is applicable  to a situation  where the factory has been  inspected by any 

signatory organization  and has worked  on the rectification  plan as per the recommendations  

suggested  by  the inspectors.  Respondent No.1  is reqired to make at least one inspection  

but   the petitioner has not  worked on the  retrofitting work and was insisting to continue 

operation in the  unsafe building  thereby  risking the lives of  thousands of   workers . 

Several communications were made to the petitioner  by the Respondent No.1 to do 

retrofitting works in its factory building and  on one occasion  Respondent No.1 even 

scheduled a visit to the petitioner's factory but when it  knew  that  the retrofitting work had 

not been done  or even started Accord had no option but to cancel its   visit because it  would 

be a waste  of its valuable  funds and time .  

 

14. It is further stated that   Accord even provided  funds to pay salaries  and bonuses  to  

the petitioner's workers  but still  the petitioner  repeatedly  ignored  the Respondent No.1’s 

direction to complete  retrofitting works of its factory and therefore the said respondent was 

constrained to  declare  the petitioner's factory  as a non compliant factory  . Once a factory is 

categorized   non compliant as per the  Accord Agreement  the Respondent No.1 has no 

authority  to  inspect   it as any inspection would be a violation of the agreement  amongst the 

members  of Accord . Furthermore  such inspection  would open the flood gates  for other 

non compliant  factories to demand multiple inspections. The petitioner’s name was 

accordingly published  in the respondent No. 1’s web site  as  a non compliant   factory  on 

14
th

 October, 2013  and although  more than 2 years  have elapsed  the petitioner  has not  

carried  out any retrofitting   work  in its  factory and   any inspection by the Respondent No.1 

will be a meaningless  exercise involving  unnecessary cost and this Rule  has no substance 

and  is liable to be  discharged.  

 

15. The Respondent No.2 Tesco in its Affidavit-in-Opposition  has stated that in April, 

2013  it  initiated a program of Structural  and Safety Audits of its Bangladeshi supplier 



12 SCOB[2019] HCD   Liberty Fashion Wears Limited Vs. Bangladesh Accord Foundation & ors. (Tariq ul Hakim, J)  6 

factories  through  an international engineering  consultancy firm MCS (Medway 

Consultancy Services)  with offices in the United Kingdom and Bangladesh.  On 17.5.2013  

the Respondent No.2 Tesco came to know  of the petitioner’s name appearing in the list  of 

“unapproved facilities” published by another major American retailer, Walmart. Immediately 

thereafter  the Respondent No. 2  Tesco instructed  Respondent No.3 MCS to audit  the 

petitioner's factory  and to report on the structural  safety of the petitioner's factory building .  

After  inspecting  the petitioner’s factory  on two occasions  it came  to the finding  that 

building no. 2 could not support itself   along with  the equipment  and workers and revealed 

the risk of structural collapse, technically known  as “punching shear failure” . The findings 

and calculations were checked by  Fairhurst  one of the largest Consulting  Engineering  

Partnerships   in the United Kingdom as well as another  independent engineering  firm called 

String Maynard which confirmed the  Respondent No.3’s findings.  The Respondent No.2 

thereafter  urgently informed the petitioner  on 7.6.2013  about  the Respondent No.3’s report 

and asked  it   to evaluate building  no. 2  but  the petitioner  refused to stop  production in it . 

The Respondent No. 2  sent a letter  to BGMEA  on 07.06.2013 informing   it about  the 

critical safety risks at the petitioner's factory  and asked  it to take immediate action  to 

protect employees working there. The Respondent No.2’s representative during its factory 

visit on 11.6.2015  also recommended relocating the sewing machines to the ground floor of 

other buildings at the site for safety of the workers in the endangered building.  

 

16. It has also  been stated that the Respondent No.1 Accord does not represent Tesco 

since Accord is an independent entity with its own independent press office. Tesco did not 

participate in or cause the publication of any report published by Accord. Tesco informed 

Accord about Respondent No.3’s report and findings  and Accord  chose not to reassess the 

same  in exercise of its own discretion and judgment.  Tesco did not participate in the 

decision making process pertaining to the conditions   imposed by Accord on the petitioner.  

The persistent failure  by the petitioner  to take remedial action  in its buildings led the 

Respondent No.2 to  stop taking   readymade garments from the petitioner. Although  the 

petitioner  has claimed no relief against the Respondent No.2, the relief claimed by the 

petitioner if granted would amount to licensing  a non  compliant  building  as compliant  

without making the factual assessment  of the conditions  of the factory building.   

 

17. The Respondent No.3 in its Affidavit-in-Opposition  has stated that in April, 2013 the 

Respondent No.3 was appointed  by the Respondent No.2 Tesco  to carry out inspection  of 

all its Bangladeshi suppliers’ factories  under its program of Structural  and Safety Audits 

following  the Rana Plaza disaster.  The petitioner's factory  was inspected by the Respondent 

No.3  on two occasions, on 18.05.2013 and 03.06.2013 by a team of the Respondent No.3 led 

by Mr. I. A. Khan OBE , a British national and a Chartered Civil engineer from the United 

Kingdom.  Inspection revealed various faults  in building  no. 2  of the petitioner's factory 

specially relating to the load carrying capacity of the floor slabs.  Building  No. 2 was of flat 

slab construction  without beams supported on columns. On physical measurement, it was 

apparent that  the thickness of the slab was less than that  required by the Bangladesh  

National Building  Code (BNBC). Moreover, the use of brick aggregate  for the concrete slab 

raised further concern.  The findings of the Respondent No.3  were checked by two other 

consultancy firms in the United Kingdom, Fairhurst  and String Maynard who agreed  with 

the calculations. The said respondent requested  the petitioner  to stop production at building  

no. 2 but  the petitioner  refused to do so.   It is further stated that  the said respondent is not a 

member of Accord  and has no role in Accord’s decision making  process  and did not 

participate  or cause the publication of any report that may have been  published by Accord. It 

is further stated that  the instant Writ Petition  involves a number  of disputed  questions of 



12 SCOB[2019] HCD   Liberty Fashion Wears Limited Vs. Bangladesh Accord Foundation & ors. (Tariq ul Hakim, J)  7 

fact and calls for  an adjudication  on the basis of inspection  and since  no relief  has been 

claimed against the Respondent No.3 by the petitioner  there  is no legal basis  for making  

the Respondent No.3 a party in the instant Writ Petition. 

 

18. The respondent No. 4 Secretary, Ministry of Labour and  Respondent No. 5, Inspector 

General of Factories, in their separate  Affidavits-in-Opposition,  have stated that pursuant to 

the third  meeting of the National Tripartite Committee (NTC) the representative of the 

International  Labour Organization (ILO) arranged a consultation meeting  with Accord and 

Alliance and as per their suggestions a team from the Bangladesh University of Engineering 

and Technology (BUET) prepared a revised version of the  Operation Manual (OM)  for 

assessing the infra-structural  integrity  and fire safety of  readymade garments buildings in 

Bangladesh which  was endorsed by the said meeting .  In a subsequent meeting of the 

National Tripartite Committee (NTC) it was decided that the evaluation and 

recommendations of   Accord and Alliance  on readymade garments factories will be subject 

to review  by a Review Panel  formed under the said Operation Manual (OM). In the case of 

the petitioner however since the recommendation for closure  of the petitioner’s factory was 

not made by Accord,  Alliance  or  BUET, the same was not subject to  review  by the 

Review Panel. The respondent No.1 found the assessment of the petitioner’s factory  by  

Primark and Tesco   as credible and  accepted it as an inspection under its own program and 

accordingly on 14.10.2013 and 24.10.2013 published  a summary  of the aforesaid inspection 

report in their website and declared  the petitioner's factory as a non complaint  

manufacturing facility . It is further stated that they welcomed Accord’s initiative  to assess 

the infrastructure of garments factories  in Bangladesh under the National Tripartite Plan of 

Action (NTPA)  framework  using the Operational Manual developed by the National 

Tripartite Committee (NTC)  under the monitoring and review system of the National 

Tripartite Committee (NTC). However the inspection conducted by Tesco and Primark  of the 

petitioner's factory  was not a specific  inspection under the National Tripartite Plan of Action 

(NTPA)  framework and therefore the  office of the respondent No.4  by  its letter dated 

24.11.2013  requested Accord to include the name of  the petitioner's factory  in the list of 

factories  for inspection by it.  The respondent No.5 also sent a similar request by their letter 

dated 24.9.2014  but  Accord did not comply  with any of the aforesaid requests.  

  

19. It is further stated that  there is no formal agreement  between the respondent Nos. 4 

and 5 with Accord and Alliance apart from the  Operation Manual (OM)  and  the National 

Tripartite Plan of Action (NTPA)  and therefore the said respondent cannot exercise  any 

authority  on the respondent No.1 for any of its activities outside the scope of   the National 

Tripartite Plan of Action (NTPA) framework. Furthermore, the said respondent does not have 

the authority  to compel the respondent No.1 to inspect a particular factory including the 

petitioner’s factory if it is unwilling to do so  as there is no binding agreement  with the 

respondent No.1.  After introduction   of the provision for review in the Operation Manual 

(OM)  on 28.01.2014 in cases of recommendations for evacuation or closure of factories by 

Accord or Alliance the decision  will be subject to automatic review  by the  Review Panel  of 

which the respondent Nos. 4 and 5  are members . In the instant case since the inspection of  

the petitioner's factory  was not conducted by the respondent no. 1 Accord and it was done 

before the creation of the  Review Panel, the respondents  cannot compel  the Respondent 

No.1 to inspect the petitioner's factory  

  

20. Mr. Qumrul Haque Siddique, appearing with Mr. Imtiaz Moinul Islam, the learned 

Advocates  for the Petitioner submit that the respondent No.1 has acted arbitrarily without 

any legal basis  in publishing the name of the petitioner in its website  as a unsafe and non 
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compliant  factory   prompting  foreign buyers  to stop placing orders to the petitioner’s 

garments factory and therefore causing it  to be   shut down. He  has become bankrupt due to 

the arbitrary and unlawful  action of the Respondent No. 1 and his  fundamental right  to  

profession, trade and  business  as guaranteed  by Article 40 of the Constitution  has been 

infringed. The learned Advocates  further   submits that the respondent No.1 without 

inspecting  the petitioner's factory  has published a false and fabricated report about  the 

petitioner’s factory . The learned Advocates further   submit that the respondent No.1 has 

embarked upon a policy of ‘pick and choose  and  although it has inspected over   1400  

garments factories  in Bangladesh,  it has not inspected the petitioner's factory  and therefore  

the respondent No.1 is also liable  for discrimination and is in breach of the equality Clause   

i.e.  Article 27 of  our  Constitution.  The learned Advocates  further   submit that the 

respondent No.1 is in breach of its own Rules and standards of operation  and the provisions 

of “Accord on fire and safety in Bangladesh” specifically Clause 10  which requires  Accord  

to inspect all RMG factories supplying foreign buyers  at least once  by an international  

reputed independent  Factory Inspector causing loss and damage to the petitioner. The 

learned Advocates  further   submit that  there is no specific  contract between the petitioner 

and the respondent No.1 and as such   the petitioner has no remedy under contract or 

otherwise before a Civil Court or any other forum to compel  the respondents to inspect its 

factory  and publish  the findings and  therefore he has been constrained to invoke the special 

jurisdiction of this Court under Article 102 of the Constitution. The learned Advocates further 

submit that the respondent No.1  did not give the petitioner any hearing or opportunity  to 

defend itself and instead of assessing the situation themselves they relied upon  a false and 

fabricated  report by a third party and arbitrarily published  the petitioner’s name in its 

website as a non compliant  Ready Made Garments facility. The petitioner was acting in the 

public domain performing a public function and its arbitrary unlawful action  has caused loss 

and damage to the petitioner. In this respect the learned Advocates for the petitioner have 

drawn our attention to  the decision in the English case R v Panel on Take  Overs and 

Mergers, ex-parte Datafin plc and another 1987  1 All England 564 . 
  

21. As against this, Mr. K.S. Salah Uddin Ahmed and Mr. Azmalul Hossain QC,  the 

learned Advocates appearing for the respondent Nos.1, 2 and 3 have submitted  in one voice 

that   the instant  Rule is not maintainable since the action impugned by the petitioner  is not 

by a person performing any function in connection with the affairs of the republic. The 

learned Advocates further point out that   the impugned  action is by the respondent No.1, an 

association of foreign buyers  and that they are all private  entities  for which the petitioner  

must seek relief elsewhere  and cannot invoke the special jurisdiction of this Court  under 

Article 102 of the Constitution .  

  

22. Mr. K.S. Salah Uddin Ahmed, the learned Advocate  for the respondent No.1 further 

submits that there has been no breach of provision of Article 40 of the Constitution  since the 

petitioner is at liberty to do business with any buyer of the world  and supply  readymade 

garments  to any company   and that the respondent No.1 has merely stated the inspection 

findings on its website. The learned Advocate further submits that the respondent No.1 

requested the petitioner several times to perform retrofitting works  to make its factory  fit 

and safe but the petitioner continuously refused to do so and therefore   they had no choice 

but to publish the findings  of the inspection report in its website to inform its members 

which calls for  no interference by this Court. 

   

23. Mr. Azmalul Hossain, the learned Advocate  for the respondent Nos. 2 and 3 submits 

that  no relief  has been claimed against the said respondents and that their names be struck  
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out from the  Writ Petition . The learned Advocate further   submits that the respondent No.2  

requested the respondent No.3  to conduct certain inspections of the petitioner's factory  and 

the respondent No.3  did so in accordance with  the highest standards and submitted  their 

report to the respondent No. 2  who in turn informed the respondent No.1. The learned 

Advocate further   submits that the respondent No.2 does not represent the respondent No.1 

in any way and takes no responsibility  for the publication of the report in the respondent 

No.1’s website.  
 

24. Mr. Md. Yousuf Ali,the learned Advocate  for the respondent Nos. 4 and 5  submits 

that there is no binding agreement  between the said respondents and the petitioner and  

although they cannot  compel it to inspect  any readymade garments factory  nevertheless   

they requested the respondent No.1 on several occasions to inspect the petitioner’s factory but  

it did not comply. The learned Advocate  further   submits that after incorporating the 

provision for review any inspection conducted by the respondent No.1,  is  subject to review 

by a Review Panal  at the request of an aggrieved party but in the instant case since the 

inspection  was conducted prior to the inclusion of the provision for review on 28.1.2014 and  

since  the inspection was not conducted by the respondent No.1  therefore the decision of the 

Respondent No. 1 to publish the name of the petitioner  as a non compliant factory could not 

be reviewed by the  Review Panel.  
  

25. We have considered the submissions of the learned Advocates and  perused the 

averments  and the Annexures.  
  

26. Since maintainability of this Rule has been challenged by the learned Advocates for 

the respondent Nos. 1,2  and 3 on the ground that the impugned  action was not performed by 

a person in the service of the Republic we will address this point first . 
 

27. Article 102 of the Constitution states: 

“The High Court Division on the application of any person  aggrieved, may give such 

directions or orders to any person or authority, including any person performing any 

function in connection with the affairs of the Republic, as may be appropriate for the 

enforcement of any of the fundamental rights conferred by Part III of this constitution. 
 

28. The High Court Division may, if satisfied that no other equally efficacious remedy is 

provided by law- 

on the application of any person aggrieved, make an Order –directing a person 

performing any functions in connection with the affairs of the Republic or of a local 

authority to refrain from doing that which he is not permitted by law to do or to do 

that which he is required by law to do;  or 

declaring that any act done or proceeding taken by a person performing functions in 

connection with the affairs of the Republic or of a local authority has been done or 

taken without lawful authority and is of no legal effect ; or on the application of any 

person, make an order- 

directing that a person in custody be brought before it so that it may satisfy itself that 

he is not being held in custody without lawful authority or in an unlawful manner; or 

requiring a person holding or purporting to hold a public office to show under what 

authority he claims to hold that office. 

….. 

 

29. A plain reading of the aforesaid provision  of the Constitution   shows   that  pursuant 

to Article 102(1)  this Court  is empowered  to  give directions or orders to any person or 

authority for  the enforcement  of any aggrieved person’s fundamental rights  . 
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30. Generally to maintain an application  under Article 102(1) the impugned action must 

be by a person who is in the service of the Republic or  a statutory body or a local  authority .  

The language of  Article 102(1) however clearly states   that  a person must be aggrieved by 

the action or order of “any person” including a person acting in connection with the affairs of 

the Republic. Thus it is not necessary for the impugned act or order to be done  or made by a 

public functionary or statutory body or local authority for Article 102(1) to be attracted. 

When fundamental  rights of a person is infringed  the remedy under Article 102(1) is 

available to the aggrieved person irrespective of whether  he is in the service of the Republic, 

local authority, statutory body or even a private capacity.  
  

31. In the case of  Moulana Md.  Abdul Hakim  Vs. the Government of Bangladesh 

and others reported in 34 BLD (HCD)(2014) 34 it has been held “when  issues of 

fundamental rights are raised, the sanction under Article 102(1) is clearly of availability of 

redress against “anyone”, or “any authority”, inclusive of any person performing any  

function in connection with the affairs of the Republic. The reference to government  

functionaries  must accordingly be seen as an appendage made to the broader category of 

“anyone” or “any authority” by way of abundant caution.”  
 

32. Similarly in  an unreported decision of this Court in  Writ Petition No.  2499 of 2010 

in the case  Rokeya Akter Begum  Vs. Bangladesh and others  it has been held “as far as  

Article 102(1) is concerned i.e.  when fundamental rights are relied on, the question of status 

of  the impugned  person or authority  losses its  relevance because the phrases “any person or 

authority” in the said sub-Article necessarily refers to a person or any authority , irrespective 

of his/it’s status.  Decisions by such a person or any authority , whether he /it is a public 

functionary or a private one, is hence reviewable, provided however, that infringement of one 

of the fundamental rights , figured in Part III of the Constitution, is in question . In so far as 

such a person need not be a public functionary, little complication arises in fundamental 

rights oriented cases.” 
  

33. In  Rajuk Vs. A. Rouf  Chowdhury and others in 61 DLR (AD) 28 it has been held 

when violation of fundamental right as enumerated in the Constitution is the only  ground and 

no violation of legal right or law has been alleged whatsoever resort may be taken  under 

Article 102 of the Constitution. This decision of the Appellate Division establishes  that when 

any violation  of fundamental rights enumerated in Part III of the Constitution is  established , 

this Court may issue appropriate  orders provided the aggrieved  person has no other 

alternative remedy  before any other court.Thus it appears  when  infringement of 

fundamental rights is alleged, this Court under Article 102(1) can give directions to any 

person or authority irrespective of whether  he is in the service of the Republic or not  for 

redress of the aggrieved  person’s loss or grievance. 
  

34. The question however as to when a person is performing functions in connection with 

the affairs of the Republic has caused considerable concern in many countries  of the world  

where the common law is practiced resulting in considerable jurisprudence.   
 

35. Since private bodies  are increasingly  performing public functions the courts are 

intervening and passing appropriate directions and orders reviewing the action, inaction and 

functions  of  private bodies. The Courts regulate their discretion  by looking  at the nature of 

the function exercised by the private bodies and by scrutinizing whether  the body is acting in 

the public domain  and whether the aggrieved  person has any other alternative efficacious 

remedy. This view has also been confirmed in the Indian case of Board of Control for 

Cricket V. Cricket Association of Bihar and others AIR 2015 SC 3194 . 
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36. In the Landmark English case  R v Panel on Take  Overs and Mergers, ex-parte 

Datafin plc and another reported in 1987  1 All England Reports  564   the Court of Appeal 

held that where a public  duty is imposed on a body, expressly or by implication, or where a 

body exercises public functions the court will have jurisdiction to entertain an application  for 

judicial review of that body’s decision. There is no single  test however as to what is public 

function. The source of the body’s power is  a significant factor; if it is by an Act of 

Parliament  or subordinate legislation  then the body’s  action will be subject to  judicial  

review. On the other hand,  if the decision of the  body is derived  solely from  contract its 

decision will not be amenable  to judicial  review. In such cases the Court will try to decide 

whether  the impugned action  has been performed in the public domain  in which case the 

court  is likely  to infer that the decision has been taken  in connection with the affairs of the 

Republic. A government  element may also appear where governmental functions are carried 

out  by  private bodies.  By contrast,  when the nature  of the function is such that  it does  not 

generate any interest  of the Government then the body’s action will not be subject to judicial  

review. Thus not only the source of the power of the body  but also the nature  of the action 

exercised by  it will determine the availability of  judicial  review.  It also appears that when a   

private  sector body steps into the shoes of a public body then its action will  be amenable to 

judicial  review. In Shri Anadi Mukta Sadguru S.M.V.S.J.M.S. Trust v. V. R. Rudani 

reported in AIR 1989 SC 1607 it has been held :  

“The judicial   control over the fast expanding  maze of bodies affecting the rights of 

the people should not be put into watertight  compartments. It should  remain flexible 

to meet the requirements of variable circumstances. Mandamus is a very wide remedy 

which must be easily available to reach injustice  wherever it is found. Technicalities 

should not come in the way of granting that relief under Article 226.” 
 

37. In the case of  Consumer  Education and Research Centre and others Vs. Union of 

India and others reported in  AIR  1995 (SC) 922 the Supreme Court of India  held that in an 

appropriate  case, the Court would give  appropriate directions to the employer  be it the State 

or private  employer to make the right to life meaningful; to prevent pollution of work place; 

protection of the environment; protection of the health of the workmen or to preserve free and 

unpolluted water for the safety  and health of the people. The authorities  or even private 

persons or industry are bound by the directions issued by the Supreme Court  under Article 

32 and Article 142 of the Constitution. In the aforesaid case the Supreme Court issued 

mandamus upon a private industry  for the enforcement of  the petitioner’s fundamental 

rights.  
 

38. In the  Datafin case Lloyd L.J.   held  

“ If the body in question is exercising  public law functions or if the exercise of its 

functions have public law  consequences,  then that may be sufficient to bring the body 

within the reach of judicial review.  It may be said that to refer to public law in this context is 

to beg the question. But I do not think it does. The essential distinction,  which runs through 

all the cases to which we referred, is between a domestic or private tribunal on the one hand 

and a body of persons who are under some public duty on the other”. 
   

39. In Bangladesh the responsibility for inspecting factories and their safety vests  on the 

Inspector General of Factories i.e. respondent no. 5. This is conferred by sections 61 and 62 

of the Bangladesh Labour Law, 2006 which provide as follows:  

“Sec.-61: Safety of the building and the machinery. -(1) If any inspector deems it 

necessary that any building or any of its part or any of its passage, machinery or plant 

is  in such condition that it is dangerous  to life or security  of man then he shall by a 

written order direct to take the necessary steps within the specified time. 



12 SCOB[2019] HCD   Liberty Fashion Wears Limited Vs. Bangladesh Accord Foundation & ors. (Tariq ul Hakim, J)  12 

(2) If it deems to any inspector  that any building of any factory or establishment is 

 very dangerous to life or safe of man then he shall, by written order to the owner 

 restrict their of such building or part of a building until the repairment or re-

 shaping. 
 

 Sec.-62: Precautions about fire. - In every factory at least one exit way with each 

 floor must be attached so that at the time of fire accident it can be used as a 

 substitute way and necessary provision for extinguishing fire should be taken. 

 (2)If any inspector deems it fit that as per sub-section (1) there is no means of exit, 

 then he shall, by an order writing to the owner inform him to take necessary steps 

 within the stated period of time. 

 (3)In every factory or establishment no exit way from the room shall be made 

 under lock and key so that every man working inside it can get easily open and all 

 three type of doors, if not sliding type, shall be made in such way so that it is kept 

 open outward or if any door is between the two rooms, it must be kept open clear to 

 the exit way and no such door shall be kept under lock and key at the working hour. 

 (4)Every passage for exit must be used except the exit during the time of fire 

 accident and every such window door or any other exit must be worked with red 

 letters. 

 (5)To aware or whistle the workers in such establishment the provision for easily 

 audible whistle must be maintained in for each working workers. 

(6)For all the workers of the factory of each establishment there shall be made an  exit 

way for all at the time of fire accident. 

 (7) In any factory or establishment where in any above place of the ground floor ten 

 or more workers one working or explosive  or easily inflammable substance is used 

 or is stored then the workers  shall be cautions about the incident of fire and can 

 determine  what they should to do at that time and so that they can take proper and 

 full-fledged training and so why necessary steps should also be taken for it.  

 (8) In every factory and establishment having fifty or more   workers a rehearshlor 

 of extinguishing of fire shall be maintained and for this reason a record book must 

 be preserved by the owner.”  
 

40. The work of  checking and  inspecting the  safety  conditions  of  all readymade 

garments factories  in the country  within a short  time after the Rana Plaza tragedy was not 

possible for the Government. The Government  therefore  welcomed the assistance of other  

stake-holders like Accord and Alliance  through  the National Tripartite  committee  

(respondent No.4)   and the  National Tripartite  Plan of Action (NTPA)  in this regard.  The 

agreement of the respondent no. 1 Accord states that all Bangladeshi garments factories 

supplying its members would be inspected at least once by an independent  Safety Inspector 

appointed by the respondent No.1. The commitment  of the respondent No.1 to inspect fire 

and safety facilities  of   readymade garments factories in Bangladesh at their own expenses  

is no doubt a welcome step for  the improvement and  development  of the infrastructure  of  

garments factories in the country. In  the process they are assisting  the Inspector General of  

Factories  of the  Government  in ensuring fire and building safety of readymade garments 

factories in the country.  Respondent No.1 has accordingly inspected  over  1500  garments 

factories in the country and found some of them to be non compliant and lacking adequate 

facilities  on fire and building safety. Thus it is apparent that the respondent No.1 has been 

acting with the consent of the Inspector General of factories and assisting it in inspecting and 

ensuring the safety of  the garments factories in the country and therefore  performing 

functions” in connection with the affairs of the Republic”.  
 



12 SCOB[2019] HCD   Liberty Fashion Wears Limited Vs. Bangladesh Accord Foundation & ors. (Tariq ul Hakim, J)  13 

41. Furthermore the Respondent No 1 has been performing a public function and acting  

in the public domain.The facts seem to be similar to the aforesaid Datafin case. Thus  the 

petitioner’s application under Article 102(1) is maintainable  on this ground as well.  
 

42. In the instant case the petitioner’s right  to profession trade and business as guaranteed  

by  Article 40 of the Constitution  has been infringed  by the arbitrary act of the Respondent 

No.1 in publishing/showing  the name of the petitioner  as a non compliant and unsafe  

garments factory in its website  without  inspecting it  and therefore  in the opinion of this 

Court  the Rule is not only maintainable under Article 102(1 but has substance.   
 

43. For Article 102 (2) to be attracted  however the petitioner  must be aggrieved by an 

action of a person  performing functions “in connection with the affairs of the Republic”, or 

local authority or statutory body and he should be  without  any other alternative remedy or 

redress . The remedy sought by the petitioner is simply a direction on the Respondent No.1 

for inspecting the petitioner’s factory and publishing the findings in its website. If the 

petitioner’s factor is unsafe and not fit in any way then the  Respondent No.1  has nothing to  

loose. The petitioner  cannot seek remedy from the Civil Court or any other forum in the form 

of a direction since there is no contractual relationship with the respondent No.1. Similarly an 

action for defamation also will not serve  any purpose since  the petitioner wants  the 

Respondent No.1 to publish the accurate condition of   its factory. Thus to compel the 

Respondent No. 1 to inspect its factory and  publish the findings in its website  the petitioner  

does  not appear to have any other alternative remedy. In such view of the matter therefore 

this Rule is also maintainable unde Article 102 (2).    
 

44. In the instant case it is admitted that the respondent No.1 never inspected  the 

petitioner's factory  but  relied  upon a report submitted  by the respondent No.3  who 

inspected  the petitioner's factory  at the request of the respondent No.2 on 18.5.2013 after 

Accord was created although Clause 10 of the Accord Agreement  clearly stipulates that all  

garments factories  would be inspected by an independent internationally reputed Inspector  

appointed by Accord.  The petitioner's factory was  never inspected by an Inspector  

appointed by the Respondent No.1 despite several requests  by the petitioner and the 

Government. The respondent no. 1 without inspecting the petitioner’s factory published  its 

name in its website  and stated it to be a non compliant  and unsafe factory  resulting  in 

adverse publicity  of the petitioner's garments  factory causing all European buyers not only 

to cancel  their existing orders but also refrain from giving  future  orders to the petitioner 

factory . Due to the adverse report of the respondent No.1 in its website  even American 

buyers of   readymade garments represented by Alliance refrained from giving orders to the 

petitioner  causing it  huge financial and economic loss and driving it  to bankruptcy.  
  

45. The contention of the respondents that the petitioner’s factory  was not inspected by 

the Respondent No. 1 as it  did not comply with its  report  to make certain structural  

improvements  of its  factory building  is misconceived  since there is no such precondition  

for inspecting a factory  in the Accord Agreement and  therefore  the  arbitrary insistence  of 

such condition prior to inspecting  the petitioner's factory is  illegal and not sustainable in 

law.  Furthermore,  in the inspection report of the respondent No.3 although certain 

apprehensions have been expressed regarding safety of the petitioner's factory, no specific 

and detailed corrective measures was suggested  and  therefore the petitioner was justified in 

requesting  the inspection  of his  factory by the respondent No.1 or its appointed Safety 

Inspector to specify the nature of correctional works required for the petitioner's factory  so 

that compliance may be made to the satisfaction  of the said respondent. The arbitrary  

imposition of pre-conditions by the respondent No.1 for inspecting  the petitioner's factory 

and publishing a report containing adverse remarks in its website has caused serious damage 
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and loss  to the petitioner which could have been easily avoided by the respondent No.1 by 

merely inspecting it as it did in the case of other garments factories.  This policy  of pick and 

choose,  of inspecting some factories  and not inspecting  the petitioner's factory  cannot be 

condoned or approved by any standard of  fairness. The Respondent  No.1 Accord  was 

acting  in concert  with the Inspector General of Factories  of the Government of Bangladesh  

through  the  National Tripartite  Action Committee  to ensure  the safety of ready made 

garments factories in Bangladesh  and therefore the Respondent No.1  was acting  in 

connection with the affairs  of the Republic .  Their failure  to act in accordance with law, by 

publishing a report  in their website about the petitioner’s factory without  inspecting it is a 

breach of Clause  10 of their own agreement and the action may be subject to judicial review  

under Article 102(2) of the Constitution also.  
  

46. The submission by the learned Advocate  for  the respondent No.1  that if a direction 

is given to the respondent No.1 to inspect the petitioner's factory  it will open up the  

floodgates for other non compliant  factories  to come to this Court and obtain similar  orders   

is misconceived since   it has not  been denied  that  the petitioner is the only  factory  whose 

name has been published on the respondent No.1’s website as a non compliant  factory 

without inspecting it. Had  the petitioner's factory  been inspected it could  seek relief before 

the Review Panel. Other non compliant  factories therefore have  every opportunity to  review 

the decision by the Review panel.  
 

47. It is not for this court to decide whether the petitioner's factory is safe for 

manufacturing garments or direct any particular foreign buyer to place orders with the 

petitioner. The foreign buyers are free to decide where to place their orders and from which 

source to procure their products; what this court is concerned about is that  the petitioner’s 

name  should not be published in the website of the Respondent No.1 as a non compliant/ 

unsafe factory without any prior  inspection in accordance with  the terms and conditions 

enumerated in its own Agreement.   
 

48. It is to be noted that the respondent No.4  (National Tripartite Committee headed by 

the Secretary, Ministry of Labour  and Employment) as well as  the respondent No.5 

(Inspector General of Factories of the Government of Bangladesh )  requested  the respondent 

No.1 to inspect the petitioner's factory but the request was not complied with and since the  

respondents  did not  have any binding contractual relationship with the respondent No.1 they 

were unable to compel it to comply with their request. The petitioner therefore had no other 

choice but to approach this court and invoke the special jurisdiction under Article 102 of the 

Constitution. 
    

49. The petitioner’s application is thus  not only maintainable both under Article 102(1) 

as well as under Article 102(2) and also has substance for the reasons stated above.  
 

50. Accordingly, the Rule is made absolute.   
 

51. The respondent No.1 is directed to immediately arrange for inspection of the 

petitioner's factory as per Clause 10 of the Accord Agreement and other necessary protocols 

and publish the inspection report in its website and circulate it among  its members all over 

the world.  
  

52. There will be no order as to costs.   
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Promotion solely on the basis of an interview; 
 

It appears  that there is no  specific guideline  as to what criteria  is to be  used for 

awarding marks in the interview  so that  the merit  of a candidate  may be assessed. Not 

only that the aforesaid  order  also provides that  all persons  eligible  for promotion  i.e. 

those who have completed  a specified number of  years in service without having  any 

adverse remarks in this service record will be  called for  interview  with the objective  

of being  promoted. The  said process  by its nature appears  to  disregard  an 

employee’s performance  in his  service as well as his Annual Confidential Report 

(ACR)  in the cumulative report  about  the performance of an employee over  a 

number of  months  and put together  a number of  years  and they are supposed to  

reflect  an employee’s performance  in his job.  This appears to have been to falling  

disregarded while considering an employees promoion to the next  higher post.  The 

aforesaid  Administrative  Order   seems to  stipulate that the promotion  will be given  

solely  on the basis of  an interview but there is no guideline  or criteria  as to  how  the 

interview  is to take place  and what method is to be used for assessing  the merit  of the 

incumbent .                    ... (Para 18) 

In the instant case according to the  Administrative  Orders of Biman fitness of a 

candidate for promotion  to the higher post is to be  on the basis of  merit cum seniority  

an opposed to seniority cum merit. Merit  cum seniority means  the candidate  who has 

got the highest marks is to be  given priority  for promotion  over  other candidates  

irrespective  of his seniority in relation to the other candidates. This process  allows  the 

junior most person  to supersede his senior  if he possesses  merit.  This is an extra  

ordinary  rule  and persons who have  put in several years of service may be  superseded  

by his junior  colleagues.  It is  not  for this Court  to decide  whether  this system of 
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giving promotion  on the basis of  merit  cum seniority   or seniority cum  merit  is to be  

maintained. However, if merit  is to get precedence over  seniority  then the assessment 

of  merit  of a candidate must be  done most stringently and there should be no scope  

for arbitrary decisions of  pick and choose.               ... (Para 22)  

JUDGMENT 

Tariq ul Hakim,J:  

 1. This Rule Nisi was issued calling upon the respondents to show cause why  the 

Administrative Order No.15 dated 14.10.2010 (Annexure C) issued by the respondent No.4 

and the promotion  of the respondent Nos. 8-10 vide Memo No. Y¡L¢SHg/f−c¡æ¢a/ 2012/1186 

dated  20.06.2012 (Annexure F) issued by the respondent No.7 in violation of the Petitioner’s 

fundamental  rights guaranteed  under Articles 27, 29 and  31  of the Constitution  and  in 

contravention of the express  provision of  Bangladesh Biman Corporation Employees 

(Service) Regulations, 1979 should not be declared  to have been  made  without  lawful 

authority and of no legal effect and/or pass such other or further order or orders  as to this 

Court may seem fit and proper .   

  

2. The petitioner is a Ground Service Officer of Bangladesh  Biman. He  joined the 

service of  Bangladesh  Biman Corporation on 4.11.1984 as an Accounts Assistant  in the pay 

group of 3(II)  The petitioner performed  his duties and responsibilities   to the satisfaction of 

all concerned  and was promoted   to different  posts from time to time  and lastly he was 

promoted  to his present post of  Ground Service Officer in Pay Group VI .  

  

3. The petitioner’s service is governed by  Bangladesh Biman Corporation Employees 

(Service) Regulations, 1979  (hereinafter referred to as the Regulations ) . Pursuant to   the 

said regulations  Biman authority issues Administrative Orders from time to time and 

promotion  of employees of Biman  is governed by the  said  the Administrative Orders and 

the the aforesaid regulations . The Administrative Order No.15/2010  dated 18.10.2010 in 

respect of  promotion  of officers from  Pay Group VI to Pay Group X empowers the 

interview board  to make final selection of  candidates  to the next higher post . The petitioner  

appeared before the interview  board on  30.5.2012 and was not selected  for promotion to the 

next higher post even though he passed the said interview  having attained  70% marks .  

  

4. It is further stated that  the petitioner continued in service and was gradually  promoted 

to higher posts with increase in pay scale and in  the year 2001 he was in Pay Group V  as  

Junior Ground Service Officer. In October, 2006 the petitioner  attended viva voce  

examination for  promotion to Pay Group VI and  successfully passed the examination but the 

respondents promoted some other successful candidates to the  Pay  Group VI and prepared  a 

panel for promotion  for others where  the petitioner’s name  was included . The panel  was 

however valid  for 6 months  and it is stated that  despite  vacancies the respondents did not  

send the file  for promotion and the petitioner was not  promoted  to the higher pay scale  VI. 

On 4.6.2012 the respondents held  interview for promotion and although the petitioner  

attended  the same  and 38  candidates  were successful but  the petitioner  was  unsuccessful 

by one mark allegedly due to the modifide of the Respondents.  

  

5. Thereafter in 2008 the Petitioner made representation to the caretaker government who 

enquired into Biman’s Promotion procedure and the Respondents again held interview of the 
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unsuccessful candidates alongwith the petitioner and he became successful in the viva voce 

examination and promoted to Pay Group VI as Ground Service Officer. 

  

6. Thereafter on 30.5.2012 the respondents  called the petitioner  and others  for interview  

for promotion  to the post of   Assistant Manager  Ground Service  Pay Group  VII and  the 

petitioner  attended the said examination on 4.6.2012 and subsequently came to  know that 

the respondent No.7  vide Memo No. Y¡L¢SHg/f−c¡æ¢a/ 2012/1186 dated  20.06.2012 

(Annexure F) promoted  three ground officers respondent Nos. 8-10 who were  junior to the 

petitioner along with  4 others  to the post of  Assistant  Manager Ground Services in  Pay 

Group  VII.  

  

7. Being aggrieved, the petitioner has come to this Court and obtained the present Rule .  

  

8. Mr. Al Mamun, the learned Advocate for the petitioner  submits that the said Memo 

No. Y¡L¢SHg/f−c¡æ¢a/ 2012/1186 dated  20.06.2012 (Annexure F) issued by the 

respondent No.7  was illegal  and without lawful authority as it was issued pursuant to  

Administrative Order No.15/2010   which is violative of Articles 27,29  and 31  of the 

Constitution and is in contravention of  the  Bangladesh Biman Corporation Employees 

(Service) Regulations, 1979. The learned Advocate further submits that  the impugned   

Administrative Order No.15/2010    has given Biman   unfettered power to promote their 

selected candidates by manipulating the result  on the plea of  viva voce exam . The learned 

Advocate further submits that the impugned  Administrative Order No.15/2010   dated 

14.10.2010 is contrary to the provision of Bangladesh Biman Corporation Employees 

(Service) Regulations, 1979 where under section 12(1)  it is stated that  employees of Biman  

would be promoted to the next higher post  on the basis of requisite educational technical  

and other qualifications after assessing his fitness  in every respect  to the post which is to be 

promoted . The learned Advocate has drawn our attention to the case of Bangladesh  Vs 

Shafiuddin Ahmed 50 DLR  (AD) 27 where   it has been held by the Appellate Division  that 

marks in viva voce examination should not  exceed  50% of the total marks  in an 

examination for promotion.    The learned Advocate has also drawn our attention  to an 

Indian case Ashok Kumar Yadav Vs. State of Haryana    1985  4 SCC 417  where it has been  

held  that marks in an interview  should  be set  to a minimum  and should not  exceed  70% 

while considering  candidates  for promotion .  The learned Advocate finally submits that  

there the petitioner is a victim of arbitrary assessments of the respondents and  deprived  from 

his legitimate right  for being properly consideration for promotion. The learned Advocate 

therefore  submits that the impugned  Administrative Order No. 15/10 dated 14.10.2010 and 

the Administrative Order  dated 20.6.2012 promoting  the respondent Nos. 8-10 should be  

declared illegal  and without lawful authority .  

  

9. The respondent No.2 Bangladesh  Biman  is contesting this Rule  by filing  Affidavit-

in-Opposition stating  inter alia that  promotion  from Pay Group  VI  to Pay Group  VII in 

Biman  is given  on the basis of  merit  rather than seniority . That rule was  first incorporated 

in Biman by   Administrative Order No. 01 if 1998  which was subsequently amended by  

Administrative Order No. 07 of 2000  and  Administrative Order No. 15 of 2010  without 

changing  the aforesaid rule  for  promotion on the basis of  merit  rather than  seniority .  The 

respondent Nos. 8-10 appeared  before the Interview  Board  for  promotion and since they 

obtained  higher marks than the petitioner   they were  promoted.  By  amending  

Administrative Order No. 07 of 2000 by  Administrative Order No. 15/10 Biman   

management did not  change the principle  of selection process  i.e.   promotion on the basis 

of  merit   and the   rule allows all eligible candidates to appear before the   Promotion Board 
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for interview  and the candidates  having highest merit  would be  promoted to the next higher 

post.  The petitioner along with others  appeared  before the  Interview Board for interview  

and the persons  who obtained requisite marks  were  promoted from  Pay Group  VI to VII  

and the petitioner  not being successful in the said interview he has nothing to be aggrieved  

and cannot  complain about the interview process.  

  

10. It is further stated that  Administrative Order No. 15/10 does not  in any way 

prejudice  the right of the petitioner to appear before  the Promotion Board  for interview  and 

that the  employee  has no right to pray for any consideration to be promoted.  As per Biman  

Rules   promotion from  Pay Group  III to  Pay Group  V is made on the basis of  seniority . It 

is further stated that  employees from Pay Group   III to  Pay Group   V are known  as staff  

and employees  from Pay Group  VI to  Pay Group  X are known as officers.  Promotion from 

Pay Group  VI  to  Pay Group  X are made on the basis of merit. In the case of a tie in merit 

seniority  is to be considered.  The competent  authority  issued the  Administrative Orders to 

implement the service regulations. The  Administrative Order No. 15 of  2010  did not put 

any embargo on the right  of the petitioner  and it is  equally applicable to all employees of 

Biman from  Pay Group  VI to  Pay Group  X. Biman Management did not pick and choose 

any candidate for  promotion and that the Administrative Order No. 15/10 allows  every 

eligible candidate  to appear before the Interview Board   to prove  his/her  merit  for  

promotion and it is said in the instant case no illegality  has been done  in the case of the 

petitioner  and the impugned order calls for no interference by this Court.  

  

11. Mr. Khandaker Deliruzzaman the learned Advocate for the respondent Nos.2    and 9  

submits that  the impugned  Administrative Order No. 15/10 clearly stipulates that eligible 

candidates have a  right to attend interview for being considered for  promotion which will be  

done on the basis of  merit.  The learned Advocate further submits that  the process for 

assessing  merit   has been in existence since 1998  and that  the petitioner having obtained a 

benefit  from the said process  earlier   cannot challenged  the same in the instant Rule . The 

learned Advocate further submits that the petitioner appeared  in the viva voce examination  

before the interview Board  and although he was successful  in the viva voce examination the 

candidates who got  higher  marks were  promoted  next  even  though  some of them were  

junior to the petitioner as it was  not prohibited by the Biman Regulations.  The learned 

Advocate further submits that the respondent No.9 was  promoted  in 2012  from Pay Group 

VI  to  Pay Group VII  by the impugned  Administrative Order No. 15 dated  20.6.2012  and  

subsequently on 22.11.2016 he was further   promoted  to  Pay Group VIII.  The said 

respondent No.9  her already arquired a vested right  and it will not be proper  to disturb him 

at this late  stage  since he cannot be blamed from any wrong. The learned Advocate has 

drawn our attention to   Administrative Order No. 15/10 (Annexure C) which  has been 

repealed by  the Administrative Order No. 4 of 2016 dated 28.6.2016 and therefore submits 

that the instant Rule  has become infractuous  and is liable to be   discharged.  

   

12. We have considered  the submissions of the learned Advocates , perused the  Writ 

Petition , Affidavit-in-Opposition and  impugned orders.  

 
13. Section 12(1) of  the Bangladesh Biman  Corporaton Employees (Service ) 

Regulations , 1979  states as follows :  

“12. Promotion: (1)  An employee of the Corporation  will be  eligible  for promotion  

to a higher vacant post provided  he possesses  the requisite  educational, technical 

and other qualifications required  for such higher post and is considered  fit for  
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promotion  in all respects and fulfills such other  conditions  as may be laid down  in 

this behalf  by the competent  authority  from time to time.” 

 

14. The aforesaid provision of law clearly  stipulates  that an employee of Bangladesh 

Biman  may be  promoted  to a higher post  if he possesses  the requisite  educational, 

technical and other qualifications required  for  the said post and is considered  fit for  

promotion  in all respects. The provision also requires the incumbent candidate to  fulfill all  

other  conditions  as may be laid down  in this respect  by the  employer   from time to time.  

 

15. It appears that  Biman  publishes Administrative  Orders from time to time  to 

stipulate the educational  conditions required  for promoting a person to the next higher post. 

Initially Administrative  Order No. 1 of  1998  dated 01.11.1998 was published  but it was  

amended  by  Administrative  Order No. 07 of 2000  and thereafter  in supersession of 

Administrative  Order  2000, Administrative  Order No. 15 of 2010 dated 14.10.2010  was 

issued so far it related to  the promotion  of Biman employees  from  Pay Group  VI to Pay 

Group X   which has been  impugned   in the instant Rule.  

 

16. The  said  Administrative  Order No. 15 of 2010 dated 14.10.2010  is reproduced 

below:  

“¢hj¡e h¡wm¡−cn Hu¡lm¡C¾p ¢m¢j−VX 
fÐn¡pe f¢lcçl 

               a¡¢lM-14 A−ƒ¡hl 2010 
fÐn¡p¢eL B−cn ew- 15/2010 

¢houx f−c¡æ¢a e£¢aj¡m¡ pwœ²¡¿¹ fÐn¡p¢eL B−cn ew- 07/2000 pw−n¡de z 
 

1)  f−c¡æ¢a e£¢aj¡m¡ pwœ²¡¿¹ fÐn¡p¢eL B−cn ew- 07/2000 a¡¢lM 10-05-
2000 E−õMÉz 

2)  La«Ñf−rl ¢pÜ¡¿¹œ²−j fÐn¡p¢eL B−cn ew- 07/2000 a¡¢lM 10-05-2000 
Hl Ae¤−µRc 01 L (1) ¢ejÀl¦fi¡−h pw−n¡de Ll¡ qCm- 

L. (1) ®haeœ²j-6 qC−a 10 Hhw pjfcjkÑ¡c¡l f−c f−c¡æ¢a p¡r¡vL¡l foÑ−cl 
j¡dÉ−j f−c¡æ¢a ¢h−hQe¡ Ll¡ qC−hz f−c¡æ¢a p¡r¡vL¡l L«aL¡kÑa¡l Ns eðl qC−h 
naLl¡ 70 (pšl) z Eš² f−c¡æ¢a L−W¡li¡−h ®jd¡l ¢i¢š−a fÐc¡e Ll¡ qC−h AbÉ¡v 
®k fÐ¡b£Ñ p¡r¡vL¡−l p−h¡ÑµQ eðl fÐ¡fÉ qC−he ¢a¢eC fÐbj f−c¡æ¢a fÐ¡ç qC−hez a−h 
c¤C h¡ a−a¡¢dL fÐ¡b£Ñ HLC eðl fÐ¡ç qC−m −SùÉa¡l ¢i¢š−a f−c¡æ¢a ¢edÑ¡le Ll¡ 
qC−hz Ae¤−j¡¢ca / gmül¦f më öZÉ f−cl pwMÉ¡ k¡C ®q¡L e¡ ®Le f−c¡æ¢al naÑ/ 
®k¡NÉa¡ ASÑeL¡l£ pLm fÐ¡b£Ñ−L f−c¡æ¢al SeÉ p¡r¡vL¡−l X¡L¡ qC−h Hhw f−c¡æ¢a 
foÑ−cl p¤f¡¢l−nl ¢i¢š−a kb¡kb LaÑªf−rl Ae¤−j¡ceœ²−j L¡kÑLl Ll¡ qC−hz 
03)  fÐn¡p¢eL B−cn ew- 07/2000 a¡¢lM 10-05-2000 pw−n¡deœ²−j HC 
B−cn S¡l£ Ll¡ qCm k¡ A¢hm−ð L¡kÑLl qC−hz  

 
ü¡rl AØfø 
14.10.10 

(l¡Sf¢a plL¡l) 
f¢lQ¡mL fÐn¡pe (HÉ¡¢ƒw) 

¢halZx 
01z  pLm f¢lQ¡mLz 
02z  pLm jq¡hÉhÙÛ¡fL/ AdÉr, ¢hH¢V¢p/ ¢qp¡h ¢eu¿»L/ Q£g Ah ®VÊ¢ew/ Q£g Ah 

®VL¢eLÉ¡m / Q£g Ah gÓ¡CV ®pg¢V/ Q£g Ah ¢p¢XEm Hä fÔ¡¢ew/ Q£g gÓ¡CV 
C¢”¢eu¡l/ fÐd¡e ¢Q¢LvpL ®p−œ²V¡l£z 

03z  pLm Ef-jq¡hÉhÙÛ¡fL/ fÐd¡e fÐ¢nrL/ Ef-fÐd¡e fÐ−L±nm£z 
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04z  hÉhÙÛ¡fe¡ f¢lQ¡mL J ¢pCE j−q¡c−ul hÉhÙÛ¡fL pjeÄu-hÉhÙÛ¡fe¡ f¢lQ¡mL J 
¢pCJ j−q¡c−ul pcu AhN¢al SeÉz  

05z  pLm hÉhÙÛ¡fL/ ®Sm¡ hÉhÙÛ¡fL/ ®øne hÉhÙÛ¡fLz 
06z  pLm H¢¾VÊ jÉ¡−eS¡l ¢X¢œ²L jÉ¡−eS¡l/ ¢l¢SJe¡m jÉ¡−eS¡l/ H¢lu¡ 

jÉ¡−eS¡l/ ®øne jÉ¡−eS¡l/ jÉ¡−eS¡l Af¡−ln¾p/ jÉ¡−eS¡l g¡CeÉ¡¾pz 
07z  pLm pqL¡l£ hÉhÙÛ¡fL/ ®øne ¢qp¡h lrL/ i¡lfÐ¡ç n¡M¡ fÐd¡ez 
08z  pLm fÐn¡p¢eL ®pmz ” 
 
17. According to the aforesaid   Administrative  Order promotion  to a higher post  in 

Pay Group  VI to Pay Group X will be given solely on the basis of  an interview  and  that  

the pass marks for the interview  will be  70% . In the interview  the merit of the incumbent  

will be  assessed  and  the person  getting  the highest  marks  will be given priority in respect 

of promotion .  The said order further  provides  that all  persons eligible  for being promoted  

to the higher post  will be  called  for interview . Thus  the aforesaid  method  of giving  

promotion  gives  considerable  discretion to the person taking  the interview. 
 

18. It appears  that there is no  specific guideline  as to what criteria  is to be  used for 

awarding marks in the interview  so that  the merit  of a candidate  may be assessed. Not only 

that the aforesaid  order  also provides that  all persons  eligible  for promotion  i.e. those who 

have completed  a specified number of  years in service without having  any adverse remarks 

in this service record will be  called for  interview  with the objective  of being  promoted. 

The  said process  by its nature appears  to  disregard  an employee’s performance  in his  

service as well as his Annual Confidential Report (ACR)  in the cumulative report  about  the 

performance of an employee over  a number of  months  and put together  a number of  years  

and they are supposed to  reflect  an employee’s performance  in his job.  This appears to 

have been to falling  disregarded while considering an employees promoion to the next  

higher post.  The aforesaid  Administrative  Order   seems to  stipulate that the promotion  

will be given  solely  on the basis of  an interview but there is no guideline  or criteria  as to  

how  the interview  is to take place  and what method is to be used for assessing  the merit  of 

the incumbent .  

 

19. In Bangladesh Vs. Shafiuddin Ahmed reported in 50 DLR (AD) 27  it  has been  

held  

“In the present cases Commander Pilots working in a commercially oriented Airlines 

are not  being selected for promotion to the  Selected post of Deputy Operations 

Manager. Deputy Secretaries are being considered  for promotion  to the Selected 

Posts of  Joint Secretary. Additional  Deputy Commissioners and the like  are being 

considered  for promotion  to the Selected Posts of Deputy Secretary. They have 

already put in a number of years  in  Government  service  which is basically different  

from working as a Pilot in a Commercial Airline. Evaluation of their efficiency, 

conduct, discipline, comprehension, initiative, zeal to work, honesty, personality and 

various other requirements  of service have been recorded  each year  in their  

respective ACRs. That ought to  be the most  dominant and persuasive document for 

the purpose of  evaluating the candidates’ eligibility for the promotion  post. The 

marks  fixed  for interview should be  minimum so as not  to upset the accumulated 

credits achieved by the candidates over  the years in their respective  ACRs by a 

momentary impression created in the minds of the Interview Board  before which the 

candidates cannot possibly appear for more than a few minutes. There is  a strong 

need to protect the public servant  from the  propensity of politicization of 

administration by a party Government  by keeping the marks for  interview as 
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minimum as possible so that the scope of arbitrariness and the possibility of pick and 

choose  are absolutely minimized. We would therefore agree with the  ultimate 

decision of the learned majority Judges of the Special  Bench  that  allocation of 40% 

marks for interview  in the context  of the situation obtaining in our country and in the 

context  of the finding that the guidelines were arbitrarily departed from, was 

lopsided and was  capable of  being used arbitrarily and that 15% marks for 

interview  under the circumstances  would be a safe  marking system for protecting 

the neutral character  of public service” 

 

20. In the aforesaid  decision  it has been  clearly  stated that  marks fixed  for interview  

should be  kept  to a minimum  so that  the accumulated credits achieved by the candidates 

over  the years in their respective  ACRs should not be  disregarded  by a momentary 

impression created in the minds of the Interview Board. 

 

21. In the case of  Ashok Kumar  Yadav Vs. State of  Haryana   (1985)  4 SCC 417  the 

Indian Supreme Court  following  the recommendations  of Public Service Commission 

reduced the   percentage marks  to 12.2% from  17.11%  of the total marks in an examination 

for suitability of a person for promotion  to the next higher post.  

 

22. In the instant case according to the  Administrative  Orders of Biman fitness of a 

candidate for promotion  to the higher post is to be  on the basis of  merit cum seniority  an 

opposed to seniority cum merit. Merit  cum seniority means  the candidate  who has got the 

highest marks is to be  given priority  for promotion  over  other candidates  irrespective  of 

his seniority in relation to the other candidates. This process  allows  the junior most person  

to supersede his senior  if he possesses  merit.  This is an extra  ordinary  rule  and persons 

who have  put in several years of service may be  superseded  by his junior  colleagues.  It is  

not  for this Court  to decide  whether  this system of giving promotion  on the basis of  merit  

cum seniority   or seniority cum  merit  is to be  maintained. However, if merit  is to get 

precedence over  seniority  then the assessment of  merit  of a candidate must be  done most 

stringently and there should be no scope  for arbitrary decisions of  pick and choose.  In the 

case of  giving promotion  on the criteria  of seniority cum merit persons who are senior but 

less meritorious get priority for promotion . In the case of ‘merit  cum seniority’  persons 

meritorious persons get  priority for promotion even if they are junior.  

 

23. According to  Administrative  Order No. 15 of 2010  the   criteria  for promotion  is 

the candidates performance in the interview. There is no guideline  or rule  as to how  an 

interview  is to be  conducted  in assessing the merit  of a candidate leaving considerable 

scope  for the employer  to act arbitrarily  and defeat the scope  of ascertaining  the actual 

meritorious  candidates. We are therefore of the opinion that   the  Administrative  Order No. 

15 of 2010 dated 14.10.2010 ( Annexure  C) stipulating   promotion  to the higher post  will 

be  given  solely on the basis of  interview  is not sustainable in law .  

 

24. The submission of the  learned Advocate for the respondents that  the said  

Administrative  Order  has been  repealed  by the Administrative  Order No. 04 of 2016 dated 

28.06.2016 and the Rule issued on the said  basis  has become infractuous  is totally 

misconceived. Steps taken  by an administrative  authority  regarding  a matter  before a 

Court for adjudication in  which the administrative  authority   is a party to a judicial 

proceeding  is an attempt  to preempt a judgment and cannot be condoned. This finds support 

from a judgment  of the Appellate Division in the case of Syed Mohammad Salem Azam Vs. 

Bangladesh reported in 47 DLR (AD) (1995) 38 simply because  the said  Administrative  
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Order   has been  repealed  by a subsequent  Administrative  Order  by maintaining  similar  

provision will not help the respondents.  

 

25. The impugned orders being Memo No. Y¡L¢SHg/f−c¡æ¢a/ 2012/1186  dated 20.06.2012 

(Annexure  F) promoting  other officers  of Biman  including  the respondent Nos. 8-10 are 

tainted  with malafide and cannot be condoned . However, in view of the fact that  almost  

5(five ) years has elapsed  since issuing of the said impugned Memo  we refrain from 

interfering  with the same as the said persons have also  acquired a vested right to remain  in 

their post  and nothing  is on record  before us to show that they have committed any 

misrepresentation or illegalities   to get  their promotions.  However,  due to the unlawful  

method  adopted by the respondent Biman  in assessing the candidates’ fitness  for promotion  

to the higher post  solely   on the basis of a  momentary interview  the petitioner has been 

aggrieved  and we feel that justice  will be done  if he is also promoted to Pay Group VII 

from the date  of issuance of the impugned  Memo i.e on 20.06.2012 .  

 

26. For the ends of  justice therefore  the seniority  list of the promoted  persons by the 

impugned order  dated 20.6.2012 (Annexure  F) should also be reviewed/reconstructed   in 

terms  of their seniority  in their last post   i.e. Pay Group VI excluding  the respondent No.9 

who has been promoted  to  Pay Group VIII by now.  

 

27. It should be noted further that although the petitioner‘s appointment/promotion  will 

be effective  from 20.6.2012 he  will be entitled to  salary and other financial benefits  

including  retirement  benefits  from the date of this judgment.  

 

28. The submission by the learned Advocate for the respondent  that if   the petitioner   is 

promoted to the higher  post for being deprived  of the same earlier due to the arbitrary  

character of  Administrative  Order No. 15 of 2010 then other officers  of Biman  who have 

been deprived from  promotion  due to  the said  Administrative  Order will also come to  this 

Court  and seek orders for promotion  with retrospective effect  and the floodgates of 

litigation will be opened  is totally misconceived  in view of the fact that  much water has 

already flown below the bridge  and those promoted already have acquired vested rights  and 

the aggrieved persons  will have no equity  due to their delay in coming  to this Court  and 

will be deemed to have waived their rights and acquiesced in the decisions of the 

Respondents.  

 

29. It has been pointed out by the learned Advocate for the respondents  that the 

Administrative  Order No. 4 of 2016 came into  effect  on 28.06.2016 repealing  the earlier  

Administrative  Order No.15 of 2010 dated 14.10.2010. However the said  provision for 

promoting  employees from  Pay Group VII to X  solely on the basis of  interview still 

remains.  Since the aforesaid  Administrative  Order   has not been challenged it is not before 

us  for adjudication and we refrain from passing any order  on that score.  

 

30. However as stated earlier, such practice  for providing promotion to the employees 

solely on the basis of an interview is unfair  and creates sufficient  scope for arbitrariness and 

unlawful decisions  for which  aggrieved  persons may  take the opportunity  of getting  

redress.  It is therefore  hoped that  the respondents Biman authority  shall take appropriate 

measure  in this regard  to fill up the lacuna. In this respect it is  to be pointed out that  in 

several  decisions in the Indian jurisdiction including B.V. Sivalah V. K. Addanki Babu 

reported in  1998  6 SCC  720  as well as  Horigovind Yadav  Vs.Rewa Sidhi Gramin Bank 

and others  in  (2006) 6 SCC 145  promotions  with seniority were given  to certain officers  
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with retrospective  effect for not having been promoted earlier for the ends of justice  and in 

the instant case we feel that  the petitioner  is in a  similar   position  and  has been  deprived 

unlawfully  by an unfair  method of selection for promotion and  deserves to  be  promoted  

along with  those listed  in the impugned order (Annexure  F).  

 

31. Thus in view of the aforesaid  matters , we find merit  in this Rule and accordingly  it 

is made absolute .  

 

32. Before parting  with this judgment, we wish to  record  our appreciation  for the 

learned Advocate Mr. Al Mamun  and Mr. Khandaker Deliruzzaman  for assisting  this court  

in this matter  during the several days of hearing .  

 

33. There will be no order as to costs.   
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(SPECIAL ORIGINAL JURISDICTION) 

 
WRIT PETITION NO. 1852 OF 2014 
               
Dr. A. Y. M. Akramul Hoque 

........Petitioner 
-Versus-  
Government of the People’s Republic of 

Bangladesh represented by the 

Secretary, Ministry of Public 

Administration, Bangladesh Secretariat, 

Ramna, Dhaka and others  

…..Respondents 
 
Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood with 

Mr. Mohammad Faridur Rahman, 
Advocates 
  .....For the petitioner. 
 
Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque, DAG with 
Ms. Purabi Rani Sharma, AAG and   
Ms. Purabi Saha, AAG  

….For the respondent no. 1. 
 
Heard on 02.07.2017, 29.11.2017, 
01.02.2018, 19.07.2018, 10.10.2018, 
24.10.2018 and 25.10.2018.  
 
Judgment on 04.11.2018. 

 
Present: 

Mr. Justice Moyeenul Islam Chowdhury 

-And- 

Mr. Justice Md. Ashraful Kamal 

 

Exhaustion of efficacious remedy provided by law: How far it bars the invocation of the 

writ jurisdiction, Liberal interpretation of Equality before law; 
 

There is a constitutional bar to the invocation of the writ jurisdiction of the High Court 

Division under Article 102(2)(a) of the Constitution, if there is any other equally 

efficacious remedy provided by law.                ... (Para 24) 

 
If any impugned action is wholly without jurisdiction in the sense of not being 

authorized by the statute or is in violation of a constitutional provision, a Writ Petition 

will be maintainable without exhaustion of the statutory remedy. Besides, on the ground 

of mala fides, the petitioner may come up with a Writ Petition bypassing the statutory 

alternative remedy.  It is well-settled that mala fides goes to the root of jurisdiction and 

if the impugned action is mala fide, the alternative remedy provided by the statute need 

not be availed of.                   ... (Para 29) 

 

Equality before law” is not to be interpreted in its absolute sense to hold that all persons 

are equal in all respects disregarding different conditions and circumstances in which 

they are placed or special qualities and characteristics which some of them may possess 

but which are lacking in others. The term “equal protection of law” is used to mean that 

all persons or things are not equal in all cases and that persons similarly situated should 

be treated alike. Equal protection is the guarantee that similar people will be dealt with 

in a similar way and that people of different circumstances will not be treated as if they 

were the same.                   ... (Para 52) 

 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD      Dr. A. Y. M. Akramul Hoque Vs. Govt. of Bangladesh & ors.      (MOYEENUL ISLAM CHOWDHURY, J)  25 

 

When a case can be decided without striking down the law but giving the relief to the 

petitioners, that course is always better than striking down the law.”            ... (Para 65) 

 

MOYEENUL ISLAM CHOWDHURY, J:    

 
1. On an application under Article 102 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of 

Bangladesh filed by the petitioner, a Rule Nisi was issued calling upon the respondents to 
show cause as to why Rule 4(2) of “plL¡−ll Ef-p¢Qh, k¤NÈ-p¢Qh, A¢a¢lš² p¢Qh J p¢Qh f−c f−c¡æ¢a 
¢h¢dj¡m¡, 2002” should not be declared to be ultra vires the Constitution of the People’s 
Republic of Bangladesh and why the Notification No. pj(Ee-1)-01/2009-63 dated 27.01.2009 
issued by the respondent no. 1 promoting 72 Joint Secretaries to the post of Additional 
Secretary (Annexure-‘D’) and Notification No. pj(Ee-1)-01/2009-852 dated 07.09.2009 
issued by the respondent no. 1 promoting 60 Joint Secretaries to the post of Additional 
Secretary (Annexure-‘D-1’) and Notification No. 05.130.011.00.00.002.2011-347 dated 
10.10.2011 issued by the respondent no. 1 promoting 31 Joint Secretaries to the post of 
Additional Secretary (Annexure-‘D-2’) and Notification No. 05.00.0000.130.12.002.2012-52 
dated 08.02.2012 issued by the respondent no. 1 promoting 127 Joint Secretaries to the post 
of Additional Secretary (Annexure-‘D-3’) and Notification No. 05.00.0000.130.12.002.14-16 
dated 13.01.2014 issued by the respondent no. 1 promoting 80 Joint Secretaries to the post of 
Additional Secretary (Annexure-‘D-4’), so far as they relate to the exclusion of the name of 
the petitioner therefrom, should not be declared to be without lawful authority and of no legal 
effect and why a direction should not be given upon the respondents to treat the petitioner as 
deemed to have been promoted to the post of Additional Secretary with effect from 
27.01.2009 and to the post of Secretary to the Government with effect from 28.06.2011 and 
to pay him all attending benefits and/or such other or further order or orders passed as to this 
Court may seem fit and proper. 

 
2. The case of the petitioner, as set out in the Writ Petition, in short, is as follows:  

The petitioner having qualified in the Bangladesh Civil Service (BCS) Examination 
held in 1982 was recommended by the Public Service Commission (PSC) for 
appointment in the Administration Cadre and accordingly he joined the 
Administration Cadre as Assistant Commissioner on 14.12.1983. Thereafter he served 
in various capacities under the Government and ultimately he was promoted to the 
post of Joint Secretary on 05.03.2005. As Joint Secretary to the Government of 
Bangladesh, he served as Director, Bangladesh Jute Mills Corporation from 
15.05.2005 to 15.03.2006 and as Director General, Bureau of Statistics from 
30.03.2006 to 15.10.2009. However, he was made an Officer on Special Duty (OSD) 
under the then Ministry of Establishment (now Ministry of Public Administration) on 
16.10.2009 and since then he has been an OSD thereunder. A combined gradation list 
of the officers of the Administration Cadre of various batches of 1982 was updated on 
27.01.2014 by the Public Administration Computer Centre (PACC). The name of the 
petitioner appears at serial no. 79 in that combined gradation list. One Mr. Golam 
Mostafa Kamal (ID No. 3873) bearing serial no. 80 in the gradation list was next 
below the petitioner. But Mr. Golam Mostafa Kamal and 27 other officers of the 
Administration Cadre, who were below the petitioner, were promoted to the post of 
Additional Secretary superseding him by the Notification No. pj(Ee-1)-01/2009-63 
dated 27.01.2009 issued by the Ministry of Public Administration. Again by the 
Notification No. pj(Ee-1)-01/2009-852 dated 07.09.2009 issued by the Ministry of 
Public Administration, 46 officers of the Administration Cadre with Mr. Chowdhury 
Md. Babul Hassan (ID No. 3968) at the top, who were below the petitioner in the 
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gradation list, were promoted to the post of Additional Secretary superseding the 
petitioner. Subsequently by the Notification No. 05.130.011.00.00.002.2011-347 
dated 10.10.2011 issued by the Ministry of Public Administration, 27 officers (Joint 
Secretaries) of the Administration Cadre with Mr. Md. Lutfar Rahman (ID No. 1683) 
at the top were promoted to the post of Additional Secretary superseding the 
petitioner. By the Notification No. 05.00.0000.130.12.002.2012-52 dated 08.02.2012, 
123 Joint Secretaries with Mr. Md. Abdul Quddus (ID No. 2548) at the top were 
promoted to the post of Additional Secretary superseding the petitioner. Lastly by the 
Notification No. 05.00.0000.130.12.002.14-16 dated 13.01.2014, the Ministry of 
Public Administration promoted 78 Joint Secretaries with Mr. Md. Alauddin (ID No. 
1359) at the top superseding the petitioner. Thus, a total of 302 Joint Secretaries, who 
were below the petitioner in the gradation list, were promoted to the higher post of 
Additional Secretary to the Government bypassing the petitioner without any 
justifiable reason. 

  
3. One Mr. Mizanur Rahman (ID No. 1969) bearing serial no. 262 (far below the 

petitioner) in the combined gradation list of the officers of the Administration Cadre of 1982 
batches was promoted to the post of Secretary by the Notification No. 
05.130.012.00.00.011.2011-215 dated 28.06.2011. Besides, by the Notification No. 
05.130.012.00.00.011.2011-345 dated 10.10.2011, Mr. K. H. Masud Siddiqui (ID No. 3878) 
and 4 other officers, who were junior to the petitioner as per the gradation list, were promoted 
as Secretaries to the Government. Moreover, by the Notification No. 
05.130.012.001.00.001.2011-452 dated 15.12.2011, Mr. Md. Rafiqul Islam (ID No. 2167), 
who was below the petitioner in the gradation list, was promoted as Secretary to the 
Government. Furthermore, one Mr. Syed Manjurul Islam (ID No. 1431) and 10 other officers, 
who were below the petitioner in the gradation list, were promoted as Secretaries by the 
Notification No. 05.00.0000.130.12.001.13-54 dated 31.01.2013. Again Mr. Md. Foizur 
Rahman Chowdhury (ID No. 1027) and 2 other officers, who were below the petitioner in the 
gradation list, were promoted to the post of Secretary by the Notification No. 
05.00.0000.130.12.001.13-467 dated 18.11.2013. Thus a total of 21 officers of the 1982 
batches, who were below the petitioner in the combined gradation list, were promoted as 
Secretaries bypassing the petitioner. 

  
4. The legal instrument for regulation of the appointment of the civil servants by 

promotion to the ranks of Deputy Secretary, Joint Secretary, Additional Secretary and 
Secretary is “plL¡−ll Ef-p¢Qh, k¤NÈ-p¢Qh, A¢a¢lš² p¢Qh J p¢Qh f−c f−c¡æ¢a ¢h¢dj¡m¡, 2002” (hereinafter 
referred to as the Promotion Rules of 2002). Rule 4(1) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 
provides merit, efficiency and seniority as the basis of promotion. Rule 4(2) provides that in 
case of promotion to the rank of Additional Secretary or Secretary, the importance and nature 
of assignments discharged by a concerned officer in his total service tenure and his personal 
reputation and other relevant matters will also be considered. Rule 5 prescribes the procedure 
for promotion. As per Rule 5(4), the respondent no. 2 (Superior Selection Board (SSB)) will 
make necessary recommendations for promotion which are required to be approved by the 
Prime Minister. The petitioner had the requisite qualifications as enumerated in the 1st 
schedule of the Promotion Rules of 2002 for appointment by promotion to the rank of 
Additional Secretary on 27.01.2009, when a good number of officers of the 1982 batches, 
who were below the petitioner in the gradation list, were promoted as Additional Secretaries. 
The 2nd schedule of the Promotion Rules of 2002 sets 100 marks for evaluation of an officer 
for promotion. On 27.01.2009, when the officers of the 1982 batches were considered for 
promotion, the petitioner besides being otherwise eligible for promotion had presumably 
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obtained the qualifying marks; but unfortunately he was not promoted to the next higher post, 
that is to say, to the post of Additional Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh. The 
additional considerations as contemplated by Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 are 
not only redundant; but also vague, because these are covered by the ACRs of the officers 
concerned. The provisions of Rule 4(2) have been constantly used by the authority as a pick 
and choose instrument to condition the higher ranks of the Civil Service of Bangladesh. 
Hence, Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 is discriminatory. The repeated 
supersessions of the petitioner by the junior officers to the post of Additional Secretary and 
thereafter to the post of Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh are arbitrary and vitiated 
by malice in law. The repeated supersessions of the petitioner are also violative of Article 
29(1) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh. Against this backdrop, the 
Rule is liable to be made absolute. 

  
5. The respondent no. 1 has contested the Rule by filing an Affidavit-in-Opposition. The 

case of the respondent no. 1, as set out in the Affidavit-in-Opposition, in brief, runs as 
follows: 

 The promotions to the posts of Deputy Secretary and above are regulated by the 
Promotion Rules of 2002. According to the Promotion Rules of 2002, the SSB 
scrutinizes the eligible candidates for promotion and recommends them to the 
competent authority. The Ministry of Public Administration, after getting approval of 
the Prime Minister, issues orders of promotion. However, the petitioner was not found 
eligible for promotion to the post of Additional Secretary to the Government and as 
such he was not recommended by the SSB. The petitioner had been serving as Joint 
Secretary and as such his case for promotion to the post of Secretary to the 
Government was not placed before the SSB. Moreover, the SSB had no option to 
consider him for promotion to the post of Secretary in accordance with Rule 5(6) of 
the Promotion Rules of 2002. The Government denies the claim of the petitioner that 
he had the requisite qualifications for being promoted to the next higher posts. The 
provisions laid down in Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 are not vague 
inasmuch as those provisions require consideration of the nature and importance of 
the duties performed by the officer concerned throughout his service career. Rule 4(2) 
is not redundant, but supplementary to Rule 4(1) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. 
Moreover, there is no chance of adopting any pick and choose policy by misusing 
Rule 4(2), because it is equally applicable to all incumbents. Therefore Rule 4(2) of 
the Promotion Rules of 2002 is not discriminatory. 

  
6. The officers junior to the petitioner were found eligible and accordingly they were 

recommended for promotion by the SSB. Seniority is not the only basis of promotion. Merit, 
efficiency and seniority are the basis of promotion. The supersessions of the petitioner in the 
matter of promotion to the post of Additional Secretary are not vitiated by malice in law. No 
right of the petitioner was curtailed or infringed by the Government nor was he deprived of 
his legal entitlement. The petitioner is now retired and as such the Government has no scope 
to give him promotion to any higher post. Promotion can not be claimed as a matter of right. 
It is not a fundamental right; rather it is a statutory right. The Writ Petition is not 
maintainable because the petitioner being a public servant is not amenable to the judicial 
review under Article 102 of the Constitution. As such the Rule is liable to be discharged with 
costs. 

  
7. By filing a Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition dated 03.07.2018, the respondent 

no. 1 has annexed the copies of the ACRs of the petitioner, minutes of the meeting held by 
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the SSB for promotion and summary for the Prime Minister and other documents for perusal 
by the Court.  

 
8. At the outset, Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood, learned Advocate appearing on behalf of the 

petitioner, submits that the Writ Petition is maintainable in the High Court Division under 
Article 102 of the Constitution inasmuch as he has challenged the vires of Rule 4(2) of the 
Promotion Rules of 2002 and secondly he has come up before the High Court Division for 
enforcement of his fundamental rights as guaranteed by the Constitution and in that view of 
the matter, the decision in the case of the Government of Bangladesh and 
others…Vs…Sontosh Kumar Shaha and others, 6 SCOB (2016) AD 1 is not a bar to the 
maintainability of the Writ Petition under Article 102 of the Constitution. 

 
9. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood also submits that Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 

provides for additional considerations such as nature and importance of the duties performed 
during the entire service period, personal reputation and other relevant matters of an officer in 
case of promotion to the rank of Additional Secretary or Secretary and the additional 
considerations are not only redundant; but also vague and the provisions of Rule 4(2) have 
been constantly used by the concerned authority as a pick and choose instrument to condition 
the higher ranks of the Civil Service of Bangladesh and as such Rule 4(2) of the Promotion 
Rules of 2002 is discriminatory and hence the same is liable to be struck down as being 
unconstitutional. 

 
10. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood further submits that indisputably a total of 302 Joint 

Secretaries, who were junior to the petitioner in the combined gradation list, were promoted 
to the post of Additional Secretary by various notifications as evidenced by Annexure-‘D’ 
series to the Writ Petition and the reasons for repeated supersessions of the petitioner to the 
post of Additional Secretary appeared to be vague and no specific reason was spelt out by the 
SSB in this regard and in this perspective, the repeated supersessions of the petitioner to the 
post of Additional Secretary to the Government are not tenable in law. 

 
11. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood next submits that a total of 21 officers, who were originally 

junior to the petitioner, were promoted to the post of Secretary from the post of Additional 
Secretary as evidenced by Annexure-‘E’ series to the Writ Petition and had the petitioner 
been promoted to the post of Additional Secretary in due course, he would have been 
promoted to the post of Secretary from the post of Additional Secretary in the normal course 
of things; but as ill luck would have it, he was subjected to discrimination in the matter of 
promotion to the posts of Additional Secretary and Secretary to the Government through no 
fault of his own. 

 
12. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood also submits that the petitioner submitted a representation 

dated 13.09.2009 to the Secretary of the then Ministry of Establishment for reconsideration of 
his case for promotion to the post of Additional Secretary; but ironically enough, that was 
answered by making him an OSD on 16.10.2009 and this posting of the petitioner as an OSD 
in the Ministry of Public Administration in the above background is a classic case of malice 
in law and given this scenario, the repeated supersessions of the petitioner to the next higher 
post of Additional Secretary are vitiated by bad faith, arbitrariness and unreasonableness. 

 
13. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood further submits that the evaluation report of the petitioner’s 

Annual Confidential Reports (ACRs) from 1982 to 2013 (Annexure-‘2’ to the Supplementary 
Affidavit-in-Opposition) is a testament to the fact that his service career is spotless and 
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unblemished and from 2000 to 2009, on an average, he scored about 95% marks and 
subsequently being an OSD in the Ministry of Public Administration, his ACRs were not 
written by the concerned authority. 

 
14. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood next submits that as the total service record of the petitioner 

is unblemished and untainted, it does not stand to reason and logic as to why he was 
superseded time and again in the matter of promotion to the post of Additional Secretary and 
resultantly to the post of Secretary to the Government and considering the entire scenario 
from this standpoint, a man of ordinary prudence will definitely come to the conclusion that 
the petitioner was victimized out of oblique motives. 

 
15. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood also submits that it is clear from the minutes of the meeting 

of the SSB held on 27.01.2009 (Annexure-‘3’ to the Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition) 
that no objective assessment was made with regard to the efficiency, skill and suitability of 
the petitioner for promotion in view of the cryptic finding- “f-c¡æ¢a ¢h¢dj¡m¡l 4(2) ¢hd¡ej-a 
¢h-hQe¡ L-l f-c¡æ¢al ®k¡NÉ fËa£uj¡e e¡ qJu¡u” and as no objective assessment was made 
thereabout, he did not have a fair deal before the SSB. 

 
16. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood further submits that the evaluations of the efficiency, 

conduct, discipline, quickness of understanding, initiative, zeal to work, honesty, personality 
and various other requirements of service were recorded each year in the ACR of the 
petitioner and those evaluations ought to be the most dominant and persuasive factors for the 
purpose of determining his eligibility for the promotion post. In support of this submission, 
Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood draws our attention to paragraph 66 of the decision in the case of 
Bangladesh represented by the Secretary, Ministry of Establishment…Vs…Shafiuddin 
Ahmed and 2 others, 50 DLR (AD) 27. 

 
17. Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood lastly submits that in the event of the petitioner’s success in 

this Writ Petition, his financial benefits to the promoted posts of Additional Secretary and 
Secretary may not be given; but his pension may be fixed, as he is now retired, regard being 
had to the pay scale of a Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh under S¡a£u ®hae ®úm, 
2009 (as was in force at the relevant time) treating the petitioner as deemed to have been 
promoted to the post of Secretary on 28.06.2011. In this respect, Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood 
relies upon the decision in the case of Md. Nurul Hoque Miah…Vs…Government of 
Bangladesh represented by the Secretary, Ministry of Establishment and others, 17 BLT (AD) 
211. 

 
18. Per contra, Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque, learned Deputy Attorney-General appearing on 

behalf of the respondent no. 1, submits that as the petitioner is admittedly a public servant, 
his remedy lies not in the writ jurisdiction of the High Court Division under Article 102 of 
the Constitution; but in the concerned Administrative Tribunal as constituted under Article 
117 of the Constitution. In this regard, he adverts to the decision in the case of the 
Government of Bangladesh and others…Vs…Sontosh Kumar Shaha and others, 6 SCOB 
(2016) AD 1. 

 
19. Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque also submits that it is manifestly clear from the minutes of 

the meeting of the SSB held on 27.01.2009 (Annexure-‘3’ to the Supplementary Affidavit-in-
Opposition) that having not been found eligible for promotion under Rule 4(2) of the 
Promotion Rules of 2002, the petitioner was not promoted to the post of Additional Secretary 
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to the Government and on this count, the impugned supersessions of the petitioner can not be 
found fault with. 

 
20. Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque further submits that undoubtedly a reason was assigned for 

supersessions of the petitioner to the post of Additional Secretary as evidenced by Annexure-
‘3’ to the Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition and as his juniors were found eligible for 
promotion in view of Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002, they were promoted to the 
post of Additional Secretary and subsequently some of them were promoted to the post of 
Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh and the impugned supersessions of the petitioner 
are quite valid and justified in the facts and circumstances of the case. 

 
21. Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque next submits that at the fag-end of his service career, the 

petitioner was made an OSD and as such his ACRs for the period from 2010 to 2013 as an 
OSD were not written by the concerned authority in view of the Memo No. pj(¢pBl/¢p¢f-3)-
41/93-27(225) dated 01.04.1993 and the non-writing of the ACRs of the petitioner during that 
period (2010 to 2013) as evidenced by Annexure-‘2’ to the Supplementary Affidavit-in-
Opposition is very much in accord with the Memo dated 01.04.1993 issued by the then 
Ministry of Establishment and as such no exception can be taken thereto. 

 
22. Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque also submits that both in law and equity, the petitioner can 

not get the reliefs sought for in the Writ Petition and that is why, the Rule should be 
discharged. 

 
23. We have perused the Writ Petition, Affidavit-in-Opposition, Supplementary 

Affidavit-in-Opposition and relevant Annexures annexed thereto and heard the submissions 
of the learned Advocate for the petitioner Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood and the counter-
submissions of the learned Deputy Attorney-General for the respondent no. 1 Mr. Md. 
Ekramul Hoque. 

 
24. To begin with, the issue of maintainability of the Writ Petition must be decided first. 

In Article 226 of the Indian Constitution, we do not come across the expression “if satisfied 
that no other equally efficacious remedy is provided by law”; but in our constitution, this 
expression is very much there in Article 102(2)(a). So there is a constitutional bar to the 
invocation of the writ jurisdiction of the High Court Division under Article 102(2)(a) of the 
Constitution, if there is any other equally efficacious remedy provided by law. 

 
25. In England, prerogative writs particularly writs of mandamus were not issued by the 

Court when alternative remedy under the statute was available. This was a self-imposed rule 
of the Court on the ground of public policy. Issuance of writs when alternative remedies were 
not availed of would undermine the Subordinate Courts and Tribunals. Under the Pakistan 
Constitution of 1956, the Supreme Court and the High Courts in issuing prerogative writs 
used to follow the rule of the English Court. It was, however, pointed out that this rule of 
exhaustion of alternative remedies was the rule of the Court and did not affect the jurisdiction 
of the Court to entertain writ petitions. But the Pakistan Constitution of 1962 provided that 
the High Courts would interfere only when there was no other adequate remedy available to 
the petitioner. The same position has been maintained in our Constitution which stipulates 
non-availability of efficacious remedy as a pre-condition for interference by the High Court 
Division.  
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26. In the case of Shafiqur Rahman…Vs…Certificate Officer, Dhaka and another 
reported in 29 DLR SC 232, the Supreme Court of Pakistan noted the change and observed in 
paragraph 28: 

“... if the alternative remedy is adequate and equally efficacious, in that case, 
such an alternative remedy is a positive bar to the exercise of the writ 
jurisdiction, even though the writ concerned is in the nature of certiorari.” 

  
27. Article 102(2)(a) having incorporated the rule of exhaustion of statutory remedies, the 

existence of efficacious remedy will preclude reliefs  thereunder. The bar of efficacious 
remedy is not attracted when an infringement of any fundamental right is alleged.  

  
28. In the case of Dhaka Warehouse Ltd. and another...Vs... Assistant Collector of 

Customs and others reported in 1991 BLD (AD) 327, it was held in paragraph 12: 
“12. In principle, where an alternative statutory remedy is available, an 
application under Article 102 may not be entertained to circumvent a statutory 
procedure. There are, however, exceptions to the rule. Without attempting an 
exhaustive enumeration of all possible extraordinary situations, we may note a 
few of them. In spite of an alternative statutory remedy, an aggrieved person 
may take recourse to Article 102 of the Constitution where the vires of a 
statute or a statutory provision is challenged; where the alternative remedy is 
not efficacious or adequate; and, where the wrong complained of is so 
inextricably mixed up that the High Court Division may, for the prevention of 
public injury and the vindication of public justice, examine that complaint. It 
is needless to add that the High Court Division is to see that the aggrieved 
person must have good reason for bypassing an alternative remedy.” 

  
29. If any impugned action is wholly without jurisdiction in the sense of not being 

authorized by the statute or is in violation of a constitutional provision, a Writ Petition will be 
maintainable without exhaustion of the statutory remedy. Besides, on the ground of mala 
fides, the petitioner may come up with a Writ Petition bypassing the statutory alternative 
remedy.  It is well-settled that mala fides goes to the root of jurisdiction and if the impugned 
action is mala fide, the alternative remedy provided by the statute need not be availed of.  

 
30. Another exception has been made in the case of M. A. Hai and others...Vs...Trading 

Corporation of Bangladesh, 40 DLR (AD) 206 where the Appellate Division has held in 
paragraph 10 that availability of alternative remedy by way of appeal or revision will not 
stand in the way of invoking the writ jurisdiction of the High Court Division raising purely a 
question of law or interpretation of any statute. 

 
31. In Sontosh Kumar Shaha’s Case (6 SCOB (2016) AD 1), it has been clearly, 

categorically and unambiguously held that any person in the service of Republic or any 
statutory authority can not seek judicial review in respect of terms and conditions of his 
service or actions taken relating to him as a person in such service including transfer, 
promotion, and pension rights, except in matters relating to challenging the vires of the law 
and infringement of fundamental rights as guaranteed Part III of the Constitution. 

 
32. Reverting to the case in hand, we find that the petitioner has challenged the vires of 

Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. Over and above, he has come up with the Writ 
Petition for enforcement of his fundamental rights as guaranteed by Articles 27 and 31 of the 
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Constitution. On top of that, it has been alleged by the petitioner that his repeated 
supersessions are mala fide. 

 
33. Considered from the above angle, the decision in the case of the Government of 

Bangladesh and others…Vs…Sontosh Kumar Shaha and others, 6 SCOB (2016) AD 1, 
according to us, is not a bar to the maintainability of the Writ Petition before this Court under 
Article 102 of the Constitution. What we are driving at boils down to this: this Writ Petition 
is maintainable under Article 102 of the Constitution. 

 
34. It is admitted that the petitioner is an officer of the Administration Cadre. He served 

in various capacities under the Government till he was promoted to the post of Joint Secretary 
on 05.03.2005. It is also admitted that he was made an OSD on 16.10.2009 and remained so 
till he went on post-retirement leave (PRL) on 28.02.2014. However, indisputably a total of 
302 Joint Secretaries junior to the petitioner as per the gradation list were promoted to the 
post of Additional Secretary by various notifications as evidenced by Annexure-‘D’ series to 
the Writ Petition. As the petitioner was not promoted to the post of Additional Secretary, the 
question of his promotion to the post of Secretary being an Additional Secretary did not arise 
at all in view of Rule 6(5) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. Anyway, there is no gainsaying 
the fact that a total of 21 officers of the 1982 batches, who were junior to the petitioner in the 
gradation list, were promoted to the post of Secretary to the Government by various 
notifications as evidenced by Annexure-‘E’ series to the Writ Petition. 

 
35. Now let us deal with the reason for supersession of the petitioner to the next higher 

post of Additional Secretary to the Government as provided by Annexure-‘3’ to the 
Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition. It is in Annexure-‘3’ that the petitioner did not seem 
to be eligible for promotion in the light of Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. But 
stunningly enough, no specific reason was assigned for the supersession of the petitioner in 
Annexure-‘3’. It is strikingly noticeable that the SSB did not objectively assess the worth, 
efficiency, drive, zeal to work and integrity of the petitioner as to suitability of his promotion 
particularly when the evaluation report of his ACRs from 1984 to 2013 speak volumes about 
his spotless, untainted and unblemished service record. What is signally important is that 
admittedly on an average, the petitioner scored about 95% marks from 2000 to 2009 as 
evidenced by Annexure- ‘2’ to the Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition. Since he had been 
undeniably an OSD in the Ministry of Public Administration from 2010 to 2013, we can not 
impute any blame to him for non-writing of his ACRs for that period (2010 to 2013), regard 
being had to the Memo No. pj(¢pBl/¢p¢f-3)-41/93-27(225) dated 01.04.1993. As the ACRs 
of the petitioner during his entire service career are excellent and as no specific reason was 
assigned for his repeated supersessions, he can not be a victim of the whims and caprices of 
the respondents. Such being the state of affairs, we feel constrained to hold that the SSB did 
not act fairly in evaluating the suitability of the petitioner for promotion to the post of 
Additional Secretary to the Government.  

 
36. In Re Infant H(K) ([1967] 1 All E.R. 226), it was held that whether the function 

discharged is quasi-judicial or administrative, the authority must act fairly. In this connection, 
we feel tempted to say that the duty to act fairly is required of a purely administrative act 
(Council of Civil Service Union…Vs…Minister for the Civil Service [1984] 3 All E.R. 935). 

 
37. The Indian Supreme Court has adopted this principle holding: 
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“…this rule of fair play must not be jettisoned save in very exceptional circumstances 
where compulsive necessity so demands” (Swadeshi Cotton Mills…Vs... India, AIR 
1981 SC 818).  

 
38. It is often said that mala fides or bad faith vitiates everything and a mala fide act is a 

nullity. Now a pertinent question arises: what is mala fides? Relying on some observations of 
the Indian Supreme Court in some decisions, Durgadas Basu J held: 

“It is commonplace to state that mala fides does not necessarily involve a malicious 
intention. It is enough if the aggrieved party establishes: (i) that the authority making 
the impugned order did not apply its mind at all to the matter in question; or (ii) that 
the impugned order was made for a purpose or upon a ground other than what is 
mentioned in the order.” (Ram Chandra…Vs…Secretary to the Government of W. B, 
AIR 1964 Cal 265).  

 
39. To render an action mala fide, there must be existing definite evidence of bias and 

action which can not be attributed to be otherwise bona fide; actions not otherwise bona fide, 
however, by themselves would not amount to be mala fide unless the same is in 
accompaniment with some other factors which would depict a bad motive or intent on the 
part of the doer of the act (Punjab…Vs… Khanna, AIR 2001 SC 343). 

 
40. The principle of reasonableness is used in testing the validity of all administrative 

actions and an unreasonable action is taken to have never been authorized by the Legislature 
and is treated as ultra vires. According to Lord Greene, an action of an authority is 
unreasonable when it is so unreasonable that no man acting reasonably could have taken it. 
This has now come to be known as Wednesbury unreasonableness. (Associated Provincial 
Picture…Vs… Wednesbury Corporation [1948] 1 KB 223). 

 
41. It goes without saying that bad faith is interchangeable with unreasonableness and 

extraneous consideration. The distinction between malice in law and malice in fact has been 
vividly and graphically made by Viscount Haldane, L.C: 

“Between malice in fact and malice in law, there is a broad distinction which is not 
peculiar to any particular system of jurisprudence. A person who inflicts an injury 
upon another person in contravention of the law is not allowed to say that he did so 
with an innocent mind; he is taken to know the law, and he must act within the law. 
He may, therefore, be guilty of malice in law, although so far as the state of his mind 
is concerned, he acts ignorantly, and in that sense innocently. Malice in fact is quite a 
different thing; it means an actual malicious intention on the part of the person who 
has done the wrongful act, and it may be, in proceedings based on wrongs 
independent of contract, a very material ingredient in the question whether a valid 
cause of action can be stated. (Shearer…Vs…Shield, [1914] AC 808). 

 
42.Thus there is malice in law where it is an act done wrongfully and wilfully without 

reasonable or probable cause and not necessarily an act done from ill-feeling and spite. It is a 
deliberate act in disregard of the rights of others. (State of A.P. and 
others…Vs…Goverdhanlal Pitti, (2003) 4 SCC 739). 

 
43. f an authority acts on what are, justly and logically viewed, extraneous grounds or if 

an authority acts on a legally extraneous or obviously misconceived ground of action, it 
would be a case of malice in law. (Regional Manager…Vs…Pawan Kumar Dubey, AIR 1976 
SC 1766). 
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44. Malice in law is a malice which is implied by law in certain circumstances, even in 

the absence of malicious intention or improper motive. (Shearer…Vs…Shield, [1914] AC 
808). 

 
45. Colourable exercise of power is equated with malice in law and in such a case, it is 

not necessary to establish that the respondent was actuated by a bad motive. 
(Venkataraman…Vs…India, AIR 1979 SC 49). 

 
46. No employee has any right to claim promotion. Generally speaking, a person can not 

claim promotion on the basis of seniority alone; but a senior employee has a right to be 
considered for promotion. If the relevant law provides that promotion will be given only on 
the basis of seniority, promotion given to a junior bypassing the senior who has also the 
qualification required for the promotion post will be violative of Articles 27 and 29(1) of the 
Constitution. Where the promotion post is to be filled up on seniority-cum-suitability basis, 
the guarantee of Articles 27 and 29(1) requires that an employee fulfilling the qualification of 
the promotion post should be considered for promotion. Thus if the junior employee is 
promoted without considering the case of the senior employee who fulfills the qualification 
of the promotion post, the guarantee of equality of opportunity is violated. The appointing 
authority is the judge of the suitability of a candidate for the promotion post. Once the senior 
employee’s case is considered and the junior is promoted, the promotion can not be 
challenged as unconstitutional unless it can be shown that the action of the authority is ex-
facie arbitrary or mala fide or unreasonable in the Wednesbury sense.  

 
47. Article 27 of our Constitution provides that all citizens are equal before law and are 

entitled to equal protection of law. Sir Ivor Jennings in his “The Law and the Constitution” 
stated: 

“Equality before the law means that among equals, the law should be equal and 
should be equally administered, that like should be treated alike”.    

 
48. A.V. Dicey in his “Law of the Constitution” mentioned: 

“Equality before the law does not mean absolute equality of men which is a physical 
impossibility, but the denial of any special privileges by reason of birth, creed or the 
like, in favour of any individual and also the equal subjection of all individuals and 
classes to the ordinary law of the land administered by the ordinary law Courts.” 

  
49. In the “Limitations of Government Power” by Rotundy and others, the phrase “equal 

protection of the law” was described in the following manner: 
“The equal protection clause guarantees that similar individuals will be dealt with in a 
similar manner by the Government. It does not reject the Government’s ability to 
classify persons or draw lines in creation and application of laws, but it does 
guarantee that those classifications will not be based upon impermissible criteria or be 
arbitrarily used to burden a group of individuals. Such a classification does not violate 
the guarantee when it distinguishes persons as ‘dissimilar’ upon some permissible 
basis in order to advance the legitimate interest of society.” 

  
50. In the case of Southern Rly Co. V. Greane, 216 U. S. 400, Day-J observed: 

“Equal protection of the law means subjection to equal laws, applying alike to all in 
the same situation.” 
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51. Chandrachud-J, in the case of Smt. Indira Gandhi V. Raj Narayan, AIR 1975 SC 
2279, described his idea of equality in the following words:  

“All who are equal are equal in the eye of law, meaning thereby that it will not accord 
favoured treatment to persons within the same class.” 

 
52. On consideration of the views expressed by these distinguished Judges and Authors as 

to the meaning of the phrase “equality before law and equal protection of law”, we do not 
think that we will be able to define this term in a better way. “Equality before law” is not to 
be interpreted in its absolute sense to hold that all persons are equal in all respects 
disregarding different conditions and circumstances in which they are placed or special 
qualities and characteristics which some of them may possess but which are lacking in others. 
The term “equal protection of law” is used to mean that all persons or things are not equal in 
all cases and that persons similarly situated should be treated alike. Equal protection is the 
guarantee that similar people will be dealt with in a similar way and that people of different 
circumstances will not be treated as if they were the same.   

 
53. The Indian Supreme Court gave a new dimension to the equality clause when it 

delivered the judgment in E.P. Royappa Vs. T. N. (AIR 1974 SC 555). In that judgment, 
Bhagwati J observed: 

“The basic principle which, therefore, informs both Articles 14 and 16 is 
equality and inhibition against discrimination. Now, what is the content and 
reach of this great equalizing principle? It is the founding faith, to use the 
words of Bose J, ‘a way of life’, and it must not be subjected to a narrow 
pedantic or lexicographic approach. We can not countenance any attempt to 
truncate its all-embracing scope and meaning, for to do so would be to violate 
its activist magnitude. Equality is a dynamic concept with many aspects and 
dimensions and it can not be ‘cribbed, cabined and confined’ within traditional 
and doctrinaire limits. From a positivistic point of view, equality is antithetic 
to arbitrariness. In fact, equality and arbitrariness are sworn enemies; one 
belongs to the rule of law in a Republic while the other, to the whim and 
caprice of an absolute monarch. Where an act is arbitrary, it is implicit in it 
that it is unequal both according to the political logic and constitutional law 
and is therefore violative of Article 14...” 

  
54. The principle of equating discrimination with arbitrariness was affirmed by the Indian 

Supreme Court in a number of subsequent decisions such as Maneka Gandhi…Vs...India, 
AIR 1978 SC 597; Romana Shetly…Vs…International Airport Authority, AIR 1979 SC 
1628, Ajay Hashia…Vs…Khalid Mujib, AIR 1981 SC 487; D.S. Nakara…Vs…India, AIR 
1983 SC 130; A.L. Kalra…Vs…P and E Corporation of India, AIR 1984 SC 1361 et al.  

  
55. The expression ‘intelligible differentia’ or ‘permissible criteria’ has been interpreted 

in the landmark decision in the case of Sheikh Abdus Sabur ….Vs… Returning Officer, 
District Education Officer-in-Charge, Gopalganj & others reported in 41 DLR (AD) 30.  

  
56. Article 31 of the Constitution stands couched in the following language: 

“31. To enjoy the protection of the law, and to be treated in accordance with law, and 
only in accordance with law, is the inalienable right of every citizen, wherever he may 
be, and of every other person for the time being within Bangladesh, and in particular 
no action detrimental to the life, liberty, body, reputation or property of any person 
shall be taken except in accordance with law.” 
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57. Coming back to the present case before us, the petitioner and others who are in the 

combined gradation list of the officers of 1982 batches are a class by themselves. There is no 
‘intelligible differentia’ or ‘permissible criteria’ between them as spelt out in 41 DLR (AD) 
30 (supra). In the absence of any ‘intelligible differentia’ or ‘permissible criteria’ between the 
petitioner and others in the combined gradation list, the petitioner should not have been 
discriminated against as regards his promotion. More so, when admittedly the ACRs of the 
petitioner all through his service career are uniformly above board containing no adverse 
comments therein and there has been no departmental proceeding initiated against him for 
misconduct or any other like cause. So in all fairness, the petitioner should have been 
promoted to the post of Additional Secretary to the Government as was done in the case of 
his juniors as evidenced by Annexure-‘D’ series to the Writ Petition. 

  
58. The reason for supersession of the petitioner as mentioned in Annexure-‘3’ to the 

Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition is “f−c¡æ¢a ¢h¢dj¡m¡l 4(2) ¢hd¡ej−a ¢h−hQe¡ L−l f−c¡æ¢al 
®k¡NÉ fËa£uj¡e e¡ qJu¡u”. This reason, on the face of it, is cryptic, vague, unspecific and 
nebulous. In this perspective, we are led to hold that the impugned supersessions of the 
petitioner as evidenced by Annexure- ‘D’ series are arbitrary and unreasonable in the 
Wednesbury sense.  

 
59. As a sequel to our earlier discussion, we find that mala fides is enough if the 

aggrieved party establishes that the authority making the impugned supersessions did not 
apply its mind at all to the matters in question. It is simply incomprehensible and 
unfathomable as to why the SSB brushed aside the spotless, untainted and unblemished 
service record of the petitioner throughout his career without any plausible reason 
whatsoever. On this point, the learned Deputy Attorney-General Mr. Md. Ekramul Hoque has 
failed to furnish any acceptable explanation. It may be reiterated that on an average, the 
petitioner scored about 95% marks from 2000-2009 as per Annexure-‘2’ to the 
Supplementary Affidavit-in-Opposition. It is quite astounding that the SSB singularly failed 
to assess the performance of the petitioner as per his ACRs during his service career in an 
objective manner. It is a case of total non-application of mind. Some extraneous factors were 
definitely taken into account by the SSB out of ulterior motive while superseding him to the 
promotion post repeatedly. The bad motive or intent of the SSB is quite discernible in this 
regard. From the facts and circumstances of the case, it is crystal clear that the repeated 
supersessions of the petitioner are classic cases of bad faith or mala fides. The doctrine of 
acting fairly mandates that the SSB ought to have examined the matter of promotion of the 
petitioner with a fine tooth-comb and arrived at an appropriate and just decision. But 
unfortunately the SSB did not do so and consequentially he became a victim of its ex-facie 
arbitrariness, unreasonableness and bad faith. As such we are impelled to hold that the 
petitioner was superseded several times in colourable exercise of power and for collateral 
purpose. 

  
60. It is on record that the petitioner submitted a representation dated 13.09.2009 to the 

Secretary of the Ministry of Public Administration for reconsideration of his case for 
promotion; but without responding thereto, he was made an OSD in the Ministry of Public 
Administration on 16.10.2009. This is, no doubt, malice in law, pure and simple.  

 
61. We find substance in the submission of Mr. Khair Ezaz Maswood that the evaluations 

of the efficiency, conduct, discipline, quickness of understanding, initiative, zeal to work, 
honesty, personality and various other requirements of service were recorded each year in the 
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ACR of the petitioner and those evaluations ought to be the most dominant and persuasive 
factors for the purpose of determining his eligibility for the promotion post. But shockingly 
enough, those evaluations were completely disregarded by the SSB for reasons best known to 
itself. 

  
62. In the case of the Director-General, NSI…Vs…Md. Sultan Ahmed reported in 1 BLC 

(AD) 71, the Appellate Division has deprecated double-standard on the part of the executive 
Government giving a benefit to a particular person and denying the same to another, although 
they are otherwise equal. As the petitioner and his junior colleagues in the combined 
gradation list stand on the same footing, they should have been treated alike. In the absence 
of any disqualification criteria vis-à-vis the promotion of the petitioner, the respondents 
should not have superseded him. Needless to say, the junior officers in the gradation list were 
promoted superseding him repeatedly without any legally justifiable reason. In this way, the 
SSB resorted to double-standard as held by the Appellate Division in 1 BLC (AD) 71. We 
deprecate this sort of double-standard in unequivocal terms. 

 
63. Now let us address the vires of Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. It is well-

settled that there is a presumption of constitutionality in favour of the impugned provisions of 
Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. Of course, that presumption is a rebuttable 
presumption.  

 
64. Anyway, Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002 is quoted below verbatim: 
“4z(2) A¢a¢lš² p¢Qh ¢Lwh¡ p¢Qh f−c f−c¡æ¢a fËc¡−el ®r−œ pw¢nÔÖV LjÑLaÑ¡l pjNË Q¡L¥l£L¡m£e pj−ul j−dÉ 

f¡meL«a c¡¢u−aÄl …l¦aÄ J fËL«¢a Hhw a¡q¡l hÉ¢š²Na p¤e¡jpq fË¡p¢‰L AeÉ¡eÉ ¢hou ¢h−hQe¡ Ll¡ qC−hz” 
  
65. In the case of Bangladesh Agricultural Development Corporation represented by the 

Chairman, Krishi Bhaban, 49-50 Dilkusha Commercial Area, Dhaka and others…Vs…Md. 
Shamsul Haque Mazumder & others reported in 14 MLR (AD) 197, it was held in paragraph 
33: 

“33. In the instant case, the vires of Regulation 55(2) though challenged, the High 
Court Division declined to declare the Regulation as ultra vires as the High Court 
Division thought it prudent to dispose of the case otherwise than by striking down the 
Regulation. The approach of the High Court Division is appreciated because when a 
case can be decided without striking down the law but giving the relief to the 
petitioners, that course is always better than striking down the law.”  

 
66. In the instant case, we find that the impugned supersessions of the petitioner are 

violative of Articles 27 and 31 of the Constitution. In the first place, the SSB failed to apply 
the equality clause to the petitioner in the matter of promotion to the next higher post. 
Secondly, he was not dealt with in accordance with law as per Article 31 of the Constitution. 
In this context, it is to be borne in mind that the due process of law is incorporated in Article 
31 of the Constitution. As we have found that the respondents contravened Articles 27 and 31 
of the Constitution with respect to the promotion of the petitioner, we opine that there is no 
need for striking down Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. Precisely speaking, the 
relief sought for in the Writ Petition can well be given to the petitioner without knocking 
down Rule 4(2) of the Promotion Rules of 2002. Considered from this standpoint, Rule 4(2) 
of the Promotion Rules of 2002 is left as it is.  
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67. In the case of Md. Nurul Hoque Miah…Vs…Government of Bangladesh represented 
by the Secretary, Ministry of Establishment and others, 17 BLT (AD) 211 relied upon by Mr.  
Khair Ezaz Maswood, it was held in paragraph 19: 

“19. Since the appellant did not serve in the post of Commissioner of Taxes with 
effect from 07.09.1995 until he went on L.P.R on 30.12.1996 and considering the 
financial complication as has been submitted by the learned Additional Attorney-
General, we direct to treat him promoted as the Commissioner of Taxes with effect 
from 07.09.1995 but will not be entitled to any financial benefit for the said period 
until going on L.P.R as a Commissioner of Taxes and consequential retirement with 
effect from 30.12.1997 but would get his pension calculated at the rate of basic pay 
for the scale at Tk.7800-200X6-9000/- as amended by the new scale at 11,700-
300X6-13500/- w.e.f. 01.07.1997 per month treating the appellant as deemed to have 
been promoted to the said post of Commissioner of Taxes.” 

 
68. From the foregoing discussions and in the facts and circumstances of the present case, 

a direction may be given upon the respondents to treat the petitioner as deemed to have been 
promoted to the post of Additional Secretary with effect from 27.01.2009 and to the post of 
Secretary to the Government with effect from 28.06.2011. Admittedly the petitioner went on 
PRL on 28.02.2014. Now he is a retired public servant. At the time of his going on PRL on 
28.02.2014, the National Pay Scale of 2009 was in force. According to that National Pay 
Scale of 2009, a Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh got basic salary at the rate of Tk. 
40,000/- (fixed) per mensem. In view of any possible complication that may arise out of the 
financial benefits for the entire period from 27.01.2009 to 28.02.2014 in the future, we refrain 
from awarding the financial benefits of that period to the petitioner; but he shall be deemed to 
have gone on PRL on 28.02.2014 as a Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh in the 
scale of Tk. 40,000/-(fixed) as per the National Pay Scale of 2009 and he will be entitled to 
all pensionary benefits of that scale of Tk. 40,000/-. 

 
69. Having regard to the discussions made above and the facts and circumstances of the 

case, the Rule is made absolute in part. The respondents are directed to treat the petitioner as 
deemed to have been promoted to the post of Additional Secretary with effect from 
27.01.2009 and to the post of Secretary to the Government with effect from 28.06.2011. He 
will be deemed to have gone on PRL as a Secretary to the Government of Bangladesh on 
28.02.2014. Consequentially he will be entitled to all pensionary benefits of a Secretary to the 
Government of Bangladesh in view of the then prevalent National Pay Scale of 2009 as 
discussed in the body of this judgment. 

 
70. The respondents are further directed to implement this judgment within 90(ninety) 

days from the date of receipt of its copy. 
 
71. However, there will be no order as to costs. 
 
72. Let a copy of this judgment be immediately transmitted to each of the respondents for 

information and necessary action.   
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Mr. Justice Md. Abu Zafor Siddique (Hon’ble Third Judge) 

Minority view: 

 

Article 102 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh, Article 66 of the 

Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh Public Interest Litigation, Election 

Commission; 
 

It follows that the petitioner can very well seek a remedy under article 102 (2) (b) (ii), of 

course subject to the condition that no other efficacious remedy is available to him. In 

seeking a remedy under clause 102(2)(b)(ii), he does not have to be an aggrieved person 

for filing this case.                 ... (Para 69)   
 

The underlying principle of a writ of quo warranto, as interpreted by the Supreme 

Court of India and as quoted above, is clearly the same as enshrined in clause 102(2) (b) 

(ii) of our Constitution. Under this clause, “any person” can file an application and this 

court can, upon such an application, exercise the jurisdiction a writ of quo warranto. 

The applicant is not required to be “an aggrieved person” as opposed to the requirement 

of clause (1) and (2) (a) of article 102 under which a public interest ligation may be filed. 

In such a case the duty of this court is to hold an inquiry on the allegation and to arrive 

at a decision keeping in view of the legal and factual issues.           ... (Para 75)  
 

The reply to this principal issue depends upon decisions on the issues on (1) the 

deduction of prejudgement custody period of 143 days as claimed by him, (2) the period 

of sentence served out by him, (3) the remission permissible to him on various counts 

clamied by him and (4) the remaining sentence, if any. The discussion, findings and 

decision on those matters i.e. on issues Nos 1-6 show that no disputed questions of facts 

are involved on those 4(four) matters and the related issues.          ... (Para 196) 
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In view of the findings and decision on the issue of the remaining period of sentence 

(Isssue No. 6) it is evident that, on the date of his release from jail on 01.06.2006, the 

incumbent MP (respondent No. 7) had not served out the entire sentence and that he 

was required to serve out the remaining sentence for another 468 days. There is nothing 

on record to show that, after his release on 01.06.2006, he was ever taken to jail in 

connection with the sentence imposed on him in Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999. 
 

It follows that as per article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution he was disqualified to be 

nominated and elected as an MP in the election held on 05.01.2014. It is noted that 

article 66(2)(d) speaks of conviction for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude. 

The offence under section 19A and 19 (f) of the Arms Act, 1878 is such an offence. 

Because in the context our society the nature of the prescribed penalty namely a 

minimum rigorous imprison of 10 years and 7 years for illegal possession of fire arms 

and ammunition without licence issued by appropriate authority is an offence against 

the security of the society at large and also against the state and moral value in general.    

                ... (Para 197 & 198) 

(Per Mr. Md. Emdadul Huq, J) 

Majority view: 
 

Article 66(2) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh and the Article 

12(1)(d) of the RPO relates to the election disputes triable before the election Tribunal. 

These factual aspect of the writ petition which discussed above are not admitted rather, 

it is disputed in different aspect and without taking evidence about the disputed fact of 

date of release of the respondent No.7 from Jail custody, the calculation of blood 

donation to the Sandhani and the special remission provided in the Jail Code which is 

recorded in the history ticket, it cannot be decided in a summary proceeding in the writ 

petition.                  ... (Para 276) 
 

In this respect Article 125 of the Constitution of Bangladesh is very much applicable in 

the facts and circumstances of the case. Particularly, the facts and circumstances arises 

in the writ petition is a clear bar as this type of dispute cannot be decided without any 

evidence both oral and documentary.              ... (Para 278) 
 

An election dispute can only be raised by way of an election in the manner provided 

therein. Where a right or liability is created by a statute providing special remedy for its 

enforcement such remedy as a matter of course must be availed of first. The High Court 

Division will not interfere with the electoral process as delineated earlier in this 

judgment, more so if it is an election pertaining to Parliament because it is desirable 

that such election should be completed within the time specified under the Constitution. 

In the instant case, a serious dispute as to the correct age of the appellant was raised 

before the High Court Division which was not at all a subject matter of decision on mere 

affidavits and certificates produced by the parties.             .. (Para 281) 
 

As regards the first ground, it may be stated that if the purpose of the writ petition was 

only to challenge the election of the appellant on the alleged ground of his being a 

defaulter then we would have felt no hesitation to declare at once that the writ petition 

was not maintainable. Indeed, we have already held while rejecting CPSLA No.21 of 

1988 (quoted in the affidavit-in-opposition) that “such questions as to disqualification, 

etc. which are questions of fact are better settled upon evidence which can be done more 

appropriately before a Tribunal. In the summary proceeding under Article 102 it is not 

desirable and, more often than not, not possible to record a finding as to a disputed 

question of fact.” As regards the first ground, it may be stated that if the purpose of the 

writ petition was only to challenge the election of the appellant on the alleged ground of 
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his being a defaulter then we would have felt no hesitation to declare at once that the 

writ petition was not maintainable. Indeed, we have already held while rejecting 

CPSLA No.21 of 1988 (quoted in the affidavit-in-opposition) that “such questions as to 

disqualification, etc. which are questions of fact are better settled upon evidence which 

can be done more appropriately before a Tribunal. In the summary proceeding under 

Article 102 it is not desirable and, more often than not, not possible to record a finding 

as to a disputed question of fact.”              ... (Para 301) 

    (Per Mr. F.R.M. Nazmul Ahasan, J) 
 

It is now a well settled proposition of law that if there is efficacious and alternative 

remedy is available, a writ petition under Article 102 of the Constitution is not 

maintainable. Admittedly it has been raised whether Article 125 of the Constitution 

puts a bar in the instant case in hand. Admittedly as per the aforesaid provision of law 

there is a legal bar questioning the result of the election declared by the commission 

except following the provisions of RPO. In the present case in hand it appears that the 

petitioner in the disguise of Article 102 of the Constitution trying to enforce the 

provisions of RPO. In the present case in hand it further appears that the question as 

raised by the petitioner regarding certain declarations made by the respondent No.7 

before the Election Commission which is completely a dispute to be resolved by the 

competent authority as provided in the Represented People Order (RPO). ... (Para 339) 

(Per Mr. Md. Abu Zafor Siddique, J) 

 

JUGEMENT 

 

Md. Emdadul Huq, J. (Minority view):  

 

1. 1.00: Subject matter of this Case:  This case is about the lawful authority of 

respondent No.7 Mr. Nizam Uddin Hajari (shortly the incumbent MP) to hold the office of 

Member of Parliament for the Constituency of Feni-2. This issue has been raised upon an 

allegation that he was convicted and sentenced under sections 19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 

1878 to rigorous imprisonment for 10(years), but he was released from the jail on serving a 

lesser period.  

  

2. The facts relevant for disposal of this case are presented in the following paragraphs 

under appropriate headings.  

  

3. 2.00: Order of the Honorable Chief Justice:  This case was earlier fixed for hearing 

and disposal by two other Division Benches. Lastly the Honorable Chief Justice has, by order 

dated 02.12.2015, sent this case with the following direction: “Let this matter be heard and 

disposed of by the Division Bench presided over by Md. Emdadul Huq, J.” 

 

  

4. Accordingly the matter was previously heard on various dates by the Division Bench 

presided over by myself (Md. Emdadul Huq, J) with several other 2
nd

 judges. Lastly the 

matter has been heard by the current Division Bench and judgment is being delivered today. 

 

5. 3.00: Terms of the Rule nisi and interim orders: Upon an application (Writ Petition) 

under Article 102(2)(b)(ii) of the Constitution, a Rule Nisi was issued by this Court by order 

dated 08.06.2014 as follows): 

“Let a Rule Nisi be issued calling upon the respondents to show cause as to under 

what authority the respondent No. 7 is holding the post of Member of Parliament 
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(MP) for the constituency of Feni-2 and why the said seat of the Member of 

Parliament(MP) for the said Constituency of Feni-2 shall not be declared vacant 

and/or pass such other or further order or orders as to this court may seem fit and 

proper.” 

 

6. 3.01: By the Rule issuing order the following interim directions were given: 

(a) The jail authorities being the Inspector General of Prison (IG Prison) and the Senior 

Jail Super, Chittagong Central Jail, Chittagong, (respondent Nos. 8 and 9) were 

directed “to submit a report on the service of the period of sentence in Jail by 

respondent No.7 along with relevant record / file”; and 

 

(b) Editor of the Daily Prothom Alo (respondent No. 10) was “directed to explain his 

position and also the sources and authenticity of the news item “p¡S¡ Lj ®M−V, ®h¢l−u k¡e 
p¡wpc” published in the Daily Prothom Alo dated 10.05.2014”. 

 

7. 3.02: During pendency of the case, several other interim orders were also passed by 

this Court on different dates with specific directions to the Jail authorities, the District 

Magistrate, (DM) Chittagong, the Registrar of this Court, the learned Metropolitan Sessions 

Judge, Chittagong and the concerned Section of the office of this Court.  

 

8. 3.03: Moreover, by order dated 10.09.2014, Mr. M.A. Bashar, being an advocate of 

this court and Mr. AKM Mohiuddin Chowdhury, being an Assistant Attorney General 

(AAG), were also directed to explain their respective position with regard to the bail 

application allegedly filed in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 in which bail was allegedly 

granted to the incumbent MP by a Division Bench of this Court and he was allegedly released 

from the Jail on the basis of that bail.  

 

9. 4.00: Responses to the Rule and interim orders: Pursuant to the above noted Rule 

nisi and interim directions (1) the incumbent MP (respondent No. 7) and (2) the jail 

authorities (respondent Nos. 8 and 9), and (3) Ediditor Prothom Alo (respondent No. 10) 

have filed their respective Affidavit-in-opposition. They have also filed several 

Supplementary Affidqavits and Affidavits in Reply. 

 

10. 4.01: However Advocate Mr. MA Bashar has filed a vakalatnama, but has not filed 

any written explanation nor did he personally appear due to sickness (vide order dated 

14.10.2014). Mr. AKM Shafiullah, the learned AAG, has neither filed any written 

explanation nor did he personally appear. 

 

11. 4.02: Other authorities being the DM, Chittagong, the learned Metropolitan Sessions 

Judge, Chittagong, Registrar of this Court the concerned section of this court have complied 

with the relevant direction.  

 

12. 4.03: Summery of the Writ Petition and the materials presented to this court by 

various respondents and the aforesaid authorities are briefly presented in the following 

paragraphs under appropriate headings.  

 

13. 5.00: Writ Petitioner’s case: The Writ Petitioner has presented his case in the Writ 

Petition and 2 (two) other Affidavits, as follows: 

5.01: Petitioner has stated that earlier he had been the Joint Convener of Feni District 

Jubo League and also a Councilor of the Feni Pouroshava. He and many others of the 
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locality feel concern about the fact that the incumbent MP (respondent No. 7) was 

disqualified to be elected as an MP and yet he is holding that public office. So the 

petitioner has filed this case as a “public interest litigation”. 

 

14. 5.02: Petitioner has further stated that, in the national election held on 05.01.2014, 

respondent No.7, as a candidate for election as MP for the Constitution of Feni-2, submitted 

to the Election Commission his Affidavit being No. 941 dated 02.12.2013 (Annexure-B). In 

that Affidavit, he made false statement to the effect that in Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 

1999 he had been acquitted. Eventualley the Election Commission published Gazette 

Notification dated 08.01.2014 (Annexure-A) declaring him as the elected MP. 

 

15. 5.03: Petitioner claims that the incumbent MP has suppressed the fact that the Special 

Tribunal, Chittagong by judgment dated 16.08.2000 passed in the said case, convicted and 

sentenced him under sections 19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878 to suffer rigorous 

imprisonment for 10(ten) years and 7(seven) years respectively with a direction that both the 

sentences would run concurrently.  

 

16. 5.04: Petitioner further claims that the above noted judgment was affirmed by the 

High Court Division in Criminal Appeal No. 2369 of 2001 by judgment dated 02.05.2001 

(Annexure-C), which was further affirmed by the Appellate Division, firstly by judgment 

dated 27.04.2002 (Annexure-C-1) in Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal No. 107 of 2001 

and lastly by order dated 26-6-2004 (Annexure-C-2) rejecting Review Petition No. 18 of 

2002 filed by the incumbent MP.  

 

17. 5.05: Petitioner has stated that, a news report was published in the issue of 

10.05.2014 of the Daily Prothom Alo under heading “p¡S¡ Lj ®M−V, ®h¢l−u k¡e p¡wpc” 
(Annexure-D).The news report stated that, pursuant to the judgment passed by the Special 

Tribunal, the incumbent MP had surrendered on 14.09.2000, that he was sent to the Jail on 

the same date, that he was released from Jail on 01.12.2005 before serving out the entire 

sentence and that he still required to serve a sentence for 2 years 10 months and 01 days. 

 

18. 5.06: The petitioner has further stated that the Information Slip No. 654 dated 

08.05.2014 (Annexure-E) issued by the office of this Court shows that the incumbent MP 

had filed a fresh Criminal Appeal being Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 against the same 

judgment of conviction and sentence dated 16.08.2000 which was passed by the Special 

Tribunal and affirmed up to the Appellate Division as stated above, and that, in this fresh 

Appeal, he managed to obtain an order of bail and accordingly he was released from jail on 

01-06-2006. 

 

19. 5.07: Petitioner claims that the calculation of the period of sentence served out by the 

incumbent MP and the maximum period of remission permissible to him and the remaining 

period of sentence to be served out by him are as follows:   

 

Sentence- (10 years× 360)           -3600 days.  

Period served out                         -2084 days  

     (14.09.200 01.06.2006).  

Permissible remission                   -600 days  

     (as per rule 768 of Jail Code) 

Total-                                                2684 days 

     Remaining Period                           - 3600-2084= 916 days.  
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20. 5.08: Petitioner claims that, in consideration of the above noted remaining period of 

imprisonment, the incumbent MP, as per article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution, was disqualified 

to be a candidate for and to be elected as, an MP in the national election held on 05.01.2014. 

But he suppressed the said remaining period of sentence and managed to get a declaration by 

the Election Commission that he is an elected MP and thus he has been unlawfully holding 

that public office.  

 

21. 6.00: Case of respondent No. 7 (Incumbent MP): Respondent No. 7 being the 

incumbent MP has, in his Affidavit-in-Opposition and 8(eight) other Affidavits 

(Supplementary Affidavit and Affidavits in Reply), presented his case as follows:  

6.01: He contends that this case involves disputed questions of fact and therefore this case 

is not maintainable. 

 

22. 6.02: He has stated that, during the period of his Mayorship of Feni Pourashava, the 

petitioner, as a Councilor of that Pourashava, acted as the tadbirkar on behalf of respondent 

No. 7 in Special Tribunal Case No757 of 1999 and also in the Appeals preferred against the 

judgment of conviction and sentence up to the Appellate Division. But subsequently the 

petitioner filed this case out of local rivalry and malafide intention. Thus the petitioner has no 

standing to file this case as a public interest litigation and on that count this case is not 

maintainable.  

 

23. 6.03: He has further stated that Mr. Manjil Morshed, the learned Advocate engaged 

by the Petitioner in this case, is debarred from conducting this case, because Mr. Morshed 

had conducted the said Appeals on behalf of respondent No. 7. 

 

24. 6.04: He admits that he was convicted and sentenced in Special Tribunal Case No. 

757 of 1999 by judgement dated 16.08.2000 passed by the Special Tribunal and that this 

judgment was affirmed by the High Court Division in Criminal Appeal No. 26369 of 2000 

and further affirmed upto the Appellate Division as stated by the petitioner.  

 

25. 6.05: He also admits that, pursuant to the said judgment passed by the Special 

Tribunal, he surrendered on 14.09.2000 and served out the sentence in Chittagong 

Central Jail up to 01.12.2005. While in Jail he preferred the above noted Appeals.  

 

26. 6.06: He claims that he was lawfully released on 01.12.2005 on the basis of the said 

period of serving out the sentence and the remission earned by him in accordance with 

the various provisions of the Jail Code.  

 

27. 6.07: He claims that, after his release, he was lawfully elected as MP for the 

Constitution of Feni-2 in the national election held on 05.01.2014. However he admits that in 

the affidavit submitted by him as a candidate for election of MP, he made an erroneous 

statement with regard to his criminal record. But it was “due to his misunderstanding and 

misconception of law” 

 

28. 6.08: He claims that, after publication of the report in the Daily Prothom Alo on 

10.05.2014, the Senior Jail Super of Chittagong Central Jail (respondent No.9) sent a letter of 

protest (fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f) under Memo No. 44.07.15.00.111.03.13.14/2511/13 dated 10-5-2014 

(Annexure 7) stating that respondent No. 7 was released from the prison on the basis of the 
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sentence served out and the remission earned by him (−lu¡a fÐb¡u p¡S¡ ®i¡N ®n−o ¢a¢e ¢hNa 
01.12.2015 a¡¢lM Aœ L¡l¡N¡l ®b−L j¤¢š² m¡i L−lez)  

 

29. 6.09: He denies that he had filed any fresh appeal being Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 

2006 and that he had obtained bail in that Appeal. He claims that the Information Slip 

(Annexure-E) filed by the petitioner and the reports of the jail authorities (respondent Nos.8 

and 9) about obtaining the bail order passed in the said fresh Appeal are also false. 

 

30. 6.10: He contends that, during his stay in jail as a convict prisoner, he was allowed 

“both general remission and special remission as per the jail code.” He claims that the 

correct calculation of the periods of his pre-judgment custody, post-judgment period of 

serving out the sentence and the remission of the sentence as per Jail Code are as follows: 

 

 “01z j§m p¡S¡ 10 hRl                                 -            3600 ¢ce 
 
 02z q¡Sa h¡p  
   (22.03.1992 Cw qC−a 28.07.1992 fkÑ¿¹)                                             143 ¢ce 
      
 03z L−uc h¡p  
      14.09.2000 qC−a 01.12.2005 fkÑ¿¹                                              1906 ¢ce 
      
 04z p¡d¡le ®lu¡a  
     ¢h¢d- 756,757,758,759, Hhw 760 ®j¡a¡−hL                                      557 ¢ce 
 05z ¢h−no ®lu¡a 
          ¢h¢d 765 Efd¡l¡ 3 ®j¡a−hL                                           343 ¢ce  
      
 06z djÑ£u BQ¡l, p¡ç¡¢qL J ®N−SV R¤¢V  
            ¢h¢d 689 ®j¡a−hL                                                                     651 ¢ce 
          (p¡S¡) h¡L£ e¡C 
 
E−õMÉ ®k, ¢h−no ®lu¡a J p¡d¡le ®lu¡a ¢j¢m−u j§m p¡S¡l 1/4 Aw−nl ®h¢n e¡ qJu¡u L¡l¡ ¢h¢dl 768 mwOe 

qu¢ez” 

 
31. 6.11: He further contends that, while serving out the imprisonment, he donated blood 

on 13 different dates and earned remission as per Circular No. 353 – H.J. dated 21.05.59 
(Annexure-12) issued by the then Government of East Pakistan, which was subsequently 

endorsed by a Circular being Memo No. 581/(56)/M-10/78 dated 27 April 1978 issued by the 

Home Ministry of the Bangladesh Government (Annexure-13). As per these two circulars 

the quantum of remission earned by him is as follows: 

       For 1
st
 time  ------------------------- 30 days  

       2
nd

 time  ----------------------------- 32 days  

       3
rd

 time  ----------------------------- 34 days  

       4
th

 time  ----------------------------- 36 days  

       5
th

 time  ----------------------------- 38 days  

       6
th

 time  ----------------------------- 40 days  

       7
th

 time  ----------------------------- 42 days  

8
th

 time  ----------------------------- 44 days  

       9
th

 time  ----------------------------- 46 days  

      10
th

 time  --------------------------- 48 days  

      11
th

 time  --------------------------- 50 days  
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      12
th

 time  --------------------------- 52 days  

                 13
th

 time  --------------------------- 54 days 

                      Total 13
th

 times ---------------486 days 

 

32. 6.12: In support of his claim on blood donation, he has filed a fÐnwp¡fœ dated 

06.10.2005 (Annexure-9) issued by the President and General Secetary of på¡e£, Q–NË¡j ®j¢X−Lm 
L−mS CE¢eV to the effect that he (respondent No.7) donated 13(thirteen) units of blood during 

the period from 14.12.2000 to 15.05.2005 while he was in Chittagong Central Jail.  

 

33. 6.13: He has stated that the practice of awarding remission of sentence on the basis of 

blood donation was being followed in various jails including Barishal Central Jail as 

evidenced by the photocopy of the entries in the relevant register dated 24.04.2006 

(Annexure-15)  

 

34. 6.14: He contends that a History Ticket was maintained by the jail authorities and that 

all the relevant information with regard to his stay in jail including the fact of remission as 

required by the Jail Code were recorded therein. But, according to the reports-cum-affidavits 

made by the Jail Authorities (respondent Nos. 8 and 9), the History Ticket is not available 

and therefore their statement with regard to the quantum of remission and the maximum limit 

of 
�

�
th  (one fourth) of the sentence and their calculation about the sentence served out and 

the remaining period and other related statements are not acceptable. 

 

35. Case of the Jail Authorities (Respondent Nos. 8 and 9): 

7.00: Pursuant to the Rule issuing order dated 08.06.2014 and the subsequent 5(five) 

interim orders dated 16.07.2014, 10.09.2014, 03.03.2016, 26.05.2016 and 31.08.2016, 

the Jail Authorities being the IG Prison and the Senior Jail Super, Central Jail, 

Chittagong (Respondent Nos. 8 and 9) have presented their case in an Affidavit-in-

opposition and 4 Affidavits-in-Compliance.  

 

36. 7.01: The IG prison has also sent a report dated 27.03.2016 not in the form of 

Annexure to any of those Affidavits. However in his Affidavit of compliance dated 

19.07.2016, he has stated that the contents of the said report dated 27.03.2016 are correct. 

 

37. 7.02: The Senior Jail Super, Chittagong, Md. Sagir Mia (respondent No.9) has, 

under his signature, sent two reports dated 30.06.2014 (Annexure-X) and 03.09.2014 Part of 

(Annexure-X-I series) to the IG Prison. These reports from part of the Affidavit submitted by 

the IG Prison. Substance of these two reports is as follows: 

 

(A) The news Report published in the daily Prothom Alo on 10.05.2014 about release of 

Nizam Uddin Hajari (respondent No. 7) on 01.12.2015 was not consistent with the 

relevant Dairies and Registers of the Jail (Part of Annexure X-I-series).  

 

(B) However he admits that, he on seeing the news report in the daily Prothom Alo, sent a 

mistaken rejoinder (fÐ¢ah¡c¢m¢f) (Annexure-7) to the Prothom Alo. He had stated in the 

Rejoinder that “pw¢nÔø L−uc£ ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£ ®lu¡a fÐb¡u p¡S¡−i¡N ®n−o Na 01/12/25005 ¢MËØV¡ë Aœ 
®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢š² m¡i L−le”  

 

(C) He claims that he hurriedly collected inadeqate information from a single Register, 

the entries of which were manipulated by unknown persons. Thus he failed to consult 
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other Registers and documents and sent the erroneous Rejoinder. (k¡Q¡C e¡ L−l öd¤j¡œ 
HL¢V ®l¢SøÊ¡l ®c−M a¡s¡ý−s¡ L−l fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f−a i¥m abÉ EfÙÛ¡f−el SeÉ ¢ejÀü¡rlLl£ B¿¹¢lLi¡−h 
c¥x¢Ma Hhw rj¡fÐ¡bÑ£z) 

 
(D) Nizam Uddin Hajari was actually released from Jail on 01.06.2006 pursuant to the 

bail order passed by this court in Cr. Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 and communicated by 

the office of this Court by a memo dated 24.05.2006. This bail order and the bail bond 

were sent to the Jail by the Additional District Magistrate, Chittagong under Memo 

dated 31.05.2006 as processed in Criminal Misc. Case No. 280 of 2006 (Part of 

Annexure-X-series).  

 

(E) The Release Diary of the jail does not contain any entry about release of Nizam Uddin 

Hazari on 01.12.2005. The entries in the other relevant 4(four) documents maintained 

by the Jail namely-(1) Misc Case Register relating to Bail, (2) Diary of the Convict 

Prisoners, (3) the Ward and Cell Register, and (4) the Gate Register show that Nizam 

Uddin Hazari served out the sentence as L−u¢c ew 4114/H in Cell No.1 upto 01.06.2006 

on which date he was released pursuant to the above noted bail (photocopy of those 

Diary and Registers annexed as part of Annexure-X-series).  

 

(F) The fact of stay of Nizam Uddin Hazari in the Jail upto 01.06.2006 is supported not 

only by the said jail documents but also by order dated 04.04.2006 (part of 

Annexure-X-series) passed by the Special Tribunal consisting of the learned 4
th

 

Additional Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Chittagong in another case being Special 

Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 in which the incumbent MP was one of the under trial 

accused persons. By that order the Tribunal rejected the prayer of the Jail Authority 

for transfer of Nizam Hajari from Chittagong Cental Jail to any other Jail due to 

disciplinary matter  

 

38. 7.03: The IG Prison (Respondent No. 8) has stated in his report dated 30.06.2016 

(Annexure –X-3 series) that, pursuant to this Court’s order dated 26.05.2016, he formed an 

Inquiry Committee consisting of three officers, all being senior to the said Jail Super Sagir 

Mia (respondent No. 9), and that this Committee conducted the inquiry on the following 

matters :- 

 

(1) remission allowed to respondent No. 7, if any, 

(2)  quantum of the period of the sentence served out by respondent No.7 and the 

remaining period, if any; 

 

(3) the basis of Annexure-5 filed by the Daily Prothom Alo showing the following entries 

in the register- 

 

n¡VÑ-1 
−f¾V-2 
---------  
q¡S¡l£ 

 01/12/2005 

“j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a fÐb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢š² ®cJu¡ q−m¡ 
®lu¡a 01-06-17” 

(ü¡rl) 
01.12.2005 

¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l, 
Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÊ£u L¡l¡N¡l” 
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39. 7.04: The IG Prison has submitted another report dated 27.03.2006 on those matters 

on the basis of the findings of the 3(three) members Inquiry Committee. The summery of the 

two reports dated 27.03.2016 and 30.06.2016 is as follows: 

 

(A) Nizam Hazari was taken to jail as a convict on 14.09.2000 pursuant to the judgement 

of conviction and sentence for 10 years in Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999. 

There after he stayed in the jail up to 01.06.2006 on which he was released on the 

basis of bail granted to him by the High Court Division in Cr. Appeal No. 1409 of 

2006. 

 

(B) while serving the said sentence, convict Nizam Hazari was allowed remission (−lu¡a). 
However his History Ticket and Remission Card are not available as these were 

preserved for 1(one) year as per Jail Code. The Admission Register (i¢aÑ ®l¢Sø¡l) 
contains the quantum of remission with the figure “557 ¢ce” but with “Oo¡ j¡S¡”z 

 

(C) So the committee formed by the IG Prision calculated the quauntum of remission as 

482 days up to 31.12.2004 and another 143 days thereafter up to 01.06.2006. 

 

(D) The date of his release on 01.12.2005 as recorded in the concerned register 

(Annexure-5) was signed by the then Senior Jail Super Bazlur Rashid, but it was the 

product of undue and illegal exercise of recording a wrong entry, which is not 

consistent with the other registers and documents of the Jail. 

 

(E) According to the calculation of the said committee on the basis of available record, 

namely −NCV B¢VÑ−Lm Ah f¡lpe, ¢h¢mS X¡C¢l, L−uc f−l¡u¡e¡, S¡¢je e¡j¡ (photocopy annexed 

as Part of Annexure-X-series) his periods are as follows:- 

 hRl j¡p ¢ce 
L) S¡¢je Nje 2006 6 01 
   L¡l¡N¡−l BNje 2000 9 14 
−i¡NL«a p¡S¡= 5 8 19 
A¢SÑa ®lu¡a= 1 8 25 
®lu¡apq ®i¡NLªa p¡S¡= 7 5 14 

 
 hRl j¡p ¢ce 
M) −j¡V p¡S¡ 10 00 00 
®lu¡apq ®i¡NL«a p¡S¡ 7 5 14 
Ah¢nø p¡S¡= 2 6 16 
    

 

40. 7.05: With regard to Blood Donation the IG Prison has submitted another detailed 

Report dated 09.10.2016 (part of Annexure-X-6). The summery of this report is as follows:  

(A) As per the then East Pakistan Goverment Circular dated 21.05.1959 and the 

Bangladesh Government Circular dated 27.04.1978, Blood Donation and collection 

thereof were conducted by various Medical College Hospitals, District Hospitals and 

also by på¡e£ hÔ¡X hÉ¡wL.  
 
(B) But record of convict Nizam Uddin Hazari with regard to donation of blood and 

remission on that count was not available, as his History Ticket and −lu¡a L¡XÑ were not 

available. 
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(C) However, in response to the letter issued by the jail authority, the på¡e£ La«Ñfr, by its 

letter dated 01.10.2016 (Part of Annexure-x-4-series) informed that they did not 

preserve the record of such an event of long past, being the period from 14.12.2000 to 

15.09.2005. But the Sandhani has not denied the fact of issuance of the certificate by 

it (a−h på¡e£ La«Ñfr fÐcš pec Aü£L¡l L−l¢e). 
 

41. 8.00: Case of Editor, Prothom Alo (Respondent No.10): Pursuant to the Rule 

issuing order dated 08.06.2014, this respondent has filed an affidavit-in-compliance and two 

other Affidavits, the substance of which is as follows: 

 

(A) He contends that the news report published in the issue of 10.05.2014 of the Daily 

Prothom Alo as stated by the petitioner was an investigative report and that all 

journalistic ethics and standards have been followed in publishing the same. 

 

(B) The news report is based on four elements namely (1) the judgments of the respective 

courts with regard to conviction and sentence of respondent No. 7 (Annexure C-

series), (2) the affidavit filed by respondent No.7 with the Election Commission in the 

national election of 2014 (Annexure-3), (3) the information delivered by the Deputy 

Jail Super about the  pre-judgment custody period of respondent No. 7 amounting to 4 

(four) months and 23 (twenty three) days (Annexure-4) and (4) the snapshots of the 

L−u¢c register (Annexure-5) containing the entries as follows:  

 

“j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a fÐb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢š² ®cJu¡ q−m¡ ®lu¡a 01-06-17”. 
   (ü¡rl).  

01/12/2005,  
¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l,  
Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÊ£u L¡l¡N¡l” 

  

(C). The protest letter dated 10.05.2014 (annexure-2) allegedly issued by the Senior Jail 

Super, Chittagong in protest of the said news report and referred to in the Affidavit-

in-opposition filed by respondent No. 7 as Annexure-7 was never received by the 

Prothom Alo and hence not published. 

 

42. 9.00: Report of Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Chittagong 

Pursuant to the order dated 03.03.2016 passed by this Court, the learned Metropolitan 

Sessions Judge has sent a report dated 27.03.2016 to the effect that no notice of the alleged 

fresh appeal being Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 or no order of bail passed therein was 

received by his office. However a copy of the order of extension of bail being order dated 16-

11-2006 passed in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 was received by his office containing a 

direction about extension of the bail for six months.  

 

43. 10.00: File of Crl. Misc. PetitionNo. 280 of 2006 sent by DM, Chittagong: 

Pursuant to order dated 10.09.2014 passed by this Court, the District Magistrate, Chittagong 

has sent the original file of Criminal Miscellaneous Case No. 280 of 2006 in which the bail 

order allegedly passed in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 was processed for the purpose of 

acceptance of the bail bond.  

 

44. 10.01: This file shows that an application was filed along with copy of a bail order 

and that bail a bond was filed and accepted on 30.05.2006 and a warrant of release was issued 

to the Jail. 
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45. 10.02: The contents of this file are presented in details in the later part of the 

Judgment in the discussion on issue No. 4 relating to Date of Release. 

 

46. 11.00: Report of the Registrar of this Court: 

Pursuant to order dated 10-9-2014 passed in this Case, the Registrar of this Court 

caused an Inquiry with regard to the filing of the alleged fresh appeal being Criminal 

Appeal No. 1409 of 2006. The report (note sheet) and other materials of the 

concerned file show that- (a) during the inquiry, the record of the said appeal could 

not be traced; (b) according to the Movement Register, the record was last assigned to 

an employee named Ganesh Kuri but he had died on 11.12.2013; and (c) the liability 

for the missing record of Appeal could not be fixed.  

 

47. 12.00: Record of Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999, Chittagong  

As mentioned earlier, the Senior Jail Super, Chittagong (respondent No. 9), in his report, 

stated that the incumbent MP was in jail up to 01.06.2006, not only as a convict prisoner in 

Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999 but also as an under-trial-prisoner in another case 

being Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 of the Metropolitan Sessions Judgeship, 

Chittagong.  

 

48. 12.01: So, for verifying the correctness of this statement, the office of this court was 

directed, by order dated 25.11.2016, to report on the disposal situation of said Special 

Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 and to present the record thereof, if available, in connection 

with any case instituted in this Court. 

 

49. 12.02: Accordingly the Office has presented the record of Special Tribunal Case No. 

759 of 1999 which was earlier called for by another Division Bench of this court in 

connection with another case being Miscellaneous Case No. 15077 of 2014 pending in this 

Court.  

 

50. 12.03: The original record of Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 shows that it 

arose form an allegation of an offence under the Arms Act, 1878 and respondent No.7 was 

one of the accused persons. This record reveals the details of the position of his custody, his 

appearance in court and bail during the period of 10.10.2001 to 06.06.2006 in that case. This 

record shows that he was in custody upto 31.05.2006. 

 

51. 12.04: It is noted that this period is relevant for deciding the date of his release form 

jail. Because admittedly he surrendered on 14.09.2000 as a convict. But the incumbent MP 

claims the date of his release on 01.12.2005 and the jail authority claims that he was released 

on 01.06.2006. So the facts relating to these matters as available in the said judicial record 

have been presented in the latter part of the judgment in the discussion on issue No. 4 relating 

to the date release. 

 

52. DISCUSSION, FINDINGS AND DECISION: 

13.00: Admitted facts: Materials on record show that the following facts are admitted: 

 

(a) The incumbent MP was convicted and sentenced by a Special Tribunal (Metropolitan 

Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court) of Chittagong under sections 19A and 19(f) of 

the Arms Act, 1878 to suffer rigorous improument for 10 years and 7 years 

respectively for the offences of illegal possession of fire arms and ammunition. The 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Shakwat Hossain Bhuiyan Vs.Bangladesh & ors.  (Md. Emdadul Huq, J)       51 

 

decision of the trial court was upheld upto the Appellate Division. These facts are 

further evidenced by Annexure-C, C-1, and C-2 to the Writ Petition. 

 

(b) The incumbent MP, as a convict, surrendered and he was taken to jail on 14.09.2000 

He started serving out the sentence since that date and served out the sentence at 

least upto 01.12.2005, as admitted by the incumbent MP.  

 

(c) He was released from the Jail before the expiry of the said 10 years, i.e. either on 

01.12.2005 as claimed by him or on 01.06.2006 as claimed by the Jail authorities. 
  

(d) He was allowed some remission during the period of his stay in Jail as a convict.  

 

(e) A report was published in the daily Prothom Alo of 10.05.2014 raising questions 

about the propriety and legality of the release of the incumbent MP.  

 

53. 14.00: A primary Issue: Competence of Advocate Mr. Manjil Morshid to 

conduct this case. The incumbent MP has raised this issue on the ground that he had 

engaged Mr. Murshid and accordingly Mr. Murshid conducted the Appeals preferred against 

the judgment of conviction and sentence. This issue was initially agaitated by the learned 

Advocates for the incumbent MP to the effect that MR. Morshid is debarred from conducting 

this case. 

 

54. 14.01: Mr. Morshid has not filed any affidavit admitting or opposing his role in the 

said Appeals. 

 

55. 14.02: The record of this case shows that this Writ Petition was drafted by Mr. 

Morshid, as the Advocate engaged by the Writ Petitioner, and it was signed by the Writ 

Petitioner as the deponent. Mr. Morshid appeared at the time of issuance of the Rule nisi on 

08-06-2014 and on various subsequent dates upto 27.02.2016. Then he stopped appearing for 

the petitioner. Lastly on 18.05.2016, he personally appeared and informed this Court that, in 

view of the objection raised by the incumbent MP, he has withdrawn himself from this case, 

and that he has issued a no objection certificate.  

 

56. 14.03: Thereafter other advocates conducted the hearing and the issue of Mr. Morshid 

was not further agitated by the learned Advocates for incumbent MP. 

 

57. 14.04: So, the involvement of Mr. Morshed at the primary stage of this case, as the 

engaged advocate of the Writ Petitoner, has not affected the cause of justice and the issue of 

legality and propriety of his professional conduct as an advocate in this case need not be 

addressed. 

 

58. 15.00: The principal issue and related issues to be adjudicated: 

The terms of the Rule nisi and the materials on record show that the principal issue 

raised in this case is whether respondent No. 7, being the incumbent MP, was 

disqualified to be elected as an MP and, on that count, whether he has the lawful 

authority to hold that office after such election.  

 

59. In deciding this principal issue, the determinant factor is whether the period of 

sentence served out by the incumbent MP and the remission permissible to him cover the 

entire sentence of 10 years imprisonment. 
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60. 15.01: In the course of the lengthy hearing in the case, a number of related legal and 

factual issues came up. For deciding the said principal issue the following issues are to 

addressed :- 

(1) maintain ability of the case on account of standing of the petitioner to file this case,  

(2) maintainability of the case on account of the bar if any imposed by article 125 of the 

 Constitution,  

(3) the date of release of the incumbent MP and calculation of the sentence served out by 

him  

(4) the deduction of the pre-judgement custody from the sentence, 

(5) remission permissible to the incumbent MP  

(6) the remaining period of sentence, if any to be served out by him, 

(7) disputed questions of fact involved, if any, 

(8) whether the incumbent MP was qualified to be nominated and elected as an MP; 

(9) result of disqualification, if any, 

(10) Conclusion and result. 

 

61. 15.02: All these issues and the related aspectly are discussed in the later part of the 

judgement under proper headings. 

 

62. Issue No.1: Petitioner’s standing and maintainability of the case.   

 

63. 16.00: Deliberations: On this issue, Mr. Qamrul Haque Siddque, the learned 

Advocate for the Writ Petitioner, submits as follows:- 

(a)  that although in the Cause Title and at some places of the text of the Writ Petition, 

the expression “public interest litigation” has been used, the dispute raised in this case 

and the Rule nisi issued by this court are in the nature which, in English law, is called 

a writ of quo warranto,  

 

(b) that the principle of writ of quo-warranto has been clearly enshrined in article 

102(2)(b)(ii) of our Constitution, according to which “any person” can raise a 

question about the lawful authority of a person holding a public office, and 

accordingly the petitioner has simply set the law in motion and now it is the duty of 

the court to inquire into and decide the matter,  

 

(c)  that the petitioner has no personal right to, or interest, in the said public office and 

therefore the issue raised in this case cannot be equated to a right to property or to any 

form of character of the petitioner and consequently he cannot file a civil suit e.g. a 

suit for a declaration under 42 of the Specific Relief Act, 1877 or any other suit under 

that Act or even a representative suit under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 or any 

other statutory law. 

 

(d) that the petitioner was not a candidate in the election and therefore he had no standing 

to approach the High Court Division by filing an election case under the 

Representation of the People’s Order, 1972 (shortly the RPO) and thus the only 

forum available to him is this Court by invoking article 102(2)(b)(iii) of the 

Constitution. 

 

64. 16.01: In support of his submission, Mr. Siddique refers to the cases of (1) The 

University of Myshore and another vs. CD Govinda Rao and another (1965 AIR (SC) page-
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491, and (2) the case of Jamal Uddin (Md) vs Major General Abdus Salam (Relived) and 

others (66DLR2014) page 362). 

 

65. 16.02: In reply Mr. Shafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for the incumbent MP, 

submits as follows:-  

(a)  that in the Cause Title and in the body of the Writ Petition (para-3), the petitioner has 

himself described this case as a “public interest litigation” (shortly PIL) and that it 

involves a question of great public importance, namely the validity of the election of 

respondent No. 7 as declared by the appropriate constitutional body, being the 

Election Commission and therefore this Writ Petition has to be judged by the 

principles applicable to a PIL, and 

 

(b)  that it is a settled principle of law that a PIL may be filed in the form of an 

application under clause 102(1) or 102(2) of the Constitution and it must be filed by a 

“person aggrieved”, but the petitioner has not taken any ground so as to treat him as a 

“person aggrieved” as required by those clauses.  

 

(c) this case involves a number of disputed questions of fact on the date of release and the 

quantum of remission. 

 

66. 16.03: In support of the above submission Mr. Ahmed refers to the cases of (1) 

National Board of Revenue vs. Abu Sayeed Khan and others, (18BLC (AD) (2013) page-116) 

and the case of (2) Kurapati Das vs. M/S Dr. Ambedkar Seba Samjan and others (Indian 

Kanoon. Org/doc/1530123). 

 

67. Discussion and Findings on Issue No.1:  

17.00: For addressing this issue, we need to firstly look into clauses (1) and (2) of 

article 102 of the Constitution which are quoted below (relevant portions are written 

in bold characts to emphasize): 

“102. (1) The High Court Division, on the application of any person aggrieved, may 

give such directions or orders to any person or authority, including any person 

performing any function in connection with the affairs of the Republic, as may be 

appropriate for the enforcement of any of the fundamental rights conferred by part 

III of this Constitution.  

(2) The High Court Division may, if satisfied that no other equally officious remedy 

is provided by law- 
(a) on the application of any person aggrieved, make an order- 

(i) directing a person performing any functions in connection with the affairs of the 

Republic or of a local authority to refrain from doing that which he is not permitted 

by law to do or to do that which he is required by law to do; or  

(ii) declaring that any act done or proceeding taken by a person performing functions 

in connection with the affairs of the Republic or of a local authority has been done or 

taken without lawful authority and is of no legal effect; or 

 (b) on the application of any person, make an order - 

(i) directing that a person in custody be brought before it so that it may satisfy itself 

that he is not being held in custody without lawful authority or in an unlawful 

manner; or   

(ii) requiring a person holding or purporting to hold a public office to show under 

what authority he claims to hold that office.  
 (3)-(5) (not relevant)” 
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68. 17.01: A plain reading of the clauses (1) and (2) of article 102 of the Constitution 

show the following features:  

 

(a) Clause (1) of article 102 provides that for enforcement of a fundamental right only a 

“person aggrieved” can apply to the High Court Division.  

 

(b) Clause 2(a) provides that for obtaining a remedy in relation to an action or 

ommission of a public authority only a “person aggrieved” can apply to the High 

Court Division. 

 

(c) As opposed to the above noted two clauses, clause (2) (b) (ii) provides that “any 

person” can apply to High Court Division challenging the lawful authority of a 

person in holding a public office, if no other efficacious remedy is available to the 

petitioner provided by other laws. 
 

69. 17.02: So the principal issue raised in this case namely the lawful authority of 

respondent No. 7 to hold the public office of MP, (Feni-2) clearly falls within the purview of 

article 102 (2)(b)(ii), under which “any person”, whether aggrieved or not, can make an 

application to this Court. It follows that the petitioner can very well seek a remedy under 

article 102 (2) (b) (ii), of course subject to the condition that no other efficacious remedy is 

available to him. In seeking a remedy under clause 102(2)(b)(ii). He does not have to be an 

aggrieved person for filing this case.     

 

 70. 17.03: With regard to the principles applicable to a“public interest litigation, I 

generally agree with Mr. Shafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for the petitioner, that a 

public interest litigation is to be instituted under article 102(1) or 102(2) (a) and that the 

principles or parameter to be followed in indentifying such a case have been outlined by the 

Appellate Division in the case of National Board of Revenue vs Abu Sayeed Khan and others, 

reported in 18BLC (AD)(2013) page 116. 

 

71. 17.04: But I fail to accept the submission of Mr. Ahmed that the expression “public 

interest litigation” as used in the Cause Title or in a paragraph of the Writ Petition has 

rendered this case to be a public interest litigation. Such sporadic references to that expressin 

are not the determinant factors for deciding the nature of the case.  The determinant factors 

are the issues raised in the Writ Petition in relation to the particular fact (s) and the standing 

of the petitioner.  

 

72. 17.05: Apart from the facts claimed by the writ petitioners as presented earlier, the 

terms of the Rule nisi issued by this court is a pointer to the nature of the case. The terms of 

the Rule nisi, as quoted earlier, has two components, namely –(a) a direction to the  

respondents including the incubent MP (respondent No. 7) to explain his lawful authority in 

holding the public office MP for the Constituency of Feni-2, and (b) a declaration with regard 

to vacancy in that office, as a probable result.  

 

73. 17.06: The issue raised in the Writ Petition in the background of the admitted 

conviction and sentence imposed on the incumbent MP and the Rule nisi issued by this court 

are clearly in the nature of a writ of quo warranto of the English Law and not of a PIL.  
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74. 17.07: For illustrating the concept of a writ of quo-warranto, the interpretation of the 

Indian Supreme Court in the case of University of Mysore and another vs. CD Govinda Rao 

and another (AIR 1965 SC 491) is relevant and quoted below (underlines added): 

“Broadly stated, the quo warrant proceeding affords a judicial remedy by which any 

person, who holds an independent substantive public office, or franchise, or liberty, is 

called upon to show by what right he holds the said office, franchise or liberty; so that 

his title to it may be duly determined and in case finding is that the holder of the office 

has no title to it, he would be ousted from that office by judicial order------------.” 

 

75. 17.08: The underlying principle of a writ quo warranto, as interpreted by the Supreme 

Court of India and as quoted above, is clearly the same as enshrined in clause 102(2) (b) (ii) 

of our Constitution. Under this clause, “any person” can file an application and this court can, 

upon such an application, exercise the jurisdiction a writ of quo warranto. The applicant is 

not required to be “an aggrieved person” as opposed to the requirement of clause (1) and (2) 

(a) of article 102 under which a public interest ligation may be filed. In such a case the duty 

of this is court to hold an inquiry on the allegation and to arrive at a decision keeping in view 

of the legal and factual issues. 

 

76. 17.09: Similar view was taken by another Division Bench in the case of Jamal Uddin 

vs. Major General Abdus Salam (Retired) and others (66DLR(2014) page-364)- para-55,56, 

and 59). 

 

77. 17.10: The above view finds further support in the observation made by our apex 

court in the case of Bangladesh vs Aftab Uddin (2010 BLD (AD), page 10 para -20) as 

follows: (underlines added): 

 

“20. Besides, this writ petition before the High Court Division being one under 

Article 102(2)(b)(ii) does not require that the applicant for a writ of quo-warranto 

must be an aggrieved party. Any person can maintain such an application without 

showing any violation of his legal right. ---------” 

 

78. 17.11: On the question of availability of other remedies or an efficacious remedy 

to the petitioner, I agree with the submission of Mr. Qamrul Haq Siddique, that the 

petitioner cannot approach a civil court for a declaration under section 42 or for any other 

relief under the other provision of the Specific Relief Act, 1882. Because, his personal right 

to any property or character is not involved in the issue raised. He cannot approach any other 

court under any other statutory law for availing any remedy not to speak of an “efficacious 

remedy” The only remedy open to him is to invoke artice 102(2)(b)(ii) of the Constitution. 

 

79. 17.12: It is noted that the RPO provides for challenging the election of a returned 

candidate by way of filing an election petition to the High Court Division. But Article 49(1) 

of the RPO limits the said opportunity only to a person who is a candidate for the election. 

Article 49(1) of the RPO runs as follows: 

“49- (1) No election shall be called in question except by an election petition 

presented by a candidate for that election in accordance with the provisions of this 

Chapter. 

(2) --------------- (4) ---------------.” (not relevant) 

 

80. 17.13: It is evident that since the petitioner was not a candidate in the election, he has 

no right to avail the remedy under the RPO. 
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81. 17.14: It is noted that the issue of involvement of disputed questions of fact, as 

pointed out by Mr. Shafique Ahmed, with reference to the Indian case reported in Indian 

kanoon org/doc/430123 has been separately discussed and decided as issue No. 7 in the later 

part of this judgment. 

 

82. 18.00: Decision on issue No. 1: In consideration of the above findings, it is held that 

the petitioner as an “any person,” has a right to file this case under article 102(2)(b)(ii) of the 

Constitution and that no other efficacious remedy provided by law is available to him and 

therefore this case is maintainable and an inquiry is to be held under that article. Accordingly 

issue No. 1 is decided in favour of the petitioner. 

 

83. Issue No. 2: Legal bar, if any, imposed by article 125 of the constitution to 

entertain the case. 

 

84. 19.00: Deliberation: On this issue, Mr. Sahafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for 

the incumbent MP, submits that article 125 of the Constitution is an overriding provision and 

it puts a legal bar on filing a court case questioning the result of the election declared by the 

Election Commission, except by filing an election case under the relevant law, namely the 

RPO and that since the petitioner has failed to do so, this case is not maintainable. 

 

85. 19.01: In reply Mr Qamrul Haque Siddique the learned Advocate for the petitioner, 

submits that petitioner claims that respondent No. 7 was disqualified to be a candidate for 

election as an MP due to the fact that he had not served out the entire sentence imposed on 

him, but he suppressed that fact in his Affidavit, and that the Election authorities had no 

scope to examine the disqualification matter and therefore article 125 is not a legal bar to 

entertain this case. 

 

86. Discussion and Findings on Issue No. 2: 

20.00: For considering this issue we need firstly to look into article 125 of the 

Constitution, which is quoted below (underlines added): 

“125. Validity of election law and election. -  
        Notwithstanding anything in this Constitution - 

(a) the validity of any law relating to the delimitation of constituencies, or the 

allotment of seats to such constituencies, made or purporting to be made under article 

124, shall not be called in question in any court; 

(b) no election to the offices of President or to parliament shall be called in question 

except by an election petition presented to such authority and in such manner as may 

be provided for by or under any law made by Parliament.” 

 

87. 20.01: The expression “Notwistauding anything contained in the constitution” clearly 

shows that article 125 is a overriding provision and clause (b) thereof puts a restriction on 

questioning the validity of, among others, an election of an MP. However this article allows 

the filing of an election case “only in such manner as may be provided for by or under a law 

made by the Parliament”. RPO is the law as contemplated in article 125 of the constitution.  

 

88. 20.02: The RPO contains detailed provisions with regard to, among others, the 

procedure for nomination of a candidate for election as MP, the qualification and 

disqualification of a candidate, scrutiny of nomination papers by the election functionaries, 

fixing the election schedule, conducting the election, declaration of election results, filing of 
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an election case by a candidate challenging the election held, power of the High Court 

Division in relation to the election case and the relieves that may be granted in such a case. 

 

89. 20.03: Article 12(1) of the RPO deals with the matter of nomination and the 

qualification and disqualification of a candidate. Relevant portion of Article 12(1) is quoted 

below (underlines added): 

“12. (1) Any elector of a constituency may propose or second for election to that 

constituency, the name of any person qualified to be a member under clause (1) of 

Article 66 of the Constitution: 

Provided that a person shall be disqualified for election as or for being, a member, if 

he- 

 

(a) – (o) (Not relevant)  

Explanation I--------------------- VI -------------- (not relevant) 

(C) --------- (7) ------------------” (not relevant) 

 

90. 20.04: Article 12(1) of the RPO, with reference to article 66(1) of the Constitution, 

clearly provides as to who is qualified to be nominated as a candidate. The proviso to clause 

12(1) contains the list 15 categories of persons who are disqualified to be nominated and 

elected e.g. a non-voter of the constituency, a person convicted and sentenced for election 

related offences as specified in Chapter VI of RPO, certain class of persons who were in the 

service of the Republic, bank loan defaulters, certain bill defaulters a person convicted of war 

crime etc. 

 

91. 20.05: But, Article 12(1) of the RPO or the proviso there of does not directly refer to 

the disqualification resulting from a conviction and sentence imposed on a candidate for a 

criminal offence before the submission of nomination paper. This disqualification is specified 

by article 66 (2)(d) of the Constitution. Relevant portion of this article is quoted below: 

(underlines added): 

“66. Qualification and disqualification for election to parliament. (1) A person 

shall, subject to the provision of clause (2), be qualified to be elected as, and to be, a 

member of pariliament if he is a citizen of Bangladesh and has attained the age to 

twenty-five years. 

 

(2) A person shall be disqualified for election as, or for being a member of Parliament 

who- 

(a) ----------- (c) -------------- (not relevant) 

 

(d) has been, on conviction for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, 

sentenced for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, sentenced to 

imprisonment for a term of not less that two years, unless a period of five years 

has elapsed since his release;” 

 

[(dd) -------------------------- (not relevant) 
(2A) –(5) ---------------- (not relevant) 

 

92. 20.06: A careful reading of article 66(2), particularly the expression “A person shall 

be disqualified for election as, or for being a member of Parliament” read with clauses (d) 

shows that the Constitution contemplates 3 (three) situations about the disqualification of a 

person, namely- (1) the dis-qualification acquired before election, (2) the disqualification 
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acquired after election, and (3) disqualification that was acquired before but continues after 

the election.  

 

93. 20.07: In the instant case, the petitioner claims that incumbent MP acquired the 

disqualification before election and it still continues as per clause (d), because he was 

released from jail before serving out the sentence of 10 years. 

 

94.20.08: On perusal of the materials on record, particularly the photocopy of the 

Affidavit-cum-Nomination Paper of the incumbent MP (Annexure-B), it is revealed that he, 

as a candidate for election, has recorded in the 2
nd

 page at serial Nos. 3 and 4 the following 

entry at sub-serial 07: 

 

 3.M. Aa£−a Bj¡l ¢hl¤−Ü c¡−ulLªa ®g±Sc¡l£ j¡jm¡ h¡ j¡jm¡pj§q Hhw Eq¡l gm¡gm ¢hhlZ£x 
4. 

œ²¢jL eðl −k BCe J BC−el d¡l¡u 
j¡jm¡ c¡−ul Ll¡ qCu¡−R 

−k ÚBc¡m−a j¡jm¡¢V 
Bj−m ¢eu¡−R 

j¡jm¡ eðl j¡jm¡l gm¡gm 

                01----- 06-------------- (not relevant) 
07 ¢h−no rja¡ 

BC−el 19(L) (Q) 
d¡l¡ 

j¡je£u 4bÑ VÊ¡Ch¤e¡m 
Bc¡ma, Q–NË¡j 

¢h. VÊ¡ j¡jm¡ 
ew-757/99 

¢eÇf¢š/M¡m¡p 

 
95. 20.09: Respondent No. 7 in his Affidavit in opposition dated 18.01.2016 (para-9), 

claims that he has not made any false declaration in his affidavit cum nomination paper that 

was submitted by him as a candidate, and that it is a disputed question of fact.  

 

96. 20.10: But in all his subsequent affidavits he has admitted the fact of his conviction 

and sentence of 10(ten) years imprisonment in the case as mentined in the said Affidavit Cum 

Nomination paper i.e. Special Tribunal Case No. 757/1999. This is further evidenced by the 

certified copies of the judgment of the Special Tribunal affirmed up to the Appellate Division 

(Annexure-C-series). However he has tried to make out a case that he has served out the 

entire sentence.  

 

97. 20.11: The Writ Petitioner claims that the incumbent MP has suppressed the fact of 

serving a lesser period and that such suppression ended in the result that the Election 

Commission declared him as the returned candidate in the Parliament election of 2014.  

 

98. 20.12: The question is, whether the Election Commission has the lawful authority 

under article 125 to reopen the issue of legality of the candidature of the incumbent MP 

whom the Commission itself has declared as the returned candidate by Gazette Notification. 

 

99. 20.13: Article 125 of the Constitution requires the Election Commission to exercise 

its authority through the legal regime of the RPO. The scheme of RPO as pointed out earlier 

show that, after accepting the nomination paper of a candidate as a valid one and after 

declaring the result of the election within the framework of the RPO, the Election 

Commission becomes a functus officio for re-examining the issue of disqualification of a 

candidate acquired prior to the election.  

 

100. 20.14: Article 125 as an overriding clause, provides that an election dispute can be 

raised only as per law made by the Parliament, i.e. by filing an election petition to the High 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Shakwat Hossain Bhuiyan Vs.Bangladesh & ors.  (Md. Emdadul Huq, J)       59 

 

Court Division by a candidate within a specified time on the grounds as provided by the 

RPO. 

 

101. 20.15: But the petitioner was admittedly not a candidate in the election. So article 

125 of the constitution and the RPO article 12(1) has debarred him from availing the remedy 

by filing an election case under the RPO and yet the Commission itself cannot re-open the 

issue of disqualification. 

 

102. 20.16: So the next question is whether the overriding provision of article 125(1)(b) 

stands as a legal bar to invoke the jurisdiction of this Court under article 102(2)(b)(ii). 

  

103. 20.17: On this question, the materials on record show that incumbent MP admits his 

conviction and sentence, but he has stated in his Affidavit/Nomination Paper (Annexure-B) 

his position as ¢eØf¢š/M¡m¡p. There is nothing on record to show that any objection was ever 

raised from any quarter with regard to his disqualification before the election functionaries or 

before the High Court Division in the from of an election case under the RPO. The ultimate 

result was that he was declared by the Election Commission as the elected MP. 

 

104. 20.18: Article 125 of the Constitution when read with articles 12(1) and 49(1) of the 

RPO and article 66(2) of the Constitution, show that the bar or restriction imposed by the 

non-obstante/overriding clause 125(1)(b), of the Constitution are applicable at best to two 

situations:- (a) the issues which have been considered by the Election Commission in the 

election process up to the elction result, and (b) the issues that may be considered by the High 

Court Division after the elction results, i.e. in the form of an elction cases under the RPO 

being the law made by parliament pursuant to article 125. 

 

105. 20.19: Article 125 of the Constitution does not cover a situation when a candidate 

for, or the holder of the public office of an MP, has allegedly suppressed certain vital facts 

about his disqualification and due to such suppression to, or non discovery by, the election 

functioneries, the election result has been declared and there was none to challenge the result 

within the frame work of article 125 and the RPO. 

  

106. 20.20: The intention of article 125 is never to encourage or allow suppession of the 

vital facts on disqualification of a candidate nor to obstruct the door of justice to seek a legal 

remedy or to unearth the truth about the alleged disqualification. 

  

107. 20.21: In such a situation, the scope of opening the issue of disqualification of an 

MP is very much subject to scrutiny by this Court under the writ jurdiction by invoking 

article 102(2) (b) (ii). Simply because, the incumbent MP was allegedly disqualified to 

submit his nomination paper so as to initiate the election process and the whole election 

process/result allegedly stood on a legal void. 

 

  

108. Decision on Issue No. 2 

20.22: In view of the above discussion and findings, the decision on this issue goes in 

favour of the petitioner. It is held that article 125 does not stand as a legal bar to entertain this 

case and it is maintainable under article 102(2)(b)(ii) for the purpose of examining the other 

issues. 
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109. Issue No. 3. The date of release of the incumbent MP from jail and the period of 

sentence served out by him. 

 

110. 21.00: On this issue, the incumbent MP claims that he was released on 01.12.2005. 

On the contrary the contrary the Jail authorities claim that he was realeased on 01.06.2006. 

The incumbent MP relies on two documents, namely Annexure-1 being the photocopy of a 

Register, which has also been filed by Prothom Alo as Annexure-5, and the Rejoinder issued 

by the Senior Jail Super named Md. Sagir. The photocopy and original thereof are on record 

as Annexure-2 and 7. 

 

111. 21.01: The jail authority relies on various jail registers and the file of the District 

Magistrate relating to bail bond and also on the reocrd of the Special Tribunal Case No. 759 

of 1999. 

 

112. 21.02: Deliberations: On this issue, Mr Qamrul Haq Siddique, the learned 

Advocate for the writ petitioner submits as follows:-  

(a) the date of release of the incumbent MP, whether on 01.12.2005 or on 01.06.2006, is 

not very material, because the total remission permissible to him as per rule 768 of the 

Jail Code cannot exceed one-fourth of the sentence, and 

 

(b)  the period of sentence served out by him from 14.09.2000 whether upto 01.12.2005 

or up to 01.06.2006, together with the maximum remission allowable to him, do not 

cover the entire period of sentence. 

 

113. 21.03: In reply, Mr. Shafique Ahmed the learned Advocate for the incumbent MP, 

submits as follows:- 

(a)  as per the reports of the jail authorities, the mandatory History Ticket of the 

incumbent MP is not available, and 

(b) the jail authorities in their reports admit the fact of recording an entry in the register 

about the release of the incumbent MP on 01.12.2005 (Annexure 1 or 5) and the 

Rejoinder issued by the Senior Jail Super (Annexure-2/7) supports the said date of 

release.  

 

114. 21.04: Discussion and Findings on issue No. 3: Annexure-1 and Annexure-5 are 

the photocopies of the same document, namely an entry in the L−uc£ Register. It contains the 

following information: 

 

“n¡VÑ-1 
−f¾V-2 
---------  
q¡S¡l£ 

 01/12/2005 

j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a fÐb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢š² ®cJu¡ q−m¡ 
®lu¡a 01-06-17 

(ü¡rl) 
01.12.2005 

¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l, 
Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÊ£u L¡l¡N¡l” 

 

  

115. 21.05: Evidently the above entries state the follwing three facts :- 

 

(1) release of the incumbent MP on 01.12.2005,  
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(2) the quantum of remission up to that date was “−lu¡a 01-06-17” which means that it 

was 1 year 6 months 17 days = 365+180+17= 552 days or 557 days as claimed by the 

incumbent MP and partly admitted by the jail authorities in their report with a remark 

Oo¡ j¡S¡ and  

(3) the fact of serving out the entire sentence without any reference to any other remission 

as claimed by the incumbent MP in this case namely Special Remission of 343 days 

and remission of 486 days on account of blood donation.  

 

116. 21.06: The other document relied on by the incumbent MP is the Rejoinder (fÐ¢ah¡c 
¢m¢f) issued by the Senior Jail Super, Central Jail, Chittagong named Sagir Mia. This fÐ¢ah¡c 
¢m¢f (Annexure-2 or 7) was issued under pÈ¡lL ew 44.07.100.111.03.13.14-2511/5 a¡¢lM-
10/05/2004 and addressed to the Editor, Prothom Alo. The protion of this letter under heading 

fÐ¢ah¡c¢m¢f is quoted below (underlines added): 

 

“fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f 
AcÉ 10.05.2014 ¢MËx a¡¢lM °c¢eL fÊbj B−m¡ f¢œL¡u fÐL¡¢na ¢n−l¡e¡j “p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e” 
fÐ¢a−hce¢V−a ¢ejÀü¡rlL¡l£ LaÑªL j−e q−µR HV¡ S¡¢mu¡¢az ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£ c¤C hRl 10 j¡p HL¢ce Lj 
L¡l¡−i¡N L−l −h¢l−u ®N−Re j−jÑ ®k ¢hhª¢a fÐL¡¢na q−u−R a¡q¡ paÉ eu Eš² fÐ¢a−hc−Ll ¢eLV ¢a¢e H 
dl−el ®L¡e  ja¡ja hÉš² L−le¢ez L¡l¡N¡l q−a p¡S¡ Lj ®M−V ®hl qJu¡l ®L¡e p¤−k¡N e¡Cz Aœ ®L¾cÐ£u 
L¡l¡N¡−ll l¢ra ®l¢Sø¡l cª−ø ®cM¡ k¡u ®k, Eš² ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£, ¢fa¡x Sue¡m B−hc£e q¡S¡l£ Na 
14.09.2000 ¢MËx a¡¢lM ¢h‘ A¢a¢lš² jq¡eNl c¡ul¡ SS, 4bÑ Bc¡ma, Q–NË¡j LaÑªL Hp,¢V 759/99, 
Xhmj¤¢lw b¡e¡l j¡jm¡ ew 29(3)92, d¡l¡ AÙ» BC−el 19(L) J (Q) j¡jm¡u 10(cn) hR−ll pnÐj L¡l¡c−ä 
c¢¾Xa q−u Aœ L¡l¡N−l ®fÐ¢la quz ®lu¡a fÐb¡u p¡S¡−i¡N ®n−o ¢ae Na 01.12.2005 ¢MËx a¡¢lM Aœ 
L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢š² m¡i L−lez  

  
®j¡x R¢Nl ¢ju¡  
¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l  
Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡lN¡lz” 

 
117. 21.07: The above Rejoinder clearly supports the claim of the incumbent MP that he 

was permanently released on 01.12.2005 on the basis of the period of sentence served out and 

the system of remission “−lu¡a fÐb¡u p¡S¡ ®i¡N ®n−o ¢a¢e Na 01/12/2005 ¢MËx a¡¢lM Aœ L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢š² 
m¡i L−le”z 

 
118. 21.08: But pursuant to this court’s direction as contained in the Rule issuing order 

dated 08.06.2014 and the subsequent order dated 16.07.2014, the same Senior Jail Super 

Sagir Mia submitted two reports denying the correctness of his own Rejoinder and also 

of the entries in the said L−uc£ Ragister about release of the incumbent MP on 

01.12.2005. He has asserted that the correct date of release is 01.06.2006 and that the release 

was not after serving out the entire sentence but on the basis of a bail order of this court.  

 

119. 21.09: The 1
st
 report dated 03.06.2014 (Annexure-X) submitted by the Senior Jail 

Super is a brief one. However, in the 2
nd

 report dated 30.09.2014 (Annexure-XI), he has 

reiterated the statements made in the 1
st
 report and stated other detailed information collected 

by him.  

 

120. 21.10: In his 2
nd

 Report, he has stated that he hurriedly prepared and issued the 

Rejoinder without consulting the relevant registers and thus issued a mistaken Rejoinder. The 

relevant portions of this 2
nd

 report are quoted below (underlines added): 
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“Na 10/05/2014 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢lM °c¢eL fÊbj B−m¡ f¢œL¡u “p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e p¡wpc” 

¢n−l¡e¡−j fÐL¡¢na pwh¡c¢V fs¡l fl ¢ejÀü¡rlL¡l£ Aœ ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡−ll avLm£e pj−ul Ab¡v 
01/12/2005 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢l−Ml ¢l¢mS X¡Cl£ fkÑ−hrZ L−l ®c−Me ®k, 01/12/2005 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢l−Ml ¢l¢mS 
X¡Cl£−a pw¢nÔø L−uc£ ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£l L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢š² k¡Ju¡l ¢ho−u −L¡e abÉ E−õM −eC (L¢f pwk¤š²)z 
L¡l¡iÉ¿¹−l h¾c£l¡ ¢h¢iæ Ju¡−XÑ / ®p−m AhÙÛ¡e L−lez L¡l¡iÉ¿¹−l l¢ra avL¡m£e pj−ul Ab¡v 
01/12/2005 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢l−Ml Ju¡XÑ / ®pm ®l¢SØVÌ¡l fkÑ¡−m¡Qe¡ L−l ®cM¡ k¡u ®k, pw¢nÔø L−uc£ ¢eS¡j 
q¡S¡l£ L¡l¡iÉ¿¹−l 01(HL) eðl ®p−m 01/06/2006 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢lM fkÑ¿¹ BVL ¢R−me (L¢f pwk¤š²)z 
flhaÑ£−a, Aœ L¡l¡N¡−ll avL¡m£e pj−ul f¤l¡ae ¢l¢mS X¡Cl£ Hhw ®NCV f¡pÑ¾p B−l¡ ¢e¢hli¡−h 
®My¡S¡My¤¢Sl fl Na 01/06/2006 ¢MËØV¡ë a¡¢l−Ml ¢l¢mS X¡Cl£ Hhw ®NCV f¡pÑ−¾p pw¢nÔø L−uc£ ¢eS¡j 
q¡S¡l£l S¡¢j−e j¤¢š² k¡Ju¡ pwœ²¡¿¹ abÉ E−õM f¡Ju¡ k¡uz 
------------------------------------------------------------ 
HM¡−e E−õMÉ ®k, Na 10/05/2014 ¢MËø¡ë a¡¢lM ¯c¢eL fÐbj B−m¡ f¢œL¡u “p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e 
p¡wpc” j−jÑ pwh¡c¢V fÐL¡¢na qJu¡l fl Aœ ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡−ll fr ®b−L fÐcš fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f−a 
¢ejÀü¡rlL¡l£ La«ÑL “pw¢nÔø L−uc£ ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£ ®lu¡a fÐb¡u p¡S¡−i¡N ®n−o Na 01/12/25005 ¢MËØV¡ë 
Aœ ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢š² m¡i L−le” j−jÑ ¢m¢Ma hš²ÉhÉ¢VJ p¢WL euz ®L h¡ L¡l¡ Apv E−ŸnÉ p¡d−el 
SeÉ HL¢V ®l¢SøÌV¡−ll ¢LR¤ Awn ®L−V f¢œL¡u fÐL¡¢na Awn¢V ®S¡s¡ m¡¢N−u ®l−M−Re a¡ ¢ejÀü¡rlLl£ 
fÐb−j cª¢ø−N¡Q−l B−p¢ez pÇfÐp¡lZ Hhw Bd¤¢eL£Lle fÐL−Òfl j¡dÉ−j 2011 p¡−ml 20 ¢X−pðl haÑj¡e Q–
NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l E−à¡de Ll¡ quz k¡l g−m 2005 p¡−ml f¤l¡ae e¢bfœ My¤−S ®f−a ®cl£ quz k¡Q¡C e¡ 
L−l öd¤j¡œ HL¢V ®l¢SøÊ¡l ®c−M a¡s¡ý−s¡ L−l fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f−a i¥m abÉ EfÙÛ¡f−el SeÉ ¢ejÀü¡rlLl£ 
B¿¹¢lLi¡−h c¥x¢Ma Hhw rj¡fÐ¡bÑ£z 

 
121. 21.11: In view of the contradiction in the two documents made by the same officer, 

namely the Rejoinder (fÐ¢ah¡c ¢m¢f) and the report as quoted above, this court by order dated 

26.05.2006 and also by a previous order dated 03.03.2016 directed the IG Prison (Respondent 

No. 9) to cause an inquiry by a committee consisting of officers superior to the said Sagir Mia 

and to report on the date of release, the matter of the sentence served out by him, the quantum 

of remission if any allowed to him and the related matters. 

 

122. 21.12: Accordingly the IG Prison caused inquiry by a committee and submitted two 

Reports dated 27.03.2016 and 30.06.2016 (Annexure-X-3-series).  

 

123. 21.13: It is noted that the Report dated 27.03.2016 submitted by the IG Prison was 

not submitted in the form of an Affidavit. However in the subsequent Affidavit of 

compliance, the IG Prison asserted that the report dated 27.03.2016 was correct. These two 

reports submitted by the IG Prison support the 2
nd

 report of Sagir Mia as quoted above. In 

both the Reports, the IG Prison has stated inter alia that- 

(1) the History Ticket and Remission Card of the Incumbent MP were not available, 

as the two documents were required to be preserved only for one year as per rule 558 

and 780(8) respectively of the Jail Code, 

 

(2) the other registers namely- −NCV B¢VÑ−Lm Ah f−hne, ¢l¢mS X¡Cl£, L−uc f−l¡u¡e¡, S¡¢jee¡j¡ 
CaÉ¡¢c show that he was released on 01.06.2006 on the basis of bail granted by this 

court in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006, and 

 

(3) the entries in Annexure-5, being snapshot of the L−uc£ register as produced in this 

court by the Editor Prothom Alo and also by the incumbent MP, showing the date of 

release on 01.12.2005 after serving out the sentence were incorrect and that the entries 

therein were the product of illegal and collusive activities. 
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(4) out of the sentence 10 years, he served out 5 years 8 months 19 days, and earned 

remission of 1 year 8 months 25 days and the remaining sentence is 2 years 6 months 

and 16 day. 

 

124. 21.14: Relevant portions of the report dated 30.06.2016 (Annexure-X-3-series) 

submitted by the IG Prison is quoted below (underlines added): 

 

(L) Respondent No. 7 ¢eS¡jEŸ£e q¡S¡l£ ®Øfn¡m VÊ¡Ch¤e¡m j¡jm¡ ew 757/99 Xhmj¤¢lw b¡e¡l j¡jm¡ 
ew 29(3)92 H Na 14.09.2000 ¢MËx a¡¢l−M AÙ» BC−el 19(L) d¡l¡u cn (10) hRl pnÐj L¡l¡cä Hhw 
AÙ» BC−el 19(Q) d¡l¡u p¡a (7) hRl pnÐj L¡l¡c−ä (Eiu cä HL−œ Qm−h) c¢äa q−u L¡l¡N¡−l B−pez 
Ab¡v Eiu d¡l¡u ¢a¢e phÑ−j¡V cn (10) hR−ll pnÐj L¡l¡cä ®i¡N Ll−hez pnÐj L¡l¡c−ä c¢äa h¢¾c ¢q−p−h 
¢a¢e L¡l¡¢h¢d 1j Mä Ae¤k¡u£ ®lu¡a p¤¢hd¡ fÐ¡ç qez ac¿¹ L¢j¢Vl fÐ¡ç i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡−l Oo¡j¡S¡ hÉa£a 
¢eiÑl−k¡NÉ abÉ j−a 31.12.2004 ¢MËx fkÑ¿¹ a¡yl A¢SÑa ®lu¡a ¢Rm 482 ¢ce k¡ Øføi¡−h a¡yl L−uc 
f−l¡u¡e¡u E−õM f¡Ju¡ k¡u (NICVD, Y¡L¡u Eæa ¢Q¢Lvp¡ ®n−o Y¡L¡ ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l ®b−L Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u 
L¡l¡N¡−l Na 23.03.2005 ¢MËx a¡¢l−M ®gla −fÊl−Zl pju L−uc f−l¡u¡e¡u fÐcš ®e¡−Vl R¡u¡¢m¢f pwk¤š²-
M)z 

 

L¡l¡ ¢h¢d 1j M−äl 780(8) J 558 d¡l¡ Ae¤k¡u£ ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV pwlr−Zl ®ju¡c 01 hvpl 
qJu¡u Eš² ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV Ah−m¡Le Ll¡l ®L¡e p¤−k¡N ¢Rm e¡ Hhw i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡−ll ®lu¡a 
pwœ²¡¿¹ fÐ¡ç abÉ 3u ®L¡u¡VÑ¡l 2005 fkÑ¿¹ fÐ¡ç ®lu¡a 557 ¢ce Oo¡j¡S b¡L¡u a¡l ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉa¡ fÐ−nÀl 
pÇj¤M£ez a¡C i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡−ll abÉ Bj−m e¡ ¢e−u phÑ−no ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉ abÉ 31.12.2004 fkÑ¿¹ A¢SÑa ®lu¡a 
482 ¢ce d−l a¡yl 01.06.2006 ¢MËx a¡¢l−M S¡¢j−e j¤¢š² Nj−el f§hÑ¢ce fkÑ¿¹ L¡l¡ ¢h¢d ®j¡a¡−hL p−hÑ¡µQ 
B−l¡ 143 ¢ce −lu¡a fÐ¡ç q−ae (ac¿¹ L¢j¢V LaªÑL fÐÙºaLªa LÉ¡mL¥−mne p£V pwk¤š²-N)z ac¿¹ L¢j¢Vl 
¢qp¡hj−a j¤¢š²l f§hÑ¢ce fkÑ¿¹ ®lu¡a ¢eu−jl BJa¡u a¡yl fÐ¡ç p−h¡ÑµQ ®lu¡a 625 ¢ce h¡ 1 hRl 8 j¡p 25 
¢cez E−õMÉ ®k, L¡l¡ ¢h¢d 768 d¡l¡ ®j¡a−hL ®lu¡a LMeJ j§m p¡S¡l 1/4  Awn A¢aœ²j Ll−he¡z 

 
(M) Respondent No. 7 ¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£ ®lu¡a fÐb¡l BJa¡u f¤−l¡ p¡S¡ ®M−V j¤¢š² m¡i L−le¢ez 
jq¡j¡eÉ p¤¢fÐj ®L¡−VÑl q¡C−L¡VÑ ¢hi¡−Nl Bf£m ew 1409/2006 Hl ®lg¡−l−¾p ¢h‘ A¢a¢lš² ®Sm¡ 
jÉ¡¢S−ØVÌV, Q–NË¡−jl ®g±x ¢jp ¢f¢Vne ew 280/2006 a¡¢lM 31.05.2006 ¢MËx ®j¡a−hL ¢a¢e Na 
01.06.2006 ¢MËx a¡¢l−M Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l q−a S¡¢j−e j¤¢š² m¡i L−lez ®i¡NLªa Hhw Ah¢nø p¡S¡l 
¢qp¡h ¢e−jÀ fÐcš q−m¡x 

 
 hRl j¡p ¢ce 
L) S¡¢je Nje 2006 6 01 
   L¡l¡N¡−l BNje 2000 9 14 
−i¡NL«a p¡S¡= 5 8 19 
A¢SÑa ®lu¡a= 1 8 25 
®lu¡apq ®i¡NLªa p¡S¡= 7 5 14 

 
 hRl j¡p ¢ce 
M) −j¡V p¡S¡ 10 00 00 
®lu¡apq ®i¡NL«a p¡S¡ 7 5 14 
Ah¢nø p¡S¡= 2 6 16 
    
    

 
a¡l p¡S¡ phÑ−j¡V 10 hR−ll j−dÉ ®lu¡a ¢eu−jl BJa¡u M¡V¡ h¡¢L 2 hRl 6 j¡p 16 ¢cez  

 
(N) ®NCV B¢VÑ−Lm Ah f¡lpe, ¢l¢mS X¡ul£, L−uc f−l¡u¡l¡, S¡¢jee¡j¡ CaÉ¡¢c fkÑ¡−m¡Qe¡ L−l ®cM¡ k¡u 
¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£ S¡¢j−e 01.6.2006 a¡¢l−M j¤¢š² m¡i L−le (R¡u¡¢m¢f pwk¤š²-O-1,2,3 J4)z ¢a¢e ®lu¡a 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Shakwat Hossain Bhuiyan Vs.Bangladesh & ors.  (Md. Emdadul Huq, J)       64 

 

fÐb¡u j§m p¡S¡ ®n−o j¤¢š² m¡i L−le¢e Hhw a¡l B−l¡ 2 hRl 6 j¡p 16 ¢ce p¡S¡ Ah¢nø l−u−Rz ¢h” 
Bc¡ma LaÑªL ®fÐ¢la EÜ§a¡wn fl£r¡ L−l ®cM¡ k¡u EÜªa¡wnV¤L¥ 01.12.2005 a¡¢l−M avL¡m£e ¢p¢eul ®Sm 
p¤f¡l Se¡h hSm¤l ln£c LaªÑL ü¡rl Ll¡ AbQ fÐLªaf−r ¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£ j¤¢š² m¡i L−le 01.6.2006 
¢MËx a¡¢l−Mz p¤al¡w Se¡h e£S¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£−L A¯hd ®L¡e p¤¢hd¡ ®cu¡l E−Ÿ−nÉ ®L¡e c¤ø Q−œ²l S¡m ü¡rl 
q−a f¡−l, ®Lee¡ E−õ¢Ma EÜªa¡w−nl p¡−b ¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£l L¡l¡ j¤¢š²l ®L¡e pw¢nÔøa¡ ac−¿¹ fÐa£uj¡e 
qu¢ez Eš² EÜªa¡w−nl j¤¢š²fÐ¡ç hÉ¢š²l e¡j E−õM ®eC h¡ ®lu¡a ¢q−p−h k¡ E−õ¢Ma a¡ ¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£l 
®lu¡−al p¡−b pw¢nÔø h−mJ fÐa£uj¡e q−µR e¡z L−u¢c ew 4041/H Se¡h ¢eS¡j EŸ£e q¡S¡l£ pÇf¢LÑa Q–NË¡j 
®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡−ll i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡l ¢el£r¡ L−l ®cM¡ k¡u, Eš² fªù¡u e£−Ql ®L¡e¡u HL¢V hs Awn ®Rys¡, Ab¡v 
L−u¢c i¢aÑ ®l¢Sø¡−ll 25 ew Lm¡−j ®kM¡−e h¢¾c j¤¢š² pwœ²¡¿¹ abÉ ¢m¢fhÜ Ll¡ qu ®pC AwnV¤L¥C ®Rys¡ 
(R¡u¡¢m¢f pwk¤š²-P)z 

 
(O) ---------------------------------------------- (not relevant) 

 

125. 21.15: In support of his Reports, the IG Prison has Annexed inter alia the attested 

photo copies the following documents: 

 

(1) Case Diary of Convict Prisoners, showing admission of the incumbent MP into jail on 

14.09.2000 and stay up to 31.05.2006 with the remark about his release pursuant to 

the bail granted in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006. 
(2) Photocopy of the entries recorded on 08.02.2005 in another Register (not named) 

showing transfer of the incumbent MP to NICVD for treatment, along with the 

statement “31/12/2004 fkÑ¿¹ A¢SÑa ®lu¡a 482 ¢ce” 
(3) Photocopy of the Gate Register dated 01.06.2006 with the remark “L−uc£ M¡m¡p (1) 

¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£, (2) ---------” 
(4) Photocopy of the bail bond dated 01.06.2006 furnished pursuant to the bail order 

passed in Cr. Appeal No. 1409 of 2006.  
(5) Photocopy of the Warrant of Discharge issued by the office of District Magistrate in 

Cr. Misc Petition No. 280/06 
 
126. 21.16: The above report of the IG Prison about the date of release of the incumbent 

MP on 01.06.2006 is consistent with the original file of Cr. Misc. Petition No. 280 of 2006 of 

the office of the District Magistrate (DM), Chittagong which was called for by this court. 

This file reveals the following scenario: 

 

(a) A bail order dated 17.05.2006 was purportedly passed by a Division of this court in 

Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 and it was purportedly sent by the office of this 

Court under Memo No. 19185 dated 24.05.2006 under the signature of an Assistant 

Registrar of this Court. But the name or seal of that Assistant Register is not recorded. 

It was received by the office of DM, Chittagong on 28.05.2006. 

(b) An application was filed by an Advocate (signature illegible) on behalf of ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£, 
along with a vokalat nama containing a reference to L−uc£ ew 4114/H, with a prayer for 

release on bail. 

 

(c) The Additional District Magistrate, Chittagong recorded an order to the effect that the 

said convict would be released on bail subject to furnishing bail bond by two 

Advocates and a local representative 

 

(d) Accordingly three sureties, being two Advocates named n¡jöm qL ®Q±d¤l£ and B¢ep¤m qL 
®p¢mj and fÉ¡−em ®Qu¡ljÉ¡e, ®ge£ ®f±lpi¡, filed bail bond which was accepted on 

30.05.2006 with the remark on the margin “confirmed” and “issued nail bond” 
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127. 21.17: The reports made by the Senior Jail Super and the IG, Prison that incumbent 

MP was in jail after 01.12.2005 and up to 01.06.2006 is further supported by the original 

judicial record of Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 (GR No. 129 of 1991 corresponding 

to Double Mooring P.S. Case No. 24(1) 1991) of the Special Tribunal (Additional 

Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Court No. 4, Chittagong. Pursuant to the order of this court, 

that record was produced by the office of this Court as available in the office in connection 

Misc Case No. 15077 of 2014 arising from the said case No. 759 of 1999 in which the 

incumbent MP is one of the accused persons. 

 

128. 21.18: The original record of Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 reveals the 

following scenario: 

Date Position of accused Nizam Uddin Hajari in Special 

Tribunal Case No. 759/1999 

10.10.2001 He was recorded as absconding in this case.  

02.01.2002 Application filed on his behalf for issuing Production 

Warrant (P.W.) for securing his attendance in court form 

Hajat. It was allowed. 

13.03.2002 Bail was granted to him by the Tribunal in this case, but he 

was not released from hajat.  

29.11.2005 

04.01.2006, 

08.03.2006 

On these 3(three) dates, he was produced in court from 

hajat pursuant to the said P.W. 

04.04.2006 Jail authorities prayed for his transfer from Chittagong 

Central Jail to any other jail, but the prayer was rejected 

by the Tribunal. 

02.05.2006 He was again produced in court from hajat pursuant to 

the said P.W. 

31.05.2006 Application filed on his behalf for calling the P.W back.  

Reasons stated are that, although he was granted bail in this 

case, he was required to stay in Hajat in connection with 

another case being Special Tribunal Case No. 257/1999, in 

which also he had been granted bail. 

01.06.2006 The above application was allowed by the Tribunal and 

P.W. was recalled. 

06.06.2006 Accused Nijam Hajari (on bail) present in court. 

 

129. 21.19: With regard to the correctness of the continuous stay of the incumbent MP in 

the jail during the period of 02.01.2002 up to 31.05.2006 as found in the above noted case, he 

has neither denied the above noted custody period nor furnished any information or document 

to controvert the said custody period. 

 

130. 21.20: History Ticket: This document appears to be relevant for considering the 

date of release. Chapter XI, rules 549 to 558, of the Jail Code contains detailed provisions 

with regard to the History Ticket of a prisoner. These provisions require that the Jail 

authorities shall, for each prisoner, prepare and maintain a History Ticket in which the 

specified officer shall record the gist of the relevant particulars of the prisoner including the 

following: 

(i) The date of admission of a convict prisoner to jail (rule- 556(a); 

(ii) The award of Special Remission (rule 552 to be read with rule 767) 
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(iii)The total remission in days up to the end of each quarter (rule 556 (k); 

(iv) dispatch to a court or transfer, discharge or death (rule 556(o); 

 

131. 22.21: Rule 557 deals with the custody of the History Ticket to the effect that the 

ticket is to be preserved by the specified officer. However the prisoner is allowed access to it. 

Because he is required to show the Ticket to the Superintendent at the time of inspection of 

the regular parade. The Rule is quoted below (underlines added): 

 

“557 The history ticket of each prisoner shall be kept in a proper receptacle by the 

convict officer in whose charge he is with the prisoner whenever he is changed to 

another hang or work or sent to hospital. At the weekly parades each prisoner shall 

hold his ticket in his left hand for the Superintendent’s inspection; and it shall 

invariably be produced with the prisoner when he is reported for an offence or 

brought before the Superintendent or Medical Officer for any reason, or when 

remission is awarded.” 

 

132. 21.22: Rule 558 deals with the period for which a History Ticket is to be preserved. 

It is quoted below (underlines added): 

“558 The history tickets of prisoners who died in jail shall be kept for two years after 

death; those of prisoners released, for one or two years at the discretion of the 

Superintendent. When a prisoner is transferred to another jail, his history ticket shall 

be sent with him”  

 

133. 21.23: With regard to the position of the History Ticket, the jail authorities were not 

specifically directed by this court to furnish detailed information. However the IG Prison has 

briefly stated in his report that there was a History Ticket but it was not available. The exact 

wording of the relevant portion of his report runs as follows: 

“L¡l¡ ¢h¢d 1j M−äl 780(8) J 558 d¡l¡ Ae¤k¡u£ ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV pwlr−Zl ®ju¡c 01 hvpl 
qJu¡u Eš² ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV Ah−m¡Le Ll¡l ®L¡e p¤−k¡N ¢Rm e¡ -------------” 

 

134. 21.24: Other Jail documents: Be that as it may, the scheme of the Jail Code 

considered as a whole, show that History Ticket is just one of many documents and Registers 

required to be prepared and maintained by the jail authority. Rule 1385 of Jail Code gives a 

list of the Jail Registers being 37 in all, including the Register of Convicts Admitted (rule 

542(1), Release Diary (rule 542(3), Remission Card (Rule-780), Diary of Termination of Jail 

Punishment (rule 734), Gate Register of Persons (rule 328) etc. 

 

135. 21.25: Although the jail authorities (respondent Nos. 8 and 9) could not produce the 

History Ticket they have furnished photocopies of the other relevant documents with regard 

to the admission of the incumbent MP in to Jail, and the date of release on the date claimed 

by them i.e. on 01.06.2006, as discussed earlier.  

 

136. Decision On Issue No. 3: 
22.00: The documents relied on by the jail authorities, namely (1) the report of the Senior 

Jail Super Sagir Mia (Respondent No. 9) denying the correctness of the Rejoinder dated 

10.05.2014 (Annexure 1) issued by himself ,and the documents in support of his denial and 

(2) the reports of the IG Prison along with other Jail documents including the Release Diary, 

(3) the contents of the original file of Misc Petition No. 280 of 2006 of the DM, Chittagong, 

no doubt establish the fact of release of the incumbent MP on 01.06.2006. 
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137. 22.01: However, even if the above documents produced by the jail authorities are 

ignored, two other facts namely (1) judicial record of Special Tribunal Case No. 759 of 1999 

of Special Tribunal cum Additional Metropolitan Sessions Judge Court No. 4, Chittagong 

showing continuous stay of the incumbent MP during period from 02.01.2002 to 31.05.06, 

and (2) non-denial of the said continuous stay by the incumbent MP, undisputedly establish 

the date of his release on 01.06.2006. Thus it is held that- 

(a) he was released from the jail on 01.06.2006, and not on 01.12.2005, and  

(b) he served out the sentence from 14.09.2000 to 01.06.2006= 2088 days (both days 

included) 

 

138. 22.03: Mysterious bail order: It is further held that the incumbent MP was so 

released on 01.06.2006 on the basis of a mysterious bail order dated 17.05.2006 passed in a 

fresh Appeal being Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006. This bail order is mysterious because 

according to the incumbent MP he did not file any such Appeal and according to the report of 

the Register of this court the record of that Appeal is not available yet the bail order was 

received by the office of the DM Chittagong and it was acted upon. So the Anti Correcption 

Commission is to be directed to inquire into the mystry. 

 

139. Issue No. 4. Deduction of pre-judgment custody from sentence:  

23.00: With regard to the quantum of the pre-judgment custody period of the 

incumbent MP, the claims and statement of the parties are as follows: 

 

Writ Petitioner - -144 days  -No document filed 

Incumbent MP - -143 days  -No document filed 

                                 (23.03.1992 to 28.07.1992) 

Editor Prothom 

Alo- 

-143 days  -Informationslip 

delivered by Jail Super. 

(Annexure-4)  

Jail authorities -  -Silent.  

(They were not directed to 

report on the matter.) 

 

 

140. 23.01: Deliberation: On this Issue, Mr. Shafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for 

the incumbent MP, submits that, according to section 35A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, 1898 (Cr.P.C) deduction of the period of the pre-judgment custody of an accused 

from the sentence of imprisonment imposed on him is mandatory and therefore the 

incumbent MP is entitled to that benefit. 

 

141. 23.02: In reply, Mr. Qamrul Haque Siddique the learned Advocate for the 

petitioner submits that section 35A containing the deduction provision was inserted in 

Cr.P.C. in 2003 and therefore that section was not applicable to the judgments pronounced by 

the trial court on 16.08.2000 and affirmed by the Appellate Division on 27.04.2002. 

 

142. 23.03: Discussion and Findings on Issue No. 4: Section 35A was at first inserted in 

the Cr.P.C. by the Code of Criminal Procedure (Amendment) Act, 1991 (No. 16 of 1991). 

This provision was valid up to 08.07.2003, on which date another Amending Act namely the 

Code of Criminal Procedure (Amendment) Act, 2003 (No. 19 of 2003) was published in the 

Gazette.  
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143. 23.04: The Amending Act No. 19 of 2003 omitted the old section 35A and 

substituted the new section 35A containing some changes. So for proper appreciation of the 

legal position, the old and new version of section 35A are quoted below (underlines added): 

 

OLD: “35A. Term of imprisonment in cases where convicts are in custody.- Where 

a person is in custody at the time of his conviction and the offence for which he is 

convicted is not punishable with death or imprisonment for life, the Court may, in 

passing the sentence of imprisonment, take into consideration the continuous period 

of his custody immediately preceding his conviction.”  

NEW “35A: Deduction of imprisonment in cases where convicts may have been 
in custody.-(1) Except in the case of an offence punishable only with death, when any 

Court finds an accused guilty of an offence and upon conviction, sentences such 

accused to any term of imprisonment, simple or rigorous, it shall deduct from the 

sentence of imprisonment, the total period the accused may have been in custody in 

the meantime, in connection with that offence. 

(2) -------------------------------------------” (not relevant) 

 

144. 23.05: The expression “the Court may, in passing the sententence of imprisonment, 

take into consideration” occurring in the old section 35A clearly shows that it conferred a 

discretion on the Court to deduct the pre-judgment custody period from the sentence of 

imprisonment. On the other contrary, the expression “it shall deduct” occurring in the new 

section 35A shows that it has made the deduction mandatory. 

 

145. 23.06: In the instant scenario, the judgment of the trial court (Special Tribunal) was 

admittedly passed on 16.08.2000 and it was affirmed by the High Court Division by 

judgment dated 20.05.2001 in Criminal Appeal No. 2369 of 2000 (Annexure-C) and also 

affirmed by Appellate Division in Criminal Petition Leave to Appeal No. 107 of 2001 by 

judgment dated 27.04.2002 (Annexure-C-1) and further affirmed by the Appellate Division 

by rejecting Review Petition No. 18 of 2002 by judgment dated 26.04.2004 (Annexure-C-2).  

 

146. 23.07: Thus the dates of the above noted judgments passed by of the trial court and 

the appellate courts show that those were passed between 16.08.2000 to 27.04.2002. This 

means that the old section 35A was in force at that time. But the trial court and the 

appellate courts did not exercise their discretion by way of directing deduction of the pre-

judgment custody.  

 

147. 23.08: It is noted that neither the text of the new section 35A Cr.P.C nor any other 

provision of the Amending Act No. 19 of 2003 contains any provision authorizing or 

requiring the court to deduct the period of the pre-judgment custody with retrospective effect 

i.e. in relation to a period before commencement of the Amending Act of 2003 which came 

into operation on 08.07.2003.  

 

148. 23.09: It follows that this Court, in exercising writ Jurisdiction, has no lawful 

authority to deduct the period of the pre-judgment custody of the incumbent MP under the 

new section 35A Cr.P.C, and more so when the judgment of the trial court has been affirmed 

by Appellate Division.  

 

149. Decision on Issue No. 4: 
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24.00: In view of the above, it is held that the incumbent MP is not entitled to the 

deduction of the pre-judgment custody period of 143 days as claimed by him. Accordingly 

Issue No. 4 is decided in the negative i.e. against the incumbent MP. 

 

  

150. Issue No. 5: Remission permissible to Incumbent MP 

25.00: The real controversy on this aspect has arisen from the difference in the claims 

raised by the incumbent MP and the report of Jail authorities. Their respective claims are 

presented in the following Table: 

 

 

Subject Claim of incumbent MP Report/Affidavit of Jail 

authority  

Remission  (a) General- 557 days 

(b) Special -  343    ” 

(c) Festival,            ” 

 holiday etc.-  651    ” 

(d) Blood  

  donation    -   486 

As per Jail Admission register : 

557 days up to 3
rd

 quarter, 2005 

i.e. 30.09.2005, but the entry 

contains Oo¡j¡S¡ and hence 

ignored. 

As calculated by Inquiry 

Committee – 

482 days (up to 31.12.2004) 

143 days (up to 01.06.2006) 

Total -   625 days  

Based On Jail record and Jail 

Code provisions. 

Total-         2037 days 

 

Based on Jail Code 

provisions and two Govt. 

circular 

Remaining  Served+Remission=2049+

2037 = 4086 days  

No remaining period   

2  years 6 months 16 days  

= 926 days 

 

151. 25.01: Deliberation: On this issue, Mr. Qamrul Haq Siddique, the learned 

advocate for the Writ Petitioner, submits as follows:  

(a)  according to rule 766 of the Jail Code, Special Remission can be awarded on yearly 

basis,   by the Superintendent up to a maximum of 30 days and by the Government up 

to 60 days, but no document has been produced by the incumbent MP or by the Jail 

authorities about such Remission and therefore he is not entitled to Special 

Remission, 

(b)  the remission of 486 days claimed by the incumbent MP on account of blood 

donation is based on an Executive Order of the Government which cannot supersede 

the statutory Rules of Chapter XXI of the Jail Code made under the Prisons Act, 

1894,  

(c)  according to rule 768 of the said Rules, the claim of the incumbent MP on all kinds 

of remission cannot exceed the maximum of 
�

�
 (one forth) of the sentence, 

(d) even if the Ordinary Remission of 557 days and the remission of 486 days on account 

of blood donation, as claimed by the incumbent MP, are added to the period of the 

sentence served out during the period from 14.09.2000 to 01.06.2006, the sum total of 

these periods do not cover the entire sentence of 10 days. 

 

152. 25.02: In reply Mr. Shafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for the incumbent MP, 

submits as follows:- 
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(a) Chapter XXI of the Jail Code, particularly rules 756 to 760, provide for allowing 

Ordinary Remission and Special Remission. Moreover rule 689 further provides for 

Remission on account of Festival days, and Public holidays, and Gazetted holidays 

and thus, under the said rules, the incumbent MP is entitled to three types of remission 

and the total quantum thereof stand as follows: General Remission - 557 

days+Special Remission - 343 days+ Festival, holiday etc – 651 days = Total = 

1551 days. 

(b)  The 4
th

 type of remission on account of blood donation was added to the Remission 

system by two Government Circulars dated 21.10.1959 and 27.04.1978 (Annexure- 

12 and 13) and these Circulars contain an overriding expression namely “in 

supersession of all previous orders” and accordingly these were followed, as admitted 

in the reports of the Jail authorities, and further evidenced by the entries in the 

Register of Barishal Central Jail dated 24.04.2006 (Annexure- 15). 

(c) The Certificate of på¡e£ (Annexure X-4) about blood donation by the incumbent MP 

on 13 dates is to be taken as correct and thus he, according to those Circulars, is 

entitled to a remission of 486 days and the total remission earned by him stands at 

1551+486=2037 days. 

(d) the summation of the sentence served out by the incumbent MP and the total 

remission earned by him exceeds the sentence of 10 years. 

 

153. 25.03: Mr. Aminur Rahman Chowdhury, the learned Assistant Attorney 

General, submits that respondent Nos. 8 and 9 being the Jail authorities have complied with 

the directions of this Court by submitting their Affidavits in compliance and necessary 

documents. 

 

154. 26.00: Laws on Remission: It appears that the status of the Jail Code as a law 

should be examined first and then the provisions of the Jail Code and also of the Prisons Act, 

1894 are to be considered for deciding the quantum of remission.  

 

155. It is noted that the issue of remission on account of blood donation as claimed by the 

incumbent MP on the basis certain circulars has been discussed in the later part of the 

judgment under appropriate heading. 

 

156. 26.01: The Bengal Jail Code, Volume –I (7
th

 Edition) published by the 

Government Press, Dhaka in 1989 “under the authority of the Government” contains detailed 

provisions with regard to management of Jails. This 7
th

 Edition also contains the reprint of 

the Preface to the 5
th

 Edition, 1910. In this Preface to 5
th

 Edition, the then IG Prisons, Bengal 

has stated about the fact of first publication of the Jail Code as an “admirable Code of Rules” 

in 1864 and also about the subsequent Editions that were published to make the Jail Code 

consistent with various statutory laws.  

 

157. 26.02: The Jail Code of today (7
th

 Edition, 1989) contains provisions that are shown 

and numbered as rules. But the marginal notes of the rules contain reference to various 

Government Orders and Circular of long past, e.g. the years of 1892 (rule 10), 1912 (rule 14), 

1922 (rule 98) etc. This means that these provisions were not made at a time and the text of 

various rules are based mainly on circulars, order etc issued by the Executive authorities at 

different times beginning from 1864.  
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158. 26.03: This becomes further clear from the fact that none of the Chapters of the 7
th

 

Edition of the Jail Code (1989), except Chapter XXI, contains any expression about the 

power enabling the Government to make the rules as included in the Jail Code. Only Chapter 

XXI- on Remission contains the following introductory expression: 

“In exercise of the powers conferred by section 59, sub-section (5) of the Prisons Act, 

1894 (IX of 1894), the Governor-General in shortening of sentences by the grant of 

remissions.” 

 

159. 26.04: Thus it is clear that, after the first publication of the Jail Code in 1864, the 

Prisons Act 1894 was enacted. Section 3(5) of this Act contains the definition of the 

expression “remission system” as follows: 

 

“3. Definitions – In this Act – 

(1) -------- (4) ------- (not relevant)  

(5) “remission system” means the rules for the time being in force regulating the 

award of marks to, and the consequent shortening of sentences of, prisoners in jails” 

(6) ----- (9) ------------- (not relevant)  

 

160. 26.05: Section 59 of the Prisons Act, 1894 provides for the rule making power of the 

Government on various matters including “shortening of sentence” or the “remission 

system”. The relevant clauses of section 59 are quoted below: 

 “59. Power to make rules: The Government may make rules consistent with this Act – 

(1) ------ (4) ------------ (not relevant) 

(5) for the award of marks and the shortening of sentences 

(6) ---- (18) ----------- (not relevant) 

(19) for the preparation and maintenance of history ticket; 

(20) ------------------- (not relevant) 

(21) for rewards of good conduct; 

(22) ------ (26) -------- (not relevant) 

(27) in regard to the admission, custody, employment, dieting treatment and release of 

prisoners; and 

(28) generally for carrying into effect the purposes of this Act.” 

 

161. 26.06: It is evident, that the Rules of Chapter-XXI on Remission were made and 

included in the Jail Code in exerise of the Rule making power of the Government under 

section 59. But section 59 does not specify any particular manner of publication of the rules 

e.g. publication in the gazette, as is generally specified in other laws. Accordingly the 

Government of the time previously had, and the Government still has, the lawful authority to 

make rule in any form including by issuance of Circular letters. 

 

162. 26.07: In consideration of the above noted legal position of the Jail Code as a law, 

and the provisions of the Prisons Act, 1894, the issue of remission in this case is discused 

below with reference to the relevant provisions.  

(1) Rule 756 generally specifies the scale of Ordinary remission of “two days per 

month for good conduct” and “two days per month for industry and the due 

performance of the daily work imposed.” 

(2) Rule 757 allows Ordinary Remission at a higher scale in lieu of the remission 

under rule 756. This alternative remission can be allowed up to 8 days, 7 days, and 5 

days on monthly basis only to convicts acting as warders, guards and night watch man 

respectively.  
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(3) Rule 759 allows an additional Ordinary Remission of 3 days in each Quarter (i.e. 

3 months) only to convicts who work as cooks, sweepers or who work on Sundays 

and other holiday. 

(4) 760 allows further additional Ordinary Remission of 15 days to a convict in a 

year who has not committed any offence.  

(5) Special Remission:- Rule 765 provides for allowing Special Remission on the 

basis of satisfaction of the 6(six) specified criteria. Rule 766 provides that Special 

remission may be awarded in one year either by the Superintendent up to 30 days, or 

by the Inspector-General or the Local Government up to sixty days. Rule 767 

provides that Special Remission awarded to a prisoner is to be recorded in the History 

Ticket by the Superintendent. 

(6) Maximum Limit of Remission: Rule 768 specifies the maximum limit of 

remission allowable under Chapter XXI is 
�

�
 (one fourth) of the sentence.  

 

(7) Remission Card: Rule 774-780 deals with Remission Card and the summery of these 

provisions is as follows:  

(a)  Remission Card is to be opened at the time of admission of a convictl rule 780 (1), 

 

(b)  all remission allowed, whether Ordinary or Special, are to be recorded in the 

Remission Card (rule 780 (1) proviso);  

 

(c) Remission Card must be kept in a special locked box, (rule 780 (5); 

 

(d)  No prisoner shall be allowed access to any Remission Card. (rule 780 (7) 

 

(e) Remission Cards of released prisoners shall be preserved for one year after the release 

of such prisoners. rule 774 and 780 (8); 

 

(h) an abstract of the Remission card is to be posted up in every barrack (rule 775) 

 

(8)Festival, holiday, etc and Remission, if any: Rule 689 of Chapter XVIII declares 

that, in addition to Sundays, certain other days e.g. Eid days, Muharram, Christmas 

etc, shall be observed as gazetted holidays. But this Rule or other rules of that chapter 

or any other provision of the Jial Code do not allow remission due to the fact that 

convicts are allowed holidays on those days. This means that the convict prisoners 

who are otherwise required to work are simply exempted from work on holidays but 

without the benefit of remission of sentence. 

 

(09) Rule 782 generally prohibits engaging a convict sentenced to rigorous imprisonment 

to work on “Sundays” and “the gazetted holidays” as specified by rule 689. However 

as stated earlier Rule 759 allows engaging certain convicts to work as cooks, sweeper 

etc on Sundays and holidays, and they are entitled to remission of three days of 

ordinary remission in a Quarter (i.e. 3 months), in addition to other remission. 

 

163. Findings on Remission under the Jail Code:- 

27.00: The provisions of the Jail Code (rule 767 and 780) require that all remissions 

awarded to a prisoner are to be recorded in two documents namely History Ticket of 

the Prisoner and Remission Card. However according to the report dated 30.06.2016 

(Annexure-X-3-Series) submitted by the jail authority, these documents are not 

available. The relevant portion of that report runs as follows: 
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L¡l¡ ¢h¢d 1j M−äl 780(8) J 558 d¡l¡ Ae¤k¡u£ ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV pwlr−Zl ®ju¡c 01 hvpl 
qJu¡u Eš² ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV Ah−m¡Le Ll¡l ®L¡e p¤−k¡N ¢Rm e¡ Hhw i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡−ll ®lu¡a 
pwœ²¡¿¹ fÐ¡ç abÉ 3u ®L¡u¡VÑ¡l 2005 fkÑ¿¹ fÐ¡ç ®lu¡a 557 ¢ce Oo¡j¡S b¡L¡u a¡l ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉa¡ fÐ−nÀl 
pÇj¤M£ez a¡C i¢aÑ ®l¢SØV¡−ll abÉ Bj−m e¡ ¢e−u phÑ−no ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉ abÉ 31.12.2004 fkÑ¿¹ A¢SÑa ®lu¡a 
482 ¢ce d−l a¡yl 01.06.2006 ¢MËx a¡¢l−M S¡¢j−e j¤¢š² Nj−el f§hÑ¢ce fkÑ¿¹ L¡l¡ ¢h¢d ®j¡a¡−hL p−hÑ¡µQ 
B−l¡ 143 ¢ce −lu¡a fÐ¡ç q−ae (ac¿¹ L¢j¢V LaªÑL fÐÙºaLªa LÉ¡mL¥−mne p£V pwk¤š²-N)z ac¿¹ L¢j¢Vl 
¢qp¡hj−a j¤¢š²l f§hÑ¢ce fkÑ¿¹ ®lu¡a ¢eu−jl BJa¡u a¡yl fÐ¡ç p−h¡ÑµQ ®lu¡a 625 ¢ce h¡ 1 hRl 8 j¡p 25 
¢cez E−õMÉ ®k, L¡l¡ ¢h¢d 768 d¡l¡ ®j¡a−hL ®lu¡a LMeJ j§m p¡S¡l 1/4  Awn A¢aœ²j Ll−he¡z 

 

164. 27.01: But irrespective of non-availability of the History Ticket and the Remission 

Card, the quantum of the remission claimed by and admissble to the incumbent MP can be a 

ascertained keeping in view of the provisious of the Jail Code and the materials on record. 

Accordingly Findings on the three counts of Remission under the Jail Code claimed by him 

are recorded in the following paragraphs:  

28.00: Ordinary/General Remission:- On this aspect, claim of the incumbent MP 

about the remission of 557 days is partly admitted by the jail authority to the effect 

that the “i¢aÑ ®l¢Sø¡l ®lu¡a pwœ²¡¿¹ fÐcš abÉ 3u −L¡u¡V¡l fkÑ¿¹ fÐ¡ç ®lu¡a 557 ¢ce Oo¡ j¡S¡ b¡L¡u 
a¡l ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉa¡ fÐ−nÀl pÇj¤M£ez…………” 

 

165. 28.01: The Jail authorities made their own calculation on the basis of phÑ−no ¢eiÑl−k¡NÉ 
abÉ and fixed the same to 482 days up to 31.12.2004 and added another 143 days up to the 

date of release i.e. 01.06.2006. They calculated a total of 625 days of remission. 

 

166. 28.02: In view of the suspicion expressed by the jail authorities in the documents 

available to them, it appears that their calculation may be safely ignored, except the fact of 

the common element namely their reference to 557 days which is also claimed by the 

incumbent MP. It is noted that, according to various provisions of the Jail Code the 

incumbent MP had access to the History Ticket (rule 557) and he also had access to the 

information recorded in the Remission Card (rule 774). So his claim has a basis and further 

evidenced by the report of the jail authorities as quoted above.  

 

167. 28.03: Accordingly his claim about 557 days of ordinary/general remission is taken 

as correct up to the period of 3
rd

 Quarter of 2005 i.e. 30.09.2005 as reported by the jail 

authorities. More over, as per calculation of the jail authority, some additinal ordinary 

remission is admissible to the incumbent MP up to the date of his release on 01.06.2006. The 

jail authorities calculated this period to be 143 days by taking account the 
�

�
th rule about 

maximum limit as provided in rule 768. 

 

168. 28.04: However as will be seen in the later part of this judgement, the maximum 

limit of remission was raised to 30% of the sentence by the circular dated 21.0.1959. 

 

 

169. 28.05: So the ordinary remission permissible to the incumbent MP is fixed at 557 

days up to the 3
rd

 quarter of 2005. The ordinary/remission permissible to him after that period 

is recorded by taking in to consideration the said circular. 
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170. 29.00: Special remission: On this aspect, the incumbent MP claims 343 days of 

remission under rule 765. But he has not made any reference to the basis of his claim nor has 

he produced any document. 

 

171. 29.01: On the contrary, the jail authorities are silent on the point of Special 

Remission on the ground that both the History Ticket and Remission Card are not available. 

In consideration of the silence of the jail authorities and the incumbent MP’s access to the 

information about remission recorded in those two documts as per rule 557 and 775 of the 

Jail Code, it is held that the claim of the incumbent MP on this count is taken as correct 

and that he was allowed Special Remission of 343 days. 

 

172. Remission on account of Festival, holiday etc: 

30.00: The incumbent MP was admittedly sentenced to 10 years rigorous imprisonment. 

This means that he was required to do some work in jail assigned by the jail authorities. 

Scheme of the Jail Code shows that various classes of prisoners may be assigned with various 

types of work (rule 552). There are detailed provision in chapter XVI (rule 633-662) for 

regulating their discipline and daily works/routine. 

 

173. 30.01: Rule 689 of the Jail Code provides that certain days being festival days and 

public holidays have been declared as gazetted holidays. Rule 782 generally prohibits the 

work of a convict prisoner on Sundays and gazetted holidays, except in case of emergency 

works or self request of prisoner. 

 

174. 30.02: Rule 757 and 759 provide that a prisoner may be engaged in works involving 

prison services such as cooks, sweeper, night watchman etc on Sundays and holidays and for 

such works additional ordinary remission is allowable. This means that the remission 

allowable under rule 757 or 759 on festival days and holidays are not a separate type of 

remission but an ordinary remission, as pointed out earlier.  

 

175. 30.03: So from the scheme of the of Jail Code considered as a whole, particularly 

rule 689 specifiing the holidays, and rule 782 generally prohibiting work on holidays, rule 

757 and 759 allowing additional ordinary remission for work on holidays, read with the other 

provisions of Chapter XXI- on Remission, it is evident that, on the holidays and festival days, 

a convict prisoner is generally exempted from work. But he is not entitled to the benefit of 

remission for such exemption from work. However if he is required to work on holidays he is 

entitled to a few days of additional ordinary remission only, which is again subject to the 

maxiumum limit. 

176. So the claim of the incumbent MP about the remission of 651 days on account 

Festival days and holidays is not consistent with the Jail Code and hence not acceptable. 

Accordingly it is held that remission on this count is not admissible to him. 

 

177. 31.00: Remission on account of Blood donation: As found earlier, section 59 of 

the Prisons Act, 1894 empowers the Government to make rule in any form e.g. by gazzette 

notification and also by issuing Circular letters. In exercise of that power, the Government of 

East Pakistan issued the Circular dated 21.05.1959 containing specific direction about 

allowing Remission on account of blood donation (Annexure-12). The said Circular is 

quoted below (underlines added) : 

No. 353H.J. dated 21.5.59 from the Assistant Secretary to the Government East 

Pakistan, Home (Jails), Department to the Inspector General of Prisons.  
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178. “East Pakistan, Dacca. 

Sub: Donation of blood to the Blood Bank by convicts in Jails in East Pakistan,  

Ref: His Memorandum No. 2806/G.L. dated the 29
th

 August, 1958.  

 

The undersigned is directed to say that the Government, in supersession of all 

previous orders on the above subject, are pleased to allow the convicts in jail East 

Pakistan to donate blood to the Blood Bank in the Medical College Hospital, Dacca 

and have decided that 30 (thirty) days remission should be allowed to prisoners who 

donate their blood for the first time and that for each subsequent donation the 

remission should be 2 days in addition to the remission awarded  for the immediately 

proceeding donation i.e. the remission for the second donation will be 32 days, for the 

third 34 days, for the fourth 36 days and so one subject to the following conditions.  

 

a) That no prisoner with a sentence not exceeding two months shall be ontitled to any 

such remission; 
b) That no prisoner with a sentence exceeding two months but not exceeding three 

months shall be permitted to reduce his sentence to less then two months by such 

remission; and  
c) That no prisoner with a sentence exceeding three months shall be permitted to reduce 

his sentence by more then 30 per centum by remission. 
 
2. Government have also decided that in addition to the remission specified in foregoing 

paragraphs a prisoner donating blood shall get cash allowance Rs. 1 for each 

donation out of the Blood Transfusion Fund.  

The superintendents of all Oentral, District and Subj. may be Informed accordingly.  

 

179. 31.01: It is evident that the Circular dated 21.05.1959 was issued containing the 

following features: 

(a) it was issued in supersession of all previous orders, 

 

(b) it allowed remission on account of blood donation at a specified scale, namely 30 

days for the 1
st
 time, 32 days for the 2

nd
 time, 34 days for the 3

rd
 times and so on with 

an increase of 2 days on each subsequent donation. 

 

(c) it sets a limit of remission of the sentence, namely 30 percentum of the sentence as a 

whole in place of 
�

�
 (one fourth) or 25 percentum as allowed by the existing rule 768.  

 

 

180. 31.02: The above noted Circular was endorsed by the Bangladesh Government by a 

Circular dated 27.08.1978 (Annexure-13) and the scheme of blood donation was expanded to 

the Hospitals of all Medical Colleges and District level Hospitals. However the system of 

Remission on account of blood donation by prisoners was stopped by the Government as 

evidenced by the letter dated 23.07.2007 (Annexure-14) 

 

181. 31.03: The report the IG Prison dated 09.10.2006 (Annexure-X-4 series) and 

Annexure-15 being the photocopy the Entries in a Register of the Barishal Central Jail dated 

26.04.2006 show that the above noted Circulars had been followed in allowing remission on 

account of blood donation namely 30 days for the 1
st
 time donation of a unit of blood. 
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182. 31.04: In view of the above discussion, it is found that the Circular dated 21.05.1959 

was in operation as a rule up to 23.03.2007. The fact of non-inclusion thereof in the Jail Code 

does not negate its status as an instrument having the force of law/rule made under the 

Prisons Act, 1894. 

 

183. 31.05: Moreover according to the definitions of the expression “law” and “existing 

law” as provided in article 152 of the Constitution, though the Jail Code is a compilation of 

various legal instruments, including executive orders and circulars, the Jail Code is an 

existing law and so was the said Circular upto 23.03.2007 as part of the Jail Code. 

 

184. 31.06: Keeping in view above legal position of the circular dated 21.05.1959, we 

need to look into the materials or record. The incumbent MP has produced the following 

certificate issued by the President and General Secretary of på¡e£:-  
 

fÐnwp¡fœ 
HC j−jÑ fÐaÉue Ll¡ k¡C−a−R ®k, ¢eS¡j E¢Ÿe q¡S¡l£, ¢fa¡- Sue¡m B−hc£e q¡S¡l£, BC¢X ew 4114/H 
L¡l¡A¿¹l£e b¡L¡L¡m£e Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡−l Na 14/12/2000 Cw qC−a 15/09/2005 Cw pj−ul j−dÉ 
BaÈj¡eha¡l ®ph¡u ¢e−u¡¢Sa qCu¡ Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l LaªÑf−rl j¡dÉ−j 13 (®al) CE¢eV lš²c¡e L¡l¡u 
Bfe¡−L Aœ pwÙÛ¡l fr ®b−L ®cn J S¡¢al LmÉ¡−e ï¢jL¡ l¡M¡u B¿¹¢lLi¡−h deÉh¡c ‘¡fepq Bfe¡l 
j‰m J E‹Æm i¢hoÉa L¡je¡ Ll¢Rz  

 
pi¡f¢a 
på¡e£ Q–NË¡j ®j¢X−Lm L−mS CE¢eV 
 

p¡d¡le pÇf¡cL 
på¡e£ Q–NË¡j ®j¢X−Lm L−mS EC¢eV 
 

 
185. 31.07: In respect of the correctness of the på¡e£ certificate, the Jail authorities 

reported as follows: 

“¢hÙ¹¡¢la fkÑ¡−m¡Qe¡ J e¢b fœ k¡Q¡C L−l ®cM¡ k¡u ®k, p¡LÑ¤m¡l ew 353-H.J. Dated. 21-5-1959 j§−m 
f§hÑ f¡¢LÙ¹¡e plL¡l LaÑªL Cp¤ÉL«a pÈ¡l−Ll B−m¡−L J flhaÑ£−a NZfÐS¡a¿»£ h¡wm¡−cn plL¡−ll ®j−j¡ ew 
581/(56)M-10/78 Dated. 27-4-1978 j§−m lš² c¡−el ¢h¢eju ¢h−no ®lu¡a p¤¢hd¡ fÐc¡−el ¢euj hq¡m 
¢Rmz H L¡kÑœ²j ®j¢X−Lm L−mS q¡pf¡a¡m, ®Sm¡ Bd¤¢eL q¡pf¡a¡m, på¡e£ hÔ¡X hÉ¡wL J ®lX ¢œ²−p¾V 
®p¡p¡C¢Vl j¡dÉ−j f¢lQ¡¢ma q−u b¡L−a¡z H p¤¢hd¡l BJa¡u h¾c£l¡ lš² c¡e L−l ¢h−no ®lu¡a fÐ¡ç q−a¡; k¡ 
flhaÑ£−a pÈ¡lL ew ¢f¢X/f¢l(p¡L¥Ñm¡l)/10/2007/776(70) a¡¢lMx 27-2-2007 ¢MËx ®j¡a¡−hL l¢qa Ll¡ 
qkz E−õMÉ ®k, ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV pwlr−el ®ju¡c L¡l¡ ¢h¢dl 780(8) J 558 Hl ¢hd¡e −j¡a¡−hL 
01 (HL) hvplz L−uc£ ew 4114/H ¢eS¡j E¢Ÿe q¡S¡l£ Hl ¢q¢ØVÌ ¢V−LV, ®lu¡a L¡XÑ Hhw lš²c¡e pwœ²¡¿¹ 
®L¡e e¢b fœ Q–NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡lN¡−l M¤−S e¡ f¡Ju¡u Eš² ¢ho−u ¢hÙ¹¡¢la abÉ EcO¡Ve Ll¡ pñh qu¢ez  

 
L¡l¡ LaÑªf−rl f−œl ®fÐ¢r−a på¡e£ LaÑªfr 3 A−ƒ¡hl 2016 ¢MËx a¡¢lM p¾d¡e£ Q–NË¡j ®j¢−Lm L−mS n¡M¡u 
pi¡f¢a Hhw p¡d¡lZ pÇf¡cL ü¡r¢la f−œl j¡dÉ−j S¡e¡e ®k, fkÑ¡ç B¢bÑL üµRma¡, Sehm, AhL¡W¡−j¡Na 
p¤¢hd¡ e¡ b¡L¡u Hacpwœ²¡¿¹ ®lLXÑfœ¡¢c c£OÑ pju fkÑ¿¹ pwlrZ Ll¡ c¤×Ll qJu¡u 14-12-2000 ¢MËx q−a 
15-9-2005 ¢MËx fkÑ¿¹ pj−ul Q¡¢qa ®lLXÑ fœ¡¢c 10-12 hR−ll f¤l−e¡ ¢hd¡u Hhw a¡−cl L¡kÑ¡mu ÙÛ¡e¡¿¹−ll 
pju ¢heø q−u−R ¢hd¡u Q¡¢qa abÉ fÐc¡−e Af¡lNa¡ fÐL¡n L−l c¤xM fÐL¡n L−l−Re (L¢f pwk¤š²)z a−h 
på¡e£ LaÑªfr fÐcš pec Aü£L¡l L−le¢e”z  

 
186. 31.08: Thus in consideration of the legal status of the Circular dated 21.05.1959 as 

an existing law allowing remission on account of blood donation and the certificate of på¡e£ 
about the donation of blood by the incumbent MP on 13 dates and the report of the jail 

authority as quoted above, it is held that the incumbent MP is entitled to remission of 486 

days as calculated by him, of course, subject to the maximum limit allowable to him. His 

calculation is correct as per the Circular dated 21.05.1959. 
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187. 32.00: Maximum Limit of Remission: A legal issue comes up about the maximum 

limit of remission permissible under the Jail Code and the Circular dated 21.05.1959. In this 

respect we have two different maximum limits, one unde rule 768 of the Jail Code and the 

other under para (c) of Circular dated 21.05.1959. For ready reference both the provisions are 

quoted below: 

 

188. Jail Code rule 768 

768. The total remission awarded to a prisoner under all these rules shall not without 

the special sanction of the local Government, exceed one-fourth part of his sentence. 

Circular para (c): 

c) “That no prisoner with a sentence exceeding three months shall be permitted to 

reduce his sentence by more then 30 per centum by remission”. 
 
189. 32.01: The question is which one should be followed in this case. The Circular dated 

21.05.1959 was issued by the Government under its rule making authority under section 59 of 

the Prisons Act and it was given overriding effect which is apparent from the expression “in 

supersession of all previous orders”. It follows that the Circular dated 21.05.1959 added a 

new dimension to the Remission system by firstly allowing blood donation as a ground for 

remission and secondly by setting a new maximum of “30 percentum of the sentence”  

 

190. 32.02: It is to be noted that this new limit does not specify the remission only on 

account of blood donation, rather it refers to the sentence as a whole. 

 

191. 32.03: Considering that the Circular had the same status as that of a rule, we have no 

other option than holding that the maximum limit of remission was raised from 25% specified 

by rule 768 to 30% of the sentence. 

 

192. 32.04: Thus it is held that the remission of 486 days is permissible to the incumbent 

MP on account of blood donation as allowed by the Circular. However the total amount of 

Remission permissible to him on all the counts is subject to the limit of 30 percentum of 

sentence as fixed by the same Circular. 

 

193. 32.08: Total permissible remission:- Thus the total quantum of remission allowable 

to the incumbent MP stands as follow: 

 

(1) Ordinaiary Remission  

    (From 14.09.2000 up to 30.09.2005) 

-557 days 

(2) Further Ordinary Remission 

     From 01.10.2005 to 01.06.2006 = 244 days   

     30% of 244= 74 days. 

-74 days 

(3) Special Remission -343 days 

(4) Remission on account of blood donation -486 days 

Grand Total of all remissions             -1460 days 

 

Total sentence= 10 years = 365×10=3650 

Leap year days (2004 and 2008) =           +2  

Total  sentence days  = 3652 days. 

Maximum permissible remission 30% of sentence = 
���	×��

���
 = 1095.60 = 1096 days. 
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194. Issue No. 6: Remaining period of sentence, if any: 

 

 33.00: In view of the findings and decision on the issues of remission permissible to 

the incumbent MP and the period of sentence served out by him, the remaining period of the 

sentence to be served out by him stand as follows: 

 

(1) 10 years Imprisonment= 10×365=           3650 days 

      + Leap year days (2004 and  2008)                +2  

Total imprisonment days                3652  days  (as per calenedar) 

   

(2) Sentence served          = 2088 days  

+ 

Permissible remission = 1096 days 

Total   ------      = 3184 days 

 

(3) Remaining sentence- 3652-3184= 468 days 

 

195. Issue No. 7: Disputed questions of fact involved, if any 

 

34.00: The principal issue raised in this case is the lawful authority of the incumbent MP 

in holding the office of MP for the constituency of Feni- 2 resulting from the alleged 

disqualification arising from serving a lesser period of sentence.  

 

196. 34.01: The reply to this principal issue depends upon decisions on the issues on (1) 

the deduction of prejudgement custody period of 143 days as claimed by him, (2) the period 

of sentence served out by him, (3) the remission permissible to him on various counts 

clamied by him and (4) the remaining sentence, if any. The discussion, findings and decision 

on those matters i.e. on issues Nos 1-6 show that no disputed questions of facts are involved 

on those 4(four) matters and the related issues. The reasons are briefly stated below: 

(a) The issue of maintainability on account of standing of the petitioner to file this case 

under article 102(2)(b)(ii) (Issue No. 1)  is a purely legal issue, and it has been held 

that the case is maintainable on that count. (vide para 17-18). 

(b) The issue of maintainability on account of the bar or restriction imposed by article 

125 of the Constitution (Issue No. 2) is purely a legal issue, and it has been held that 

article 125 article is not a legal bar to entertain this case and that the case is 

maintainable. (vide para 19-20.22) 

(c) The issue of date of release of the incumbent MP (Issue No. 3), on 01.12.2005 as 

claimed by him or on 01.06.2006 as claimed by the Jail authority, has the flavour of a 

disputed question of fact. But the decision on the principal issue, namely the issue of 

disqualification due to the alleged remaining sentence, does not depend on the issue of 

any of the said two dates of release, but on the quantum of the remaining sentence 

(Issue No. 6) as determined earlier in the discussion and findings on issue Nos. 4-

6.This aspect of the case is not a disputed question of fact. Because the incumbent MP 

admits that he was released before serving the entire 10 years. The real controversy is 

about the quantum of remission permissible to him. 

(d) However the issue of date of his release (Issue No. 3) has been earlier discussed and 

decided for calculating the exact quantum of remaining sentence. This has been done 

not on the information furnished by jail authorities but on the information available in 

the orginal judicial record of Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999 of the Special 

Tribunal, 4
th

 Court of Metropolitan Addition and Session Judge. This can be lawfully 
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done in an inquiry process in writ juridicision under article 102(2)(b)(ii) of the 

constitution. That record clearly shows that he was in jail from 02.01.2002 upto 

31.05.2006, and was released on 01.06.2006. This finding is further supported by the 

fact that, the incumbent MP has not denied or controverted his continuous stay in jail 

from 02.01.2002 up to 31.05.2006 as found from the record of that case. So this date 

has been accordingly determined to be 01.06.2006. (vide para 21.18-21.19 and 

22.00-22.03) 
(e) More over admittedly he was relased before expiry of 10 years. In such a back 

ground, it is the well settled principle of law that the fact of merely raising a claim 

different to the claim of jail authority or the finding of this court does not render it as 

a disputed question of fact. In fact, the date of his release as decided by this court as 

being on 01.06.2006 goes to his benefit in calculating the period of sentence served 

out by him and the quantam of remission permissible to him. If the date of his release 

claimed by him being 01.12.2005 is taken as correct he would be required to serve a 

longer period. So the issue of date release is not a disputed question of fact. (vide 

para 22-22.03) 

(f) The claim of the incumbent MP about remission on three accounts namely 

Ordinary Remission (557 days), Special Remission (343 days) and Blood 

Donation (486 days) are taken as correct and lawful as discussed earlier in 

deciding the issue on permissible Remission (Issue No. 5). So there is no disputed 

questions of fact involved in these matters. (vide para 25-29 and 31.00-31.05) 

(g) The claim of the incumbent MP about remission of 651 days on account Festival 

days and holidays under rule 649 of the Jail Code is not a disputed question fact, 

rather it is purely a legal issue and it has been discussed earlier in deciding Issue No. 

5 on permissible Remission. His claim on this count is not legally acceptable. (vide 

para 30-30.03) 

(h) The claim of the incumbent MP about deduction of the prejudgment custody 

period of 143 days is not a disputed question of fact. It is purely a legal issue. It is 

has been discussed and decided against him earlier in deciding Issue No. 4. This 

matter is not a disputed question of fact and his claim is not acceptable. (vide para 

23-24) 

(i)  The maximum limit of remission permissible to him is 30 percemtum of the sentence 

of 10 years as per the Circular dated 21.05.1959, which had the status of rule upto 

23.07.2007 when operation of the said Circular dated 21.05.1959 was stopped. This is 

purely a legal issue as discussed earlier in deciding Issue No. 5. So this is not a 

disputed question of fact. (vide para 32.00- 33.00) 

 

(j) In view of the above findings, the decision of the Indian Supreme Court in the Case of 

Kurapati Maria Das vs. Dr. Ambed Seva Samajan and others (Indian kanoon 

.org.doc/1530123) as referred to by Mr. Shafique Ahmed, the learned Advocate for 

the incumbent MP about lack of jurisdiction of a writ court in deciding disputed 

questions of fact is not applicable to the present case. 

 

197. Issue No. 8 Whether the incumbent MP was disqualified to be elected: 

35.00: In view of the findings and decision on the issue of the remaining period of 

sentence (Isssue No. 6) it is evident that, on the date of his release from jail on 01.06.2006, 

the incumbent MP (respondent No. 7) had not served out the entire sentence and that he was 

required to serve out the remaining sentence for another 468 days. There is nothing on record 

to show that, after his release on 01.06.2006, he was ever taken to jail in connection with the 

sentence imposed on him in Special Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999. 
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198. 35.01: It follows that as per article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution he was disqualified 

to be nominated and elected as an MP in the election held on 05.01.2014. It is noted that 

article 66(2)(d) speaks of conviction for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude. The 

offence under section 19A and 19 (f) of the Arms Act, 1878 is such an offence. Because in 

the context our society the nature of the prescribed penalty namely a minimum rigorous 

imprison of 10 years and 7 years for illegal possession of fire arms and ammunition without 

licence issued by appropriate authority is an offence against the security of the society at 

large and also against the state and moral value in general. 

 

199. Issue No. 9 Result of disqualification: 

36.00: The result of disqualification of the incumbent MP at the time of his filing the 

nomination paper is that the declaration made by the Election Commission about his election 

held on 05.01.2014 was illegal and that he has no lawful authority to hold the office of the 

MP for the Constituency of Feni-2 and hence it is to be declared as vacant. 

 

200. Conclusion: 

37.00: In view of the decisions on the issue Nos. 1-9, the Rule is to be made absolute with 

consequential directions. 

 

201. 37.01: In the Result the Rule nisi issued in this case is made absolute in the 

following terms:  

 

(1) Respondent No.7 Nizam Uddin Hazari is hereby declared to have no lawful authority 

to hold the office of MP for the Constituency of Feni-2 and accordingly the said office 

is hereby declared to be vacant. 

(2) It is further declared that the respondent No. 7 shall serve out the remaining period of 

sentence of 468 days from the date of his surrender or arrest in connection with 

Special Tribunal Case no. 757 of 1999 of the Special Tribunal (Metropolitan 

Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court), Chittagong. 

(3) The Anti Corruption Commission is directed to inquire into the matter of the 

mysterious bail alleged granted by this Court in Criminal Appeal No. 1409 of 2006 

and also into the alleged use of that bail order in connection with release of 

Respondent No. 7 Nizam Uddin Hazari as a convict in connection with Special 

Tribunal Case No. 757 of 1999 and to take other actions in accordance with law. 

 

(4) Send at once a copy of this judgment to the the Speaker of the Parliament (respondent 

No.1), Chief Election Commissioner (respondent No. 2), the said Tribunal and the jail 

authorites (respondent No. 8 and 9) and also to the Chairman, Anti Corruption 

Commission.  

 

202. No order as cost. 
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F.R.M. Nazmul Ahasan, J: (Majority view): 

  

203. I respectfully differ with the judgment pronounced by my senior brother, Md. 

Emdadul Huq, J and I am delivering the following judgment. 

 

204. Short facts for disposal of the Rule Nisi are that the petitioner is a voter of the 

Constituency No.266 of Feni-2. The petitioner is a political person. He was a Councilor of 

word No.15, Feni Pourashava. He was Joint-Convener of Feni District Jubo League. The 

petitioner is a conscious citizen of the country.   

 

205. The respondent No.7 contested in the Parliament Election in 2014 and elected as 

uncontested representative from the Constituency of Feni-2. A Gazette Notification was 

published by the Election Commission in 8
th

 January, 2014 confirming the same. The name 

of the respondent No.7 was published in serial No.266 at page 228 of the Notification. 

 

206. The petitioner came to know from the reliable sources that the respondent No.7 has 

made false statement in the affidavit as regards his criminal records for taking part in the 

National Election which has been submitted to the concerned Returning Officer, Feni. The 

correct information was not reflected in the affidavit though it was mandatory.    

 

207. The petitioner has obtained a copy of the affidavit which was submitted by the 

respondent No.7 to the Returning Officer at the time of submitting the nomination paper for 

contesting the National Election at the Constituency of Feni-2 in 2014. The respondent No.7 

submitted the affidavit being No.941 dated 02.12.2013 containing all material information 

required by the Election Commission. As per law, the information in the affidavit must be 

true to the best of knowledge of the deponent. However, in the affidavit in paragraph-3 

(history of criminal records) at column No.7, the respondent No.7 stated that the Special 

Tribunal Case being No.757 of 1999 has been disposed of and he has been acquitted, which is 

wrong information. Actually he has deliberately suppressed the facts and eventually 

succeeded in becoming a Member of Parliament in the Constituency of Feni-2 in the last 

Parliament Election held on 05.01.2014. Earlier in the election of Feni Pourashava in 2011, 

the respondent No.7 also concealed information as to his criminal records referring the word 

‘acquitted’. The correct information as to criminal records was not mentioned in the affidavit, 

which is illegal and violation of the provision of law.  

 

208. The respondent No.7 was charged under section 19(ka)(cha) of the Arms Act, 1878 

in the Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 arising out of Doublemuring P.S. Case No.29 

dated 22.03.1992 and accordingly on 16.08.2000, the Additional Metropolitan Sessions 

Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong convicted and sentencing him to suffer rigorous imprisonment 

for 10 years and 7 years respectively both to run concurrently. 

 

209. Thereafter, on 02.05.2001, the High Court Division dismissed the Criminal Appeal 

No.2369 of 2000 as preferred by the respondent No.7, Nijam Uddin Hajari. As the Criminal 

Appeal being dismissed, respondent No.7 preferred a Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal 

being No.107 of 2001, which was also dismissed on 27.04.2002 by the Appellate Division. 

Thereafter, the respondent No.7 filed a Criminal Review Petition being No.18 of 2002 which 

was also dismissed on 26.06.2004 by the Appellate Division. After dismissal of the appeal 

and review the respondent has to suffer sentence as per judgment passed by the Tribunal on 

16.08.2000 in Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 under section 19(ka)(cha) of the Arms 

Act, 1878. But the respondent No.7 did not suffer the sentence by way of committing fraud. 
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209. On the other hand, a news item was published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ on 

10.05.2014 having a title ‘p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e pwpc.’ As per the news report, after 

the judgment being pronounced, the respondent No.7 surrendered to the Court on 14.09.2000 

and accordingly he was sent to the Jail on the same day. It was also reported that he has been 

freed from the Jail on 01.12.2005 after serving 5 years 2 months and 17 days in Jail as 

Koyedi. As per the said news report, earlier the respondent No.7 had been in hajot for the 

instant case for a period of 4 months and 24 days but surprisingly as per the Koyed Register, 

it (hajotbas) was shown as 3 years 2 months and 25 days, which is illegal. The respondent 

No.7 had suffered both in hajot and Jail for a total period of 5 years 7 months and 21 days. It 

was reported that the duration of period of conviction of the respondent No.7 was reduced to 

1 year 6 months and 17 days. In that context, it was reported that the respondent No.7 became 

free before 2 years 10 months and 1 day left of his actual exit date from Jail. It was also 

mentioned worthy that the Senior Super of the Chittagong Jail observed that it was a serious 

fraud made by the accused-convicted.  

 

210. The petitioner has also obtained another confidential official records/information slip 

being No.654 dated 08.05.2014, which shows that the respondent No.7 has preferred another 

Criminal Appeal being No.1409 of 2006 dated 13.04.2006 against the judgment dated 

16.03.2006 as pronounced by the Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong in the 

Special Tribunal Case being No.757 of 1999. As the Tribunal passed judgment in Tribunal 

Case No.757 of 1999 in 2000 but the respondent with a malafide intension filed a fresh 

appeal by creating some concocted papers, which is evident from the information slip 

supplied by the office of the High Court Division, Dhaka. 

 

211. As per Article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh, a 

person shall be disqualified for election as a Member of Parliament who has been on 

conviction for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, sentenced to suffer imprisonment 

for a term of not less than  two years, unless a period of five years has elapsed since his 

release. Conduct of the respondent No.7 tantamount to moral turpitude for different practical 

reasons. Before serving out the punishment and thereby elapsing of subsequent five years, the 

respondent No.7 having contested the national election, hence, he may be declared 

disqualified for being Member of Parliament as per Articles 66(2)(d) and his seat may be 

vacated as per Article 67(1)(d) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh as 

well.  
 

212. Pursuant to the show cause notice respondent No.7 appeared and filed affidavit-in-

opposition with the contention that the petitioner filed this writ petition before this Court as 

one of the political rivals of the respondent No.7. The petitioner was the councilor of the Feni 

Pourashava but when the respondent No.7 elected Mayor of the Feni Pourashava, the 

petitioner defected to be elected as councilor of the said Pourashava and thereafter, conflict 

arises between the petitioner and the respondent No.7. Once upon a time, the petitioner was 

one of the close man of the respondent No.7 and when the respondent No.7 was inside the 

Jail in falsely implicated Criminal Case for the allegation of recovery of unauthorized arms in 

his possession and was convicted and sentenced, and the writ petitioner was the tadbirkar of 

the said Criminal Case up to the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh. 

Since the petitioner is an interested person and political rival of the respondent No.7 and 

brought the present writ petition with malafide intention in the name of public interest 

litigation after 8(eight) years of release of the respondent No.7 from Jail and became elected 

as Mayor of Feni Pourashava and then elected as a Member of Parliament. 
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213. It is further contended that the respondent No.7 did not serve the sentence by way of 

committing fraud is not correct; that the respondent No.7 has been released from the Jail 

custody as per provision of the Jail Code by serving the sentence awarded against him. The 

respondent No.7 did not commit any wrong in filing the affidavit before the Returning 

Officer for participating in the National Election for the Member of Parliament and he was 

released from Jail after completion of the period of sentence as per provision of Jail Code and 

that the respondent No.7 did not suppress anything in his aforesaid affidavit. 

 

214. The Metropolitan Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong vide judgment and order 

dated 16.08.1999 convicted the respondent No.7 in Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 

arising out of Doublemuring Police Station Case No.29 dated 22.03.1992 under section 19(a) 

and (f) of the Arms Act and sentenced him to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of 

10(ten) years under section 19(a) of the said Act and further sentenced for a period of 

7(seven) years under section 19(f) of the said Act concurrently. After judgment dated 

16.08.1999, the respondent No.7 surrendered before the Court on 14.09.1999 and preferred 

appeal being Criminal Appeal No.2369 of 2000 before the High Court Division of the 

Supreme Court of Bangladesh. The High Court Division dismissed the appeal vide judgment 

and order dated 02.05.2001 and against that the respondent No.7 preferred Criminal Petition 

for Leave to Appeal No.107 of 2001 before the Appellate Division which was dismissed on 

27.02.2002. Against the said judgment dated 27.02.2002, the respondent No.7 filed Criminal 

Review Petition No.18 of 2002 and the said Review Petition was dismissed on 26.06.2004. 

 

215. The respondent No.7, after dismissal of the Review Petition served in the custody 

and after serving in the custody he has been released from the Chittagong Central Jail on 

01.12.2005 as per the Jail Code on the basis of remission. The respondent No.10-‘the daily 

Prothom Alo’ in paragraph No.6 of its affidavit-in-compliance dated 07.07.2014 by annexing 

the photocopy of snap shot of remission ticket at page-26 stated that ‘the reporter took some 

snaps of the relevant parts of Koyed Register where necessary information lies as evidence of 

his news’ which shows that the respondent No.7 has been released from Jail on the basis of 

remission on 01.12.2005. 

 

216. The respondent No.7 after releasing from the Jail contested in the Pourashava 

election and was elected as Mayor of Feni Pourashava on 18.01.2011. Subsequently, he has 

contested in the National General Election and he has been elected as a Member of 

Parliament on 05.01.2014 from Feni-2, Constituency No.266. 

 

217. The present petitioner claimed in the writ petition that he filed the instant writ 

petition pursuant to the news item published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ dated 10.05.2014 and 

he annexed the judgments passed by the different courts arising out of the Criminal Case 

against the respondent No.7. The petitioner applied for obtaining certified copy of judgment 

on 13.04.2014 and also applied for information slip on 08.05.2014 which shows that the 

petitioner has not filed the instant writ petition with clean hand. After publication of the said 

news item dated 10.05.2014 in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’, the Jail authority vide re-joinder 

(cÖwZev`-wjwc) dated 10.05.2014 clearly stated that the respondent No.7 after serving in custody 

was released from Jail on 01.12.2005 on the basis of remission. 

 

218. The petitioner stated in the writ petition annexing an information slip that the 

respondent No.7 was released from Jail on 01.06.2006 pursuant to an order of the High Court 

Division passed in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 arising out of the judgment and order 
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dated 16.03.2006 passed by the Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong in Special 

Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999. But the said date of judgment and information slip is 

absolutely false and fabricated and not correct as the judgment of the said Special Tribunal 

Case No.757 of 1999 was passed on 16.08.1999. The respondent No.7 obtained information 

slip from the Court of Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong which shows that no 

such case was fixed on 16.03.2006 in the Court diary and cause list for judgment or order in 

Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999. It appears from the report of the Metropolitan 

Sessions Judge, Chittagong that no notice or order of the High Court Division passed in 

Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 was communicated to the concerned Court. 

 

219. The respondent Nos.8 and 9 in their affidavit-in-compliance dated 09.09.2014 

annexed a copy of bail bond in page No.13 of the said affidavit-in- compliance. 

Subsequently, the respondent No.8 again submitted an inquiry report annexing a bail bond 

before the Court on 27.03.2016, but there are some gross discrepancies in the said two bail 

bonds which manifestly show that both the said bonds are fake and forged and created by the 

petitioner in connivance with the vested quarter.  

 

220. The judgment of Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 was upheld in Criminal 

Appeal No.2369 of 2000 by the High Court Division which was subsequently confirmed by 

the Appellate Division in Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal No.107 of 2001 and Criminal 

Review Petition No.18 of 2002, hence, there is no scope to prefer second appeal against the 

self-same judgment and as such the story of releasing of the respondent No.7 on bail in the 

alleged Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 is not correct.  

 

221. Since, there is no record of the alleged Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 in the 

High court Division as such the order of bail in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 which has 

been annexed by respondent Nos.8 and 9 as Annexure-X-1 of the affidavit-in-compliance 

dated 09.09.2014 is manufactured and fabricated. 

 

222. While the respondent No.7 was inside the Jail from 14.12.2000 till his release on 

01.12.2005 has donated blood 13 times and according to special remission the respondent 

No.7 has got extra remission of his sentence and also earned allowance of Tk.15 for donation 

of blood. 

 

223. According to Jail Code sections 549-558 there is a provision for recording history 

ticket for each of the prisoners where all the records of the prisoners will be recorded from 

the date of entry of prisoner in Jail to release from Jail but the respondent No.8 could not 

produce history ticket of the respondent No.7 and the report is not a complete report. 

  

224. One Mr. Sagir Miah, Senior Jail Super, Central Jail, Chittagong under his signature 

dated 10.05.2014 vide letter Memo No.44.07.15.00.111.03.13.14-2511/5 dated 10.05.2014 

sent to the Editor, ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ protesting the news published on 10.05.2014 in the 

heading that ‘p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e pwpc’ and in the said protest letter claimed that 

“−lu¡a fËb¡u p¡S¡ ®i¡N ®n−o ¢a¢e Na 01|12|2015¢MËx a¡¢lM Aœ L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢J² m¡i 
L−le z” 

 

225. The petitioner filed this writ petition with malafide intention and he is not a public 

spirited person as well as he has no track record in the field of public interest litigation as 

such the present writ petition is not maintainable. The respondent No.7 did not violate any 
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provision of Article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh or 

provisions of RPO, hence, the Rule may be discharged for ends of justice.   

 

226. Pursuant to the show cause notice respondent Nos.8 and 9 appeared in the case. In 

compliance with the order of this Court dated 16.07.2014, the Respondent Nos.8 and 9 served 

a copy of the affidavit-of-compliance filed by them upon the learned Advocate for the 

Respondent No.7 and also prepared a report dated 03.09.2014 explaining their position as to 

Annexure-5 series of the affidavit-of-compliance filed by the Respondent No.10 and 

specifying as to how Annexure-5 series of the affidavit-of-compliance of Respondent No.10 

could show that “j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a fËb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢J² ®cJu¡ q−m¡” Giving therein on 

01.12.2005 as a date and also specifying the Annexure-X of their affidavit-of-compliance as 

to the release of the convict on 01.06.2006. 

 

227. This court on 26.05.2016 passed an interim order of direction in the following 

manner: 

“In view of the above, the IG Prison (Respondent No.8) shall, within  30(thirty) 

days from the receipt of the copy of this order, cause and  inquiry by an officer 

above the rank of Senior Jail Super (Md. Sagir Mia)  and shall within the 30 

days file an affidavit on the following matters: 

a. Whether respondent No.7, Nizam Uddin Hajari was allowed any remission in 

connection with the sentence imposed upon him in Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 

1999, and if any remission was allowed to him, the exact period of remission, a 

calculation sheet and the attested photocopy of the decision of the Jail authority on 

such remission, if any, are to be furnished with the affidavit; 

b. Whether respondent No.7, Nizam Uddin Hajari has served out the entire period of 

imprisonment by taking into account such remission period, if allowed, and whether 

any period of imprisonment is remaining to be served out by him; 

c. Whether the following entry about remission of Nizam Uddin Hajari is recorded in 

the Register of the Jail and if so recorded what was the basis of recording such entry:  

“j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a 
 fËb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o  
j¤¢J² ®cJu¡ q−m¡  
®lu¡a 01-06-2017  
  (ü¡rl-AØfÖV)  
 1/12/2005  
¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l  
QVÊNË¡j ®Leâ£u L¡l¡N¡l z” 

d. Respondent No.8 shall also make statement in the above affidavit with regard to the 

report dated 27.03.2016 already sent to this Court. 

 

Office is directed to send at once a copy of this order to respondent No.9 by 

Guaranteed Express Post along with the photocopy of the Annexures-1 & 5. 

 

The Bench Officer shall furnish free of cost an attested copy of this order to the 

learned Advocate for writ petitioner and also to the learned Advocates for respondent 

Nos.7 and 10 and the learned A.A.G. 

This matter will appear in the list for further order on 12
th

 July, 2016.” 

  

228. In compliance with the order of this Court dated 26.05.2016, the respondent No.8 

formed a three member enquiry committee headed by the Deputy Inspector General, Prison 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Shakwat Hossain Bhuiyan Vs.Bangladesh & ors.    (F.R.M. Nazmul Ahasan, J)  86 
 

and the said committee after due investigation submitted report to the respondent No.8 and on 

the basis of the report submitted by the enquiry committee, the respondent No.8 stated that: 

a. The respondent No.7 had been brought to prison on 14.09.2000 for the purpose of 

serving rigorous imprisonment for 10(ten) years in Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 

1999 and was released from Jail on 01.06.2006. During this period, he enjoyed the 

total period of remission extending to 625 days i.e. 1 year 8 months and 25 days till 

his release from Jail custody on 01.06.2006. 

b. The respondent No.7 has not served out the entire period of imprisonment. On 

01.06.2006, he was released on bail from prison in pursuance to the Order dated 

31.05.2006 passed by the Additional Magistrate, Chittagong in Criminal 

Miscellaneous Petition No.280 of 2006 complying with the bail order passed by the 

Division Bench of this Court comprising by their Lordships Mr. Justice S.K. Sinha 

and Mr. Justice Zubayer Rahman Chowdhury in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006. 

Still the remaining portion of punishment left to be served out by the respondent No.7 

is 2 years 6 months and 16 days. 

c. The lower part of inmate admission register wherein the entry regarding release of the 

inmate is usually made was torn. And analyzing the given quotation by this Court, it 

can be seen that the then Senior Jail Super Mr. Bazlur Rashid signed that. The date of 

signature was on 01.12.2005 but the respondent No.7 was released on 01.06.2006. 

Such signature might have been forged by some evil circle inside the prison for giving 

benefit to the respondent No.7. However, such quotation has no relevance for 

releasing the respondent No.7 inasmuch as he was released on bail.  

d. The respondent No.8 affirms and asserts that the report dated 27.03.2016 which was 

produced before this Court is true and correct. It appears from the facts that the 

portion of inmate admission register was torn and there was over writing with respect 

to the remission and there was fake entry to release him by asserting that he served 

out the sentence after deducting the period of remission that some evil circle inside 

the prison committed such act. The authority is considering to inquiry into the matter.  

And the respondent No.8 prepared a report dated 30.06.2016 along with relevant 

record/file in compliance with the order of this Court dated 26.05.2016. 

 

229. By the Order of this Court dated 31.08.2016, the respondent No.8 investigated the 

matter and after perusing the relevant documents prepared a report on 09.10.2016. 

 

230. The respondent No.8 humble submits that the provision of granting special remission 

to the prisoner for the act of blood donation was introduced by the Government of East 

Pakistan promulgating Circular No.353-H.J. dated 21.05.1959 and the Government of 

Bangladesh continue the provision of the said special remission for the blood donation vide 

the office order contains in Memo No.581/(56)/M-10/78 dated 27.04.1978. The said activities 

of blood donation were conducted by Medical College Hospital, District Modern Hospital, 

Sandhani Blood Bank and Red Crescent Society. The prisoner used to get special remission 

on the basis of blood donation. The aforesaid special remission for blood donation has been 

repealed by the office order contained in Memo No.wcwW/cwi(mvKzjvi)/10/2007/776(70) dated 

27.02.2007. 

 

231. As per Rule 767 of the Jail Code, there is a provision for recording the reason of 

remission, if any, and the number of days remitted by the authority in the remission card and 

history card. Rule 780(8) and 558 of the Jail Code require to preserve the said remission card 

and history card for 1(one) year. The Chittagong Central Jail authority did not find any record 
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for blood donation in the file of prisoner No.4114/A Nijam Uddin Hajari, Consequently, it 

was not possible to discover any date regarding the matter.  

 

232. The authority of Chittagong Central Jail contracted with Sandhani, Chittagong 

Medical College Unit, Chittagong for seeking a report about blood donation of Nijam Uddin 

Hazari, the president of the Sandhani, Chittagong Medical College Unit informed that owing 

to financial hardship, lack of manpower and infrastructure, it was not possible to keep the 

records after passing so long time and moreover, the records were damaged owing to the 

office shifting. They do not have any record of blood donation from the period of 14.12.2000 

to 15.9.2005. But Sandhani authority did not disown the blood donation certificate which was 

submitted by Respondent No.7 and the Sandhani expressed regret for this kind of 

unintentional mistake.  

   

233. Respondent No.10 appeared and filed affidavit. In compliance of the show cause 

notice it is stated that the said news item (Annexure-2), the reporter took some snaps of 

relevant parts of Koyed Register where necessary information lies as evidence of his news. In 

respect of the statements made in paragraph Nos.1-9 of Affidavit-of-compliance dated 

09.09.2014 are matters of record except the re-joinder (cÖwZev`-wjwc) dated 10.05.2014 made by 

respondent No.9 & the statement ‘MZ 01.07.2014 wLªóvã ZvwiL cÖ_g Av‡jv cwÎKvi PÆMÖvg Awd‡mi wmwbqi 
wi‡cvU©vi Rbve GKivgyj n‡Ki wjwLZ Av‡e`‡bi †cÖw¶‡Z wbæ¯̂v¶iKvix cÖ`Ë †h mKj Z_¨’ respondent No.10 

(Annexure-5 series) of Affidavit-of-compliance Gi gva¨‡g gnvgvb¨ Av`vj‡Z Dc ’̄vcb K‡i‡Qb, Zv mwVK 
bq| made by the respondent No.9 in his report dated 03.09.2014 and hence, the respondent 

No.10 has no comment except to state that the respondent Nos.8 & 9 are to put to strict proof 

thereof. The respondent No.10 didn’t receive the re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) dated 10.05.2014 

made by respondent No.9 to be published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’. It is further stated that 

the respondent No.9, regarding the service of the period of sentence in Jail by the Respondent 

No.7, Nizam Uddin Hazari, admitted in his re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) dated 10.05.2014 that 

‘†iqvZ cÖ_vq mvRv †fvM †k‡l wZwb 01.12.2005 wLª: ZvwiL AÎ KvivMvi n‡Z gyw³ jvf K‡ibÕ (Annexure-X1 to 

Affidavit-of-compliance dated 09.09.2014) which is a focal basis to the news item dated 

10.05.2014 with regard to statement ‘MZ 01.07.2014 wLªóvã ZvwiL cÖ_g Av‡jv cwÎKvi PÆMÖvg Awd‡mi 
wmwbqi wi‡cvU©vi Rbve GKivgyj n‡Ki wjwLZ Av‡e`‡bi †cÖw¶‡Z wbæ¯̂v¶iKvix cÖ`Ë †h mKj Z_¨Õ respondent No. 

10 Annexure-5 series of Affidavit of compliance- Gi gva¨‡g gnvgvb¨ Av`vj‡Z Dc ’̄vcb K‡i‡Qb, Zv 
mwVK bq|Õ (Annexure-X1 to Affidavit-of-Compliance dated 09.09.2014 page-9), the deponent 

begs to state that this statement is false, misleading and suppression of facts as Annexure-5 

series of Affidavit-of-compliance dated 07.07.2014 filed on behalf of respondent No.10 are 

photocopies of snaps of concerned original koyed Register where lies some necessary 

information relating to the service of the period of sentence in Jail by the respondent No.7, 

Nizam Uddin Hazari.  

 

234. At the time of hearing, Mr. M. Qumrul Haque Siddique, the learned Senior Advocate 

with Mr. Sattya Ronjan Mondal, the learned Advocate appeared on behalf of the petitioner. 

On the other hand, Mr. Shafiq Ahmed, the learned Senior Advocate with Mr. Md. Nurul 

Islam Sujan, the learned Advocate appeared on behalf of the Respondent No.7. Mr. Aminur 

Rahman Chowdhury, the learned Assistant Attorney General appeared on behalf of the 

Respondent Nos.8 and 9. Mr. Aftab Uddin Siddique, the learned Advocate appeared on 

behalf of the respondent No.10. 

 

235. Mr. M. Qumrul Haque Siddique, the learned Senior Advocate appearing on behalf of 

the petitioner submits that as per Article 66(2)(d) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic 
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of Bangladesh, the respondent No.7 is disqualified for election as, or for being, a Member of 

Parliament because the conduct of the respondent No.7 tantamount to moral turpitude in 

context of legal interpretation and for different practical reasons as well. 

 

236. He next submits that as per Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO, the respondent No.7 is 

disqualified for election as, or for being, a Member of Parliament because of an offence as 

regards making false statement punishable under Article 73 of the RPO. Hence, he may be 

declared disqualified for election as per Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO for offences under 

Article 73 of the RPO and effective legal measures may also be taken against him for his 

corrupt practice under Article 73(3)(a) of the RPO for giving false statement in the affidavit. 

 

237. He also submits that the respondent No.7 had an obligation under Article 12, clause 

(3b), sub-clause (b & C) of RPO, 1972 to submit true information as regards present and past 

criminal records of the candidate in the affidavit but he did not honestly disclose all the 

material and true information in the affidavit, which is clear violation of the above mentioned 

Article 12 (3b) (b & c) of the RPO, 1972. Hence, holding the present post by the respondent 

No.7 may be declared illegal. 

 

238. He further submits that the respondent No.7 should be declared as disqualified 

because, under Article 63(1) (b & c) of the RPO, 1972 the High Court Division has authority 

to declare the election of any returned candidate to be void if, it is satisfied that the returned 

candidate was not, on the nomination day, qualified for, or was disqualified from, being 

elected as a member or the election of the returned candidate has been procured or induced by 

any corrupt and illegal practice.  

 

239. He next submits that the respondent No.7 after failing in his all legal steps up to the 

Hon’ble Appellate Division preferred Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 in this Court on 

17.05.2006 and subsequently released from the Jail custody on 01.06.2006. As he was 

convicted and sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for 10 years and 7 years 

concurrently and he surrendered on 14.09.2000 before the trial Court and sent to Jail custody 

and thereafter, he was released on bail on 01.06.2006. Thus, he was in Jail for 5 years 8 

months and 19 days and if, he got the highest remission as per Jail Code, 1894 i.e. 60 days 

per year he will get remission with the sentenced 10 years for 600 days and in this way he has 

to be in the custody about 916 days more, which has not yet been served out. He further 

submits that according to section 568 of the Jail Code, 1894 the petitioner will not get 

remission more than one third of the entire sentence.   

 

240. Mr. Shafiq Ahmed, the learned Senior Advocate along with Mr. Md. Nurul Islam 

Sujon, the learned Advocate appearing on behalf of the respondent No.7 submits that the Writ 

Petition is not maintainable as the petitioner is one of the political rival of the respondent 

No.7 who was a Councilor of the Feni Pourashava when the respondent No.7 was elected as 

Mayor of the said Pourashava and thereafter, conflict arises between the petitioner and 

respondent No.7 and since the petitioner is an interested person and political rival of the 

respondent No.7, Writ Petition brought with malafide intention after 8 years of released of the 

respondent No.7 from the Jail and became elected as Mayor of Feni Pourashava and 

thereafter, elected as a Member of Parliament. 

 

241. He further submits that the respondent No.7 did not commit any fraud in order to get 

remission from the Jail and he has been released from the Jail custody as per provision of the 

Jail Code after serving sentence awarded against him and on remission. Thus, the question 
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raised by the petitioner is a disputed question of fact which is brought with malafide 

intention. 

 

242. He next submits that a news which has been published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ 

and the allegation made by the petitioner and the respondent Nos.8 and 9 that he has not 

served out the entire period of sentence is a matter of calculation about the period of Jail 

custody of the respondent No.7 and all are disputed question of facts which cannot be 

resolved in the writ petition. 

 

243. He also submits that the respondent No.7 did not file any Criminal Case so far 

known to him other than the Criminal Case in which he was convicted and preferred appeal 

and it was upheld by the Appellate Division and the respondent No.7 released from jail 

custody on 01.12.2005. Thus, this matter is also a disputed question of fact which cannot be 

resolved in the writ petition. 

 

244. He next submits that the respondent No.7 did not commit any wrong in filing the 

aforesaid nomination paper before the Returning Officer i.e. for the Member of Parliament 

and he was released from jail after served out his sentence and on remission as per provision 

of Jail Code and the respondent No.7 did not suppress anything in his aforesaid affidavit. 

 

245. He also submits that the respondent Nos.8 and 9 could not produce the history ticket 

in which the blood donation of the respondent No.7 was recorded and the report submitted by 

the respondent Nos.8 and 9 is not a complete report without placing the proof of blood 

donation which was recorded in the history ticket. Thus, on the basis of the aforesaid report, 

which is a disputed one, cannot be said that the respondent No.7 did not serve out the entire 

period which is claimed by the petitioner and the calculation of the remission awarded by the 

respondent No.7 by donation of blood is a disputed question of fact, as the respondent No.7 

claimed that he has served out entire period of sentence with remission and the respondent 

Nos.8 and 9 claimed that he did not serve out the entire period of sentence is a highly 

disputed question of fact which cannot be resolved in the writ petition. 

 

246. Mr. Aminur Rahman Chowdhury, the learned Assistant Attorney General appeared 

on behalf of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 and placed the affidavit-of-compliance dated 

10.07.2014, 30.06.2016 and 09.10.2016 and submits that upon a direction, the respondent 

No.8 formed a 3 members inquiry committee and on the basis of the report submitted by the 

inquiry committee it appears that the respondent No.7 was released from jail on 01.06.2006 

and during this period, he enjoyed the total period of remission extending to 625 days i.e. 1 

year 8 months and 25 days till his release from jail on bail and has not served out the entire 

period of imprisonment and the remaining portion of punishment left to be served out by the 

respondent No.7 is 2 years 6 months and 16 days. 

 

247. Learned A.A.G. placing the report of the jail authority submits that the Rules 780(8) 

and 558 of the Jail Code require to preserve the said remission card and history card for 1 

year. The Chittagong Central Jail authority did not find any record for blood donation in the 

file of prisoner No.4114/A Nijam Uddin Hajari. Consequently, it was not possible to discover 

any data regarding the matter. 

 

248. In this regard, he next submits that the Sandhani authority, Chittagong Medical 

College Unit informed that they do not have any record of blood donation from the period of 
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14.12.2000 to 15.09.2005 but admit certificate which was submitted by the respondent No.7 

and the Sandhani expressed regret for this kind of unintentional mistake. 

 

249. Mr. Aftab Uddin Siddique, the learned Advocate appearing on behalf of the 

respondent No.10 and submits that the news item published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ dated 

10.05.2014 under the heading ‘p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e pwpc’ is an authentic news which 

was published for public interest maintaining all ethics and norms of Journalism. 

 

250. He next submits that after the publication of the aforesaid news item dated 

10.05.2014, neither the respondent No.7 nor Chittagong Central Jail Authority denied the 

allegations or information made in the news item; or sent any re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) against 

the news item to Prothom Alo; which establishes the authenticity of content of the news item, 

but after filing of the present writ petition the respondent No.9 has stated, “Na 
10/05/2014¢MÊx a¡¢lM ®~c¢eL fËbj B−m¡ f¢œL¡u ‘p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e pwpc’ 
fËL¡¢na hJ²hÉ p¢WL e−q” Which is nothing but an ill motivated trial to run the original fact 

into another direction. The respondent No.10 didn’t receive the rejoinder (fË¢ah¡c-¢m¢f) 

dated 10.05.2014 made by the respondent No.9 to be published in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’. 

The respondent No.9 regarding the service of the period of sentence in jail by the respondent 

No.7, Nizam Uddin Hazari, admitted in his re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) dated 10.05.2014 that, 

“−lu¡a fËb¡u p¡S¡ ®i¡N ®n−o ¢a¢e 01/12/2005¢MËx a¡¢lM Aœ L¡l¡N¡l q−a j¤¢J² m¡i 
L−le” which is a focal basis to the news item dated 10.05.2014. 

 

251. We have heard the learned Advocates for the respective parties, perused the writ 

petition with supplementary affidavits and affidavits-in-reply, affidavits-in-compliance and 

other documents on record. It appears from the aforesaid facts and circumstances of the case 

that the respondent No.7 was convicted under section 19(a) and (f) of the Arms Act and 

sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of 10 years under section 19(a) of the 

said Act and further sentenced for a period of 7 years under section 19(f) of the said Act 

concurrently in Special Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 passed by the judgment dated 

16.08.1999. Thereafter, the respondent No.7 surrendered before the Court on 14.09.1999 and 

preferred appeal being Criminal Appeal No.2369 of 2000 before the High Court Division 

which was dismissed on 02.05.2001. Against which the respondent No.7 preferred Criminal 

Petition for Leave to Appeal No.107 of 2001 which was also dismissed on 27.02.2002. 

Against that, a Criminal Review Petition No.18 of 2002 was filed and the same was 

dismissed on 26.06.2004. 

 

252. Admittedly, the respondent No.7 contested the Pourashava election and elected as 

Mayor of Feni Pourashava in the year of 2011 and thereafter, elected as Member of 

Parliament from Feni-2, Constituency No.266 dated 05.01.2014 and has been performing as a 

Member of Parliament. 

 

253. On 10.05.2014 ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ a daily newspaper published a news that,  

‘p¡S¡ Lj ®M−VC ®h¢l−u k¡e pwpc’  
j−e q−QR HV¡ S¡¢mu¡¢a z  
¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£ c¤C hRl cn j¡p HL ¢ce Lj  
L¡l¡ ®i¡N L−l −h¢l−u ®N−Re z  
®j¡x R¢Nl ¢ju¡  
QVÊNË¡j L¡l¡N¡−ll ®SÉØW p¤f¡l z 
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254. From Annexure-5 series of the respondent No.10 a snap of ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ 

was annexed wherein it is found that,  

    “j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a 
 fËb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o  
j¤¢J² ®cJu¡ q−m¡  
®lu¡a 01-06-2017  
  (ü¡rl-AØfÖV)  
 1/12/2005  
¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l  
QVÊNË¡j ®Leâ£u L¡l¡N¡l z” 

 

255. The writ petitioner filed the writ petition and Rule Nisi was issued on 08.06.2014. 

The allegation was brought against the respondent No.7 in the writ petition is that the 

respondent No.7 was convicted and sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for 10 years 

and 7 years concurrently meaning that he had to suffer 10 years in Jail, i.e. the respondent 

No.7 had suffered both in hajot and Jail for a total period of 5 years 7 months and 21 days 

and the duration of period of conviction of the respondent No.7 was reduced to 1 year 6 

months and 17 days as per news report. In that context, it appears that the respondent No.7 

became free almost 2 years and 10 months long before of his actual exit date from Jail, i.e. 

before finality of serving out his punishment, the respondent No.7 came out of the jail and 

contested the national election in 2014 from Feni-2 Constituency and as per Article 66(2)(d) 

of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh, a person shall be disqualified for 

election as a Member of Parliament who has been on conviction for a Criminal offence 

involving moral turpitude, sentenced to imprisonment for a term of not less than two years, 

unless a period of five years has elapsed since his release and before serving out the 

punishment and thereby elapsing of subsequent five years, the respondent No.7 contested the 

national election and making false statement in the affidavit of the nomination paper and as 

such he may be declared disqualified for election as per Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO for 

offences under Article 73 of the RPO and holding the present post by the respondent No.7 is 

unlawful and may be declared illegal. 

 

256. The respondent No.7 denied the allegation made in the writ petition stating that he 

has been released from Jail on 01.12.2005 after serving the sentence and getting remission 

from the Jail authority. This contention of the respondent No.7 is particularly supported by 

the respondent No.10 which published a news with a snapshot of the register of Chittagong 

Jail authority signed by the Senior Jail Super, Chittagong Central Jail that, “j§m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a 
fËb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢J² ®cJu¡ q−m¡ ®lu¡a 01-06-2017   (ü¡rl-AØfÖV)  1/12/2005 
¢p¢eul ®Sm p¤f¡l QVÊNË¡j ®Leâ£u L¡l¡N¡l z” but this fact is denied by the respondent Nos.8 

and 9 in their affidavit-in-compliance, they have stated that the respondent No.7 was released 

from jail on bail on 01.06.2006 in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 from the High Court 

Division. 

 

257. From Annexure-X of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 Md. Sagir Mia, Senior Jail 

Superintendent, Chittagong Central Jail submitted that, ‘L¡l¡N¡l q−a p¡S¡ Lj ®M−V ®h¢l−u k¡Ju¡l 
®L¡e p¤−k¡N ®eC z h¢ZÑa L−uc£ ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£ Aœ L¡l¡N¡l q−a p¡S¡ ®i¡Nla AhØq¡u jq¡j¡eÉ Bc¡m−al B−cn 
®j¡a¡−hL S¡¢j−e j¤¢J² m¡i L−le z’ and he begs apology for his earlier re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) that 

the respondent No.7 was released on 31.12.2005 from the jail on remission. 

 

258. From the report dated 30.06.2016 filed by the respondent No.9 that, ‘K‡qw` bs 
4014/G Rbve wbRvg DÏxb nvRvix m¤úwK©Z PÆMÖvg †K›`ªxq KvivMv‡ii fwZ© †iwR÷vi wbix¶v K‡i †`Lv hvq, 
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D³ cÖôvq bx‡Pi †Kvbvq GKwU eo Ask †Qov K‡qw` fwZ© †iwR÷v‡ii 25 bs Kjv‡g †hLv‡b ew›` gyw³ msµvš— 
Z_¨ wjwce× Kiv nq †mB AskUyKzB †Qov (Qvqvwjwc mshy³-O)|  
fwZ© †iwR÷v‡ii gyw³ msµvš— Z_¨ wjwce× msµvš— Kjv‡gi AskUyKz †Qov _vKv, fwZ© †iwR÷v‡i †iqvZ 
msµvš— Z_¨ NlvgvRv _vKv, g~j mvRv †iqvZ cÖ_vq gyw³ †`qv n‡jv g‡g© fyqv Gw›U« BZ¨vw` welq¸‡jv ch©‡e¶Y 
K‡i cÖZxqgvb n‡”Q KvivMv‡ii †Kvb `yó P‡µi gva¨‡g †Kvb A‰ea D‡Ïk¨/nxb ¯̂v_© PwiZv_© Kivi gvb‡m G 
wg_¨v NUbvmg~n mvRv‡bv n‡q‡Q| Rbve wbRvg DÏxb nvRvix 2011 mv‡j †cŠimfv wbe©vP‡b AvBbMZfv‡e 
g‡bvbqb `vwL‡ji kZ© c~iYv‡_© 5 eQi c~‡e© Kviv gyw³i †Kvb cÖZ¨qb msµvš— Z_¨ ev bw_ hw` Kviv KZ©„c¶ ev 
weÁ wePvwiK Av`vjZ KZ©„K wbe©vPb Kwgk‡b Dc ’̄vwcZ n‡q _v‡K Z‡e Zv wbix¶Y Kivi cÖ‡qvRb i‡q‡Q Ges 
Zvi Rb¨ GKwU mgwš̂Z Z`š— KwgwU MV‡bi cÖ‡qvRbxqZv we‡ewPZ n‡”Q|’    

 

259. From Annexure-X dated 09.10.2016, report of the IG Prison it appears that, 

‘Dc‡iv³ mvK©yjvi g~‡j i³`v‡bi wewbgq †Kvb K‡q`x Avmvgxi cÖvß we‡kl †iqvZ myweav we¯—vwiZ Kviv wewa 
767 Gi weavb †gvZv‡eK e›`xi †iqvZ KvW© I wnw÷« wU‡K‡U †iqvZ cÖ`v‡bi KviY I cÖvß †iqv‡Zi cwigvY 

- -D‡j L _vK‡Zv| D‡j L¨ †h, †iqvZ KvW© I wnw÷« wU‡KU msi¶‡Yi †gqv` Kviv wewai 780 (8) I 588 
Gi weavb †gvZv‡eK 01 (GK) evmi| K‡q`x bs 4114/G wbRvg DwÏb nvRvix Gi wnw÷« wU‡KU, †iqvZ KvW© 
Ges i³`vb msµvš— †Kvb bw_ cÎ PÆMÖvg †K›`ªxq KvivMv‡i Ly‡R bv cvIqvq D³ wel‡q we¯—vwiZ Z_¨ 
D`NvUb Kiv m¤¢e nqwb| PÆªMÖvg †K›`ªxq KvivMv‡i Rbve wbRvg nvRvixi i³ `vb msµvš— †Kvb Z_¨ bv cvIqvq 
Kviv KZ©„c¶ G wel‡q cÖwZ‡e`b †cÖi‡Yi Rb¨ mÜvbx, PÆMÖvg †gwWK¨vj K‡jR BDwbU, PÆMÖvg eive‡i cÎ 
gvidZ †hvMv‡hvM K‡ib| 

mÜvbx HL f−œl j¡dÉ−j S¡e¡u ®k,  14-12-2000 wLª: n‡Z 15-09-2005 wLª: ch©š— mg‡qi PvwnZ †iKW© 
cÎvw` 10-12 eQ‡ii cyi‡bv weavq Ges Zv‡`I Kvh©vjq ’̄vbvš—‡ii mgq webó n‡q‡Q weavq PvwnZ Z_¨ cÖ`v‡b 
AcviMZv cÖKvk K‡i ỳ:L cÖKvk K‡i‡Qb | Z‡e mÜvbx KZ©„c¶ cÖ`Ë mb` A¯̂xKvi K‡ibwb|’  

 

260. From the aforesaid report of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 it appears that the 

respondent Nos.8 and 9 admitted that the information record in the admission register was 

torn and it was done by some dishonest clique and to find out the real fact, an inquiry 

committee may be formed and it further reveals that there is no existence of history ticket 

wherein the elaborate information of blood donation of the prisoner is recorded. There is no 

information about the blood donation in the record of the Chittagong Central Jail. The 

Sandhani authority also could not produce any record though they did not deny their 

certificate about the blood donation. 

 

261. From Annexure-10, it appears that during his custody in jail from 14.09.2000 to 

01.12.2005 respondent No.7 donated blood in total 13 times through the Chittagong Jail 

authority to the Sandhani, a renowned charitable organization of medical students, and 

thereby obtained special remission under Code No.765 of the Jail Code, but the respondent 

No.8 did not count the said special remission. From the certificate dated 06.10.2005 given to 

the respondent No.7 by Sandhani (Annexure-9) has been annexed with the affidavit-in-reply 

of the respondent No.7 to the affidavit-in-compliance of the respondent No.8, a certificate 

was also given to the respondent No.7 by the Sandhani authority which quoted below: 

           fËnwp¡fœ 
HC j−jÑ fËaÉ¡ue Ll¡ k¡C−a−R ®k, ¢eS¡j X~¢cce q¡S¡l£, ¢fa¡-Sue¡m B−hc£e q¡S¡l£, 
BC¢X ew-4114/H L¡l¡¿¹l£e b¡L¡L¡m£e QVÊNË¡j ®Leâ£u L¡l¡N¡−l Na 14-12-2000 wLª: n‡Z 
15-09-2005 wLª: ch©š— mg‡qi j−dÉ BaÈj¡eha¡l ®ph¡u ¢e−u¡¢Sa qCu¡ QVÊNË¡j ®Leâ£u 
L¡l¡N¡l LaÑªf−rl j¡dÉ−j 13 (®al) CE¢eV lJ²c¡e Ll¡u Bfe¡−L Aœ pwØq¡l fr 
®b−L ®cn J S¡¢al LmÉ¡−Z i¢̈jL¡ l¡M¡u B¿¹¢lLi¡−h deÉh¡c ‘¡fepq Bfe¡l jwNm J 
ESÆm i¢hoÉa L¡je¡ Ll¢R z 
ü¡rl        ü¡rl  
pi¡f¢a      p¡d¡lZ pÇf¡cL 
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mÜvbx, PÆMÖvg †gwWK¨vj K‡jR BDwbU,                                   mÜvbx, PÆMÖvg †gwWK¨vj K‡jR BDwbU,  
 

262. The total extra remission of sentence as per the circular has been calculated as 

follows: 

For 1
st
 time  ----------------------------- 30 days  

      2
nd

 time  ----------------------------- 32 days  

      3
rd

 time  ----------------------------- 34 days  

      4
th

 time  ----------------------------- 36 days  

      5
th

 time  ----------------------------- 38 days  

      6
th

 time  ----------------------------- 40 days  

      7
th

 time  ----------------------------- 42 days  

      8
th

 time  ----------------------------- 44 days  

      9
th

 time  ----------------------------- 46 days  

    10
th

 time  ----------------------------- 48 days  

    11
th

 time  ----------------------------- 50 days  

    12
th

 time  ----------------------------- 52 days  

                        13
th

 time  ----------------------------- 54 days 

                             Total 13
th

 times ---------------- 486 days 

 

 

263. For proper adjudication of the matter, let us examine the Articles 65 & 66 of the 

Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh and other provisions of the RPO, which 

reads as follows: 

   feÄ·j i¡N 
   BCe pi¡ 
      fËbj f¢l−QRc-pwpc 
pwpc fË¢aØW¡ 65z(1) S¡a£u pwpc e¡−j h¡wm¡−c−nl HL¢V pwpc b¡¢L−h--------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
pwp−c ¢ehÑ¡¢Qa qCh¡l ®k¡NÉa¡ J A−k¡NÉa¡ 
 66z (1)-------------------------------------------------------------------- 
       (2) ®L¡e hÉ¢J² pwp−cl pcpÉ ¢ehÑ¡¢Qa qCh¡l Hhw pwpc pcpÉ b¡¢Lh¡l ®k¡NÉ 

qC−he e¡, k¢c 
  (L)---------------------------------------------------------------- 
  (M)---------------------------------------------------------------- 
  (N)---------------------------------------------------------------- 
  (O) ¢a¢e ®~e¢aL ØMmeS¢ea ®L¡e ®g¡~Sc¡l£ Afl¡−d ®c¡o£ p¡hÉÙ¹ qCu¡ Ae§Ée 
c¤C hvp−ll L¡l¡c−eX c¢eXa qe Hhw ay¡q¡l j¤¢J²m¡−il fl fy¡Q hvplL¡m A¢ah¡¢qa e¡ qCu¡ b¡−L; 
 
264. The Representation of the People Order, 1972 (Amendment 2007), section: 

“12.(1) Any elector of a constituency may propose or second for election to that 

constituency, the name of any person qualified to be a member under clause (1) of 

Article 66 of the Constitution: 

 (a)……………………………………………………………………. 

[(ai) is a person who is convicted of an offence punishable under Articles 73, 74, 78, 

79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84 and 86, and sentenced to imprisonment for a term of not less 

than two years, unless a period of five years has elapsed since the date of his release; 

 

265. Article 15 of the Representation of the People Order, 1972 (Amendment 2007) 

provides as under: 
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“15. (1) The Returning Officer shall, after the scrutiny of nomination papers, prepare 

and publish in the prescribed manner a list of candidates who have been validly 

nominated.” 

 

266. Chapter V (Election Disputes) of the Representation of the People Order, 1972 

(Amendment 2007) provides sections 49, 51 and 57 as under: 

49.(1) No election shall be called in question except by an election  petition presented 

by a candidate for that election in accordance with the  provisions of this Chapter. 

(2) An election petition shall be presented to the High Court Division  within 

such time as may be prescribed. 

 51.(1)Every election petition shall contain- 

 (a)……………………………………………………………………… 

 (b)full particulars of any corrupt or illegal practice or other illegal act  alleged to 

have been committed, including as full a statement as possible  of the names of 

the parties alleged to have committed such corrupt or  illegal practice or illegal 

act and the date and place of the commission of  such practice or act; and  

 (2) A petitioner may claim as relief any of the following declarations,   

 namely- 

(a) That the election of the returned candidate is void; 

(3) Every election petition and every schedule or annex to that petition shall be signed 

by the petitioner and verified in the manner laid down in the Code of Civil Procedure, 

1908 for the verification of pleadings. 

57.(1)Subject to the provisions of this Order and the rules, every election petition shall be 

tried, as nearly as may be, in accordance with the procedure for the trial of suits under the 

Code of Civil Procedure, 1908; 

(2)Subject to the provisions of this Order the evidence Act, 1872, shall apply for the trial 

of an election petition. 

 

267. The present petitioner stated in the writ petition by annexing an information slip 

(Annexure-E to the writ petition) that the respondent No.7 was released from Jail on 

01.06.2006 pursuant to an order of the High Court Division passed in Criminal Appeal 

No.1409 of 2006 arising out of the judgment and order dated 16.03.2006 passed by the 

learned Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong in Special Tribunal Case No.575 of 

1999. But the  respondent No.7 filed an information slip from the Court of the learned 

Additional Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong which shows that no such case was fixed on 

16.03.2006 in the court diary and cause list for judgment or order in special Tribunal Case 

No.757 of 1999. The High Court Division asked for report of the learned Metropolitan 

Sessions Judge, Chittagong and it appears from the report of the learned Metropolitan 

Sessions Judge, Chittagong dated 23.03.2016 that no notice or order of the High Court 

Division passed in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 was communicated to the concerned 

Court.  

  

268. The High Court Division asked for report of the Inspector General (Prison), i.e. the 

respondent No.8 and it appears from the report submitted by the respondent No.8 that the 

respondent No.7 was released bail on 01.06.2006 in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006. But 

the learned Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Chittagong in his report clearly stated that no notice 

or order of bail/admission/call for record passed by the High Court Division in the said 

Criminal Appeal was communicated to the concerned court.  
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269. The respondent No.8 and respondent No.9 (Senior Jail Super, Chittagong Central 

Jail) in their affidavit-in-compliance dated 09.09.2014 annexed a copy of bail bond in page 

No.13 of the said affidavit-in-compliance. Subsequently, the respondent No.8 again 

submitted an inquiry report annexing a bail bond before the Court on 27.03.2016, but there 

are some gross discrepancies in the said two bail bonds. Some of the discrepancies are given 

in the table below: 

SI Copy of bail bond annexed with 

affidavit-in-compliance of respondent 

Nos. 8 and 9 dated 9.9.2014 

Copy of bail bond 

submitted by respondent 

No.8 on 27.3.2016 

Nature of 

Case 

Tick mark on appeal Tick marks on both 

appeal and revision 

Section  19(f) 19(a) and 19(f)(Ka) 

Name of the 

District 

X Feni 

Appeal 

Number 

X 1409/06 

Signature of 

the accused 

X  

Seal of the 

court of District 

Magistrate  

X  

Signature of 

the Advocate  

Not Same  Not same 

Alignment  Not same  Not same 

  

270. From the above discrepancies it may be presumed that the report and documents 

before this Court are not admitted rather disputed and beyond reasonable doubt. 

  

271. The High Court Division vide order dated 26.05.2016 further directed the respondent 

No.8 i.e. IG Prison, to submit the attested photocopy of the decision of the jail authority on 

the remission given to the respondent No.7. But the respondent No.8 has submitted only a 

calculation sheet without submitting the decision on remission. The calculation sheet 

prepared by the respondent No.8 does not reflect the actual remission given to the respondent 

No.7 since the respondent No.8 has prepared the calculation sheet as per 1
st
 part of the Jail 

Code in relation to the remission (general remission) partially counting the remission of 

respondent No.7. The respondent No.8 in its calculation sheet has not considered the special 

remission as laid down in the 2
nd

 Part of the Jail Code in relation to the remission, i.e. Code 

No.765. The respondent No.8 also has not considered any Gazette leave and weekly holidays 

as laid down in Code No.689 of the Jail Code (agx©q AvPvi). The respondent No.8 also has not 

considered previous custody of the respondent No.7 served from 22.03.1992 to 28.07.1992 in 

connection with the Special Tribunal Case. The above mentioned remission has been 

recorded in the history ticket of the respondent No.7 as per Code No. 556 of the Jail Code 

which has been kept with the jail authority.  

  

272. The calculation report on remission submitted by the respondent No.8 does not 

reflect the actual remission as the respondent No.8 admittedly stated in its calculation 

report/sheet, ‘ Kviv wewa 1g L‡Ûi 780(8) I 558 aviv Abyhvqx †iqvZ KvW© I wnw÷« wU‡KU msi¶‡Yi †gqv` 1 
ermi nIqvq D³ †iqvZ KvW© I wnw÷« wU‡KU Ae‡jvKb Kivi †Kvb my‡hvM wQj bv|Õ  In this regard Code No.558 

of the Jail Code provides, ‘†Kvb e›`x KvivMv‡i gviv †M‡j Zvi wnw÷« wU‡KU g„Zy¨i ci `yB eQi ch©š— msiw¶Z 
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_vK‡e| mvRvcÖvß e›`xi gyw³i ci GK ev `yB eQi ch©š— Zvi wnw÷« wU‡KU msiw¶Z _vK‡e|Õ The Code No.774 of 

the jail Code further provides ÔÔ †h me mvRvcÖvß e›`x gyw³ †c‡q hv‡e Zv‡`i †iqvZ KvW© (†Rj dig-18) GK 
eQi KvivMv‡i msi¶Y Ki‡Z n‡e|ÕÕ As admittedly the respondent No.8 has destroyed the remission 

card and history ticket after 1(one) of releasing the respondent No.7. It appears that the 

respondent No.7 was released from the jail after serving out his sentence on the basis of 

remission on 01.12.2005 (as evidence from the remission register namely ‡iqvZ wU‡KU-18 
annexed as Annexure-1 to the supplementary affidavit on behalf of respondent No.7 dated 

18.05.2016). It is necessary to mention here that after publication of the news item dated 

10.05.2014 in ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ regarding release of respondent No.7 from Jail, the Jail 

authority vide re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) dated 10.05.2014 signed by Senior Jail Super, Sagir Mia 

clearly stated that the respondent No.7 after serving in custody was released from Jail on 

01.12.2005 on the basis of remission. The respondent No.8 does not disown the said re-

joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) dated 10.05.2014. 

 

273. The statement of the respondent No.8 regarding preferring Criminal Appeal being 

No.1409 of 2006 by the respondent No.7 and releasing him on bail is also a disputed question 

of fact. As mentioned above, the learned Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Chittagong submitted 

a report dated 23.03.2016 clearly stating that no notice or order of High Court Divison passed 

in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 was communicated to the concerned Court. Moreover, 

if any prisoner prefers any appeal to the High Court Division than Code No.605 of the Jail 

Code provides, ‘hLb †Kvb e›`x nvB‡KvU© Avcxj K‡i ZLb †Rj mycvi D³ Avcx‡ji wel‡q `vqiv Av`vjZ‡K 
(Gg)105 b¤¦i nvB‡KvU© di‡g AewnZ Ki‡eb|Õ But the Chittagong Jail authority never informed the 

special Tribunal about the said Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 which further creates a 

doubt whether such appeal was preferred by the respondent No.7. Hence, the claim of the 

respondent No.8 that the respondent No.7 was released on bail is also a disputed question of 

fact.  

  

274. The respondent No.8 has admitted that ‘the lower part of inmate admission register 

wherein the entry regarding release of the inmate is usually made was torn’. The respondent 

No.8 has also admitted that the remission ticket on 01.12.2005 has been signed by the then 

Senior Jail Super Mr. Bazlul Rashid from where it appears that the respondent No.7 has been 

released from jail on 01.12.2005 on the basis of remission. 

 

275. It appears that the petitioner alleged that the respondent No.7 is disqualified from the 

time of filing nomination paper as a candidate of the Member of Parliament by making false 

statements. 

 

276. Article 66(2) of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh and the 

Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO relates to the election disputes triable before the election 

Tribunal. These factual aspect of the writ petition which discussed above are not admitted 

rather, it is disputed in different aspect and without taking evidence about the disputed fact of 

date of release of the respondent No.7 from Jail custody, the calculation of blood donation to 

the Sandhani and the special remission provided in the Jail Code which is recorded in the 

history ticket, it cannot be decided in a summary proceeding in the writ petition. 

 

277. Articles 57(1) and (2) of the RPO provides that: 

“57.(1)Subject to the provisions of this Order and the rules, every election petition shall 

be tried, as nearly as may be, in accordance with the procedure for the trial of suits under 

the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908; 
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(2)Subject to the provisions of this Order the evidence Act, 1872, shall apply for the trial 

of an election petition.” 

 

278. In this respect Article 125 of the Constitution of Bangladesh is very much applicable 

in the facts and circumstances of the case. Particularly, the facts and circumstances arises in 

the writ petition is a clear bar as this type of dispute cannot be decided without any evidence 

both oral and documentary. If we read Articles 102 and 125 of the Constitution together with 

Article 66 of the Constitution and relevant sections 12, 15, 49, 57 of the RPO, it may be 

presumed that the disputes of the present writ petition cannot be decided without any trial in 

accordance with Article 57(1) and (2) of the RPO. As the disputed facts arises which is 

discussed above which came before this Court on making inquiry and report, it is not clear in 

which report is correct. The respondent No.7 claims that he has been released from jail 

custody on 01.12.2005. The respondent Nos.8 and 9 in their report stated that the respondent 

No.7 was released on bail in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 on 01.06.2006 which is 

strongly denied by the respondent No.7 that he has preferred another appeal in which he has 

been granted bail.  

 

279. It is discussed above that the record of the subsequent Appeal No.1409 of 2006 is 

missing (from the report of the office of the High Court Division) and also the report of the 

respondent No.9, IG Prison, Dhaka that the history ticket is not available and the other record 

was not in proper position and he also recommended for an inquiry committee to find out the 

real fact.   

 

280. From the aforesaid facts and circumstances it appears that there cannot be any 

decision that the respondent No.7 has made false statements in the nomination paper 

releasing from the Jail without serving entire sentence awarded against him before 

establishing an allegation by any legal proceedings that he has committed any fraud for 

releasing from the Jail custody before serving the entire sentence. 

 

281. In the case of Mahmudul Haque (Md) vs. Md. Hedayetullah and others reported in 

48 DLR (AD) 128 wherein it is held, “Constitution of Bangladesh, 1972-Article 102-In 

election matters the jurisdiction of the High Court Division cannot be invoked under Article 

102 of the Constitution except on a very limited ground of total absence of jurisdiction 

(Coram non-judice) or malice in law for the purpose of interfering with any step taken in the 

election process.” “Election” connotes the process of choosing representatives by electorates 

in democratic institutions. The election process starts from the Notification issued by the 

competent authority (in a parliamentary election or bye election, by the Election 

Commission) declaring election schedule and culminates in the declaration of result of 

election by a gazette notification. In the instant case the election process started with the 

Notification issued by the Election Commission on 12.12.1994. In pursuance thereof the 

appellant and respondent Nos.1-3 submitted their respective nomination papers on 

01.01.1995. On 02.01.1995 at the time of scrutiny respondent No.1 raised a dispute as to the 

age of the appellant. But the Returning Officer in exercise of his authority under clause (3) of 

Article 14 of President’s Order No.155 of 1972 upon assigning reasons and upon apparent 

compliance with Article 14(3)(d)(iii) of President Order No.155 of 1972, namely, that “the 

Returning Officer shall not enquire into the correctness or validity of any entry in the 

electoral roll” disallowed the objection and accepted the nomination paper of the appellant as 

valid. Thereafter, the question as to whether the appellant had really attained the age of 25 

years on 01.01.1995 or not, undoubtedly became an election disputes. For proper adjudication 

of election dispute President’s Order No.155 of 1972 provides under Chapter V a special 
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forum and procedure. An election dispute can only be raised by way of an election in the 

manner provided therein. Where a right or liability is created by a statute providing special 

remedy for its enforcement such remedy as a matter of course must be availed of first. The 

High Court Division will not interfere with the electoral process as delineated earlier in this 

judgment, more so if it is an election pertaining to Parliament because it is desirable that such 

election should be completed within the time specified under the Constitution. In the instant 

case, a serious dispute as to the correct age of the appellant was raised before the High Court 

Division which was not at all a subject matter of decision on mere affidavits and certificates 

produced by the parties. 

 

282. It was not within the jurisdiction of the High Court Division to enter into a field of 

investigation as to the correct age of the appellant on 01.01.1995, which would be appropriate 

for the Election Tribunal to investigate into on taking evidence, if and when raised after the 

poll.” 

 

283. In the case of Dr. Mohiuddin Khan Alamgir vs. Government of the People’s 

Republic of Bangladesh reported in 62 DLR (AD) (2010) 425 wherein it is held, 

“Constitution of Bangladesh, 1972-Article 125-Article 125 of the Constitution provides that 

no election to the offices of President or to the Parliament shall be called in question except 

by an election petition presented to such authority and in such manner as may be provided for 

by or under law made by the Parliament and in such view of the matter there is a complete 

ouster of jurisdiction in entertaining writ petition in the matter of election disputes except in 

cases of Coram non-judice or malice in law.” 

 

284. From the aforesaid decisions it appears that our Appellate Division is reluctant to 

entertain any application which ought to have disposed of by the election Tribunal. So, on 

this context present writ petition is not maintainable. 

 

285. And in the case of Kurapati Maria Das vs. M/S. Dr. Ambedkar Seva Samajan in 

Supreme Court of India Civil Appeal No.2617 of 2009 (arising out of SLP (Civil) No.15144 

of 2007). On 20.08.2006 a writ petition was filed before the Andhra Pradesh High Court with 

the following prayers: 

“For the said reasons, it is prayed that this Court may be pleased to issue a writ or 

order or direction more particularly one in the nature of Writ of Quo- Warranto 

against the 9
th

 respondent. (a) directing the 9
th

 respondent to disclose the authority 

under which he is holding the office of the Chairperson and the office of the 

Councilor of the Bapatla Municipal Council, Guntur District (representing Ward 

No.8).(b) directing the 9
th

 respondent to vacate the offices of the Chairperson and the 

Councilor of the Bapatla Municipal Council, Guntur District (representing Ward 

No.8), or, (c) removing the 9
th

 respondent from the office of the Chairperson and from 

the  office of the Councilor of the Bapatla Municipal Council, Guntur District 

(representing Ward No.8) and (d) to pass such other order or orders as this Hon’ble 

Court may deem fit and proper in the circumstances of the case.” 

“For the said reasons, it is prayed that this Court may be pleased to issue a writ or order 

or direction more particularly one in the nature of Writ of Quo- Warranto against the 9
th

 

respondent. (a) directing the 9
th

 respondent to disclose the authority under which he is 

holding the office of the Chairperson and the office of the Councilor of the Bapatla 

Municipal Council, Guntur District (representing Ward No.8). 
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286. In paragraph-14 of the aforesaid judgment it is observed: “In the first place, it would 

be better to consider as to whether the bar under Article 243ZG (b) is an absolute bar. The 

Article reads as thus: 

“243ZG(b) no election to any Municipality shall be called in question  except by an 

election petition presented to such authority and in such  manner as is provided for 

by or under any law made by the Legislature of  a State.” 

 

287.  At least from the language of clause (b), it is clear that the bar is absolute. Normally, 

where such a bar is expressed in a negative language as is the case here, it has to be held that 

the tone of clause (b) is mandatory and the bar created therein is absolute. This Court in its 

recent decisions has held the bar to be absolute. First such decision is reported as Jaspal 

Singh Arora v. State of M.P & Ors. [1998 (9) SCC 594]. In this case the election of the 

petitioner as the president of the Municipal Council was challenged by a writ petition under 

Article 226, which was allowed setting aside the election of the petitioner. In paragraph 3 of 

this judgment, the Court observed; 

“It is clear that the election could not be called in question except by an election 

petition as provided under that Act. The bar to interference by Courts in electoral 

matters contained under Article 243ZG of the Constitution was apparently overlooked 

by the High Court in allowing the writ petition. Apart from the bar under Article 

243ZG, on settled principles interference under Article 226 of the Constitution for the 

purpose of setting aside election to a municipality was not called for because of the 

statutory provision for election petition.” 

  

288. The second such decision is reported as Gurdeep Singh Dhillon Vs. Satpal & Ors. 

2006 (10) SCC 616]. In that decision, after quoting Article 243ZG (b) the Court observed that 

the shortcut of filling the writ petition and invoking Constitutional jurisdiction of the High 

Court under Article 226/227 was not permissible and the only remedy available to challenge 

the election was by raising the election dispute under the local statute. 

 

289. In our Constitution, Article 125 reads as under: 

“125z HC pw¢hd¡−e k¡q¡ hm¡ qCu¡−R, a¡q¡ p−šÅJ 
(L)-------------------------------------------------------------- 
(M) pwpc LaÑªL fËZ£a ®L¡e BC−el à¡l¡ h¡ Ad£e ¢hd¡e-Ae¤k¡u£ LaÑªf−rl ¢eLV Hhw Ae¤l²fi¡−h ¢edÑ¡¢la 

fËZ¡m£−a ¢ehÑ¡Qe£ clM¡Ù¹ hÉa£a (l¡ØVÊf¢a f−c) ¢ehÑ¡Qe h¡ pwp−cl ®L¡e ¢ehÑ¡Qe pÇf−LÑ ®L¡e fËnÀ Emb¡fe Ll¡ k¡C−h 
e¡ z” 

 

290. The Article 243ZG(b) of the Indian Constitution and Article 125(Kha) of the 

Constitution of Bangladesh is similar. 

 

291. In paragraph-17 of the aforesaid judgment it is stated that, “There is no dispute that 

Rule 1 of the Andhra Pradesh Municipalities (Decision on Election Disputes) Rules, 1967, 

specifically provides for challenging the election of Councilor or Chairman. It was tried to be 

feebly argued that this was a petition for quo-warranto and not only for challenging the 

election of the appellant herein. This contention is clearly incorrect. When we see the writ 

petition filed before the High Court, it clearly suggests that what is challenged in the election. 

In fact the prayer clauses (b) and (c) are very clear to suggest that it is the election of the 

appellant which is in challenge.” 

 

292. Another point raised by the respondent No.7 that the facts involved in the case is 

disputed in nature. It appears that ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ published the news that the 
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respondent No.7 released from the Jail on 01.12.2005 without serving the entire sentence. 

Thereafter, on the same day the Jail authority made a re-joinder(cÖwZev`Ñwjwc) on this issue 

containing that the respondent No.7 was released on remission. It is admitted by the 

respondent No.10 in affidavit-in-compliance that it has been proved by the snap of koyed 

register. 

 

293. Now, the dispute arises when respondent Nos.8 and 9 in their affidavit-in-

compliance and other affidavits contended that the respondent No.7 released from the Jail on 

01.06.2006 on bail in an another Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006.  This fact is denied by 

the respondent No.7 that he has been released on bail on 01.06.2006. 

 

294. It is presumed that the respondent No.7 came out from the Jail released by the Jail 

authority, if there is any allegation against him that he has committed any fraud, legal action 

could be taken against him but nothing was done. If it is true that he is released on 

01.06.2006 then the respondent Nos.8 and 9 is responsible for releasing him from the jail 

before completion of the serving of his remaining period. 

 

295. For proper adjudication of the aforesaid matter, let us examine ‘The Bengal Jail 

Code’ 1894, which reads as under: 

Chapter XI-Prisoners’ History Tickets 

549. Every prisoner shall immediately of his reception in jail be provided with a 

History Ticket (B.J. Form Nos. 20, 21 or 22) in which, besides the information 

required by the heading, shall be recorded at the time, and in chronological sequence 

every occurrence of importance in the jail life of such prisoner, and every order 

specially relating to him. 

556.The Deputy Superintendent (in a central jail) or the Jailer, the deputy Jailers or 

European warders, as the rules, or orders given by the Superintendent there under, 

require, shall enter in the ticket the following particulars- 

(a) the date of admission into the Jail; 

(b) the issue of clothing and kit on admission and subsequently, see Rule 506 and 

chapter XXXVIII; 

© any complaint made by the prisoner of sickness or report of his sickness;  

(d) application for copy of judgment if the prisoner wants to appeal, see Rule 603;  

(e) receipt of copy of judgment, see Rule 603; 

(f) dispatch of appeal, see Rule 603; 

(g) substance of order of Appellate court, see Rule 609;  

(h) the fact of appeal not being made before expiration of term allowed for appealing, 

see Rule 599;  

(i) the fact that a prisoner does not wish to appeal, see rule 606; 

(j) the amount of remission awarded, see Rule 763;  

(k) the total remission in days earned up to the end of each quarter; 

(l) any offence committed, including omission to perform tasks;  

(m) any interviews allowed and the receipt or dispatch of private letters, see Rule 664; 

(n) Inspector-General’s sanction for employment as convict warder or night guard, see 

Rule 405 and 408; 

(o) Dispatch to a court, or transfer, discharge, or death; 

(p) the use of the latrine out of hours;  

(q) the word “ unidentified’’ in respect of every prisoner notified under rule 623;  

® the weight of ankle ring or fetters if imposed; see Rule 1216; 

(s) any order for the repair of clothing, see rule 800. 
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Chapter XIII-Release of Prisoners 

566. The warrants of all convicts whose release becomes due in any month shall be 

examined on the 25
th

 day of the month proceeding to ascertain their correctness.  

571. Each prisoner shall, before being released, be carefully compared with his 

personal description in the Admission Register, and the superintendent or Jailer, as the 

case maybe, shall satisfy him that the proper prisoner has been brought forward and 

that his sentence has been duly executed except in respect of remission earned under 

the remission rules. 

The medical officer shall record, or cause to be recorded the health and weight of 

every prisoner on release, in the admission register, releases diary, and history ticket.  

576. Every prisoner sentenced to imprisonment for 6 months or upwards shall, on 

release, be furnished with a certificate (B.J. Form No. 31) signed by the 

superintendent to the effect that he has completed his term of imprisonment. In case 

any remission of sentence has been granted, the amount should be stated.  

Chapter XIV-Appeals and Petitions. 

610(3) In every case in which a sentence is confirmed on appeal, the jail authorities 

shall receive information to this effect by means of the form prescribed. Irrespective, 

of the procedure prescribed above, the appellate court shall, for the information of the 

appellant, notify to the superintendent of the jail in which such appellant is confined 

the result of his appeal. This notification, which shall be made in the sanctioned form, 

is intended solely for the communication of the result of the appeal to the appellant, 

and in no way relieves judicial officers from the duty of issuing revised warrants 

when such are necessary. All warrants and orders issued with reference to a prisoner’s 

appeal should be in English, and should state the prisoner’s father’s name as well as 

the prisoner’s name.  

Chapter XXI-Remission 

756. Ordinary remission shall be awarded on the following scale: 

(a) two days per month for thoroughly good conduct and scrupulous attention to 

all prison regulations;  

(b) two days per month for industry and the due performance of the daily task 

imposed.  

757. In lieu of the remission allowed under Rule 756, convict warders shall receive 

eight days ordinary remission pronto, convict night guards seven days per month, 

convict overseers six days per month and convict night watchmen five days per 

month.  

758. Subject to the provisions of Rule 755, remission under rule 756 shall be 

calculated from the first day of the calendar month next following the date of the 

prisoner’s sentence; any prisoner who, after having been released on bail or because 

his sentence has been temporarily suspended is afterwards re-admitted to jail shall be 

brought under the remission system on the first day of the calendar month next 

following his re-admission, but shall be credited on his return to jail with any 

remission which he may have earned previous to his release on bail or the suspension 

of his sentence. Remission under Rule757 shall be calculated from the first day of the 

next calendar month following the appointment of the prisoner as convict warder, 

convict overseer or convict night watchman. 

759. Prisoners employed on prison services, such as cooks and sweepers, who work 

on Sundays and holidays, maybe awarded three days ordinary remission per quarter in 

addition to any other remission earned under these rules.  

760. Any prisoner eligible for remission under these rules who for a period of one 

year reckoned from the first day of the month following the date of his sentence or the 
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date on which he was last punished for a prison offence, has committed no prison 

offence whatever, shall be awarded fifteen days ordinary remission in addition to any 

other remission earned under these rules.  

761. Ordinary remission shall be awarded by the superintendent or, subject to his 

control and supervision and to the provisions of Rule 762, by the deputy 

Superintendent, Jailer, Deputy Jailer or any other officer specially empowered in that 

behalf by him. 

762. An officer awarding ordinary remission shall, before making the award, consult 

the prisoner’s history ticket in which every offence proved against the prisoner must 

be carefully recorded.  

If a prisoner has not been punished during the quarter otherwise than by a formal 

warning, he shall be awarded the full ordinary remission for that quarter under Rule 

756, or, if he is a convict officer under Rule 757. 

If, a prisoner has been punished during the quarter otherwise than by a formal 

warning the case shall be placed before the Superintendent, who, after considering the 

punishment or punishments awarded, shall decide what amount of remission shall be 

granted under rule 756 or, if the convict is a convict officer, under Rue 757. All 

remissions recorded on the prisoner’s history ticket shall be entered quarterly on the 

remission Card (B. J. Register No. 18) 

763. The award of ordinary remission shall be made, as nearly as possible on 1
st
 

January, 1
st
 April, 1

st
 July and 1

st
 October, and the amount shall be intimated to the 

prisoner and recorded on his history ticket. Remission granted to a prisoner under 

Rule 760 shall be recorded on his history ticket as soon as possible after it is awarded.  

764. No prisoner shall receive ordinary remission for the calendar month in which he 

is released.  

765. Special remission may be given to any prisoner whether entitled to ordinary 

remission or not, other than a prisoner undergoing a sentence referred to in Rule 752, 

for special services, as for example:  

(1). Assisting in detecting or preventing breaches of prison discipline or regulations;  

(2) Success teaching handicrafts;  

(3) Special excellence in or greatly increased outturn of work of good quality;  

(4) Protecting an officer of the prison from attack; 

(5) Assisting an officer of the prison in the case of outbreak, fire or similar 

emergency;  

(6) Economy in wearing clothes. 

766. Special remission maybe awarded- 

(a) By the Superintendent to an amount not exceeding thirty days in one year; 

(b) By the inspector General or the Local Government to an amount not exceeding 

sixty days in one year.  

767. An award of special remission shall be entered on the history ticket of the 

prisoner as soon as possible after it is made, and the reasons for every award of 

special remission by a superintendent shall be briefly recorded.  

768. The total remission awarded to a prisoner under all these rules shall not without 

the special sanction of the Local Government, exceed one fourth part of his sentence.  

 

296. So, the controversial statement of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 is not believable, even 

in their report they have admitted that there is no existence of history ticket about the claim of 

the respondent No.7 that he is released from the Jail after serving and on remission, this claim 

cannot be adjudicated as there is no existence of the history ticket. From the facts and 
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circumstances discussed above, we find the claim and counter claim of the respondent Nos.8 

and 7 which is a disputed question of fact. 

 

297. Now, another development is, respondent Nos.8 and 9 contends that the respondent 

No.7 was in Jail in another case which is found from the Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 

and which is also denied by the respondent No.7 and this matter is also a disputed question of 

fact what we have discussed earlier. It is very much clear that this factual aspect of the 

relevant documents which especially, the report of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 is disputed, 

controversial, contradictory and on the basis of those report, which is not a complete report, 

the respondent No.7 who is sitting Parliament Member, cannot be adjudicated that he was 

disqualified at the time of filing nomination paper making false statement and his seat should 

be vacated. 

 

298. In the case of Abdul Mukit Chowdhury vs. The Chief Election Commissioner & ors 

reported in 41 DLR (HCD) (1989) 57 wherein it is held, “Examination of Annexure-A which 

in its turn requires elaborate investigation warranting proofs which is not the function of this 

court and it may cause prejudice to either party if the same be taken into consideration under 

summary proceeding. There being a forum namely, the Election Tribunal set up to investigate 

into facts, we, therefore, restrain ourselves from making any observation as to whether the 

same is authentic or otherwise.” 

 

299. In the case of Farid Mia (Md.) vs. Amjad Ali (Md.) alias Mazu Mia and ors reported 

in 42 DLR 13 wherein it is held, “Constitution of Bangladesh, 1972-Article 102-In a 

summary preceding under Article 102 of the Constitution it is not possible to record a finding 

as to a disputed question of fact. 

 

300. In a quo-warranto proceeding, the exercise of authority is discretionary and, among 

other things, the court takes into consideration the motive of the person who moves the court. 

 

301. As regards the first ground, it may be stated that if the purpose of the writ petition 

was only to challenge the election of the appellant on the alleged ground of his being a 

defaulter then we would have felt no hesitation to declare at once that the writ petition was 

not maintainable. Indeed, we have already held while rejecting CPSLA No.21 of 1988 

(quoted in the affidavit-in-opposition) that “such questions as to disqualification, etc. which 

are questions of fact are better settled upon evidence which can be done more appropriately 

before a Tribunal. In the summary proceeding under Article 102 it is not desirable and, more 

often than not, not possible to record a finding as to a disputed question of fact.” 

 

302. The better view would have been to hold that in view of the facts of the case, it was 

not desirable to decide the issue in the writ jurisdiction without consideration of all the 

evidence-both oral and documentary.” 

 

303. In the case of AFM Shah Alam vs. Mujibul Huq & ors reported in 41 DLR (AD) 

(1989) 68 wherein it is held, “Reading the entire law and the rules we have come to this 

conclusion that the real and larger issue is completion of free and fair election with rigorous 

promptitude. Hence, election being a long, elaborate and complicated process for the 

purposes of electing public representatives it is not possible to lay down guidelines by any 

court because all the exigencies cannot be conceived humanly nor the vagaries of people 

contesting the election can be fathomed. In a dispute the issue is to be raised and evidence 

adduced for adjudication by a competent Tribunal. This function has been given to the 
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Election Tribunal and to nowhere else. The Election Commission has been given power to 

decide certain matters but such enquiry will not come within the purview of judicial enquiry 

because the power to decide judicially is different from deciding administratively. By taking 

resort to extraordinary jurisdiction for a writ the High Court Division will be asked to enter 

into a territory which is beset with the disputed facts and certainly by well-settled principles it 

is clear a writ court will not enter into such controversy.” 

“The jurisdiction of the High Court Division under Article 102 of the Constitution 

cannot be invoked except on the very limited ground of total absence of jurisdiction 

(Coram non-judice) or malice in law to challenge any step in the process of election 

including an order passed by the Election Commission under Rule 70 because: 

(a)……………………………………………………………………… 

(b)……………………………………………………………………… 

(c) Almost invariably there will arise dispute over facts which cannot and should not 

be decided in an extraordinary and summary jurisdiction of writ.” 

 

304. In addition to the decisions referred to above of our apex Court, we may rely the rest 

part of the Judgment in the case of Kurapati Maria Das vs. M/S. Dr. Ambedkar Seva Samajan 

in Supreme Court of India Civil Appeal No.2617 of 2009 (arising out of SLP (Civil) 

No.15144 of 2007). 

“We are afraid, we are not in position to agree with the contention that the case of K. 

Venkatachalam vs. A Swamickan & Anr. [1999 (4) SCC 526] is applicable to the 

present situation. Here the appellant had very specifically asserted in his counter 

affidavit that he did not belong to the Christian religion and that he further asserted 

that he was a person belonging to the scheduled Caste. Therefore, the Caste status of 

the appellant was a disputed question of fact depending upon the evidence. Such was 

not the case in K. Venkatachalam vs. A Swamickan & Anr. [1999 (4) SCC 526] 

Every case is an authority for what is actually decided in that. We do not find any 

general proposition that eve where there is a specific remedy of filing an Election 

petition and even when there is a disputed question of fact regarding the caste of a 

person who has been elected from the reserved constituency still remedy of writ 

petition under Article 226 would be available. 

  

305. Shri Gupta, however, further argued that in the present case what was prayed for was 

a writ of quo-warranto and in fact the election of the appellant was not called in question. It 

was argued that since the writ petitioners came to know about the appellant not belonging to 

the Scheduled Caste and since the post of the Chairperson was reserved only for the 

scheduled caste, therefore, the High Court was justified in entering into that question as to 

whether he really belongs to scheduled caste. In short, the learned counsel argued that 

independent of the election of the appellant as a ward member or as a chairperson; his caste 

itself was questioned in the writ petition only with the objective to see whether he could 

continue as the chairperson. This argument is clearly incorrect as the continuance of the 

appellant as the chairperson was not dependent upon something which was posterior to the 

appellant’s election as chairperson. It is not as if some event had taken place after the election 

of the appellant which created a disqualification in appellant to continue as the firstly, as a 

ward member and secondly as the chairperson which election was available only to the 

person belonging to the scheduled caste. It is an admitted position that wards No.8 was 

reserved for scheduled caste and so, also the post of chairperson. Therefore, though indirectly 

worded, what was in challenge in reality was the validity of the election of the appellant. 

According to the writ petitioners, firstly the appellant could not have been elected as a ward 

member nor could he be elected as the chairperson as he did not belong to the scheduled 
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caste. We can understand the eventuality where a person who is elected as a scheduled caste 

candidate, renounces his caste after the elections by conversion to some other religion. Then 

it is not the election of such person which would be in challenge but his subsequently 

continuing in his capacity as a person belonging to a particular caste. This counsel for the 

appellant rightly urged that the question of caste and the election are so inextricably 

connected that they cannot be separated. Therefore, when the writ petitioners challenged the 

continuation of the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to a particular caste what 

they in fact challenged is the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to a particular caste 

what they in fact challenged is the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to a particular 

caste what they in fact challenged is the validity of the election of the appellant, though 

apparently the petition is for the writ of quo-warranto. 

 

306. The Counsel for the appellant rightly urged that the question of caste and the election 

are so inextricably connected that they cannot be separated. Therefore, when the writ 

petitioners challenged the continuation of the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to 

a particular caste what they in fact challenged is the validity of the election of the appellant, 

though apparently the petition is for the writ of quo-warranto. 

 

307. In conclusion their Lordships held, “Under such circumstances, we do not think that 

the High Court could have decided that question of fact which was very seriously disputed by 

the appellant. It seems that in this case, the High Court has gone out of its way, firstly in 

relying on the Xerox copies of the service records of the appellants and then at the appellate 

stage, in calling the files of the Electricity Board where the appellant was working. This 

amounted to a roving enquiry into the caste of the appellant which was certainly not 

permissible in writ jurisdiction and also in the wake of Section 5 of 1993 Act.” 

  

308. Again merely because the appellant was described as being a Christian in the service 

records did not mean that the appellant was actually a person professing Christian religion. It 

was not after all known as to who had given those details and further as to whether the 

details, in reality, were truthful or not. It would be unnecessary for us to go into the aspect 

whether the petitioner in reality is a Christian for the simple reason that this issue was never 

raised at the time of his election. Again the appellant still holds the valid caste certificates in 

his favor declaring him to be belonging to Scheduled Caste and further the appellant’s status 

as the Scheduled Caste was never cancelled before the authority under the 1993 Act which 

alone had the jurisdiction to do the same. If it was not for High Court to enter into the 

disputed question of fact regarding the caste status of the appellant, the findings recorded by 

it on that question would lose all its relevance and importance. There is one more peculiar 

fact which we must note. It has come in the judgment of the learned Single Judge as also in 

the Division Bench that the appellant ‘converted’ to Christianity. Now, it was not nobody’s 

case that the petitioner ever was converted nor was it anybody’s case as to when such 

conversion took place, if at all it took place. All the observations by the learned Single Judge 

regarding the conversion of the appellant to Christianity are, therefore, without any basis, 

more particularly, in view of the strong denial by the appellant that he never converted to 

Christianity. Again the question whether the petitioner loses his status as Scheduled Caste 

because of his conversion is also not free from doubt in view of a few pronouncements of this 

Court on this issue. However, we will not go into that question as it is not necessary for us to 

go into that question in the facts of this case. 
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309. It was further held that, “If it was not for High Court to enter into the disputed 

question of fact regarding the caste status of the appellant, the findings recorded by it on that 

question would lose all its relevance and importance.” 

 

310. Be that as it may, in our opinion, the High Court clearly erred firstly, entertaining the 

writ petition, secondly in going into the disputed question of fact regarding the caste status, 

thirdly, in holding that the appellant did not belong to the Scheduled Caste and fourthly, in 

allowing the writ petition. 
 

311. We, therefore, allow this appeal by setting aside two judgments one of the learned 

Single Judge and the other of the Division Bench of the High Court filed in appeal and direct 

the dismissal of the writ petition.”  
 

312. I have gone through the decisions referred to above; the principles laid down in the 

aforesaid decisions are very much applicable in the facts and circumstances of the present 

case as such the writ petition is not maintainable and the Rule is liable to be discharged. 
 

313. The learned Advocate for the respondent No.7 argued that the writ petition is not 

maintainable on the ground that the petitioner is an interested person, he has come with 

malafide intention and he has not come before this Court with clean hands and he referred to 

a decision in the case of National Board of Revenue vs. Abu Saeed Khan and others reported 

in 18 BLC (AD) 116 regarding this writ petition is not maintainable in the light of the 

judgment passed by the Hon’ble Appellate Division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh. As 

it is discussed above that the writ petition is not maintainable. So, there is no necessity to 

discuss this issue raised by the learned Advocate for the respondent No.7. 
 

314. From the discussions made above and the decisions referred to in the aforesaid 

paragraphs, the facts and circumstances of the case, I am of the opinion that the writ petition 

is not maintainable. 
 

315. Thus, the Rule fails.   

 

316. In view of the discussions as made above, the Rule is discharged without any order 

as to cost.   
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Md. Abu Zafor Siddique, J: (Majority view):  

 

317. In an application under Article 102(2)(b)(ii) of the Constitution of the People’s 

Republic of Bangladesh, Rule was issued calling upon the respondents in the following 

terms;  

 “Let a Rule Nisi be issued calling upon the respondents to show cause as to 

under what authority the respondent No.7 is holding the post of Member of 

Parliament (MP) for the constituency of Feni-2 and why the said seat of the Member 

of Parliament (MP) for the said constituency of Feni-2 shall not be declared vacant 

and/or pass such other or further order or orders as to this court may seem fit and 

proper.” 
  

318. While issuing the Rule this Court also issued the following directions; 

“(a) The jail authorities being the Inspector General of Prison (IG Prison) and the 

senior Jail Super, Chittagong Central Jail, Chittagong, (respondent Nos.8 and 9) 

were directed “to submit a report on the service of the period of sentence in Jail by 

respondent No.7 along with relevant record /file.” And  

(b) Editor of the Daily Prothom Alo (respondent No.10) was “directed to explain his 

position and also the sources and authenticity of the news item p¡S¡ Lj ®M−V~, ®h¢l−u k¡e 
p¡wpc. Published in the Daily Prothom Alo dated 10.05.2014”.   

   

319. The respective respondents contested the rule by filing affidavit in oppositions. 
  
320. Subsequently the matter was taken up by a Division Bench comprising by their 

Lordships Mr. Justice Md. Emdadul Hoque and Mr. Justice FRM Nazmul Ahasan. The Court 

heard the matter for 4(four) consecutive days and fixed 06.12.2016 for judgment. On the date 

the Court passed split judgments wherein Mr. Justice Md. Emdadul Hoque made the Rule 

absolute with consequential directions, wherein Mr. Justice FRM Nazmul Ahasan discharged 

the rule. As their Lordships passed dissenting order the matter was referred to the Hon’ble 

Chief Justice for order. The Hon’ble Chief Justice thereafter Constituted this bench as 3rd 

Judge to hear and dispose of the matter. 
  

321. While disposing the instant writ petition both the lordships elaborately stated the 

facts in their respective judgments. As such I am of the view that elaborate facts need not be 

re-attriated again. However, for the disposal of the Rule by this Court the short fact is that the 

petitioner is a voter of constituency number 266 of Feni-2. The petitioner is a conscious 

citizen of the country. The respondent No.7 contested in the Parliamentary Election in 2014 

and elected as a Member of the Parliament. The Election Commission by gazette notification 

notified the same. As per the petitioner the respondent No.7 has made false statement in the 

affidavit filed before the Election Commission as regards to his criminal record for taking 

part in the National Election. The main allegation as made by the petitioner is that the 

respondent No.7 escaped the sentence awarded by a Court of law by way of committing 

fraud.  The conduct of the respondent No.7 is against the provision of Article 66 (2)(d) of the 

Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh. As such the respondent No.7 shall be 

disqualified to contest or to be elected as Member of Parliament.  
 

322. The respondent No.7 entered appearance and contested the Rule by filing affidavit in 

opposition. The contention of the respondent No.7 is that; the petitioner filed this writ petition 

before this Court as one of the political rivals of the respondent No.7. The petitioner was the 

councilor candidate of the Feni Pourashava when the respondent No.7 was elected Mayor of 

the Feni Pourashava, but the petitioner defeated to be elected as councilor of the said 

Pourashava and thereafter, conflict arises in between the petitioner and the respondent No.7. 
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Once upon a time, the petitioner was one of the close associate of the respondent No.7 and 

when the respondent No.7 was inside the Jail in a falsely implicated Criminal Case for the 

alleged recovery of unauthorized arms from his possession and was convicted and sentenced, 

and the writ petitioner was the tadbirkar of the said Criminal Case up to the Appellate 

Division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh. Since the petitioner is an interested person and 

political rival of the respondent No.7 and brought the present writ petition with malafide 

intention in the name of public interest litigation after 8 (eight) years of release of the 

respondent No.7 from Jail and became elected as Mayor of Feni Pourashava and then elected 

as a Member of Parliament. It has been further contended that the respondent No.7 did not 

serve the full sentence by way of committing fraud is not at all correct; that the respondent 

No.7 has been released from the Jail custody as per provision of the Jail Code by serving the 

full sentence awarded against him. The respondent No.7 did not commit any wrong in filing 

the affidavit before the Returning Officer for participating in the National Election for the 

Member of Parliament and he was released from Jail after completion of the period of 

sentence as per provision of Jail Code and that the respondent No.7 did not suppress anything 

in his aforesaid affidavit. The Metropolitan Sessions Judge, 4
th

 Court, Chittagong vide 

judgment and order dated 16.08.1999 convicted the respondent No.7 in Special Tribunal Case 

No.757 of 1999 arising out of Doublemuring Police Station Case No.29 dated 22.03.1992 

under section 19A and (f) of the Arms Act and sentenced him to suffer rigorous 

imprisonment for a period of 10(ten) years under section 19A of the said Act and further 

sentenced for a period of 7(seven) years under section 19(f)of the said Act concurrently. 

After judgment dated 16.08.1999, the respondent No.7 surrendered before the Court on 

14.09.1999 and preferred appeal being Criminal Appeal No.2369 of 2000 before the High 

Court Division of the Supreme Court of Bangladesh. The High Court Division dismissed the 

appeal vide judgment and order dated 02.05.2001 and against that the respondent No.7 

preferred Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal No.107 of 2001 before the Appellate 

Division of the Supreme Court which was dismissed on 27.02.2002. Against the said 

judgment dated 27.02.2002, the respondent No.7 filed Criminal Review Petition No.18 of 

2002 and the said Review Petition was dismissed on 26.06.2004. The respondent No.7, after 

dismissal of the review Petition served in the custody and after serving in the custody he has 

been released from the Chittagong Central Jail on 01.12.2005 as per the Jail Code on the 

basis of remission.  
 

323. The respondent No.10 ‘the daily Prothom Alo’ in paragraph No.6 of its affidavit-in-

compliance dated 07.07.2014 annexing the photocopy of snap shot of remission ticket stated 

that ‘the reporter took some snaps of the relevant parts of Koyed Register where necessary 

information lies as evidence of his news’ which shows that the respondent No.7 has been 

released from Jail on the basis of remission on 01.12.2005.  The respondent No.7 after 

releasing from the Jail contested in the Pourashava election and was elected as Mayor of Feni 

Pourashava on 18.01.2011. Subsequently, he has contested in the National General Election 

and he has been elected as a Member of Parliament on 05.01.2014 from Feni-2, Constituency 

No.266. Hence none appeared for respondent No.10. The respondent Nos.8 and 9 also filed 

affidavit in compliance pursuant to the direction given at the Rule issuing order. 
  

324. Mr. Qumrul Haque Siddique, the learned senior Advocate appearing along with Mr. 

Satya Ranjan Mondal and Ms. Rashida Chowdhury, the learned Advocates on behalf of the 

petitioner submits that the respondent No.7 is disqualified to be elected as Member of the 

Parliament because of moral turpitude in this connection. He referred the provision of Article 

66(2)(d) of the Constitution of the Republic. The main contention as raised by the learned 

counsel is that the respondent No.7 is disqualified for making false statement punishable 

under Article 73 of the RPO. He submits that because of the false declaration the respondent 
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No.7 is disqualified to be elected as per Article 12 (1)(d) of the RPO for offences under 

Article 73 of the RPO and effective legal measure be taken against the respondent No.7 for 

his corrupt practice under Article 73(3)(a) of the RPO for giving false statement in the 

affidavit. He further submits that the respondent No.7 has an obligation under Article 12, 

clause (3b), sub-clause (b & C) of RPO, 1972 to submit true information as regards present 

and past criminal records of the candidate in the affidavit but he did not honestly disclosed all 

the material and true information in the affidavit, which is clear violation of the above 

mentioned Article 12 (3b) (b & c) of the RPO, 1972. Hence, holding the present post by the 

respondent No.7 is liable to be declared illegal. He submits that this writ petition is being 

filed by the petitioner in the nature of quo warranto and he made out a positive case in this 

regard. He submits further that this petition by way of quo warranto is very much 

maintainable as per the provision of the Constitution itself and thus the respondent No.7 is 

not liable to hold the office of the Member of Parliament. He further submits that this is a fit 

case of quo warranto in public interest which requires interference by this Court.  
 

325. Mr. Siddique further submits that the respondent No.7 should be declared as 

disqualified because, under Article 63(1) (b & c) of the RPO, 1972 the High Court Division 

has the authority to declare the election of any returned candidate to be void if, it is satisfied 

that the returned candidate was not, on the nomination day, qualified for, or was disqualified 

from, being elected as a member or the election of the returned candidate has been procured 

or induced by any corrupt and illegal practice. He next submits that the respondent No.7 after 

failing in all the legal steps up to the Hon’ble Appellate Division of the Supreme Court 

preferred Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 in this Court on 17.05.2006 and subsequently 

released from the Jail custody on 01.06.2006. As he was convicted and sentenced to suffer 

rigorous imprisonment for 10 years and 7 years concurrently and he surrendered on 

14.09.2000 before the trial Court and sent to Jail custody and thereafter, he was released on 

bail on 01.06.2006.  Thus, he was in jail for 5 years 8 months and 19 days and if, he got the 

highest remission as per Jail Code, 1894 i.e. 60 days per year he will get remission with the 

sentenced 10 years from 600 days and in this way he has to be in the custody about 916 days 

more, which has not yet been served out. He further submits that according to section 568 of 

the Jail Code of 1894 the petitioner will not get any remission more than one third of the 

entire sentence. In support of the above submission, Mr. Siddique referred to the case of THE 

KING V. SPEYER AND THE KING V. CASSEL before the KING’S BENCH DIVISION, 

Judgment dated 16, 17 November, 1915, Hussain Mohammad Ershad vs. Zahidul Islam Khan 

and others, reported in 21 BLD 142 (AD) 2001, Habibur Rahman @ Raju vs. the State, 

reported in 20 BLD (HCD)117 (2000), Abdur Rob mia (Md) vs. District Registrar and others 

reported in 4 BLC (AD) 8 (1999), Dangar Khan and others vs. Emperor reported in AIR 1923 

Lahor 104, Chandgi Ram Thakar Dass vs. Election Tribunal and Asstt. Development 

Commissioner for Panchayat Election, Delhi and others, reported in AIR 1965 PUNJAB 433 

(V 52 C 136) (AT DELHI) and Risal Singh V. Chandgi Ram and others, reported in AIR 

1966 PUNJAB 393. 
  

326. Mr. Shafiq Ahmed the learned Senior Advocate  appearing along with Mr. Nurul 

Islam Sujon the learned Advocate on behalf  of  the  respondent   No.7  submits  that  the  

writ  petition is not maintainable as the petitioner is one of the political rival of the 

respondent No.7 who was a Councilor candidate of the Feni Pourashava when the respondent 

No.7 was elected as Mayor of the said Pourashava and thereafter, conflict arises between the 

petitioner and respondent No.7 and since the petitioner is an interested person and political 

rival of the respondent No.7, writ petition brought with malafide intention after 8 years of the 

release of the respondent No.7 from the Jail and became elected as Mayor of Feni Pourashava 

and thereafter, elected as a Member of Parliament. He further submits that the respondent 
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No.7 did not commit any fraud in order to get remission from the Jail and he has been 

released from the Jail custody as per provision of the Jail Code after serving the sentence 

awarded against him and on remission. Thus, the question raised by the petitioner is a 

disputed question of fact which is brought with malafide intention. He further submits that a 

news which has been published in the daily Prothom Alo and the allegation made by the 

petitioner and the respondent Nos.8 and 9 that he has not served out the entire period of 

sentence is a matter of calculation about the period of Jail custody of the respondent No.7 and 

all are disputed questions of fact which cannot be resolved in the writ petition. He also 

submits that the respondent No.7 did not face any criminal case so far known to him other 

than the criminal case in which he was convicted and preferred appeal and it was upheld by 

the Appellate Division and the respondent No.7 released from jail custody on 01.12.2005. 

Thus, this matter is also a disputed question of fact which cannot be resolved in the writ 

petition. Mr. Ahamed further submits that the respondent No.7 did not commit any wrong in 

filing the aforesaid nomination paper before the Returning Officer i.e. for the election of the 

Member of Parliament and he was released from jail after served out his sentence as well as 

on remission as per provision of Jail Code and the respondent No.7 did not suppress anything 

in his aforesaid affidavit. Mr. Shafiq Ahamed submits that the respondent Nos.8 and 9 could 

not produce the history ticket in which the blood donation of the respondent No.7 was 

recorded and the report submitted by the respondent Nos.8 and 9 is not a complete report 

without placing the proof of blood donation which was recorded in the history ticket. Thus, 

on the basis of the aforesaid report, which is a disputed one, cannot be said that the 

respondent No.7 did not serve out the entire period which is claimed by the petitioner and the 

calculation of the remission awarded by the respondent No.7 by donation of blood is a 

disputed question of fact, as the respondent No.7 claimed that he has served out entire period 

of sentence with remission and the respondent Nos.8 and 9 claimed that he did not served out 

the entire period of sentence is a highly disputed question of fact which cannot be resolved in 

the writ petition. In support of his contention he relied upon the decision reported in 31 DLR 

(AD) 303. He further submits that the present case does not come within the purview of the 

Public Interest Litigation (PIL) as there are some fundamental principles are to be followed in 

a case of PIL. But in the case in hand the petitioner mainly raises his personal interest rather 

than public. In support of contention he relied upon the decision reported in 18 BLC (AD) 

116. Apart from that he further submits that as per Article 66(2) (d) of the Constitution of the 

Republic puts bar if the offence involves the question of Moral Turpitude but the offence as 

alleged does not comes within the definition of Moral Turpitude in any manner. In support of 

his contention he relied upon the decision of Hussain Mohammad Ershad Case. Mr. Ahamed 

submits that the rule is liable to be discharged. In support of the above submission Mr. 

Ahamed referred to the Case of National Board of Revenue Vs. Abu Syed Khan and others 

reported in 18 BLC (AD) 116, AFM Shah Alam Vs. Mujibul Huq & ors. reported in 41 

DLR(AD) 68, Farid Mia (Md) Vs. Amjad Ali (Md) alias Mazu Mia and ors. reported in 42 

DLR(AD) 13, Kurapatia Maria Das Vs. M/S Doctor Ambedker Seva Samajan and others. (in 

Civil Appeal No. 2617 of 2009 arising out of SLP (civil) No. 15144 of 2007) Judgment dated 

17
th

 April, 2009, Supreme Court of India and New India Tea Company Ltd. Vs. Bangladesh 

and others reported in 31 DLR (AD) 303 (1979). 
 

327. Mr. Aminur Rahman Choudhury, the learned Deputy Attorney General appearing on 

behalf of the Respondent No. 8 and 9 opposes the Rule and submits that the instant writ 

petition itself is not maintainable because of the personal interest of the petitioner in question. 

He submits that the petitioner in the case in hand raises serious disputed question of fact 

which cannot be resolved in a summary proceedings under Article 102 of the Constitution of 

the Republic. He further submitted that the questions as raised by the petitioner needs to be 
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addressed only by taking elaborate evidence as much as the jail authority themselves 

admitted that there are defective papers submitted by the petitioners which cannot be relied 

upon in any manner.  He lastly submits that the rule is liable to be discharged.    
 

328. I have perused the application under Article 102 of the Constitution of the People’s 

Republic of Bangladesh, rule issuing order, affidavit in opposition, supplementary affidavits, 

affidavit in reply as well as affidavit in compliance. I have also perused the different papers 

and documents annexed with the writ petition as well as time to time supplied to this court as 

directed. I have also heard the learned counsels for the contesting parties, perused the 

decisions as referred to as well as the provisions of law. On perusal of the same it appears 

that the petitioner filed the writ petition as a bonafide citizen for public interest in the nature 

of writ of quo warranto. The petitioner has challenged the holding of the office of Member of 

Parliament by the respondent No.7 without lawful authority as he is being elected in violation 

of the provision of Representative Peoples Order (RPO) and ultimately in violation of the 

provisions of the Constitution of the Republic. In course of arguments both the parties raises 

numerous issues as well as a series of documents has been filed to justifying the respective 

claims. 
 

329. The main contention as it appears from the writ petition is that the respondent No.7 

was convicted under section 19A and (f) of the Arms Act and sentenced to suffer rigorous 

imprisonment for a period of 10(ten) years under section 19A of the said Act and further 

sentenced for a period of 7 years under section 19(f) of the said Act concurrently in Special 

Tribunal Case No.757 of 1999 passed by the judgment dated 16.08.1999. Thereafter, the 

respondent No.7 surrendered before the Court on 14.09.1999 and preferred appeal being 

Criminal Appeal No.2369 of 2000 before the High Court Division which was dismissed on 

02.05.2001. Against which the respondent No.7 preferred Criminal Petition for Leave to 

Appeal No.107 of 2001 which was also dismissed on 27.02.2002. Against that, a Criminal 

Review Petition No.18 of 2002 was filed and the same was dismissed on 26.06.2004. 

 

330. The respondent No.7 thereafter contested the local government election in the year 

2011 and he was elected as Mayor of Feni Pourashava. Thereafter, he was elected as a 

Member of the Parliament and presently holding the office of the same. On the basis of a 

report in a news paper that the respondent No.7 escaped certain jail term the instant writ 

petition was filed.  
 

331. The allegation as brought against the respondent No.7 is that the respondent No.7 

was convicted and sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for 10 years and 7 years 

concurrently meaning that he had to suffer 10 years in Jail, i.e. the respondent No.7 had 

suffered both in custody and Jail for a total period of 5 years 7 months and 21 days and the 

duration of period of conviction of the respondent No.7 was reduced to 1 year 6 months  and  

17  days  as  per  news  report. In  that  context,  it appears that the respondent No.7 became 

free almost 2 years and 10 months long before of his actual exit date from Jail, i.e. before 

finality of serving out his punishment, the respondent No.7 came out of the jail and contested 

the national election in 2014 from Feni-2 Constituency and as per  Article 66(2)(d) of the 

Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh, a person shall be disqualified for 

election as a Member of Parliament who has been on conviction for a Criminal offence  

involving moral turpitude, sentenced to imprisonment for a term of not less than two years, 

unless a period of five years has elapsed since his release and before serving out the 

punishment and thereby elapsing of subsequent five years, the respondent No.7 contested the 

national election and making false statement in the affidavit of the nomination paper and as 

such he may be declared disqualified for election as per Article 12(1)(d) of the RPO for 
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offences under Article 73 of the RPO and holding the present post by the respondent No.7 is 

unlawful and may be declared illegal.  
 

332. On the other hand, the respondent No.7 denied the allegation made in the writ 

petition stating that he has been released from Jail on 01.12.2005 after serving the sentence 

and getting proper remission from the Jail authority. This contention of the respondent No.7 

is particularly supported by the respondent No.10 which published a news with a snap shot of 

the register of Chittagong Jail authority signed by the Senior Jail Super, Chittagong Central  

Jail that, j¤m p¡S¡ ®lu¡a fËb¡u ®i¡N ®n−o j¤¢J² ®cJu¡ q−m¡ ®lu¡a 01-06-2017  (ü¡rl  AØfø) 1/12/2005  
¢p¢eul  ®Sm  p¤f¡l  QVÊNË¡j  ®L¾cÐ£u  L¡l¡N¡lz” but this fact is denied by the respondent Nos.8 and 9 in 

their affidavit-in-compliance. They have stated that the respondent No.7 was released from 

jail on bail on 01.06.2006 in Criminal Appeal No.1409 of 2006 from the High Court 

Division. Mr.Sagir Mia, Senior Jail Superintendent, Chittagong Central Jail submitted that, 

“L¡l¡N¡l  q−a  p¡S¡  Lj  ®M−V  ®h¢l−u  k¡Ju¡l  ®L¡e  p¤−k¡N  ®eC z h¢eÑa  L−u¢c  ¢eS¡j q¡S¡l£  Aœ  L¡l¡N¡l  
q−a  p¡S¡  ®i¡Nla  AhØq¡u  jq¡j¡eÉ  Bc¡m−al  B−cn  ®j¡a¡−hL  S¡¢j−e  j¤¢J²  m¡i  L−lez’’ and he begs 

apology for his earlier re-joinder  (fÊ¢ah¡c-¢m¢f)  that the respondent No.7 was released on 

01.12.2005 fro the jail on remission.  
 

333. From the report dated 30.06.2016 filed by the respondent No.9 that, “L−u¢c  ew 4014/H 
Se¡h  ¢eS¡j  E¢Ÿe  q¡S¡l£  pÇf¢LÑa  QVÊNË¡j  ®L¾cÐ£u  L¡l¡N¡−ll  i¢aÑ  ®l¢Sø¡l  ¢el£r¡  L−l  ®cM¡  k¡u, EJ²  fªø¡u  
e£−Ql  ®L¡e¡u HL¢V  hs  Awn  ®Rs¡  L−u¢c  i¢aÑ  ®l¢SØV¡−ll 25  ew  Lm¡−j  ®kM¡−e  h¢¾c  j¤¢J²  pwH²¡¿¹  abÉ  
¢m¢fhÜ  Ll¡  qu  ®pC  AwnY~¤L¥C  ®Rs¡ (R¡u¡¢m¢f pwk¤J² P)z’’ 

i¢aÑ  ®l¢SØV¡−ll  j¤¢J²  pwH²¡¿¹  abÉ ¢m¢fhÜ  pwH²¡¿¹  Lm¡−jl  AwnV¥L¥  ®Rs¡ b¡L¡,  i¢aÑ  ®l¢SØV¡−l  −lu¡a  
pwH²¡¿¹  abÉ  Oo¡j¡S¡  b¡L¡, j¤m  p¡S¡  ®lu¡a fËb¡u  j¤¢J²  ®cu¡ q−m¡  j−jÑ  i¥u¡  H¢ÇVÊ  q~aÉ¡¢c  ¢hou…−m¡  fkÑ−hre  
L−l fËa£uj¡e  q−µR  L¡l¡N¡−ll ®L¡e  c¤ø  Q−H²l  j¡dÉ−j  ®L¡e  A®~hd  X~−ŸnÉ /q£e  ü¡bÑ  Q¢la¡bÑ  Ll¡l  j¡e−p  H 
¢jbÉ¡  OVe¡ pj¤q  p¡S¡−e¡  q−u−R z Se¡h ¢eS¡j  EŸ£e  q¡S¡l£  2011  p¡−m  ®f±lpi¡  ¢ehÑ¡Q−e  BCeNai¡−h  
j−e¡eue  c¡¢M−ml  naÑ  f¤le¡−bÑ   5 hRl  f¤−hÑ  L¡l¡ j¤¢J²l  ®L¡e  fËaÉue  pwH²¡¿¹  abÉ  h¡ e¢b  k¢c  L¡l¡  LaÑ§fr  
h¡ ¢h‘  ¢hQ¡¢lL  Bc¡ma  LaÑªL ¢ehÑ¡Qe  L¢jn−e  EfØq¡¢fa q−u  b¡−L a−h a¡ ¢el£rZ  Ll¡l  fË−u¡Se  l−u−R  Hhw  
a¡l SeÉ  HL¢V  pj¢eÄa ac¿¹  L¢j¢V  NW−el  fË−u¡Se£ua¡  ¢h−h¢Qa  q−µR z’’ 

 

334. From Annexure-X dated 09.10.2016, report of the IG Prison it appears that, ‘Ef−l¡J²  
p¡LÑ¤m¡l  j¤−m  lJ²c¡−el  ¢h¢eju  ®L¡e  L−uc£  Bp¡j£l  fË¡ç  ¢h−no  ®lk¡|a p¤¢hd¡  ¢hÙ¹¡¢la L¡l¡ ¢h¢d  767 Hl 
¢hd¡e  ®j¡a¡−hL  h¾c£l  ®lu¡a L¡XÑ  J ¢q¢ØVÊ ¢V−LV  ®lu¡a  fËc¡−el  L¡lZ  J fË¡ç  ®lu¡−al  f¢lj¡e  E−õM  
b¡L−a¡z E−õMÉ ®k,  ®lu¡a L¡XÑ J ¢q¢ØVÊ  ¢V−LV  pwlr−el ®ju¡c  L¡l¡ ¢h¢dl  780(8) J 588  Hl  ¢hd¡e  
®j¡a¡−hL  01(HL)  hvpl z  L−uc£ ew 4114/H  ¢eS¡j  E¢Ÿe  q¡S¡l£  Hl ¢q¢ØVÊ  ¢V−LV,  ®lu¡a L¡XÑ  Hhw  lJ² c¡e 
pwH²¡¿¹  ®L¡e  e¢bfœ  QVÊNË¡j  ®L¾cÐ£u  L¡l¡N¡−l M¤−S  e¡ f¡Ju¡u EJ²  ¢ho−u ¢hÙ¹¡¢la  abÉ  EcO¡Ve  Ll¡  pñh  
qu¢e z QVÊNÊ¡j  ®L¾cÐ£u  L¡l¡N¡−l  Se¡h ¢eS¡j  q¡S¡l£l lJ²  c¡e  pwH²¡¿¹  ®L¡e  abÉ  e¡  f¡Ju¡u  L¡l¡  LaÑªfr  H  
¢ho−u  fË¢a−hce  ®fËl−el  SeÉ  på¡e£, QVÊNË¡j  ®j¢X−Lm  L−mS  CE¢eV,  QVÊNÊ¡j  hl¡h−l  fœ  j¡lga  ®k¡N¡−k¡N  
L−lez  

på¡e£  HL f−œl  j¡dÉ−j  S¡e¡u  ®k,  14-12-2000 ¢MËÊx  q−a  15-9-2005  ¢MÊx  fkÑ¿¹  pj−ul  Q¡¢qa  ®lLXÑ  
fœ¡¢c 10-12  hR−ll   f¤l−e¡  ¢hd¡u  Hhw  a¡−cl L¡kÑ¡mu  Øq¡e¡¿¹−ll pju  ¢heÖY~  q−u−R  ¢hd¡u  Q¡¢qa  abÉ  fËc¡−e  
Af¡lNa¡  fËL¡n  L−l c¤xM  fËL¡n  L−l−Re z a−h  på¡e£  LaÑªfr  fËcš  pec  Aü£L¡l  L−le¢ez’ 

 

335. So it appears from the aforesaid report of the respondent Nos.8 and 9 appears that 

the respondent Nos.8 and 9 admitted that the information record in the admission register was 

torn and it was done by some dishonest clique and to find out the real fact and it further 

reveals that there is no existence of history ticket wherein the elaborate information of blood 

donation of the prisoner is recorded. There is no information about the blood donation in the 

record of the Chittagong Central Jail. The Sandhani authority also could not produce any 

record though they did not deny their certificate about the blood donation.  
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336. Furthermore Annexure-10, it appears that during his custody in jail from 14.09.2000 

to 01.12.2005 respondent No.7 donated blood in total 13 times through the Chittagong Jail 

authority to the Sandhani, a renowned charitable organization of medical students, and 

thereby obtained special remission under Code No.765 of the Jail Code,  but the respondent 

No.8 did not count the said special remission. From the certificate dated 06.10.2005 given to 

the respondent No.7 by Sandhani (Annexure-9) has been annexed with the affidavit in reply 

of the respondent No.7 to the affidavit-in-compliance of the respondent No.8, a certificate 

was also given to the respondent  No.7 by the Sandhani  authority which quoted below : 

     fËnwp¡  fœ 
HC j−jÑ fËaÉue Ll¡ k¡C−a−R ®k, ¢eS¡j E¢Ÿe q¡S¡l£, ¢fa¡-Sue¡m A¡−hc£e q¡S¡l£, BC¢X ew-4114/H 

L¡l¡¿¹l£e  b¡L¡L¡m£e QVÊNË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡−l Na 14-12-2000 ¢MËx q−a 15-9-2005 ¢MËx fkÑ¿¹  pj−ul j−dÉ 
BaÁÑj¡eha¡l ®ph¡u ¢e−u¡¢Sa qCu¡ QYÊ~NË¡j ®L¾cÐ£u L¡l¡N¡l LaÑªf−rl  j¡dÉ−j 13 (®al)  CE¢eV lJ²c¡e Ll¡u 
Bfe¡−L Aœ pwÇq¡l fr ®b−L  ®cn J S¡¢al LmÉ¡−Z i¥¢jL¡ l¡M¡u B¿¹¢lLi¡−h deÉh¡c ‘¡fepq Bfe¡l  j‰m J 
E‹m i¢hoÉa L¡je¡ Ll¢R z  

ü¡rl 
pi¡f¢a 
QYÊ~NË¡j  ®j¢X−Lm L−mS CE¢eV, 

på¡e£ 

ü¡rl 
p¡d¡le pÇf¡cL 
 QYÊ~NË¡j  ®j¢X−Lm L−mS CE¢eV, 

på¡e£ 
 

337. Article 102 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh runs as 

follows:  

“102.(1) The High Court Division on the application of any person aggrieved, may 

give such directions or orders to any person or authority, including any person 

performing any function in connection with the affairs of the Republic,  as may be 

appropriate for the enforcement of any of the fundamental right conferred by part III 

of this Constitution.  

(2) The High Court Division may, if satisfied that no other equally officious remedy is 

provided by law- 

(a)  on the application of any person aggrieved, make an order-  

(i)  directing a person performing any functions in connection with the affairs of the 

Republic or of a local authority, to refrain from doing that which he is not permitted 

by law to do or to do that which he is required by law to do ; or  

(ii)  declaring that any act done or proceeding taken by a person performing functions 

in connection with the affairs of the Republic or of a local authority, has been done or 

taken without lawful authority and is of no legal effect; or  

 (b) on the application of any person, make an order – 

(i)  directing that a person in custody be brought before it so that it may satisfy itself 

that he is not being held in custody without lawful authority or in an unlawful 

manner; or  

(ii) requiring a person holding or purporting to hold a public office to show under 

what authority he claims to hold that office.” 

Clause (1) and (2) of article 102 of the Constitution show the following features: 

(a) Clause (1) of article 102 provides that for enforcement of a fundamental right only a 

‘person aggrieved’ can apply to the High Court Division.  

(b) Clause 2(a) provides that for obtaining a remedy in relation to an action or omission 

of a public authority only a ‘person aggrieved’ can apply to the High Court Division.  

(c)  As opposed to the above noted two clauses, clause (2) (b) (ii) provides that “any 

person” can apply to High Court Division challenging the lawful authority of a 

person in holding a public office, if no other efficacious remedy is available to the 

petitioner provided by other laws.” 
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338. So it appears that the lawful authority of the respondent No.7 to hold of the public 

office of the Member of Parliament comes within the purview of Article 102(2)(b)(ii) of the 

Constitution and under which any person can make an application. Obviously the person may 

not be aggrieved to challenge the same but any person is competent to do so. But the 

fundamental principle is that such application is to be a public interest one. In the present 

case in hand it appears that the petitioner is a local rival of the respondent No.7. In numerous 

papers and documents it clearly transpires that the petitioner is a political rival of the 

respondent No.7 and he has personal interest in the present case in hand. The cardinal 

principle as determined time to time and got endorsement by this Court as well as our Apex 

Court that a person has to come before a court of law with clean hand. A person who is 

seeking remedy is to show his fairness, moral impartiality.  It is the duty of the court of law to 

ensure that there is no personal or malafide intention when an application has been pressed 

for public interest. As such fairness is very much essential to ensure the rule of law and the 

establishment of administration of justice. In the present case in hand it is very much clear 

that the petitioner though pose himself as an aggrieved person with a cause of greater public 

interest which attracted the principle of public interest but there is a clear deviation from the 

same because of the personal interest. The petitioner being a political rival and for being 

personal interest cannot succeeds to press his bigger cause namely public interest litigation.  
  

339. It is now a well settled proposition of law that if there is efficacious and alternative 

remedy is available, a writ petition under Article 102 of the Constitution is not maintainable. 

Admittedly it has been raised whether Article 125 of the Constitution puts a bar in the instant 

case in hand. Admittedly as per the aforesaid provision of law there is a legal bar questioning 

the result of the election declared by the commission except following the provisions of RPO. 

In the present case in hand it appears that the petitioner in the disguise of Article 102 of the 

Constitution trying to enforce the provisions of RPO. In the present case in hand it further 

appears that the question as raised by the petitioner regarding certain declarations made by 

the respondent No.7 before the Election Commission which is completely a dispute to be 

resolved by the competent authority as provided in the Represented People Order (RPO). 

Admittedly there is a provision namely Article 12 of the RPO to deal with the issue as raise 

herein.  
  

340. Article 66 2(d) of the Constitution runs as follows;    

“66. Qualification and disqualification for election to parliament. (1) A person shall, 

subject to the provision of clause (2), be qualified to be elected as, and to be, a 

member of parliament if he is a citizen of Bangladesh and has attained the age to 

twenty five years.  

(2) A person shall be disqualified for election as, or for being a member of Parliament 

who – 

  (a)-------------(c) -------------(not relevant) 

(d) has been, on conviction for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, 

sentenced for a criminal offence involving moral turpitude, sentenced to 

imprisonment for a term of not less that two years, unless  a period of five years has 

elapsed since his release.” 

1(dd)----------------------------------(not relevant)  

(2A)---(5) ----------------------( not relevant) 
  

341. So a careful reading a Article 66(2) of the Constitution runs as follows;  

“Particularly the expression “A person shall be disqualified for election as, or for 

being a member of Parliament” read with clauses (d) shows that the Constitution 

contemplates 3 (three) situations about the disqualification of a person, namely- (1) 
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the disqualification acquired before election, (2) the disqualification acquired after 

election, and (3) disqualification that was acquired before but continues after the 

election.” 
  

342. In the present case in hand the it has been argued that the respondent No.7 acquired 

the disqualification before election but despite that such allegation can be adjudicated 

following the provisions of the RPO.  
  

343. The question as relates to the date of release of the incumbent MP from jail and the 

period of sentenced served out by him has been raised in the present case in hand. I have 

carefully examined the papers and documents as well as numerous materials submitted before 

this Court. On careful analyses of the same it appears that a series of disputed questions of 

fact has been raised while dealing with the said issue. The claim of the petitioner was 

vehemently opposed by the respondents including the respondent No.7. In course of hearing 

before this Court numerous affidavits were filed as well as papers and documents were 

submitted. So it appears that a serious dispute has been raised regarding the same. The 

deliberations and the contentions as raised herein clearly shows that the same falls within the 

established principle of, “Disputed Question of Fact.” The contentions as raised by the 

petitioner and the respondents requires elaborate investigation as well as it also requires 

examination, as production of evidence and also the question of examination and cross 

examination of witnesses. As such I am of the view that since serious disputed question of 

fact has been raised the same cannot be addressed in a summary proceeding under Article 

102 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh.      
 

344. In the case of Abdul Mukit Chowdhury vs. The Chief Election Commissioner & ors 

reported in 41 DLR 57 wherein it is held, 

“Examination of Annexure-A which in its turn requires elaborate investigation 

warranting proofs which is not the function of this court and it may cause prejudice to 

either party if the same be taken into consideration under summary proceeding. There 

being a forum namely, the Election Tribunal set up to investigate into facts, we, 

therefore, restrain ourselves from making ay observation as to whether the same is 

authentic or otherwise.” 
  

345. In the case of Farid Mia (Md.) vs. Amjad Ali (Md.) alias Mazu Mia and ors reported 

in 42 DLR 13 wherein it is held,  

“Constitution of Bangladesh, 1972-Article 102-In a summary preceding under Article 

102 of the Constitution it is not possible to record a finding as to a disputed question 

of fact.  

In a quo-warranto proceeding, the exercise of authority is discretionary and, among 

other things, the court takes into consideration the motive of the person who moves 

the court.  

As regards the first ground, it may be stated that if the purpose of the writ petition 

was only to challenge the election of the appellant on the alleged ground of his being 

a defaulter then we would have fell no hesitation to declare at once that the writ 

petition was not maintainable. Indeed, we have already held while rejecting CPSLA 

No.21 of 1988 (quoted in the affidavit-in-opposition) that “such questions as to 

disqualification, etc. which are questions of fact are better settled upon evidence 

which can be done more appropriately before a Tribunal.In the summary proceeding 

under Article 102 it is not desirable and, more often than not, not possible to record a 

finding as to a disputed question of fact.” 
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The better view would have been to hold that in view of the facts of the case, it was 

not desirable to decide the issue in the writ jurisdiction without consideration of all 

the evidence-both oral and documentary.” 
  

346. In the case of National Board of Revenue vs. Abu Saeed Khan and others reported in 

18 BLC (AD) 116 (2013) wherein it is held, 

“Constitution of Bangladesh, 1972-Article 102(2)Public Interest Litigation-The para-

meters within which the High Court Division should extend its discretionary 

jurisdiction in entertaining a PIL. 

1. Before entertaining a petition the Court will have to decide the extent of sufficiency of 

interest and the fitness of the person invoking the discretionary jurisdiction. 

2. The court which considering the question of bonafide in a particular case will have to 

decide as to why the affected party has not come before it and if it finds no 

satisfactory reason for non appearance of such affected party, it may refuse to 

entertain the petition. 

3. If a petition is filed to represent opulent members who were directly affected by the 

decision of the Government or Public Authority, such petition would not be 

entertained.  

4. The expression ‘person aggrieved’ used in Article 102(1) means not any person who 

is personally aggrieved but one whose heart bleeds for the less fortunate fellow 

beings for a wrong done by any person or authority in connection with the affairs of 

the Republic or a Statutory Public Authority.  

5. If the person making the application on enquiry is found to be an interloper who 

interferes with the action of any person or authority as above which does not concern 

his is not entitled to make such petition.  

6. The Court is under an obligation to guard that the filing of a PIL does not convert 

into a publicity interest litigation or private interest litigation.  

7. Only a public spirited person or organization can invoke the discretionary 

jurisdiction of the Court on behalf of such disadvantaged and helpless persons. 

8. The Court should also guard that its processes are not abused by any person. 

9. The Court should also guard that the petition is initiated for the benefit of the poor or 

for any number of people who have been suffering from common injury but their 

grievances cannot be redressed as they are not able to reach the Court. 

10. It must also be guarded that every wrong or curiosity is not and cannot be the subject 

matter of PIL.  

11. No petitions will be entertained challenging the policy matters of the Government, 

development works being implemented by the Government, Order of promotion or 

transfer of public servants, imposition of taxes by the competent authority.  

12. The Court has no power to entertain a petition which trespasses into the areas which 

are reserved to the executive and legislative by the Constitution.  

13. A petition will be entertained if it is moved to protect basic human rights of the 

disadvantaged citizens who are unable to reach the Court due to illiteracy or 

monetary helplessness. 

14. Apart from the above, the following some categories of cases ‘which will be 

entertained; 

a) For protection of the neglected children. 

b) Non-payment of minimum wages to workers and exploitation of casual workers 

complaints of violation of labour laws (except in individual case). 

c) Petitions complaining death in jail or police custody; or caused by law; enforcing 

agencies. 
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d) Petitions against law enforcing agencies for refusing to register a case despite there 

are existing allegations of commission of cognizable offences. 

e) Petitions against atrocities on women such as, bride burning, rape, murder for dowry, 

kidnapping.  

f) Petitions complaining harassment or torture of citizens by police or other law 

enforcing agencies. 

g) Petitions pertaining to environmental pollution, disturbance of ecological balance, 

drugs, food adulteration, maintenance or heritage and culture, antiques, forest and 

wild life.  

h) Petitions from riot victions.  
 

347. In the case of AFM Shah Alam vs. Mujibul Huq & ors reported in 41 DLR (AD) 

(1989) 68 wherein it is held,  

“Reading the entire law and the rules we have come to this conclusion that the real 

and larger issue is completion of free and fair election with rigorous promptitude. 

Hence, election being a long elaborate and complicated process for the purposes of 

electing public representatives it is not possible to lay down guidelines by any court 

because all the exigencies cannot be conceived humanly nor the vagaries of people 

contesting the election can be fathomed. In a dispute the issue is to be raised and 

evidence adduced for adjudication by a competent Tribunal. This function has been 

given to the Election Tribunal and to nowhere else. The Election Commission has 

been given power to decide certain matters but such enquiry will not come within the 

purview of judicial enquiry because the power to decide judicially is different from 

deciding administratively. By taking resort to extraordinary jurisdiction for a writ the 

High Court Division will be asked to enter into a territory which is beset with the 

disputed facts and certainly by well settled principles it is clear a writ court will not 

enter into such controversy.” 

“The jurisdiction of the High Court Division under Article 102 of the Constitution 

cannot be invoked except on the very limited ground of total absence of jurisdiction 

(Coram non-judice) or malice in law to challenge any step in the process of election 

including an order passed by the Election Commission under Rule 70 because:  

(a) ………………………………………………… 

(b) ………………………………………………… 

(c)  Almost invariably there will arise dispute over facts which cannot and should not 

be decided in an extraordinary and summary jurisdiction of writ.”  

In addition to the decisions referred to above of our apex Court, we may rely the rest 

part of the Judgment in the case of Kurapati Maria Das vs. M/S. Dr.Ambedkar Seva 

Samajan in Supreme Court of India Civil Appeal No.2617 of 2009 (arising out of SLP 

(Civil) No.15144 of 2007).  

“We are afraid, we are not in position to agree with the contention that the case of K. 

Venkatachalam vs. A Swamickan & anr. [1999 (4) SCC 526] is applicable to the 

present situation. Here the appellant had very specifically asserted in his counter 

affidavit that he did not belong to the Christian religion and that he further asserted 

that he was a person belonging to the scheduled Caste. Therefore, the Caste status of 

the appellant was a disputed question of fact depending upon the evidence. Such was 

not the case in K. Venkatachalam vs. A Swamikan & Anr. [1999(4) SCC 526] Every 

case is an authority for what is actually decided in that. We do not find any general 

proposition that eve where there is a specific remedy of filing an Election petition and 

even when there is a disputed question of fact regarding the caste of a person who has 
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been elected from the reserved constituency still remedy of writ petition under Article 

226 would be available.  

Shri Guipta, however, further argued that in the present case what was prayed for 

was a writ of quo-warranto and in fact the election of the appellant was not called in 

question. It was argued that since the writ petitioners came to know about the 

appellant not belonging to the Scheduled Caste and since the post of the Chairperson 

was reserved only for the scheduled caste, therefore, the High Court was justified in 

entering into that question as to whether he really belongs to scheduled cast. In short, 

the learned counsel argued that independent of the election of the appellant as a ward 

member or as a chairperson; his caste itself was questioned in the writ petition only 

with the objective to see whether he could continue as the chairperson. This argument 

is clearly incorrect as the continuance of the appellant as the chairperson was not 

dependent upon something which was posterior to the appellant’s election as 

chairperson. It is not as if some event had taken place after the election of the 

appellant which created a disqualification in appellant to continue as the firstly, as a 

ward member and secondly as the chairperson which election was available only to 

the person belonging to the scheduled caste and so, also the post of chairperson. 

Therefore, though indirectly worded, what was in challenge in reality was the validity 

of the election of the appellant. According to the writ petitioners, firstly the appellant 

could not have elected as a ward member nor could he be elected as the chairperson 

as he did not belong to the scheduled caste. We can understand the eventually where 

a person who is elected as a scheduled caste candidate, renounces his caste after the 

elections by conversion to some other religion. Then it is not the election of such 

person which would be in challenge but his subsequently continuing in his capacity as 

a person belonging to a particular caste. This counsel for the appellant rightly urged 

that the question of caste and the election are so inextricably connected that they 

cannot be separated. Therefore, when the writ petitioners challenged the continuation 

of the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to a particular caste what they in 

fact challenged is the appellant on the ground of his not belonging to a particular 

caste what they in fact challenged is the appellant on the ground of his not belonging 

to a particular caste what they in fact challenged is the validity of the election of the 

appellant, though apparently the petition is for the writ of quo-warranto. 

The Counsel for the appellant rightly urged that the question of caste and the election 

are so inextricably connected that they cannot be separated. Therefore, when the writ 

petitioners challenged the continuation of the appellant on the ground of his not 

belonging to a particular caste what they in fact challenged is the validity of the 

election of the appellant, though apparently the petition is for the writ of quo-

warranto.  

In conclusion their Lordships held, ‘‘Under such circumstances, we do not think that 

the High Court could have decided that question of fact which was very seriously 

disputed by the appellant. It seems that in this case, the High Court has gone out of its 

way, firstly in relying on the Xerox copies of the service records of the appellants and 

then at the appellate stage, in calling the first of the Electricity Board where the 

appellant was working . This amounted to a roving enquiry into the caste of the 

appellant which was certainly not permissible in writ jurisdiction and also in the 

wake of Section 5 of 1993 Act.”  

Again merely because the appellant was described as being a Christian in the service 

records did not mean that he appellant was actually a person professing Christian 

religion. It was not after all known as to who had given those details and further as to 

whether the details, in reality, were truthful or not. It would be unnecessary for us to 
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go into the aspect whether the petitioner in reality is a Christian for the simple reason 

that this issue was never raised at the time of his election. Again the appellant still 

holds the valid caste certificates in his favor declaring him to be belonging to 

Scheduled Caste and further the appellant’s status as the Scheduled Caste was never 

cancelled before the authority under the 1993 Act which alone had the jurisdiction to 

do the same. If it was not for High Court to entire into the disputed question of fact 

regarding the caste status of the appellant, the findings recorded by it on that 

question would lose all its relevance and importance. There is one more peculiar fact 

which we must note. It has come in the judgment of the learned Single Judge as also 

in the Division Bench that the appellant ‘converted’ to Christianity. Now, it was not 

nobody’s case that the petitioner ever was converted nor was it anybody’s case as to 

when such conversion took place, if at all it took place. All the observations by the 

learned Single Judge regarding the conversion of the appellant to Christianity are, 

therefore, without any basis, more particularly, in view of the strong denial by the 

appellant that he never converted to Christianity. Again the question whether the 

petitioner loses his status as Scheduled Caste because of his conversion is also not 

free from doubt in view of a few pronouncements of this Court on this issue. However, 

we will not go into that question as it is not necessary for us to go into that question in 

the facts of this case.  

It was further held that, “If it was for High Court to enter into the disputed question 

of fact regarding the caste status of the appellant, the findings recorded by it on that 

question would lose all its relevance and importance.” 

Be that as it may, in our opinion, the High Court clearly erred firstly, entertaining the 

writ petition, secondly in going into the disputed question of fact regarding the caste 

status, thirdly, in holding that the appellant did not belong to the Scheduled Caste and 

fourthly, in allowing the writ petition.  

We, therefore, allow this appeal by setting aside two judgments one of the learned 

Single Judge and the other of the Division Bench of the High Court filed in appeal 

and direct the dismissal of the writ petition.” 
  

348. In the case of New India Tea Company Ltd. vs. Bangladesh and others reported in 

31 DLR(AD) (1979) 303 wherein it is held, 

“Mr. S.R. Pal, Counsel for the appellant, submitted that the learned Judges of the 

High Court were wrong in deciding the disputed question of facts relating to title to 

the land which could only have been done by taking proper evidence, oral and 

documentary. Whether the relinquishment by Hiralal  

Mukherjee, Manager of Ramgarh Tea Estate in whose favour the land was 

originally settled legally transferred title in favour of the Union Agency Ltd. depended 

on the decision as to whether a registered document was necessary to effect the 

relinquishment. The learned Counsel also submitted that the decision as to whether 

the Union Agency Ltd. was a part and parcel of the appellant-company required 

investigation into facts. It appears that the High Court did not believe the genuineness 

of the rent receipt dated 25.3.67 produced by the appellant-company in support of its 

claim that rent was being paid by the company to the Government and it also found 

discrepancies with respect to the Khatian number mentioned in the rent receipt. The 

land in dispute was recorded as Khatian No.1/36 after the mutation case No.2/1, 

whereas the rent receipt showed that rent was being paid in respect of land in 

Khatian No.1/38. Further, there was no reason as to why the appellant-company 

whose name was not recorded in the Khatian should pay rent in respect of the land of 

which M/s. Union Agency Ltd. was the recorded tenant. The questions raised by the 
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learned Counsel relate to the title of the appellant-company which depend on facts 

which are in dispute and can only be settled after full evidence has been properly 

taken. Mr. Sultan Hossain Khan, the learned Deputy Attorney General who appeared 

on behalf of the Government also conceded that where facts are disputed; the High 

Court, in exercising jurisdiction under Article 102 of the Constitution should not 

proceed to settle the disputed facts requiring taking of evidence. There is a long line 

of decisions in favour of the view that the High Court should not enter into disputed 

questions of fact nor decide any question as to title which require investigation into 

facts and taking of elaborate evidence.”   
 

349. I have also examined the decisions as referred by the learned counsel for the 

petitioner. On perusal of the same I am of the view that since the Writ Petition is itself not 

maintainable because of the disputed question of fact as such these are not relevant or 

considerable in any manner.  
 

350. Regarding writ of quo warranto the fundamental Rule is that the petition has to be in 

greater public interest. Any such attempt for securing private interest cannot be encouraged. 

In the case in hand it has been revealed that the petitioner has far reaching personal interest 

and intends to use this as weapon to defeat his political rival. Apart from that it is now a well 

settled proposition of law is that if there is any alternative remedy available no writ petition 

even in the form of quo warranto is liable to be maintained.  
 

351. The proceeding under Art. 102(2) of the Constitution is a summary one and it is 

decided on the statements made on affidavits filed by the parties and the documents annexed 

to the application and the affidavit-in-opposition. Hence it is often held that the court will 

decline to exercise jurisdiction when the application involves resolution of disputed question 

of fact. The decision reported in 42 DLR(AD) 13 lends support to the above contention. In 

this summary proceeding examination of disputed question of fact which is a complicated in 

nature and as a general rule cannot be undertaken nor investigation of title to property made 

and it is neither desirable nor advisable to enter into the merit and record a finding as to 

disputed question of fact. The decision reported in 51 DLR (AD) 232 lends support to the 

above order. The court will neither decide the complicated question of title nor disputed 

questions of fact relating to damages or compensation.    
  

352. The rule is that the court will decline to exercise the jurisdiction only when the 

dispute as regards facts is such that the dispute cannot be reasonably resolved on the facts 

pleaded and documents produced before the court. The decision reported in 19 DLR (SC) 228 

lends support to the above order. 
           

353. In the instant writ petition it clearly transpires that the contentions as raised by the 

parties can only be determined by adjudication of the factual aspects and for that a detailed 

investigation is requires which includes examination of evidence as well as examination of 

witnesses. The contentions as raised thus are highly disputed question of facts which in the 

line of the above authorities cannot be adjudicated in a summary proceedings under Article 

102 of the Constitution of the republic.   
 

354. Considering the facts and circumstances, discussion made hereinabove as well as the 

decisions as referred to, I am of the view that the instant writ petition is not maintainable.  
 

355. Accordingly the Rule is discharged. However, there will be no order as to cost.  
         

Editors’ Note: 

By virtue of majority view, rule was discharged.   
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Mahbub Alam and others. 

........... Opposite-Parties.   

Mr. Tapan Kumar Chakraborty with                             

Mrs. Aynunnahar Siddiqua, Advocate 

............... for the petitioners. 

 

Mr. Subrata Saha, Advocate.  

..........for the opposite-parties.  

     

Heard on 19.11.2015, 23.11.2015 and 

Judgment on : 24.11.2015. 

 

Present: 
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Ingredients to prove the suit for specific performance of Contract; 
 

In a suit for Specific Performance of Contract the essential ingredients which the 

plaintiffs are required to prove in order to succeed in a suit for Specific Performance of 

Contract, are that the Bainapatra is genuine, considerations money passed by the 

parties and delivery of possession was given in pursuance thereof.            ... (Para 12) 

 

1. This Rule was issued calling upon the opposite parties to show cause as to why the 

judgment and decree dated 10.11.2005 passed by the learned Additional District Judge, 6
th

 

Court, Dhaka in Title Appeal No. 66 of 2003 dismissing the appeal and affirming the 

judgment and decree dated 26.01.2003 passed by the Joint District Judge, 1
st
 Court, Dhaka in 

Title Suit No. 228 of 1999 dismissing the suit, should not be set-aside.  

 

2. The relevant fact giving rise to this Rule, in short, is that the petitioners as plaintiffs 

instituted a suit for Specific Performance of Contract and for declaration that registered deed 

being number 12883 dated 05.09.1999 is not binding upon the plaintiffs contending, inter-

alia, that business compensation money of Tk. 950/- of L.A. Case No. 153/62-63 was 

received before 17.04.1965 by deceitful means by the defendant No.1 and as such on 

12.10.1973 he executed an agreement to pay the same within one month and having failed to 

pay the said money the defendant No.1 proposed to sell the suit property at consideration of 

Tk. 1,00,000/-in favour of the father of the plaintiffs and on 25.06.1982 after receiving Tk. 

50,000/- (fifty thousand) as advance executed a bainapatra for selling the suit land and 

handed over the possession of the suit land to their father. After repeated request while failed 

to get the registered deed again on 18.11.1996 the defendant No.1 executed new bainapatra in 

presence of local elite persons and witnesses on consideration at Tk. 2,00,000/- (two lac) and 

received Tk. 1,80,000/- (one lac eight thousand) as advance in cash. In the meantime the 

father of the plaintiffs dies and the plaintiffs on many occasions requested the defendant No.1 

to receive remaining Tk. 20,000/- (twenty thousand) and to execute and register a sale deed 

as per bainapatra, failing which lastly on 26.08.1999 gave legal notice through their advocate 

for enforcing the said contract of sale but failed. In the meantime after receiving the said legal 

notice on 29.08.1999 the defendant No.1 sold the suit land to the defendant No.5 by a 

registered sale deed No. 12883 dated 05.09.1999 and as such the plaintiff instituted this suit 
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for specific performance of contract along with prayer for declaration that registered sale 

deed No. 12843 dated 05.09.1999 is collusive, void and not binding upon them. 

 

3. The defendant Nos. 1-5 contested the suit by filing separate written statements denying 

the material allegations made in the plaint contending, inter-alia, that after purchasing the suit 

land from one Hasina Begum vide registered sale deed No. 9159 dated 24.06.1963 he erected 

tin shed hut and possessing the same. In July 1980, father of the plaintiffs took monthly rent 

of the suit land by paying monthly rent at Tk. 700/- and had been paying rent regularly upto 

November, 1990 but he failed to pay total 9 month rent upto August, 1991 amounting to Tk. 

6300/- as a result he executed an agreement to pay rent of Tk. 7000/- upto September 1991 in 

presence of local people and while on 18.10.1991 he went to demand the said due rent, the 

father of the plaintiffs used filthy language and assaulted him as such he filed G.D. Entry 

being Gulshan Police Station G.D. Entry No. 153 dated 18.10.1991 and subsequently he paid 

the said due rent of Tk. 7000/- by different installments. Thereafter, he did not pay any rent to 

him and he became a defaulter. The plaintiffs with evil intention to grab the suit land created 

a forged agreement dated 12.10.1973 and bainapatra dated 25.06.1982 and 18.11.1996 and 

served a legal notice on 26.08.1999 and after receiving the said legal notice he gave reply on 

12.09.1999 denying all the allegations and demanded to hand over possession of the suit land 

after paying due rent. The plaintiffs did not hand over the suit land and pay the due rent and 

as such he filed Title Suit No. 333 of 1999 in the court of Assistant Judge, Dhaka for eviction 

and realization of arrear rent against the plaintiffs for which the plaintiffs suit is liable to be 

dismissed. The defendant No.5 also filed a written statement denying the material allegations 

made in the plaint and making almost identical statement of defendant No.1 written 

statements and further stating inter-alia that in the middle of August 1999 the defendant No.1 

proposed to sell the suit property and accordingly she purchased the suit property by 

registered sale deed dated 05.09.1999 on consideration at Tk. 2,00,000/- (two lac). The 

plaintiffs knew about the said sale and as such the suit is liable to be dismissed.  

 

4. At the trial, the plaintiffs examined 4(four) witnesses and the defendants examined 

5(five) witnesses in support of their respective cases.  

 

5. The learned Judge of the trial court on conclusion of trial after hearing the parties, 

considering the evidence and materials on record dismissed the suit by his judgment and 

decree dated 26.01.2003. Against the said judgment and decree the plaintiffs preferred appeal 

before the learned District Judge, Dhaka. On transfer it was heard and disposed of by the 

learned Additional District Judge, 6
th

 Court, Dhaka who after hearing the parties, considering 

the materials on record dismissed the appeal and affirmed the judgment and decree of the trial 

court by his judgment and decree dated 10.11.2005. 

 

6. Being aggrieved by and dissatisfied with the aforesaid judgment and decree the 

plaintiffs as petitioners moved this court and obtained the instant Rule. 

 

7. Mr. Tapan Kumar Chakraborty, the learned advocate appearing for the petitioners has 

placed the revisional application, pleadings, evidence, exhibits, judgment and decree of the 

courts below and submits that the appellate court failed to consider that expert opinion in 

respect of comparison of hand writing of the alleged vendor of Bainapatra was necessary but 

rejected and thus committed illegality. He submits that the appellate court failed to consider 

the observation of his own passed in order dated 03.09.2005. He submits that the relatives are 

not ground to reject and disbelieve the evidence of the witnesses. He further submits that the 

trial court misread the Bainapatra exhibits 1 and 5 in respect date of Bainapatra. He lastly 
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submits that both the courts below failed to consider the source of possession which is the 

basis of agreement. In support of his contention he has referred the decision reported in: (1) 

13 BLT(AD) 177, (2) 60 DLR(AD) 55, (3) 13 MLR(AD)171, (4) 26 DLR(AD) 70, (5) 20 

BLC(AD) 25. 

   

8. Mr. Subrata Saha, the learned advocate appearing for the opposite-parties opposed the 

rule and submits that the plaintiffs failed to prove Bainapatra by adducing evidence and as 

such trial court rightly dismissed the suit and the appellate court affirmed the judgment and 

decree of the trial court. He submits that Bainapatra dated 25.06.1982 has no schedule and no 

name of witnesses mentioned in the aforesaid Bainapatra and P.W.1 in cross-examination 

admitted that- “¢hNa 25-06-1982 Cw a¡¢l−Mi h¡ue¡fœ .75 fup¡ ØV¡−Çfl Efl wmM¡ qq| h¡ue¡f−œ ®Lq p¡r£ 
e¡C z h¡ue¡f−œ ag¢nm e¡Cz  18-06-1996 Cw a¡¢lM Afl HL¢V h¡ue¡f®œl Lb¡ h¢mu¡−Re Eq¡−a p¡r£ e¡Cz’’ He 

submits that none of the P.Ws. stated that they were present at the time of execution of 

Bainapatra dated 25.06.1982 and as such Bainapatra dated 25.06.1982 has not been proved 

by the plaintiffs. He submits that the plaintiffs purchased the stamp on 26.12.1975 by which 

Bainapatra was executed after 06(six) years on 25.06.1982 which proved that the Bainapatra 

is forged and concocted one. He submits that none of the P.Ws. stated that Tk. 50,000/- was 

paid to defendant No.1 as earnest money in his presence and as such the Bainapatra dated 

25.06.1982 has not been proved. He further submits that in respect of Bainapatra dated 

18.11.1996 which was marked as exhibit-1 and submits that P.W.1 stated that he is not a 

witness in Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996 and he was not present at the time of execution of the 

Bainapatra which proved that he knows nothing about Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996. He 

submits that P.W.2 is the attesting witness No.3 of Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996 but in cross-

examination he admitted that-“h¡ue¡fœ ag¢n−m M¢au¡−e HLV¤ Oo¡j¡¡S¡ −cM¡ k¡uz h¡ue¡f−œ 1 ew ¢hh¡c£l 
p¢q ¢iæ ®cM¡ k¡uz” This admission proved that Bainapatra is forged one. Mr. Subrata Saha 

further adds that P.W.3 is attesting witness No.2 of Bainapatra who in his cross-examination 

stated that he is uncle of plaintiffs and also admitted that-“h¡ue¡f−œ ¢LR¤ L¡V¡L¡¢V A¡−Rz” He 

submits that P.W.4 is an attesting witness of Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996 and who is brother 

in law of the plaintiffs and he knew nothing about Bainapatra and thus P.W.1-4 failed to 

prove the execution of Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996. He submits that the plaintiff purchased 

the stamp on 17.11.1995 and Bainapatra was executed on 18.11.1996 after 01(one) year of 

purchase which proved that Bainapatra is ante dated and forged one. He further submits that 

evidence beyond pleadings is not sustainable as per provisions under order VI rule 7 of the 

Code of Civil Procedure. He lastly submits that the plaintiffs failed to file any scrap of paper 

to prove that defendant No.1 withdrew compensation money of Ismail and P.W.2, 4 stated 

that they have no any paper to show that defendant No.1 withdrew compensation money of 

Ismail. In support of his contention he has referred the decisions reported in: (1) 50 DLR(AD) 

88, (2) 16 DLR(AD) 157, (3) 44 DLR 69, (4) 38 DLR 39, (5) 58 DLR 329, (6) 15 MLR(AD) 

500, (7) 4 MLR(AD) 127, (8) 62 DLR(AD) 242, and (9) 16 BLD (AD) 280.  

 

9. In order to appreciate the submission made by the learned advocates of the parties, I 

have gone through the revisional application, pleadings, evidence, exhibits, judgment and 

decree of the courts below very carefully.  

 

10. Now the question calls for consideration whether the learned Judge of the court of 

appeal below has committed any error of law resulting in an error in the decision occasioning 

failure of justice in passing the impugned judgment and decree.  

 

11. On perusal of the record it appears that the plaintiffs brought a suit for Specific 

Performance of Contract and for declaration that sell deed dated 05.09.1999 is not binding 
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upon the plaintiffs. To prove the case the plaintiffs adduced the evidence both oral and 

documentary. The learned Judge of the trial court considering the evidence and materials on 

record dismissed the suit holding that the plaintiffs failed to prove their case with observation 

that-“Eiuf−rl ü¡r£N−Zl ®Sl¡ Sh¡eh¢¾c fkÑ¡−m¡Qe¡ L¢l−m ®cM¡ k¡u ®k, h¡c£N−Zl f§hÑha£Ñ jªa Cpj¡Cm ¢ju¡ 
e¡¢mn£ h¡s£−a i¡s¡¢Vu¡ ¢R−mez h¡c£f−rl  h¡ue¡fœ fkÑ¡−m¡Qe¡ L¢lu¡ ®cM¡ k¡u, Eq¡−a Oo¡j¡S¡ A¡−Rz ac¤f¢l 
AwN£L¡l e¡j¡ Hhw h¡ue¡f−œ 1 ew ¢hh¡c£l ü¡r−ll j−dÉ ¢iæa¡ ®cM¡ k¡uz” The learned Judge of the 

appellate court considering the evidence, assessing and reassessing the evidence 

independently dismissed the appeal and affirmed the judgment of the trial court with the 

finding that the plaintiffs failed to prove the Bainapatra which were basis of the plaintiffs by 

any evidence oral and documentary as to Bainapatra dated 25.06.1982 exhibit-5(ka) and 

Bainapatra dated 18.11.1996 exhibit-1. 

 

12. In a suit for Specific Performance of Contract the essential ingredients which the 

plaintiffs are required to prove in order to succeed in a suit for Specific Performance of 

Contract, are that the Bainapatra is genuine, considerations money passed by the parties and 

delivery of possession was given in pursuance thereof. But in the instant case the plaintiffs 

measurably failed to prove the Bainapatra considerations of money and also as to possession 

and as such the learned Judge of the trial court rightly dismissed the suit and the appellate 

court on assessing the evidence on record rightly dismissed the appeal and affirmed the 

judgment and decree of the trial court. 

 

13. On analysis of the judgment of the appellate court it appears to me that the findings 

arrived by the court of appeal below having been rested upon considerations and discussions 

of evidence and materials on record and also on a correct and proper analysis of the legal 

aspect involved in the case. Moreover, the impugned judgment and decree of the appellate 

court below in its entirety are well founded in the facts and circumstances of the case. 

Therefore, grounds urged and the contentions advanced by the learned advocate for the 

petitioners are not correct exposition of law. However, I have gone through the decisions 

reported in (1) 13 BLT(AD) 177, (2) 60 DLR(AD) 55, (3) 13 MLR(AD)171, (4) 26 

DLR(AD) 70, (5) 20 BLC(AD) 25, as referred by the learned advocate for the petitioners. I 

am respectful agreement with principles enunciated therein. But the facts leading to those 

cases are quite distinguishable to that of the instant case and therefore, to that effect I am also 

unable to accept his submissions. On the contrary the legal pleas taken by the learned 

advocate for opposite parties prevail and the decisions cited by him reported in (1) 50 

DLR(AD) 88, (2) 16 DLR(AD) 157, (3) 44 DLR 69, (4) 38 DLR 39, (5) 58 DLR 329, (6) 15 

MLR(AD) 500, (7) 4 MLR(AD) 127, (8) 62 DLR(AD) 242, and (9) 16 BLD (AD) 280, 

appear to have a good deal of force. 

 

14. In view of discussions, decisions and reasons stated above, I am of the view that the 

impugned judgment and decree of the court of appeal below suffers from no legal infirmity 

which calls for no interference by this court in revision. Thus, I find no merit in the Rule.  

  

15. In the result, the Rule is discharged. However, there will be no order as to costs. 

 

16. Let the Lower Court Records along with a copy of the judgment be sent to the court 

concerned at once. 
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Principle to amend Pleadings; 
 

We find that one of the fundamental principles governing the amendment of the 

pleadings is that all the controversies between the parties as far as possible should be 

included and multiplicity of the proceedings avoided.               ... (Para 15) 

 

JUDGMENT 

Syed Md. Ziaul Karim, J: 

 

1. This Rule was issued on an application under section 115(1) of the Code of Civil 

Procedure ( briefly as the Code) at the instance of defendant petitioner calls in question the 

legality and propriety of the order dated 14-10-2015 passed by learned Joint District Judge 

and Arbitration Court, Dhaka, allowing an application for amendment of the plaint of Money 

Suit no. 26 of 2013 under order VI Rule 17 of the Code.  

   

2. Material facts leading to this Rule, are that on 23-05-2004 opposite party as plaintiff 

instituted Money Suit no. 32 of 2004 in the first Court of Joint District Judge, Dhaka, 

impleading the petitioner as defendant for realization of money for Tk.2,50,38,000.00 from 

the defendant. 

   

3. The relieves claimed in suit reads as hereunder: 

a. A decree for damages against the defendant in favour of the plaintiff for 

Tk.2,50,38,000.00 only may kindly be passed with cost; 

b. Interest at the rate of 15% (fifteen percent); 
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c. The defendant may be directed to pay the  decreetal amount to the plaintiff or to 

deposit the same in court within a time  to be specified by this honorable Court. 

d. In case of failure on the part of the defendant to   satisfy the decree passed by the 

honorable Court the decreetal amount may be recovered by attachment and sale of 

moveable and immovable properties belonging to the defendant; 

e. The decreetal amount if recovered may be directed to be paid to the plaintiff; 

f. Such other relief or relieves this honorable court deems just and proper may be 

granted to the plaintiff.  

  

4. In suit, the plaintiff by filing an application dated 12-11-2012 sought to amend the 

plaint under Order VI Rule 17 of the Code by incorporating some clarification of the 

statements already made in the plaint and some correction of error apparent from the face of 

the plaint. The defendant opposed the proposed amendment by filing written objection stating 

that the proposed amendment will change the nature and character of the suit which cannot be 

allowed.  

                 

5. After hearing the learned Judge of the Court below by the impugned order allowed the 

application for amendment.  

   

6. Feeling aggrieved the defendant as petitioner filed the instant application and obtained 

the present Rule.  

   

7. The learned Advocate appearing on behalf of the petitioner seeks to impeach the 

impugned order on two fold arguments: 

   

Firstly: The plaintiff by identical application sought to amend the plaint earlier which 

was allowed by the Court below but the same was set aside by the High Court 

Division on 22-01-2014 in Civil Revision no.355 of 2013, wherein this Court directed 

the Court below to pass a proper judgment considering the amendment application 

with written objection in accordance with law. He adds that the impugned order is a 

non-speaking order which cannot be sustained in law.  

Secondly:  Later, another identical application was allowed without complying this 

Court’s direction. So the impugned order cannot be sustained in the eye of law.  

   

8. The learned Advocate appearing for the plaintiff opposite party opposes the Rule and 

candidly submits that the trial Court did not comply the direction of this Court. He, however 

submits that non-speaking impugned order itself is not the valid ground for interference by 

the High Court Division. He lastly submits that by such non speaking impugned order will 

not affect the merit of this case.  

   

9. In support of his contention he refers the case of Abdul Motaleb Vs. Md. Ershad Ali 

and others 18 BLD (AD) 121 held: 

 

" Section -115) 

Non-Speaking Order- 

      

Simply because the impugned order was not a speaking order, could not by itself be a 

valid ground for interference by the High Court Division unless it can be shown that 

the subordinate Court has committed any error of law "resulting in an error in the 

decision occasioning failure of justice.  
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The order of the subordinate Court may have been a bad order and improper one not 

having given any reasons but before interfering with the same the High Court 

Division is required to examine whether the same has resulted in an erroneous 

decision occasioning failure of justice.                                       

   

Order VI Rule 17 

Since all rules of the Court are intended to secure the proper administration of justice, 

it is essential that they should be made to serve and be subordinate to that purpose so 

that full powers of amendment be enjoyed and as such it should always be liberally 

exercised. The only limitation in allowing an amendment of the plaint is that the 

proposed amendment should not change the fundamental character and nature of the 

suit. The settled law that amendment of pleadings may be allowed at any stage of the 

proceedings for the purpose of determining the real controversy between the parties." 

                 

10. In order to appreciate their submissions we have gone through the records and given 

our anxious considerations to their submissions.  

   

11. The point for consideration whether the impugned order calls for interference by this 

Court. 

   

12. On going to the materials on record it transpires that it is the definite case of plaintiff 

that proposed amendment are for clarification of some statements made in the plaint and will 

not change the nature and character of the suit.  

   

13. For the convenience of understanding the Provisions of Order VI Rule 17 of the Code 

reads as hereunder: 

“ 17- The Court may at any stage of the proceedings allow either party to alter or 

amend his pleadings in such manner and on such terms as may be just and all such 

amendments shall be made as may be necessary for the purpose of determining the 

real question in controversy between the parties. 

              

14. Therefore, Order VI Rule 17 of the Code provides that the Court may at any stage of 

the proceedings allow either party to alter or amend his pleadings in such manner and on such 

term as may be just and necessary for the purpose of determining the real question in 

controversy between the parties. The proposed amendment would settle the question of 

disputes between the parties. This will end all pending controversies between the parties and 

will not amount to a change in the nature and character of the suit. 

   

15. It transpires to us that proposed amendment will in no way change the nature and 

character of the suit rather the plaintiff wants to amend his plaint by proposed amendment for 

proper and complete adjudication of the suit which do not appear to be inconsistent, 

irrelevant, immaterial or contradictory of the facts of suit. We find that one of the 

fundamental principles governing the amendment of the pleadings is that all the controversies 

between the parties as far as possible should be included and multiplicity of the proceedings 

avoided. 

   

16. Therefore, we hold that the proposed amendment is necessary for the purpose of 

determining the real questions in controversies between the parties and proper adjudication of 

the suit. Moreover, the respective party will prove their own case by adducing evidence and 
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other party has the ample opportunity to file additional written statement against such 

amendment and to prove their case at the time of hearing. 

   

17. In the case of Abdul Mutaleb Vs. Ershad Ali 1998 BLD(AD)121=4 BLC(AD)150 

held: 

“ Since all rules of the Court are intended to secure the proper administration of 

justice, it is essential that they should be made to serve and be subordinate to that 

purpose so that full powers of amendment may be enjoyed and, as such, it should 

always be liberally exercised. The only limitation in allowing an amendment of the 

plaint is that the proposed amendment should not change the fundamental character 

and nature of the suit. The settled law is that amendment of pleadings may be allowed 

at any stage of the proceedings for the purpose of determining the real questions in 

controversies between the parties.” 

                

18. This view receives support in the case of Md. Khaledur Reza Chowdhury Vs. Saleha 

Begum and others 1997 BLD(AD) 86= 2 BLC(AD) 20, S.N. Roy Chowdhury Vs. A. Jabber 

and others 1994 BLD 229=46 DLR 273. Moyjuddin Mondol Vs. Bena Rani Das and others 

45 DLR 154 and M. A. Jahangir and others Vs. Abdul Malek and others 41 DLR 389. 

   

19. In the light of discussions made above and the preponderant judicial views emerging 

out of the authorities referred to above, we are of the view that the Court below rightly 

allowed the application for amendment. We find that earlier in Civil Revision no. 355 of 

2013 there was a direction by this Court dated 22-01-2014 to the effect that the trial Court 

should pass a proper judgment on considering the amendment application itself but such 

direction was not complied by the Court below we highly disapprove such act of the learned 

Judge. Therefore, she is cautioned not to do such act in future failing which she should be 

dealt in accordance with law.  

   

20. In view of foregoing narrative, the Rule is discharged without any order asto cost. The 

order of stay granted earlier stands vacated.  

   

21. The office is directed to communicate the order at once.  

   

22. Let a copy of judgment and order be served upon Mrs. Monowara Begum, Joint 

District Judge, Arbitration Court, Dhaka. 
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Mr. Justice Borhanuddin  

And 

Mr. Justice Sardar Md. Rashed Jahangir 

 

Section 158 of the Income Tax Ordinance 1984;  
 

The proviso to Sub-Section (2) of section 158 of the Ordinance vests discretion with the 

Commissioner of Taxes to reduce statutory requirement of payment under Sub-

Section(2) of section 158 of the Ordinance, if the grounds stated in the  application filed 

by the assessee applicant under the proviso appears reasonable to him/her. From the 

language of the proviso, we do not find any statutory duty of the CT to pass an order 

assigning reason.                 ... (Para 18) 

 

Though there is no requirement to give an opportunity of hearing to the assessee-

applicant or recording reason, but still the Commissioner of Taxes should be aware that 

his /her order must reflect reasonableness from where it can be transpire that the   

Commissioner of Taxes applied his/her judicial mind in passing the order. But for 

inadequacy or absence of reasonableness, the order cannot be set aside. It is discretion 

of the Commissioner of Taxes.                ... (Para 22) 

                                                                                                               

JUDGMENT 

Borhanuddin, J:  

  

1. The rule Nisi has been issued calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why the 

impugned order bearing Nothi No. Misc.8/law/ka au-5/2006-07 dated 17.08.2006 (Annexure-

A) passed by the respondent No.1 purportedly under section 158(2) of the Income Tax 

Ordinance, 1984, rejecting petitioner’s application for exemption from payment of 15% of 

the demanded income tax prior to preferring an appeal before the Income Tax Appellate 

Tribunal for the Assessment Year 2004-2005 should not be declared to have been issued 

without lawful authority and is of no legal effect and/or pass such other or further order or 

orders as to this Court may seem fit and proper. 

 

2. Facts relevant for disposal of the rule are that the petitioner is a Non-Government 

Voluntary Organization registered under the Societies Registration Act. The petitioner 

submitted Income Tax return for the assessment year 2004-2005 to the Deputy Commissioner 
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of Taxes, (hereinafter called ‘the DCT’) respondent no.3 herein, with audited accounts 

showing a loss of taka 61,12,27,742/-.But the respondent no.3 by his order dated 29.04.2015 

determined taxable income of the petitioner at taka 21,10,62,372/-ignoring audited accounts 

submitted by the  petitioner. Against the order, assessee-petitioner preferred appeal to the 

Appellate Joint Commissioner of Taxes (hereinafter called ‘the AJCT’), respondent no. 4 

herein. Upon hearing the parties and perusing relevant papers/documents, the AJCT affirmed 

order of the DCT vide its order dated 03.05.2006. At the relevant period, pre-deposit of 15% 

tax determined by the AJCT or Commissioner of Taxes (appeal), as the case may be, was a 

condition precedent under section 158(2) of the Income Tax ordinance (hereinafter stated ‘the 

ordinance’) for preferring appeal to the Appellate Tribunal. A Proviso attached to sub-section 

(2) of section 158 runs as follows: 

“Provided that on an application made in this behalf by the assessee, the 

commissioner of taxes, may reduce, the requirement of such payment, if the 

grounds of such application appears reasonable to him.” 

 

3. Accordingly, the assessee-petitioner filed an application to the Commissioner of Taxes 

(hereinafter called ‘the CT’), respondent no.1 herein,to reduce the amount of 15% statutory 

requirement under section 158(2) of the ordinance and allow the petitioner to file appeal 

depositing taka 10,000/-only. Respondent no.1 on perusal of the application and materials on 

record reduced the amount at taka 50,00,000/- from taka 87,16,569/- which is  15% of the tax 

determined by the AJCT vide order dated 14.08.2006. 

 

4. Being aggrieved, the assessee-petitioner moved this application under Article 102 of 

the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh and obtained the present rule along 

with an order of stay. 

 

5. Mr. Sardar Jinnat Ali, learned advocate appearing for the petitioner challenged the 

impugned order on two counts, firstly, arbitrary fixation of the amount for pre-deposit at taka 

50,00,000/- without affording an opportunity of hearing to the petitioner. Secondly, the 

respondent no.1 did not record any reason how he arrived such a finding that the assessee has 

the ability to deposit taka 50,00,000/-. Mr. Ali submitted that the impugned order is without 

lawful authority and is of no legal effect and also violative of Article 27 and 31 of the 

Constitution inasmuch as respondent no.1 passed the order without providing an opportunity 

of hearing to the petitioner and without recording any reason to arrive its finding. In support 

of his submission, learned advocate referred to the case of J.T (India) exports and another –

Vs- Union of India and another, reported in 2003 ITR (Vol 262) 269 and the case of 

Commissioner of Income Tax, East Pakistan, central Secretariat, Dacca, -Vs- Fazlur Rahman, 

reported in 16 DLR506.     

 

6. On the other hand, Ms. Mahfuza Begum learned Assistant Attorney General appearing 

for the respondent no.1 submits that pre-deposit of 15% was a condition precedent at the 

relevant period for filling appeal to the Taxes Appellate Tribunal under section 158(2) of the 

ordnance and the proviso attached to the section conferring power to reduce the statutory 

requirement for filling appeal was a discretionary power of the CT and to exercise the 

discretion the CT had no legal obligation to provide personal hearing or record reasoning 

since the DCT and AJCT determined tax liability  of the petitioner after hearing 

representative of the assessee-petitioner and taking into consideration the points raised by the 

assessee as such the rule is liable to be discharged. In support of her submissions, learned 

Assistant Attorney General referred to the case of Union of India & another-Vs-M/S. Jesus 

Sales Corporation, reported in 1996 AIR1509 and the case of Vijay Prokash D. Meheta and 
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another –Vs- Collector of Customs, reported in 1989 ITR (Vol-175) 540 and the case of 

Shyam Electric Works –Vs- Commissioner of Income Tax, reported in (2006) 284 ITR 413.  

 

7. Heard learned advocate for the petitioner and learned Assistant Attorney General for 

the respondent. Perused the application under Article 102 of the constitution and annexure 

appended thereof along with citations referred by learned counsels.  

 

8. Since the dispute centered round section 158 of the ordinance, it will be profitable to 

quote the section as it was at the relevant period: 

“158. Appeal to the Appellate Tribunal (1) An assessee may appeal to the 

Appellate Tribunal if he is aggrieved by an order of  

a) an Appellate Joint Commissioner or the Commissioner (Appeals) as the 

case may be, under section 128 or 156. 

2) No appeal under sub-section (1) shall lie against an order of the Appellate 

Joint Commissioner or the Commissioner (Appeals), as the case may be, 

unless the assessee has paid fifteen per cent of the amount representing the 

difference between the tax as determined on the basis of the order of the 

Appellate Joint Commissioner or the Commissioner (Appeals), as the case 

may be, and the tax payable under section 74. 

Provided that on an application made in this behalf by the assessee, the 

Commissioner of Taxes, may reduce, the requirement of such payment, if the 

grounds of such application appears reasonable to him”. 

 

9. On the basis of the proviso attached to section 158(2) of the Ordinance, the assessee-

petitioner filed an application to the CT to reduce the amount of 15% statutory requirement 

from taka 87,16,659/- to taka 10,000/- only for preferring appeal to the Appellate Tribunal 

under Section 159 of the ordinance against order of the AJCT. 

 

10. Relevant portion of the application filed by the assessee-petitioner are reproduced 

below: 
ÔÔgvi‡KbUvBj wm‡÷‡g iw¶Z cÖwkKvi wnmve mg~n Ges wbix¶v cÖwZ‡e`b mg~n, wej fvDPvi I 
wnmv‡ei LvZvcÎ `vwLj Kiv m‡Ë¡I weÁ Dc-Ki Kwgkbvi Zvi `ßi KZ©„K cÖvwß ¯̂xKvi Kiv KvMRcÎ 
cvb bvB ewjqv gš—e¨ Kwiqv‡Qb Ges Av‡µvnj§mL , KvíwbK I †eAvBwbfv‡e wbix¶v wi‡cvU© mg~n 
AMÖvh¨ Kwiqv -wbix¶v wi‡cv‡U© D‡j wLZ wewea MiP mg~n‡KI AMÖvn¨ Kwiqv‡Qb Ges `vZv ms ’̄vi 
mwnZ mswkó cÖKí Towards a Proverty- Free Society (Phase VI) program, Disaster 

management programme, Collaborative project mg~‡ni †gvU e¨q (128,57,44,451 + 
13,76,099 + 54,57,929) = 129,25,78,479/- UvKv wnmv‡e bv wbqv ïay G cÖKí mg~n †_‡K 
cÖvß A_© (8,50,61,419/- + 2,70,582/- + 57,072/- UvKv) ‡gvU 8,53,89,073/- UvKv Avq 
wnmv‡e wbqv Ges Z_¨MZ wfwË bv _vKv ¯̂‡ËI KvíwbKfv‡e Bw›U‡MÖ‡UW GwMÖKvjPvi dvg© n‡Z Avq 
1,25,76,045/- UvKv, †m›U«vj AvB G Gd Gi wnmve n‡Z Avq 59,09,013/- UvKv, cÖwkKv 
Kw¤úDUvi wm‡÷g (wcwmGm) ‡_‡K Avq 5,12,88,332/- UvKv, †Mvjvg gvIjv dv‡Zgv I‡qj‡dqvi 
U«vó ‡_‡K 12,48,357/- UvKv Avq †`LvBqv ms ’̄v cÖwkKvi cÖK…Z bxU ¶wZ 61,12,27,742/- UvKv 
Gi ’̄‡j me©‡gvU 21,10,62,372/- UvKv Avq †`LvBqv 29/12/2005 Zvwi‡L Ki wba©viY Av‡`k 
cÖ`vb Kwiqv‡Qb Ges AvqKi 5,26,68,093/- + my` 54,42,369/- UvKv mn †gvU 
5,81,10,462/- UvKv AvqKi cÖ`v‡bi Rb¨ AvBwU-15 †cÖib Kwiqv‡Qb| DcKi Kwgkbvi KZ©K Ki 
eQi 2004-2005 Gi †eAvBwb Ki wba¡©iY Av‡`k ZvwiL 29-12-2005 Gi Abywjwc Ki`vZv cÖwkKv 
17/01/2006 ZvwiL cvBqv‡Q| G‡RwmwUi AvqKi Avcxj Av‡`k cÎ 979/mvt-51/KtAt-5/05-
06, ZvwiL 03/05/2006 Gi Abywjwc Ki`vZv cÖwkKv 06/07/2005Bs ZvwiL cvBqv‡Q| †m‡nZy, 
Ki eQi 2004-2005 Gi  DcKi Kwgkbvi KZ©„K Ki wba©viY Av‡`k ZvwiL 29/12/2005 Ges 
03/05/2005 Zvwi‡Li G‡RwmwUi AvqKi Avcxj Av‡`k cÎ 979/mvt-51/KtAt-5/05-06 Gi 
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wei“‡× U¨vK‡mm AvcxjvZ U«vBeybv‡j Avcxj Kiv cÖ‡qvRb| wKš‘ eZ©gv‡b AvqKi Aa¨v‡`‡ki 
158(2) avivq ms‡kvabx Abyhvqx 15% Ki miKvix †KvlvMv‡i Rgv Kwiqv U¨vK‡mm AvcxjvZ 
U«vBeybv‡j Avcxj Kivi weavb iwnqv‡Q|  
ms ’̄v cÖwkKvi cÖK…Z bxU ¶wZ 61,12,27,741/- UvKv Hl wecix‡Z Dc-Ki Kwgkbvi KZ©„K 

-Dc‡iv‡j wLZ KvíwbK I †eAvBwbfv‡e 21,10,62,372/- UvKv Avq wba©vib Z_v AvqKi 
5,81,10,462/- UvKv avh© Kivi cwi‡cÖw¶‡Z Ki`vZv cÖwkKv‡K ïb¨ AvqK‡ii ’̄‡j AvqKi 
5,81,10,462/- UvKvi 15% mgcwigvb 87,16,569/- UvKv †KvlvMv‡i Rgv w`qv U¨vK‡mm 
AvcxjvZ U«vBeybv‡j Avcxj Kivi cÖ‡qvRwbqZv †`Lv w`qv‡Q| wKš‘ cÖwkKvi eZ©gvb Avw_©K Ae ’̄vi 
cwi‡cÖw¶‡Z Ga wecyj cwigvb A_© †KvlvMv‡i cÖ`vb Kivi m¤¢e bq| Bnv e¨wZZ D³ A_© cwi‡kva 
Ki‡Z AvcxjKvixi hardship Gi Kvib nB‡e| cÖwkKvi eZ©gvb Avw_©K Ae ’̄v LyeB Lvivc|  
GgZve ’̄vq, Avcbvi wbKU webxZ AviR GB †h, b¨vq wePv‡ii ¯̂v‡_© Dc-Ki Kwgkbvi KZ©„K 
Avµkg~jK, KvíwbK I †eAvBwbfv‡e cÖwkKvi n§eÉ AvqK‡ii ’̄‡j cÖwkKvi Rb¨ avh©K…Z AvqKi 
5,81,10,462/- UvKvi 15% Ki mgcwigvb 87,16,659/- UvKv Rgv gIKzd Kwiqv ïay †Uv‡Kb 
A_© 10,000/- UvKv miKvix †KvlvMvi evsjv‡`k e¨vs‡K Rgv `vb c~e©K U¨v‡·p AvcxjvZ U«vBeybv‡j 
Avcxj Kwievi AbygwZ `v‡b evwaZ Kwi‡eb|ÕÕ 

 

11. Respondent no.1 Commissioner of Taxes disposed of the application vide its order 

dated 14.08.2006 in the following manner: 
ÔÔAvcbvi 18-08-2006Bs Zvwi‡Li M„wnZ Av‡e`‡bi †cÖw¶‡Z AvqKi bw_, `vwLjK…Z KvMRcÎ 
BZ¨vw` cix¶v‡š— cÖZxqgvb nq †h, Avcbvi Ki cÖ`v‡bi mvg_© Av‡Q| AZGe, AvqKi Aa¨v‡`‡ki 
158/(2) avivi kZ© Abyhvqx 2004-05 Ki e‡l©I AvcxjvZ U«vBeybv‡j gvgjv `v‡q‡ii Rb¨ 
50,00,000/- (cÂvk j¶) UvKv cwi‡kva mv‡c‡¶ AvcxjvZ U«vBey¨bv‡j gvgjv `v‡q‡ii Rb¨ 
Avcbvi Av‡e`b gÄyi Kiv nBj|ÕÕ  

 

12. Petitioner’s contention is that though there was no statutory requirement under the 

proviso of section 158 (2) but principle of natural justice demands a personal hearing before 

passing the order. The moot question is whether the Commissioner of Taxes was under 

obligation to provide an opportunity of hearing to the assessee-petitioner and passed the order 

assigning reasons. Learned counsel for the parties referred citations in support of their 

submission. It need not be pointed out that under different situations and conditions the 

requirement of the compliance of the principle of natural justice vary. The application of the 

audi alterem  partem is not applicable to all eventualities  or to cure all ills. Its application is 

excluded in the interest of administrative efficiency and expedition. Rules of natural justice 

are not rigid rules, they are flexible and their application depends upon the setting and 

background of statutory provision, nature of the right which may be affected and the 

consequences which may entail, its application depends upon the facts and circumstances of 

each case. These principles do not apply to all cases and situations. Applications of these 

uncodified rules are often excluded by express provision or by implication. The rule of audi 

alteram partem is not attracted unless the impugned order is shown to have deprived a person 

of his liberty or his property.  

 

13. The question of audi alterem pertam arose in the case of Union of India & Anr.-Vs- 

M/S. Jesus Sales Corporation, wherein a Full Bench of Delhi High Court observed that:  

“Before rejecting the prayer made on behalf of the respondent to dispense 

with the whole amount of penalty an opportunity should have been given to the 

said respondent of being heard in terms of the proviso to Section 4-M of the 

Imports and Exports (Control) Act, 1947.” 

 

14. Section 4-M of the Act provides amongst other that where the Appellate authority is 

of the opinion that the deposit to be made will cause undue hardship to the appellant it may at 
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its discretion dispense with such deposit either unconditionally or subject to such conditions 

as it may impose.  Union of India challenged the order of the Delhi High Court before the 

Indian Supreme Court. 

 

15. After thorough and meticulous discussions, Indian Supreme Court held.  

“When principles of natural justice require an opportunity to be heard before 

an adverse order is passed on any appeal or application, it does not in all 

circumstances mean a personal hearing. The requirement is complied with by 

affording an opportunity to the person concerned to present his case before 

such quasi-judicial authority who is expected to apply his judicial mind to the 

issues involved. Of course, if in his own discretion if he requires the appellant 

or the applicant to be heard because of special facts and circumstances of the 

case, then certainly it is always open to such authority to decide the appeal or 

the application only after affording a personal hearing. But any order passed 

after taking into consideration the points raised in the appeal or the 

application shall not be held to be invalid merely on the ground that no 

personal hearing had been afforded. This is all the more important in the 

context of taxation and revenue matters. When an authority has determined a 

tax liability or has imposed a penalty, then the requirement that before the 

appeal is heard such tax or penalty should be deposited cannot be held to be 

unreasonable as already pointed out above. In the case of Shyam Kishore-Vs-

Municipal Corporation of Delhi, it has been held by this court that such 

requirement cannot be held to be harsh or violative of Article 14 of the 

Constitution so as to declare the requirement of pre-deposit itself as 

unconstitutional. In this background, it can be said that normal rule is that 

before filing the appeal or before the appeal is heard, the person concerned 

should deposit the amount which he has been directed to deposit as a tax or 

penalty. The non-deposit of such amount itself is an exception which has been 

incorporated in different statutes including the one with which are concerned. 

Second proviso to sub-section (1) of Section 4 M says in clear and 

unambiguous words that an appeal against an order imposing a penalty shall 

not be entertained unless the amount of the penalty has been deposited by the 

appellant. Thereafter, the third proviso vests a discretion in such Appellate 

authority to dispense with such deposit unconditionally or subject to such 

conditions as it may impose in its discretion taking into consideration the 

undue hardship which it is likely to cause to the appellant. As such it can be 

said that the statutory requirement is that before an appeal is entertained, the 

amount of penalty has to be deposited by the appellant; an order dispensing 

with such deposit shall amount to an exception to the said requirement of 

deposit. In this background, it is difficult to hold that if the Appellate authority 

has rejected the prayer of the appellant to dispense with the deposit 

unconditionally or has dispensed with such deposit subject to some conditions 

without hearing the appellant, on perusal of the petition filed on behalf of the 

appellant for the said purpose, the order itself is vitiated and liable to be 

quashed being violative of principle of natural justice and with the above 

observation allowed the appeal filed by the Union of India. As it is stated 

above that the attached provision of section 158 of the Ordinance is states that 

the Commissioner of Taxes on an application made by the assessee may 

reduce the requirement of pre-deposit appears reasonable to him.”  

(Emphasis supplied by us.) 
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16. Article 102 of out Constitution empowers the High Court Division to issue certain 

orders and directions. Language of the Article 102 runs as follows: 

“102 (1) The High Court Division on the application of any person aggrieved, 

may give such directions or orders to any person or authority, including any 

person performing any function in connection with the affairs of the Republic, 

as may be appropriate for the enforcement of any of the fundamental rights 

conferred by Part III of the this Constitution”. 

 

17. From the language above, it is apparent that existence of fundamental right to be the 

formation of the exercise of jurisdiction by the High Court Division under this Article. This 

right has to be a legal right. Legal right means legally enforceable rights and not purely 

personal right or personal contract having no statutory force. The above words must be read 

in the context of and in anti-thesis of the words “for the enforcement of any of the rights 

conferred by part III”. 

           

18. The proviso to Sub-Section (2) of section 158 of the Ordinance vests discretion with 

the Commissioner of Taxes to reduce statutory requirement of payment under Sub-Section(2) 

of section 158 of the Ordinance, if the grounds stated in the  application filed by the assessee 

applicant under the proviso appears reasonable to him/her. From the language of the proviso, 

we do not find any statutory duty of the CT to pass an order assigning reason.  

 

19. The rule that decisions of an authority exercising judicial or quasi judicial authority 

should be reasoned, is not a universally established rule, although in certain situations it is 

rigidly enforced. The duty to give reasons may be either a statutory requirement or non 

statutory. Where the duty is laid down by the act or the rules made thereunder, obviously, the 

authority is bound to give reasoned decision in all cases to which that provision is applicable. 

But in the absence of a statutory duty, the court have been emphatic to advise judicial or 

quasi judicial authorities to assign reasons in such a form as to justify the orders being called 

what are described as speaking orders. 

 

20. It may be mentioned here that, upon hearing the authorized representative of the 

assessee-petitioner and considering the points raised by the assessee-petitioner the DCT and 

the AJCT determined tax liability of the assessee as such requirement of further hearing is 

always with the authority who decides the matter. There is no statutory requirement for 

hearing the applicant or recording reason under the proviso of section 158(2) of the 

ordinance.  

21. We have perused section 249(4) of the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961, which runs 

as follows: 

A) No appeal under this chapter   shall be admitted unless at the time of filing of the 

appeal,- 

a) Where a return has been filed by the assessee, the assessee has paid the tax due on the 

income returned by him; or  

b) Where no return has been filed by the assessee, the assessee has paid an amount 

equal to the amount of advance tax which was payable by him: 

“Provided that in a case of filing under clause (b) and on an application made by the 

appellant in this behalf, the Commissioner (Appeal) may, for any good and sufficient 

reason to be recorded in writing, exempt him from the operation of the provisions of 

that clause”. 

(Emphasis supplied by us.) 
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22. It appears from Section 249(4) of the Indian Income Tax Act, 1961, that there was a 

statutory requirement to record good and sufficient reason by the Commissioner (Appeal) to 

exempt assessee applicant from the payment under clause (a) and (b) of the section. But in 

our statute there is no such requirement. We cannot interprete language of the statute framed 

by our legislators in between the lines. Legislators framed the law at their wisdom. Though 

there is no requirement to give an opportunity of hearing to the assessee-applicant or 

recording reason, but still the Commissioner of Taxes should be aware that his /her order 

must reflect reasonableness from where it can be transpire that the   Commissioner of Taxes 

applied his/her judicial mind in passing the order. But for inadequacy or absence of 

reasonableness, the order cannot be set aside. It is discretion of the Commissioner of Taxes. 

 

23. Under the facts and circumstances of the case and for the reasons stated above, we are 

inclined to discharge the rule with the observation made above. 

  

24. Accordingly, the rule is discharged without any order as to cost.  
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(CRIMINAL REVISIONAL JURISDICTION) 

 

DIST-DHAKA 

CRIMINAL REVISION NO.2367 OF 

2018 

 

Begum Khaleda Zia, Former Prime 

Minister, wife of Shaheed President 

Ziaur Rahman  

......…Accused petitioner. 

-Versus-  

Anti-Corruption Commission (ACC), 

Dhaka and another  

…….. Opposite parties.  

Mr. AJ Mohammad Ali, Senior advocate 

with Mr. Kayser Kamal, Advocate & Mr. 

Md. Aminul Islam, Advocate ......For the 

accused-petitioner.  

Mr. Md. Khurshid Alam Khan, Advocate                   

.........For the ACC  

Mr. Md. Jahangir Alam, DAG with Mr. 

Md. Jashim Uddin, AAG & Mr. Shafquat 

Hussain, AAG ..... For the State 

      

The 14
th

 day of October, 2018  

 

Present: 

Mr. Justice Obaidul Hassan  

And  

Mr. Justice S M Kuddus Zaman 

 

Cr PC section 540A; 
 

In the case at hand, we find that the Petition under section 540A was filed by the Public 

Prosecutor, though it has not been expressly mentioned whether the Public Prosecutor 

can file such an application; the Code does not prevent the Public Prosecutor from filing 

as such. The case reported in 14 DLR, aides us in concluding that, where there is no 

such provision preventing the Public Prosecutor from filing such an application, there is 

no harm if the Public Prosecutor draws the attention of the Court by filing such an 

application for the sake of expedition and deliverance of Justice.            ... (Para 21) 

 

Mr. Justice Obaidul Hassan  

And  

Mr. Justice S M Kuddus Zaman 

 

Judgment 

 

1. The petitioner Begum Khaleda Zia has filed this application under section 10(1A) of 

the Criminal Law Amendment Act 1958, with a prayer to “issue rule, calling upon the 

opposite party to show cause as to why the order dated 20/9/2018, passed by the learned 

Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka in special case No. 18 of 2017, arising out of Tejgaon 

Police station, case No. 15, dated 8/8/2011, corresponding to ACC GR No.84, of 2011 under 

section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act 1947, read with section 109 of the Penal 

Code allowing the application for dispensing with personal attendance of the accused 

petitioner under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure 1898, filed by the learned 

Public Prosecutor and thereby directing to proceed with the case in the absence of the 

accused petitioner, should not be set aside.”   
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2. In addition to the above prayer, she also prayed for staying the proceedings of special 

case No. 18 of 2017, arising out of Tejgaon Police station case No. 15, dated 8/8/2011, 

corresponding to ACC GR No. 84 of 2011, under section 5(2) of the Prevention of 

Corruption Act 1947, read with section 109 of the Penal Code before the learned Special 

Judge, Special Judge Court No.5, Dhaka.   

 

3. The prosecution story, in short, is that former Prime Minister Begum Khaleda Zia 

during her regime from 2001 to 2007 formed a trust namely “Shsheed Ziaur Rahman 

Charitable Trust”, which was registered in Gulshan Sub-Registry Office vide Registration 

No.IV-33, dated 26.10.2004 No.6, Shaheed Moinul Road, Dhaka, the then residence of 

Begum Zia, was used as the address of the trust and Begum Khaleda Zia was the 1
st
 Trustee 

of the trust and her two sons Tarique Rahman and Arafat Rahman were the members of the 

Trust. Begum Khaleda Zia as the 1
st
 Managing Trustee on 09.01.2005 opened a savings 

account being No.34076165 with the Sonali Bank, Prime Minister’s Office Branch and after 

opening the account collected money from different illegal sources by using her official 

power and deposited to the said account.   

         

4. On 16.01.2005 by using the name of Metro Makers and Developers Ltd. the following 

moneys were deposited to the said account from Shahjalal Bank Ltd., Dhanmondi Branch.  

The Managing Director of Metro. Makers and Developers Ltd. Mr. A.F.M Jahangir informed 

that they never donated any money to the “Ziaur Rahman Charitable Trust.” He also 

informed that Assistant Personal Secretary of the then Mayor of Dhaka City Corporation Mr. 

Monirul Islam managed to deposit the said money to the account of the said Trust by using 

the name of his company. Mr. Monirul Islam Khan informed that Political Secretary of the 

then Prime Minister Mr. Abul Haris Chowdhury gave him the money to deposit to the said 

account through pay-order. On 18.01.2005 Assistant Private Secretary of Political Secretary 

of the then Prime Minister Md. Ziaul Islam deposited BDT 27,00,000.00; apart from that 

huge amount of money was deposited to the said account on different dates, which he 

deposited at the instruction of Abul Haris Chowdhury, the Politice Secretary of the then 

Prime Minister.  

 

5. Mr. Harunur Rashid, Assistant Director (Special Inquiry and Investigation-1), Anti 

Corruption Commission (ACC), Head Office, Dhaka as investigation officer investigated the 

case perfunctorily and after investigation submitted charge sheet being No.27 dated 

16.01.2012 under section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 read with section 

109 of the Penal Code against the petitioner and 3(three) others.  

 

6. The case record was transmitted to the Metropolitan Sessions Judge and Ex-Officio 

Senior Special Judge, Dhaka and the case was registered as Special Case No.05 of 2013. 

Thereafter, the case record was transmitted to the Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka for 

holding trial and the case was renumbered as Special Case No.18 of 2017.  

 

7. On 19.03.2014 the Special Judge framed charge against the petitioner under section 

5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 read with section 109 of the Penal Code 

which was read over to her to which she pleaded not guilty and prayed for trial.  

       

8. Out of 36(thirty six) charge sheeted witnesses the prosecution examined the following 

33(thirty three) witnesses in order to prove the case. 
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9. After conclusion of the examination of the witnesses the petitioner was examined under 

section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure and the petitioner again claimed to be the 

innocent and prayed for trial and on 21.12.2017 i.e. on the date of argument she submitted a 

written statement.  

    

10. The case was against fixed for argument on 25.02.2018, but the petitioner could not 

be produced before the Court from jail because of her illness and consequently the case was 

adjourned. Subsequently, several dates were fixed for arguments of the case, but because of 

the same reason the petitioner could not be produced before the Court and the case was 

adjourned.  

      

11. On 05.09.2018 on the fixed dated of hearing of the case the learned advocates for the 

petitioner went to the Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka at Alia Madrasha, Makshibazar, 

Dhaka for conducting the case and came to know for the first time that the Court has already 

been shifted to the old Central Jail, Nazimuddin Road, Dhaka. Thereafter, on 12.09.2018 the 

learned advocate for the petitioner appeared before the Court inside the old Central Jail and 

filed an application for adjournment of hearing of the case till recovery from hear illness and 

also filed an application for extension of bail and after hearing the learned advocates of both 

sides the Court was pleased to fix the next date on 13.09.2018 for further hearing.  

        

12. On 13.09.2018 the Public Prosecutor filed an application under section 540A of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure praying for dispensation with the personal attendance of the 

petitioner and for proceeding with the case in her absence. After hearing the learned 

advocates of both the parties the learned Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka by order dated 

20.09.2018 allowed the application under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

for dispensation with the personal attendance of the petitioner and directed to proceed with 

the case in her absence. The next date of the case is on 30.09.2018.     

         

13. Mr. A J Mohammad Ali, learned Advocate in support of the application submitted 

that the learned Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka passed the impugned order, dispensing 

with the personal attendance of the petitioner and directing to proceed with the case in her 

absence, without applying his judicial mind and as such the same is liable to be set aside. He 

also submitted that the privilege of section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure can only 

be sought by the accused. The public prosecutor is in no way entitled to file such application 

for dispensation with the personal attendance of an accused. This aspect of law was not 

considered by the learned Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka while passing the impugned 

order and as such the same is liable to be set aside. He also submitted that the learned Special 

Judge failed to appreciate that order of dispensation with the personal attendance of an 

accused cannot be passed in her absence while the accused is in custody inasmuch as if the 

order of dispensation with the personal attendance is passed in her absence the accused will 

highly be prejudiced and as such the impugned order is liable to be set aside for ends of 

justice. He further submitted that the learned Judge of the Court below did not take into 

consideration that an application under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure is 

not maintainable when the accused is in custody and as such the impugned order is liable to 

be set aside in the interest of justice.  In support of the submissions Mr. Mohammad Ali 

referred to two cases; Emperor Vs RadharamanMittra (accused) AIR 1930 Allahabad, page 

817 and Jagdish Narayan Bajpai (applicant) Vs Emperor through Ram Gopal and Others 

AIR 1940 Allahabad, page 178.  
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14. Mr. Md. Khurshed Alam Khan, learned advocate, appearing on behalf of the opposite 

party No.1, the Anti-Corruption Commission (ACC); drawing our attention to page no.126 

and 136  of the petition, submitted that the learned Public Prosecutor, during trial, drew 

attention of the learned Judge of the trial Court to the Jail Custody in which, it is written that 

“Khaleda Zia is Unwilling to appear before the Court, which indicates that she does not want 

to come to court, which prolongates the trial.” He also submitted that on 5/9/2018, the 

petitioner appeared before the court and said that “B¢j h¡lh¡l Bc¡m−a q¡¢Sl q−a f¡l−h¡ e¡z” And 

thereafter, on 12/9/2018 and 13/9/2018, the petitioner did not appear before the court. In jail 

custody, on both dates, it was mentioned that “a¡y−L ¢h‘ Bc¡m−a q¡¢Sl¡l SeÉ S¡e¡−e¡ q−m ¢a¢e ¢h‘ 
Bc¡m−a Bp−a f¡l−he e¡ h−m S¡e¡e (A¢eµR¤L)z”. He also submitted that in Jail Custody, it has also 

been mentioned that“¢h‘ Bc¡m−a q¡¢Sl¡l SeÉ Ae¤−l¡d Ll¡ q−m ¢a¢e ¢h‘ Bc¡m−a ®k−a Af¡lNa¡ fËL¡n 
L−lez”. From this, it is quite clear that, it is not a situation rendering the accused incapable; 

rather it is one where the accused petitioner is merely unwilling. He further submitted that the 

learned Public Prosecutor only drew the attention of the court, to the idea that if she is so 

unwilling to appear in court, that her presence may be dispensed with for the continuance of 

the trial. He also submitted that in absence of any application from the Public Prosecutor, 

learned judge himself could have dispensed with the appearance of the accused petitioner. 

However, there is nothing barring the Public Prosecutor (appearing for opposite party No.1) 

from filing such an application under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure 1898. 

Furthermore, he submitted that the attempt taken by the accused petitioner, bringing the 

present application before this Court is nothing but a regrettable practice to delay the 

deliverance of justice and the completion of the trial. Hence, he prays for the rejection of the 

application, summarily.  

       

15. After having considered the submissions by counsels of both sides, having gone 

through the application and the papers annexed, particularly the impugned order; we are of 

the view that it is a new phenomenon for our judicial arena.  

         

16. It appears from the record that the First Information Report (FIR) was launched 

against the accused petitioner on 08.08.2011 and the charge sheet was submitted on 

16.01.2012. Charges were then framed on 19.03.2014, against the accused petitioner and two 

others. Thereafter, the trial began. Out of 36 charge sheeted witnesses, the prosecution has 

managed to examine as many as 33 witnesses so far, in order to prove the case. All of these 

witnesses have then been cross-examined. After conclusion of the witnesses’ examination, 

the accused petitioner was examined under section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

1898 where the Accused Petitioner claimed innocence and prayed for trial. It must be 

mentioned that on 21.12.2017, the date for arguments, the petitioner submitted a written 

statement, which she was supposed to submit on the date of her examination under section 

342. Thereafter, on 25.02.2018, a date was fixed for arguments. However, the accused 

petitioner could not be produced before the Court, for her ill health.  

       

17. Since then, till the date fixed for arguments, the accused petitioner took 32 

adjournments and then submitted her written statement on 21.12.2017. Records also show 

that on 30.01.2018, the prosecution, concluded their arguments. Then the arguments on 

behalf of the co-accused, Ziaul Islam Munna and Monirul Islam Khan began.  

      

18. Since the accused petitioner took 32 adjournments and did not appear before the 

Court for a significant amount of time (since 25.02.2018 to 07.08.2018) and subsequently the 

Jail authority informed the Court that she is not willing to attend Court.  In the circumstances 

it is also argued by the prosecution that since there are two more accused, who have almost 
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completed their arguments and the accused petitioner has submitted a written statement at the 

time of examination under section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 1898, it is not 

essential for her to remain present in Court; she may be well represented by her existing team 

of lawyers. It also appears from the record that the petitioner on 05.09.2018, remained present 

in the Court and proclaimed that “B¢j h¡lh¡l Bc¡m−a q¡¢Sl q−a f¡l−h¡ e¡z”. The Court then fixed 

a date for 12/9/2018, on which date, the learned advocate on behalf of the Accused Petitioner 

sought yet another adjournment and prayed for bail till the Accused Petitioner recovers. The 

learned Judge accepted the prayer for adjournment and fixed the following date for her 

appearance. She once again failed to appear and in Jail Custody, a statement was produced by 

the Jail Authority “¢h‘ Bc¡m−a q¡¢Sl¡l SeÉ Ae¤−l¡d Ll¡ q−m ¢a¢e ¢h‘ Bc¡m−a ®k−a Af¡lNa¡ fËL¡n 
L−lez”. In these circumstances the prosecution filed an application under section 540A of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure, asking the Court to proceed with the trial having dispensed with 

the need for personal appearance of the accused petitioner. In this regard the learned Judge 

framed four issues:  

1. Whether the Public Prosecutor can file an application under section 540A of the Code 

of Criminal Procedure 1898  

2. Whether only the accused can file such an application 

3. Whether the Court can proceed with the case applying the provisions of section 540A, 

while the accused is in custody 

4. Whether the Court can, of its own volition, exercise its discretion in applying section 

540A, without any application from either side.  

 

19. To find the answers of the question, the learned Judge, without finding any decision 

from our jurisdiction, looked to the decisions under the Jurisdiction of the Neighbouring 

nation of India. In doing so, he considered the cases reported in AIR 1970 Raj. 102 (103), 

1979 (47) Cut LT 103 (105) Orissa, 1991 CriLJ 2299 (2303) (AP). He also considered the 

cases reported in (1990) 3 Orissa, Cri R 577 (580), the cases of Basil Banger Lawrance vs 

Emperor, AIR (20) P.C. 218 and Aditya PD Bagchi Vs Jogendranath AIR (35) 1948 All. 393, 

Sultan Singh Jain Vs The State AIR, AIR 1951 All 864 (866) and also the cases of Lalit 

Mohan Dev Burman Vs Hridoy Ranjan Dev Burman AIR 1958 Tripura 17(18). He also 

considered the case of Gulam Mohammad Azimuddin and Others Vs State AIR 1959 

Madhyapradesh 147, 151, 2005(4) Cur Cri R 353(354). 

       

20. From all the above-mentioned cases it appears that, the Court has ample powers to 

exercise its discretion under section 540A at any stage of the trial process. Considering these 

decisions, the learned Trial Court concluded that since the Accused Petitioner was unwilling 

to attend Court, the other co-accused should not be deprived of their right to Justice by 

adjourning the case again and again, thus he exercised his discretion under section 540A, by 

entertaining the application filed by the Public Prosecutor. It has also been observed by the 

Trial Court that, although there is no express provision allowing the Public Prosecutor to file 

this application under section 540A; nonetheless, there is no provision barring the Public 

Prosecutor from doing so, either. In the circumstances at hand, we also searched, the 

Bangladeshi Jurisdiction to seek guidance from the Apex Court. Unfortunately, there are not 

many decisions from our jurisdiction on the subject matter. However, from the case of 

Mr.Nalinikanta Sen, Petitioner Vs M Siddiq, Opposite Party, reported in 14 DLR 1962 
page-355, we have found some guideline. A Division Bench comprising of their Lordships 

Mr. Justice Asir and Mr. Justice SU Ahmed, observed that “while considering certain 

provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure in the case of Muhammad Sulaiman Khan and 

others v. Muhammad Yar Khan and another, ((AIR 11 Allah 267 FB) Mahmood, J., 
observed at page 287 of the same report that it was an undoubted principle of law that 
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everything was to be taken as permissible unless there was some prohibition against it. 

Similarly while dealing with the question as to whether there was an inherent jurisdiction of 

the Court of Sessions to discharge the Jury before the verdict for misconduct or other similar 

and sufficient ground and to empanel another, it was observed by Buckland, J., in the case of 

Rahim Sheikh v. Emperor, (ILR 50 Cal 872 P.875) that so far as it dealt with any point 

specifically the Code of Criminal Procedure must be deemed to be exhaustive and the law 

must be ascertained by reference to its provisions but where a case arose which obviously 

demanded interference and it was not within those for which the Code specifically provided, 

it would not be reasonable to say that the Court had not the power to make such orders as to 

ends of justice required. It was also held by a Division Bench of the Calcutta High Court in 

the case of Nagen Kundu and another v. Emperor, (AIR 1934 Cal 428) that so far as it dealt 

with any point specifically by the Code of Criminal Procedure should be deemed to be 

exhaustive as the law should be ascertained by reference to its provision but where a case 

arose which demanded interference and it was not within those for which the Code 

specifically provided it would not be reasonable to say that the Court had not the power to 

make such order as the ends of justice required. In the case of Hansraj Harijiwan Bhate and 

others v. Emperor, (AIR 1940 Nagpur 390) held that the Code of Criminal Procedure was 

an exhaustive one only with regard to matters specifically dealt with by it. Absence of any 

provisions on a particular matter did not mean that there was no such power and the Court 

might act on the principle that every procedure should be understood as permissible till it 

was shown to be prohibited by law. Keeping these propositions of law in view it seems clear 

to us that a Court of Law has got inherent powers which can be exercised in cases not 

covered directly by any specific provision of the Code provided ends of justice required so. In 

the present case the opposite party admittedly appears to be a victim of a bad type of 

tuberculosis. Even if it is assumed that there is no specific provision in the Code of Criminal 

Procedure which empowers the Trial Court to grant exemption of personal attendance and 

allow his representation through a lawyer on condition that he should appear on call yet in 

view of the principle laid down in the cases referred to above we do not think it unreasonable 

to hold that the trying Court had inherent powers for ends of justice to make an order as 

made in the present case.”  

        

21. In the case at hand, we find that the Petition under section 540A was filed by the 

Public Prosecutor, though it has not been expressly mentioned whether the Public Prosecutor 

can file such an application; the Code does not prevent the Public Prosecutor from filing as 

such. The case reported in 14 DLR, aides us in concluding that, where there is no such 

provision preventing the Public Prosecutor from filing such an application, there is no harm if 

the Public Prosecutor draws the attention of the Court by filing such an application for the 

sake of expedition and deliverance of Justice.  

          

22. Mr. A J Mohammad Ai, submitted that before the Trial Court had decided, the 

Accused Petitioner should have been allowed to engage her representative. Upon an Inquiry 

from the Court, the Learned Advocate said that the present lawyers are in the Court to defend 

the case of the petitioner. They cannot be termed as the representative of the petitioner, while 

she has been exempted from appearing in Court. In this regard, we have searched the 

meaning of the word “representation”. According to the Law Lexicon, the word 

“representation” does not merely mean filing a warrant of appearance or a ‘vakalatnama’, it 

implies that the advocate appears in person or through a duly authorised advocate on behalf 

of the party when the matter is called out for hearing. An advocate cannot be said to have 

represented a party when the advocate himself is not present. A representation before Court, 

always implies that a person is present in Court on behalf of someone else. Thus, we are 
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convinced that the accused petitioner is adequately represented by her team of advocates. As 

such, we find that the learned Trial Judge was not wrong for not asking the Accused 

Petitioner to appoint a representative before passing such an order.  

 

23. We are also of the view that: 

The Rule of Law and the principles of Criminal Justice believes and demands that the 

accused be present at his/her own trial; ideally for the entirety of it. The principle and 

such laws exist to benefit the accused and give him/her the opportunity to explain 

himself/herself and address the charges laid against him/her. This is a right allowed to 

him/her. However, it must be remembered that this benefit is extended to him/her for 

the sake of justice. Justice, therefore, cannot be held hostage by the whims of the 

accused in the execution of his/her rights. 

 

24. If the accused chooses to forego this benefit, it is entirely his/her prerogative. 

However, in exercising his/her prerogative, Justice cannot and should not be obstructed. As 

such, trials may and should continue in the case where the accused chooses to absent 

himself/herself from his/her trial, even where he/she has been ordered to appear at the trial. 

 

25. These principles were considered in Hayward [2001] QB 826, where the Court of 

Appeals in the United Kingdom laid down a series of principles to be considered in a scenario 

where the accused voluntarily chooses to absent themselves from their own trial (D15.86 

Blackstone’s Criminal Practice 2018). 

 

26. Principles to be Considered In Hayward [2001] QB 862, the Court of Appeal 

considered the principles which the trial judge ought to apply when dealing with an 

absent defendant, and summarised them as follows. 

(a) An accused has, in general, a right to be present at his trial and a right to be 

legally represented. 

(b)  Those rights can be waived, separately or together, wholly or in part, by the 

accused himself: 

(i)  they may be wholly waived if, knowing or having the means of knowledge as 

to when and where his trial is to take place, he deliberately and voluntarily 

absents himself and/ or withdraws instructions from those representing him; 

(ii)  they may be waived in part if, being present and represented at the outset, 

the accused, during the course of the trial, behaves in such a way as to obstruct 

the proper course of the proceedings and/or withdraws his instructions from 

those representing him. 

(b) The trial judge has a discretion as to whether a trial should take place or 

continue in the absence of an accused and/or his legal representatives. The judge 

is required to warn the defendant at the Pre-Trial Preparation Hearing of the 

risk of the trial continuing in his absence. 

(c) That discretion must be exercised with great care and it is only in rare and 

exceptional cases that it should be exercised in favour of a trial taking place or 

continuing, particularly if the accused is unrepresented. 

(d) In exercising that discretion, fairness to the defence is of prime importance but 

fairness to the prosecution must also be taken into account. The judge must have 

regard to all the circumstances of the case including, in particular: 

(i) the nature and circumstances of the accused's behaviour in absenting himself 

from the trial or disrupting its continuation, and, in particular, whether his 
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behaviour was deliberate, voluntary and such as plainly waived his right to 

appear; 

(ii) whether an adjournment might result in the accused being caught or attending 

voluntarily and/or not disrupting the proceedings; 

(iii)the likely length of such an adjournment; 

(iv) whether the accused, though absent, is, or wishes to be, legally represented at the 

trial or has waived his right to representation; 

(v) the extent to which the absent accused's legal representatives are able to present 

his defence; 

(vi) the extent of the disadvantage to the accused in not being able to give his account 

of events, having regard to the nature of the evidence against him; 

(vii) the risk of the jury reaching an improper conclusion about the absence of 

the accused (but see (f) below); 

(viii) the seriousness of the offence to the accused, victim and public; 

(viii) the general public interest and the particular interest of victims and 

witnesses that a trial should take place within a reasonable time of the events to 

which it relates; 

(ix) the effect of delay on the memories of witnesses; 

(xi)   where there is more than one accused and not all have absconded, the 

undesirability of separate trials, and the prospects of a fair trial for the 

defendants who are present. 

(f)     If the judge decides that a trial should take place or continue in the absence of 

an unrepresented accused, he must ensure that the trial is as fair as the 

circumstances permit. He must, in particular, take reasonable steps, both during 

the giving of evidence and in the summing up, to expose weaknesses in the 

prosecution case and to make such points on behalf of the accused as the 

evidence permits. In summing-up he must warn the jury that absence is not an 

admission of guilt and adds nothing to the prosecution case. 

        

27. It is evident from this paragraph, that it is indeed possible for a trial to continue 

without the presence of the accused, where the accused has chosen to voluntarily absent 

themselves from their own trial.  

         

28. It is important at this stage to recognize that the recording of evidence during trial 

requires the presence of the accused more. This is from a pragmatic view of the trial. The 

evidentiary stage is the only time at which the accused is able to express their views and 

concerns and in doing so address the charges laid at them. Although it is, of course, desirable 

for the accused to be present during the argument stage of the trial, it is less important since, 

the arguments are usually prepared by the Advocates, based on the instructions of the 

accused. This is to say that, at times where the accused has chosen to absent themselves from 

the trial, and in particular, during the argument stage; assuming they have representation, the 

Court may take the view that for the sake of delivering appropriate Justice, the trial should 

continue in their absence. It should go without saying that the Rights of the accused under the 

principles of Criminal Justice must be preserved, and thus, this approach should be taken with 

the greatest of caution.  

         

29. While it is important to give the accused every opportunity to be present at their own 

trial, it is equally important to deliver Justice and to prevent the obstruction of the same. If 

there happens to be a practice where the trial process is halted due to the accused’s desire to 

exercise their prerogative to not appear; it could prove fatal to the Criminal Justice System. 
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To avoid such “hostage” scenario, there ought to be, as argued above, the opportunity to 

continue a trial in the absence of a non-cooperative defendant.  

       

30. The law and all facets of the law must apply to all individuals equally. While it is true 

that in the Bangladeshi Prison Systems there are classifications of prisoners; but this 

classification was created in order to extend a degree of comfort to a certain class of 

individuals. The classification is based for too many reasons, including the nature of the 

crime, the social status of the individual, etc. Begum Khaleda Zia is deemed to be a prisoner 

of the highest class. Her status as the former Prime Minister of the country must allow her 

this modicum of respect. However, as stated earlier, the law must equally apply to all. As 

such, the Court is hence left with one of two options. Either, Begum Khaleda Zia is to be 

forced into appearing in Court or alternatively, she may be allowed to exercise her right to 

not appear in Court, while allowing the Court to exercise their prerogative under section 

540A of the Criminal Procedure Code 1898 and continuing with the trial or inquiry in her 

absence. 

       

31. Having said so, the concerns regarding section 540A must now be addressed. The 

Applicants have raised three chief concerns within their submissions and they will be 

addressed in turn.  

         

32. The applicant addresses the following concern: that the “privilege of section 540A of 

the Code of Criminal Procedure can only be sought by the accused; the public prosecutor is 

in no way entitled to file such application for dispensation with the personal attendance of 

the accused.” While this has become a common practice that the accused themselves are the 

ones to make such an application, it is however true that nothing in section 540A of the Code 

of Criminal Procedure bars the prosecution to make such an application and nothing indeed 

bars the court from making such an order of its own volition. As such, it is only normal for 

such an application to be made. However, of course, it must be with great caution that such 

an order is made by any Court. As addressed above, such guidelines for consideration has 

been provided in the case of Hayward [2001] in the UK. Indeed, it is at the Judge’s discretion 

as to the direction in which they believe that the scales of Justice might tip.    

        

33. The scenario at hand is unusual in that while being in custody and fully aware of the 

trial’s timing and location, the accused chooses to absent herself. Indeed, this is a rare case 

and perhaps, the first of its kind in this Jurisdiction. However, that should not mean that the 

laws at hand must conform to what is merely in practice and not allow itself to take into 

consideration the pragmatic necessities of the Criminal Justice System. By not submitting 

herself before the court, though it may be her prerogative to do so, the accused risks the trial 

proceeding in her absence. Hence, it is well advised that the accused at least be there to 

address the charges laid against her. In the case at hand this stage is over. The accused was 

present at the time of framing of charge and recording statement of the witnesses. Even she 

submitted her written statement at the time of examining her under section 342 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure.  

        

34. The applicant claims that the court should have allowed the accused to engage a 

lawyer of her choice before making such an order. It is on record that this accused has, at her 

disposal, the advice of one hundred and twenty-six lawyers, standing as her representations. 

The language in sections 205/540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure gives no special 

meaning to the word “representation” or “pleader”. This is to suggest that a new advocate is 

not at all necessary to be appointed in favour of the accused, in consideration of the 
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application at hand. Her current team of representatives (Advocates) can easily suffice for the 

role suggest in these sections. As such the Court has evidently not failed in their duties to 

allow such an opportunity to the accused. 

 

35. Finally, the applicant claims that “the learned Judge failed to take into consideration 

that an application under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure is not 

maintainable when the accused is in custody.” However, similar to the argument above; there 

is no specific provision in section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure that states that 

such an application may only be made where the accused is not in custody. The application 

under section 540A of the Code of Criminal Procedure clearly is intent on ensuring the 

deliverance of Justice, especially when faced with a non-cooperative accused. Whether the 

accused is in custody or not has no direct relation to the application of section 540A and as 

such, the learned Judge has not failed in his considerations.  

        

36. We do not find any illegality in the order passed by the learned Special Judge, Court 

No.5, Dhaka and there is no substances in the submissions of the learned advocate for the 

accused petitioner.  

          

37. Hence, it is ordered that in light of the scenario before us, we are constrained to direct 

the learned Judge of the Special Judge, Court No.5, Dhaka that the trial must continue on the 

next date as fixed, regardless whether the accused is present in Court or otherwise.  

 

38. With the above observations and direction, the application is rejected, summarily. 

 

39. However, we are of the view that in order to assist her to make her appearance in 

Court, provided that such is her wish, she must be extended adequate facilities, as per Jail 

Code. 
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Present:  

Mr. Justice M. Enayetur Rahim   

And  

Mr. Justice Md. Mostafizur Rahman  

 

Section 5 (2) of Prevention of Corruption Act,1947, Section 409/109 of the panel Code, 

Corruption, Prime Ministers orphanage Fund, Misappropriation, Criminal design; 
 

Facilitating misappropriation of the fund which was meant to be used for welfare of 

orphans, particularly when Begum Zia, the Prime Minister, had entrustment and 

dominion over it indisputably shocks the human conscience and such act reflects a 

mindset derogatory to humankind. Obviously Begum Zia had liability and obligation to 

look after whether the Trust so formed was in actual existence. But she did not do it. 

Thus Begum Zia was a conscious part of a designed plan to the criminal acts 

constituting the offence of Criminal breach of Trust as defined in section 405 of Penal 

Code.                   ... (Para 175) 
 

Merely for the reason of political identity of a person prosecuted for an offence 

punishable under the penal law it cannot be said that she has been brought to justice on 

political victimization.                ... (Para 214) 
 

We do not find any legal justification and cogent ground to award lesser punishment to 

the principal offender Begum Zia than the other convicts who were the abators, 

considering her political and social status.             ... (Para 219) 
 

We consider it appropriate that justice would be met if the maximum sentence 

prescribed in section 409 of the Penal Code is awarded to Begum Zia so that the persons 

enjoying the highest position in any organ or any public office of the State thinks twice 

to go ahead with such criminal design in coming days.            ... (Para 222) 

 
JUDGMENT 

 

M. Enayetur Rahim, J:  
 

1. These 3(three) Appeals and the Rule have arisen out of the same judgment and order 
dated 08.02.2018 passed by the learned Special Judge, Court no.5, Dhaka in Special Case 
no.17 of 2017 and those have been heard together and are being disposed of by this single 
judgment. 
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2. The present convict appellants along with three others, who are absconding, were put 

on trial before the Metropolitan Senior Special Judge, Dhaka in Special Case no. 177 of 2009 
arising out of Ramna Police Station Case No.08(7)2008 corresponding to ACC G.R. no.102 
of 2008. Eventually, the case was transferred to the Special Judge, Court no.3, Dhaka and 
then again to the Special Judge, Court no.5, Dhaka wherein it was registered as Special Case 
no.17 of 2017.  

 

3. Convict Begum Khaleda Zia (hereinafter referred to as Begum Zia) was charged 
under section 409 of the Penal Code and section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 
1947 and other convicts were charged under sections 409/109 of the Penal code and section 
5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 along with section 109 of the Penal Code. The 
charges were read over to the present appellants and they pleaded not guilty and claimed to 
be tried. 

  
4. Prosecution version as unfolded during trial and which formed the foundation of 

the prosecution case essentially as follows: 

While Begum Zia performed the functions as the Prime Minister of the country from 
1991 to 1996 a current account being no.5416 was opened with the Sonali Bank, 
Ramna Corporate Branch, Dhaka in the name of “cÖavbgš¿xi GwZg Znwej 
(hereinafter referred to as PM’s Orphanage Fund)”. As per instruction of Prime 
Minister Begum Zia her secretary convict Kamaluddin Siddique (hereinafter 

referred to as Kamal Siddique) opened the said account on 02.06.1991. On 
09.06.1991 she received US $12,55,000 equivalent to Bangladeshi TK.4,44,81,216/- 
as donation vide Demand Draft (hereinafter referred to as DD) no.153367970 
issued from United Saudi Commercial Bank and same was deposited in the said 
account but those were not distributed among the orphans till 05.09.1993. Begum Zia 
formed Zia Orphanage Trust (hereinafter referred to as the Trust) along with her 
two sons namely convict Tareque Rahman and Arafat Rahman and sister’s son of her 
husband, convict Mominur Rahman. Accordingly, a deed of Trust was executed and 
registered on 05.09.1993 showing address of the said Trust at 6, Shaheed Moinul 
Road, Dhaka Cantonment, Dhaka. On 13.11.1993, a cheque for Tk.2,33,33,500/- was 
issued from the said account of PM’s Orphanage Fund in favour of the said Trust and 
the said cheque was deposited in the account of the Trust being STD account no.7 
with the Sonali Bank, Gulshan New North Circle Branch. On 04.02.1993 a sum of 
Tk.4,00,000/- was withdrawn from the said account and 2.79 acres of land was 
purchased at a consideration of Tk. 2,77,000/- in the name of the Trust and rest of the 
money was kept in the said STD account. On 12.04.2006, the said money stood 
Tk.3,37,09,757.32/- with interest. Thereafter, a sum of Tk.3,30,000/- was withdrawn 
from the account by issuing 6(six) cheques on 12.04.2006, 15.06.2006 and 04.07.2006 
and those cheques were deposited in a FDR account with the Prime Bank, Gulshan 
Branch. On 12.04.2006 Tk.50,00,000/- was encashed and made FDR in the name of 
convict Kazi Salimul Haque alias Kazi Kamal (hereinafter referred to as Salimul 

Haque). On 16.07.2006 said FDR was encashed and a new FDR was opened for a 
sum of Tk.50,68,450/- in the name of the Trust. Two other FDRs being FDR no.4103-
3117 dated 09.07.2006 for Tk.80,00,000/- and FDR no.4103-26669 dated 27.06.2006 
for Tk.1,00,000/- were opened in the name of the Trust. Another FDR account was 
opened for Tk.1,00,00,000/- in the name of Salimul Haque. Thereafter, 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- of the Trust and Tk.1,00,00,000/- which was kept in the name of 
Salimul Haque had been transferred to the Prime Bank, New Eskaton Branch in the 
joint account of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmad @ Sayeed Ahmed on 16.11.2006 
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being FDR account no.4102-2619/73193 for a sum of Tk.1,03,19,365/- and in the 
name of one Giasuddin Ahmed in FDR no.4102-4435/73491 on 07.02.2007 for a sum 
of Tk.1,06,38,686/-. Thereafter, the money kept in the name of Salimul Haque and 
Sayed Ahmed had been again transferred to FDR no.4102-5511/73489 dated 
07.02.2007 in the name of Giasuddin. Thereafter, Giasuddin withdrawing 
Tk.2,10,71,643.80/- by 6(six) payment orders deposited the same on 28.03.2007 in 
account no.1101-3134 of convict Sharfuddin Ahmed (hereinafter referred to as 

Sharfuddin). Eventually, Sharfuddin withdrew Tk.2,10,71,643.80 from his said 
account on various occasions. In this process Begum Zia in collusion with other 
accused persons misappropriated and/or aided other accused persons to 
misappropriate the said money using the name of the Trust. 

  

5. Inorder to prove the charges the prosecution in all examined 32 witnesses, out of whom 
PW-1 (as informant) and PW-31 (as investigating officer) is the same person, who were duly 
cross-examined by the defence. The prosecution also adduced documentary and material 
evidences which were duly marked as exhibits and material exhibits respectively. 

  
6. On behalf of Begum Zia no defence witness was examined. However, 3(three) and 

1(one) defence witnesses were examined on behalf of Sharfuddin and Salimul Haque 
respectively. 

  
7. Defence Case: 

The defence case of Begum Zia reveals from the trend of cross-examination of the 
prosecution witnesses as well as the written statement submitted by her at the time of 
examination under section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, in short, is that she 
had no knowledge about the PM’s Orphanage Fund and also had no involvement with the 
opening of the Bank account being no.5416 in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund as well 
as withdrawal of money from the said account. Late Mustafizur Rahman, the then Foreign 
Minister brought the said money from the Amir of Kuwait as donation for charity and he 
(Mustafizur Rahman) knew about the said fund. She is innocent and this case has been 
initiated against her for political victimisation.  
  

8. The defence case of Salimul Haque in short was that he kept the alleged money of the 
Trust in his account on good faith and eventually he returned the money to Tareque Rahman.  

 

9. The defence case of Sharfuddin, in short, was that the alleged misappropriated money 
was transferred to his account for purchasing land in favour of the Trust. And by receiving 
the said money they did not commit any offence as alleged. Eventually, Sharfuddin returned 
the entire money to the account of the Trust pursuant to the court’s decree. 

 

10. After closing the evidence the present appellants, who were present in the dock, were 
duly examined under section 342 of the Code of Criminal Procedure and all the appellants 
having claimed their innocence submitted separate written statements. 

 

11. On conclusion of the trial the learned Special Judge found the present appellants 
guilty along with three other absconding accused under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code 
and section 5(2) of the Prevention of the Corruption Act, 1947 read with section 109 of the 
Penal Code, but sentenced the convicts only under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code. 
Begum Zia was sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of 5(five) years and 
the other convicts were sentenced to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of 10(ten) 
years. All the convicts were also fined to pay Tk.2,10,71,645.80/- in equal share. 
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12. Being aggrieved by and dissatisfied with the judgment and order of conviction and 
sentence Begum Zia, Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin have filed Criminal Appeal no.1676 of 
2018, Criminal Appeal mo.2215 of 2018 and Criminal Appeal No.2292 of 2018 respectively 
before this Court. 

 

13. Being aggrieved by the inadequate sentence awarded to Begum Zia the Anti-
Corruption Commission (hereinafter referred to as the Commission) by preferring a 
revisional application has obtained the present Rule.  

  

14. Submissions on behalf of the Convict Begum Zia: 
Mr. Abdur Razzak Khan and Mr. A.J. Mohammad Ali, learned Advocates for 
convict-appellant Begum Zia, with the assistance of a good number of learned 
lawyers have submited as under:  

i) The Prime Minister will not come within the ambit of ‘Public Servant’ as defined in 
section 21 of the Penal Code as well as in section 2(b) of the Criminal Law 
Amendment Act,1958 and as such the trial of Begum Zia before the Special Court 
constituted under the Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1958 is illegal and without 
jurisdiction and section 409 of the Penal Code or section 5(2) of the Prevention of 
Corruption Act,1947 will not attract to Begum Zia; 

ii) the prosecution has failed to bring an iota of evidence that the PM’s Orphanage Fund 
was a public fund and the said fund was entrusted with Begum Zia as a Prime 
Minister or she had dominion or control over the same and thus, conviction under 
sections 409/109 of the Penal Code or 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act,1947 
is prima facie illegal and bad in law; 

iii) the prosecution with a malafide intention did not ascertain the source of money of the 
alleged PM’s Orphanage Fund and if the investigation was done properly then it 
would have been proved that the money was sent by the Amir of Kuwait for the Trust 
and in this regard the learned Special Judge most illegally and arbitrarily discarded 
the notarized certificate issued by the Embassy of Kuwait in Dhaka filed before the 
court for judicial notice under section 57(6) of the Evidence Act wherein it was 
mentioned that the alleged money was given to the Trust by the Amir of Kuwait; 

iv) admittedly in the opening form of PM’s Orphanage Fund, A/C no.5416, and in the 
withdrawal cheques the signatures of Prime Minister Begum Zia were not available 
and thus, she had no involvement with the process of opening of the said account as 
well as disbursement of the money from the same and as such question of dominion 
or control over the alleged money and misappropriation of the same does not arise at 
all; 

v) material exhibit-III and III(A) i.e. the alleged additional ‘nothi’ (records) regarding 
the PM’s Orphanage Fund are concocted and fabricated one and some overwritings 
and manipulation are apperent on the face of it, despite the learned Special Judge 
most erroneously relied on those documents in finding the guilt of Begum Zia; 

vi) admittedly it transpires from material exhibit-III and III(A) that there is no signature 
or any initial of any officer of PM’s office to show who prepared the said documents 
or dealt with the ‘nothi’ and thus, those have got no evidentiary value; 

vii) Begum Zia had no involvement or connection with the Trust, which was a private 
trust and if any misappropriation of the Trust fund was committed by the trustees and 
others for which Begum Zia can not be liable and remady lies under the Trust 
Act,1984; 

viii) PW-9, PW-10, PW-11, PW-14, PW-20 and PW-21 were managed and tainted 
witnesses and the learned Special Judge relying on their evidence in finding the guilt 
of Begum Zia committed serious illegality and arrived at a wrong decision; 
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ix) the inquiry and investigation being incomplete regarding the source of fund has led to 
a wrongful presumptions on the part of the court below regarding the nature of the 
fund; the fund was sourced for establishing philanthropic organizations in the name of 
former President late Ziaur Rahman is a crucial element of this case and as such 
investigation and inquiry on this point is a necessity to ascertain this point as the 
depositions of the PW-26 and PW-31 falls short of a complete story; failing which the 
appellant will not get justice. 

 

15. Submissions on behalf of Convict Salimul Haque: 

Mr. Shah Monjurul Haque, learned Advocate, for convict Salimul Haque has submitted as 
under: 

i) The element of dishonest intention under section 409 being of paramount importance 
to decide the guilt, required careful consideration both objectively and subjectively. 
The convict-appellant after receiving 5(five) cheques with no name of the account 
holder on those and then being authorized to open FDRs and thereafter returning all of 
them to Tareque Rahman had no reason to believe that the convict-appellant did the 
same with dishonest intention; 

ii) the learned Special Judge failed to consider that it was not possible for Salimul Haque 
to know that the alleged cheques belonging to the Trust or of Tareque Rahman or the 
money in those cheques were misappropriated money taking place some 13 years 
back and without knowing that the convict appellant could not aid the 
misappropriation of the money standing in those cheques; 

iii) Salimul Haque did not receive five cheques or was not entrusted with those cheques 
in his capacity as a member of Parliament or Chairman or Director of the Prime Bank 
Ltd., rather he received those cheques from Tareque Rahman only as an acquaintance 
following an oral request and then handedover those cheques to the manager of the 
Prime Bank Ltd, Gulshan Branch with an honest intention in the presence of the 
Managing Director of the Bank; nevertheless, the learned Special Judge without 
considering the later capacity in which those five cheques were actually received by 
the convict-appellant, erroneously came to a finding that the convict-appellant, by 
receiving those five cheques in the former capacity, was entrusted with those cheques 
as a public servant and thus section 409 of the Penal Code and section 5(2) of the 
Prevention of Corruption Act,1947 came into play in his respect and thus, came to an 
erroneous decision in finding guilty to Salimul Haque; 

iv) the money of PM’s Orphanage Fund was transferred to the Trust in the year 1993 and 
at the said particular time of alleged transfer of fund, Salimul Haque did not have any 
involvement at all and as such question of abetment as defined in section 109 of the 
Penal Code does not arise at all and thus, the learned Special Judge improperly and 
illegally convicted the appellant by failing to appreciate that the convict-appellant had 
no connection with any of the subsequent transactions after he had returned all the 
FDRs to Tareque Rahman in July, 2006; 

v) the learned Special Judge failed to consider that DW-1, Sharfuddin himself stated that 
he opened FDR being no.41022619/73193 dated 16.11.2006 in the name of Salimul 
Haque and his son, Sayed Ahmed and thus, the finding of the learned Special Judge 
that Salimul Haque himself by using his influence as Chairman of the Prime Bank 
Ltd. got the aforesaid FDR opened in his name and Sayed Ahmed is erroneous and 
perverse and thus, Salimul Haque deserves acquittal. 

 

16. Submissions on behalf of Convict Sahrfuddin Ahmed: 
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Mr. Ahsan Ullah, learned Advocate, appearing for the convict Sharfuddin has submitted 
as under: 

i) the prosecution has no specific case, who committed the offence of ‘criminal breach 
of trust’, when the offence was committed, who abetted in commission of such 
offence and who, when and how instigated in commission of the offence and the 
prosecution failed to prove the ingredients of sections 409/109 of the Penal Code 
against Sharfuddin beyond reasonable doubt; 

ii) the convict-appellant is not a merchant or agent and he not being a merchant or agent 
can be tried for commission of offence under section 409 of the Penal Code; 

iii) the learned Special Judge did not at all consider the evidence adduced on behalf of 
Sharfuddin, in particular the judgment and decree passed in Money Suit no.01 of 2012 
by the learned Joint District Judge, 3rd Court, Dhaka and the bank statement of the 
Trust being maintained with the Uttara Bank, Gulshan Branch and erroneously held 
that there is no account of the Trust in the Uttara Bank and the money taken as 
advance for purchasing land in the name of the Trust has been returned by the 
appellant to the Trust in pursuent to the judgment and decree passed in Money Suit 
no.01 of 2012; 

iv) Sharfuddin at best can be charged under section 411 of the Penal Code for receiving 
or retaining the alleged misappropriated money. 

 

17. Submissions on behalf of Respondent no.1-the State: 

Mr. Mahbubey Alam, learned Attorney General, having supported the impugned 
judgment and order of conviction has submitted as under: 

i) In finding guilty to the convict persons the learned Special Judge in assesing and 
evaluating the evidence on record, both oral and documentary, did not commit any 
error or illegality; 

ii) in order to sustain a conviction under section 409 of the Penal Code the prosecution is 
required to prove that (a) the accused, a public servant was entrusted with property of 
which he was duty bound to account for, and (b) the accused had misappropriated the 
property and in this particular case the prosection has proved by adducing 
unimpeachable evidence that Begum Zia being the Prime Minister at the relevant time 
entrusted with the PM’s Orphanage Fund and she had dominion and control over the 
same and she dishonestly used and disposed of that  property in violation of the 
direction in which trust had to be discharged i.e. she did not distribute the funds 
among the orphans, rather forming a paper Trust in her husband’s name through two 
sons and one nephew transferred a portion of money from the said fund which 
ultimately transferred to the account of other convicts and thus offence of ‘Criminal 
breach of trust’ has been committed by Begum Zia and all the convicts consciously 
aided each other in commission of such offence; 

iii) where the entrustment is proved against an accused it is for him/her to discharge the 
burden that the entrustment has been carried out as accepted and the obligation has 
been discharged and in this particular case entrustment of Begum Zia with the 
property has been proved but she failed to discharge her burden that she carried out or 
discharged her obligation and thus, the learned Special Judge rightly and lawfully 
found guilty to Begum Zia and other accused who played active role in different 
stages in committing the offence of misappropriation; 

iv) the actual manner of misappropriation is not required to be proved by the prosecution; 
once entrustment is proved, it was for the accused to explain how the property 
entrusted to him/her was dealt with and in this particular case Begum Zia has failed to 
discharge her obligations. 
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18. Learned Attorney General to substantiate his submissions referred to the cases of 

Mustafikhar Vs. State of Maharashtra, reported in (2007),1 SCC, page-23, State Vs. 

H.P.V Karnavir, reported in Cr. LJ, 2006, page 2917 and Mir Nagvi Askari Vs. Central 

Bureau of Investigation, reported in (2009)15 SCC, page 643. 
 

19. Submissions on behalf of Respondent No.2, Anti-Corruption Commission: 
Mr. Md. Khorshed Alam Khan, learned Advocate, appearing for the Respondent no.2-
Commission, refuting the submissions made by the learned Advocates for the respective 
appellants has submitted as under: 
i) the issue- ‘whether Begum Zia being the Prime Minister of the country at the relevant 

time was a ‘public servant’ has already been decided earlier by the High Court 
Division in Criminal Miscellaneous Case no.21979 of 2009 [Reported in 64 
DLR(HC), page-1], which  has also been affirmed by the Appellate Division in 
Criminal Petition for Leave To Appeal no.134 of 2012. In the said case it has been 
held that as a public servant, the appellant (Begum Zia) was entrusted with the 
orphanage fund and if she is found to have helped others to use any amount given 
from the fund in violation of prescribed mode in which trust is to be discharged, 
offence under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code may also come up for 
consideration; 

ii) PM’s Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 was opened with the Sonali 
Bank, Corporate Branch, Ramna, Dhaka by Kamal Siddique, secretary of the Prime 
Minister, as per the instruction of Prime Minister Begum Zia sometimes ahead of 
deposit of money through a DD sent from United Saudi Commercial Bank and thus, 
there is no scope to accept the submission of the learned advocates for appellant 
Begum Zia that the said account and fund was a Private fund, not a public fund; 

iii) PW-9,10,11 and 14 in their respective depositions categorically and 
consistently stated about the existence of PM’s Orphanage Fund and material exhibit 
III and III(A) supported their testimonies; 

iv) investigating agency had tried it’s best to find out the source or sender of the 
alleged DD but due to non-operation of United Saudi Commercial Bank since 1995, 
which merged with the SAMBA FINANCIAL GROUP, the source could not be 
traced out and for this reason only the prosecution case can not be brushed aside, 
when other strong and corroborative evidences are available in the record; 

v) prosecution has been able to prove that Begum Zia as the Prime Minister was 
entrusted with the PM’s Orphanage Fund and she had dominion and control over the 
same and she dishonestly disposed of a portion of the fund transferring the same to 
the so called Zia Orphanage Trust by forming it with her two sons and nephew and 
the said trustees ultimately transferred the money to Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin 
who had no connection with the said Trust and thereby money was misappropriated; 

vi) offence of ‘criminal breach of trust’ as well as ‘Criminal misconduct’ have 
been well proved against Begum Zia and the offence of ‘abetment’ has also been well 
proved against the other convicts. 
 

20. Mr. Khurshed Alam Khan in support of the Rule has submitted that the learned 
Special Judge has committed serious error in awarding lesser sentence to Begum Zia who is 
the principal offender than the abators considering social and police status of her. He has 
submitted that social and political status of an accused cannot be an extenuating factor for 
awarding lesser punishment. Begum Zia deserves highest purnishment as provided in law as 
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she committed the offence in exercise of the highest office of the state taking recourse of 
fraudulent acts. 

 
21. Before considering the submissions of the learned Advocates for the respective parties 

it is necessary to peruse and discuss the evidence adduced by the respective parties. 
 

22. Evidence adduced by the prosecution- 

Harunur Rashid being the informant at first examined as PW-1, who in his deposition 
reiterated the prosecution story and proved the first information report and his signatures 
thereon, exhibit-1, 1/1, 1/2 and 1/3 respectively. He also proved the sanction letter, issued 
by the Commission for lodging the first information report, exhibit-2. 
  
23. In cross-examination PW-1 stated that in connection with the present case he 

conducted inquiry and the Commission gave sanction on 27.04.2008 for such inquiry. Prior to 
his inquiry PW-32 conducted an inquiry and on 11.06.2008 PW-32 submitted a report. He 
was appointed as the inquiry officer after submission of the said report and he submitted his 
report on 25.06.2008. He had no knowledge whether report submitted by PW-32 was 
accepted or rejected. During inquiry he recorded the statements of PW-19 and PW-21. At the 
time of lodging the first information report on 03.07.2006 Begum Zia was in jail hazat in 
connection with another case. Previous inquiry officer, PW-32 recorded the statement of 
Begum Zia during his inquiry. The previous inquiry officer also recorded the statement of 
Tareque Rahman and Arafat Rahman. During investigation he recorded the statements of 
Begum Zia and Tareque Rahman but he did not submit the same before the court. He 
submitted the charge sheet on 05.08.2009 i.e. after the Government led by Bangladesh 
Awami League came into power. He did not record any statement of the Ambassador of 
Kuwait in Bangladesh or the Ambassador of Bangladesh in Kuwait at the relevant time. US 
$12,55,000 came from United Saudi Commercial Bank in Riyadh vide DD no.153369970 
dated 09.06.2011. He did not seize the said DD from Sonali Bank Limited, Ramna Branch 
but he verified the same. In order to know the identity of the ‘drawer’ of the said DD 
Bangladesh Embassy in Riyadh was contacted by the Commission through Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs but they could not ascertain the identity of the ‘drawer’. In the said DD the 
name of the payee was mentioned as Prime Minister’s Orphanage Fund, Current A/C 
no.5416, Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch, Dhaka and the amount was mentioned as One Million 
Two Hundred Fifty Five Thousands. In the account opening form of A/C no.5416 Begum Zia 
had no signature but as per her instructions the concerned officer Kamal Siddique signed on 
the same. The said account was opened on 02.06.1991 and at the relevant time there was no 
rule (Nitimala) to operate the said orphanage fund. The Prime Minister’s office runs as per 
the organogram. At the relevant time additional secretary Kamal Siddique was in-charge of 
the secretary of Prime Minister’s office and he has been implicated in the case as prima facie 
materials have been found against him in commission of the offence. He could not seize any 
file or cheque having signature of Begum Zia with regard to the disbursement from the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund. When the money was brought through DD at that time the Trust was not 
established. He had no knowledge whether the then Foreign Minister Mustafizur Rahman 
collected and brought the said money and he established Zia Memorial Trust at Bagerhat 
spending Tk.2,33,33,500/- from the said fund. He also conducted inquiry about the fund of 
the said Trust. During his inquiry he did not interrogate the cabinet secretary, secretary, 
additional secretary, joint secretary, director general of the Prime Minister’s Office but he 
interrogated the additional secretary Kamal Siddique as he was working as the secretary in 
the Prime Minister’s Office and found his involvement in commission of the offence. 
According to the Trust deed Begum Zia was not the settlor or the trustee or the member of 
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Trustee board. He examined the orphanage fund and relief fund’s record of the Prime 
Minister’s Office. He did not ask any officer of the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch 
regarding the source or sender of the DD US $12,55,000 which was deposited in the said 
bank. In his inquiry report he did not mention about the letter which was sent to the 
Bangladesh Ambassador in Saudi Arab through Foreign Ministry for knowing the source of 
the DD. Tareque Rahman and Mominur Rahman informed him during their respective 
interrogation that the said US dollar was sent by the Amir of Kuwait for raising fund for the 
Trust in the name of former President late Ziaur Rahman. He did not make any contact with 
the Kuwait Embassy in Bangladesh for verifying the statement of Tareque Rahman. He did 
not contact with the Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arab for knowing the source of the said 
DD because he had no opportunity to contact with them. Mominur Rahman also informed 
him that half of the said amount was allotted for the Trust and the half of the said amount was 
allotted for Bagherhat Zia Memorial Orphanage Trust for establishing an orphanage in 
Bagherhat. During interrogation Begum Zia informed him that she could not able to 
remember about the foreign donation which allotted for the Zia Orphanage Trust and Zia 
Memorial Orphanage Trust and the then Foreign Minister Mustafizur Rahman knew 
regarding formation of the Trust and foreign donation. PW-1 denied the defence suggestions 
that Begum Zia did not open the orphanage fund account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank. 
Ramna Corporate Branch and his statement regarding the DD for the amount of US 
$12,55,000 sent from the United Saudi Commercial Bank was false, and that Begum Zia did 
not formulate any regulation regarding the uses of orphanage fund or without following the 
rules and regulation formed the Trust with a dishonest intention in order to misappropriate the 
fund, and that money was not used for the welfare and benefit of the orphans, and that Begum 
Zia was not involved with the fund allotment, account opening and withdrawal of money 
from the PM’s Orphanage Fund and that amount of the Trust fund was never misappropriated 
and the said amount was kept in the bank, and that the Trust fund was formed legally and 
properly with the donation of the Amir of Kuwait, and that the alleged US dollar was came 
from Riyadh, Suadi Arab was false. PW-1 did not make any inquiry in Bangladesh Bank 
regarding transfer of the said US $12,55,000 to the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch. 
Tareque Rahman was interrogated by previous inquiry officer at the jail gate with the 
permission of the court. During inquiry he did not interrogate Tareque Rahman and perused 
the records of previous inquiry officer. The Trust was a private Trust and according to 
Article-14 of the Trust deed, a Board of Trustee was formed and Tareque Rahman, Arafat 
Rahman and Mominur Rahman were the member of Trustee Board and according to Arcitle-
3(III) of deed of Trust, FDR was included with the investment fund. The Trust deed provided 
the power for opening FDR in the name of the Trust. During investigation, he saw the deed of 
Trust, Balam books, thumb impressions and various documents relating to the Trust. At the 
time of formation of the Trust and registration of the Trust deed Begum Zia and her two sons 
Tareque Rahman and Arafat Rahman were living together at 6, Shaheed Moinul Road, Dhaka 
Cantonment, Dhaka and at the relevant time that house was being used as the official 
residence of Prime Minister Begum Zia. PW-1 denied the defence suggestions that the Trust 
office was not at 6, Shaheed Moinul Road though he knew the said information, and no 
illegality was done in transfering the money from the Sonali Bank to the Prime Bank by the 
trustees, and that no bank officer did raised any question as to the said transfer, and that the 
Trustee board member Tarek Rahman, Mominur Rahman transferred in total Tk. 
3,30,00,000/- on 12.04.2006, 15,06.2006 and 04.07.2006 to the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch 
for opening FDR with bonafide intention, and that according to Trust deed, the amount of the 
Trust was transferred legally from one bank to another bank, and that opening of FDRs in the 
name of Salimul Haque, Sayed Ahmed @ Sayed Ahmed, Giasuddin Ahmed and Sharfuddin 
and encashment of the FDRs were legal, and that according to the Trust law and trust deed 
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their activities were legal, and that in order to get maximum benefit the said Trust funds had 
transferred to the different accounts, and that no misappropriation of money was occurred, 
and that the activities of the Trust were done by following the decisions of Trust deed, and 
that after the death of former President Ziaur Rahman the Amir of Kuwait sent funds for the 
Trust, and that the Trust being a private Trust the Government has no power to control the 
Trust, and that the case was filed against the accused persons with malafide motive. 

  
24. PW-2 S.M. Gaffarul Alam deposed that on 03.07.2008 while he was on duty as a Sub-

Inspection of Police in Ramna Police Station he received a First Information Report 
(hereinafter referred to as FIR) from the informant, PW-1 and pursuant to the instruction 
of the officer-in-charge he filled up the FIR form and registered the case being Ramna Police 
Station Case no.8 dated 03.07.2008 under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code read with 
section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 against the accused persons named in 
the FIR. He proved the FIR form, exhibit-1(Ka) and his two signatures thereon, exhibit-
1(Ka)/1 and 1(Ka)/2. 

  
25. In cross-examination PW-2 stated that he had no personal knowledge about the 

contents of the FIR. After receiving the FIR he and the officer-in-charge read the same and 
lodged the case. The informant himself came to the police station with the FIR which was 
computer composed. There was no forwarding letter of the Commission regarding the 
lodgment of the FIR. In 2008 there was no elected Government but the Care Taker 
Government was in power. He could not remember whether Begum Zia was in coustody at 
the time of lodging the FIR. He further stated that according to the FIR, the time of 
occurrence was between 28.11.1993 and 28.03.2007 but the time of occurrence was not 
mentioned in FIR form. In the FIR nothing was mentioned regarding the delay of lodging the 
same. In the FIR the place of occurrence was mentioned at Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton Branch, 
Dhaka. The place of occurrence was 1.5 kilometer far away from the Ramna Police Station. 
Before lodging the FIR he examined the same. 

  
26. PW-3 Safiuddin Mia deposed that on 15.07.2008 at about 11.20 while he was working 

in the Sonali Bank Ltd. of the New North Circle Branch, Gulshan as an officer PW-31 came 
to their branch and seized the following documents relating to the Trust: 

i)          account opening form of STD account no.7 dated 09.10.1993; 
ii) photostat copy of the deed of the Trust and receipts altogether 17 pages; 
iii) signature card of the STD account no.7 and an attested photo of Tareque 

Rahman, deposit slip for Tk.2,33,33,500.00/- of the said account, Cheque 
no.8431103 dated 10.11.1993 of the Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch, Dhaka 
altogether 2 pages; 

iv) cheque no.4882407 dated 12.04.2006 of the STD account no.07 where 
Tk.50,00,000.00/- was written as cash transfer, cheque no.4882402 dated 
15.06.2006 for the amount of Tk.1,00,00,000.00/-, cheque no.4882406 dated 
15.07.2006 for Tk 1,00,00,000/-, in the name of the Trust as cash transfer, 
cheque no.4882404 dated 04.07.2006 for Tk.50,00,000.00/- in the name of the 
Trust, cheque no.4882403 dated 05.07.2006 for Tk.30,00,000.00/- in the name 
of the Trust and 5 cheques and 4 money withdrawal notices; 

v)             manual bank details between 1993 and 30.12.2002 of the Trust STD account 
no.7 and prepared computer statement between 01.01.2003 and 30.12.2007 
wherein at serial no.4 the details of 5 cheques were given. 
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27. PW-3 proved the seizure list, exhibit-3 and his signature thereon, exhibit-3/1. He also 
proved the above seized documents produced before the court as material exhibit-I series. 

 
28. In cross-examination PW-3 stated that according to the account opening form, the 

Trust account was opened on 09.10.1993. According to the Trust resolution Tareque Rahman, 
Arafat Rahman and Mominur Rahman were maintaining the account of the Trust and the 
account could able to operate by Tareque Rahman and another one. The ‘Deed of Trust’ was 
submitted to the Bank while the account was opened. At the time of opening the account 
Tk.2,33,33,500/- was not deposited, but same was deposited in the said account on 
15.11.1993 through clearing cheque of the Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch. The said money was 
deposited in the Trust account and money was withdrawn from the said account. The 
transaction of the Trust was done lawfully and it was a private Trust. On 12.04.2006 the 
account holder presented cheque no.4882407 for withdrawing the amount of Tk.50,00,000/-. 
The account holder also on 15.06.2006 presented cheque no.4882402 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- in 
the name of the Trust and the said cheques amount were transferred from the Sonali Bank to 
the Prime Bank and the said cheques did not handover to anyone. Cheque no.4882406 dated 
15.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- was transferred by cash with the permission of the account 
holder. Tk.1,00,00,000/- was withdrawn vide cheque no.4882406 from the Trust account and 
the said money was used for issuing a DD in the name of the Sonali Bank Ltd., local Office, 
Dhaka. Documentary evidence of DD number, the name of beneficiary of the DD, Bank 
account details, the amount of money, the name of the applicant of DD or the receipent of the 
DD or any other documents were not available before him. Cheque no.4882403 dated 
05.07.2006 and cheque no.4882404 dated 04.07.2006 for Tk.30,00,000/- and Tk.50,00,000/- 
respectively were in the name of the Trust. The said 2(two) cheques were issued for 
transferring the said money from one account to another account. The account holder could 
not be identified seeing the said 5(five) cheques. 

 
29. PW-4 Md. Abul Khair deposed that on 15.07.2008 while he was working in the 

Sonali Bank Ltd. New North Circle Branch, Gulshan-2, Dhaka as an officer PW-31 came to 
their branch and requested to the bank manager for presenting the case related documents. 
The bank manager presented the required documents. PW-31 seized the required documents 
and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-3, in presence of him. He proved his signature thereon, 
exhibit-3/2.  

 
30. In cross-examination PW-4 stated that he had no personal knowledge or idea about 

the seized documents. As a banker he understood which documents were seized and 
statement of accounts of the Trust were seized among other documents. On 15.11.1993 an 
amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/- was deposited in the Trust STD current account no.7. On 
04.12.1993 Tk. 4,00,000/- was withdrawn through cheque no.4882401, on 27.12.1993 Tk. 
1,07,060/- was deposited with interest and the excise duty Taka 200.00 and on 31.12.1993 the 
remaining balance was at Tk.2,30,40,360/-. Between 1993 and 29.12.2005 the principal and 
interest were deposited in the said account and on 29.12.2005 the balance stood at 
Tk.3,37,03,757.32/-. After withdrawal of money, on 06.07.2006 the remaining balance was at 
Tk.7,09,757.32/-. Between 13.04.2006 and 06.07.2006 money was withdrawn and transferred 
through various cheques following the bank rules and regulation. On 30.12.2007 the said 
account’s balance was at Tk.11,59,437.18/-. He could not remember the interest rate of 
Sonali Bank FDR between 13.04.2006 and 06.07.2006. He had no idea whether money was 
transferred for the best profit between 13.04.2006 and 06.07.06 through 05 cheques. He 
denied the defence suggestion that he hide many true informations. 
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31. PW-5 Md. Harun-Ur-Rashid deposed that on 15.07.2008 while he was working in 
Sonali Bank Ltd. New North Circle Branch, Gulshan, Dhaka as the manager PW-31 came to 
their branch. PW-31 submitted a demand letter for seizing required documents. On the basis 
of PW-31’s demand letter he presented the demanded documents in presence of the two bank 
officials namely Abul Khair (PW-4) and Shafiuddin Mia (PW-3). PW-31 seized the required 
documents and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-3 and took his signature on the same, exhibit-
3/3. 

 
32. In cross-examination PW-5 stated that he was not working in the said branch at the 

time of opening STD account no.7 and he joined there as the manager at the end of 2007 and 
on 15.07.2008 PW-31 came to him. He saw the said documents at the time of presentation 
but he did not see the said documents before. The written demand letter was not with him. He 
denied the defence suggestions that no written demand letter was provided to him and for that 
he could not able to submit the said demand letter. Before presentation of the said documents 
to PW-31 on 15.07.2008 those were kept in his custody. After his joining in the New North 
Branch before or after the date 15.07.2008 nobody complained to him about the STD account 
no.7. He saw the opening form of the said account and he had no idea whether any 
irregularities were happened at the time of opening of the account. The deed of the Trust was 
enclosed at the time of opening the account. The STD account no.7 was operated by 
following the resolutions of the Trust. He could not remember the STD account’s interest rate 
in the year of 1993 and between April 2006 and June 2006. He denied the defence 
suggestions that between 1993 and 2006 the STD account’s interest rate was 5% which he 
knew and he intentionally hide the said information. On 15.07.2008 he was a senior principal 
officer and also the manager of the branch. The seized cheques were transferred and cleared 
by following the preveailing bank rules. He had no knowledge whether interest rate was 
12.25% in the Prime Bank.  He denied the defence suggestions that in 2006 the interest rate 
of the Sonali Bank was low and the Trust funds were transferred to the Prime Bank which he 
knew and he suppresed the said information intentionally and deposed falsely. He further 
stated that he signed on the seizure list. The names of the account holder were mentioned in 
the seized cheques. STD 7 was written in the seized cheques but no identification mark was 
thereon. 

 
33. PW-6 Md. Iqbal deposed that on 15.07.2008 at about 3.30 pm while he was working 

in the Prime Bank Ltd., New Eskaton Branch as a first assistant vice president PW-31 came 
to the room of the branch manager and in presence of him he seized some documents as 
presented by the manager and he also signed on the seizure list. The seized documents were 
as follows: 

i) official letter regarding encashment of Taka 1(one) crore of Salimul Haque’s FDR 
no.58462/41032276 dated 15.06.2006 of the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch; 

ii) encashment office copy regarding the Trust FDR no.50001/41032669 dated 
27.06.2006 of the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch; 

iii) original copy (1 page) of the FDR no.41032267 dated 15.06.2006, advice 
no.1007 dated 07.02.2007 by which Tk.1,06,38,686/- was transferred from the Prime 
Bank, Gulshan Branch to Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch; 

iv) original advice copy (1 page) of the FDR no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- of the Trust, advice no.1091 dated 16.11.2006 by which 
Tk.1,03,19,365.00/- was transferred including interest from the Prime Bank, Gulshan 
Branch to Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch; 
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v) FDR no.41025535 dated 02.07.2007 of the Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton Branch for 
Tk.1,06,38,686/- in the name of Giasuddin Ahmed along with opening form of the 
FDR (3 pages) and FDR KYC form; 

vi) FDR no.41122619 dated 16.11.2006 of the Prime Bank, New Eskaton Branch 
in the name of Kazi Salimul Haque (Q.S. Haq) and Sayed Ahmed for 
Tk.1,03,19,365/- along with FDR opening form, the original copy of the FDR and 
KYC form (3 pages); 

vii) FDR no.41025535 dated 07.02.2007 and FDR no.41122619 dated 16.11.2006; 
FDR no.41025535 was encashed and another FDR account no.41025511 for 
Tk.1,04,032,957.80/- was opened on 07.02.2007 in the name of Giasuddin Ahmed 
(original FDR 1 page); FDR no.41025535 and FDR no.41025511 were encashed on 
the request of Giasuddin Ahmed by 6 payment orders bearing numbers:659348-
659353, the total amount of Tk.2,10,71,643.80/- was deposited in the account 
no.11013134 of Sharfuddin; the order was written in the opposite pages of the above 
payment orders; 

viii) account opening form of Sharfuddin’s account no.11013134 dated 15.03.2009 
with the Prime Bank New Eskaton Branch along with one copy photo, KYC form-1 
and a copy (2 pages) of the account statement of Sharfuddin between 15.03.2007 and 
30.06.2007 where the last balance was at Tk.19.155.80/-.  

 
34. PW-6 proved the seizure list dated 15.07.200, Exhibit-4 and his signature thereon, 

exhibit-4/1. The said seized documents were given to the bank manager Md. Afzal Hossain 
(PW-8) for keeping the documents to his own custody and he also signed on the 
‘jimmanama’ dated 15.07.2008, exhibit-5. He identified his signature thereon, exhibit-5/1. 

 
35. In cross-examination PW-6 stated that in the seizure list it was not mentioned that the 

documents were seized in order to follow the Court’s order. The accounts transactions were 
done following the banks rules and regulations. The seized documents were submitted in the 
court. In the seizure list at serial no.5, KYC Form, the customer name was mentioned as 
Giasuddin Ahmed, S/O Late Mr. Sahabuddin Ahmed and Late Mrs. Balatunnassa, Address: 
712, Tongi Diversion Road Boro Mogbazar. At serial no.8 the name of Sharfuddin Ahmed, 
S/o Late Mr. Sahabuddin Ahmed and late Mrs. Balatunnessa, Address: 712, Tongi Diversion 
Road Bora Moghbazar, Ramna, Dhaka was mentioned and at serial no.6, KYC form, the 
customer name was mentioned as Sayeed Ahmed, S/o: Mr. Sarfuddin Ahmed and Mrs. 
Shamina Ahmed, Address: 712, Tongi Diversion Road, Boro Mogbazar, Shantinagor, 
Ramna, Dhaka. The said three persons maintained accounts with their bank. In June 2006 the 
Prime Bank’s FDR amount interest rate was 12.25%. FDR interest rate used to mention at the 
time of issuing FDR. He had no knowledge whether the seized documents were transferred 
from the Trust STD account no.7, Sonali Bank, Gulshan New North Circle Branch. PW-6 
denied the defence suggestions that the Trust funds were transferred from the Sonali Bank, 
Gulshan New North Branch which he knew and he hide the said facts and made false 
diposition.  

 
36. PW-7 Md. Masud Bin Karim deposed that on 15.07.2008 at about 3.30 pm while he 

was working in the Prime Bank Ltd., New Eskaton as a principal officer, the branch manager 
Md. Afzal Hossain (PW-8) called him in his chamber. He went to the chamber of branch 
manager and he was given a seizure list for reading and he read the same and he saw the 
seized documents and signed on the same. He proved the seizure list, exhibit-4 and his 
signature thereon, exhibit-4/2. The seized alamats were given to the bank manager (PW-8) 
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for keeping in his own custody and a ‘jimmanama’ was prepared wherein he also signed. He 
proved the said ‘jimmanama’, exhibit-5, and his signature thereon, exhibit-5/2. 

 
37. The present appellants declined to cross-examine PW-7. 
 
38. PW-8 Md. Afzal Hossain deposed that on 15.07.2008 at about 3.00 pm while he was 

working in the Prime Bank Ltd. New Easkaton Branch as a vice president and manager PW-
31 came to his office. PW-8 presented case related documents as required by PW-31 who 
prepared a seizure list in presence of the bank officer Md. Iqbal (PW-6) and Md. Masud Bin 
Karim (PW-7). PW-31 seized the said documents, details of which were mentioned in the 
seizure list. He received a copy of seizure list and signed on it. PW-8 proved the seizure list 
and his signature thereon, exhibit-4 and exhibit-4/3. The said seized alamats were given 
‘jimma’ to him and he signed on the ‘jimmanama’. He proved the ‘jimmanama’, exhibit-5 
and his signature thereon, exhibit-5/3. His custody documents had already been produced 
before the Court. PW-8 also proved the seized documents produced before the court as 
material exhibit-II series. On 28.07.2008 PW-8 made statement before the investigating 
officer and on the same day he made statement under section 164 of Code of Criminal 
Procedure before the concerned Magistrate. He proved the said statement and his 4(four) 
signatures thereon as exhibit-6 and 6/1-4. 

 
39. In cross-examination PW-8 stated that he saw the original copies of the FDRs. He 

could not say whether the amount was transferred from the Sonali Bank, New North Circle 
Branch STD account no.7 vide cheque no.4882404 dated 15.06.2006 to FDR account 
no.58462 dated 15.06.2006. If any cash cheque is marked with transfer seal then the cheque 
will be a negotiable instrument. The cash cheque with transfer seal cannot be encashed like as 
a normal cheque and the same can only be transferred to a specific account. He denied the 
defence suggestions that he knew that the cheque no.4882406 of the STD account no.7 of the 
Sonali Bank, New North Circle Branch, was transferred to FDR account no.58462 in the 
name of Salimul Haque on 15.06.2006 and he intentionally hide the relevant informations. 
On 15.06.2006 the interest rate of the FDR no.58462 was 12.25% and accused Tareque 
Rahman’s signature was not available in any documents which were seized in his presence. 
The letter of FDR encashment and encasement were done following the bank’s rules and 
regulations. PW-31 came to his office with a demand letter of the Commission. There was no 
court’s order for giving the bank’s documents but the documents were given due to the 
emergency situation. The FDR was encashed and transferred to Salimul Haque’s account and 
the Trust account and Salimul Haque did not receive any money personally and the money 
was transferred with interest. The documents of Sharfuddin and his brother Giasuddin Ahmed 
and son Sayed Ahmed were in the bank’s custody and the above documents were seized and 
the 3 FDR accounts were in the name of above 3 persons and the money was withdrawn from 
Sharfuddin’s FDR through various cheques. The FDR purchase or FDR encashment were 
done following the bank’s rules and regulations. PW-8 gave written statement with signature 
to PW-31 and he made similar statement before the Magistrate. Sharfuddin did lien his 2 
FDRs but did not take any loan. The said 2 FDRs were sent to the Prime Bank, Gulshan 
Branch because no money was sanctioned for the said 2 FDRs. The amount of 2 FDRs were 
Tk.1,06,38,686/- and Tk.1,03,19,365/- and the said FDRs were transferred to the Prime Bank, 
New Eskaton Branch and then 2 new FDRs were opened, one in the name of Salimul Haque 
and Sayed Ahmed and another in the name of Giasuddin Ahmed. After encashment of said 2 
FDRs the money was deposited in the account of Sharfuddin. The bank account of 
Sharfuddin was seized. The said money was deposited in Sharfuddin’s account through 
payment orders. PW-8 denied the defence suggestions that his written statements was sent to 
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the Magistrate and the Magistrate recorded his statement from the said written documents, 
and due to the emergency situation he was afraid of and compelled to make statement before 
the Magistrate. 

 
40. PW-9 Md. Majed Ali deposed that on 16.07.2007 while he was working in the Prime 

Minister’s Office in donation section as an accountant PW-31 came to their office. PW-31 
demanded the required documents and he presented all the required documents in presence of 
the administrative officer Md. Alfashani (PW-10) and Md. Mokhleshur Rahman (PW-11). 
PW-31 seized the said documents and prepared a seizure list in presence of him, PW-10 and 
PW-11. The seized documents were as follows: 

i) The record of the PM’s Orphanage funds being no.02.39.19.01.13.14.93-
cÖgKv/mwPe/GwZgZnwej/24/93, wherein the following informations and documents were 
available: 

a) in page no.1 informations regarding various funds of Prime Minister; 
b) in page no.2 informations regarding the amount of Tk.4,59,98,048.00/- deposited in 

FDR account no.984112 with the Sonali Bank in the name of Prime Minister’s fund;  
c) in page no.3 informations regarding credit voucher dated 17.06.1991 for 

Tk.4,44,81,216/- of Foreign Exchange Department of Sonali Bank, Dhaka; 
d) in page no.4 photostat copy of DD no.153367970 dated 09.06.1991 for US 

$12,55,000.00 issued by the United Saudi Commercial Bank deposited in PM’s 
Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch;  

e) in page no.5 detail informations regarding PM’s Orphanage Funds;  
f) in page no.6 details of account no.5416 of the PM’s ORPHAN FUND; 
g) in page no.7 the account informations between 03.01.1993 and 03.10.1993; 
h) in page no.8 bank statement dated 27.01.1993 of the PM’s Orphanage Fund being 

account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch; 
i) in page no.9 informations regarding deposit of US $12,55,000.00 equivalent to 

TK.4,44,81,216.00/- in the said account and deposit slip regarding DD no.01774014-
153367970 of United Saudi Commercial Bank dated 09.06.1991;  

j) in page no.10 the donation informations about Bogura orphanage and Bagherhat 
orphanage;  

k) in page no.11 the deposit slip dated 14 November 1993 of Tk.4,66,76,289.00/- in 
account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank, Ramna Branch; 

l) in page no.12 informations regarding the PM’s Orphanage Fund account no.5416 with 
the Sonali Bank; and  

m) in page no.13 and 14 Photostat copy of the Credit voucher and DD of the United 
Saudi Commercial Bank dated 09.06.1991. 

 
41. At serial no.4(2) of the said seizure list, the statements of PM’s Orphanage Fund 

account no.5416 was there. In page no.1 the detail informations of credit/debit regarding the 
PM’s Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank was mentioned. In page 
nos.2-4 the deposit slips of the PM’s Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 of Sonali Bank 
were available. In page no.5 withdrawal of two cheques amount informations being cheque 
nos.8431102 and 8431103 by which Tk.2,33,33,500/- and Tk.2.33.33.500/- were withdrawn 
on 15.11.1993 were written. 

 
42. Serial no.4(3) of the seizure list was an unauthenticated 200 pages register regarding 

the PM’s Orphanage current account no.5416 wherein page nos.1-9 were written. In page 
no.9, it was written that the cheque nos.8431102 and 8431103 dated 13.11.1993 for each 
Tk.2,33,33,500/- donated for establishing Bagura orphanage and Bagherhat orphanage.  
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43. Serial no.4(4) of the seizure list was an unauthenticated register for the PM’s 

Orphanage fund FDR account no.984112. 
 
44. PW-9 proved the said seizure list and his signature thereon as exhibit no.7 and 

exhibit-7/1. He also proved the seized alamats presented before the Court as material exhibits 
III series. 

 
45. PW-9 further deposed that PW-31 on 22.07.2008 also came to their office and 

requested to show required documents and he presented to him the Prime Minister’s relief 
and welfare related records and at that time the administrative officer Md. Al Fasani (PW-10) 
and Md. Mokhleshur Rahman (PW-11) were also present there. PW-31 seized the documents 
and prepared a seizure list wherein he put his signature. He proved the said seizure list, 
exhibit-8 and his signature thereon 8/1. The seized alamats dated 22.07.2008 were mentioned 
in the column 4 of the seizure list- 

i) serial no.4(1) a original record of the Prime Minister’s Relief and Welfare Fund for 
the assessment year 1993-94 including 195 pages along with 7 note sheets; 

ii) serial no.4(2) a original record of the Prime Minister’s Optional Fund for assessment 
year 1993-94 where Prime Minister signed the documents including 165 pages along 
with 5 note sheets;  

iii) serial no.4(3) 5 pages photostat copy wherein Nitimala (policy) had been prescribed 
including the said 2(two) funds. 

 
46. In cross-examination PW-9 stated that in 1986 he was appointed in the Prime 

Minister’s Office as a cashier and he worked in the said post till 1991. Between 1991 and 
2007 Barek Bhuiyan (PW-21) worked in the account section as an accountant. Before 
16.07.2007 PW-31 went to the Prime Minister’s Office but he could not remember the date. 
PW-9 did not overwrite the record being no.02.39.19.01.13.14 .93 and he could not able to 
say who did it. The last line of the said record was cÖgKv/mwPe/GwZg Znwej/24/93 and the 
digit ‘24’ was overwritten. The said file was issued by the Prime Minister’s Office. The 
record opening index was in the secretarial office and the record number was given thereon. 
He did not know whether there was any discussion between secretary, additional secretary 
and director regarding the said overwriting. Altogether 20 officers had been working in the 
Prime Minister’s Office. In the Prime Minister’s Office there were peon books or movement 
register. There is no endorsement copy on material exhibit-III who received the file. There 
were no detail descriptions in the exhibit III series record who attached the documents. When 
he dealt with the said material exhibit series file he did not put any signature thereon and he 
could not able to say who done the accounting of the said file and attached a copy of United 
Saudi Commercial Bank’s DD to the material exhibit-III. He did not know how the 
documents of the Sonali Bank were attached to the record. PW-9 did not give any page 
number in the material exhibit-III series. In Prime Minister’s Office he did not see any 
orphanage fund file accept the material exhibit-III. Audit was completed regarding Prime 
Minister’s Orphanage Fund but he did not present the file during audit. He did not know 
whether the material exhibit III record was false and fabricated one and who wrote the 
account details. He did not attach Sonali Bank related documents along with other documents 
to the material exhibit III(A) file. The record number of material exhibit III(A) was not in 
their office. He did not write in the material exhibit III(A) file and his signature was not on 
there and there was no proof whether he had dealth with the said records and there was no 
note or signature of his any senior officer. PW-9 had no knowledge who attached the 
documents to the material exhibit III(A) and he did not attach any document thereto. In their 
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office no investigation was done regarding the documents of material exhibit III(A) file. In 
the pages 1-9 of material exhibit III(B) register statement was not written by him and it was 
written by the previous accountant Mostafa Kamal (PW-19) and Barek Bhuiyan (PW-21) and 
they maintained the said register. No official/employee signed on the material exhibit III(B). 
In page nos.1401-1404 of the material exhibit III(C) the statements were not written by him 
and no one signed from the Prime Minister’s Office. The record number 02.39.19.1.04.05.93-
94 was regarding the relief and welfare fund but not about the orphanage fund and the said 
record was signed by the secretary and the Prime Minister also signed thereon. PW-9 denied 
the defence suggestions that the orphanage fund related case against Begum Zia was false and 
fabricated. PW-9 could not able to say whether any person went to the Prime Minister’s 
Office to find out the records. Between 1991 and 2007 internal and external audit were 
completed but no objection was raised and he did not also raise any objection. 

 
47. PW-10 Md. Al-Fashani deposed that on 16.07.2007 while he was working in the 

office of Chief Advisor of Care Taker Government as an administrative officer PW-31 came 
to their office. On the basis of Majed Ali’s (PW-9) presentation PW-31 seized some records 
and documents relating to the case and he prepared a seizure list in presence of him and PW-
11. He proved the said seizure list, exhibit-7 and his signature thereon, exhibit-7/2. On 
22.07.2008 PW-31 again came to their office and according to his demand PW-9 presented 
some documents and records. The said documents and records were also seized in presence 
of him and PW-11 and a seizure list was prepared by PW-31. He proved the said seizure list, 
exhibit-8 and his signature thereon, exhibit-8/2. 

 
48. In cross-examination PW-10 stated that in October 1995 he was appointed in the 

account’s section of Prime Minister’s Office as an office assistant and in July 2008 he was 
promoted to the post of administrative officer. Between 1991 and 2007 he worked as an 
office assistant. In 1991 Abdul Barek Bhuiyan worked as an accountant. It was not mentioned 
from which section record being no.02.039.19.1.13.14.93 came and when or who received 
the said record; he did not receive the same. He did not overwrite on the register book or he 
had no knowledge who did it. He did not know whether PW-31 went to the Prime Minister’s 
Office before 16.07.2008 and he was not interrogated prior to the said date. In Prime 
Minister’s Office there were records of relief and welfare fund and optional fund. He did not 
deal with any file regarding the orphanage fund. He denied the denfece suggestions that 
Prime Minister’s Office sent letter to the Commission informing that there was no file 
regarding orphanage fund. The seized records were presented by PW-9 and he signed on the 
seizure list. He also denied the defence suggestion that PW-9 prepared the said records and 
registers in his own way. 

 
49. PW-11 Md. Mokhlesur Rahman deposed that on 16.07.2007 PW-31 came to the 

office of the Chief Advisor while he was working in the said office as an administrative 
officer. On the demand of PW-31 accountant Majad Ali (PW-9) presented Prime Minister’s 
Orphanage Fund related documents and records. PW-31 prepared a seizure list, exhibit-7 in 
presence of him and Al-Fashani (PW-10) and took their signatures. He proved his signature 
on the said seizure list, exhibit-7/3. On 22.07.2008 PW-31 again came to their office and 
seized Prime Minister’s Relief and Welfare related documents in presence of PW-9 and PW-
10 and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-8 and took their signatures. He also proved his 
signature thereon, exhibit-8/3. 

 
50. In cross-examination PW-11 stated that in 1997 he was appointed in administrative 

section of the Prime Minister’s Office as an office assistant and he did not work in the 
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accounts department. PW-9 Majed Ali presented the seized records and registers. He denied 
the defence suggestions that the seized records and registers, exhibit-7 and 8 were created in 
order to follow the Commission’s desire.  

 
51. PW-12 Monjur Hossain deposed that on 22.07.2008 at about 10.00 am PW-31 came 

to the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch while he was working as an assistant general 
manager in the said branch and PW-31 requested for presenting the documents of opening 
form, signature card etc. relating to PM’s Orphanage Fund being account No.5416/14 and 
accordingly he presented the related documents of the said account by following the order of 
DGM. PW-31 seized the said documents and a seizure list was prepared in presence of him 
and witnesses Rezaul Karim, SPO and Mohiuddin Ahmed, PO (PW-13). The seized 
documents were mentioned at serial no.4 of the seizure list. Serial no.4(1) and 4(2) of the 
seizure list were the opening form of account no.5416/14 in the name of the PM’s Orphanage 
Fund and the signature card where Kamal Siddique, additional secretary (acting), Prime 
Minister’s Office put his signatures on 02.06.1991. PW-12 proved the seizure list and his 
signature thereon, exhibit-9 and exhibit-9/1. The seized alamats were given to PW-31 and he 
received a copy of the seizure list. 

 
52. In cross-examination PW-12 stated that he was working in the Ramna Corporate 

Branch when the documents were seized. He did not work with any officers who prepared 
account opening form and signature card of orphanage fund account. He had no personal 
knowledge who filled up or signed on the said account opening form and signature card. 
Before 22.07.2008 the Commission sent requisition to their bank. PW-12 in his cross-
examination further stated that he had no knowledge whether money was sent in the said 
account by the Amir of Kuwait. He denied the defence suggestions that account no.5416/14 
was the account of Zia orphanage fund, and that forged documents were created in the name 
of PM’s Orphanage Fund. 

 
53. PW-13 Mohiuddin Ahmed deposed that on 22.07.2007 at about 10.00 am while he 

was working in the Sonali Bank Ltd. Ramna Corporate Branch as a principle officer PW-31 
came to the room of DGM of their branch and in order to comply the instruction of DGM, the 
opening form of the PM’s Orphanage Fund, signature card etc. were presented in presence of 
him, senior principal officer Rezaul Karim and AGM Monjur Hossain (PW-12). PW-31 
seized the said documents and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-9 and took his signature 
thereon. He proved his signature, exhibit-9/2. 

 
54. In his cross-examination PW-13 stated that in November 2006 he was appointed in 

Ramna Corporate Branch of the Sonali Bank Ltd. as a principle officer. He had no personal 
knowledge regarding the seized documents. He did not provide any documents of remittance 
regarding the account no. 5416/14. Deputy General Manager presented the said documents. 
The name of Begum Zia was not mentioned in the seized documents. The balance remittance 
and the deposited amount of account no.5416/14 were not mentioned in the seized 
documents. PW-13 denied the defence suggestions that the said account was in the name of 
Zia Orphanage Trust, not in the name of Prime Minister’s Orphanage Fund, and that on 
behalf of the government of the state of Kuwait, the Amir of Kuwait made a donation to the 
Zia Orphanage Trust, and that the bank authority withheld the remittance documents in order 
to follow the illegal order of the Commission, and that the seized documents were fabricated 
one. 
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55. PW-14 Sayed Jaghlul Pasha deposed that between 2nd half of the year 1992 and 1st 
half of the year 1994 he worked in the Prime Minister’s Office as the private secretary of the 
Prime Minister’s secretary. At the relevant time Kamal Siddique had been working as the 
secretary of the Prime Minister. The Prime Minister’s funds were controlled by Kamal 
Siddique. At the time of opening the PM’s Orphanage Fund he was not in the said office. He 
came to know regarding PM’s Orphanage Fund when he was updating the other Prime 
Minister’s funds records in the year 1993. The said orphanage fund was deposited in a FDR 
account with the permission of the Prime Minister. The secretary of the Prime Minister 
ordered to withdraw the said FDR amount with the permission of the Prime Minister and 
allocated the said amount for the Zia Orphanage Trust and the Zia Memorial Trust. Kamal 
Siddique signed on two cheques, each of Tk.2,33,00,000/- for the said Trusts. Office opened 
an additional record with the permission of Kamal Siddique for collecting the documents. 
Kamal Siddique kept the important records of PM’s Orphanage Fund in his own custody. The 
main record of the PM’s Orphanage Fund was signed and approved by the Prime Minister. 
The investigation officer showed the records to him. The material exhibit-III series and III(A) 
series were related to the PM’s Orphanage Fund. He had idea about the original records and 
additional record of the Prime Minister’s Orphanage Fund. He made statement before the 
investigating officer and also before the Magistrate under section 164 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure. He proved the said statement and his signature thereon as exhibit 10 and 10/3. 

 
56. In cross-examination PW-14 stated that in August 1992 he was appointed in the Prime 

Minister’s Office as the personal secretary to Prime Minister’s secretary and worked till 
30.06.1994. After that he did not work in Prime Minister’s Office. He made statement before 
PW-31 in 2008 while he was working in the Privatization Commission as a director. He also 
made statement before the Magistrate. He did not know whether internal audit was done in 
the Prime Minister’s Office. During his working period an audit was completed in Prime 
Minister’s Office. He saw the record of the relief and welfare Fund in the Prime Minister 
Office between 1993 and 1994. On 27.09.1993 the first note was written in the said record 
no.02.39.9.1.4.5.93-94, part-1. The said record was signed by him, Prime Minister’s secretary 
and Prime Minister. The said record was used for keeping the summary of the government 
and private different applications which were presented before the Prime Minister for the 
permission. On 19.11.1991 Prime Minister’s secretary presented summary before the Prime 
Minister regarding welfare fund and the said summary was approved on 28.11.1991. PW-14 
denied the defence suggestions that there was separate fund like PM’s Orphanage Fund and 
the Relief and Welfare fund included the orphanage fund, and that the claim of PM’s 
Orphanage Fund was false one, and that the statement which he was given regarding PM’s 
Orphanage Fund were concocted, and that the amount of Tk.4,66,00,000/- in the name of Zia 
Orphanage Trust and Zia Memorial Trust were allotted and approved by the Prime Minister 
was false, and that the Commission had shown him the false and fabricated register and 
documents. 

 
57. PW-15 Md. Mofizul Islam deposed that in between 2003 and 2007 he worked in the 

Sonali Bank Gulshan, New North Circle Branch as the branch manager. The account of Zia 
Orphanage Trust STD-7 was opened in said branch. From STD-7 account Tk.30,00,000/- 
through cheque no.4882403 dated 05.07.2006, Tk.50,00,000/- through cheque no.4882404 
dated 04.07.2006 and Tk.1,00,00,000/- through cheque no.4882402 dated 15.06.2008 were 
writhdrawn. The said 3 cheques were jointly signed by Tareque Rahman and Mominur 
Rahman and the said amounts were transferred from the Sonali Bank Ltd. Gulshan New 
North Circle Branch to the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch through clearing house. 
(However, money of Cheque no.4882406 dated 15.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- and Cheque 
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no.4882407 dated 12.04.2006 for TK.50,000/- was given on the basis of joint signatures of 
the said two persons) and due to insufficient fund the Sonali Bank, local office provided the 
said amount through the demand draft. The said cheque’s money Tk.1,00,00,000/- and 
Tk.50,000/- was encashed from the Prime Bank, local office. They gave the money in one 
day notice. Cheque no.4882407 dated 12.04.2006 for Tk.50,00,000/-, material exhibit-I(G) 
and the signature of PW-15 was thereon, exhibit-I(G)/1; Cheque no.482402 dated 15.06.2006 
for Tk.1,00,00,000/-, material exhibit-I(H) signed by principal officer Sohrab Hossain, 
exhibit-I(H)/1. Cheque no.4882403 dated 05.07.2006 for Tk.30,00,000/-, material exhibit-
I(N), cheque no.4882406 dated 15.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/-, material exhibit-I(J) and 
cheque no.4882404 dated 4.7.2006 for Tk.50,00,000/-, material exhibit-I(L) were also signed 
by the principle officer Sohrab Hossain, exhibits-I(H)/1, I(N)/1, I(J)/1 and I(L)/1. PW-15 
permitted Sohrab Hossain through note of withdrawal for signing the said cheques. The said 
amounts were paid by following the Bank’s rules and regulations. 

 
58. In cross-examination PW-15 stated that the 3 cheques, material exhibit-I(H), I(N), 

I(C) were issued in the name of Zia orphanage fund. In two cheques, material exhibit-I(G) 
and I(J), there were transferred seal and the said cheques were cash cheque and said cheques 
were transformed as negotiable instrument due to transfer seal. The cash cheque with transfer 
seal could not be encashed it would only used to transfer the bank amount to the specific 
bank. 

 
59. PW-16 Md. Golam Faruk deposed that on 05.08.2008 while he was working at 

Gabtoli, Bogura sub-registry office as sub-registrar PW-31 came to his office and presented a 
request letter and accordingly he presented all the records as per his request. PW-31 seized 
the said documents and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-11. The discreptions of seized records 
were mentioned at serial no.5 of the seizure list, Balam Book nos.122, 116, 115, 121 and 117, 
material exhibit no.IV series wherein details of 18 deeds infavour of the Trust had been 
narrated. Register book being no.4 of the Gabtoli Sub-registry office, material exhibit-V, 
wherein page nos.34-38 thumb impressions and signatures were taken from the vendors of 
the respective deeds.  

 
60. PW-16 proved the said seizure list exhibit-11 and his signature thereon as exhibit-

11/1. The seized records were given to his custody and he received a copy of ‘jimmanama’ 
from PW-31. PW-16 also proved the said ‘jimmanama’, exhibit-12 and his signature thereon, 
exhibit-12/1. 

  
61. In cross-examination PW-16 stated that he submitted the finger print book before the 

court and provided the certified copies of said deeds. The said deeds were in the name of the 
Trust. 

 
62. PW-17 Md. Mehmud Hossain deposed that between 2003 and February 2007 he 

worked in the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch as the branch manager. On 28.07.2008 PW-
31 called him for interrogation and he went to the head office of the Commission. PW-31 
interrogated him and he made his statement before him. Between 13.04.2006 and 05.07.2006, 
5 cheques of STD-7 account with Sonali Bank, New North Circle, Gulshan Branch were 
given to their branch for opening an FDR, which were jointly signed by Tareque Rahman and 
another. He received the said 5 cheques in presence of M. Sahjanan Bhuiya, managing 
director of the Prime Bank Ltd. through Salimul Haque. Salimul Haque who was the director 
and chairman of the Prime Bank. Among the said 5 cheques, 1 cheque was for Tk.50,00,000/-
, 2 cheques were for Tk.2,00,00,000/-, each Tk.1,00,00,000/-, 1 cheque was for 
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Tk.50,00,000/- and 1 cheque was for Tk.30,00,000/- in total amounting to Tk.3,30,00,000/-. 
By receiving direction from Salimul Haque the cheque amounting to Tk.50,00,000/- was 
given on 13.04.2006 for encashment and the cheque amounting to Tk.1,00,00,000/- was 
given on 15.06.2006 for encasement and another 3 cheques were given to the Trust. The said 
2 cheques were given to the branch officer Masud Parvez for withdrawal. On 13.04.2006 and 
on 15.06.2006 two FDRs for Tk.50,000/- and Tk.1,00,000/- respectively were issued in the 
name of Salimul Haque. Thereafter another 3 cheques in respect of Tk.1,00,00,000/-, 
Tk.50,00,000/- and Tk.30,00,000/- were collected through clearing house for opening FDRs 
on 15.06.2006, 04.07.2006 and 05.07.2006 respectively and Salimul Haque ordered for 
opening FDR account and on 27.06.2006 FDR no.41032669 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- and on 
09.07.2006 FDR no.41033117 for Tk.80,00,000/- were issued in the name of the Trust. The 
said FDRs were transferred to Salimul Haque. FDR no.41029462 for the amount of 
Tk.50,68,450/- (including interest) was used for opening another new FDR being 
no.41033338 on 16.07.2006 in the name of the Trust in compliance  of the order of Salimul 
Haque. PW-17 requested to the bank managing director for necessary documents of the Trust 
and eventually, he received the said documents. On 01.11.2006 the Prime Bank, Eskaton 
branch wrote a letter which was received by the Prime Bank, Gulshan branch on 05.11.2006 
and FDR for Tk.1,00,00,000/- was liened in the name of Salimul Haque. The lien was marked 
jointly by the manager operation Amzad Hossain and Farid Ahmed of the Prime Bank, 
Gulshan Branch and for making the lien they failed to communicate with Salimul Haque over 
phone. Thereafter, the Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch cancelled the said lien mark. Eventually, 
on 16.11.2006 a written order was passed by the Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch on the basis of 
the Trust resulation that Zia Orphanage Trust’s FDR for Tk.1,00,00,000/- was required to be 
encashed and ordered to deposit the said amount to the Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch in the 
name of Salimul Haque. Accordingly they transferred the fund of said FDR for Taka 
1,00,00,000/- through credit advice to Prime Bank, Eskatan Branch for encashment. PW-17 
also made statement under section 164 of the Code of Criminal Procedure before the 
Magistrate. He proved his said statement, exhibit-13 and his six signatures thereon, exhibit-
13/1-6. 

  
63. In cross-examination PW-17 stated that there were 2 cash cheques and 3 account 

payee cheques of the STD account no.7, Sonali Bank and the said cheques were cleared from 
the said STD account no.7, Cheque no.4882407 dated 12.04.2006 for Tk.50,00,000/- and 
cheque no.4882406 dated 15.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- were presented in their bank but 
there were no endorsement seal of their bank. The said three cheques were collected by Prime 
Bank, Gulshan Branch, Dhaka. The beneficiary of the five cheques never complained that 
they did not receive the money and the said five FDRs were transferred to the Prime Bank, 
Eskaton Branch with the permission of the beneficiary and the branch manager. He was 
interrogated by the investigating officer and he made his statement before the Magistrate. 
Cheque no.4882407 dated 12.04.2006 was issued from the STD account no.7 with the Sonali 
Bank, Gulshan New North Circle Branch and there was a transfer seal on cheque 
no.44888822406 dated 15.06.2006. According to the material exhibit-II series, the FDR 
interest was 12.25%. FDR no.41029262 for Tk.50,000/- dated 13.04.2006 and FDR 
no.41032276 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- were in the name of Salimul Haque. 

 
64. PW-18 Md. Abdul Jalil deposed that on 05.08.2008 while he was working in Gabtoli, 

Bogura as a Mohorar in the Sub-registry office PW-31 came to their office and seized 18 
deeds and prepared a seizure list and took his signature. He proved the seizure list, exhibit-11, 
and his signature thereon, exhibit-11/2. The seized deeds were given in the custody of the 
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sub-registrar Md. Golam Faruk (PW-6) and he signed on the ‘jimmanama’ as a witness. He 
also proved the ‘jimmanama’, exhibit-12 and his signature thereon, exhibit-12/2. 

  
65. In cross-examination PW-18 stated that he was not present when the deeds were 

registered and he had no knowledge about the registration of the same. 
  
66. PW-19 Md. Mostofa Kamal Mozumder deposed that in 2008 while he was working as 

the upazila nirbahi officer (UNO) in Fatikchhari, Chittagong, PW-31 sent him a notice to 
appear before the Commission. Thereafter he came to the Head office of the Commission on 
17.06.2008. During interrogation he informed to PW-31 that on 23 May 1990 he joined as an 
accountant in the President’s Secretariat and he worked in the President’s Secretariat till May 
1992. He was declared as a surplus staff in the President’s Secretariat and thereafter he 
worked in the Prime Minister’s Office as an accountant from June 1992 to 31 January 1993. 
During his working period in the Prime Minister’s Office he worked as an accountant in the 
Prime Minister’s relief and rehabilitation fund, voluntary fund, reserve fund and orphanage 
fund and he was controlled and advised by the private secretary (PW-14) of the Prime 
Minister’s secreatary Kamal Siddique. PW-14 the private secretary of the Prime Minister’s 
secretary preserved all the Prime Minister’s various important fund records, cheque books, 
counter foil of cheques, counter foil of FDRs and he performed his work by taking advice 
from PW-14. PW-14 supplied him the orphanage fund related documents and bank statement 
for entry in the cash register. PW-19 after completing entry informed about the said entry to 
PW-14. PW-19’s own hand writing was in the orphanage fund cash register and some portion 
was written by another accountant who joined after him. His hand writings were in the 
register’s page nos.1,2,3,9. In page no.9 of the register it was written in the column of debit 
as Zia Memorial Trust donation for establishing orphanage fund, House no.41, Raod No.37, 
Gulshan, Dhaka Cheque No.4831102, dated 13.11.1993, the amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/-. Record 
no.02.39.19.01.13.14.93 was the additional record of the PM’s Orphanage Fund and in the 
said record he wrote about the bank statement and informations of other documents. In page 
no.9 at serial no.3 informations were written as Zia Orphanage Trust, 6 Shaheed Moinul 
Road, Dhaka, Cheque no.8431103 dated 13.11.1993, the amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/-, 
purpose for establishing Orphanage fund. It was also written in deposit receipt no.984112 for 
Tk.4,66,76,298/- of the PM’s Orphanage fund. He handed over the said register to the next 
accountant Abdul Bareq Bhuiyan (PW-21) when he left the Prime Minister’s Office. 

  
67. In cross-examination PW-19 stated that the Commission did not demand the audit 

report and he did not provide any report to the Commission. He kept the account details and 
the PM’s Orphanage Fund. PW-14 also kept the said account details. Thereafter Abdul Barek 
Bhuiyan (PW-21) kept the account details of the said orphanage fund. In material exhibit-III 
series and III(A) series there were no note sheet and he did not see any note sheet there. He 
was aware about the Prime Minister’s Relief and Welfare Fund. He did internal and external 
audit regularly while he was working in the Prime Minister’s office. His hand writings were 
available in material exhibits III(B) and III(C). PW-14 called him from his new service place 
after 9/10 months of leaving his job from Prime Minister’s office for updating the records. He 
denied the defence suggestions that there was no PM’s Orphanage Fund register and files in 
the Prime Minister’s office, and that there was no existence of the PM’s Orphanage Fund and 
additional record. He did not know whether the Amir of Kuwait sent directly foreign 
remittance to the Sonali Bank in the name of Zia Orphanage Trust. But he knew a remittance 
came to the PM’s Orphanage Fund. 
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68. PW-20 Tohidur Rahman Khan deposed that in May 2008 while he was working as a 
director in the Chief Advisor Office PW-31 sent him a letter requesting to supply the records 
of the PM’s Orphanage Fund and he replied to the said letter in June 2008. Thereafter on 
14.08.2008 PW-31 came to their office and he made his statement before him. The 
Commission asked for the original records of the PM’s Orphanage Fund but the Chief advisor 
office could not able to supply the required informations because the original record could 
not traced out. Between 1991 and 1996 another additional record was made in compliance of 
the order of the private secretary of the Prime Minister’s secretary and he informed PW-31 
regarding the said additional record. In 1991 the account no.5416 was opened with the Sonali 
Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch regarding PM’s Orphanage Fund. The register of the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund and additional records were handed over to PW-31. PW-20 proved material 
exhibit-III series. 

  
69. In cross-examination PW-20 stated that on 14.08.2008 he made statement before PW-

31. In May 2008 before recording the said statement PW-32 came to him who asked for some 
files of the Prime Minister’s office for his perusal. But they could not provide the said 
required files to PW-32 as the original record was not found at that time. During his working 
period he could not traced out the said original record. In January, 2009 he was transferred 
from the Prime Minister’s Office. He had no involvement with the additional record but same 
was ultimately traced out. 

 
70. PW-21 Abdul Barek Bhuiyan deposed that in 2003 he retired from the Prime 

Minister’s Office as an accountant. Between 1993 and 1994 he dealt with the relief fund, 
optional fund, secret fund and orphanage fund of the Prime Minister’s Office. Mostafa Kamal 
Mojumder (PW-19) had worked as an accountant prior to him and at the time of his transfer 
he (PW-19) handed over additional records and 2 registers to him (PW-21). PW-21’s hand 
writings were available on the additional records and registers. He having seen the material 
exhibit-III series further deposed that the cover pages of material exhibit-III and material 
exhibit-III(A) were written by him. Material exhibit-III(B) and III(C) registers were written 
by Mostafa Kamal Mojumder (PW-19). In 1994 he was transferred from the said office and 
he handed over the additional records and registers to Majed Ali (PW-9). 

 
71. In cross-examination PW-21 stated that he was appointed in the Prime Minister’s 

Office as an accountant and retired in the year 2003. Before his appointment Mostafa Kamal 
Majumder (PW-19) worked in that post. After his retirement Majed Ali (PW-9) was 
appointed in his post. During his working period he never saw the original records of 
orphanage fund. 

 
72. PW-22 Md. Sohrab Uddin deposed that in 2006 he worked in the Sonali Bank Ltd. 

New North Circle Branch as a principle office and he was responsible for ‘transfer the 
clearing cheque pass’ section. On 15.06.2006 he passed cheque no.4882402 for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- of STD account no.7 of the Trust and his signature was thereon, material 
exhibit-I(H)/2. The said cheque was presented from the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch 
through clearing house. On 15.06.2006 cheque no.4882406 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- of STD 
account no.7 was presented before the bank as cash cheque and due to insufficient fund 
Sonali bank issued a demand draft invavour of the local office and the said DD was encashed 
and the said cheque was passed by him and his signature was thereon, exhibit-I(J)/2. On 
04.07.2006 he passed cheque no.2882404 for Tk.50,00,000/- of STD account no.7 and the 
said cheque was signed by him, material exhibit-I(L)/2. Cheque no.4882403 dated 
05.07.2006 for Tk.30,00,000/- was presented from the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch and 
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he passed the said cheque and his signature was thereon, material exhibit-I(N)/2, the above 
cheques were jointly signed by Tareque Rahman and Mominur Rahman. 

 
73. In cross-examination PW-22 stated that while he was working in the Sonali Bank, 

Gulshan New North Circle Branch he did clearing and transfer related activities by following 
the bank’s rules and regulations. The 3 cheques, material exhibited-I(H), I(N), I(L), were 
clearing cheque and said 3 cheques were in the name of the Trust. The cheque material 
exhibit-I(G)was passed by the manager and his signature was also thereon. The cheque 
material exhibit-I(J) was a cash cheque and his signature was on the said cheque. PW-22 
denied the defence suggestions that FDR nos.41032276 and 41029462 were in the name of 
Salimul Haque which came from the Prime Bank, and that the said 5(five) cheques, material 
exhibit-I(G), I(H), I(J), I(L), I(N), were transferred from the Sonali Bank to the Prime Bank 
for the best interest which he knew. He did not know wheather the Prime Bank’s FDR 
interest rate was 12.25% between April,2006 and June, 2006. The said 05 cheques were 
cleared and transferred by following the bank’s rules and regulation. 

 
74. PW-23 Shah Rezwan Hayat deposed that in 2008 he was working as the upazilla 

nirbahi officer, Gabtoli, Bogura and on 21.07.2008 the Commission sent a letter vide memo 
no.11983 by mentioning some Dagh numbers of Gabtoli and Darail Mouja and requested for 
submitting a report regarding the possession and position of the said land since 1993. He 
proved the said memo dated 21.07.2008, exhibit-14. After receiving the said letter he ordered 
to upazila land assistant officer Jahangir Alam (PW-27) and surveyer Momin (PW-28) for 
inquiry into the said matter and to submit a report. After receiving their report he sent a letter 
being memo no.1281 to the Commission on 31.07.2008 attaching the photostat copy of the 
report. In the said report it was mentioned that between 1993 and 1994 the said lands were 
vacant and thereafter one Shobhan took possession of the same and former Parliament 
Member Helauzzaman Talukder and former Mayor of Pourashava Morshed Liton used to 
look after the said land. The record of right remained in the name of the previous owners. 
There was no structure on the said land. PW-23 proved the said 3 pages report, exhibit-15 and 
his signature thereon, exhibit-15/1. 

 
75. PW-24 Md. Amjad Hossain deposed that he worked in the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan 

Branch as an assistant vice president from October 2003 to November 2007 and during his 
working period Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton Branch sent him a letter requesting for lien of 2 
FDRs being FDR no.41032276 for Tk.1,00,00,000/-, material exhibit-VI, and FDR 
No.41032669 for Tk.1,00,00,000/-, material exhibit-VII. After receiving the said letter he 
discussed the matter with his branch manager Mehbub Hossain and requested for his 
direction. Mehbub Hossain after consulting with the manager of Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton 
Branch, instructed him to do for lien of the said 2 FDRs. After receiving the instruction he 
signed jointly with the general banking incharge Molla Farid Ahmed in the said 2 FDRs and 
confirmed the its lien and informed the matter to Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch. On the 
request of Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton Branch the said 2 FDRs were encashed and transferred. 

 
76. In cross-examination PW-24 stated that the said FDRs were liened by following the 

rules and regulations and the said lien FDRs were to be encashed at any time. No loan was 
taken from the said two FDRs. He made a written statement to PW-31, exhibit-16. In his 
cross-examination he also stated that he did not present the FDRs lien letter but he saw the 
said letter which was with the record. The material exhibit-II(A), letter regarding encashment 
of FDR cancelling lien, was a Photostat copy and his signature was not thereon and there was 
no written order. The material exhibit-VI was FDR no.41032276 for Tk.1 crore. On 
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15.06.2006 the said FDR was deposited in the name of Salimul Haque and the interest rate 
was 12.25%. The material exhibit-VII was FDR no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for Tk.1 
crore was deposited in the name of the Trust and the interest rate was 12.25%. There were no 
written instructions from Tareque Rahman to their Bank regarding lien, cancellation of lien 
and advice. Material exhibit-VIII was a Photostat copy and it was not authenticated by any 
bank officer. PW-24 denied the defence suggestion that he hide the original copy of the 
material exhibit-VIII and provided a Photostat copy to the Commission. In his statement 
made before PW-31 he did not mention that the said FDRs transactions were done following 
Tareque Rahman’s order. The bank account operation was reflected in the lajer book of the 
said branch. Account opening form, signature card and documents of transactions were kept 
with the account file. During his working period PW-31 never came to Prime Bank Ltd. 
Gulshan Branch. The said bank could provide the bank statement upon the court’s order. 
External and internal audit were done in their all branchs in every year. 

 
77. PW-25 Molla Farid Ahmed deposed that he worked in the Prime Bank Ltd., Gulshan 

Branch from the year 1999 to the 1st part of the year 2008. On 01.11.2006 a letter being 
memo no. cÖvBg/GbBwe/wmAvi/2006 issued by the Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch was sent 
to his branch requesting to do lien of 2 FDRs. After receiving the said letter they discussed 
with the branch head and on the basis of his order FDR no.41032276 dated 15.06.2006 for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- and FDR no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- were marked 
lien and the matter was informed to the Eskaton Branch. He signed thereon, material exhibit 
nos-VI/2 and VII/3. Thereafter, lien of the said 2 FDRs was cancelled and money was 
transferred to the Prime Bank Ltd. Eskaton Branch through advice. He proved the encashed 
advice no.1007 for FDR No.41032276, material exhibit-IX, and his signature thereon, 
material exhibit-IX/1. He made written statement before PW-31, exhibit-17 and he proved his 
signature thereon, exhibit-17/1 (with objection). 

 
78. In cross-examination PW-25 stated that the said two lien FDRs were signed by the 

manager and he did not submit any advice regarding the said two FDRs before the Court. The 
material exhibit-IX was a Photostat copy. There is no signature of Tareque Rahman on the 
material exhibit-VI, VIII and IX. 

 
79. PW-26 Khondokar Abdus Sattar deposed that in the year 2009 while he was working 

in the Foreign Ministry of Bangladesh as the director general PW-31 on 16.06.2008 sent a 
letter being memo no.9191 to the secretary of the Ministry of Foreign Affiars. In the said 
letter it was mentioned that in 1991 a DD issued by the United Saudia Commercial Bank for 
US $12,55,000 was deposited in the PM’s Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 
maintained with the Sonali Bank Ltd. Ramna Corporate Branch and it was asked to provide 
information about the source of the said DD. He sent the said letter along with the 
Commission’s letter to the Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arab and requested for necessary 
inquiry and to send a report. The said letter was signed by him and he also sent another copy 
of the said letter to the Commission and the said copy was signed by him, exhibit-19. He 
identified his signature on the said letter, exhibit-19/1. After receiving their letter the senior 
minister and deputy chief of commission of the Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arab sent a 
letter vide memo no.weBAvi(ivR: wewea)/1/5/98-08 dated 02.07.2008. In that letter it was 
mentioned that after receiving the letter they inquired into the matter and came to know that 
United Saudi Commercial Bank was no longer in operation and in 1995 the said bank was 
merged with the SAMBA FINANCIAL GROUP. So, it was uncertain to collect information 
as sought for and requested them for providing the Photostat copy of the DD and advised to 
make inquiry about the said documents in the concerned branch of the bank. The said letter of 
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Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arab was marked as exhibit-20. After receiving the said letter 
he forwarded the same to the Commission. The Commission sent them another letter being 
memo no.11267 dated 14.07.2008 and requested to know the information about the sender 
and purpose of sending funds, exhibit-21. After receiving the said letter they sent a letter 
being memo no.GgGdG/WweøDG/‡KGmG/701/08 to the Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi 
Arab on 15.07.2008, exhibit-22. Thereafter the Commission sent them a reminder letter being 
memo no.14024 dated 13.08.2008, exhibit-23 and requested to provide required information. 
On the basis of the said letter, he sent a letter vide memo no. 
GgGdG/WweøDG/‡KGmG/701/08 dated 13.08.2008, exhibit-24 to the Bangladesh Embassy 
in Saudi Arab. After receiving the said letter the Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arab sent an 
e-mail letter, exhibit-25, informing that they had communicated with SAMBA FINANCIAL 
GROUP intending to know the name of the sender who remitted the money and the purpose 
for remit. The Deputy Chief of Mission personally went to the Head Office of SAMBA 
FINANCIAL GROUP and discussed with its Relationship Manager Mr. Tala Al-Otaibi 
regarding this issue and Mr. Tala informed that the matter was now under inquiry and he 
assured to supply the necessary information as early as possible. The said e-mail being memo 
no. GgGdG/WweøDG/‡KGmG/701/08 dated 18 August 2008 was marked as exhibit-26. 
Thereafter, on 6 September 2008 Bangladesh Embassy, Riyadh sent a letter being memo no. 
weBAvi(ivR: wewea)-01/05/98-08 dated 06.09.2008, exhibit-27 to him and informed that 
Mr. Tala through e-mail informed that it would take more time to provide the information 
regarding the DD as the same was an old one and Mr. Tala gave assurance that they would 
notify them if they get any information. After receiving the said letter Bangladesh Embassy 
in Riyad informed the said fact to the Commission vide letter dated 9 September, 2008, 
exhibit-28 and assistant secretary Mohammad Sakib Sadakat signed thereon which PW-26 
knew and identified, exhibit-28/1. 

 
80. In cross-examination PW-26 stated that PW-31 did not mention in the letter dated 

16.06.2008, exhibit-18, whether the Amir of Kuwait sent US $12,55,000 for the Trust. He 
had no knowledge whether the Amir of Kuwait sent US $12,55,000 for the Trust. The alleged 
DD was deposited in the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch which was mentioned in 
exhibit-18. The Foreign Ministry did not send any letter to the United Saudi Commercial 
Bank or Saudia Central Bank. In exhibit-18 it was mentioned that the money was for PM’s 
Orphanage Fund and the said money was misappropriated. The Foreign Ministry collected 
information from the Bangladesh Embassy in Riyad. An officer of Bangladesh Embassy sent 
a letter to him for information as emergency basis. In exhibit-25 it was mentioned that they 
had been trying to collect informations in their own way. PW-26 denied the defence 
suggestions that the Bangladesh Embassy in Kuwait informed Foreign Ministry that the Amir 
of Kuwait sent the alleged amount for the Trust. He had no personal knowledge whether the 
said DD was sent by the Amir of Kuwait. 

 
81. PW-27 Md. Zahangir Alam deposed that on 29.07.2008 he was working in the 

Lathigonj Union land Office, Gabtoli Bogura as sub-assistant officer of land. On that day as 
per the order of upazila nirbahi officer (PW-23) he along with upazila surveyer Abdul Momin 
Mondal (PW-28) went to village Darial under Police Station Gabtoli, Bogra for inspection of 
the land, detail account of which was described in exhibit-15. During their inspection local 
people also present there. From the local people they came to know that the said land was 
vacant between 1993 and 1994. In 1995 Md. Abdus Sattar took ‘pattan’ of the land from the 
former Parliament Member Helaluzzaman lalu at a consideration of Tk.5000/- for a period of 
1(one) year. Between 1996 and 2002 Md. Abdus Satter also got pattan from the pouroshabha 
chairman Md. Morshed Milton at a consideration of Tk.1,00,000/- for a period of 7 years. 
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Between 2003 and 2008 Abdus Sobhan (Bulu) got ‘pattan’ from Morshed Milton at a 
consideration of Tk.1,05,000/- for a period of 5 years and the said land was in possession of 
Abdus Sobhan Bulu. The said persons informed to them that they paid the lease money to 
Helaluzaman Talukdar and Morshed Milton. Record of right was in the name of the previous 
owners. There was no structure on the land and those were using for agriculture purpose. 
They also came to know from the ‘pattan’ receivers that the income and expenditure from the 
said land were controlled/supervised by Helaluzzaman and Morshed Milton. They inspected 
the said lands on 29.07.2008 and they submitted their report to the upozila nirbahi officer, 
Gabtoli, Bogura. The upozila nirbahi officer forwarded the said report to the Commission. He 
proved the said report exhibit-15(Ka) and his signature thereon, exhibit-15(Ka)/1. 

 
82. In cross-examination PW-27 stated that before going to the above land he did not 

serve any notice to union parisahd chairman, member, land owners and the neighbours. He 
asked the local people and collected informations but did not mention any name in the report. 
They came to know that the Trust was the owner of the land and they did not find any 
structure thereon. He did not ask anything to Helaluzzaman Talukder and Murshed Milton. 
PW-27 denied the defense suggestions that they prepared the report without going to the 
place in question and sent it to the Commission. 

 
83. PW-28 Md. Abdul Momin Mondal surveyer, upazila land office diposed in the line of 

PW-27. He proved his signature on the report, exhibit-15(Ka)/2. 
 
84. In cross-examination PW-28 stated that he did not mention any name of the 

interrogated persons or how he collected informations. He did not interrogate the leasees 
Abdus Sattar, Abdus Shobhan Bulu or Morshed Milton or Helaluzzaman. He did not mention 
the land maps, plot and Khatian numbers in the report. He denied the defence suggestions 
that they did not visit the said place and did not mention the related information in their 
report, and that the report exhibit-15(Ka) was a concocted one. 

 
85. PW-29 Md. Omar Kabir deposed that on 15.07.2008 while he was working as the vice 

president in the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch, an officer of the Commission seized some 
documents and the seized documents were given custody to the branch executive vice 
president. PW-29 proved the seizure list dated 15.07.2008, exhibit-29 by which the banks 
documents relating to i)FDR no.41033117 dated 09.07.2006 for Tk.80,00,000/-, ii)FDR 
no.41033338 dated 16.07.2006 for Tk.50,68,450/-, FDR opening forms, KYC forms FDR 
statements, iii)FDR receipt no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for Tk.1,00,00,000/-, advice 
voucher and FDR oepening form, iv)FDR no.41032276 dated 15.06.2006 for Tk. 
1,00,00,000/- in the name of the Trust, opening form, KYC form, transfer voucher, 
statements etc. and v) extract of the resolution of the Trust dated 28.03.2006 were seized. He 
also proved ‘jimmanama’ dated 15.07.2008, exhibit-30. The then executive vice president 
Md. Mojammal Hossain was given ‘jimma’ of the documents and he also signed on it. PW-
28 identified the signature of Mojammal Hossain, exhibit-30/1. The said documents were 
marked as material exhibit-X series. 

 
86. In cross-examination PW-29 stated that the said documents were in the custody of the 

Prime Bank Limited, Gulshan Branch and he received the Court’s summon as a witness and 
collected documents from the said branch and produced before the court. He further stated 
that PW-28 did not submit the original FDR no.41033117 and he did not see the said FDR 
and the same was in the name of the Trust and according to the report the balance of the said 
FDR was Tk.98,18,096/- till 09.07.2008. He had no knowledge whether the FDR 
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no.41033338 dated 16.09.2006 for Tk.50,68,450/- was opened with interest after encashment 
of the above FDR and the FDR no.41029462 dated 13.04.2006 and the FDR no.41033338 
dated 16.07.2006 were opened for the best interest. He did not know whether the FDR 
no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for Tk.1 crore was attached to the material exhibit-I(H) and 
material exhibit-VII and the FDR no.41032276 dated 15.06.2006 for Tk.1 crore was attached 
to the material exhibit-I(J). He had no personal knowledge about the material exhibit-X 
series. Begum Zia did not sign on the documents which were seized vides seizure list exhibit-
29. 11 (eleven) counter foils and 2 payment orders were submitted before the court, material 
exhibit-B series and material exhibit-A series respectively. All the said payment orders were 
issued by the Prime Bank in between 11.02.2013 and 28.08.2016. 

 
87. PW-30 Md. Sirajul Islam deposed that while he was working as a senior officer of the 

Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch on 15.07.2008 at about 1.00pm PW-31 came to their branch 
and seized the required documents as produced by manager Mozammel Hossain in presence 
of him and Syeda Nazma Parvin, senior assistant vice president of the said branch. Details of 
the seized documents were mentioned at serial nos.4(1)-4(5) of the seizure list. He proved the 
seizure list dated 15.07.2008, exhibit-29 and his signature, exhibit-29/1 and signature of 
Sayeda Nazma Parveen, exhibit-29/2. The seized banking documents were given ‘jimma’ to 
Mojammal Hossain and the ‘jimmanama’ was singed by him and Sayeda Nazma Parvin. He 
also proved the ‘jimmanama’ dated 15.07.2008, exhibit-30 and his signature exhibit-30/2 and 
signature of Sayada Nazma Parvin, exhibit-30/3. The seized documents were as under: 

i)            FDR no.41033117 dated 09.07.2006 for Tk.80,00,000/- of the Prime Bank Ltd. 
Gulshan Branch along with original FDR opening form, KYC form, resolution 
copy dated 28.03.2006 and 2 pages account details of FDR of the Trust; 

ii) FDR no.41033338 dated 16.07.2006 for Tk.50,68,450/-, KYC Form, 
Resolution copy dated 28.03.2006 the 2 pages FDR account details of the 
Trust, letter dated 16.07.2006 written by Kazi Salimul Haque for encashment 
of the FDR and to open a new FDR; 

iii) letter being memo no.cÖvBg/GbBwe/wmAvi/ 2006/744 dated 16.11.2006 
issued by Prime Bank, New Eskaton Branch, FDR opening form, advice 
voucher copy and details of the FDR no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/-; 

iv) account details of the FDR no.41032276 dated 15.06.2006 for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- of the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch in the name of 
Salimul Haque; 

v)            extract of the Zia Orphanage Trust resolution dated 28.03.2006. 
 
88. In cross-examination PW-30 stated that he did not prepare the seized documents and 

he had no signature on those documents. 
 
89. PW-31 Harunur Rashid as investigating officer deposed that he was entrusted with the 

investigation on 09.07.2008 by the Commission, exhibit-31. During his investigation on 
10.07.2008 he sent a letter being memo no.11178 to the executive vice president, Prime Bank 
Ltd. Gulshan Branch, Dhaka requesting to provide required documents of the case. PW-31 
requested for the following informations:  

i) latest transaction information such as voucher, lajer, cash book etc. of the account 
no.4103338; 

ii) transferable documents which transferred from the STD account no.7, Sonali Bank, 
Gulshan New North Branch to the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch;  

iii) statement record details of the said account;  
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iv) records of Salimul Haque’s FDR account no.41032276 dated 15.06.2006, the Trust 
FDR account no.41033117 dated 16.07.2006 and FDR account no.41032669 dated 
27.07.2006.  

 
90. On 10.07.2008 PW-31 sent a letter being memo no.11177 to the executive vice 

president of the Prime Bank Ltd. Easkaton Branch, Dhaka requesting for the case related 
records, exhibit-33.  

 
91. PW-31 also sent the following letters to various authorities/Banks and institutions for 

collecting evidence with regard to subject matter of the investigation: 
i) on 10.07.2008 a letter being memo no.11178, exhibit-34 to the manager of the Sonali 

Bank Ltd. Gulshan New North Circle Branch, Dhaka; 
ii) on 10.07.2008 a letter being memo no.11176, exhibit-35 to the deputy secretary of the 

Chief Advisor Office, Old Airport, Tejgaon, Dhaka; 
iii) on 13.07.2008 a request letter being memo no.11239, exhibit-36 to the Sub-registrar, 

Gulshan, Dhaka; 
iv) on 13.07.2008 a letter being memo no.11238, exhibit-37 to the settlor of the Trust at 

the address 6, Shaheed Moinul Road, Dhaka cantonment;  
v) on 13.07.2008 a letter being memo no.11237, exhibit-38 to the Sub-Registrar, 

Gabtoli, Bogura; 
vi) on 14.07.2008 a letter being memo no.11267 to the director (East Asia), Ministry of 

Foreign affairs, Dhaka, exhibit-21. 
 
92. On 15.07.2008 PW-31 seized some records for the Sonali Bank Ltd. Gulshan New 

North Circle Branch, Dhaka vide exhibit-3. He proved his signature thereon, exhibit-3/4. 
Descriptions of said seizure list documents were at serial nos.4(1) to 4(5) which were marked 
as material exhibits. On 15.07.2008 at about 1.00 pm PW-31 seized some documents vide 
exhibit-29 from two witnesses namely Md. Sirajul Islam (PW-30) and Sayeda Nazma Parvin, 
senior assistant vice president of the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch as presented by Md. 
Mozammal Hossain, executive vice president, Head of Branch. Details of seized documents 
records were described at serial nos.4(1)-4(5) of the seizure list. PW-31 proved his signature 
on it, exhibit-29/3. The seized materials were given ‘jimma’ to Mojammal Hossain, exhibit-
30. PW-31 proved his signature, exhibit-30/4. The said documents were produced before the 
court and marked as material exhibit-X series. On 15.07.2008 PW-31 seized some documents 
relating to the case in presence of two witnesses as presented by Md. Afzal Hossain, vice 
president of the Prime Bank Ltd. New Eskaton Branch (PW-8). Details of the seized 
documents were described at serial nos.4(1)-4(8) of the seizure list, exhibit no.4. He proved 
his signature thereon, exhibit-4/4 and another signature on the 1st page of the seizure list, 
exhibit-4/5. The seized documents were given ‘jimma’ to PW-8 and he received the 
‘jimmanama’, exhibit-5 and his signature was on the said ‘jimmanama’, exhibit-5/4. The 
documents were submitted before the court, material exhibit-II series. On 16.07.2008 PW-31 
seized case related records from the office of the Chief Advisor in presence of PW-10 and 
PW-11 as presented by Md. Majed Ali (PW-9). The descriptions of the seized materials were 
mentioned at serial no.4(1) of the seizure list, exhibit-7. PW-31 proved his signature on it, 
exhibit-7/4. PW-31 kept the said seized alamats in his own custody, material exhibit-III 
series. During investigation PW-31 intrrogated Begum Zia and Tareque Rahman in jail gate 
with the permission of the Court. On 21.07.2008 a request letter being memo no.11984, 
exhibit-42 was sent to the manager of Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch, Dhaka. During 
investigation on 22.07.2008 PW-31 went to the said branch and he seized the records in 
connection with the case and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-9 in presence of Md. Rezaul 
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Karim, SPO and Mohiduddin Ahmed (PW-13) as presented by Monjur Hossian (PW-12). He 
proved his signature thereon, exhibit-9/3. He kept the seized alamats in his own custody. The 
seized alamats were produced before the Court and marked as material exhibit-XI series. On 
22.07.2008 at about 12.30 hours on presentation of Md. Majed Ali (PW-9) PW-31 seized 
some records in connection with the case from the office of the Chief Advisor and he 
prepared a seizure list, exhibit-8 in presence of Md. Alfasani, administrative officer (PW-10) 
and Md. Mokhlesur Rahman (PW-11). The descriptions of the seized records were mentioned 
at serial nos.4(1),4(2),4(3) of the seizure list. PW-31 proved his signature, exhibit-8/4. The 
seized materials were produced before the court and marked as material exhibit-XII series. 
PW-31 on 24.07.2008 interrogated FIR named accused Sharfuddin and he also recorded 
statements of the witnesses as per provision of section 161 of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure. He had also taken steps for recording statements of witnesses before the 
Magistrate as per provision of section 164 of the Code Criminal Procedure. On 05.08.2008 
PW-31 went to Gabtoli Sub-registry office and he seized the records in connection with the 
case as presented by Md. Golam Faruk, Sub-registrar, Gabtoli, Bogura (PW-16) and prepared 
a seizure list, exhibit-11 in presence of two witnesses, Md. Mizanur Rahman, office assistant 
and Md. Jalil, a mohrar of Sub-registry office, Gabtolil. Descriptions of the seized records 
were mentioned at serial nos.5(1) to 5(2) of the seizure list. He proved his signature on the 
seizure list, exhibit-11/3. The said seized alamats were given ‘jimma’ to Md. Golam Faruk. 
On 13.08.2008 PW-31 sent a letter being memo no.14023 dated 13.08.2008 to the manager of 
Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch for providing information regarding the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund current account no.5416 and same was replied by the concerned officer of 
the Bank, exhibit-48. On 14.08.2008 PW-31 visited the place 6, Saheed Moinul Road, Dhaka 
Cantonment, Dhaka and recorded some informations, exhibit-49. During investigation PW-31 
sent a letter being memo no.14028 dated 13.08.2008, exhibit-23 to the director general of the 
East Asia of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Dhaka to request the Ambassador of Bangladesh 
in Riyadh for collecting the information with regard to the source of alleged DD. Md. Sakib 
Sadakat, assistant secretary of the East Asia sent the said letter to the Bangladesh 
Ambassador in Riyadh on 13.08.2008 and a copy of the letter was given to PW-31, exhibit-
24. The exhibit-25 was attached to exhibit-24. PW-31 received the Photostat copy of the 
letters, exhibit-26, exhibit-27 and exhibit-28. During investigation PW-31 examined the 
seized records of the case and statements of witnesses as well as statements of accused 
persons. In the year 1991 the former Prime Minister Begum Zia opened a bank account being 
account no.5416 with the Sonali Bank Ltd. Ramna corporate branch, Dhaka in the name of 
PM’s Orphanage Fund. Kamal Siddique was in charge for maintaining the said account. On 
09.06.1991 the amount of Tk.4,44,81,216/- equivalent to US $12,55,000 was deposited in the 
said account which came from United Saudi Commercial Bank vide DD no.153367970. 
Between 09.06.1991 and 05.09.1993 no money was utilized from the said fund for any 
orphan in the country and eventually, Begum Zia formed the Trust through her two sons 
Tareque Rahman and Arafat Rahman and nephew Mominur Rahman in order to 
misappropriate the said fund. The address of the Trust was the Prime Minister’s own 
residence 6, Shaheed Moinul Road, Dhaka Cantonment. Begum Zia appointed her son 
Tareque Rahman as the settlor of the said Trust. On 13.11.1993 an amount of 
Tk.2,33,33,500/- was transferred to the Trust account, STD account no.7 with the Sonali 
Bank Ltd. Gulshan New North Circle Road Branch through cheque no.8431103 from the 
PM’s Orphanage Fund. On 15.11.1993 an amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/- was deposited in the 
STD account no.7. On 04.12.1993 an amount of Tk.4,00,000/- was withdrawn from the said 
STD account no.7 through cheque no.48882401 and an amount of Tk.2,77,000/- was spent 
for purchasing 2.79 acres land in Darail Mouja under Gabtoli Police Station, Bogura in the 
name of the Trust. Between 1993 and 2006 the money was not spent for the orphans and no 
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structure or eastablishment was built on the said purchased land and the said money was kept 
in STD account no.7. On 12.04.2006 the amount was increased to Tk.3,37,09,757.32/- with 
interest. Thereafter between 12.04.2006 and 04.07.2006 Tareque Rahman and Mominur 
Rahman, settlor and trustee of the Trust respectively in order to misappropriate the money 
transferred the same through 5 cheques opening new FDR account with the Prime Bank, 
Gulshan Branch with the aid of Salimul Haque. On 12.04.2006 the cheque amount for 
Tk.50,00,000/- was withdrawn and Salimul Haque opened a FDR in his own name being 
account no.41028462. On 16.07.2006 the said FDR was encashed and another FDR account 
was opened being account no.41033338 in the name of the Trust. On 09.07.2016 an FDR 
being no.41033117 for Tk.80,00,000/- was opened in the name of the Trust and FDR 
no.41032669 for Tk.1,00,00,000/- was also opened on 27.06.2006 in the name of the Trust 
and the remaining amount of Tk.1,00,00,000/- was used for opening another personal FDR 
account being no.41032276 in the name of Salimul Haque. On 28.03.2006 the Trustee board 
of the Trust took a decision giving power to M.S. Rahman for dealing the above two FDRs 
(Tk.50,00,000/- and Tk.80,00,000/-) of the Trust and accused Salimul Haque was given 
power for monitoring another two FDRs account, the amount of Tk.1,00,00,000/- and 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- (personal account of Salimul Haque). The two FDRs amounting to 
Tk.50,00,000/- and Tk.80,00,000/-, were running in the name of the Trust with the Prime 
Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch. On the basis of Salimul Haque’s verbal order the Trust FDR for 
Tk.1,00,00,000/- and Salimul Hoque’s FDR for 1,00,00,000/- including interest were 
transferred from the Prime Bank Ltd. Gulshan Branch to the Prime Bank Ltd. New Eskaton 
Branch through inter banking credit advices and on 16.11.2006 an FDR being no.41022619 
for Tk.1,03,19,365/- was opened jointly in the name of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmed. On 
07.02.2007 another FDR being no.41025535 for Tk.1,06,38,686/- was opened in the name of 
Giasuddin Ahemd. Out of the said 2 FDRs, the FDR no.410022619 which was opened on 
16.11.2006 jointly in the name of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmed was encashed on 
07.02.2007 and thereafter another FDR being no.41025511 for Tk.1,04,32,957.80/- was 
opened in the name of Giasuddin Ahmed. 2 FDRs in the name of Giasuddin were encashed 
and withdrawn on 15.02.2007 and an amount of Tk.2,10,71,643.80/- was deposited on 
28.03.2007 to Sharifuddin’s account being no.110131 with the Prime Bank Ltd. New Eskaton 
Branch through six payment orders and the said amount was credited in the said account. 
Thereafter, Sharfuddin withdrew Tk.2,10,71,643.80 from his said account on various 
occasions and completed the process of misappropriation. In this fraudulent process the 
accused persons named in the charge sheet misappropriated the PM’s Orphanage Fund. 
Accordingly PW-31 submitted charge sheet against the accused persons. The FIR named 
accused Giasuddin Ahmed and Sayed Ahmed were not charge sheeted because their 
involvement in commission of the offence had not been found. Salimul Haque and 
Sharfuddin used those names for their own interest and to facilitate the commission of the 
offence. 

 
93. In cross-examination PW-31 stated that in his inquiry report in every page he had 

signed but there was no signature in every page of 1st inquiry report submitted by Noor 
Ahmed (PW-32). In the first inquiry report it was mentioned that the Trust was registered as a 
private Trust so the members of said Trust would not be treated as public servant, and that the 
Prime Minister’s Office could not avail to provide the documents of record 
no.02.39.19.1.13.94.93 and thus, he (PW-32) could not ascertain whether the rules and 
regulations were followed for allotment of the funds, and that in 1993 the amount of 
Tk.2,33,33,500/- was donated for the said Trust from the PM’s Orphanage Fund, and that the 
Amir of Kuwait sent the said amount in the name of former President late Ziaur Rahman for 
establishment of the said welfare Trust. PW-32 in his inquiry report did not recommend for 
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prosecution of Begum Zia. The amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/- was given to Zia Memorial Trust 
in Bagerhat which was established by Mustafizur Rahman and on the same day 
Tk.2,33,33,500/- was given to the Trust. Mustafizur Rahman was the settlor of Bagerhat Zia 
Memorial Trust and his wife, son Riajur Rahman were the trustees of said Trust and 
Mustafizur Rahman was not interrogated as he was dead. He interrogated Mustafizur 
Rahman’s wife and son but did not record their statements. He interrogated Begum Zia and 
Tareque Rahman during his investigation and recorded their statements but he did not submit 
the same before the court. On 16.06.2008 he sent a letter to the secretary, Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs for knowing the source of the alleged fund and they came to know that United Saudi 
Commercial Bank was not in operation. He did not mention in the letter, exhibit-21 that he 
required information wheather the Amir of Kuwait donated the said fund. He sent a letter to 
the director of the Ministry of Foreign Affiars, East Asia, as an emergency basis for knowing 
the information, exhibit-23. Sonali Bank Ltd. had its own foreign exchange department and 
gave information to the Bangladesh Bank regarding the remittance or foreign exchange. 
There was no statement from Mustafizur Rahman’s family regarding the source of the said 
funds and he did not interrogate them. On 14.08.2008 he interrogated Touhidur Rahman 
Khan, director of Chief Advisor’s Office, but the original record of the PM’s Orphanage fund 
could not trace out though he found cash register, counter foil of cheques etc. On 21.07.2008 
he sent a letter, exhibit-42 to the manager of the Sonali Bank Ltd., Ramna Corporate branch, 
but he did not give any reply and on 22.07.2008 he went to the said bank and seized some 
documents. He denied the defence suggestion that the documents or Photostat copies of PM’s 
Orphanage Fund which he collected were created and fabricated. He received sanction for 
submitting the charge sheet on 10.09.2008. In the seized record, material exhibit-III series, 
there was overwriting and nobody could not able to give him the information who did the 
said overwriting. The informations and documents regarding US $12,55,000 for the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund and the current account no.5416 of Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch 
were available to the material exhibit-III and exhibit-III(A) series records. Informations 
regarding the Prime Minister’s relief and welfare fund were also available to material exhibit-
XIII(A) series and according to the said record applications were presented properly in every 
year and the record shows that the Prime Minister approved those applications. Prime 
Minister’s relief funds, welfare funds and optional funds were not the issue of this case. PW-
31 denied the defence suggestion that material exhibit-III series and exhibit-III(A) series were 
created one. In material exhibit-III(B) and III(C) it was not mentioned who wrote on those 
and there was no signature thereon. In the said seized documents there was no signature of 
Begum Zia. Tareque Rahman informed him that the Amir of Kuwait donated the said fund 
for raising Zia orphanage fund and the said fund was managed by the former foreign minister 
Mustafizur Rahman. During investigation he could not able to interrogate PW-32 and 
Mominur Rahman. The amount of US $12,55,000 came from obverseas on 09.06.1991 in 
account no.5416 and during investigation on 22.07.2008 he seized account opening form and 
signature card of account no.5416. He denied the defence suggestion that said documents 
were fabricated one. During investigation he found that the said DD came from United Saudi 
Commercial Bank. But he could not able to find out who sent the DD. He requested to the 
Ministry of Foreign Affiars for collecting the name and information of the ‘drawer’ of the 
DD. The Bangladesh Embassy in Saudi Arabia could not able to provide the information 
about the said DD. He denied defence suggestion that the main record was not trached out 
because there was no record in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund. On 28.07.2008 he called 
Syed Jaglul Pasha (PW-14) in the Head Office of the Commission and he recorded his 
statement. PW-14 worked in the Prime Minister’s Office between 1992 and 1994. On 
17.06.2008 he met Md. Mostafa Kamal Mojumder (PW-19) who made statement under 
section 161 of the Code of Cirminal Procedure. PW-20 Towhidur Rahman informed him that 
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they could not trace out the original record of the PM’s Orphanage Fund. PW-20 sent two 
letters to him from the Prime Minister’s Office informing about the whereabout of the 
original record of the PM’s Orphanage fund, but he did not submit the said two letters. PW-
21 Abdul Barek Bhuiyan in his statement stated that he never saw the original records of the 
PM’s Orphanage Fund. PW-31 denied the defence suggestions that during the inquiry and 
investigation he got the evidence that the Amir of Kuwait sent the money through the alleged 
DD and intentionally he did not inform it to the Ministry of Foreign Affiars, and that the 
family members of Mustafizur Rahman informed him that the alleged DD was sent from the 
Amir of Kuwait but he did not take any step to find out any evidence to that effect. Prime 
Minister’s Office did not give any allegation to the Commission regarding the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund. After opening STD account no.7 dated 15.11.1993 by Tareque Rahman the 
amount of Tk.2,33,33,500/- was deposited in the said account  through clearing and on 
04.12.1993 Tk.4,00,000/- was withdrawn from the STD account no.7 and the said money was 
used for purchasing 2.79 acres of land in Darail Mouza, under Gabtoli Police Station, Bogura 
at a consideration of Tk.2,77,000/-. He denied the defence suggestion that the value of the 
said land was more than Tk.2,77,000/-. He seized the bank statements between the date of 
15.07.2008 and 15.07.2008. The said money was withdrawn in the name of the Trust and 
transaction was done through the bank. Between 13.04.2006 and 06.07.2006 Tk.3,30,00,000/- 
was transferred and cleared from the STD account no.7 through 5 instruments. On 
30.12.2006 Tk.4,63,143.24 was deposited in the STD  account no.7 as interest. The extract 
was seized from the Prime Bank Limited, Gulshan Branch, material exhibit-X-D, wherein it 
was mentioned that the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch authorized to open the said FDR and 
one M.S. Rahman was given power to operate two FDRs account of the Trust for 
Tk.50,00,000/- and Tk.80,00,000/-. The said Tk.50,00,000/- and Tk.80,00,000/- were used 
for opening the FDRs in the name of the Trust. It was mentioned in extract resolution dated 
15.10.2006 that the Prime Bank, Gulshan Branch authorized to encash FDR 
No.0050301/410302669 for Tk.1(one) crore, in the name of the Trust and after such 
encashment a new FDR was opened in the name of Salimul Haq. According to the resolution 
date 15.10.2006 FDR No.0073194/41022619 for Tk.1(one) crore was opened on 16.11.2006 
in the name of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmed. PW-31 denied the defence suggestions that 
accused Tareque Rahman informed him that Tk.4,00,000/- was withdrawn from the Trust 
fund and the same was spent for purchasing 2.79 acres of land in Bogra, and that Tareque 
Rahman also informed him that the said land had been using for the orphans. STD account 
no.7 with Sonali Bank, Gulshan, New North Circle Branch was in the name of the Trust. 
According to Paragraph 37 of page no.15 of the Trust deed, the Board of trustee may delegate 
such of its power and functions as it may deem proper to any persons, committees, sub-
committees or any other body(ies) with a view to efficient and proper management of any 
projects of the Trust and also to facilitate and ensure the aims and objects of the Trust. He 
denied the defence suggestions that the Trust was operating properly, and that according to 
the resolution dated 28.03.2006 and 15.10.2006 the Trust was operated by the persons who 
were involved with the Trust and that money was donated by the Amir of Kuwait and the 
PM’s Orphanage fund was not a Government fund.  

 
94. PW-31 on 04.06.2008 sent a notice to Sharfuddin to appear before the commission 

and accordingly he came to the head office of the Commission on 24.07.2008 and he 
interrogated him and recorded his statement. During investigation PW-31 came to know that 
Giasuddin Ahmed is his brother. Sharfuddin submitted money receipt dated 16.04.2007 
where he mentioned that down payments were made by him for purchasing the G-002 and G-
003 shops at Gulshan. According to the money receipt for Tk.3(three) crore was given by 
payment order and the payment order numbers were 071090, 0719091, 0719099, 0719100, 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD      Begum Khaleda Zia Vs. State & another      (M. Enaytur Rahman, J)   180 
 

 

0719136, 0719135 and all the payments were made to the City Twin Tower, a developer 
company. PW-31 submitted the documents which he received during the interrogation of 
Sharfuddin. PW-31 denied the defence suggestions that Sharfuddin received two FDRs 
amounting to Tk.2 crore from the Trust in order to sale his land at Ashulia in favour of the 
Trust, and that an agreement was signed between the Trust and him, and that eventually, he 
returned the advance money to the Trust pursuant to the Court’s decree.  

 
95. During inquiry PW-31 collected Photostat copies of 5 cheques of the STD account 

no.7 from the bank and found how the said cheques money was delt but he did not find out 
who signed on the said 5 cheques. During enquiry he seized the Zia Orphanage Trust deed 
and according to the deed of Trust, the Trust Board can manage or operate the said Trust 
fund. During inquiry he did not send any notice to Salimul Haque for taking his statement. He 
denied the defence suggestions that the Trust Fund was not misappropriated by Salimul 
Haque and he has been falsely implicated in the case. PW-31 denied the suggestions that the 
money was not enjoyed by accused Salimul Haque and did not commit any offence and that 
he did not investigate the case properly and submitted a perfunctory report. 

 
96. PW-32 Md. Noor Ahmed deposed that in 2008 while he was working in the 

Commission as an assistant director he was appointed as the inquiry officer for inquiring the 
allegation regarding the misappropriation of PM’s Orphanage Fund. On 29.04.2008 he started 
inquiry. During inquiry he collected photostat copies of the documents from the concerned 
banks and he interrogated the concerned persons and recorded their statements. Thereafter 
PW-31 was appointed as the inquiry officer and he handedover the inquiry related documents 
to him.  

 
97. In cross-examination PW-32 stated that on 28.04.2008 he started inquiry and he 

followed the Anti-Corruption Commission Regulation 2007 (Rule-7). In his inquiry report he 
mentioned that the Trust was a private Trust. During inquiry he interrogated Tareque 
Rahman, Arafat Rahman, Mominur Rahman and Begum Zia and recorded their statements. 
During inquiry he did not seize any document and he never went to Bagerhat or did not ask 
the trustees of Zia Memorial Trust or any other. Tareque Rahman mentioned in his statement 
that the Amir of Kuwait sent a fund in the name of Ziaur Rahman for establishing Trust. 
During his inquiry he did not communicate with Bangladesh Embassy in Kuwait directly or 
with the foreign ministry. He submitted the inquiry report to the Head Office of the 
Commission. He had no knowledge about the inquiry report submitted by PW-31. During his 
inquiry he did not examine the Prime Minister’s Office Rules of Business. He did not 
communicate with the former foreign minister Mustafizur Rahman for interrogation. He 
denied the defence suggestions that commission having failed to fulfill it’s desire appointed 
PW-31 again for further inquiry, and that the allegations which he made against Tareque 
Rahman in his inquiry report were baseless. PW-32 mentioned in his report that on 
15.02.2007 Giasuddin Ahmed encashed the FDRs and issued 6 payment orders in his name 
which he found from the record of the Prime Bank, New Eskaton Branch. He also mentioned 
that Giasuddin requested to deposit the money through payment orders to his brother 
Sharfuddin Ahmed’s current account no.11013134. On 28.03.2007 the said 6 payment orders 
amounting to Tk.2,10,71,683.80/- was deposited in the said account. He denied the defence 
suggestions that Sharfuddin received his notice and informed him that he was received 
Tk.2,10,71,683.80/- for the purpose of selling his land to the Trust, and he did not make any 
allegation against Sharfuddin for misappropriation of said money, and that persuent to a 
compromise decree passed in Money Suit no.01 of 2012 by the learned Joint District Judge, 
Court No.3, Dhaka he returned Taka 2,25,00,000/- to the Trust fund maintained with Uttara 
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Bank Ltd, Gulshan Branch through 13 payment orders in between 11.02.2013 and 
13.08.2013. 

 

98. Evidence adduced by the Defence: 

Accused Sharfuddin examined himself as DW-1. In his examination-in-chief he stated 
that he was involved in the business of vehicles, CNG filling stations and also land and 
housing. On 16.11.2006 he entered into a ‘memorandum of agreement’ with the Trust for 
selling 74½ decimals of land under Mouza Ashulia at a consideration of Tk.2 crore and 
25 lac. One Enamul Haque being the representative of the Trust was the second party of 
the agreement. He received two FDRs, each of Tk.1 crore and on the following day the 
said FDRs were encashed and he opened two separate FDRs in the name of Salimul 
Haque and Sayed Ahmed (son of the DW-1). Eventually, he encashed the said FDRs and 
opened a new FDR in the name of his elder brother Giasuddin. Thereafter, he encashed 
the said FDR and through 6 payment orders along with his other funds he made payment 
to United Twin Towers Development for purchasing two shops. After 2007 due to the 
preveling situation of the country he could not able to transfer the land infavour of the 
Trust. However, in 2012 he received a notice from the Court of Joint Distinct Judge, 
Court No.3, Dhaka in connection with Money Suit No.1 of 2012 filed on behalf of the 
Trust. Eventually, the said suit was decreed on 12.02.2013 on compromise as they field a 
‘solenama’ in the court to that effect. According to the terms of the ‘solenama’ he 
returned Tk.2,10,71,600/- through 13 payment orders in the account of the Trust at Uttara 
Bank, Gulshan Branch. He submitted the memorandum of agreement dated 16.11.2006, 
the plaint and decree of Money Suit no.1 of 2012 before the court and the copy of the 
payment orders, exhibit-Ka and Kha series, respectively. He further deposed that he did 
not do any illegal transaction with the Trust. 
  
99. In-cross examination DW-1 stated that he knew about the Trust. He, Salimul Haque 

and Giasuddin were not involved with the Trust. He opened FDR in the name of Giasuddin. 
He denied the suggestions put by the prosecution that he talked with Begum Zia, Kamal 
Siddique, Tareque Rahman and Arafat Rahman regarding the sale of the land. He had no 
knowledge whether FDR for Tk.1 crore, the Trust money, was opened in the name of 
Giasuddin. Another FDR for Tk.1 crore was in the joint name of Salimul Haque and Sayed 
Ahmed. None of the accused contacted him for purchasing the land in favour of the Trust. 
The address of the Trust was 6, Shaheed Moinul Road, Dhaka. The consideration of proposed 
land for sale was Tk.2,10,71,000/-. No stamp paper was used for executing the memorandum 
of agreement, exhibit-Ka and he did not submit any document whether Enamul Haque was 
given authority to execute the said document as the representative of the Trust. He denied the 
suggestions of the prosecution that exhibit-Ka was a created document. He received money 
from the Trust which was in two FDRs, one FDR was in the name of Trust and another was 
in the name of Salimul Haque. None of the accused signed on the FDR on behalf of the Trust. 
He encashed the said FDR in the Prime Bank, New Eskaton Branch, Dhaka. Sayed Ahmed is 
his son and he had no connection with the Trust. A FDR was opened jointly in the name of 
Salimul Haque, his one of the friends and his son Sayed Ahmed. He denied the prosecution 
suggestion that he illegally received the money of the Trust. Exhibit-Ka was not submitted 
before the concerned Court (Joint District Judge, Court No.3, Dhaka). 

  
100. DW-2 Md. Shajahan Siraj, a tax consultant of accused Sharfuddin, deposed that the 

TIN number of accused Sharfuddin was 147-105-9943. He filed the certified copy of income 
tax return of Sharfuddin for the year 2006-2007, exhibit-Gha series. In the said return the 
statement of 6 FDRs were mentioned and one of the FDR was in the name of Salimul Haque 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD      Begum Khaleda Zia Vs. State & another      (M. Enaytur Rahman, J)   182 
 

 

and Sayed Ahemd. He further deposed that he acted as per instructions of Sharfuddin. One 
FDR was in the name of QS Haque and Sayed Ahmed. QS Haque is not Sharfuddin but 
interest was deposited in the account of Sharfuddin. He did not file any documents regarding 
the ownerships of the land situated at Ashulia and how Sharfuddin became the owner of the 
said land. He had no knowledge of source of money of the FDR in the name of QS Haque 
and Sayed Ahmed. In the certificate issued by the Prime Bank, Eskaton Branch it was 
mentioned that ‘Mr. QS Haque and Mr. Sayed Ahmed, 712 Boro Mogbazar, Shantinagar, 
Ramna, Dhaka Bangladesh have been maintaining  the following FDR account with us and 
they received interest and paid tax’. In the said certificate it was also stated that ‘the full 
proceedings of the above FDR including interest transferred to account No.11013134 
favoring Sharfuddin Ahmed as on 28.03.2007’. In the said certificate the relationship 
between QS Haque and Sayed Ahmed was not mentioned. He had no knowledge how the 
interest of the said FDR was transferred to the account of Sharfuddin. He was the tax 
consultant of the accused since 2010-2011 and he did not prepare the income tax return for 
the year of 2006-2007. In the return for the year of 2006-2007 the descriptions of the land at 
Ashulia in the name of Sharfuddin had not been mentioned. He admitted that he worked as 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and ITP of GQ ball pen at a remuneration of Tk.70,000/- per 
month. Salimul Haque was one of the share holders of said GQ ball pen and he was an 
employee under him and Salimul Haque was present before the Court. He did not file any 
document regarding the ‘advance against property sale Ashulia less advance refund drawing 
the period’ in the return form for the year of 2013-2014. He had no knowledge whether on 
16.11.2006 Sharfuddin executed any agreement for selling land and how Tk.2,10,71,643.80/- 
was deposited in account no.11013134, Prime Bank New Eskaton Branch and whether 
Sharfuddin misappropriated the said money. In the return form for the year 2013-2014 it was 
not mentioned that Sharfuddin returned Tk.2 crore and 25 lac through 13 payment orders to 
the Trust. In the return form nothing was mentioned about 74½ decimals of land of Ashulia 
mouza. He denied the defence suggestion that he made false statements before the court in 
order to save his employer Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin. 

  
101. DW-3 Taherul Islam Touhid an advocate practing in Dhaka District Court deposed 

that he was one of the lawyers of Money Suit no.1 of 2012 filed on behalf of the Trust. On 
behalf of the Trust Enamul Haque impleading Sharfuddin filed the said suit for realization of 
money. A memorundam of agreement was executed between the Trust and Sharfuddin for 
purchasing 74½ decimals of land infavour of the Trust at a consideration of Tk.3 crore and 25 
lac. On the date of execution of the agreement two payment orders were given to Sharfuddin. 
The said suit was decreed on compromise on 12.02.2013 and the terms of the compromise 
was that Sharfuddin would pay Tk.2 crore and 25 lac to the Trust in eight installments. DW-3 
as an advocate signed on the ‘solenama’ and on behalf of the Trust Enamul Haque and 
defendant Sharfuddin deposed before the Court. 

  
102. In cross-examination DW-3 stated that he was the lawyer for the Trust and Mr. A.M. 

Mahbub Uddin was also a lawyer for the Trust. Mahbub Uddin did not sign on the 
‘solenama’. The defendant’s lawyer D. Dulal Mridha did not also sign on the ‘solenama’. He 
had no knowledge whether Begum Zia and the trustees transferred the Trust fund to various 
persons. Since the proposed land for sale was not given registration, the suit was filed. The 
agreement was unregistered one and the same was not file in the Money Suit. He had no 
knowledge whether Begum Zia in order to misappropriate the said money transferred the 
same from Trust fund to various persons. He could not say who gave letter of authorization to 
conduct the money suit on behalf of the Trust. Sharfuddin got money through FDRs. In the 
plaint address of Enamul Haque was mentioned as 6, Moinul Road and his present and 
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permanent address were not mentioned. In the plaint it was not written that the Board of 
Trustee authorized Enamul Haque to file the suit. He refused to say anything with regard to 
the PM’s Orphanage Fund and money transferred from the said fund to Trust fund on 
13.11.1993. He had no knowledge about the purchase of land at Bogra in the name of the 
Trust and encashment of two FDRs in the name of Giasuddin and thereafter the money was 
transferred to Sharfuddin’s account by 6 payment orders. In the plaint it was not mentioned 
from whom Enamul Haque received the money to pay the same to Sharfuddin. In the 
‘memorandum of agreement’ no trustee was signed as a witness and none of the trustee 
authenticated the said agreement. Advocate Sanaullah Mia signed on the agreement as a 
witness but he did not use his professional designation. He denied the defence suggestions 
that he being a leader of Bangladesh Nationalist Party(BNP) made false statement to save the 
accused persons.  

  
103. DW-4 Shajahan Kabir assistant secretary of FCA Prime Bank Ltd. Dhaka deposed 

that on behalf of the Company on 15.06.2016 a certificate was issued mentioning that Kazi 
Salimul Haque was the Chairman of the Company in between 1 June, 2005 and 31 May, 
2006. He proved the said certificate as exhibit-chha. Online Banking service is available in 
their bank. 

  
104. In cross-examination DW-4 stated that he deposed before the Court to prove the 

issuance of certificate, exhibit-Chha. 
 
105. In the light of the above evidence, let us now consider the rival submissions 

advanced by the learned Advocates for the respective parties. 
  
106. Whether Convict Begum Zia being the Prime Minister of the Republic was a 

public servant at the relevant time- 

The learned Advocates for convict Begum Zia have strenuously argued that the office of 
the Prime Minister being the head of executive branch of the Republic is a constitutional 
office and not removable from the office otherwise than in accordance with the modes 
prescribed by the constitution and thus Prime Minister does not come within the 
definition and preview of ‘Public servant’ as defined in section 21 of the Penal Code and 
section 2(b) of the Criminal Law Amendment Act,1958 or ‘public officer’ as defined in 
Article 152 of the constitution of the Peoples Republic of Bangladesh and as such trial of 
Begum Zia as a public servant before the Special Court constituted under Criminal Law 
Amendment Act, 1958 is illegal and without jurisdiction. The learned Advocates have 
further submitted that clause ‘Twelfth’ was added in section 21 of the Penal Code by 
Ordinance No.X of 1982 during martial law regime where in every person in the service 
or pay of the Government or remunerated by the Government by fees or commissions for 
the performance of any public duty has been defined as ‘public servant’. However, said 
inserted clause ‘Twelfth’ has no existence after the judgment passed by this Court in the 
case of Siddique Ahmed Vs Bangladesh which is popularly known as 7th amendment 
case. 
 
107. We have carefully examined the above submissions of the learned Advocates for 

Begum Zia. 
 
108. Having regard to the fact that pursuant to judgment passed by the Appellate Division 

in Civil Appeal No.48 of 2011,[Siddique Ahmed Vs Bangladesh, reported in 65 DLR 

(AD), page-8] section 3 of the Constitution (Seventh Amendment) Act, 1986 including 
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adding paragraph 19 in the fourth schedule sought to ratify and confirm various 
proclamations, proclamation orders, CMLA’s orders, Martial Law Regulations order, 
Ordinances etc. made time to time since 24 March,1982 till 11 November,1996 have been 
declared ultra virus the constitution, void and non-est. And consequently the Ordinances and 
Rule, sub-rule and order passed under those Ordinances had lost its force automatically. But 
for the public interest and to avoid legal vacuum a new law, namely ‘1982 mv‡ji 24 gvP© nB‡Z 
1986 mv‡ji 11 b‡f¤^i ZvwiL ch©šÍ mg‡qi g‡a¨ RvixK…Z KwZcq Aa¨v‡`k Kvh©Ki Kib we‡kl weavb AvBb, 2013’ 
has been promulgated by the parliament and the Ordinances as mentioned in the schedule of 
the said Ain and the Ordinances by which amendments were made in various laws have been 
given effect. Section 4 of the above Ain runs as follows: 

Ò4| 1982 mv‡ji 24 gvP© nB‡Z 1986 mv‡ji 11 b‡f¤̂i ZvwiL ch©šÍ (Dfq w`bmn) mg‡qi g‡a¨ RvixK…Z- 
(K) Zdwmjfz³ Aa¨v‡`kmg~n, Ges 
(L) Ab¨vb¨ Aa¨v‡`kmg~n Øviv cÖPwjZ †Kvb AvBb, Av‡`k ev Aa¨v‡`k ms‡kvab Kiv nBqv _vwK‡j D³ 
ms‡kvabx Aa¨v‡`kmg~n (amending Ordinances), 

Ggbfv‡e Kvh©Ki _vwK‡e †hb Dnv GB AvB‡bi 1982 mv‡ji 24 gvP© nB‡Z 1986 mv‡ji 11 b‡f¤î ZvwiL 
ch©šÍ mg‡qi g‡a¨ RvixK…Z KwZcq Aa¨v‡`k Kvh©Ki Kiv nB‡jI hZUzKz Dnv‡`i welqe¯‘i (contents) 

mwnZ mswkøó ïaygvÎ ZZUzKz MÖnY Kiv nBqv‡Q g‡g© MY¨ nB‡e Ges D³ mgqKv‡j A‰ea I AmvsweavwbKfv‡e 
ivóªÿgZvq Avmxb mvgwiK kvmb Avg‡ji K…ZK‡g©i Aby‡gv`b I mg_©b (confirmation and 
ratification) Kiv nBqv‡Q ewjqv †Kvbµ‡gB we‡ewPZ nB‡e bv|Ó [underlines supplied] 

 
109. It is true that in the schedule of the above law the Ordinance No.X of 1982 has not 

been listed. However, on careful reading of section 4(Kha) of the above law, it reveals that 
said section has made applicable in the cases of amending Ordinances. Ordinance No.X of 
1982 was promulgated for amending Penal Code i.e. it was an amending Ordinance. 

 
110. In view of the provision of section 4(Kha) of the above Ain the provision of clause 

‘Twelfth’ of section 21 of the Penal Code still exists in the law book, which is evident in 
Bare Act.  

 
111. It is pertinent to quote clause ‘Twelfth’ of section 21 of the Penal Code, which runs 

as follows: 
[“Twelth’- every person- (a) in the service or pay of the Government or remunerated 
by the Government by fees or commissions for the performance of any public duty; 
(b) in the service or pay of a local authority or of a corporation, body or authority 
established by or under any law or of a firm or company in which any part of the 
interest or share capital is held by, or vested in, the Government.] 

112. Explanation 1-Persons falling under any of the above descriptions are public 
servants, whether appointed by the Government or not. 

 
113. Explanation 2-Wherever the words “public servant” occur, they shall be understood 

of every person who is in actual possession of the situation of a public servant, whatever legal 
defect there may be in his right to hold that situation. 

 
114. [Explanation 3-The word “election” denotes an election for the purpose of selecting 

members of any legislative, municipal or other public authority, of whatever character, the 
method of selection to which is by, or under any law prescribed as by election.] 

 
115. Article 56(1) of the constitution of the Peoples Republic of Bangladesh speaks that 

there shall be a Prime Minister, and such other Ministers, Ministers of State and Deputy 
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Ministers as may be determined by the Prime Minister. Article 56(2) speaks about the 
appointment of Prime Minister and other Ministers, Ministers of State and Deputy Ministers 
by the President. Article 56(3) also speaks that President shall appoint as Prime Minister the 
member of Parliament who appears to him to command the support of the majority of the 
members of Parliament. That means there is no scope to be a Prime Minister unless he/she is 
elected as a Member of Parliament. 

 
116. However, as per Article 55 of the constitution Prime Minister is the head of the 

cabinet for Bangladesh and the executive power of the Republic shall be exercised by or on 
the authority of the Prime Minister. 

 
117. In the case of Anti Corruption Commission Vs. Md. Shaheedul Islam along with 

two other cases, reported in 68 DLR(AD) page-242 our Appellate Division upon detail 
discussions has held that:  

“we are, therefore, of the view that a member of Parliament holds an office and by 
virtue of such office he is required or authorized to carry out duties and such duties in 
the public nature of public duties. 

 
118. In the case of Nasiruddin Ahmed Pintu VS State, reported in 63 DLR, page-214 

High Court Division held that a Member of Parliament (MP) is a public servant within the 
preview of clause ‘Twelfth’ of section 21 of the Penal Code.  

 
119. Besides, the High Court Division in Criminal Miscellaneous case No.21979 of 

2009, which had arisen upon an application under section 561A of the Code of Criminal 
Procedure preferred by Begum Zia has observed that: 

“as a public servant, the accused petitioner was entrusted with the orphanage fund and 
if she is found to have helped others to use any amount given from the fund in 
violation of prescribed mode in which trust is to be discharged, offence under sections 
409/109 of the Penal Code may also come up for consideration. [(underline supplied); 
reference 64 DLR, page-1]. 

 
120. The Appellate Division in Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal No.134 of 2012 

affirmed the above judgment passed by the High Court Division. 
 
121. In the cases of Abdul Mansur Ahmed Vs. State, reported in PLD 1961 (Dhaka) 

733 = 13 DLR 353 and Sheik Mojibur Rahman Vs. State 15 DLR, Page-549 it has been 
held that ‘a Minister is a public servent’. In above cases 9th Clause of section 21 was 
considered and it has also been held that:  

‘No person could be a more public person than a Minister in the sense that his duties 
are with the public and he is the people’s man in the Government of the Country.’ 

 
122. In view of the above consideration and discussion, we have no hesitation to hold that 

the Prime Minister who is also a Member of Parliament being remunerated/paid by the 
Government for the performance of his/her public duty definitely come within the 
mischief/ambit of clause ‘Twelfth’ of section 21 of the Penal Code as public servent.  

 
123. Thus, the submission of the learned Advocates for Begum Zia that she being the 

Prime Minister of the Republic at the relevant time was not a public servant and thus, the trial 
is illegal and without jurisdiction and conviction and sentence under section 409 of the Penal 
Code is absolutely misconceived, appears to be baseless and has no leg to stand. 
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124. Whether convict Begum Khaleda Zia had any manner of entrustment, 

dominion or control over PM’s Orphanage Fund being account no.5416 maintained 

with the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch and wheather the same was a private 

fund, not public fund-  

To decide the above issue it is necessary to peruse section 405 of the Penal Code 
wherein ‘Criminal breach of Trust’ has been defined. Section 405 of the Penal Code 

runs as follows: 

405. Criminal breach of trust- Whoever, being in any manner entrusted with 
property, or with any dominion over property, dishonestly misappropriates or converts 
to his own use that property, or dishonestly uses or disposes of that property in 
violation of any direction of law prescribing the mode in which such trust is to be 
discharged, or of any legal contract, express or implied, which he has made touching 
the discharge of such trust, or willfully suffers any other person so to do, commits 
“criminal breach of trust”. 

 
125. The first element of section 405 of the Penal Code is to be “in any manner 

entrusted with property, or dominion over property”. The words ‘in any manner’ in the 
context are significant. The expression ‘entrusted’ in section 405 is used in a widesense and 
includes all cases in which property is voluntarily handed over for specific purpose. The 
entrustment may arise in any manner, whatsoever. That manner may or may not involve 
fraudulent conduct of the accused. As long as the accused is given possession of property for 
a specific purpose or to deal with it in a particular manner, the ownership being in some 
person other than the accused, he can be said to be entrusted with that property to be applied 
in accordance with the terms of entrustment. 

 
126. Keeping in mind the above proposition let us decide the issue of entrustment and 

dominion regarding PM’s Orphanage Fund with reference to the evidence on record. 
 
127. PW-1 who also examined as PW-31, the informant as well as the investigating 

officer of the case deposed that while Begum Zia was the Prime Minister of the country 
between 1991 and 1996 a current account being no.5416 was opened with Sonali Bank, 
Ramna Corporate Branch in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund and thereafter, on 09.06.1991 
a DD amounting to US $12,55,000 (BDT 4,44,81,216/-) issued by United Saudi Commercial 
Bank was deposited in the said account. Kamal Siddique being the secretary of Prime 
Minister had signed on the said account opening form and signature card, material exhibit-XI 
series. The said documents were seized by PW-31 vide seizure list exhibit-9. PW-12 and PW-
13, the concerned bank officials, proved the said seizure list and their respective signatures 
thereon, exhibit-9/1 and 9/2. PW-12, PW-13 and PW-31 denied the defence suggestions that 
the holder of the said account was the Trust, not PM’s Orphanage Fund, and the Amir of 
Kuwait donated the money vide the DD deposited in the said account for the Trust. It is true 
that in the account opening form and signature card there was no signature of Begum Zia. But 
after perusal and consideration of the attached documents at serial no.6(3) of material exhibit-
XII(A) and serial No.6(3) of material exhibit-XII(B) it transpires that two summaries 
regarding i) ÒcÖavbgš¿xi Îvb Znwej bvgKib, e¨envi I cwiPvjbv ’and ii) gvbbxq cÖavbgš¿xi ‡¯̂”Qvaxb Znwej 
(discretion fund) cwiPvjbv I e¨e ’̄vcbv cÖms‡MÓ were placed by Kamal Siddique before Prime 
Minister Begum Zia and she approved the said summaries on 19.11.1991 and 24.11.1991 
respectively and Kamal Siddique being the secretary of Prime Minister was 
authorized/assigned to deal with PM’s relief and welfare fund as well as discretionary funds. 
This factual aspects validly and legally lead us to presume that Kamal Siddique as the 
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secretary of Prime Minister Begum Zia with due approval and instruction of the later opened 
the current account no.5418 in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund, signed on the account 
opening form, signature card and eventually transferred the money to Zia Orphanage Trust 
and Zia Memorial Trust by issuing two separate cheques. 

 
128. PW-14, in between 1992 and 1994, worked in Prime Minister’s office as the 

personal secretary of Prime Minister’s secretary Kamal Siddique. PW-14 categorically and 
consistently deposed that Kamal Siddique being the secretary of Prime Minister Begum Zia 
supervised and dealt with various funds of the Prime Minister’s office. In year 1993 PW-14 
came to know about the PM’s Orphanage Fund while he was updating various funds of Prime 
Minister’s office and he was acquainted with the said fund as well as the original and 
additional file for the same. PW-14 also identified material exhibit-III series and III(A) series 
produced before the court, seized from the Prime Minister’s office,(at the time of seizing the 
above documents said office was used as the office of Chief Advisor of the Care Taker 
Government) vide exhibit-7, which are the documents relating to PM’s orphanage fund. In 
cross-examination PW-14 asserted that during his working period he dealt with the PM’s 
orphanage fund. PW-9 who was working as an accountant in Prime Minister’s office at the 
relevant time produced the documents, material exhibits-III, III(A), III(B) and III(C) i.e. two 
additional files and two registers before PW-31 as required by him on 16.07.2008. PW-31 
seized the said documents and prepared a seizure list, exhibit-7. PW-9 proved the seizure list 
and his signature thereon, exhibit-7/1 and he also identify material exhibits-III series. PW-9 
denied the defence suggestion that material exhibits-III and III(A) were created files. PW-10 
and PW-11 also proved the seizure list, exhibit-7 and their respective signatures thereon, 
exhibit-7/2 and 7/3 respectively. They also deposed that in their presence PW-31 seized the 
documents on 16.07.2008 as presented by PW-9. PW-19 deposed that between June 1992 and 
31 January 1993 he worked in Prime Minister’s office as an accountant and under the 
supervision and instructions of PW-14 he dealt with various funds files of Prime Minister 
including PM’s orphanage fund. PW-14 handed over relevant bank documents of PM’s 
orphanage fund to him in order to make entry in cash register and accordingly he (PW-19) 
made entry of the same in cash register, material exhibit-III(B). PW-19 categorically testified 
that the writings of page nos.1, 2, 3 and 9 of the said register were his own handwriting. 
When he left the Prime Minister’s Office he handed over the registers to PW-21, who joined 
in his post. In cross-examination PW-19 asserted that his writings were also available in 
material exhibits-III(B) and III(C). He further stated to the effect-Òe ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(C) K¨vk 
†iwRóªv‡ii Kfv‡i gvbbxq cÖavbgš¿xi GwZg Znwej †jLv¸wj Avwg wb‡R wj‡LwQ|. . . . . . | e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(B) K¨vk 
†iwRóªv‡ii wfZ‡ii KvV †cwÝ‡j †jLv GwZg Znwe‡j †h UvKv Avwm‡e Dnv Znwej b¤^i 5416 Rgv n‡e †jLvwU Ave`yi 
ev‡iK f~Bqvi nv‡Zi †jLv| e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(B) †iwRóªv‡ii K‡qKwU c„ôvq Avgvi †jLv Av‡Q Ges K‡qKwU c„ôvq Ave`yj 
ev‡iK f~Bqvi †jLv|  

e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(C)‡iwRóªv‡ii me cvZvq Avgvi wb‡Ri| e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(B) ‡iwRóªvi I e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx III(C) 
†iwRóªv‡i †mvbvjx e¨vs‡Ki 1wU wnmve hv cÖavbgš¿xi GwZg Znwe‡ji wnmve b¤^i 5416 msµvšÍ Ges III(C) FDR 
msµvšÍ|Ó [underlines supplied] 

 
129. PW-19 in his cross-examination stated that he updated above material exhibit-III 

after 9/10 months of his leaving from Prime Minister’s Office. He was called by PW-14 to do 
so and accordingly he updated the entry. PW-19 stated to the effect: 

Ò. . . . . Ges AwWU nIqvi Kvi‡Y Avgv‡K wb‡q AwWU dvBwÛsm Gi Kvi‡b Avc‡WU Gw›Uª †`qvi Rb¨ Avgv‡K †W‡K 
wb‡j Avwg Gw›Uª wjwL| K¤úUªjvi GÛ AwWUi †Rbv‡i‡ji wUg AwWU KivKv‡j Avgv‡K Wv‡Kwb Z‡e AwWU dvBwÛsm Gi 
Kvi‡b KZ…©cÿ Avgv‡K †W‡K wb‡q Gw›Uª¸wj Avc‡WU Kwi‡q †bq|Ó 
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130. Those assertions of PW-19 appears to be bonafide and genuine. In the Government 
offices of our country this kind of practices are not unusal and uncommon. Moreso, if we 
consider the time of updating the files by PW-19 (in the year 1994) and initiation of the 
present case (in the year 2007) then there is no room to hold that for the purpose of the 
present case those documents were created as argued by the defence. PW-20, who worked as 
one of the directors in the office of the then Chief Advisor of the Care Taker Government, 
deposed that they could not provide the original record/file regarding the PM’s orphanage 
fund to the investigating officer as the same was found missing. However, an additional file 
regarding the PM’s Orphanage fund was opened as per instruction of the Prime Minister’s 
secretary and he informed about the said additional file to PW-31 and eventually, the same 
was handedover to PW-31, material exhibit-III series. PW-20 identified the said material 
exhibit-III before the court. 

 
131. In cross-examination PW-20 asserted that ÔAwZwi³ bw_ ‡Lvjvi wel‡q Avwg m¤ú„³ wQjvg bv Z‡e 

Luy‡R cvIqv wM‡q‡Q|Õ 
 
132. PW-21 deposed that in the year 1993-1994 he worked as an accountant in Prime 

Minister’s office and dealt with various funds of the Prime Minister including PM’s 
orphanage fund. Prior to him PW-19 worked in his place and he handed over two additional 
files and two registers to him at the time of his transfer. The hand writings of PW-21 were 
available thereon. He wrote on the file cover of material exhibit-III and III(A) series. The 
hand writing of PW-19 were also available in material exhibit-III(B) and III(C). In 1994 PW-
21 handed over those files and registers to PW-9 when he transferred from the said office. 

 
133. It is true that there is an overwriting in the file (Nathi) number of material exhibit-III. 

But said fact has been mentioned in the seizure list, exhibit-7 by the investigating officer, 
which shows the bonafide intention of the investigating officer and he (PW-31) did not 
suppress the said fact.  

 
134. We have carefully examined the said file, material exhibit-III series and the 

documents attached to the file. In the said file we have found:  
i) a Photostat copy of the DD bearing no.153367970 dated 09.06.1991 amounting to 
US Dollar one Million Two hundred and Fifty Five thousand only issued by the 
United Saudi Commercial Bank infavour of PM’s Orphanage Fund. Current A/C 
No.5416 of Sonali Bank, Ramna, Branch, Dhaka, Bangladesh; 
ii) Photostat copy of a credit voucher dated 17.06.1991 in respect of Taka 
4,44,81,216/- issued by Sonali Bank, Foreign Exchange Department, Ramna, Dhaka 
wherein it was mentioned- 
“Being the amount of Foreign cheque/DD No.153367970 dated 09.06.1991 for US 
$12,55,000 of United Saudi Commercial Bank FVG Prime Minister’s Orphanage 
Fund Received from Prime Minister’s Sectt. as donation now purchased @35,44,32”; 
(iii) original copy of deposit slips and  
(iv) a original copy of bank statement of current account no.5416 dated 01.01.1993. 

  
135. After encashment of the DD the said money was made FDR and the attached 

documents to the material exhibit-III(A) are the deposit slips (original copy) and a copy of 
the statement of accounts till 15.11.1993. Thus, there is no room to hold that those bank 
documents have been created for the purpose of the present case long after about 17 years. 
The overwriting on degit ‘24’ only of the cover page file number, material exhibit-III and 
some mere discrepencies in the handwritings in the register, material exhibit-III(B) no way 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD      Begum Khaleda Zia Vs. State & another      (M. Enaytur Rahman, J)   189 
 

 

create any doubt about the veracity of the prosecution case and the attached documents 
thereto. Moreso, the transactions made in account no.5416 are undisputed. 

  
136. It was further argued by the learned Advocates for Begum Zia that the alleged DD 

was sent by the Amir of Kuwait for the Trust in Private chanel/capacity, not for any public 
fund like PM’s Orphanage fund. 

  
137. Having regard to the fact that the PM’s Orphanage Fund being current account 

no.5416 was opened on 02.06.1991 and the alleged DD was deposited in the said account on 
09.06.1991 and money was credited in the said account on 17.06.1991. Admittedly at the 
relevant time there was no existence of the Trust. The Trust deed was registered on 
05.09.1993 i.e. about one and half year after opening of the PM’s Orphanage Fund. In the DD 
it was clearly mentioned that it was issued in favour of PM’s Orphanage Fund, which was a 
public fund. 

 
138. Upon consideration of unimpeachable, trustworthy and corroborative evidences of 

PW-9, PW-10, PW-11, PW-14, PW-19, PW-20 and PW-21 coupled with the material 
exhibits-III, III(A), III(B) and III(C) we have no other option but to hold that the prosecution 
has successfully proved that PM’s orphanage fund being no.5416 was a public fund and that 
was controlled and supervised by the office of Prime Minister as per instructions and 
approval of the Prime Minister Begum Zia through her secretary, Kamal Siddique and thus, 
entrustment and dominion of Prime Minister Begum Zia over the said fund is also well 
founded.  

 
139. The case at hand bids a two-pronged question. First; who was the money given to, 

the PM’s Orphanage Fund or the individual who was the Prime Minister at the relevant time? 
If the answer is that the money was given to the individual, then it leads to a second 
question:- why was the individual paid into an account titled the “PM’s Orphanage Fund”? A 
question would then arise as to why the individual was soliciting funds for their personal use 
by using the office they were holding. However, if the answer to the first question is that the 
money was given to the PM’s Orphanage Fund; then the second question would be who 
empowered the individual with the authority to use the money from the PM’s Orphanage 
Fund for their personal use? It is considered that any money paid into a public office is 
deemed to be held in trust by the office for the use of the public. This would mean that the 
fund available under the PM’s Orphanage Fund is to be used by the Prime Minister’s Office 
for public use, which in this particular case would be for well being of the orphans. However, 
under no circumstances the money paid into the PM’s Orphanage Fund could ever be used 
for anyone’s personal use. 

 
140. It is pertinent to be mentioned here that Kamal Siddique was a high ranking 

government official at the relevant time and under no stretch of imagination it can be 
presumed that Kamal Siddique opened the account in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund and 
eventually dealt with the fund without any approval and instruction from the Prime Minister 
Begum Zia. No prudent man can believe such an absurd proposition that Kamal Siddique 
himself opened the above bank account in his personal initiative and capacity. Another 
question is why Kamal Siddique opened the account in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund in 
order to deposit a foreign DD which was donated for the Trust as urged by the learned 
Advocates for Begum Zia. 
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141. It is also pertinent to be discussed here that on behalf of Begum Zia an application 
under section 57(6) of the Evidence Act was filed before the trial court for taking judicial 
notice to the Noterial Certificate and Photostat copy of a letter dated 11.08.2015 allegedly 
issued by Embassy of the State of Kuwait. The content of the above certificate runs as 
follows: 

“Embassy of the State of Kwauit, Dhaka. 
Date: 11th of August 2015 
Mr. Mohammad Ali 
Former Attorney General  
Bangladesh Nationalist Party (BNP), Dhaka. 
Dear Mr. Ali, 
 
142. This is the convey to you the clarification issued by the Government of the State of 

Kuwait on the donation to Zia Orphanage Trust by his Highness the Amir of the State of 
Kuwait. As per the clarification, the donation was given to Zia Orphanage Trust and not for 
any individual or any other purpose. The Embassy would further like to request all concerned 
not to use this clarification for any political purpose. 

Thanking you. 
Sincerely Yours, 
(Signature) 
Embassy of the State of Kuwait“ 

  
143. The learned Special Judge having considered the above letter has observed that: 

“Bnv †evaMg¨ bq Avmvgx †eMg Lv‡j`v wRqvi c‡ÿ Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwm †_‡K cÖ`Ë mvwU©wd‡K‡Ui d‡UvKwc †Kb 
`vwLj Kiv n‡jv? Dnvi g~j Kwc †Kv_vq? GKUv d‡UvKwc wKfv‡e Judicial Notice G †`Iqv hvq? Z_vwc 
D³ d‡UvKwc cÖgv‡Yi Rb¨ Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwm †_‡K †Kvb Kg©KZ©v‡K mvdvB mvÿx wnmv‡e G‡b D³ mvwU©wd‡KU 
cÖgvY Kivi †Kvb †Póv Avmvgx †eMg Lv‡j`v wRqvi c‡ÿ Kiv nq wb| D³ c‡Î cÎ †cÖi‡Ki †Kvb bvg Ges 
c`ex e¨envi Kiv nq bvB| cÎwU‡Z Kz‡qZ A¨v¤^vwmi †Kvb ¯§viK bs D‡jøL Kiv nq wb| 11/08/2015 Zvwi‡L 
Bmy¨K…Z H mvwU©wd‡KU G ejv n‡q‡Q †h, wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ó‡K Kz‡qZ miKvi Aby`vb w`‡q‡Q| H c‡Î Bnv 
D‡jøL Kiv nq bvB †h, 12,55,000 gvwK©b Wjvi wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó‡K cÖ`vb Kiv n‡q‡Q| D³ UvKv Aby`vb 
wnmv‡e †`qv n‡q‡Q ZvI H c‡Î D‡jøL Kiv nq wb| Avmvgx c‡ÿ wb‡qvwRZ weÁ †KŠïjxM‡Yi e³e¨ Abymv‡i 
mv‡eK ciivóª gš¿x G. Gm. Gg. †gv Í̄vwdRyi ingvb 12,55,000 gvwK©b Wjvi Aby`vb wnmv‡e Kz‡qZ miKv‡ii 
wbKU †_‡K cÖvß nb Ges Dnv cieZ©x‡Z W. Kvgvj DwÏb wmwÏKx wRqv ‡g‡gvwiqvj Aidv‡bR Uªvó Ges wRqv 
Aidv‡bR Uªv‡óª cª`vb K‡ib| wKš‘ Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwm D³ cÎ ch©v‡jvPbvq jÿ¨ Kiv nq †h, H c‡Î 12,55,000 
gvwK©b Wjvi mv‡eK ciivóª gš¿x G.Gm.Gg. †gv Í̄vwdRyi ingvb G‡bwQ‡jb Ges Dnv mv‡eK †cÖwm‡W›U wRqvDi 
ingv‡bi bv‡g GwZgLvbv †Lvjvi Rb¨ †`qv n‡q‡Q Zv D‡jøL Kiv nq wb| H c‡Î ïaygvÎ wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó 
Gi bvg e¨envi Kiv n‡q‡Q hv †_‡K a‡i †bqv hvq †h, GB gvgjvi Avmvgx †eMg Lv‡j`v wRqvmn Ab¨vb¨ 
Avmvgx‡`i euvPv‡bvi j‡ÿ¨ D³ 11/08/2015 Zvwi‡Li Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwm cÖ`Ë cÎwU m„Rb Kiv n‡q‡Q| 
Avmvgxcÿ †_‡K 17/10/2016 ZvwiL Bmy¨K…Z Noterial Certificate cÖgv‡Yi Rb¨ mswkøó †bvUvix 
cvewjK‡K Av`vj‡Z G‡b D³ mvwU©wd‡KU Ges Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwmi †`qv mvwU©wd‡K‡Ui d‡UvKwci mZ¨vmwZ¨ cÖgvY 
Kivi †Póv Kiv nq wb| Noterial Certificate Bmy¨Kvix e¨w³ Ges Kz‡qZ A¨v¤^vwmi †Kvb Kg©KZ©v‡K mvdvB 
mvÿx wnmv‡e Av`vj‡Z Dc ’̄vcb bv Kiv Avmvgx c‡ÿi `ye©jZvi cwiPq enb K‡i| cÖm½µ‡g D‡jøL Kiv 
cÖ‡qvRb †h, BDbvB‡UW †mŠw` Kg©vwkqvj e¨vs‡Ki gva¨‡g 12,55,000 gvwK©b Wjvi cÖavb gš¿xi GwZg Znwe‡j 
1991 mv‡j Av‡m| ZLb wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó MwVZ nq bvB| Dnv MwVZ nq 2 eQi ci A_©vr 05/09/1993 
Zvwi‡L| Zvn‡j cÖkœ G‡m hvq wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó MV‡bi Av‡MB wK Kz‡q‡Zi Avwgi 1991 m‡b H Uªvó‡K 
Aby`v‡bi UvKv cÖ`vb Ki‡jv? Kz‡qZ A¨v¤^vwmi cÎwU cvV K‡i †`Lv hvq †h, Dnv mv‡eK cÖavb gš¿x †eMg Lv‡j`v 
wRqv‡K Address K‡i ‡jLv nq wb| wbqg gvwdK H cÎwU ciivóª mwPe‡K Address K‡i ‡jLvi K_v| wKš‘ 
Zv bv n‡q GB gvgjvq Avmvgx †eMg Lv‡j`v wRqvi AvBbRxex Rbve †gvnv¤§` Avjx‡K Address K‡i Dnv †jLv 
n‡q‡Q hv ev Í̄e m¤§Z bv| UvKv Av‡m 1991 mv‡j A_P 11/08/2015 Zvwi‡L Bmy¨K…Z wPwV w`‡q Dnv Clarify 
Kivi †Póv Kiv n‡q‡Q| 2015 wPwV Avevi 2016 m‡bi †klfv‡M †bvUvivBRW Kiv n‡q‡Q| d‡j D³ 
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Noterial Certificate Ges Dnvi mv‡_ mshy³ Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwmi 11/08/2015 Zvwi‡Li cÎwU AÎ Av`vjZ 
KZ©„K GB gvgjv wb®úwËi †ÿ‡Î we‡ePbvq MÖnb Kivi †Kvb KviY jÿ¨ Kiv hvq bv| Kz‡qZ A¨v¤̂vwmi D³ 
mvwU©wd‡KU Avmvgxcÿ KZ…©K Rvj I m„wRZ g‡g© GB Av`vjZ g‡b K‡ib|“ 

  
144. We have also carefully examined the Photostat copy of the above letter and we have 

no hesitation to agree with the above observations made by the learned Special Judge. It is 
further to be noted here that for a prudent man it is very difficult to believe such a defence 
plea that like the Amir of Kuwait had sent the money through the alleged DD in the account 
of PM’s Orphanage Fund for Zia Orphanage Trust, when it had no existence at all. This kind 
of defence plea is nothing but an ‘old wive’s tale (Avlv‡p Mí)’. 

 
145. Thus, it is well proved by the prosecution that the then Prime Minister Begum Zia 

had entrustment, dominion and control over the PM’s Orphanage fund being account 
no.5416. 

 

146. Whether convict Begum Zia committed the offence of ‘Criminal breach of 

trust’ as defined in section 405 of the Penal Code and ‘Criminal Misconduct’ as defined 

in section 5(1) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 and whether convict Salimul 

Haque and Sharfuddin had abated in commission of such offence- 

Upon careful examination and scrutiny of the evidence adduced by the prosecution, 
the following undisputed incriminating facts are unvailed- 

i) PM’s Orphanage Fund being current account no.5416 was opened on 02.06.1991 with 
the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch, Dhaka by Kamal Siddique, secretary of 
Prime Minister Khaleda Zia, exhibit-9 and material exhibit-XI series; 

ii) a DD being no.153367970 dated 09.06.1991 amounting to US $12,55,000 (BDT 
4,44,81,216.00) issued by the United Saudi Commercial Bank was deposited in the 
said account on 09.06.1991 and thereafter, said amount was made FDR being 
no.984112 and after two years it stood Taka.4,66,67,000/- and thereafter, said money 
was again deposited in account no.5416 and not a single farthing was spent for the 
welfare or benefit of any orphan of the country from the said fund after it’s creation; 

iii)   the Trust deed was registered on 05.09.1993, material exhibit-IV-30 and an account 
being no.STD-7 was opened on 09.10.1993 with the Sonali Bank Gulshan, New North 
Circle Branch, Dhaka in the name of the said Trust; 

iv) Tareque Zia son of Begum Zia was the settlor and her another son Arafat Rahman and 
nephew Mominur Rahman were the trustees of the said Trust and address of the Trust 
was mentioned as 6, Moinul Road, Dhaka Cantonment, Dhaka wherein Prime 
Minister Begum Zia resided at that relevant time; 

v) after forming the said Trust on 13.11.1993 Taka.2,33,33,500/- was transferred from 
the account of PM’s Orphanage Fund to the Trust account being STD account no.7 
vide cheque no.8431103 and aforesaid amount was deposited in the said account on 
15.11.1993; 

vi) Taka.4,00,000/- was withdrawn from STD account no.7 on 8.12.1993 and out of the 
said money by spending Taka.2,77,000/- 2.79 acres of agricultural land was 
purchased in the name of the Trust at mouza Darial, under police station Gabtali, 
District-Bogura; 

vii) no establishment/structure was made on the said land rather the land was given lease 
to various persons taking money from them by former Member of Parliament 
Helaluzzaman Talukder and pourashava mayor Morshed Milton and that the money 
of STD account no.7 was not utilized for the orphans till 2006; however, the fund 
stood Tk.3,37,09,757.32 with interest on 12.04.2006; 
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viii) in between 12.04.2006 and 04.07.2006 through 5(five) cheques issued by 
Tareque Zia and Mominur Rahman Taka.3.30.00.000/- was transferred to the Prime 
Bank, Gulshan Branch in order to open new FDRs with the aid of Salimul Haque who 
had no connection or involvement with the Trust but he was the chairman/director of 
the said bank; 

ix) in between 12.04.2006 and 15.02.2007 i.e. within a period of nine and half months 
Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin made several transactions with the said money 
opening several FDRs and encashed those FDRs, descriptions of which are as 
follows:- 

(a) FDR no.41028462 dated 12.04.2006 for Taka.50,00,00,000/- in the name of Kazi Salimul Haque; 
(b) after encashment of the said FDR another FDR no.41033338 dated 16.07.2006 for 

Tk.50,68,450/- was opened in the name Kazi Salimul Haque; 
(c) FDR no.41033117 dated 09.07.2016 for Taka.80,00,000/- in the name of the Trust; 
(d) FDR no.41032669 dated 27.06.2006 for Taka 1,00,00,000/- in the name of the Trust; 
(e) FDR no.41032276 dated 16.06.2006 for Taka.1,00,00,000/- (in the name of Salimul 

Haque) 
(f) FDR no.41022619 dated 16.11.2006 for Taka.1,03,19,365/- in the name of Salimul 

Haque and Sayed Ahmed and FDR no.41025535 dated 07.02.2007 for Taka 
1,06,38,686 in the name of Giasuddin were opened after encashment of FDR 
no.41032669 in the name of the Trust and FDR no.41032276, in the name of Salimul 
Haque. 

(g) FDR no.41025511 dated 07.02.2007 for Taka.1,04,32,957.80 was opened in the name 
of Giasuddin Ahmed after encashment of FDR no.41022619 which was in the name 
of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmed, 

(h) FDR nos.41025535 and 41022619 in the name of Giasuddin were encashed on 
15.02.2007 and by 6(six) payment orders in total Taka.2,10,71,643.80 was deposited 
in the account of Sharfuddin being no.11013134 with the Prime Bank, New Eskatan 
Branch; and  

(i) Finally, convict Sharfuddin withdrew the said money from his said account on 
different occasions. [underlines supplied to give emphasis] 

 
147. From the above undisputed factual scenario it is crystal clear-how a huge amount of 

money of the PM’s Orphanage Fund was disposed of in an illegal and unusual manner, in 
other words dishonestly and fraudulently. 

 
148. It is pertinent to mention here that DW-1 Sharfuddin in his deposition admitted 

about the above two FDRs, one in the joint name of Salimul Haque and Sayed Ahmed and 
another in the name of Giasuddin Ahmed. After encashment of both the FDRs money was 
deposited in the account of Sharfuddin through 6(six) payment orders. Admittedly, Giasuddin 
is the elder brother and Sayed Ahmed is the son of Sharfuddin. Said Giasuddin and Sayed 
Ahmed were not charge sheeted as after investigation it was found that Salimul Haque and 
Sharfuddin fradulently used their names for the purpose of opening the FDRs and encashed 
those. Giasuddin is an American immigrant and he has been residing there long before the 
alleged occurrance. 

 
149. In view of the above undisputed facts let us decide the very crucial issue whether 

money of the PM’s orphanage fund was misappropriated or not and if it is found proved then 
question is by whom and who aided or facilitated to do so. 
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150. In this particular case the key arraignment is that the alleged huge amount of fund 
deposited and dealt with in the account of PM’s Orphanage Fund was aimed to nobility of 
ensuring welfare of orphans. But the management and use of the said fund was contrary to 
the terms aim and objects of the entrustment and obligation of Prime Minister Begum Zia, the 
principal accused who had dominion and control over the fund which tantamount to 
misappropriation constituting the offence of criminal breach of trust. 

 
151. In section 405 of the Penal Code the words used are “. . . . or dishonestly uses or 

disposes of that property in violation of any direction of law prescribing the mode in 

which such trust is to be discharged, or of any legal contract, express or implied” very 
significant. 

 
152. Any use of trust wealth/property other than any purpose for which trust is to be 

discharged would and should amount to ‘Criminal breach of trust’.  
 
153. The term misappropriation again deserves its ordinary dictionary meaning. The 

assumption of any right or exercise thereof will amount to appropriation of the property. In 
light of the argument above, it is considered that the money of the PM’s Orphanage Fund was 
indeed held in trust for the use of the welfare of the orphans or for charitable purposes. The 
assumption of any right or exercise thereof of any part of that money, for any purpose other 
than charity or for public use, is thus misappropriation of such rights. 

 
154. In the instant case it is evident that on 02.06.1991 a bank account being no.5416 was 

opened with the Sonali Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch, Dhaka in the name of PM’s 
Orphanage Fund. Intention was to secure well-being of orphans by creating ‘Trust’ using the 
fund. Begum Zia as Prime Minister received foreign fund amounting to Taka 4,44,81,216.00, 
one week later which was deposited to the account of PM’s Orphanage Fund. The account 
was operated by the Prime Minister’s secretary Kamal Siddique, a senior public servant, on 
behalf of Prime Minister Begum Zia and such entrustment obviously made Begum Zia 
obligated and responsible to ensure due and proper use of the fund in achieving purpose of 
creating the ‘Fund’. PM’s Secretary as the key official of Prime Minister Begum Zia had role 
to act in ensuring proper use of the fund. For the ‘Fund’ deposited in the account was for 
‘specific purpose’ as the same came to dominion and control of Prime Minister Begum Zia. 

 
155. What happened next? It is evident that the fund so deposited in the account of PM’s 

Orphanage Fund remained inactive for more than 2(two) years. Finally, in November, 1993 
two years later two Trusts were created one was Zia Orphanage Trust and another was Zia 
Memorial Trust. Fifty percent of the fund was then transferred to Zia Orphanage Trust and 
rest fifty percent fund was allowed to be used by Zia Memorial Trust for the purpose of 
which it was meant.  

 
156. It is evident too that Zia Orphanage Trust did not exist at all. Forming said Trust was 

confined to paper showing its office at the residence of Prime Minister Begum Zia. It also 
transpires that in 1994 only about 3 lacs Taka was spent only from the Trust fund for 
purchasing land and from the evidence of PWs 27 and 28 it transpires that there is no 
structure or establishment on the said land and the land was given ‘lease’ to various persons 
by two persons namely Helaluzzaman Talukder, Ex MP and Morshed Milton, Ex Mayor of 
Gabtoli Pourashava who were not at all connected with the Trust. 
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157. The expression ‘entrustment’ carries with it the implication that manner of allowing 
the fund to be used for welfare of orphans by forming the Trust created a fiduciary 
relationship between Begum Zia and the accused persons of whom the same were formed. Be 
that as it may, obligation of Begum Zia did not extinguish in keeping vigilance on due use of 
the fund even after forming the Trust as the said Trust was formed in the name of her late 
husband and her two sons and one nephew were made settlor and trustees showing its address 
at her own residence. Facts of the case fairly and legally indicate that dominion of Begum Zia 
over the fund did not come to an end merely with allowing it to be used by the Trust formed. 

 
158. What about the rest of the ‘Fund’ over which ‘dominion’ or ‘control’ of Prime 

Minister did not come to cessation? It is evident that in 2006, i.e. long 13 years after creation 
of so called paper Trust the rest of the fund i.e. almost the entire fund was made deposited as 
FDRs in the accounts of Salimul Haque, Sayed Ahmed and Giasuddin and finally the fund 
was transferred to Sharfuddin’s account. We have already noticed that the names of Sayed 
Ahmed and Giasuddin were used in the alleged transactions by the convicts, though said two 
persons were not involved with the process in commission of the offence. 

 
159. Why the fund was so transferred to the accounts of Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin, 

particularly long 13 years after creating so called peper Trust. Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin 
knowing the fund to be misappropriated fraudulently allowed it to be made deposited in their 
accounts as FDRs and current account respectively. 

 
160. Main collusion happened between Begum Zia and the other convicts of which the 

paper Trust was formed. Conscious failure and deliberate inaction of Begum Zia made space 
in enjoying the fund dishonestly and fraudulently for long 13 years. Non-spending the fund 
for  welfare of orphans in any manner reflects the mens rea of Begum Zia, her secretary 
Kamal Siddique and the accused persons of whom the Trust were formed. 

 
161. Intention was not pious indeed. Instead of using the fund for welfare of orphans for 

which purpose the same got deposited in PM’s Orphanage Fund, the trusts had kept it with 
them for years together fraudulently and dishonestly. It leads to conclude that the Trust was 
not in actual existence and the so called Trust had carried such fraudulent act obviously 
within the knowledge and indulgence of Begum Zia. 

 
162. Admittedly the Trust was formed of two sons and one near relative of Begum Zia 

presumably, they did it with culpable suzerainty and on explicit endorsement of Begum Zia. 
The facts unveiled suggest the conclusion that Begum Zia knowingly and in violation of 
obligation, allowed the fund to be dealt with dishonestly by the Trust leading to its 
misappropriation. 

 
163. The fund was handed over to the Trust which was eventually disposed of or used 

contrary to the terms and object of the fund, although, the Trust was not in actual existence. 
The same was a mere paper Trust, we have already find it. 

 
164. There are two distinct parts involved in the commission of the offence of criminal 

breach of trust. The first consists of the creation of an obligation in relation to the property 
over which dominion or control was acquired by convict Begum Zia. The second is 
misappropriation or dealing with or dispose of the property dishonestly and contrary to the 
obligation created. 
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165. The fact of non-functioning of the Trust and keeping the fund in the account of the 
said Trust for long 13 years together indisputably lead to infer that act and omission of 
inaction on the part of Begum Zia, as found patent allowed causing wrongful gain of other 
constituting the act of the misappropriation of the ‘Fund’ and such act of Begum Zia had 
nexus of dishonest intention agreeing with which the accused persons of whom the so called 
paper Trust was formed and also dealt with the fund fraudulently. 

 
166. Thus the persons who happen to be the sons and near relative of Begum Zia were 

active part of the criminal enterprise and they deliberately abstained from ensuring due use of 
the fund which was meant to the welfare of orphans. And this factual aspect leads us to hold 
that they planned to go with such inaction with dishonest intention on endorsement of Begum 
Zia. 

 
167. Upon scrunity of the account statements of the Trust account being STD no.7 which 

is available in material exhibit-I series, it reveals that after transfer of Taka 2,33,33,500/- 
from the PM’s Orphanage Fund to the said account on 15.11.1993 no one donated/gifted any 
money to the said Trust account for raising it’s fund till 12.04.2006 i.e. when the money of 
STD account no.7 was transferred to the accounts of Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin, and that 
no money was spent from the Trust fund for the welfare of the orphans for last 13 years, save 
and except Taka 4,00,000/- for purchasing land in Bogura. From the evidence of PWs 27 and 
28 and exhibit-15, a report of upazila nirbahi office, Gabtoli it also transpires that the 
purchased land in the name of the Trust was agricultural land and same was given lease to 
various persons by the then local member of parliament and pourashava mayor who were not 
related with the Trust, and that the lease money were also not deposited in the Trust account, 
and that on the land there was no structure of any orphanage. 

 
168. From the above factual scenario we may also be validly and legally inferred that 

money of the PM’s Orphanage Fund was transferred to the socalled Trust account with a 
criminal design in order to grab the same. 

 
169. It appears that the fund was made deposited as FDRs in the account of Salimul 

Haque and two other persons namely Giasuddin and Sayed Ahmed, the elder brother and son 
of Sharfuddin respectively and Sharfuddin in year 2006-2007. Why the trustees and settlor 
opted to make the fund so shifted after keeping it under their control for long 13 years? And 
why within a period of nine and half months (12.04.2006-15.02.2007) so many FDRs were 
opened and then encashed in the haste manner? 

 
170. From this fact, it may be inferred that intention of such act was dishonest indeed. 

Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin in favour of whom the fund was made deposited were not 
lawfully entitled to deal with the fund or to use it for welfare of orphans. These two convict 
had aided and facilitated to execute the planned fraudulent and dishonest intention of the 
principal accused Begum Zia and the settlor of the Trust Tareque Rahman and the trustees 
Arafat Rahman and Mominur Rahman. All the accused did it knowing the dishonest intention 
of using the fund i.e. misappropriation. 

 
171. It transpires that in 2006, at the ending phase of the regime of BNP Government they 

did it intending to secure wrongful gain by grabbing the fund fraudulently which was the 
upshot of ‘dishonest intention’. Evidence shows that within a short period, 2006-2007, the 
convicted persons made several transactions opening several FDRs and encashed those. 
Even, in their fradulent transactions they used the name of two other persons, namely Sayed 
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Ahmed and Giasuddin who were not actually involved with the process of alleged 
transctions. 

 
172. It is not believable that without the knowledge and endorsement of Begum Zia the 

fund was so transferred in the accounts of other convict persons. For Begum Zia in no way 
can be exonerated of liability and obligation of such dishonest intention. Besides, Begum Zia 
was the key person on deliberate failure and endorsement of whom the fund was eventually 
misappropriated. 

 
173. Begum Zia, trustees and settlor of so called Trust formed in collaboration with each 

other for reaching dishonest intention eventually took hold of and misappropriated the fund. 
In absence of any legitimate explanation the act of shifting the fund in the accounts of two 
other convict persons obviously happened within the knowledge of Begum Zia, the facts 
suggest it irresistibly. Shifting the fund in such a manner, long 13 years after the so called 
Trust was formed is a fact that had material nexus with the act of misappropriation of the 
fund. 

 
174. Purpose of receiving the fund was to use it for welfare of orphans. Begum Zia as the 

Prime Minister was the principal person who was supposed to ensure prompt and due use of 
the said fund. But she instead of doing it consciously allowed her secretary, sons and near 
relative engaging those with the so called Trust to deal with the same in a manner contrary to 
terms of obligation created to her by virtue of entrustment and dominion over it. 

 
175. Facilitating misappropriation of the fund which was meant to be used for welfare of 

orphans, particularly when Begum Zia, the Prime Minister, had entrustment and dominion 
over it indisputably shocks the human conscience and such act reflects a mindset derogatory 
to humankind. Obviously Begum Zia had liability and obligation to look after whether the 
Trust so formed was in actual existence. But she did not do it. Thus Begum Zia was a 
conscious part of a designed plan to the criminal acts constituting the offence of Criminal 

breach of Trust as defined in section 405 of Penal Code. 
 
176. ‘Criminal Misconduct’- has been defined in section 5(1) of the Prevention of 

Corruption Act,1947, which runs as follows: 
5. Criminal Misconduct-(1) A public servant is said to commit offence of Criminal 
misconduct- 

(a) . . . . . . 
(b) . . . . . . . 
(C) if he dishonestly or fraudulently misappropriates or otherwise converts for 
his own use any property entrusted to him or under his control as a public 
servant or allows any other person so to do, or 
(d) if he by corrupt or illegal means or by otherwise abusing his position as 
public servant, obtains [or attempts to obtain] for himself or for other person 
any valuable thing or pecuniary advantage. [underlines supplied] 

 
177. The wordings of last portion of section 5(1)(c) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 

1947 are “. . . or allowed any other person to do so”. These wordings are very significant 
and its amplitude is much wider. The meaning put on the word ‘allows’ would certainly be 
different from ‘dishonest misappropriation’ by the offender himself. It may be that the word 
can mean allowing by negligence or without any violation on the part of the offender. 

 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD      Begum Khaleda Zia Vs. State & another      (M. Enaytur Rahman, J)   197 
 

 

178. In view of the section 5(1)(c) of the Prevention of Corruption Act,1947 if a public 
servant allows another person to dishonestly or fraudulently misappropriate or otherwise 
converte for his own use any property so entrusted, then it is an offence. [Referrence: OM 

Prakash Gupta Vs. State of UP, AIR 1957, SC 458] 
 
179. In this particular case it is well founded that Begum Zia allowed other convicts to 

misappropriate the fund so entrusted to her and as such it is also an offence within the 
mischief of section 5(1)(c) of the Prevention of Corruption Act,1947. In view of the 
proposition inunciated in the above cited case whether Begum Zia allowed the other convicts 
to do so by negligence or consciously that is immaterial. 

 
180. Attempt to commit an offence of ‘Criminal Misconduct’ is also an offence within the 

mischief of section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act,1947 and the above provision 
also provides punishment for such offence. 

 
181. Act or conduct and culpable inaction of Begum Zia and next, activities carries out in 

dealing with the fund going beyond the terms of entrustment formed ‘collective criminality’ 
and reciprocal connivance to which all the accused persons were conscious part, sharing 
intent to effect misappropriation of the fund or cause wrongful gain of own or of others.  

 
182. Providing aid to commit an offence is one of ingredients to consititute ‘abetment’. 

An act of providing intentional aid to a person in committing an offence refers to abetment. 
Totality of facts unveiled suggest the conclusion that accused Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin 
consciously allowed the fund to be made so deposited in their accounts and thereby they 
aided accomplishment of the fact of misappropriation of the fund. Such culpable act of these 
two convict formed part of collective criminality. In this way, these two convict along with 
others participated as abettors so as to facilitate the principal offender towards materializing 
the criminal and fraudulent design in committing the offence. 

 
183. There has been nothing to show that without being aware about the purpose of the 

fund, culpable inaction on part of the principal accused having dominion over the same in 
using it for the welfare of orphans and sham creation of trusts these two convict made them 
engaged with the criminal mission, by allowing the fund to be deposited as FDR in their 
accounts. 

 
184. In view of the above, we are unable to accept the submission of the learned 

Advocates for convict Salimul Haque and Sharfuddin that the said two convict did not abet 
Begum Zia in commission of the offence in 1993 when money was transferred in the account 
of the Trust and thus, said two convicts at best can be found guilty under section 411 of the 
Penal Code instead of sections 409/109 of the Penal Code. 

 

185. Whether the offence which started in the year 1993 and ended in 2007 is a 

single transaction- 

The case at hand has its origin a certain sum of money of the PM’s orphanage fund. 
Some portion of the fund was transferred to a socalled paper trust namely Zia 
Orphanage Trust in the year 1993. After 13 years the money along with interest was 
later moved from the Trust account unlawfully, in 2006 without doing any charity in 
particular for the orphans. The money was later moved in 2006 to the FDR account of 
Salimul Haque and two others, who then transferred the money again to Sharfuddin’s 
account. Considering all of these separate transactions relates to the same money, 
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arising out of the same origin point PM’s orphanage fund, it can well be argued and 
indeed considered for these transactions to be rooted in the same origin. Hence, these 
transactions can be considered to be one single and continuous transaction although 
they are separated by a number of years. 

 

186. Plea of Alibi: 
We have already noticed and discussed about the plea of alibi of convict Begum Zia that 

PM’s Orphanage Fund was not a public fund and that the Amir of Kuwait donoted the money 
for Zia Orphanage Trust, not for PM’s orphanage fund, for charitable purpose, and there was 
no fund in Prime Minister’s office in the name of PM’s Orphanage Fund.  

 
187. In the instant case on behalf of Begum Zia save and except an application under 

section 57(6) of the Evidence Act, which was filed to accept the Noterial Certificate and 
Photostat copy of a letter dated 11.08.2015 issued by the Embassy of Kuwait in Bangladesh, 
no steps were taken to prove her alibi. On the above alleged letter issued by the Embassy of 
Kuwait we have already made our observations.  

 
188. Sharfuddin by examining 3 witnesses including himself had tried to establish his 

plea of alibi that he received the alleged money for selling 74½ decimals of land to the Trust 
and returned the said money in complience of the Court’s decree. 

  
189. The learned Special Judge upon consideration and appreciation of the evidence 

adduced on behalf of Sharfuddin has observed as under: 
ÒDc‡iv³ mvÿxi e³e¨ †_‡K jÿ Kiv hvq †h, wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó Ges Avmvgx kidzÏxb Avn‡g‡`i 
g‡a¨ Avïwjqv †gŠRvi 74.5 kZK Rwg µq-weµ‡qi Rb¨ 16/11/2006 Zvwi‡L GKwU evqbvcÎ 
m¤úvw`Z nq| Dnv Avb-‡iwR÷vW© evqbvcÎ wQj| 2004 m‡bi c‡i evqbvcÎ †iwRw÷ª Kiv 
eva¨Zvg~jK nIqv m‡Z¡I AvB‡bi ei‡Ljvc K‡i Dc‡iv³ evqbvcÎwU m¤úv`b Kiv nq| m¤úwËi g~j¨ 
3 †KvwU 25 jÿ UvKv wba©viY Kiv nq| Dnvi g‡a¨ 2 †KvwU 25 jÿ UvKv g~‡j¨i 2wU †c-AW©vi †`qv 
nq| R‰bK Gbvgyj nK (whwb Uªvó `wj‡ji †Kvb cÿ bb) H UvKv Avmvgx kidzÏxb‡K evqbv eve` 
cÖ`vb K‡ib g‡g© mvÿxi mvÿ¨ †_‡K ‡`Lv hvq| H UvKv Gbvgyj nK wKfv‡e †c‡q‡Qb Zv ¯úó bq| 
Z‡K©i LvwZ‡i hw` a‡i †bqv hvq †h, mwZ¨Kvi A‡_©B wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó I Avmvgx kidzÏx‡bi g‡a¨ 
Rwg †Kbv †ePvi GKUv evqbvcÎ m¤úvw`Z n‡qwQj Z_vwc Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ Dnvi Uªvwó‡`i h_v Avmvgx 
Zv‡iK ingvb, AvivdvZ ingvb I gwgbyi ingvb Gi DwPr wQj m¤úwËi Aw Í̄Z¡ Av‡`Š Av‡Q wK bv 
Dnvi †LuvR Kiv| wW.WweøD-3 Gi mvÿ¨ †_‡K Av‡iv †`Lv hvq †h, wZwb wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ 
UvKv Av`v‡qi Rb¨ Avmvgx kidzÏxb Avn‡g‡`i weiæ‡× gvwb gvgjv `v‡qi K‡i‡Qb| wZwb Pzw³ 
mywbw`©ófv‡e ev Í̄evq‡bi Rb¨ Z_v bvwjkx m¤úwË evqbv c‡Îi wfwË‡Z `wjj g~‡j cvIqvi Rb¨ †Kvb 
gvgjv K‡ib bvB| Avmvgx kidzÏxb gvwb gvjvq Reve bv w`‡jI nVvr K‡iB 12/02/2013 Zvwi‡L 
D³ gvgjvq †mv‡jbvgv `vwLj K‡ib| GB mvÿx Zvi mv‡ÿ¨ D‡jøL K‡i‡Qb †h, wZwb D³ gvwb gvgjvi 
AvBbRxex wQ‡jb Ges †mv‡jbvgvq ¯̂vÿi cÖ`vb K‡i‡Qb| wZwb D³ gvgjvi AvBbRxex wn‡m‡e `vex 
Ki‡jI ciÿ‡YB e‡j‡Qb †h, Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ Gbvgyj nK gvgjv cwiPvjbv K‡ib| ZvQvov ev`x c‡ÿ 
GW‡fv‡KU G.Gg. gvneye DwÏb AvBbRxex wQ‡jb| †Riv‡Z GB mvÿx cÖwmwKDkbc‡ÿi †`qv 
¸iæZ¡c~b© cÖkœ¸‡jvi Reve bv w`‡q Gwo‡q †M‡Qb| 
bw_ ch©v‡jvPbvq †`Lv hvq †h, MZ 24/08/2017 Zvwi‡L cÖwmwKDkbc‡ÿ XvKvi Z…Zxq hyM¥ †Rjv RR 
Av`vjZ KZ…©K wb®úwËK…Z gvwb †gvKÏgv bs-1/2012 Gi †iKW© Zje Kivi cÖv_©bv Kiv nq| Av`vjZ 
Dnv gÄyi K‡ib| D³ gvgjvi bw_ †_‡K jÿ Kiv hvq †h, GB gvgjvwU D³ mvÿx GW‡fv‡KU 
Zv‡niæj Bmjvg †ZŠwn` `v‡qi K‡ib wb| Dnv GW‡fv‡KU G.Gg. gvneye DwÏb †LvKb `v‡qi 
K‡i‡Qb| mvÿx Zvi mv‡ÿ¨ D‡jøL K‡i‡Qb †h, gvwb 1/2012 †gvKÏgvq `vwLjx †mv‡jbvgvq 
AvBbRxex wn‡m‡e wZwb ev`xc‡ÿ ¯̂vÿi K‡ib| †mv‡jbvgvq Dfqcÿ I Zv‡`i c‡ÿ wb‡qvwRZ 
GW‡fv‡KUMY ¯̂vÿi K‡ib| Zvi mv‡ÿ¨ wZwb GUvI e‡j‡Qb †h, weev`xc‡ÿ A_©vr Avmvgx kidzÏxb 
Avn‡g` Gi c‡ÿ wW. `yjvj g„av GW‡fv‡KU wQ‡jb Ges AvBbRxex wn‡m‡e wZwb †gvKvÏgvq Zvi c‡ÿ 
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¯̂vÿi K‡ib| wKš‘ D³ gvwb †gvKÏgvq `vwLjK…Z †mv‡jbvgv ch©v‡jvPbv K‡i †`Lv hvq †h, D³ 
†mv‡jbvgvq cÿMY ¯̂vÿi K‡i‡Qb g‡g© †`Lv †M‡jI D³ †mv‡jbvgvq Dfqc‡ÿi weÁ †KŠïjx‡`i 
¯̂vÿi bvB| ev`xc‡ÿ GW‡fv‡KU wn‡m‡e wW. WweøD-3 ¯̂vÿi Ki‡jI weev`x c‡ÿ wW. `yjvj g„av 
¯̂vÿi K‡ib bvB| Kv‡RB D³ †mv‡jbvgvi Aw Í̄‡Z¡i wel‡q wW. WweøD-3 †h mvÿ¨ cÖ`vb K‡i‡Qb Dnv 
wek^vm Kivi ‡Kvb KviY †bB| GB mvÿx GKevi e‡j‡Qb wZwb gvwb gvgjvq AviwR `vwLj K‡i‡Qb 
Avevi Ab¨ †ÿ‡Î wZwb ïaygvÎ †mv‡jbvgv cÖ ‘̄Z K‡i‡Qb g‡g© mvÿ¨ cÖ`vb K‡i‡Qb| †Riv‡Z mvÿx 
e‡j‡Qb †h, Av`vj‡Zi ga¨ ’̄Zvq gvwb gvgjvq Av‡cvl nq| wKš‘ D³ gvgjvi Av‡`kcÎ  I †mv‡jbvgv 
ch©v‡jvPbvq †`Lv hvq †h, Dnv Av`vj‡Zi ga¨ ’̄Zvq m¤úbœ nqwb| †Kb bv Av`vj‡Zi ga¨ ’̄Zvq †Kvb 
gvgjv Av‡cvl n‡j †mv‡jbvgvi cÿMY I Zv‡`i c‡ÿ wbhy³ GW‡fv‡KUM‡Yi ¯̂vÿi _vKvq cvkvcvwk 
ga¨ ’̄ZvKvix wn‡m‡e Av`vj‡Zi ¯̂vÿi I mxj _vKv evÂbxq| †mv‡jbvgv ch©v‡jvPbvq †`Lv hvq †h, D³ 
†`Iqvbx Kvh©wewai AW©i-23 iæj-3 Abyhvqx `vwLj Kiv nq| c‡i †K ev Kviv D³ AW©vi Ges iæ‡ji 
Dci IfviivBwUs K‡i †mKkb-89 G wj‡L‡Qb Ges †mLv‡b †Kvb ¯̂vÿi ev Aby-¯̂vÿi cÖ`vb K‡ib 
bvB| Bnv †_‡KI a‡i †bqv hvq †h, D³ †mv‡jbvgv Av`vj‡Zi ga¨ ’̄Zvq m¤úbœ nqwb Ges Dnv 
Avmvgxcÿ KZ…©K m„wRZ| wW. WweøD-3 GKRb GW‡fv‡KU nIqv ¯̂‡Z¡I AmZ¨ eqv‡b Av`vj‡Z kc_ 
c~e©K ¯̂vÿ w`‡q wg_¨v‡K mZ¨ iæcvšÍ‡ii †Póv K‡i‡Qb| Zvi mvwe©K mvÿ¨ we‡kølb K‡i GB Av`vjZ 
g‡b K‡ib †h, wZwb wbi‡cÿ mvÿx bq| wZwb Avmvgx Øviv cÿvwkÖZ n‡q Avmvgx kidzÏxb Avn‡g`mn 
Ab¨vb¨ Avmvgx‡`i GB gvgjvi `vq ‡_‡K euvPv‡bvi e„_v †Póv K‡i‡Qb gvÎ| GB mvÿxi mvÿ¨ †_‡K 
Avmvgx kidzÏxb Avn‡g` †Kvb †ewbwdU cv‡eb bv| gvwb gvgjv-1/2012 GKwU m„wRZ gvgjv g‡g© AÎ 
Av`vjZ g‡b K‡ib| Ges Dnv AZ¨všÍ †KŠk‡ji mv‡_ gvgjv weÁ GW‡fv‡KU G.Gg.gvneye DwÏb 
†LvKb Av`vj‡Z `vwLj K‡i‡Qb| mwZ¨Kvi A‡_© hw` wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªvó Ges Avmvgx kidzwÏ‡bi 
g‡a¨ Rwg †Kbv †ePv †Kvb evqbv Pzw³ m¤úvw`Z nZ Ges D³ Pzw³ †gqv‡`i g‡a¨ kidzwÏb Avn‡g` 
hw` evqbv UvKv mn Rwg mvKy‡j¨ g~j¨ MÖnb K‡i †µZvi AbyKz‡j Kejv `vwLj m¤úv`b K‡i w`‡Z e¨_© 
nZ Zvn‡j †m †ÿ‡Î D³ Uªv‡óªi c‡ÿ gvgjv `v‡qiKvix weÁ GW‡fv‡KU Rbve G.Gg. gvneye DwÏb 
†LvKb Gi DwPZ wQj Specific Perfomance of Contract Gi gvgjv `v‡qi Kiv| wKš‘ wZwb 
Dnv `v‡qi bv Kivq GUvB a‡i wb‡Z n‡e †h, Zviv cÖK…Zc‡ÿ Rwg †Kbv †ePvi †Kvb Pzw³ Avmvgx 
kidzwÏb Avn‡g‡`i mv‡_ m¤úv`b K‡ib bvB| gvwb my¨U `v‡qi K‡i GB gvgjvi ev`x I Avmvgx 
kidzwÏb Avn‡g` †KŠk‡j wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói UvKv Z_v iæcvšÍwiZfv‡e cÖavbgš¿xi GwZg Znwe‡ji 
UvKv AvZ¥mv‡Zi †Póv K‡i‡Qb| Kv‡RB D³ gvwb gvgjvwU GKwU wbõj I ỳwe©mwÜg~jK gvgjv g‡g© 
Av`vjZ wek̂vm K‡ib|  
Avmvgx kidzwÏb Avn‡g` Avïwjqv †gŠRv 74.5 kZK Rwgi gvwjKvbv `vex Ki‡jI mvdvB mvÿx 
cÖ`vbKv‡j wZwb ev Zvi c‡ÿ Dcw ’̄Z mvÿxiv H Rwgi †Kvb `wjj Av`vj‡Z `vwLj K‡ib bvB| d‡j 
a‡i †bqv hvq †h, wZwb Av‡`Š 74.5 kZK Rwgi gvwjK wQ‡jb bv Ges H Rwg weµ‡qi Rb¨ wRqv 
Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói mv‡_ Zvi †Kvb w`b Av‡`Š †Kvb evqbv Pzw³ m¤úvw`Z nq bvB| wZwb gvwb 1/2012 
gvgjvq wg_¨v †mv‡jbvgv `vwLj K‡i miKvwi GwZg Znwe‡ji A_© AvZ¥mvZ Kivi cÖwµqvwU cÖK„Z 
cÖ Í̄v‡e wg_¨v cÖgvb Kivi †Póv Ki‡jI e¨v_© n‡q‡Qb| . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . | 
Avïwjqv †gŠRvi 74.5 kZK Rwgi †Kvb KvMR (deed of title) Avmvgx Av`vj‡Z `vwLj bv Kivq 
GUvB cÖgvwbZ nq †h, wZwb ewb©Z Uªv‡÷ªi mv‡_ Rwg weµ‡qi Av‡`Š †Kvb Pzw³ m¤úv`b K‡ib bvB Ges 
H Kvwnbx m„Rb K‡i ZwK©Z 2,10,71,643/80 UvKv AvZ¥mvZ K‡ib| e ‘̄ cÖ`k©bx ÔGÕ Ges ÔweÕ 
wmwi‡R †h 13wU †c-AW©v‡ii wel‡q D‡jøL Kiv n‡q‡Q Dnvi gywo ch©v‡jvPbvq †`Lv hvq †h, †mLv‡b 
wRqv Aidv‡bR Uv‡÷ªi bv‡g †jLv bvB| ZvQvov c~‡e©B D‡jøL Kiv n‡q‡Q †h, ¯̂xK…Z g‡ZB DËiv 
e¨vs‡K wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡óªi  †Kvb wnmve †bB|Ó [underlines supplied] 

 
190. We have also examined and scrutinized the evidence of DWs. 
 
191. DW-1, Sharfuddin in his cross examination stated that-Ò`vwLjv ÔKÕ wPwýZ KvMRwU 

Memorandum of understanding Dnv‡Z Gbvgyj nK mv‡ne‡K wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói bv‡g authority ‡`qv nq 
g‡g© †Kvb KvMRcÎ Avwg `vwLj Kwi bvB| - - - - - - - - | Avgv‡K hviv UvKv †`b Zviv H Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói Uªvwó wKbv 
Zv Avwg Rvwb bv| - - - - - - - - - - -| gvwb gvgjvi gva¨‡g 2 †KvwU 25 jvL UvKv †diZ †`B wKš‘ Rvwb bv ‡h Kvi 
bv‡g Trust MVb Kiv nq|Ó 
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192. DW-2, Tax-advisor of DW-1, in his cross examination stated that-ÒAvwg Avmvgx kidzwÏb 

Avn‡g‡`i Avkywjqvi Rwgi gvwjKvbv msµvšÍ KvMRcÎ AvqKi wiU©v‡b XzKvB bvB| Avmvgx kidzwÏb K‡e I wKfv‡e 
Avïwjqvi Rwgi gvwjK nb H g‡g© †Kvb KvMRcÎ Assesment Gi mgq Avwg †`wL bvB| Ges AvRI †Kv‡U© Zv mv‡_ Avwb 
bvB| - - - - - - - -| 2006-2007 Ki eQ‡ii AvqKi wiUv©‡b Avïwjqv †gŠRvi †Kvb bvg D‡jøL bvB| 2007-08 Ki 
e‡l© AvqKi wiU©v‡bI Avmvgxi Avïwjqvi †gŠRvq †Kvb Rwg Av‡Q/wQj g‡g© †jLv bvB| - - - - - - - - - - - - - | 
11/2/13 †_‡K 13/8/13 Zvs ch©šÍ 13wU †c-AW©v‡ii gva¨‡g ewb©Z Uªv‡óªi AbyKz‡j 2 †KvwU 25 jvL UvKv †dir †`b 
g‡g© 2013-14 Ki eQ‡ii AvqKi bw_‡Z wKQz †jLv bvB| †mLv‡b 1 †KvwU 32 jvL UvKv †di‡Zi K_v eb©bv Kiv n‡q‡Q| 
AvqKi wiUv©‡b Avïwjqv †gŠRvi 74.5 kZK Rwg †`Lv‡bv bvB|Ó [underlines supplied] 

 
193. DW-3 who was a lawyer for the Trust in Money Suit in his cross examination stated 

that-Ò unregistered ‡ccviwU 7/8/17 Zvs GB Av`vj‡Z `vwLj Kiv nq| GB evqbvcÎwU gvwb my¨‡U `vwLj Kiv 
nqwb| - - - - - - - - -| Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ Gbvgyj nK mv‡ne gvgjv cwiPvjbv K‡ib| Authorise letter wU †Kv‡U© `vwLj 
bvB| - - - - - - - -| wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡óªi †h Gbvgyj n‡Ki K_v ejv n‡q‡Q Zvi †Kvb ’̄vqx A ’̄vqx wVKvbv †`qv †bB, 
Z‡e gvwb my¨‡Ui AviwR‡Z Zvi wVKvbv 6 gCbyj †ivW †jLv Av‡Q| gvwb gvgjvi AviwR‡Z Gbvgyj nK mv‡ne‡K †h 
Authority †`qv nq H g‡g© wRqv Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói Uªvwó †evW© Zv‡K Authority w`‡q‡Q hv Authorise letter g‡g© 
†Kvb K_v AviwRi †Kvb cvZvq †jLv bvB ev Annexure wnmv‡e AviwRi mv‡_ hy³ Kwi bvB| - - - - - - - - -| wRqv 
Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ Avïwjqv †gŠRvi 74.5 kZK Rwg µ‡qi Rb¨ evqbvcÎ gy‡j Rwgi gvwjK‡K †`qv UvKv †dir 
†bqvi Rb¨ Uªv‡ói c‡ÿ Rbve Zv‡iK ingvb Settlor wn‡m‡e Gbvgyj nK‡K gvgjv Kivi Rb¨ Authority †`q wKbv Zv 
gvwb gvgjvi AviwR‡Z D‡jøL Kiv nqwb| - - - - - - - - | `vwLjv Memorandum of Agreement G wRqv 
Aidv‡bR Uªv‡ói †Kvb Trustee mvÿx wn‡m‡e ¯̂vÿi †`b bvB| †Zgwbfv‡e †Kvb Trustee Dnv mZ¨vwqZI K‡ib bvB|Ó 
[underlines supplied] 

 
194. In view of the above assertions made by the DWs we have no hesitation to hold that 

the alleged compromise decree obtained in Money Suit No.1 of 2012 is afterthought and 
collusive one and the convicts in order to save them from criminal liability did such frudulent 
act. Admittedly, charge sheet was submitted against the convicts on 05.08.2009. After about 
4 years of submission of charge sheet the alleged Money Suit was filed and the convicts very 
hurriedly managed to get a so called compromise decree from the Court. If we consider this 
factural aspect coupled with the prosecution evidence and other circumstances then the mens 

rea, dishonest and fraudulent intention of the accused persons in commission of the offence 
of misappropriation are crystal clear. 

 
195. In the case of G.R Farland, AIR 1961, AP-3 it has been held that in a case of 

misappropriation of property entrusted with an accused, if the accused gives an explanation, 
which is found to be false the setting up the false defence would impute to him a fraudulent 
and dishonest intention. 

 
196. This view has also been reiterated in the case of Krishna Kumar Vs. Union of 

India, AIR 1959(SC) 1390. 
 
197. In the case of Mustafikhar Vs. State of Maharastra reported in (2007)1 SCC, 

page-623 it has been held that: 
“It is not necessary or possible in every case to prove as to in what precise manner the 
accused had dealt with or appropriated the goods. In a case of criminal breach of trust, 
the failure to account for the money, proved to have been received by the accused or 
giving a false account of its use is generally considered to be a strong circumstance 
against the accused. Although onus lies on the prosecution to prove the charge against 
the accused, yet where the entrustment is proved or admitted it would be difficult for 
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the prosection to prove the actual mode and manner of misappropriation and in such a 
case the prosecution would have to rely largely on the trust or falsity of the 
explanation given by the accused. In the instant case, there is no dispute about the 
entrustment.” 

 
198. Section 103 and Section 106 of the Evidence Act one as follows: 

103. Burden of proof as to particular fact- the burden of proof as to any particular 
fact lies on that person who wishes the Court to believe in its existence, unless it is 
provided by any law that the proof of that fact shall lie on any particular person.  

 

199. 106. Burden of proving fact especially within knowledge- when any fact is 
especially within the knowledge of any person, the burden of proving that fact is upon him. 

 
200. Section 106 of the Evidence Act is designed to meet certain exceptional cases in 

which it would be impossible for the prosecution to establish certain facts which are 
particularly within the knowledge of the accused.  

 
201. In Shambu Nath Mehra vs. State of Ajmer, AIR 1956 SC 404: 1956 SCR 199: 

the following legal principle has been enunciated: 
“This lays down the general rule that in a criminal case the burden of proof is on the 
prosecution and section 106 is certainly not intended to relieve it of that duty. On the 
contrary, it is designed to meet certain exceptional cases in which it would be 
impossible, or at any rate disproportionately difficult for the prosecution to establish 
facts which are ‘especially’ within the knowledge of the accused and which he could 
prove without difficulty or inconvenience. The word ‘especially’ stresses that. It 
means facts that are pre-eminently or exceptionally within his knowledge.” [Under 
lines supplied] 

  
202. In the case of State of WB Vs. Mir Mohammad Omar, reported in AIR 2000 SC, 

page-2988, it has been held that: 
“The section is not intended to relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the guilt 
of the accused beyond reasonable doubt. But the Section would apply to cases where 
the prosecution has succeeded in proving facts from which a reasonable inference can 
be drawn regarding the existence of certain other facts, unless the accused by virtue of 
his special knowledge regarding such facts, failed to offer any explanation which 
drive the court to draw a different inference.” 
And  
“The pristine rule that the burden of proof is on the prosecution to prove the guilt of 
the accused should not be taken as a fossilized doctrine as though it admits no process 
of intelligent reasoning. The doctrine of presumption is not alien to the above rule, nor 
would it impair the temper of the rule. On the other hand, if the traditional rule 
relating to burden of proof of the prosecution is allowed to be wrapped in pedantic 
coverage the offenders in serious offences would be the major beneficiaries, and the 
society would be the casualty.” (Underlines supplied) 

 

203. In the case of State of H.P Vs. Karanvir, reported in 2006 cri. L.J, page-2917 it 
has been held that: 

“The actual manner of misappropriation, it is well settled, is not required to be proved 
by the prosecution. Once entrustment is proved, it was for the accused to prove as to 
how the property entrusted to him was dealt with in view of Section 405 of the IPC. If 
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the respondent had failed to produce any material for this purpose, the prosection 
should not suffer therefor”. [Underlines supplied] 

 

204. In view of the above settled propositions in absence of any valid and legal 
explanation whatsoever we have no scope to accept the plea of alibi as taken by the convicts. 
Moreso, we have already observed that the prosecution has been able to prove it’s case 
against the convicts beyond doubt.  

 

205. Whether further investigation for collecting evidence to ascertain the source of 

the DD deposited in PM’s Orphanage Fund is at all necessary at this stage-  
The learned Advocates for Begum Zia repeatedly urged for further investigation of 
the case to ascertain the identity of the sender of the alleged DD deposited in the 
account of the PM’s Orphanage Fund. It was suggested by the defence that said 
money was sent by the Amir of Kuwait for Zia Orphanage Trust, not PM’s Orphanage 
Fund. 

 

206. It is evident from the evidence of PW-26 and PW-31 that the investigating agency 
tried it’s best to know the identity of the sender of the DD; but the investigating agency could 
not identify it because the DD issuing Bank United Saudi Commercial Bank was no longer in 
operation and in 1995 the said bank was merged with the SAMBA FINANCIAL GROUP. 
The authority of said Group was contacted by the investigating agency through Bangladesh 
Embassy in Riyad and Relationship Manager of the Group Mr. Tala Al-Otaibi, informed the 
Bangladesh Embassy through E-mail, exhibit-26 that it would take more time to provide 
information regarding the DD as the same was an old one and they would provide 
information if they could collect information as sought for. 

 

207. It is our considered view that in this particular case identity of the sender of the 
alleged DD is not at all an incriminating issue. It is to be the prime consideration that a 
foreign donation was received by the Prime Minister’s Office through the alleged DD for the 
PM’s Orphanage Fund, which was created for the well being of the orphans of the country 
and thereafter the said DD was deposited in the account of PM’s Orphanage Fund being 
account no.5416, over which Prime Minister Begum Zia had entrustment and dominion as we 
have already held. For the sake of argument, if we accept the contention of the learned 
Advocates for Begum Zia that the DD was sent by the Amir of Kuwait then question arises as 
to ‘what benefit Begum Zia will get’ from it. We are of the view that it will not in any way 
help Begum Zia.  

 

208. It can not be possible for any one to change the nature and object of the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund, which was a public fund. There is no scope to treat the PM’s Orphanage 
Fund as the Fund of Zia Orphanage Trust as argued by the learned Advocates for Begum Zia 
and on that issue we have already made our observations. On the DD itself it was clearly 
mentioned that same was issued in favour of PM’s Orphanage Fund, A/C no.5416 Sonali 
Bank, Ramna Corporate Branch, Dhaka. Moreover, the witnesses, in particular PW-1, PW-26 
and PW-31 were throughly cross examined by the deffence on the said issue and thus, the 
question of being Begum Zia prejudiced does not arise at all. 

 

209. Thus, we are unable to accept the fruitless as well as misconceived submission of the 
learned Advocates for Begum Zia. 

 

210. Moreover, there is no provision in any relevant laws or Code of Criminal Procedure 
wherby an accused can sought further investigation. It is well settled that there is no scope to 
pass any order for further investigation at the instance of a charge sheeted accused or a 
convict during pendency of an appeal in order to collect more evidence. Thus, the attempt of 
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Begum Zia for further investigation into the case at this stage is beyond the scope of law and 
deserves no consideration. 

 

211. Whether the present case against Begum Zia is a politically motive case- 

It has been attempted, on part of Begum Zia to label the case as politically motivated 
and thereby moved to exonerate her. But from the facts unfolded in evidence it 
transpires that the prosecution was initiated not on any political ground and Begum 
Zia has been brought to justice for specific arraignment constituting an offence 
punishable under the Penal Law. Thus she does not deserve any exception or 
immunity by virtue of being in the political opposition. Begum Zia has been 
prosecuted and tried in compliance with established lawful procedure governing 
investigations and trial. 

 

212. We further reiterate that no one is above the law and even a person having potential 
political identity is not immuned from being prosecuted and tried if he or she is arraigned to 
have committed an offence. 

 

213. Political affiliation of an accused does not deserve to be considered, as blanket 
immunity in arriving at decision as to his or her guilt and culpability. Facts and circumstances 
unveiled in evidence tendered by the prosecution led the trial court in arriving at decision, not 
the political identity of the accused. It has also been depicted that during trial Begum Zia got 
all defence rights permitted by law and prosecutorial procedures. 

 

214. Thus, merely for the reason of political identity of a person prosecuted for an offence 
punishable under the penal law it cannot be said that she has been brought to justice on 
political victimization. In the case in hand, it is rather evident that in exercise of political 
position and identity togher with the office of the head of the government Begum Zia is found 
to have had committed a penal offence which is found to have been proved beyond 
reasonable doubt. It would be a dangerous precedent indeed for the future if any such mere 
political identity is taken into account in the process of lawful adjudication of a criminal 
arraignment. 

 

Conclusion and decisions: 

215. The learned Special Judge found guilty to all the appellants under sections 409/109 
of the Penal Code as well as section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 read with 
section 109 of the Penal Code. However, the leanred Special Judge having considered the 
provision of section 26 of the General Clauses Act coupled with the principle of law 
enunciated in the cases of ATM Nazimullah Chowdhury VS. The State, reported in 65 DLR, 
page 500 and Kazi Ahmed Bazlul Karim Vs. The State, reported in 11 BLC, page 60, 
awarded sentence to the convicts only under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code.  

 

216. We have already hold that Begum Zia had entrustment and dominion over the PM’s 
Orphanage Fund, a public fund and a huge amount of money of the said fund was disposed 
of, used and misappropriated dishonesly by Begum Zia with the active aid of other convicts. 
In the instant case Begum Zia is the principal offender and other convicts actively aided and 
facilitated to commit such offence. 

  

217. Thus, it is our considered view that it is not proper to convict the principal offender 
Begum Zia under sections 409/109 of the Penal Code. Rather, Begum Zia being the principal 
offender is guilty of committing offence under section 409 of the Penal Code as well as 
section 5(2) of the Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947. And Begum Zia is to be sentenced 
only under section 409 of the Penal Code in view of the provision of section 26 of the 
General Clauses Act.  
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218. Conviction and sentence of other convict appellants under sections 409/109 of the 
Penal Code deserves no consideration. 

 

219. In awarding sentence to Begum Zia the learned Special Judge has considered her 
age, social and political status and quantum of misappropriated money. We do not find any 
legal justification and cogent ground to award lesser punishment to the principal offender 
Begum Zia than the other convicts who were the abators, considering her political and social 
status.  

 

220. It was the obligation of the principal accused Begum Zia to secure due and proper 
use of the fund obtained, for the welfare of orphans. But in exercise of the highest office of 
the government she rather allowed her sons, relative and party men in misdealing the fund 
with fraudulent intention by creating fake Trust. She being at the helm of power at the 
relevant time rather abused the chair of the premier of a country. It was a ruthless blow to the 
sanctity of state machineries as well. It derogated the image of the country to the global 
community. Abusing the highest chair of the government, Begum Zia was not expected to 
remain mute for years together in securing due and proper use of the fund over which she had 
entrustment. Deliberate and culpable inaction on her part appeared as the key part of the 
criminal design which was intended to deprive the orphans. All these cumulatively 
aggravated the nature and pattern of the offence for which she has been found guilty. 

 

221. Today, corruption which includes financial crime also in our country not only poses 
a grave danger to the concept of good governance, it also threatens the very foundation of the 
democracy, social justice and the Rule of Law. It is beyond controversy that where corruption 
begins all rights end. Corruption devalues human rights, chokes development and undermines 
justice, liberty, equality, fraternity which are the core values of our constitution. Thus, the 
duty of the court is to work in such a manner to strengthen the fight against corruption. 
Therefore, there is no scope to take a lenient view in awarding punishment to an accused 
against whom charge has been proved considering his/her social and/or political position. 

 

222. Taking the above facts into account we consider it appropriate that justice would be 
met if the maximum sentence prescribed in section 409 of the Penal Code is awarded to 
Begum Zia so that the persons enjoying the highest position in any organ or any public office 
of the State thinks twice to go ahead with such criminal design in coming days.  

 

223. Section 409 of the Penal Code prescribed purnishment with imprisonment for life or 
with imprisonment for a term which may extend to ten years with fine. In the instant case 
since the learned Special Judge awarded sentence to the other convicts for 10 years rigorous 
imprisonment with fine, we are of view that it would be legal, proper and just to award the 
same sentence to Begum Zia.  

 

224. In the result, the Appeals fail and are dismissed. The Rule is made absolute.  
 

225. Conviction and sentence of convict Kazi Salimul Haque alias Kazi Kamal and 
Sharfuddin Ahmed as awarded by the learned Special Judge is hereby maintained. 

  

226. Begum Khaleda Zia is convicted under section 409 of the Penal Code and section 
5(2) of the Prenvetion of Corruption Act,1947 and she is sentenced only under section 409 of 
the Penal Code to suffer rigorous imprisonment for a period of 10(ten) years and also to pay 
fine as imposed by the learned Special Judge. 

 

227. Send down the lowyer court records with a copy of this judgment and order at once 
to the court concerned for informations and necessary steps. 
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CPTU, Rule 60 of the PPR, Review Panel, NOC; 
 

It has been settled by this Division that when a proceeding is initiated which affects the 

rights of a party, the party whose right would be affected is to be given the opportunity 

to represent its case, whether statutory contemplated or not.             ... (Para 19) 
 

The Review Panel found the petitioner “non responsive” and found the respondent No.9 

responsive. This means that the Review Panel, in exercising its powers, substituted its 

judgment over the Selection Panel’s finding. The powers of the Review Panel, as set out 

in Rule 60 of the PPR are clear. The Review Panel is not conferred with the power of 

“substitution of judgments”. Rule 60 of the PPR also does not confer any residuary 

power upon the Review Panel. The powers conferred are exhaustive. The Review Panel 

cannot, in exercising powers under Rule 60 of the PPR, proceed to assume more powers 

than actually conferred. In the instant case, the Review Panel has done exactly this. In 

the instant case, the Review Panel has exceeded jurisdiction and therefore, its findings 

cannot be sustained.                   ... (Para 20) 

 

JUDGMENT 
 

NAIMA HAIDER J: 

 

1. As both the writ petitions are interconnected, these are taken up together and disposed 

of by this single judgment. 
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2. In Writ Petition No. 4730 of 2017, this Division issued Rule Nisi be issued calling 

upon the respondents to show cause as to why the impugned order dated 29.08.2016 passed 

in Review Application No. 30 of 2016 by the Review Panel No. 2 of Central Procurement 

Implementation Monitoring and Evaluation Division of Ministry of Planning under the 

signature of Respondent Nos. 6, 7 and 8 whereby the CPTU has declared “Ranata Limited” 

as “Responsive” and the Petitioner Company as “Non-responsive” in relation of certain goods 

and ancillary services, viz supply of “Vitamin-A capsule (200000 IU)” against Package No. 

G-1540(Lot-03), IFB No. CMSD/G- 1540/ICB/2015-16/D-6/35 dated, 02.03.2016 for 

Procurement of “Vitamin-A Capsule” under Health Sector Development Program (HSDP) 

(Annexure-B) should not be declared to have been issued without any lawful authority and is 

of no legal effect and/ or pass such other or further order or orders as to this Court may seem 

fit and proper.   

 

3. In Writ Petition No. 11134 of 2017, this Division issued Rule Nisi be issued calling 

upon the respondent to show cause as to why the illegal acts of the Respondents not issuance 

of No. Objection Certificate (NOC) for the year of 2015-2016 in favour of the Petitioner for 

supplying 2,70,00,000/-(Two Crore Seventy Lac) Pcs Vitamin A Capsules under Package 

No. G-1540 (Lot-03), IFB No. CMSD/G-1540/ICB/2015-16/D-6/35 dated 02.03.2016 for 

procurement of “Vitamin-A Capsule” under Health Sector Development Program (HSDP) 

should not be declared illegal and without any lawful authority and as to why No Objection 

Certificate (NOC) will not be issued for the year of 2015-2016 in favour of the Petitioner for 

supplying 2,70,00,000/-(Two Crore Seventy Lac) Pcs of Vitamin A Capsules under Package 

No. G-1540(Lot-03) IFB No. CMSD/G-1540/ICB/2015-16/D-6/35 date 02.03.2016 for 

procurement of “Vitamin-A Capsule” under Health Sector Development Program (HSDP) 

and/ or pass such other or further order or orders as to this Court may seem fit and proper.  

 

4. Writ Petition No. 4730 of 2017 was filed in light of the relevant factual backgrounds: 

the petitioner was set up in 1962 and has revolutionized Soft Gelatin Capsule manufacturing 

in India. The petitioner has received acknowledgements from ISO and World Health 

Organization.  

 

5. The petitioner participated in a competitive in light of Tender Notice published by the 

respondent No.5 for procurement of “Vitamin A Capsule” under Health Populations and 

Nutrition Sector Development Program (HPNSDP), Credit No. 4954-BD. The petitioner was 

successful and subsequently, the petitioner signed the NOA. Thereafter, the respondent No.5 

sent a letter to the respondent No. 2 for issuance of a No Objection Certificate in favour of 

the petitioner.  

 

6. In the meantime, the respondent No. 5 issued an L/C in favour of the petitioner for 

supply of 2,70,00,000 (Two Cores Seventy Lac) pieces of Vitamin A Capsules and on 

02.08.2016, the petitioner issued the Pro-forma Invoice in connection with supply of the said 

Vitamin A Capsules. Suddenly, the respondents requested the petitioner to delay shipment 

given that one of the bidders have appealed in the Review Panel of CPTU regarding the 

tender.  In the meantime, the respondent No. 2 requested the respondent No. 5 to issue NOC 

in favour of the petitioner and on 23.08.2016, the respondent No.2 requested the Secretary, 

Ministry of Health to issue instruction regarding issuance of NOC in favour of the petitioner.  
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7. In light of the request for delaying shipment, the respondent No. 5 sent a letter to the 

Executive Director of Bangladesh Bank for amendment of the LC issued in favour of the 

petitioner. 

 

8. On 30.10.2016, the respondent No. 5 sent a letter to the petitioner informing it that the 

Review Panel 2 of CPTU declared “Renata Limited” as “responsive” and the petitioner was 

declared “non responsive in relation to Lot 3. In the meantime, the petitioner exchanged 

correspondence with the respondents regarding the issuance of NOC. The petitioner inquired 

and found out that on 29.08.2016, the Review Panel 2 of CPTU in Review Application No. 

30 of 2016 declared Renata Limited as responsive and declared petitioner as “non 

responsive”. In the said proceedings, the petitioner was not made a party and the said order 

dated 29.08.2016 was passed without offering the petitioner any opportunity to represent its 

case. 

 

9. Being aggrieved, the petitioner moved this Division and obtained Rule Nisi.     

 

10. The Rule was opposed by the respondent No.9-Renata Limited by filing an Affidavit 

in Opposition. According to respondent No.9, the order dated 29.08.2016 was passed in 

accordance with law. The respondent No.9 points out that the petitioner was not a qualified 

bidder to start with in light of the Notification dated 02.06.1998 issued from the Prime 

Minister’s Office which provides that any medicine that is produced in ample within 

Bangladesh cannot be imported from overseas. The Tender Evaluation Committee did not 

take into consideration the aforesaid notification and illegally declared the petitioner to be 

responsive. The respondent No.9 further points out that since the petitioner does not have a 

NOC, it cannot be regarded as a responsive bidder. The respondent No.9, through its 

Affidavit in Opposition argued that it has met the required selection criteria and that it should 

be declared responsive. 

 

11. Mr. Sheikh Fazle Noor Taposh, the learned Counsel for the petitioner takes us 

through the writ petition and submits that the order dated29.08.2016 is without lawful 

authority. In this regard, Mr. Taposh submits that the Review Panel does not have the 

jurisdiction to make the petitioner non responsive and the respondent No.9 responsive in light 

of Rule 60 of the Public Procurement Rules 2008 (“ hereinafter referred to as PPR”). 

According to Mr. Taposh, under Rule 60 of the PPR, Review Panels can only reject appeal, 

set out Rule and procedures governing the subject matter of appeal, recommend remedial 

measures in appropriate circumstances, suggest annulment of non compliant actions and 

suggest compensation. Mr. Taposh referring to Rule 60 points out that the Review Panel does 

not have jurisdiction to declare the petitioner non responsive. Mr. Taposh also points out that 

the order dated 29.08.2016 was without lawful authority as the same was in violation of the 

principles of natural justice.  With regard to the contentions raised in the Affidavit in 

Opposition, Mr. Taposh submits that the terms of the Tender Document clearly contemplates 

that the local manufacturers may not be able to carry out the obligations contemplated in the 

Tender Document and hence foreign participation was invited; on this count, Mr. Taposh 

submits that there was never any violation of the order issued by the Prime Minister’s Office. 

Mr. Taposh further points out that when the respondents themselves have repeatedly 

recommended for the issuance of No Objection Certificate, the failure to issue the same 

cannot be attributed on the petitioner; accordingly it is a misconceived submission that the 

petitioner is not otherwise qualified to participate.  Mr. Taposh lastly makes elaborate 

submission on the eligibility of the respondent No.9 and contends that respondent No.9 was 
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correctly described as non responsive by the Selection Committee. On the above counts, he 

prays that the Rule should be made absolute. 

 

12. Mr. Md. Mokleshur Rahman, the learned Deputy Attorney General on behalf of 

respondent No. 2 in writ petition No. 11134 of 2017 submits that now a days, as many as 

eight pharmaceuticals industries in our country had given registration to produce Vitamin A 

200000IU Capsule to resolve the demand all over the country on the other hand those 

industries are earning foreign currency by export in such medicine and as a result of which 

NOC could not be issued in favour of the petitioner company.  

 

13. He further submits that as per the decision/instruction of the Hon’ble Prime Minister 

as well as respondent no. 1, some restriction has been imposed in respect of importation of 

such medicine including the medicine in question which has been manufacturing locally and 

adequately and now a days, since the medicine in question has been manufacturing in country 

adequately, the respondent no. 2 by the letter date 27.06.2016 (Annexure-2 series to this writ 

petition), refused to issued NOC in favour of the petitioner company for supplying “Vitamin 

A Capsule” but without challenging the said order of refusal of the instant writ petition has 

been filed and as such considering this aspect of the case be the Rule is liable to be 

discharged.  

 

14. Ms. Tasmia Prodhan, the learned Counsel appearing for the respondent No.9 submits 

that the respondent No. 9 should have been declared responsive by the Selection Committee 

and that the petitioner was correctly declared non responsive. She next submits that as per 

Public Procurement Rule 2008 the decision by the Review Panel shall be final and all 

concerned parties will act upon such decision. The review Panel of CPTU can only 

recommend or advice is not correct proposition. Furthermore they have full authority to make 

decision and binding upon the concerned parties. Hence, as a government institution, CMSD 

is obliged to follow the order of CPTU.  

 

15. She further submits that the Technical Evaluation Committee of the said tender failed 

to take into consideration the ITB Clause 16.4 of the Bidding Document which states that, 

“Products offered from overseas manufacturers must be registered with the National 

Regulatory Authority from the country of origin and bidder should submit a copy of the 

Product Registration Certificate”. She lastly submits that the Rule is liable to be discharged 

on the maintainability ground because there is other efficacious and alternative remedy to 

agitate petitioner’ grievances and prayer that the Rule be discharged.  

 

16. We have heard the learned Counsels at length and perused the Writ Petitions 

supplementary affidavits and the Affidavit in Opposition and other materials on record.  

 

17. The Invitation for Bids dated 02.03.2016 issued by the respondents clearly 

contemplate both foreign and local participation. It further contemplate that local 

manufacturers shall be given preference. The relevant part of the Invitation for Bids reads as 

follows: 

“… A margin of preference will be granted for the goods manufactured in 

Bangladesh if it meets the criteria as specified in the bidding documents…” 

 

18. The petitioner has relied on the Invitation for Bid and submitted the bid. The 

petitioner was found responsive by the Selection Committee. Not only that, the respondents 

have opened L/C in favour of the petitioner and the respondents have repeatedly taken steps 
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to obtain NOC for the petitioner. At this stage, we do not think it was appropriate for the 

Review Panel to erroneously rely on the Notification dated 02.06.1998 issued from the Prime 

Minister’s Office and hold that the petitioner is non-responsive. The tender document clearly 

contemplated participation of foreign bidders for supplying the Vitamin A Capsules. That be 

the position, we think that the respondents themselves have taken the view that it may not be 

possible for the local manufacturers to supply all the Vitamin A Capsules. Why else would 

the tender documents contemplate participation of foreign entities? 

 

19. What is interesting is the manner in which the Review Panel proceeded with disposal 

of the review. In deciding the “responsiveness” of the petitioner, the Review Panel proceeded 

with the determination without the petitioner.  It has been settled by this Division that when a 

proceeding is initiated which affects the rights of a party, the party whose right would be 

affected is to be given the opportunity to represent its case, whether statutorily contemplated 

or not. We fail to understand why the Review Panel proceeded with determination without 

hearing the petitioner.  As a result, the decision of the Review Panel did not take into account 

the explanation(s) that could have been offered by the petitioner. The findings of the Review 

Panel also did not take account of the petitioner’s explanation(s). In our view, the Review 

Panel proceeded with the determination and arrived at the decision in violation of the 

principles of natural justice.  

 

20. The Review Panel found the petitioner “non responsive” and found the respondent 

No.9 responsive. This means that the Review Panel, in exercising its powers, substituted its 

judgment over the Selection Panel’s finding. The powers of the Review Panel, as set out in 

Rule 60 of the PPR are clear. The Review Panel is not conferred with the power of 

“substitution of judgments”. Rule 60 of the PPR also does not confer any residuary power 

upon the Review Panel. The powers conferred are exhaustive. The Review Panel cannot, in 

exercising powers under Rule 60 of the PPR, proceed to assume more powers than actually 

conferred. In the instant case, the Review Panel has done exactly this. In the instant case, the 

Review Panel has exceeded jurisdiction and therefore, its findings cannot be sustained. 

 

21. Accordingly, we find merit in the Rule. The Rule issued in Writ Petition No. 4730 of 

2017 is made absolute for the reasons set out aforesaid. 

 

22. The petitioner filed Writ Petition No. 11134 of 2017 challenging the failure of the 

respondents to issue NOC in favour of the petitioner for the year 2015-2016 for 2,70,00,000 

pieces of Vitamin A capsules under Package No. G-1540 (Lot3), IFB No. CMSD/G-

1540/ICB/2015-16/D-6/35 dated 02.03.2016. The facts in this writ petition and the facts in 

Writ Petition No. 4730 of 2017 are overlapping. As such, we do not find it necessary to set 

out the factual backgrounds further.  

 

23. From the facts set out and the documents annexed, it seems to us that the petitioner 

had been issued NOC previously and for the relevant year, different departments of the 

Government had repeatedly requested for issuance of the NOC in favour of the petitioner. 

The NOC to be issued is interconnected with the performance under the tender documents. It 

serves no purpose if the petitioner is awarded the tender but the NOC is not issued. Since the 

petitioner had been issued NOC in the past, even well after the issuance of the order dated 

02.06.1998, the different departments of the Government have consistently recommended for 

issuance of the NOC in favour of the petitioner and the petitioner was awarded the tender and 

without the NOC the petitioner would not be able to perform the obligations under the tender. 

We find no reason as to why the respondents should not issue the NOC in favour of the 
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petitioner for the year 2015-2016. We take the view that the failure of the respondents in 

issuing the NOC is manifestly arbitrary and without lawful authority. Accordingly, we are 

inclined to make the Rule issued in Writ Petition No. 11134 of 2017 absolute with the 

following directions: 

“ The concerned writ respondents in Writ Petition No. 11134 of 2017 is directed to 

issue NOC in favour of the petitioner for the year 2015-2016 for 2,70,00,000 pieces 

of Vitamin A capsules under Package No. G-1540 (Lot3), IFB No. CMSD/G-

1540/ICB/2015-16/D-6/35 dated 02.03.2016 within 15 days from the date of receipt 

of the copy of the judgment and order. ” 
 

24. Communicate the judgment at once.  
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HIGH COURT DIVISION   

 

Civil Revision No. 1749 of 2014. 

 

Azadul Islam and others. 

      .....Defendant-Respondent-Petitioners. 

-Vs- 

Most. Asis Bewa and others. 

     …Plaintiff-Appellant-Opposite Parties. 

 

Mr. Mohammad Jamiruddin Sircar with 

Mr. A.H.M. Abdul Wahab, Advocates. 

      ……For the petitioners. 

 

Mr. Bivash Chandra Biswas with 

Mr. Mrinal Kanti Biswas, Advocates 

.......For the Opposite Parties. 

 

Heard on 31.01.2019, 03.03.2019, 

05.03.2019, 05.03.2019, 06.03.2019  

And  

Judgment on 07.03.2019.  

 

Present; 

Mr. Justice Md. Rezaul Hasan. 

 

Declaration of Title and permanent injunction,  

Lawful possession; 
 

I am also of opinion that, in a suit for permanent injunction, this Court should satisfy 

itself as regards the lawful nature of the plaintiffs’ possession. In a suit for permanent 

injunction, the issue regarding title need not be and should not be conclusively decided, 

because the purpose of granting the relief of permanent injunction is to prevent forceful 

ouster of an apparently lawful occupant of the suit property, thereby disapproving the 

act of taking law into the defendants own hands. Nonetheless, the court should 

incidentally look into the title or other lawful basis of the plaintiffs acquiring and 

continuing in possession, to satisfy itself that the plaintiff is not an usurper or trespasser 

or a land grabber and that he has come in clean hands. 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

Md. Rezaul Hasan, J. 

 

1. This Rule has been issued calling upon the opposite parties, to show cause as to why 

the impugned judgment and decree dated 12.02.2014 (decree signed on 17.02.2014), passed 

by the learned Additional District Judge, Gaibanda, in Other Appeal No.41 of 2013, allowing 

the appeal and reversing the judgment and decree dated 28.04.2013 (decree signed on 

05.05.2013), passed by the learned Joint District Judge, 1
st
 Court, Gaibanda, in Other Suit 

No.8 of 2003, should not be set-aside and/or pass such other order or orders passed as to this 

Court may seem fit and proper. 

 

2. Facts, relevant for disposal of the Rule, in brief, are that one Most. Asia Khatun and 

others, as plaintiffs, filed Other Suit No. 20 of 2002, subsequently re-numbered as 8 of 2003, 

against Md. Azadul Islam and others, impleaded as defendants, with a prayer for declaration 

of title and permanent injunction, in respect of the schedule property. However, the plaintiffs 

have subsequently dropped the prayer as regards declaration of title in the suit property. 

Hence, the suit remains to be one for permanent injunction, and, evidently, the defendant did 

not challenge this amendment of the plaint. 
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3. Be that as it may, the defendants Nos. 6-8/11/13/20/24-26 have filed written 

statements and contested in the suit.  

 

4. I have gone through the pleadings of the parties which need not be reproduced here. 

 

 5. The Trial Court, after hearing the parties and assessing the evidence on record, 

dismissed the suit by his judgment and decree dated 28.04.2013 (decree signed on 

05.05.2013).  

 

6. Against the said judgment and decree of the Trial Court, the plaintiff-appellant-

opposite parties, preferred Other Appeal No.41 of 2013 (as appellants) before the District 

Judge, Gaibanda, which was heard by the learned Additional District Judge, Gaibanda, who 

being the Appellate Court, has passed the impugned judgment and decree, allowing the 

appeal by setting aside the judgment and decree of the trial court, vide judgment and decree 

dated 12.02.2014 (decree signed on 17.02.2014). 

 

7. Being aggrieved by and dissatisfied with the judgment and decree of the Appellate 

Court, the Defendant-Respondent-Petitioners filed this application under section 115(1) of 

the Code of Civil Procedure and obtained the present Rule.  

 

8. Learned Senior Counsel Mr. Mohammad Jamiruddin Sircar with learned Advocate 

Mr. A.H.M. Abdul Wahab appeared for the petitioners. Mr. Sircar has placed the petition. He 

first of all submits that, the trial court having properly assessed the evidence on record, had 

come to the correct findings as regards the facts and circumstances of this case, which ought 

not to have been set aside by the appellate court. He also submits that, the trial court has 

rightly found that, the genology placed by the heirs of late Azizur Rahman (predecessor of 

the defendant) was not correct and that, the C.S. khatain No. 122 Ext. 1 does not support the 

plaintiff’s case of taking grant (patton) from Kosir Uddin, who had the superior rent 

receiving interest in the suit property. He next submits that, the findings of the trial court has 

been wrongly set aside by the appellate court without applying the judicial mind or assessing 

the evidence on record. He, making reference to the judgment of the appellate court as well as 

to the C.S. khatain No. 1, also submits that the plaintiff could not prove their prima-facie title 

in the suit land in as much as Vomor Ali Sarker is entitled to get 59 decimals of land as per 

C.S. khatain, but the plaintiffs have made out a case of obtaining kabuliat for 90 decimals of 

land in the suit property, which is in excess of the land owned by Kosir Uddin, who was son 

of Vomor Ali Sarker. In support of his contention, he has referred a decision reported in 8 

M.L.R. (AD) 2003, at page 41: between Sushil Kumar Paik and another -Vs- Harendra Nath 

Samadder and another. He further submits that, the plaintiffs have submitted certain 

documents purported to be the kabuliat dakhila in support of the alleged kabuliat to prove 

their title in the suit property, but the court cannot take the same into consideration, vide the 

decision reported in 51 D.L.R. (AD)(1999) 150: between Chandan Mondal @ Kushal Nath 

Mondal and others -Vs- Abdus Samad Talukder and others. But, the appellate court has 

totally ignored the law declared in the said decisios and thereby passed the impugned 

judgment and decree and has committed serious error of law in passing the impugned 

decision occasioning failure of justice and, therefore, the impugned judgment and decree 

passed by the appellate court are liable to be set aside and the judgment and decree passed by 

the trial court may be upheld, he prayed for.  
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9. Mr. Bivash Chandra Biswas along with Mr. Mrinal Kanti Biswas, learned Advocates 

appeared for the opposite parties. Mr. Bivash Chandra Biswas, on the contrary, submits that, 

this is a case for permanent injunction in which the question of proof of title does not at all 

arise. The learned Advocate submits that, the question of title may be looked into incidentally 

in a suit for permanent injunction. He submits that, the plaintiffs have filed R.S. khatian No. 

147 showing 16 annas lands in the suit plot No. 796 and 830/1685, comprising 98 decimals of 

land, and the said khatian is in the name of predecessor of the plaintiffs, but the other side 

(defendants) did not challenge the said khatians and the presumption of the validity of the 

said khatians remains un-rebutted and this proves the prima-facie basis of the plaintiff’s 

acquiring and remaining possession of the suit land. He next submits that, the schedule “Ka” 

to the plaint correctly described the land shown in the S.A. khatian No. 147 of Mouza Mouza 

Sathalia, P.S. Saghata, under District- Gaibanda. He further submits that, the plaintiffs have 

proved their case by adducing P.W. 1, who has deposed in support of the plaintiff’s case and 

proved the documentary evidence including aforesaid khatian, to support their prima-facie 

case regarding the plaintiff’s lawful possession in the suit land. P.W. 1 was then corroborated 

by P.Ws. 2 and 3. He next submits, the defendants did not cross examine these P.W. Nos. 2 

and 3, nor did the defendants adduce any witness to prove their positive case. He also submits 

that, the appellate court has pointed out all these aspects of this case and has rightly passed 

the impugned judgment and decree, which calls for no interference by this revisional Court. 

In support of his contention, he has referred to the decisions reported in 1986 B.L.D. (HCD) 

155: between Pasharuddin Mir  -Vs-  Ismail Mir and others, 4 B.L.D. (AD)(1984) 285 

:between Manindar Nath Sen Sarma -Vs- Bangladesh, 9 B.L.D. (HCD) (1989) 368: between 

Sheikh Ahmed and others -Vs- Abdul Alim and also the decision reported in 56 D.L.R. 

(AD)(2004) 53: between Government of Bangladesh, represented by the Additional Deputy 

Commissioner, Gazipur -Vs- AKM Abdul Hye and others. In these decisions, referred to 

above, the superior Court has confirmed the presumption of the validity attached to R.S. 

khatain as per section 144A of the State Acquisition and Tenancy Act, 1950, and also held 

that, failure to prove the title in a case for permanent injunction will not disentitle the plaintiff 

to get permanent injunction, if they prove their exclusive possession in the suit property. He 

proceeds on that, the impugned judgment and decree passed by the appellate court suffers 

from no illegality or from any other lacuna, whatsoever, and this Rule has no merit and the 

same may be discharged.      

 

10. I have heard the learned Advocates for both sides, perused the application for 

revision, lower Court’s record as well as the judgment of both the Courts below and other 

materials in the record.  

 

11. This is a case for permanent injunction, in which the question of declaration of title 

does not at all arise, though the question of title should be looked into incidentally, to satisfy 

the court about the basis of the lawful possession of the plaintiff (as opposed to the 

possession of a trespasser or land grabber).  

 

12. I find that, R.S. khatian No. 147, shows 16 annas lands of the suit plot No. 796 and 

830/1685, comprises 98 decimals of land, and that the said khatian is in the name of 

predecessors of the plaintiffs, but the other side (defendants) did not challenge the legality or 

correctness of the same and the presumption of the validity of these khatian remains un-

rebutted. The schedule “Ka” to the plaint has correctly described the land shown in the S.A. 

khatian No. 147 of Mouza Mouza Sathalia, P.S. Saghata under District- Gaibanda.  
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13. I also find that, the plaintiffs have proved their case by adducing P.W. 1, who has 

deposed in support of the plaintiff’s case and proved the documentary evidence including 

aforesaid khatians to support their prima-facie case regarding their lawful possession in the 

suit land and he was corroborated by P.Ws. 2 and 3, but the defendants did not cross examine 

these P.W. Nos. 2 and 3, nor did they adduce witness to prove their positive case.  

 

14. I also find that, the appellate court has pointed out and discussed all these aspects of 

this case and has rightly passed the impugned judgment and decree, which call for no 

interference by this revisional Court.  

 

15. I am also of opinion that, in a suit for permanent injunction, this Court should 

satisfy itself as regards the lawful nature of the plaintiffs’ possession. In a suit for 

permanent injunction, the issue regarding title need not be and should not be 

conclusively decided, because the purpose of granting the relief of permanent injunction 

is to prevent forceful ouster of an apparently lawful occupant of the suit property, 

thereby disapproving the act of taking law into the defendants own hands. Nonetheless, 

the court should incidentally look into the title or other lawful basis of the plaintiffs 

acquiring and continuing in possession, to satisfy itself that the plaintiff is not an 

usurper or trespasser or a land grabber and that he has come in clean hands. Therefore, 

decree in a suit for permanent injunction will not operate as res-judicata, in a 

subsequent suit, so far as the issue of title is concerned. 

 

16. With these findings and observations, I find that, the impugned judgment and decree 

passed by the appellate court suffers from no illegality, nor from any other lacuna 

whatsoever, and this Rule has no merit and the same should be discharged.  

 

    O R D E R 

  

17. In the result, the Rule is discharged. 

 

18. The impugned judgment and decree dated 12.02.2014 (decree signed on 17.02.2014), 

passed by the learned Additional District Judge, Gaibanda, in Other Appeal No.41 of 2013 is 

hereby upheld.  

 

19. The order of stay granted earlier by this Court is hereby vacated. 

 

20. No costs.  

 

21. Let a copy of this judgment along with the Lower Court’s Record be sent down to the 

concerned Courts at once. 
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HIGH COURT DIVISION 

 

Civil Revision No. 1783 of 2016. 

 

Md. Hossen and others. 

…….Petitioners. 

-Vs- 

Haji Shamsunnahar Begum and others. 

.....Opposite Parties. 

Mr. Abul Kalam Chowdhury, Advocate. 

 ....For the petitioners. 

 

Mr. Shafique Ahmed, Sr. Advocate with 

Mr. Mahbub Shafique with 

Mr. Mohammad Abdul Karim, Advocates. 

....For the Opposite Party Nos.1. 

 

Heard on 06.02.2019, 24.02.2019 

and Judgment on 25.02.2019.  

 

Present: 

Mr. Justice Md. Rezaul Hasan. 

 

Order 1 Rule 10 of the Code of Civil Procedure, Co-plaintiffs, interest , the Waqf Estate 

in the suit property; 
 

The applicant Md. Hossen and others, who had filed the application under Order 1 Rule 

10 of the Code of Civil Procedure, were not entitled to be added as plaintiffs as heirs of 

deceased plaintiff No. 2 Haji Badsha Miah. Because, the admitted position is that, the 

suit property has been claimed (in the plaint) as the property of Abdul Nabi Malum 

Waqf Estate, not personal property of Haji Badsha Miah.             ... (Para 13) 

 

As such, the added plaintiff-petitioners have denied the interest of the Waqf Estate in 

the suit property by asserting their personal right in the same. Hence, their interest in 

the suit property is in conflict with that of the (surviving) plaintiff who claims herself as 

the sole Motwali (Manager) of the Waqf Estate, since another Motwali (plaintiff No. 2) 

has died.                    ... (Para 14) 

 

Therefore, the interest claimed by the petitioner being in clear conflict with that claimed 

by the plaintiff, these Md. Hossen and 4 other are not entitled to be added as co-

plaintiffs.                     ... (Para 15) 

 

JUDGMENT  

 

Md. Rezaul Hasan, J. 
 

1. This Rule has been issued calling upon the Opposite Party No. 1, to show cause as to 

why the impugned judgment and order dated 12.04.2016, passed by the Additional District 

Judge, 6
th

 Court, Chattogram, in Civil Revision No.153 of 2015, allowing the revision and 

thereby setting aside the judgment and order dated 26.08.2015, passed by the learned Senior 

Assistant Judge, 3
rd

 Court, Chattogram in Other Class Suit No. 129 of 1999, should not be 

set-aside and/or pass such other order or orders passed as to this Court may seem fit and 

proper. 

 

2. Facts, relevant for disposal of the Rule, in short, are that one Haji Shamsunahar 

Begum, the 1
st
 wife of Haji Badsha Miah, has filed Other Class Suit No. 129 of 1999 on 

26.09.1999, as plaintiff, before the court of 3
rd

 Assistant Judge, Chattogram, seeking 
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following reliefs that “ (L) 1ew ¢hh¡c£l e¡−j ¢f|Hp| 1235/2709 M¢au¡e Hhw ¢lHp| 378ew M¢au¡e J 2ew 
¢hh¡c£l e¡−j ¢h|Hp| 3199 ew M¢au¡−e ¢m¢f i¥m, ¢i¢šq£e, a’La¡f§ZÑ, ®k¡Np¡Sn£, h¡¢am AL¡kÑÉLl Hhw av à¡l¡u 
h¡c£Ne J Ju¡Lg ®øV h¡dÉ e−q j−jÑ ®O¡oe¡j§mL ¢X¢H² fËc¡−el j¢SÑ quz(M) ®fË¡J² j−a ®O¡oe¡ fËQ¡l¡−¿¹ e¡¢mn£ S¢j 
Bhc¤m eh£ j¡m¤j Ju¡Lg ®ø−Vl f−r ®j¡a¡u¡õ£ p§−œ h¡c£N−el e¡j l¡Sü cç−l ¢m¢f L¢lu¡ ¢e−a A¢dL¡l£ qJu¡ j−jÑ 
®O¡oe¡j§mL fË¢aL¡−ll ¢X¢H² fËc¡−el j¢SÑ quz”   

 
3. The said suit was filed against Sahajadi Begum and 6 others as defendants.  

 

4. It appears from an application filed by Md. Hossen and 4 others, son and daughter of 

Haji Badsha Miah, who died on 27.07.2013 because of aliment of old age, leaving his 1
st
 wife 

Haji Shamsunnahar Begum (the plaintiff No. 1) and the children, who are the present 

applicants. Further case of the applicants Md. Hossen and 4 others, is that, the plaintiff No. 2, 

Haji Badsha Miah, had 2(two) wives,  of whom Haji Shamsunnahar Begum, plaintiff No. 1, 

is his 1
st
 wife, while these applicants (Md. Hossen and others are children of Haji Badsha 

Miah and his 2
nd

 wife, Bagicha Khatun). In these backgrounds, the applicants had filed an 

application under Order 1 Rule 10 of the Code of Civil Procedure, before the trial court, to 

add them as co-plaintiffs with Haji Shamsunnahar Begum, as heirs of the plaintiff No. 2. 

 

5. The trial court, after hearing the said application, allowed the prayer of the applicants 

Md. Hossen and 4 others, by its order dated 26.08.2015, passed in Other Class Suit No. 129 

of 1999, and added them as co-plaintiff Nos. 2(Ka) to 2(Umo), in place of plaintiff No. 2, 

deceased Jahi Badsha Miah. 

 

6. Against the said order dated 26.08.2015, of the trial court, Haji Shamsunnahar Begum 

preferred a revisional application, being No. 153 of 2015, before the learned District Judge, 

Chattogram, which was heard and disposed of by the learned Additional District Judge, 6
th

 

Court, Chattogram who, by his judgment and order dated 12.04.2016, has allowed the 

revision and thereby set aside the judgment and order of the trial court. Consequently, the 

said applicants have ceased to remain as co-plaintiffs number 2(Ka) to 2(Umo). 

 

7. Being aggrieved by and dissatisfied with the said order dated26.08.2015 of the lower 

revisional court, Md. Hossen and others filed this application under section 115(4) of the 

Code of Civil Procedure and obtained leave as well as the present Rule. 

 

8. Mr. Abul Kalam Chowdhury, learned Advocate appeared for the petitioner. He 

submits that, the trial court has rightly passed the order dated 26.08.2015 making the 

applicants as co-plaintiffs Nos. 2(Ka) to 2(Umo) in the place of plaintiff No. 2 Haji Badsha 

Miah (died on 22.07.2013), as his heirs. But, the revisional court has failed to appreciate the 

factual and legal significance of the order dated 26.08.2015 and has committed error of law, 

in passing the impugned order, that has resulted in error in the impugned order thus passed, 

occasioned failure of justice and thereby prejudiced the interest of the applicants. He 

empathically submits that, since the petitioner are admitted heirs of deceased plaintiff No. 2 

Haji Badsha Miah, therefore, they are legally entitled to be added as co-plaintiffs. As such, he 

concludes, the Rule bears merit and the same may kindly be made absolute. 

 

 9. Learned Senior Counsel Mr. Shafique Ahmed alongwith learned Advocates Mr. 

Mahbub Shafique and Mr. Mohammad Abdul Karim have appeared on behalf of the Opposite 

party No. 1. The main contention of the learned Counsel Mr. Shafique Ahmed is that, from a 

mere perusal of the plaint it will appear that, the suit has been filed by Haji Shamsunnahar 

Begum, as plaintiff No. 1, and her husband Haji Badsha Miah, as plaintiff No. 2, in which, 
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the children of Haji Badsha Miah (subsequently added as plaintiffs Nos. 2(Ka) to 2(Umo) 

were not plaintiffs, nor they were defendant in that suit. He further submits that, this is a suit 

relating to right and title of Waqf Estate, in the suit property, and the reliefs prayed for are (i) 

the correction of three khatins and records of right which ought to have prepared in the name 

of Waqf Estate and (ii) to record the name of the plaintiff Nos. 1 and 2, in the corrected 

khatins, as the Motwali of Abdul Nobi Malum Waqf Estate. Therefore, admittedly, the suit is 

concerning correction of the khatian or records of right in respect of the property of the Waqf 

Estate, not in respect of the personal property of Badsha Mia (deceased plaintiff No.2). He 

proceeds on that, the property as mentioned in the schedule of the plaint, since not claimed as 

the individual property of Haji Badsha Miah, rather it was claimed to be the property of Waqf 

Estate, therefore, the Motwaliship in respect of the suit property will be governed as per 

provisions of Waqf deed, not by way of inheritance, as claimed by the heirs of deceased Haji 

Badsha Miah. The learned Advocate further submits that, the trial court has committed error 

of law in as much as it has failed to appreciate that the property described in the schedule of 

the plaint belonged to Waqf Estate as distinct from individual property of the plaintiff No.2. 

Hence, the application for addition of parties filed by the heirs of deceased Haji Badsha Miah 

was totally misconceived and, in passing the impugned judgment and order dated 12.04.2016, 

by setting aside the order dated 26.08.2015 of the trial court, the lower revisional court has 

committed no error of law, nor the same has resulted in any error in the impugned decision, 

causing any prejudice to the interest of the applicants. He, therefore, submits that, the Rule 

has no merit and the same may be discharged. 

  

10. I have heard the learned Advocates appeared for the parties, perused the application 

for revision, as well as the counter affidavit filed by the plaintiff-opposite party No. 1, 

alongwith judgment and order of the Courts below and other materials in the record. 

  

11. From a mere perusal of the plaint (Annexure-A), I find that, the suit has been filed by 

Haji Shamsunnahar Begum, Opposite Party No. 1 and her husband Haji Badsha Miah, 

respectively as the plaintiff Nos. 1 and 2, claiming right and title of the Waqf Estate, in the 

schedule property, and for correction of three khatians by recording name of the Waqf Estate 

as per prayer “Ka”. Further prayer (Kha) is that, the name of the Motwali i.e. plaintiffs shall 

be recorded in the corrected khatians as representative (Motwali) of Abdul Nabi Malum Waqf 

Estate.  

 

12. It appears that, this is a case concerning right and title of the Waqf Estate that was 

clouded because of alleged wrong recording of name of the principal defendants in the 

khatian referred to in prayer “Ka”, with a further prayer (Kha) to record name of the Motwali 

of Waqf Estate in the corrected khatians, if the suit is proved before the court.  

 

13. As such, the distinction is very much clear and the applicant Md. Hossen and others, 

who had filed the application under Order 1 Rule 10 of the Code of Civil Procedure, were not 

entitled to be added as plaintiffs as heirs of deceased plaintiff No. 2 Haji Badsha Miah. 

Because, the admitted position is that, the suit property has been claimed (in the plaint) as the 

property of Abdul Nabi Malum Waqf Estate, not personal property of Haji Badsha Miah. If 

the plaintiff seeks that, the record was wrong, then these disputed khatians should be 

corrected and name of Motwali should, as per procedure, be recorded in the corrected khatian 

to be prepared in the name of Waqf Estate (if and to the extent the plaintiff succeeds). Hence, 

I do not find anything wrong, nor any error in the impugned decision, passed by the first 

revisional court, in Civil Revision No. 153 of 2015.  
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14. Another very much important legal and factual aspect is that, the interest claimed by 

the applicants Md. Hossen and others, in the light of the facts and circumstances stated in the 

application filed by them under Order 1 Rule 10 of the Code of Civil Procedure vis-a-vis, the 

case stated in the plaint, is in clear conflict with the interest claimed by the plaintiffs in Other 

Class Suit No.129 of 1999. In this suit, the plaintiff claimed right and interest of the Abdul 

Nabi Malum Waqf Estate in the suit property and prayed for correction of the khatians, not as 

individual owners. On the contrary, the applicants Md. Hossen and others have claimed 

personal interest in the suit property, practically denying the right and title claimed by Waqf 

Estate in the suit property. As such, the added plaintiff-petitioners have denied the interest of 

the Waqf Estate in the suit property by asserting their personal right in the same. Hence, their 

interest in the suit property is in conflict with that of the (surviving) plaintiff who claims 

herself as the sole Motwali (Manager) of the Waqf Estate, since another Motwali (plaintiff 

No. 2) has died.  

 

15. Therefore, the interest claimed by the petitioner being in clear conflict with that 

claimed by the plaintiff, these Md. Hossen and 4 other are not entitled to be added as 

co-plaintiffs.  
 

16. Having further considered the application filed under Order 1 Rule 10 of the Code of 

Civil Procedure, I also find that, the applicants did not claim to add themselves as defendants, 

alleging that they are necessary parties. Therefore, this Court can neither pass any order to 

add them as defendants.  

 

17. In view of the above, I find no merit in this Rule. 

   O R D E R 

 

18. In the result, the Rule is discharged. 

 

19. The impugned judgment and order dated 12.04.2016, passed by the Additional 

District Judge, 6
th

 Court, Chattogram, in Civil Revision No.153 of 2015, allowing the 

revision and thereby setting aside the judgment and order dated 26.08.2015, passed by the 

learned Senior Assistant Judge, 3
rd

 Court, Chattogram, in Other Class Suit No. 129 of 1999, 

is hereby upheld.  

 

20. The order of stay and stay granted earlier by this Court is hereby vacated. 

 

21. No costs.  

 

22. Let a copy of this judgment be sent to the concerned Courts at once. 
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Emigration Ordinance, recruiting license being, Emigration Ordinance, 1982, section 14 

of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982, cancellation of the license and forfeiture of 

securities; 
 

It is a mandatory provision of law that before cancellation of a license, the authority 

must give a chance to the licensee of being heard, failing which the cancellation has no 

basis in the eye of law.                  ... (Para 24) 

 

In this case, the order does not show nor there is anything on record to show that the 

respondent has given any chance of hearing to the petitioner before making such an 

order of cancellation and forfeiture of securities. Therefore, the order is violative of the 

section 14(1) of the ordinance and was thus bad in law.              ... (Para 25) 

 

The writ Court will not examine and weigh the aggrieved person’s case on merit as an 

Appellate Court but to ensure that he was given a fair deal by the authority in 

accordance with law.                  ... (Para 26) 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

Md. Faruque (M. Faruque), J:   
 

1. Rule Nisi was issued calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why the Memo 

No. 49.008.011.0977.00.2075.2010-330 dated 08.07.2013 (Annexure-L) issued by the 

respondent No. 3 cancelling the petitioner’s license being No. RL-977 and thereby forfeiting 

the entire security deposits against the said recruiting license of the petitioner under section 
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14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 and/or pass such other or further order or orders as to 

this Court may seem fit and proper.  

  

2. At the time of issuance of the Rule the operation of the impugned Memo No. 

49.008.011.0977.00.2075.2010-330 dated 08.07.2013 (Annexure-L) was stayed.   

  

3. The short facts, for disposal of the Rule are that the petitioner is a private limited 

company being registered with the Register of Joint Stock Company and engaged in 

manpower business having recruiting agency and the petitioner is the member of Bangladesh 

Association of International Recruiting Agencies (BAIRA). The petitioner has been granted a 

recruiting license being No. RL-977 by observing all the formalities under Section 10 of the 

Emigration Ordinance, 1982 to conduct the business of a recruiting agency.  

  

4. The respondent No. 2 issued a notice vide Memo No. ESRL-2285/2005/2011 dated 

27.09.2012 (Annexure-D) upon the petitioner stating that the Ministry of Manpower, 

Singapore did not authorize First Care Employment Agency in relation to the appointment of 

5000 Bangladeshi Workers and Bangladesh High Commission did not attest any demand 

letter in favor of the petitioner and accordingly asked the petitioner to give a reply from the 

within 7(seven) days.   

  

5. The petitioner on 07.10.2013 sent a reply to the respondent No. 2 in relation to the 

show cause notice dated 27.09.2012 stating that the petitioner had no knowledge about the 

allegation of the show cause notice and the petitioner did not send any worker to the said 

company of Singapore and the petitioner did not give any power of authority and also did not 

take any money in the name of that company of Singapore. (Annexure-E).  

  

6. The Director, Bureau of Manpower, Employment and Trading formed an investigation 

team for investigation to submit a report about the demand letter for 5000 Bangladeshi 

Workers to the First Care Employment Agency by forgoing seal and signature of First 

Secretary (Labour), Singapore, Bangladesh High Commission and also requested the 

investigation team to submit a report within 10(ten) working days vide Memo No. ESRL 

2285/2005 dated 26.11.2012. The Deputy Director and Investigation Officer, Bureau of 

Manpower, Employment and Trading issued a letter vide Memo No. ESRL-

977/ac¿¹/2012/2437 dated 29.11.2012 before the investigation officer in person with a written 

statement and related evidence to the said allegation. (Annexure-F).  

  

7. Thereafter, respondent No. 3 issued a show cause notice vide memo No. 

49.008.011.0833.00.101.2010-11 dated 10.01.2013 upon the petitioner as to why the license 

of the petitioner shall not be cancelled and the securities of the petitioner shall not be 

forfeited according to section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 and also asked the 

petitioner submit to reply of that show cause notice within 15 (Fifteen) days. (Annexure-H) 

 

8. Thereafter, the petitioner sent a reply to the Secretary, Ministry of Expatriates’ Welfare 

and Overseas Employer Affairs in relation to the show cause notices dated 10.01.2013 stating 

that the petitioner had no knowledge about the said allegation and moreso the Investigation 

Team did not find any connection of the petitioner with the said allegation and accordingly 

prayed for discharging him from the said allegation. (Annexure-I). 

  

9. The respondent No. 3 again issued another show cause notice vide Memo No. 

49.008.011.0033.00.101.2010-179 dated 02.04.2013 upon the petitioner stating that the 
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petitioner failed to submit any documentary evidence in relation to one namely Md. Hossain 

and accordingly the liability of making forged seal and signature goes to the petitioner and 

hence the respondent No. 3 according to section 104 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 

asked the petitioner as to why the license of the petitioner shall not be cancelled and the 

securities of the petitioner shall not be forfeited and also requested the petitioner to submit a 

reply within 15 (Fifteen) days. (Annexure-J). 

  

10. The petitioner submitted a reply to the Secretary, Ministry of Expatriates’ Welfare 

and Overseas Employer Affairs in relation to the show cause notice dated 02.04.2013 stating 

that the investigation team did not find any connection of the petitioner with the said 

allegation and moreso gave the address and telephone number of Md. Hossain mentioning 

that the petitioner is willing to give testimony at any time and prayed for discharging him 

from the said allegation. (Annexure-K).   

 

11. Thereafter, the respondent No. 3 cancelled the license of the petitioner and forfeited 

the securities of the petitioner under section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 vide 

Memo No. 49.008.011.0977 .00.2075.2010-330 dated 08.07.2013 stating that the petitioner 

failed to submit any evidence in relation to confirmation of Md. Hossen with the allegation 

(Annexure-L). The petitioner having no other alternative and efficacious remedy, filed this 

writ petitioner under Article 102 of the Constitution of People’s Republic of Bangladesh and 

obtained the instant Rule.  

   

12. The learned Advocate Mr. Mizanul Hoque Chowdhury appearing for the petitioner 

submits that section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 provides that Government may 

cancel license after making inquiry and by giving opportunity of being heard to the licensee 

but in the instant case the respondents issued as many as 4 (four) show cause notices upon the 

petitioner and accordingly the petitioner replied the said show cause notices and also 

expressed his desire to participate in the hearing vide reply dated 27.04.2013 but the 

respondents without giving any opportunity to the petitioner issued the impugned order 

cancelling the license of the petitioner and forfeiting the securities which is violative of 

section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982. In this context the learned Advocate referred 

the case of Government of Bangladesh and others –versus- Tajul Islm reported in 4MLR(AD) 

199. 
  

13. He further submits that the respondents did not supply the inquiry report along with 

the show cause notice  before cancelling the license and forfeiting the securities which is 

violative of section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 and also violation of principle of 

natural justice and the impugned order has been passed at the direction of the Bangladesh 

High Commission, Singapore. Therefore the respondent No. 3 failed to exercise his own 

discretion considering the reply of the petitioner which is evident from the impugned order as 

such the impugned order is liable to be declared to have been passed without lawful authority 

and is of no legal effect.  

 

14. He submits that the petitioner cannot run his business due to cancellation of the 

licensee and he has been deprived from his right to life, livelihood, business as guaranteed 

under Article 31, 32 and 40 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of Bangladesh. 

 

15. Rule has been contested by the respondent No. 2 by filing affidavit-in-opposition 

wherein it has been stated that the petitioner was given opportunity of being heard appearing 

before the respondent No. 3. The investigation team mentioned in the investigation report that 

Md. Hossain is a Bangladeshi national, worked as a representative of the petitioner who 
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managed the demand letters for sending workers abroad by the petitioner. But while the 

address of Md. Hossain was asked by the investigating team, the petitioner failed to give the 

address of Md. Hossain which proved the involvement of the petitioner with the allegation.  

 

16. By filing another supplementary affidavit dated 08.08.2018 for the respondent No. 2  

the learned Advocate Mr. Tanvir Parvez submits that the Ministry of Expatriates’ Welfare 

and Overseas Employment came to learn about the forged demand note from a letter dated 

27.07.2012 issued by the First Secretary (Labour) of the Bangladesh High Commission in 

Singapore. The respondent No. 2 cannot confirm as to whether the copy of the inquiry report 

was given to the writ petitioner and the record does not show anything that the copy was 

given to the writ-petitioner. He also submits that the petitioner is not entitled to get a copy of 

the inquiry report, as such the petitioner’s right under the principle of natural justice had not 

been breached. The Ministry of Expatriate Welfare and Overseas Employment has not 

initiated any action against Md. Hossain.  

 

17. We have heard the learned Advocate for the writ-petitioner and the learned Advocate 

for the respondent No. 2, perused the impugned letter, writ petition and other materials on 

record.  

 

18. It appears that the petitioner is a private limited company duly registered in the 

Register of Joint Stock Company and engaged in manpower business having recruiting 

agency and the petitioner is a member of Bangladesh Association of International Recruiting 

Agencies (BAIRA). The petitioner has been granted a recruiting license being No. RL-977 

under Section 10 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 to conduct the business of a recruiting 

agency. The respondent No. 2 issued a notice vide Memo No. ESRL-2285/2005/2011 dated 

27.09.2012 upon the petitioner stating that the Ministry of Manpower, Singapore did not 

authorize First Care Employment Agency in relation to the appointment of 5000 Bangladeshi 

Workers and Bangladesh High Commission did not attest any demand letter in favor of the 

petitioner and accordingly asked for a reply from the petitioner within 7(seven) days.  On 

07.10.2013 the petitioner sent a reply to the respondent No. 2 in relation to the show cause 

notice dated 27.09.2012 stating that the petitioner had no knowledge about the allegation of 

the show cause notice stating that the petitioner company did not send any worker to the said 

company of Singapore . The petitioner-company also stated that the company did not give 

any power of authority to any person and has not take any money in the name of that 

company of Singapore.  

  

19. The Director, Bureau of Manpower, Employment and Trading formed an 

investigation team for investigation and to submit a report about the demand letter for 5000 

Bangladeshi Workers to the First Care Employment Agency by forgoing seal and signature of 

First Secretary (Labour), Singapore, High Commission and the investigation team asked to 

submit a report within 10(ten) working days vide Memo No. ESRL 2285/2005 dated 

26.11.2012. The Deputy Director and Investigation Officer, Bureau of Manpower, 

Employment and Trading issued a letter vide Memo No. ESRL-977/ac¿¹/2012/2437 dated 

29.11.2012 before the investigation officer in person with a written statement and related 

evidence to the said allegation. Thereafter, the respondent No. 3 issued a show cause notice 

vide memo No. 49.008.011.0833.00.101.2010-11 dated 10.01.2013 upon the petitioner as to 

why the license of the petitioner shall not be cancelled and the securities of the petitioner 

shall not be forfeited according to section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 and also 

requested the petitioner to submit a reply of that show cause notice within 15 (Fifteen) days.  
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20. It appears from the record that the petitioner sent a reply to the Secretary, Ministry of 

Expatriates’ Welfare and Overseas Employer Affairs in relation to the show cause notices 

dated 10.01.2013 stating that the petitioner had no knowledge about the said allegation. 

Thereafter, the Investigation Team did not find any connection of the petitioner with the said 

allegation and accordingly prayed for discharging him from the said allegation. 

  

21. The respondent No. 3 again issued another show cause notice vide Memo No. 

49.008.011.0033.00.101.2010-179 dated 02.04.2013 upon the petitioner stating that the 

petitioner failed to submit any documentary evidence in relation to one namely Md. Hossain 

and accordingly the liability of making forged seal and signature goes to the petitioner and 

hence the Respondent No. 3 according to section 104 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 

asked the petitioner as to why the license of the petitioner shall not be cancelled and the 

securities of the petitioner shall not be forfeited and also requested the petitioner to submit a 

reply within 15 (Fifteen) days. Thereafter, the petitioner submitted a reply to the Secretary, 

Ministry of Expatriate Welfare and Overseas Employer Affairs in relation to the show cause 

notice dated 02.04.2013 stating that the investigation team did not find any connection of the 

petitioner with the said allegation and the petitioner has no relation with the said Md. Hossain 

or any other person to the First Secretary, Singapore and the petitioner never submitted the 

demand letter for 5000 person or any person to the concerned Ministry and the alleged 

Mohamad Hossain is not connected with the petitioner company. The petitioner also stated 

that he is willing to give testimony at any time and prayed for discharging him from the said 

allegation.  But the respondent No. 3 cancelled the license of the petitioner and forfeited the 

securities of the petitioner under section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 vide Memo 

No. 49.008.011.0977 .00.2075.2010-330 dated 08.07.2013 which cannot be sustainable in the 

eye of law. 

 

22. Section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 clearly provides that  before cancelling 

the licensee, an opportunity of being heard must be given to the petitioner. The said section is 

reproduced below:  

Section 14 (1)- “ If, at any time during the pendency of a license, the Government is 

satisfied, after making such enquiry as it may deem necessary, that the licensee has 

been guilty of misconduct or that his conduct or performance as a licensee has been 

unsatisfactory or that he has violated any of the provisions of the Ordinance or the 

rules made thereunder or the prescribed Code of Conduct, it may, after giving the 

licensee an opportunity of being heard, by order in writing, cancel the licence or 

suspend it for a period to be specified in the order and may also forfeit the security 

furnished by him under section 10 in full or part.”  

 

23. In the case of Government of Bangladesh and others –versus- Tajul Islm reported in 

4MLR(AD) 199 their Lordships held that:  

“Section-14(1)-Cancellation of license without proper show cause notice-Violative of 

natural justice- 

Government have the power to suspend or cancel licence under section 14 of the 

Ordinance on the ground of misconduct and violations of the relevant provisions of 

the Ordinance. But in doing so the licensee must be given sufficient notice to show 

cause and reasonable opportunity of being heard. Licence is a legal privilege granted 

under law and not a charity. The show cause notice is not a mere technicality or idle 

ceremony. The notice must be clear and contain the facts of allegations. When the 

notice is vague it is no notice in the eye of law. Cancellation of licence without proper 
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notice to show cause and without opportunity of representing the defence being 

arbitrary and violative of the principle of natural justice is not sustainable in law.” 

  

24. Section 14 of the Immigration Ordinance, 1982 and the settled principle of law 

derives from the decision of our Apex Court stated above, it is a mandatory provision of law 

that before cancellation of a license, the authority must give a chance to the licensee of being 

heard, failing which the cancellation has no basis in the eye of law.  

 

25. In this case, the order does not show nor there is anything on record to show that the 

respondent has given any chance of hearing to the petitioner before making such an order of 

cancellation and forfeiture of securities. Therefore, the order is violative of the section 14(1) 

of the ordinance and was thus bad in law. We shall confine to the allegation of not giving the 

petitioner an opportunity of being heard before issuing the impugned order dated 08.03.2013 

(Annexure-L), we find that there was no hearing at all. 

  

26. A license in a commercial sense is not a charity done to a person but a privilege 

accorded generally on payment of fee. So, the cancellation of a license is a serious matter, 

adversely touching a person’s pecuniary interest. More than that, it affects a fundamental 

right of a citizen to conduct any lawful trade or business subject to certain restrictions 

imposed by law. The Court would always insist that an authority exercising such a drastic 

power of cancellation, do act strictly according to law and always with fairness. The writ 

Court will not examine and weigh the aggrieved person’s case on merit as an Appellate Court 

but to ensure that he was given a fair deal by the authority in accordance with law.  

 

27. In the instant case, the order of cancellation of the license and forfeiture of securities 

of the petitioner even does not show that the Government was either “satisfied” as required 

under section 14(1) or that the petitioner’s long representation was ever brought to its notice. 

The impugned order thus was a bad order in the eye of law.   

  

28. In view of the above facts and circumstance of the case, we find that the impugned 

order issued by the respondent No. 3 cancelling the petitioner’s recruiting license being No. 

RL-977 and forfeiting the entire securities, deposited by the petitioner (Annexure-L) was not 

in accordance with law.   

  

29. In the result, the rule is made absolute.  

 

30. Impugned memo No. 49.008.011.0977.00.2075.2010-330 dated 08.07.2013 

(Annexure-L) issued by the respondent No. 3 cancelling the petitioner’s license being No. 

RL-977 and forfeiting the entire security deposits against the said recruiting license of the 

petitioner under section 14 of the Emigration Ordinance, 1982 is declared to have been 

passed without lawful authority and is of no legal effect.  

 

31. The respondents are directed to renew the license of the petitioner subject to payment 

of all arrears of renewal fees in accordance with law within 3(three) months from the date of 

receipt of this judgment and order.  

 

32. However, there shall be no order as to cost.    
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Valid Candidate , Election Commission, Re-election, schedule of re-election, rule 37 (3) 

of Local Government Pourashava Election  Rules 2010; 
 

That the period between the declaration of schedule of election till the publication of the 

result in the official gazette has been held to be comprised in the election process. The 

case in our hand it appears that the petitioner filed writ petition before this court 

invoking the Article 102 of the Constitution before publication of the official gazette. As 

such the writ petition is not maintainable and the rule is liable to be discharged.  

          ... (Para 23) 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

F.R.M. Nazmul Ahasan, J: 

 

1. Upon an application under Article 102 of the Constitution of the People’s Republic of 

Bangladesh a rule nisi was issued in the following terms: 

“Let a Rule Nisi issue calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why the 

impugned decision (Annexure-L) taken by the  respondent No.1 on 14.03.2018 for 

holding re-election Malirchar Haji Para Govt. Primary School polling centre at 

Bakshigonj Pouroshava, Jamalpur on 29.03.2018 ignoring inquiry report (Annexure-

K) should not be declared to have been done without lawful authority and of no legal 
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effect and why a direction should not be given upon the Respondents to hold re-

election in polling centre Nos.2,3,5,7,8 and 9 of the said Pourashava and / or pass 

such other or further order or orders as to this Court may seem fit and proper.”  

 

2. Facts relevant for disposal of the rule, in short, are that on 12.11.2017 the respondent 

No.1 published schedule of 4 (four) Pourashava Election including Bakshigonj Pourashava 

under Jamalpur District fixing date of election on 28.12.2017. The petitioner being interested 

was nominated for the post of Mayor by the Bangladesh Awami League to participate in 

Bakshigonj Pourashava General Election, 2017. Accordingly, she purchases nomination 

paper from the respondents and submitted the same to the respondent office and accordingly 

she was declared valid candidate and allocation of symbol was Boat (Nouka).  

 

3. During the election, the petitioner appointed as many as 120 agents as well as polling 

agent. But the other contesting candidate tried to influence the election process and 

accordingly, he made complain to the returning Officer on 28.12.2017 to take necessary 

action. But the returning officer and other officials conducted the election ignoring all the 

complain and allegations and prepared result sheets of the polling centre and published the 

total result of election for the post of Mayor of Bakshigonj on 31.12.2017as primary result 

unofficially showing the highest vote and near to the highest vote. On 01.01.2018 the 

petitioner made a complain to the respondent No.1 to inquire about the matter and to take 

step to hold re-election against those polling centres but the respondent No.1 did not take any 

step regarding the re-election.   

 

4. Finding no other alternative the petitioner filed a writ petition being No.519 of 2018 

before the High Court Division and a Division Bench on 16.1.2018 disposed of the said 

petition with a direction upon the respondent No.1 to dispose of the complain dated 

01.01.2018 within 15 days from date of receipt of the order and also given some 

observations. After receiving the order, the respondent No.1 form a two members inquiry 

committee and after conducting inquiry, the said committee prepared a report and the same 

was submitted to the Election Commission. But the respondent No.1 ignoring the inquiry 

report took decision on 14.3.2018 for holding re-election in polling centre No.1 wherein the 

election was stopped by the presiding officer and thereby the schedule of re-election was 

declared by the Assistant Secretary of Election Commission.  

 

5. Being aggrieved and dissatisfied with the aforesaid order the petitioner filed this writ 

petition and obtained the present rule and an order of stay of the aforesaid re-election.  

 

6. Against the said interim order the respondent No.9 filed a Civil Petition for Leave to 

Appeal being No.1534 of 2018 and the Appellate Division after hearing the parties passed an 

order as follows: “Let the Rule be heard and disposed of by the High Court Division 

expeditiously. However, operation of the order dated 28.03.2018 passed by the High Court 

Division in Writ Petition No.4149 of 2018, so far as it relates to interim order of stay be 

stayed till disposal of the Rule. The leave petition is disposed of with the above observations 

and directions.”  

 

7. At the time of hearing the petitioner filed supplementary affidavit, respondent No.9 and 

respondent No.1 filed affidavit-in-opposition.  

 

8. At the time of hearing Mr. Abdul Baset Majumder, Senior Counsel along with Mr. 

Abdul Matin Khashru and Mr. Md. Nurul Islam and Mr. Nakib Saiful Islam, the learned 
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Advocates appears on behalf of the petitioner. On the other hand Mr. Md. Azahar Ullah 

Bhuiyan with Mr. Sheikh Jahangir Alam, learned Advocate for the  respondent No.9 and Mr. 

Tawhidul Islam, learned Advocate appears on behalf of the respondent No.1. 

 

9. Mr. Abdul Baset Majumder, learned senior counsel submits that the impugned order 

has been passed by the respondent No.1 violating the provision of Rules- 24, 25, 28, 32, 38, 

40, and 41 of the Local Government Pourashava Election 2010. As such the whole process of 

election is coram- non-judice and malice in law and same is liable to be declared without any 

lawful authority and is of no legal effect. The learned Advocate for the petitioner further 

submits that the respondent was very much biased upon the influence of the candidate Md. 

Nazrul Islam and they have done all possible action for wining him and violating the 

provision of election rule they declared Mayor of Bakshigonj Pourashava which is contrary to 

the process of free and fair election and as such the same is declared to have been done 

without any lawful authority and is of no legal effect. The learned Advocate for the petitioner 

also submits that the respondent No.1 did not consider the inquiry report which was held by 

the direction of this court in writ petition No.519 of 2018 in which it is clearly stated that the 

allegation of the petitioner so far as it relates to the irregularities in conducting the election 

has been proved but the Election Commission without considering the aforesaid facts and 

circumstance and the contents of the inquiry report took decision of the re-election in one 

centre which was earlier stopped by the presiding officer. Thus the impugned decision and 

the schedule of the election is absolutely malice in law  and the same is declared to have been 

passed without any lawful authority and is of no legal effect. The learned Advocate for the 

petitioner next submits that declaring schedule of the re-election by the Election Commission 

is itself violation of the rule 37 (3) of Local Government Pourashava Election Rules 2010. In 

view of that the process of re-election is coram-non-judice and malice in law and as such the 

schedule of the re-election which is declared by the Election Commission is illegal and the 

same is liable to be declared without any lawful authority and is of no legal effect. 

 

10. On the other hand Mr. Md. Azahar Ullah Bhuiyan, learned Advocate for the 

respondent No.9 placing the affidavit-in-opposition with the inquiry report and the result 

sheets submits that  the petitioner did not raise any objection on the day of election on 

28.12.2017 either Returning or the Presiding Officer regarding the alleged rigging. The 

petitioner after obtaining minimum votes lodged a fabulous complain after three days on 

1.1.2018 in order to obstruct the election process and publication of the election result. He 

next submits that with the direction of the High Court Division the respondents made an 

inquiry in which they did not find any veracity in the allegation made by the petitioner. The 

learned Advocate further submits that the respondent No.1 duly and properly declared the 

election of the one polling centre and the election process should not be stopped before 

publishing the final result and the petitioner may agitated her grievance, if any, before the 

election tribunal.  

 

11. Mr. Tawhidul Islam, learned Advocate appearing for the respondent No.1, Election 

Commission placing the affidavit-in-opposition and submits that the respondent No.1 after 

declaration of the election schedule in that pourashava conducting the election properly and 

after end of the election on 28.12.2017 the official result of the said election was declared and 

in one centre Malirchar Government Primary School, the election was stopped by the 

presiding officer within 12 centres and result of all the centres was declared by the returning 

officer on 28.12.2017. Upon direction by the High Court Division in writ petition No.519 of 

2018 the respondent No.1 conducted an inquiry and accordingly the report was submitted on 

28.2.2018 with the following observation. 
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12. “ 35z fkÑ−hre 
(L)   ®jul fË¡bÑ£ n¡q£e¡ ®hNj Hl c¡¢MmL«a B−hc−e E¢õ¢Ma hLn£NeÚS  −f±lpi¡l 2,3,5,6,7,8, J 9 ew 
®i¡V ®L−¾cÐ ¢ed¡Ñ¢la pju pL¡m 8.00 V¡u ®i¡V NËqZ fkÑ¿¹ p¤ØW J n¡¢¿¹f§ZÑi¡−h pÇfæ quz 
(M)   ®jul fË¡bÑ£ n¡q£e¡  ®hNj Hl c¡¢MmL«a B−hc−e E¢õ¢Ma hLn£NeÚS ®f±lpi¡l 2,3,5,6,7,8, J 9 ew 
®i¡V ®L−¾cÐ ®S¡lf§hÑL A−~hdi¡−h hÉ¡mV ®ff¡−l ¢pm j¡l¡l ®L¡el²f fËj¡Z f¡Ju¡ k¡u¢ez  

  (N) 2 ew j¡¢ml Ql q¡S£f¡s¡ B−je¡ M¡a¥e H¢ajM¡e¡ J q¡¢g¢Su¡ j¡â¡p¡ (j¡¢mlQl  
  q¡S£f¡s¡) ®i¡V−L¾cÐ Hhw 5 ew hLn£NeÚS He Hj EµQ ¢hcÉ¡mu (hLn£NeÚS ¢ju¡h¡s£) −i¡V−L−¾cÐl 
®i¡VNZe¡ Lr ®b−L B−hceL¡l£l ®f¡¢mw H−S¾V ®hl q−u k¡Ju¡l ®r−œ c¡¢uaÄ fË¡ç f¤¢mn LjÑLa¡Ñ Hhw 
¢fËS¡C¢Xw A¢gp¡l ¢h¢d pÇja J kb¡kbi¡−h c¡¢uaÄ f¡me e¡ Ll¡l fËj¡Z f¡Ju¡ ¢N−u−Rz a−h EJ² 2¢V 
®i¡V−L−¾cÐ ®i¡V NZe¡l pju B−hceL¡l£l ®f¡¢mw H−S¾V Ef¢Øqa ¢R−me Hhw a¡l¡ ®i¡V NZe¡l ¢hhle£ 
glj-H· ®a ü¡rJ L−l−Rez g−m H 2 ¢V ®i¡V−L−¾cÐ hå ®O¡oe¡l ja ®L¡e A¢ekj| O−V¢ez  

    (O)  hLn£NeÚS ®f±lpi¡l 28.12.2017 a¡¢l−M Ae¤¢ØWa ¢eh¡ÑQe p¤ØW¥i¡−h pÇf¡c−e  
phÑ¡aÈL fË−QØV¡ NËqZ L−le Hhw B−hceL¡l£l B−hc−e E¢õ¢Ma 7 ¢V ®i¡V−L¾cÐpq 11 ¢V ®i¡V−L−¾cÐ 
n¡¢¿¹f§ZÑi¡−h ®i¡VNËqZ Ae¤¢ØWa quz 1 ew ®i¡V−L−¾cÐ A¢eu−jl L¡l−Z ¢fËS¡C¢Xw A¢gp¡l LaÑªL hå ®O¡oe¡ Ll¡ 
quz  

 

13. He also submits that after considering the inquiry report the election commission 

decided to conduct re-elation in the No.1 Malirchar Hajeepara Government Primary on 

29.3.2018. After obtaining the rule and an order of stay the election could not be held. The 

learned Advocate further submits that it is now well settled that the election process cannot 

be challenged by an application under Article 102 of the Constitution. The period between 

the declaration of the schedule of election and the publication of the result in the official 

gazette has been held to be comprised in the election process and it has been consistently 

viewed by our Hon’ble Supreme Court that any step comprising in the election process 

cannot be challenged by an application under Article 102 of the Constitution; and as such the 

writ petition itself is not maintainable and the rule is liable to be discharged.   

 

14. Heard the learned Advocate for the respective parties, perused the writ petition and 

supplementary affidavit and affidavit-in-opposition filed by the respondent no.1 as well as the 

respondent No.9. 

 

15. It appears from the aforesaid facts and circumstances that the petitioner is a contesting 

candidate of the election of the Bakshigonj, Pourashave, District-Jamalpur. Accordingly, 

election was held on 28.12.2017. The petitioner filed an application  on 28.1.2017 that is on 

the date of election to the returning officer and district election officer, jamalpur with the 

allegation that  the agent of polling centre Nos.4,5,7,9,10 and 11 of the petitioner was 

forcefully ousted  from the centre. Thereafter, she filed another application on 1.1.2018 and 

made allegation about centre Nos.2,3,5,6,7,8 and 9 with the similar allegation which was 

made earlier on 28.12.2017. But the returning officer unofficially declared result of 11 

centres and stopped one centre.  

 

16. From the aforesaid result it appears that one Md. Nazrul Islam independent candidate 

obtained 8599 votes and nearest candidate one Mr. Fakruzzaman obtained votes 7705. It 

appears that the petitioner thereafter preferred writ petition before the High Court Division 

being No.519 of 2018 and the same was disposed of with the findings; 

“In the fitness of things we are of the view that ends of justice would be better served 

if we make an order directing the Election Commission to take up the application of 

the petitioenr (Annexure-H) and dispose of it in accordance with law instead of 

issuing of Rule.  
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This petition is, thus, disposed of.  

Accordingly, the Election Commission is directed to disposed of the application made 

by the petitioner as contained in Annexure-H of the petition within 15 days from 

receipt of this order.”   

 

17. After receiving the aforesaid order of this court the respondent No.1  formed an 

inquiry committee and the committee after inquiry submitted a report the opinion:- 

  ja¡jax  
 (L) 2 ew j¡¢mlQl q¡S£f¡s¡ B−je¡ M¡a¥e H¢ajM¡e¡ J q¡¢g¢Su¡ j¡â¡p¡ (j¡¢mlQl q¡S£f¡s¡) ®i¡V−L¾cÐ Hhw 5 

ew hLn£N” He Hj EµQ ¢hcÉ¡mu (hLn£N” ¢ju¡f¡s¡) ®i¡V−L−¾cÐl ®i¡VNZe¡  L−r ®b−L BhceL¡l£l 
¢ed¡Ñ¢la ®f¡¢mw H−eS¾V ®hl q−u k¡Ju¡l ®r−œ c¡¢uaÄfË¡ç f¤¢mn LjÑLaÑ¡ Hhw ¢fËS¡C¢Xw A¢gp¡l ¢h¢d pÇja 
J kb¡kbi¡−h c¡¢uaÄ f¡me e¡ Ll¡l fËj¡e f¡Ju¡ ¢N−u−Rz H c¤¢V ®i¡V−L−¾cÐl c¡¢uaÄfÊ¡ç ¢fËS¡C¢Xw A¢gp¡l 
Hhw f¤¢mn LjÑLaÑ¡l ¢hl²−Ü hÉhØq¡ NËqZ Ll¡ ®k−a f¡−lz a−h EJ² 2 ¢V ®i¡V ®L−¾cÐ ®i¡V NZe¡l pju 
B−hceL¡l£l ®f¡¢mw H−S¾V Ef¢Øqa ¢R−me Hhw a¡l¡ ®i¡V NZe¡l ¢hhl£ glj- U ®a ü¡rl L−l−Rez g−m 
H 2 ¢V ®i¡Y~−L−¾cÐ hå ®O¡oZ¡l ja ®L¡e A¢euj O−V¢e; Hhw       
(M) 28.12.2017 a¡¢l−M Ae¤¢ØWa S¡j¡mf¤l ®Sm¡l hLn£N” ®f±lpi¡ ¢ehÑ¡Q−e ®jul fË¡b£Ñ n¡q£e¡ ®hNj Hl 
c¡¢MaL«a B−hc−e (Annexure-II) E¢õ¢Ma 2,3,5,6,7,8 J 9 ew ®i¡V−L−¾cÐl ¢ho−u Be£a A¢i−k¡N 
p−¾cq¡a£ai¡−h fËj¡¢Za qu¢ez  

 

18. The above report was signed by Mr. Tajul Islam, District election Officer and Mr. 

Md. Forhad Hossain, Senior Assistant Secretary, Election Commission, Dhaka. Thereafter, 

the Election Commission after considering the report in a meeting dated 14.3.2018 decided to 

hold the re-election of one centre which was stopped earlier by the presiding officer. From 

the report and agenda No.2, it appears that the election commission recommended that; 

02z Afl¢c−L ¢lV ¢f¢Vne ew 519/2018 Hl j¡ee£u q¡C−L¡−VÑl B−cn fË¢af¡m−el m−rÉ ¢lV ¢f¢Vn−e 
f¢l¢nØV ¢q−p−h pwk¤J² HL¢V A¢i−k¡N / B−hce ¢eÇf¢šl SeÉ Afl HL¢V ac¿¹ L¢j¢V NWe Ll¡ quz ac¿¹ 
L¢j¢Vac¿¹ fË¢a−hc−e ¢ejÀl²f p¤f¡¢ln L−l (pwm¡N-2) 
(L) ac¿¹L¡l£ LjÑLa¡Ñ 2 ew j¡¢mlQl q¡S£f¡s¡ B−je¡ M¡a¥e H¢ajM¡e¡ J q¡¢g¢Su¡ j¡â¡p¡ (j¡¢mlQl 
q¡S£f¡s¡) ®i¡V−L¾cÐ Hhw 5 ew hLn£N” He Hj EµQ ¢hcÉ¡mu (hLn£N” ¢ju¡f¡s¡) ®i¡V−L−¾cÐl c¡¢uaÄfË¡ç 
¢fËS¡C¢Xw A¢gp¡l Hhw f¤¢mn LjÑLaÑ¡l ¢hl²−Ü hÉhØq¡ NËqe Ll¡; 
(M) ®jul fË¡bÑ£ n¡q£e¡ ®hNj Hl c¡¢MmL«a B−hc−e h¢ZÑa 7 ¢V ®i¡V −L−¾cÐl ¢ho−u Be£a A¢i−k¡N fËj¡¢Za 
qu¢ez  
03z S¡j¡mf¤l ®Sm¡l hL¢nN” ®f±lpi¡l ¢ehÑ¡Q−el ¢ho−u E¢õ¢Ma ac¿¹ fË¢a−hce pw¢nÔØV e¢b−a EfØq¡fe 
Ll¡ q−m j¡ee£u ¢ehÑ¡Qe L¢jne ¢e−jÀ¡J² ¢pÜ¡¿¹/¢e−cÑne¡ fËc¡e L−le ; 
(L) 1 ew j¡¢mlQl q¡S£f¡s¡ plL¡l£ fË¡b¢jL ¢hcÉ¡m−u Øq¢NaL«a ®L−¾cÐ f¤el¡u ®i¡V NËq−el SeÉ ¢lV¡¢ewÑ 
A¢gp¡l−L ¢e−cÑne¡ fËc¡e Ll¡ ;  
(M) EJ² ®i¡V−L−¾cÐ ®L¾cÐ cMm J hÉ¡mV ®ff¡l ¢Rea¡q~ Hl OVe¡u b¡e¡l i¡lfË¡ç LjÑLaÑ¡ Se¡h Bpm¡j 
®q¡−p−el ¢hl²−Ü ¢hi¡N£u hÉhØq¡ NËq−el SeÉ jq¡f¤¢mn f¢lcnÑL (IGP ) ®L ¢e−cÑne¡ fËc¡e Hhw ac¿¹L¡l£ 
LjÑLa¡Ñ hª−¾cl AeÉ¡eÉ p¤f¡¢ln L¢jne pi¡u B−m¡Qe¡ L−l hÉhØq¡ NËqZ Ll¡ - H fËØa¡−hl −fË¢r−a flhaÑ£ 
L¢jne pi¡u E›¡f−el ¢pÜ¡¿¹ NËq£a quz  
4z Ef−l¡¢õ¢Ma ¢pÜ¡¿¹ ®j¡a¡−hL S¡j¡mf¤l ®Sm¡l hL¢nN” ®f±lpi¡l hå−O¡¢oa ®i¡V−L¾cÐ 01 ew j¡¢mlQl 
q¡S£f¡s¡ plL¡l£ fË¡b¢jL ¢hcÉ¡mu, j¡¢mlQl q¡S£fs¡ j¢qm¡ ®i¡V−L−¾cÐ ®jul, 1 ew pwl¢ra Ju¡−XÑl 
L¡E¢¾pml J 1 ew p¡d¡lZ Ju¡−XÑl L¡E¢¾pml f−c ®i¡V NËq−eZl SeÉ BN¡j£ 29 j¡QÑ 2018 a¡¢lM 
hªq¡Øf¢ah¡l ¢ed¡ÑlZ Ll¡ ®k−a f¡−lz 

 

19. Accordingly, a notice was issued on 14.3.2018 signed by Forhad Ahmed Khan, Joint 

Secretary, (Current Charge) to hold the election for No.1 Malirchar Government Primary 

School, Mahila polling Centre, the date was fixed on 29.3.2018 for re-election. The learned 

Advocate for the petitioner tried to argue that the election commission i.e. respondent No.1 

violated the provision of Rule 37 (3) in declaring the re-election by the Joint Secretary (In 
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Charge) of the Election Commission. According to Rule 37 (3) the returning officer is the 

appropriate authority to declare the schedule of the pourashava election. His next argument 

was that the respondent no.1 did not take any consideration about the report submitted by the 

inquiry committee formed by the respondent no.1 which itself is contradictory and in the 

opinion finally made by the inquiry officer the content of the report and discussion was not 

reflected in the decision and the opinion of the Election Commission respondent No.1. So, 

the same is within the purview of malice in law  and the High Court Division should interfere 

with the aforesaid facts and circumstances.    

 

20. We have considered the argument advanced by the learned Advocate for the 

petitioner. It is admitted  that the petitioner raised some allegations from the date of election 

to the returning officer as well as the respective respondents and thereafter upon a direction 

by this court an inquiry was held and with some observation and recommendation the report 

was submitted to the Election Commission and the respondent No.1 after considering the 

aforesaid report declared the schedule for re-election and it was signed by Joint Secretary (in-

charge) of the election commission and this schedule was fixed on 29.3.2018 and this order 

was stayed by the High Court Division in the present writ petition and thereafter the interim 

order of the High Court Division was stayed by the Appellate Division. So, the election could 

not be held on 29.03.218 and the notice issued by the Election Commission, Joint Secretary 

(in-charge) has become infructuous and has no validity at this stage.  
 

21. Though, the Rule 37 (3) has empowered the returning officer to declare the election 

scheduled in the pourashava election.  
 

22. In the case of A.F.M. Shah Alam Vs. Mujibul Huq, reported in 41 DLR (AD) 68 it is 

held that “this court in very clear terms retain that the Local Government elections process 

cannot be challenged under Article 102 of the   Constitution in High Court Division unless 

the impugned order passed by the authority concerned is coram non-judice or is afflicted with 

malice in law.”  
 

23. It is also settled that the period between the declaration of schedule of election till the 

publication of the result in the official gazette has been held to be comprised in the election 

process. The case in our hand it appears that the petitioner filed writ petition before this court 

invoking the Article 102 of the Constitution before publication of the official gazette. As such 

the writ petition is not maintainable and the rule is liable to be discharged.  
 

24. However, the allegations of the irregularities raised by the petitioner in the writ 

petition are election dispute which may be agitated and proved on proper evidence before the 

Election Tribunal constituted under the relevant law.  The petitioner may file election case 

before the Election Tribunal, if any, in accordance with law stating all the allegations agitated 

before this court. 
 

25. Thus, we do not find any merit in the Rule.  
 

26. Accordingly, the rule is discharged.    
 

27. Communicate the judgment and order to the respondent No.1. 
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HIGH COURT DIVISION  

  

Civil Revision No. 1436 of 2009 

 

1. Monto Sheikh being dead his 

legal heirs:  

1.(a)  Taslima Begum (Wife) and others  

............ Petitioners. 

-Versus- 

1. Ibrahim Miah being dead his legal 

heirs: 

 1.(a) Siarun Nessa (wife) and others    

......Opposite parties. 

Mr. Md. Ali Reza, Advocate 

……….For the petitioners 

Mr. Sk. Akhtarul Islam, Advocate 

…………For the opposite parties  

 

Heard on: 22.5.18 & 23.5.2018 

And 

Judgment on: 31.05.2018 

 

Present: 

Mr. Justice F.R.M. Nazmul Ahasan 

 

It is also settled that the defendants may have thousand of defect but it does not help the 

plaintiff to prove their case: 

It appears that the plaintiff could not prove their case that they have any title in the suit 

land and also the possession. The main reasoning of this findings stated above that the 

basis of the title of the plaintiff is the settlement which was cancelled and the order of 

cancellation is in existence.                  ... (Para 38) 

 

JUDGMENT   

  

1. This Rule was issued calling upon the opposite party Nos.1-14 to show cause as to why 

the judgment and decree dated 18.11.2008 passed by the Additional District Judge, 

Gopalganj, in Title Appeal No.69 of 2004 affirming those dated 3.11.2004 passed by the 

Joint District Judge, 1
st
 Court, Gopalgonj in Title Suit No.54 of 2003 dismissed the suit 

should not be set aside.  

 

2. Facts, relevant for disposal of the rule, in brief, are that the petitioner as plaintiff filed 

Title Suit No.102 of 2000 on 29.11.2000 in the Court of learned Assistant Judge, Kashiani, 

Gopalganj which was subsequently transferred to the learned Joint District Judge, 1
st
 Court, 

Gopalganj and renumbered as Title Suit No.54 of 2003 and the suit was filed for declaration 

of title. It is stated in the plaint that the suit land appertaining to 37 Pignolia Mouza originally 

belonged to government in R.S. Khas Khatian No.1. Plaintiff Nos.1,2 and the predecessor of 

plaintiff  Nos.3-7 took settlement from the government.  

 

3. The predecessor of plaintiff Nos. 3-7 took settlement of 1.00 acre by kabuliyat dated 

12.4.1974 from disputed Plot No. 
1701

49
 in Miscellaneous Case No. 

7473/172

7372/3464



XII
  and 

he died leaving behind plaintiff Nos.3-7. Similarly plaintiff No.1 took settlement of .45 acre 

from disputed plot No. 
1701

49
, .06 acre from plot No.958, .15 acre of land from plot no.959 

measuring an area of .66 acre of land from plot no.959 measuring an area of .66 acre of land 
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through kabuliyat dated 02.8.1974 by Miscellaneous Case No. 
7473/180

7372/1296



XII
. Plaintiff 

no.2 also took settlement of 1.00 acre of land from disputed plot No.
 1701

49
  by kabuliyat 

dated 27.07.1974 Miscellaneous Case No.
 7573/175

7372/857



XII
.  

 

4. Thus plaintiffs obtained 2.66 acre of land and have been in possession for more than 12 

years upon payment of rent. Defendants were never in possession in the suit land and they 

have no title. Defendants denied title of the plaintiffs on 16.11.2000.  Hence the suit was filed 

for declaration of title.  

 

5. On the other hand defendant Nos.1-7 and defendant Nos.8-14 contested the suit by 

filing separate written statements. The content of  both the written statements almost similar 

are that some Tarok Chakdra, Sorot Chandra, Bhorot Chandra, Suroshibala Dashi in 8 anna 

of property and  Poromananda Kapali and Taraprashanna Kapali another 8 anna owner and 

possession of the land. Poromananda Kapali and Taraprashanna Kapali sold their portion to 

Sharot Chandra Shinha, Varat Chandra Shinha and Tarok Chandra Shinha dated 16.3.1937 

kabala no.792. Sukhendra Lal Mukharjee took  potton from that Sarot Chandra and others.  

 

6. Thereafter, Sabed Ali Biswas and others took potton from Sukhendra Lal Mukharjee. 

Being defaulter of paying rent. A rent suit was instituted against Sabed Ali and others by 

Sukehndra Lal Mukharjee which was ultimately disposed of in the terms of compromise and 

Sabed Ali got the land in question by the sole decree. This defendant Sobed Ali Biswas is the 

predecessor of the defendants. Subsequently, Sobed Ali Biswas got recognition of transfer of  

right from the government and took settlement of 28.2.1961 and S.A. Record was published 

in the name of government instead of Sobed Ali    and thus the land in question was recorded 

in the Khas Khatian. The government or the plaintiff never possess of the suit land; the 

defendant from their predecessor have been owning and possessing the suit land. With the 

aforesaid  contention the defendant prayed for disposed of the suit.  

 

7. At the trial the learned Judge, framed as many as four issues about the maintainability, 

about cause of action, about title and possession of the suit land and whether the plaintiff can 

get a decree as claimed.   

 

8. Both the parties adduced evidence and produced documents before the trial court which 

was duly marked as exhibit and after hearing the parties, the trial court dismissed the suit by 

the judgment and decree dated 3.11.2004, against that the plaintiff preferred Title Appeal 

No.69 of 2004 before the learned District Judge, Gopalganj on transferred it was heard by the 

learned Addition District Judge, Gopalponj who after hearing the parties also dismissed the 

appeal by his judgment and decree dated 18.11.2008. 

 

9. Being aggrieved and dissatisfied with the aforesaid judgment and decree passed by the 

appellate court. The plaintiff appellant preferred revisional application before this court and 

obtained this rule and order of status-quo.        

 

10. Mr. Ali Reza, the learned Advocate appearing for the plaintiff petitioner submits that 

both the court below upon misconception of law misconstrued the facts and circumstances of 

the case without proper appreciation of evidence on records and improperly dismissed the 
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suit of the plaintiffs and committed an error of law occasioning failure of justice. The learned 

Advocate for the petitioner submits that the plaintiff by adducing oral and documentary 

evidence prove the case but the trial court without proper discussion and consideration of the 

evidence on record and the exhibit wrongly held that the plaintiff could not prove their case. 

They have title and position of the suit land. The Appellate court also without proper 

discussion of the evidence on record independently and without discussion of the relevant 

issue wrongly and mechanically affirmed the judgment and decree passed by the Trial Court 

thus committed an error of law which occasioning failure of justice.  

 

11. The learned Advocate for the petitioner submits that the plaintiff obtained settlement 

from the government in the year 1974 by different settlement cases and khatians were opened 

in their name and they have paid rent to the government and have been owning and 

possessing the same by dint of registered kabuliat. But the trial court wrongly found that the 

plaintiff could not produce any document in favour of their settlement.  

 

12. On the other hand the appellate court also did not consider the title and document of 

the plaintiff i.e. registered kabuliat and the subsequent document which prove their 

possession in the suit land and wrongly affirmed the judgment passed by the trial court. Thus 

both the court below committed an error of law occasioning failure of justice. The learned 

advocate for the petitioner also submits that the defendants could not prove their title in the 

suit land and they also could not prove their possession as claimed in the written statement. 

But the trial court as well as the appellate court wrongly believed the document and exhibit 

by the defendant and found title and possession of the defendants erroneously. 

  

13. Thus both the court below upon misreading of the evidence on record and non 

consideration of the documents produced by the plaintiff erroneously found that the plaintiff 

could not prove their title and possession of the suit land. On the other hand the defendants 

have title and possession in the suit land. Thus both the court bellow committed an error law 

in the decision occasioning failure of justice. The learned Advocate for the petitioner submits 

that the trial court believed the rent receipt produced by the defendants but the defendant did 

not produce those rent receipt of the khatian No.42 which is relevant to the khatian claimed 

by the defendants. Thus on the basis of wrong findings of facts the trial court as well as 

appellate court erroneously decided that the defendants are in possession of the suit land.  

 

14. Learned Advocate for the petitioner also submits that both the court below upon 

misreading of the evidence did not consider that the defendants produced exhibit-1, 1(Kha) 

and 2 without showing any evidence of settlement claimed to have acquired by their 

predecessor  on 28.2.1961 as well as the approval by Additional Deputy Commissioner on 

31.5.1961. So, the title and possession on the basis of the aforesaid settlement which has been 

found by the court below are wrong findings  of facts which may be set aside.  

 

15. The learned for the petitioner lastly submits that the appellate court as the last of facts 

without proper discussion of the evidence on record and the exhibit mechanically affirmed 

the judgment of the trial court without flowing the provision of the order 31 rule 41 of the 

Code of Civil Procedure. Thus committed an error of law in the decision occasioning failure 

of justice.  

 

16. On the other hand the learned Advocate Mr. Sheikh Akterul Islam, appearing for the 

opposite party submits that the trial court after proper perusal of the plaint and the written 

statement framed issued and discussed those issues elaborately and found that the plaintiff 
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could not prove their case by adducing oral and documentary evidence on record. The 

appellate court also affirmed the judgment and decree passed by the trial court upon proper 

consideration of the evidence on record and judgment and decree passed by the trial court. 

Thus the appellate court committed no error of law in the decision occasioning failure of 

justice. 

  

17. Learned Advocate for the opposite party further submits that the plaintiff obtained 

kabuliat in the year 1974 which was subsequently cancelled by the government authority and 

without taking proper steps against those cancellation of kabuliat filed the suit for declaration 

of title and the plaintiff could not prove by adducing oral and documentary evidence that they 

have possession in the suit land. The trial court on consideration of the aforesaid facts and 

circumstances  rightly dismissed the suit of the plaintiff and the appellate court also affirmed 

the judgment  passed by the trial court. 

 

18. The learned Advocate for the opposite party further submits that the present 

defendants are the successive heirs of Sobed Ali Biswas who obtained the suit land by way of 

settlement and also subsequently by way of compromise decree and the defendants in support 

of their  possession produced rent receipt before the trial court and the trial court on 

consideration of the aforesaid documents which was marked exhibits found that the 

defendants have title and possession in the suit land. The appellate court also after proper 

discussion of the evidence on record and perusal of the exhibit found title and possession of 

the defendants. 

  

19. Therefore, the concurrent findings of the facts arrived at by the court below that the 

plaintiff could not prove their case by adducing oral and documentary evidence should not be 

interfered with by the revisional court as there is no misreading and non consideration  of the 

evidence on records in the judgment passed by the appellate court as the last courts of fact.  

 

20. Heard the learned Advocate for both the parties and perused the revisional application 

and the impugned judgment passed by the trial court as well as the judgment and decree 

passed by the appellate court below and also the Lower Court’s records including exhibits 

marked by  both parties.  

 

21. It appears from the record that the plaintiff filed the suit for declaration of title. The 

plaintiff case which was mentioned above that they have obtained the suit land by way of 

settlement cases in the year 1974.  

 

22. On the other hand the defendants case is that they are in possession in the suit land. 

Since their predecessor Sabed Ali Biswas obtained the suit land along with the other property 

by way of settlement and resettlement in total their possession of 4.82 acore of land and after 

obtaining the suit land by the settlement case in the year  1961. The land was wrongly 

recorded in the name of the government and subsequently the plaintiff with some government 

officials collusively created the settlement case and subsequently it was cancelled by the 

governed authority so, the plaintiff have no title and possession in the suit land.  

 

23. The trial Court on perusal of the settlement case with the registered kabuliat which is 

marked as exhibit found that the plaintiff though claim that after settlement the possession of 

the land was handed over to the plaintiff predecessor. But they could not produce any 

document in favour of the suit land as khas land of the government i.e. how the government 

took the land from the owner of P.S. record.  The plaintiff did not make any statement in this 
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respect. So there is no proof of government legal ownership in the suit land by which the 

government settled the land to the plaintiff. The trial court while discussing the cases of the 

defendants found that Sobed Ali Biswas and others took potton from the C.S. recorded 

owners.  

 

24. Thereafter, on non- payment of rent and a rent case  was started being rent case 

No.851 of 56. It was disposed of on compromise and Sobed Ali obtained decree. So, 

according to exhibit-Gha i.e. the sole decree, the  defendant predecessor had title and 

possession. The defendants took settlement on 28.2.1961 i.e. exhibit- Kha then the suit land 

was wrongly recorded in the government name at the time of S.A. survey and published in 

the name of government at the time of S.A. Khatian. 

  

25. The defendants also claim that they have purchased the land from Sobed Ali along 

with other land and muted their name and paid rent to the government and they have 

produced documents exhibit-R and also produce rent receipt annexure-Q-series. The trial court 

found that the defendants made an objection against the settlement case of the plaintiff to the 

sub-divisional officer who by his order dated 02.07.1981 cancelled those three settlement 

cases of the plaintiff against which one Shamsul Huq and his brother made an objection 

which was also rejected. The defendant in support of their contention produced the office 

order dated 2.7.1981 exhibit-Wz The trial court also found that the defendant on 11.11.1986 

also submitted exhibit-Sz office order of upazila revenue officer 2.4.2001 and all those 

documents prove that the settlement were cancelled by the government authority and without 

taking any steps against those cancellation the plaintiff filed the present suit with a different 

cause of action.  

 

26. The trial court lastly found that in the latest survey record was prepared in the name of 

the defendants and in support of their contention they produced the Khatian No. 262 as 

exhibit-V. The trial court also discussed the oral evidence of the P.W. 2 Ohiduzzaman 

Munshi, P.W.3 Abdul Kashem Talukder, P.W.4 Abdul Rashid Mollah and found that all of 

them are from the  same village and they are interested witness. 

  

27. The trial court considered the aforesaid evidence of the P.W. and found that plaintiff 

could not prove their title in the suit land as the settlement cases were cancelled by the 

government. So, the plaintiff have no title in the suit and from the defendants documents it 

appears that they  are in possession in the suit land for long time. With the aforesaid 

discussion the trial court dismissed the suit of the plaintiff. 

 

28. On the other hand the appellate court after discussion of the respective case of the 

parties found that the plaintiff have filed the settlement case in support of their claim which 

were cancelled subsequently by the government. On the other hand the defendant side claim 

their title and possession since 1961. Thereafter, auction sale, compromise decree and in 

support of the aforesaid title they have produced rent receipt which are the corroborative 

evidence of their title and possession, the appellate court also found that some of P.Ws. 

admitted  the possession of the defendants in the suit land.  

 

29. However, the appellate court found that the plaintiff  also failed to prove the cause of 

action of the case so the plaintiff by any way could not prove their case that they have title 

and possession of the suit land. With the aforesaid findings and decision the appellate court 

affirmed the judgment and decree passed by the trial court. 
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30. The learned Advocate for the petitioner submits that though the judgment passed by 

both the courts below dismissing the suit upon concurrent findings of facts but those findings 

are not based on  evidence on records.  

 

31. The learned Advocate for the petitioner in support of his argument  referred to a 

decision in the case of the Province of East Pakistan now Bangladesh Vs. Aaluddin Ahmed 

reported in 4  BCR (AD) 201 (1984) “Suit for declaration of title to suit land –plaintiff was 

allotted 5 (five) acres of government khas land in 1958 approved by the Additional Collector 

and he was in possession of the same since then- In 1962 the Board of Revenue by an order 

dated 3.10.1962 cancelled the settlement- Trial Court dismissed the suit mainly on the 

ground that the plaintiff was not a bonafide cultivator and since the plaintiff did not come 

within the category of person to whom settlement could be given, such settlement was illegal, 

without jurisdiction and void ab initio and the same could not be binding against the 

government-HIGH COURT DIVISION held that the administrative control and power 

exercised by the Board of Revenue do not extend to cancellation of lease  granted by a valid 

settlement and if the  lessee had violated any terms of the lease, the government could 

proceed against him for the cancellation of his lease and his eviction from the land-High 

Court Division’s decision was upheld-”. 

 

32. On the other hand the learned Advocate for the opposite party referred to a decision in 

the case of Milksar Ali Dewan (Md.) and others Vs. Dares Ali Mondal and others reported in 

13 MLR 105 Specific Relief Act, 1877,  Section 42 – Suit for declaration of title on the basis 

of pattan taken through amalnama from the Ex-land lord – Title and possession of the 

plaintiff found well established and as such the suit is decreed by the appellate court which 

the High Court Division and the Appellate Division affirmed.     

 

33. And also in the case of Md. Mozaffer Rahman and others Vs. Government of 

Bangladesh and another reported in 15 MLR 170 (AD) 2010 Specific Relief Act, 1877- 

Section 39- Suit for declaration of title in the absence of satisfactory proof thereof is not 

maintainable- In the instant case the plaintiffs could not prove their title to the suit land by 

producing documentary evidence as well as oral evidence. The trial court dismissed the suit 

on specific finding which the court of Appeal, High Court Division and the Appellate 

Division held perfectly justified.  And also in the case of Mohar Ali Bhuiyan Vs. Michir Ali 

Bhuiyan and others reported in 15 MLR (AD) 501 (2010) Code of Civil Procedure, 1908- 

Section 115- Concurrent findings of facts arrived at by the trial court as well as the appellate 

court are binding upon the revisional court- unless there is a case of misreading or non-

consideration of material evidence on record, the concurrent findings of the trial court as 

well as the appellate court are binding upon the revisional court. The High Court Division 

affirmed the decision of the court of appeal below with the apex court found nothing wrong to 

interfere.  

  

34. I have gone through the judgment of both the court’s  below and the exhibit on record. 

It appears that the plaintiffs have filed a suit for declaration of title and it is the settled 

principal of law that the plaintiff has to prove their case by adducing oral and documentary 

evidence.  

 

35. From the evidence on record it appears that the plaintiffs obtained settlement from the 

government by three settlement cases in the year  1974. From the evidence on record it 

appears that those three settlement cases were cancelled by the government authority. The 

learned Advocate for the petitioner relying on the decision submits that the sub-divisional 
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officer has no authority to cancel the settlement case. But it appears from the plaint as well as 

the evidence from the plaintiff side some of them challenged those but all of them never 

challenged those decision in an appropriate forum.  

 

36. So, the order of cancellation was affected from the time of cancellation and the 

plaintiff have filed the present suit for declaration of title. So, the basis of their title was not in 

existence. The another aspect of the case is that the trial court elaborately discussed the 

evidence of the P.Ws. and found that they could not prove their possession by adducing oral 

and documentary evidence. 

  

37. On the other hand the learned advocate made some argument in respect of believing 

the exhibit of the defendants side. It is also settled that the defendants may have thousand of 

defect but it does not help the plaintiff to prove their case. From the whole pleading or of the 

exhibits produced by the defendants it appears that the defendants were possession in the suit 

land either by way of compromise decree or settlement from government. Question may be 

raised in this regard whether they have proved their chain of title and document. But 

admittedly they are in possession though they have put in rent receipt mentioning old khatian 

No.42 but it is not proved that those rent receipts are forged or created.  

 

38. Moreover, the defendant side when made objection about the settlement of the 

plaintiff and when it  was cancelled in that order of cancellation the authority recognized 

settlement case of the defendant and that document was marked as exhibit before the trial 

court. So, from the whole discussion of the evidence and exhibit of the parties it appears that 

the plaintiff could not prove their case that they have any title in the suit land and also the 

possession. The main reasoning of this findings stated above that the basis of the title of the 

plaintiff is the settlement which was cancelled and the order of cancellation is in existence.  

 

39. So, the trial court rightly dismissed the suit of the plaintiff. The appellate court though 

did not discuss the issue elaborately yet affirmed the judgment and decree passed by the trial 

court with some findings regarding settlement case of the plaintiff and the subsequent 

cancellation of those settlement case and also discussed the evidence of the plaintiff side by 

which the appellate court found that plaintiff could not prove their case. So, the decision 

taken by the appellate court is not wrong. 

 

40. From the discussion made above and the facts and circumstances of the case.  I do not 

find any error of law in the decision taken by the courts below which are concurrent in nature 

and no interference is called for.  

 

41. Thus the Rule fails.  

 

42. In the result, the rule is discharged. The judgment and decree passed by the appellate 

court affirming the judgment and decree passed by the trial court is hereby upheld. 

 

43. The order of status-quo granted earlier is hereby vacated.      

 

44. Send a copy of the judgment and order of this court to the court below at once.  

Send down the L.C. records at once. 
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Judgment on 05.06.2017 

 

Present: 

Mr. Justice Jahangir Hossain 

And 

Mr. Justice Md. Jahangir Hossain 

 

Mitigating factors to consider the lesser punishment from death sentence to life 

imprisonment; 
 

This sentence that someone be punished in such a manner is referred to as ‘Death 

Sentence’, whereas the act of carrying out the death sentence is known as execution. The 

execution is not only an exemplary punishment alone that can erase the crime from the 

society forever. Lesser punishments may significantly prevent or reduce the crimes 

from the society depending on the good governance and awareness of the people.  

 

To consider the lesser punishment from death sentence to life imprisonment mitigating 

evidence or circumstances must be stronger than that of aggravating evidence produced 

by the prosecution. In this case we find the following circumstances outweigh the 

aggravating circumstances,  

1. Condemned prisoner committed double murder without any apparent motive 

and was suffering from mental derailment or  some sort of mental disorder 

and also suffering from ovarian cyst and bronchial asthma; 

2. Her paternal grandmother and maternal uncle had a history of psychiatric 

disorders according to exibit-15; 

3. She was around 19[nineteen] year old at the relevant time and the occurrence 

took place just immediately after her attaining the age of majority; 

4.  She has no such significant history of prior criminal activity [criminal cases] 

and  
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5. She had willingly surrendered to the police station soon after two days of the 

occurrence.         ... (Para 83 & 84) 

          

JUDGMENT 

 

Jahangir Hossain, J 

 

1. This Death Reference No. 99 of 2015 is the outcome of judgment and order of 

conviction and sentence dated 12.11.2015 referred to the High Court Division by the learned 

Judge of Druto Bichar Tribunal No. 03, Dhaka for confirmation of death sentence to 

condemned prisoner Oyshee Rahman under section 374 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

[briefly Cr.P.C].  

  

2. Challenging the said judgment and order of conviction and sentence, condemned 

prisoner Oyshee Rahman filed a petition of appeal being numbered as Criminal Appeal No. 

10281 of 2015 and she also filed Jail Appeal No. 216 of 2015. Death Reference and both the 

said Criminal Appeals have been heard together and are disposed of by this common 

judgment. 

  

3. The prosecution case is briefly described as under:  

One Md. Moshiur Rahman @ Rubel being informant lodged an ejahar with Paltan 

Model Police Station, Dhaka after consultation with some of his relatives alleging that 

his elder brother Mahfuzur Rahman, police inspector, along with his wife Shawpna 

Rahman, daughter Oyshee Rahman, son Ohee Rahman and maid servant Sumi used to 

reside at Flat No. 5/B, 2 No. Chamelibagh, Dhaka. On 16.08.2013 Iftekharul Alam, 

brother-in-law of Mahfuzur Rahman, intimated him over cell phone that Mahfuzur 

Rahman and his wife were missing and further told him that at about 02:00 am at 

night on 15.08.2013 his niece Oyshee Rahman had informed her aunt Suborna over 

cell phone that her parents had gone to Rajshahi and she along with her brother was 

afraid to stay at their residence without their parents. Oyshee also informed Iftekharul 

Alam that her brother Ohee was staying with her and she had left maid servant Sumi 

at the Aftabnagar slum. Being afraid after hearing such information, Iftekharul Alam 

asked his younger brother Rubel to inquire about them through the security guard of 

the Chamelibagh house and Rubel informed his elder brother Iftekharul Alam that 

early in the morning of 15.08.2013 Oyshee, Ohee and the maid servant Sumi had left 

the house for Oyshee’s aunt Suborna’s Mirpur residence by a CNG auto rickshaw. 

Iftekharul also told the informant that he had asked many persons regarding the 

whereabouts of his elder brother and sister-in-law but in vain. Subsequently, Dr. 

Rayhan, a relative of the informant, made contact with Malibagh office of the Special 

Branch, workplace of Mafuzur Rahman, who in turn, asked the Palton Model Police 

Station to look into the matter.  

 

4. Thereafter, police of Paltan police station entered the house of Mahfuzur Rahman at 

about 05:30 pm on 16.08.2013 by breaking the main door of the house with the help of a 

locksmith and found the dead bodies of the informant’s brother Mahfuzur Rahman and sister-

in-law Shawpna Rahman inside a bathroom of their house. Police duly held inquest reports of 

the dead bodies and sent the same to Dhaka Medical College Hospital for autopsy. Said Dr. 

Ryhan further asked the informant to come quickly to Dhaka and thereafter the informant 

rushed to Dhaka same day and found the dead bodies of his brother and sister-in-law lying at 

the Dhaka Medical College Hospital’s morgue. He also found marks of several injuries 
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inflicted by sharp weapons on the persons of his brother and sister-in-law. The informant 

further stated in the ejahar that his brother and sister-in-law were killed by some unidentified 

assailants between 11:00 pm of 14.08.2013 and 04:30 pm of 16.08.2013.  

 

5. Having received the ejahar police started Paltan Model Police Station Case No. 13 

dated 17.08.2013 against unknown miscreants under sections 302/34 of the Penal Code. 

 

6. Soon after lodging the FIR, police seized some materials and ornaments relating to the 

death of the deceased and apprehended maid servant Khadiza Akhter Sumi, Mizanur Rahman 

Rony and Asaduzzaman @ Jony while Oyshee Rahman surrendered to the police station. 

During investigation of the case, Oyshee and maid servant Sumi made confessional 

statements before the magistrate under section 164 of the Cr.P.C and seven witnesses also 

made statements before the magistrate under the aforesaid section. The investigating officer 

after completion of investigation, submitted police report being charge sheet No. 64 dated 

08.03.2014 against the three accused persons including the condemned prisoner under 

sections 302/201/212/109/328/380/34 of the Penal Code while separate police report being 

charge sheet No. 65 dated 08.03.2014 was submitted in Kishore Adalat against Khadiza 

Akhter Sumi on being minor under sections 302/114/201 /380/328/34 of the Penal Code. 

Except minor Khadiza Akhter Sumi all other accused persons were put on trial by the learned 

Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Dhaka in Metro. Sessions Case No. 3380 of 2014. 

 

7. Learned Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Dhaka framed charge on 06.05.2014 against 

accused Oyshee Rahman under sections 328/302/201/380 of the Penal Code, accused 

Asaduzzaman @ Rony under sections 302/109/212/34 of the Penal Code and accused 

Mizanur Rahman @ Rony under sections 302/34/212 of the Penal Code which was read over 

and explained to them present on dock to which they pleaded not guilty and claimed to be 

innocent at the trial. 

 

8. Thereafter, the aforesaid case was transferred to Druto Bichar Tribunal No. 03, Dhaka 

by a gazette notification dated 21.10.2014. Gravamen of charge was again framed after being 

amended by the Druto Bichar Tribunal on 30.11.2014 against accused Oyshee Rahman and 

Asaduzzaman @ Jony under section 302 read with section 109 of the Penal Code and accused 

Mizanur Rahman Rony under section 212 of the Penal Code which was also read over and 

explained to them while they were present on dock to which they claimed further to be 

innocent at the trial. The prosecution in order to prove its case, examined 39[thirty nine]out 

of 57[fifty seven] witnesses cited in the charge sheet while defence did not call any witness in 

their favour, but put their case by way of suggestions to the prosecution witnesses.  

 

9. On closure of the prosecution evidence, the accused persons present in dock, were also 

examined under section 342 of the Cr.P.C wherein the incriminating evidence and 

confessions brought to their notices and consequence thereof were explained to them. This 

time the accused persons present in the dock reiterated their innocence, non-complicity and 

declined to adduce any evidence in their favour through defence witnesses but accused 

Oyshee Rahman submitted a written statement depicting that at the relevant time she was 

17[seventeen] year old as per her birth certificate as well as passport and having been drunk 

by taking whisky she went to her friend’s house. During remand she was beaten to state 

something abnormally before the magistrate, otherwise she would be taken on remand time 

and again and she knew nothing about her parents’ killing. Her sense was not working 

properly at that time.  
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10. Considering the evidence including confessions and facts and circumstances of the 

case, learned Judge of Druto Bichar Tribunal No. 03, Dhaka found accused Oyshee Rahman 

guilty of the offence punishable under section 302 of the Penal Code and sentenced her to 

death with a fine of Tk. 20,000/-[twenty thousand] and accused Mizanur Rahman Rony was 

found guilty of the offence punishable under section 212 of the Penal Code and sentenced 

him to imprisonment for 2[two] years with a fine of Tk. 5000/-[five thousand], in default, to 

suffer simple imprisonment for 1[one] month more while accused Asaduzzaman @ Jony was 

found not guilty and acquitted from the charge leveled against him under section 302 read 

with section 109 of the Penal Code. 

 

11. Mr. Md. Atiqul Haque @ Selim along with Mr. Md. Nizamul Haque Nizam, learned 

Assistant Attorney Generals has taken us to the FIR, inquest reports, DNA test, reports of 

mental condition of accused Oyshee Rahman and her age, autopsy reports, seizure list, 

seizing articles, testimony of the witnesses, confessional statements, impugned judgment and 

other connected documents on record wherefrom it alleges that both the victims were killed 

by the condemned prisoner from 11:00 pm of 14.08.2013 to early in the morning of 

15.08.2013 in a pre-planned manner. 

 

12. Having gone through the evidence of all the 39 prosecution witnesses it is found that 

pw-01 Md. Moshiur Rahman is the informant of the case. Deceased Mahfuzur Rahman and 

Swapna Rahman were his elder brother and sister-in-law [bhabi] respectively. At the time of 

occurrence he was in the village home under Mymensingh district. Getting news from pw-20 

Dr. Md. Rayhan he came to Dhaka and found the dead bodies of the victims in Dhaka 

Medical College morgue on 17.08.2013. After that he lodged the FIR, marked as exhibit-01 

against unknown assailants. This witness could not provide any evidence against the persons 

by whom the victims were killed. Simply identification of the dead bodies has been made by 

him. He heard the occurrence from others and in the FIR [exhibit-01] he stated that his elder 

brother Mahfuzur Rahman and his wife Swapna Rahman were killed in the house of Flat No. 

5/B, at 2, Chamelibagh, Dhaka between 11:00 pm of 14.08.2013 and 04:00 pm of 16.08.2013 

but he failed to narrate any single word against the condemned prisoner before the trial court 

whether she was involved with the killing of the victims. The evidence of this witness is 

silent with regard to the involvement of the condemned prisoner. Because this witness said he 

had no personal knowledge subsequently, by whom the victims were killed.  

 

13. Pw-12 Md. Amzad Ali who is the manager of the house testified that he made a call 

over cell phone to the mother of Oyshee who gave permission to allow Oyshee for going 

outside of the house as she showed interest on 15.08.2013. On 16.08.2013 maternal uncle of 

Oyshee came and found the door of the flat locked from outside. In his presence and others 

police broke the lock of the door and found two dead bodies inside Oyshee’s bath room. He 

signed the seizure list prepared by the police on 22.08.2013. Pw-33 recorded the statement of 

this witness, marked as exhibit-24, under section 164 of the Cr.P.C on 26.08.2013.  

 

14. Pw-13 Md. Shahinur Islam is a security guard who testified that Oyshee went outside 

when manager allowed her to go on 15.08.2013 in the morning. He could see the door of the 

flat locked from outside but subsequently relatives of the deceased and the police recovered 

dead bodies from that flat on 16.08.2013 and he signed the seizure list prepared by the police 

on 22.08.2013. Pw-35 Keshob Roy Chowdhury, Senior Assistant Judge, recorded statement 

of this witness, marked as exhibit-29, under section 164 of the Cr.P.C on 26.08.2013.  
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15. Pw-16 A. Motaleb is also a security guard of the house, who after having breakfast 

came and saw Oyshee, Ohee and Sumi in front of a CNG. They left with two bags in a CNG 

on being allowed by manager to go outside on 15.08.2013 in the morning. On 16.08.2013 

morning Oyshee informed her maternal uncle that she was in her friend’s house and did not 

turn out. Oyshee was asked to come but she sent her brother Ohee only. Maternal uncle, Ohee 

and manager went upstairs and found the door of the house locked. In the afternoon police 

and other relatives broke the lock of the door with the help of a locksmith and found dead 

bodies of Mahfuzur Rahman and his wife inside the house. Pw-12 recorded statement of this 

witness, marked as exhibit-12, under section 164 of the Cr.P.C on 26.08.2013. The evidence 

of these three witnesses namely pws-12, 13 and 16, who were deployed in the house for 

security purposes, established the time and place of occurrence wherefrom the dead bodies of 

the victims were recovered by the law enforcing agencies. Even then, their evidence finds the 

condemned prisoner at the downstairs’ of the house and the condemned prisoner very 

tactfully went out of the house showing dramatic and cleverish attitude to the said witnesses. 

The door of the house was opened with the help of a locksmith, brought by police, which has 

been supported by pw-14 A. Hannan, a locksmith by profession. He said in his evidence that 

he was brought to the place of occurrence house by police in order to open the door of the 

house on 16.08.2013 and he entered the house after breaking the door and found two dead 

bodies therein. The evidence of these witnesses in respect of recovery of the dead bodies has 

been corroborated by the evidence of pw-18 Constable Taslim Uddin and pw-19 Constable 

Mojibur Rahman both were present at the time of recovery of the dead bodies from the place 

of occurrence on 16.08.2013. On 16.08.2013 morning pw-20 Dr. Md. Rayhan after being 

informed went to the place of occurrence building where he found Ohee who did not tell him 

anything correctly but said Oyshee sent him there. Police recovered dead bodies of Mahfuzur 

Rahman and his wife from their rented flat at Chamelibagh between 04:32 pm and 05:00 pm. 

This witness heard later that Oyshee was involved with the murder.         

 

16. Pw-17 Iman Ali is a CNG auto rickshaw driver who started running the CNG auto 

rickshaw from 12:30 pm on 15.05.2013 under instruction of Oyshee from one place to 

another place in the capital and handed over the auto rickshaw in the garage at 04:30 pm. 

Oyshee along with her brother left keeping the maid servant Sumi in the house of the auto 

rickshaw driver who made a statement [exhibit-13], recorded by pw-32 Md. Mustafizur 

Rahman, a Metropolitan Magistrate.  

 

17. On 19.08.2013 at 11:30 am pw-10 S.I Shahidullah recovered huge quantity of 

necessary goods, worn apparels, ornaments and cash money including foreign currency, 

marked as material exhibits-I-XXXVI [kha] at the showing of accused Oyshee Rahman from 

the house [tin shed] of 58/36/4, Uttar Mugda, Modinabagh, Washa Road in presence of the 

witnesses. Recovery of the said articles and ornaments, cash money has been supported by 

the evidence of pw-04 Bazlur Rahman and pw-05 Kabir Uddin Ahmed and pw-09 ASI 

Tobibur Rahman being seizure list witnesses.   

 

18. Pw-11 Khokon Mollik testified that on 23.08.2013 at 08:40 pm D.B police along with 

accused Sumi and Oyshee came in Flat No. 5E and seized pillow cover, napkin and four tea-

cups at the showing of the accused. He signed the seizure lists prepared by police in his 

presence and others. The evidence of this witness has been corroborated by the evidence of 

pw-15 Dr. Ali Munsur Md. Shoriful Islam. 

 

19. Pw-21 Dr. Nahid Mahjabeen Morshed and pw-22 Dr. Sultana Algin both are associate 

professors of Department of Psychiatry in Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University 
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[BSMMU], who examined accused Oyshee for ascertaining her mental condition 

[psychological assessment] following the order of the High Court Division of the Supreme 

Court of Bangladesh on a Writ Petition No. 9093 of 2013. They rendered report, marked as 

exhibit 15, after a long examination on her mental condition. 

 

20. Pw-23 Dr. Sohel Mahmud is an assistant professor of Forensic Department of Dhaka 

Medical College Hospital, who examined the dead bodies of deceased Mahfuzur Rahman and 

Swapna Rahman on 17.08.2013 and found the following injuries: 

 

21. Deceased Mahfuzur Rahman- 

1. Stab wounds on a [front of base of the neck along with midline [1"X ½" X cavity] 

[b] Mid abdomen along with midline 4" above the Umbilicus [1"X ½" X cavity] 

Considering autopsy [exhibit-16] findings and chemical analysis report he opined that 

the cause of death due to haemorrhage & shock resulting from above mentioned stab 

injuries which were ante mortem and homicidal in nature and signs of ingestion of 

Bromazepam found in the dead body which was ante-mortem. 

Deceased Swapna Rahman- 

 01. Body was swollen & initial stage of decomposition [scalp formation]. 

 02. Stab wounds on  

 (a) Back of the abdomen 1" right to midline [1½" X ½" X cavity] 

(b) 3 stab wounds on back of the mid abdomen two are ½" right to midline [1"X 

½" X 1½"] another on ½" left to midline [1"X ½" X 1½"]  

(c) 3 stab wounds on right lateral surface of right lower chest each are 1" a part 

each other [1½" X ½" X cavity] 

(d) On left breast ½" right to nipple [1½" X ½" X 2"] 

(e) On left lateral aspect of lower left abdomen [1½" X ½" X cavity] 

(f) On front of base of neck ½" right to midline [1½" X ½" X cavity] 

(g) On front of base of neck ½" left of midline [1½" X ½" X cavity] 

 

22. Considering autopsy [exhibit-17] findings and chemical analysis report, he opined 

that the cause of death due to haemorrhage & shock resulting from above mentioned injuries 

[PM report] which were ante-mortem & homicidal in nature and signs of ingestion of 

Bromazepam found in the body which was ante-mortem. 

 

23. Pw-24 Md. Kaiser Rahman is a chemical expert who examined the viscera of 

deceased Mahfuzur Rahman and Swapna Rahman and prepared reports [exhibits-18 and 19] 

dated 26.09.2013. No poison was detected in the viscera and blood of both the deceased but 

Bromazepam was found. Residuary of the coffee in the cup was examined and found 

Bromazepam and its report issued by him, marked as exhibit-20.  

 

24. Pw-25 Tanvir Sultana is an assistant professor who supported the said viscera reports 

as she is one of the members of the board. 

 

25. Pw-26 Md. Mahmud Hasan, a scientific officer, DNA laboratory prepared DNA test 

report, marked as exhibits-21 which makes conclusion as under, 

 

26. Among the samples presented to us, exhibit-A (Bloodstain on Cotton Swab from 

deceased Mahfuzur Rahman), exhibit-B (Bloodstain on Cotton Swab from deceased Swapna 

Rahman) and exhibit-C (Bloodstain on Bangles) yielded complete DNA profile. 
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27. However, exhibit-D(Bloodstain on Salower) and exhibit-E (Bloodstain on kameez) 

yielded mixed DNA profiles. 

 

28. The DNA profile obtained from the bloodstain present on the source of exhibit C 

(Bangles) matches with the DNA profile obtained from the source of exhibit-B (Bloodstain 

on cotton Swab from Deceased Shapna Rahman). 

 

29. The DNA profiles obtained from exhibit-D (Bloodstain on Salower) and exhibit-E 

(Bloodstain on Kameez) reflects a mixed DNA profile of deceased Mahfuzur Rahman 

(exhibit-A) and deceased Shapna Rahman (exhibit-B).  

 

30. Pw-27 Tasnim Ferdous is an assistant supervisor of Kishore Sangshodhanagar, 

Gazipur who found accused Oyshee normal between 24.08.2013 and 31.08.2013 and she 

used to do daily task in a normal condition. This witness saw nothing abnormal with Oyshee 

to commit suicide when she was in the said organization.  

 

31. Pw-28 Md. Anisul Islam, Sub-Inspector of Detective Branch, visited Khulna Mishuk 

Clinic on behalf of pw-37 Md. Abu Al Khair Matabber [investigating officer] and seized 

diary [page 1-424 wherein at page 101 it is written that Swapna Rahman wife of Mahfuzur 

Rahman of Anjuman Road, Doulatpur, Khulna was admitted on 16.08.1994 at 18:45 hours] 

and photo copy of license of the said clinic and collected birth certificate of Oyshee issued by 

Dr. Abdur Rahim in presence of the witnesses and prepared seizure list, marked as exhibit-

22. 16.08.1994 is the birth date of accused Oyshee recorded by Mishuk Clinic and its 

certificate issued by Dr. Abdur Rahman who died on 22.07.2015, have been supported by 

pw-36 Md. Diderul Islam, Ex-Manager of the said clinic. The birth date of accused Oyshee 

has also been supported by the evidence of pw-39 Nur Jahan Mery, who deposed that Oyshee 

was born in her presence at the said clinic on 16
th

 August, 1994 and the delivery of her birth 

was normal.     

 

32. Pw-02 Md. Jony and pw-03 Rakib Hasan are the witnesses of inquest report and 

seizure list. In their presence inquest reports of both the dead bodies of the deceased were 

prepared by pw-06 Abu Tahar Bhuiyan, Sub-Inspector of Police, on 16.08.2013 at 17:40 

hours. Pw-07 Constable Maleka Begum and pw-08 Constable Mahbub Alam signed the said 

seizure list and challan of both the dead bodies. Pw-06 also seized many articles including a 

dagger and some Frence Fries from the house of the deceased on the same day. Pw-29 Md. 

Jahangir Hossain Sub-Inspector of Detective Branch, pw-30 Md. Golam Mustafa, Sub-

Inspector of Special Branch and pw-31 Md. Nazrul Islam, Senior ASP were also present at 

the time of recovery of the said articles.  

 

33. Pw-37 Md. Abu Al Khair Matabbar after receiving the case docket by the order of 

DC. DB memo No. 1518 dated 22.08.2013 revisited the place of occurrence, re-examined the 

sketch map with index [exhibit-31] prepared by the earlier Investigating Officer, seizing 

goods and materials, re-examined witnesses and examined 34 witnesses, autopsy reports, 

inquest reports, report of assessment for mental condition of Oyshee, DNA test, report of age 

relating to accused Oyshee and finally submitted charge sheet being No. 64 dated 08.03.2014 

against accused Oyshee Rahman, Asaduzzaman Jony and Mizanur Rahman Rony after 

finding prima facie case and submitted a separate charge sheet being No. 65 dated 08.03.2014 

against minor accused Khadiza Akhter Sumi and on 15.09.2014 a supplementary charge sheet 

being No. 64/1 was also submitted by him. 
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34. Pw-38 Md. Monir Hossain being Sub-Inspector of Horirampur Police Station verified 

the name and address of accused Asaduzzaman Jony. 

 

35. It appears from documents on record that Dr. Meruna Mahjaben and Dr. Farhana 

Rahman, Forensic Medicine Department, DMCH clinically examined accused Oyshee 

Rahman to ascertain her age. Considering findings of physical examination and radiological 

reports they opined that the present age of accused Oyshee Rahman is around 19[nineteen] 

years.        

 

36. In this case Oyshee Rahman and Khadiza Akhter Sumi made confessional statements 

before the magistrate during investigation of the case. It reveals from the confessional 

statement of Oyshee that she having brought sedative tablets from the shop blended with the 

coffee and administered the same to her mother after Magrib prayer and father after around 

11:00 pm on 14.08.2013. She stabbed her mother on her abdomen indiscriminately with a 

sharp knife at about 02:00 am [15.05.2013] after being drunk from two small bottles of 

whisky in the master bed room. She took her younger brother Ohee inside bath room when he 

started crying after waking up. She gave jomjom water to her mother when she wanted to 

drink. Thereafter, she made some more stabs on her mother and then more blows on her neck. 

Her mother fell on the ground from the bed and died of sustaining wounds. Her father also 

died sustaining stabs dealt by her.  

 

37. She did not tell anything to the maid servant Sumi on how her parents were killed and 

she took shower and the maid servant cleaned the blood stained room of her mother. Both the 

dead bodies were kept inside the bathroom putting off worn ornaments from her mothers’ 

hands. She told her brother that as mother sustained a small wound, she was taken to a 

hospital by their father. Failing to communicate with Jony she sought shelter from one Rocky 

known to her previously. It also appears from her statement that she took her mother’s wallet 

along with ornaments, money and other worn apparels. In the name of going to her aunt’s 

house she along with her brother and maid servant Sumi went out of the house by telling 

security guard at 08:10 pm.  

 

38. Throughout the day she roamed around in a CNG in order to get shelter and met 

Rocky and Jony while she spoke with Rony over cell phone. She has also stated in her 

confession that she retained Sumi under the shelter of the CNG driver in his house at night. 

Another CNG driver arranged for her to stay in the house of the CNG owner. She also 

communicated with her aunt Suborna who talked to her maternal uncle Robiul in the night of 

15.08.2013. She also talked to her maternal uncle Robiul in the morning of 16.08.2013 and 

handed over her younger brother to him by a rickshaw. She stayed the night of 16.08.2013 in 

the house of Rony’s aunt Kulsum at Basabo. At night she started to realize repentance [for 

her wrong doing] and decided to disclose it. Even then, she went to her aunt’s house at Uttara 

and failing to get her available she surrendered to Palton Police Station and disclosed the 

incident to the police.  

 

39. She has a friend named Jony aged about 25-26 who has a ‘step up’ named, a dance 

school at Aftab Nagor. She used to take yaba with Jony who was supplying the same. Rocky 

aged about 40 years is a businessman of a rent-a-car. Rony aged about 22-24 is a dancer by 

profession. A distance was created from her parents when she was 12/13 years old and her 

parents used to beat her up. She fled away from her house more than once and her parents 

kept her in the house and did not let her go outside. She could not share anything with the 

inmates of the house rather she shared everything with Jony. She further narrates that 4/5 
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days before incident she was planning to kill her parents and she shared her plan with Jony 

who hoped to give her shelter, if required. Before surrendering to the police her worn 

apparels along with money and ornament were kept in the house of Rony’s aunt and police 

recovered all the things from there by her pointing.  

 

40. The said confessional statement finds the involvement of the maker in the killing of 

the victims in a pre-planned manner. From the evidence of pw-34 Md. Anowar Shadat, 

Senior Assistant Judge, it appears that he being a judicial magistrate endorsed her confession 

that it was made voluntarily and after maintaining all formalities he recorded her confessional 

statement, marked as exhibit-27 on which he put several signatures and the confessing 

accused also put her signatures as well and contents of the confessional statement were read 

over and explained to her who signed the same after having found correct and from the 

confession it is found that the magistrate made remarks depicting that confession of the 

accused seemed to be true and voluntary in nature. 

 

41. Before recording her confession, he alerted her saying that it might be used against 

her as evidence if she confesses. And further told her that he was not a police officer but a 

magistrate and she is not bound to confess and whether she was tortured by anybody. Having 

understood the questions she made the confessional statement willingly.  

 

42. Before or after recording the statement she did not make any kind of complaints to 

him as to whether she was tortured or assaulted by the investigating officer or she was under 

any duress or coercion to make confession. From the said evidence of this witness and 

confession of the accused it has revealed that there was no sign of conflict between the 

recording officer or investigating officer and the confessing accused. And the defence failed 

to discard the evidence that any authority or interested quarter came forward to compel her to 

make such confession. So, the arguments made by the learned Advocate Mr. Sujit 

Bhattacharjee seem to be unworthy in nature. There may have been some minor irregularities 

in recording the confessional statement of the accused but such irregularities are not being 

considered as major mistakes. It reveals from confession of condemned prisoner that there 

was no complaint of police torture or any kind of threat before the pw-34 that she was 

compelled to confess beyond her willingness, if any violence or inducement is not made by 

the police then the confession may be regarded as voluntary. Even then, recording magistrate 

rendered her reasonable time to think that if she confesses it may go against her as evidence. 

Therefore, it can be firmly said that the confessional statement made by her is absolutely 

voluntary and true and can form the sole basis of conviction as against the maker of the same. 

It finds support from a decision held in the case of Islamuddin –Vs-State, reported in 13 BLC 

[AD] 81 which is run as follows,  

“It is now the settled principle of law that judicial confession if it is found to be 

true and voluntary can form the sole basis of conviction as against the maker of 

the same. The High Court Division has rightly found the judicial confession of 

the condemned prisoner true and voluntary and considering the same, the extra 

judicial confession and, circumstances of the case found the condemned prisoner 

guilty and accordingly imposed the sentence of death upon him.”  

 

43. In the present case pw-34 as recording magistrate has been produced before the trial 

court and examined thoroughly by the defence but nothing is found shaken with regard to the 

sanctity of the said confession.    
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44. The expression ‘confession’ has been defined by Stephen in his ‘Digest of the Law of 

Evidence’ that ‘a confession is an admission made at any time by a person charged with 

crime, stating or suggesting the inference that he committed the crime’. The presence of a 

magistrate is a safe-guard and guarantees the confession as not made by influence. When a 

confession is taken by a public servant there is a degree of sanctity and solemnity which 

affords a sufficient guarantee for the presumption that everything was formally, correctly and 

duly done. In this case the recording magistrate came forward to give the evidence and there 

has been found nothing that he failed to give the memorandum as to her confession and pw-

34 has been thoroughly cross-examined by the defence as to the genuineness of the 

confession and memorandum issued by him. It is not necessary that the memorandum as to 

the confession is to be issued separately. It is enough, if it is inserted in the prescribed form 

but there must be signature of the recording officer which is found present. So, no question of 

genuineness of the confession is found present in this case. It finds support from the case of 

State-Vs-Munir and another, reported in 1 BLC, 345 which is run as follows,  

“.................The confessional statement of Munir Ext. 50 recorded in 

accordance with the provision of section 164 of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure was signed by the confessing accused and the Magistrate and, as 

such, the Court shall presume under section 80 of the Evidence Act that the 

document is genuine and that the statement as to the circumstances under 

which it was taken by the Magistrate are true and the confession was duly 

taken.”    

 

45. Although the condemned prisoner, subsequently retracted her confession by placing 

written statement at the time of examination under section 342 of the Cr.P.C that she was 

compelled to confess before the magistrate under threat of torture by police and she being 

minor was not stable because of being drunk from two bottles of whiskey. But that does not 

reflect on her confession made by her because such history of confession was unable on the 

part of any interested quarter to make falsely in such way. No such clue or document is found 

in the entire evidence of the prosecution case. More so, if the confession is found to be true 

and voluntary, the retraction at a later stage does not affect the voluntariness of the 

confession. The retraction of the confession is wholly immaterial once it is found voluntary 

as well as true.  

 

46. On a plain reading of her confession it is clearly found that she made the confession 

involving herself alone in the commission of offence. So, there is no doubt that the 

confession of the accused is inculpatory in nature. The confession is so natural and 

spontaneous that one cannot harbor any doubt about its voluntariness. When a confession is 

found to be true and voluntary and inculpatory in nature without corroborating evidence a 

conviction can be imposed upon the maker of the statement. It finds support from the case of 

Mofti Abdul Hannan Munshi @ Abul Kalam and another–Vs-the State, [judgment dated 7
th

 

December, 2016] reported in 2017(1)LNJ (AD)38 in which the Apex Court opined that  

“Even if there is no corroborative evidence, if a confession is taken to be true, 

voluntary in nature, a conviction can be given against the maker of the statement 

relying upon it subject to the condition mentioned above. In view of the above 

proposition of law, there is no legal ground to interfere with the conviction of the 

appellants and co-accused since the confessions are not only inculpatory but also 

true and voluntary. Deliberate and voluntary confession of guilt, if clearly 

proved, are among the most effectual proofs in the law-their value depending on 

the sound presumption that a rational being will not make admission prejudicial 
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to his interest and safety, unless when urged by the promptings of truth and 

conscience.”              

 

47. From the confession of minor accused Khadiza Akhter Sumi it reveals that Oyshee 

disclosed to her that she blended medicine with coffee for her mother to sleep and 

administered the same to her mother in the evening. Oyshee also administered coffee mixed 

with sedative medicine to her father after 11:00 pm at night. She could see Oyshee stabbing 

her mother when she once woke up from bed. She became scared and feared on seeing 

through door’s hole while Oyshee committing such acts and went back to her room. Early in 

the morning Oyshee woke her up by saying that Rony and Jony having come killed her 

parents but she could see blood stains on the trousers of Oyshee who took the dead bodies 

inside the bath room with her help. As per instruction of Oyshee she cleaned a room in which 

victim Swapna Rahman was killed. She was under threat from Oyshee. Having taken 

ornaments and money from ‘almira’ Oyshee went out of the house along with her and 

Oyshees younger brother Ohee next morning by misleading security guard that she was going 

to her aunt’s house. They went to many places throughout the day by a CNG and Oyshee had 

talks with others. Oyshee put her in the house of the CNG driver giving hope to take back her 

next morning but did not come to take her back. She stayed in the house of CNG driver for 

three days and narrated everything to the CNG driver who took her to Badda Police Station. 

This confessional statement of Khadiza Akhter Sumi indicates that she directly saw the 

offence of killing committed by Oyshee and in fear of Oyshee she performed some acts after 

incident. 

 

48. The confession made by the condemned prisoner regarding killing incident of the 

deceased has been supported by information provided made by Khadiza Akhter Sumi. But 

this confession of Sumi should not be treated as corroborative evidence. It may be a piece of 

circumstantial event because such information provided by co-accused in her confession has 

not been tested on oath.  

 

49. Although defence has claimed that accused Oyshee was minor at the relevant time but 

evidence of pws 28, 36 and 39 along with diary of Mishu Clinic and her birth certificate and 

school certificate from Oxford International School  strongly proved that she was above 18 

years at the relevant time. So the trial of accused Oyshee held by Druto Bichar Tribunal 

cannot be said quorum-non-judice or beyond its jurisdiction even the medical examination of 

accused Oyshee for ascertaining her age as around 19 years held by DMCH on 01.09.2013 is 

forgone as doctor was not examined. 

 

50. Movement of Oyshee throughout the following day of the occurrence by CNG in the 

capital is one of the circumstances that includes her conduct for coming out of the house early 

in the morning misleading the security guards including the manager of the ‘apartment 

building’ where she along with her parents, younger brother Ohee and maid Sumi used to 

reside together. Since Oyshee was only the major girl with her parents in the house on the 

dreadful night she has to explain how her parents were brutally killed in the house and that 

has been proved by her subsequent conduct surrendering to the police station.  

 

51. Her staying outside locking the door of the place of occurrence flat is un-explained. If 

Oyshee was innocent as claimed by the learned defence lawyer Mr. Surojit Chatterjee, why 

Oyshee stayed the night of 16.08.2013 at Basabo in a house of Kulsum Begum wherefrom a 

huge quantity of worn apparels, small goods, cash money and ornaments were recovered by 

police at the showing of accused Oyshee and she also admitted that she brought the said 
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materials from their house after killing her parents. Although only on the basis of 

confessional statement conviction can be imposed upon the maker as per section 30 of the 

Evidence Act but it finds support from other circumstantial evidence as stated above. 

Considering the above evidence, discussions and findings and facts and circumstances of the 

case we are constrained to hold that the prosecution has been able to prove the case against 

the condemned prisoner beyond shadow of doubt under section 302 of the Penal Code. 

 

52. Having realized the quality of evidence provided by the prosecution and multiple 

murder in the case, Mr. Afzal H. Khan, learned Advocate appearing for the condemned 

prisoner at the outset contends that though there are many ambiguities in the evidence of 

prosecution witnesses but he does not intend to press the appeal on merit seeking 

commutation of sentence to the effect that the murder took place without any motive and the 

condemned prisoner was suffering from mental derailment or some sort of mental disorder 

and at the relevant time she was drunk  after having two bottles of whisky. In support of these 

contentions both the learned Advocates referred to many decisions held by our Apex Courts 

and foreign courts as well. They have also drawn our attention to the report held by a board 

of three members’ committee at Bangabondhu Sheikh Mojib Medical University, for 

assessment of mental condition of accused Oyshee Rahman, marked as exhibit-15 which is 

the outcome of Writ Petition No. 9093 of 2013. 

 

53. Per contra, Mr. Zahirul Haque Zahir, learned Deputy Attorney General along with Mr. 

Md. Atiqul Haque Selim and Mr. Nizamul Haque Nizam, learned Assistant Attorney 

Generals appearing for the State opposes the appeal to be dismissed and to accept the death 

reference, submits that at the time of occurrence the condemned prisoner was around 19 years 

of age and she brutally killed her parents in a pre-planned manner and she does not deserve 

any kind of sympathy from this Court.       

 

54. We have given our anxious thought over the contentions of the learned Advocates of 

both the parties, perused the report held for assessment of mental condition of the condemned 

prisoner and other documents on record wherefrom it transpires that the occurrence took 

place by the hands of daughter of the deceased and the case has been proved by the evidence 

of the prosecution witnesses as well as confessional statement of condemned prisoner as 

discussed earlier. 

 

55. Now the vital question is before us whether the condemned prisoner has any scope to 

get mercy of this Court by awarding sentence to imprisonment for life from the death 

sentence. In the criminal justice system the purpose of punishment recognized five specific 

things namely,  

1. ‘Deterrence’ which prevents crime by frightening an individual offender with 

punishment and by frightening the public with the punishment of an 

individual offender. 

2. ‘Incapacitation’ which prevents future crime by removing the accused from 

society i.e to put him in a confined place. 

3. ‘Rehabilitation’ also prevents future crime by altering an offender’s behaviour 

through education, vocational programs, treatment and counsel etc.  

4. ‘Retribution’ prevents future crime by removing the desire for personal 

avengement against the offender such as when victims or society discover 

that the accused has been adequately punished for a crime, the achieve a 

certain satisfaction that the criminal procedure is working effectively, which 

fetches faith in law enforcement as well as government.  
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5. ‘Restitution’ prevents future crime by pecuniary punishment to the accused. 

Restitution is when the court orders the criminal to pay the victim for any 

harm and restitution can be for physical injuries, loss or property or money, 

and rarely, emotional distress. Such punishment can also be a fine that covers 

some of the criminal prosecution and punishment.  

 

56. The above punishments are generally imposed upon the perpetrators for committing 

crimes in the dispensation of criminal justice system in order to get the society more civilized 

and stable.  

 

57. Among all the punishments the death penalty is the highest one which the 

abolitionists believe is the worst violation of human rights, because the right to life is the 

most important factor, and capital punishment violates it without necessity and inflicts to the 

condemned a psychological torture while human rights activists oppose the death penalty 

calling it ‘cruel, inhuman, and degrading punishment’. Amnesty International also intends to 

say that it is to be ‘the ultimate, irreversible denial of human rights’.  

 

58. Among countries around the world almost all European and many specific States 

including Australia in 1973 [although the State of Western Australia retain the capital penalty 

until 1984], New Zealand and Timor Leste, and Canada in 1976 [except for some military 

offences, with complete abolition in 1998], France in 1981 have abolished capital 

punishment. In Latin America, most States have completely abolished the use of capital 

punishment while some countries, such as Brazil, allow for capital punishment only in 

exceptional situations, such as treason committed during war. In the United Kingdom, it was 

abolished for murder, leaving only treason, piracy with violence, arson in royal dockyards 

and a number of war time military offences for capital punishment, for a five year experiment 

in 1965 and permanently 1969, the last execution took place in 1964. It was abolished for all 

peacetime offences in 1998.  

 

59. In the United States, Michigan was the first State to ban the death penalty, on 

18.05.1846. The death penalty was declared unconstitutional between 1972 and 1976 based 

on Furman-Vs-Georgia, 408 U.S. 238[1972] and further limitations were placed on the death 

penalty in Atkins –Vs- Virginia stating that it was unconstitutional for people with an 

intellectual disability and in the case of Roper –Vs-Simmons it was held that it is 

unconstitutional if the accused is under age eighteen at the time of crime committed. In the 

United States, 18 States and the District of Columbia banned capital punishment. 

 

60. In America, the case of Lockett –Vs- Ohio [1978] emphasized the importance of 

mitigation in capital trials. Sandra Lockett was charged with aggravated murder with 

specifications for her involvement in planning and facilitating the robbery of a pawnshop that 

resulted in the murder of the pawnbroker. According to one of the other suspects in the case, 

Lockett drove the gunman away from the crime scene, concealed the murder weapon, and hid 

two suspects from police. The jury was instructed that someone who “purposely aids, helps, 

associates herself with another for the purpose of committing a crime is regarded as if she 

were the principal offender and is just the guilty as if the person performed every act 

constituting the offense.” The jury found Lockett guilty. Under Ohio law at the time, the 

death penalty was mandatory for those found guilty of aggravated murder unless one of three 

specified mitigating factors was found:  

1. The victim induced or facilitated the offence;  
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2. It is unlikely the offence would have been committed but for the fact that the 

offender was under duress, coercion, or strong provocation; or  

3. The offence was primarily the product of the offender’s psychosis or mental 

deficiency. 

 

61. In Walton –Vs- Arizona [1990] the Judge found the aggravating circumstances that 

the murder was ‘especially heinous, cruel, or depraved’ and that it was committed for 

pecuniary gain. As mitigation, Walton presented a psychiatrist’s testimony on Walton’s 

history of substance abuse and possible childhood sexual abuse. Walton’s youth was also 

presented as mitigation as he was twenty years of age at the time of sentencing.  

 

62. The role of mitigation in the Aileen Wuornos case focused on her traumatic 

childhood and mental illness. Aileen Wuornos was abandoned by her parents and raised by 

her maternal grand-parents. Her father committed suicide while incarcerated for child 

molestation. She was physically and sexually abused throughout her childhood and teenage 

years. At the age of fifteen, following the death of her grandmother, Wuornos was kicked out 

of her grandmother’s house and became a ward of the court. Three Psychologists testified 

that Wuornos suffered from ‘border line personality disorder’, likely brought on by her 

traumatic upbringing. The Jury’s sentencing recommendation found only one mitigating 

factor: the defendant suffered from border line personality disorder. The Judge, however, 

found five mitigating factors; namely 

[1] Wuornos suffered antisocial and borderline personality disorder; 

[2] she may have been physically abused as a child; 

[3] her natural father and grandfather committed suicide; 

[4] her grandmother died as alcoholic; and  

[5] her mother abandoned her as an infant.  

  

63. According to the Indian procedure the provision of section 235(2) of Criminal 

Procedure Code calls upon the court that the convicted accused must be given an opportunity 

of being heard on the question of sentence. This provides the accused an opportunity to place 

his antecedents, social and economic background and mitigating and extenuating 

circumstances before the court. Besides the statutory provisions, the Constitution of India 

also empowers the President and the Governor of the State to grant pardon to the condemned 

offenders in appropriate cases. These powers are, however, co-extensive with the legislative 

powers. The power to cut short a sentence by an act of executive exists in India and 

elsewhere. It is significant to note that the controversy raised in this regard in Nanavatis case, 

has been settled by the Supreme Court of India once for all in the case of Sarat Chandra –Vs-

Khagendra Nath which affirmed the principle that sentencing power of judiciary and 

executive are readily distinguishable.  

  

64. In law mitigating and extenuating circumstances in criminal cases are unusual or 

extreme facts leading up to or attending the perpetration of the offence which, although an 

offence has been perpetrated without legal justification or excuse, mitigate or reduce its 

gravity from the point of view of punishment or moral opprobrium. Mitigation, also referred 

to as mitigating factors or ‘mitigating evidence’ is evidence the defence can present in the 

sentencing phase of a capital trial to provide reasons why the accused should not receive a 

death sentence. This evidence, which can include mental problems, remorse, youth, 

childhood abuse or neglect, a minor role in the homicide, or the absence of a prior criminal 

record, may reduce the culpability of the accused in the killing or may provide other reasons 

for preferring a life sentence to death.     
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65. In the case of our criminal justice system there is no provision in law for the offender 

to reduce the sentence by mitigating circumstances as of right but in practice the judges have 

powers to determine the punishment to be awarded for an offence. The sentence, with certain 

exceptions in capital cases, is within the sole discretion of the judges and the judges are 

determined by discretion to weigh the mitigating factors presented by the defence against the 

aggravating factors presented by the prosecution. Practice reminds precedents that the death 

penalty is intended only ‘for the worst of the worst’ crimes. 

  

66. In America, as mitigation has been recognized as a critical part of a capital trial, 

defence attorneys have turned to mitigation specialists to investigate defendant’s 

backgrounds. Mitigations specialists examine dependants’ family history, medical history, 

education and employment background, and any other element of an individual’s life that 

may convince the Jury to return a sentence other than death. After getting information, they 

assist defence counsel in presenting a coherent case for mitigation. The role of the mitigation 

specialist is so central to a client’s defence that the American Bar Association includes them 

in their guidelines on the defence in death penalty cases.  

  

67. In the history of Pakistan’s judiciary mitigations are often used in the calculation of 

sentence when the allegation is found proved against the defendant. In the case of Zulfiqar 

alias Bhutto Vs The State [1995 SCMR 1668] the benefit of tender age was given to the 

accused but it was further opined that tender age of the accused may not be a firm rule 

applicable in cases where the offence is so heinous or brutal. In another case of Muhammad 

Ikram alias Billa –Vs- The State, reported in 1999 SCMR 406 the accused was allowed such 

benefit on account of his tender age by conversion of his sentence of death to imprisonment 

for life and the evidence referred to the fact that the accused who was of tender age got 

annoyed over failure of the deceased to return borrowed money and his use of foul tongue 

when the money was demanded from him by the accused. Even then, considering the young 

age of the accused at the time of commission of offence as a mitigating factor resulted in 

conversion of sentence from death to that of imprisonment for life although the motive of the 

murder was successfully established by the prosecution, observed in the case of Muhammad 

Afzal –Vs-The State, 1999 SCMR 2851. 

  

68. In the case in hand, it appears from evidence on record that the prosecution has 

marked the report prepared for the assessment of mental condition of condemned prisoner as 

exhibit-15 which basically has come into light by a Writ Petition No. 9093 of 2013. During 

examination of her mental condition after around two months of the occurrence, the medical 

board took five interviews of the condemned prisoner on 28.10.2013, 03.11.2013, 

07.11.2013, 08.12.2013 and 16.01.2014 and Md. Abu Al Khair Matbbor, Inspector of Police, 

Detective Branch, who investigated the case as 3
rd

 Investigator, on 11.11.2013 and Iftekar 

Alam, husband of only maternal aunt of condemned prisoner on 18.11.2013 and Moshiur 

Rahman [pw-01] only paternal uncle of condemned prisoner on 18.11.2013 and Khadiza 

Akhter Sumi maid servant on 03.12.2013 respectively wherefrom it reveals that her father 

was Police Inspector of Special Branch and mother worked in Destiny since 2001 and her 

birth history was not eventful according to her close relatives and she studied in different 

schools. She has history of ovarian cyst and bronchial asthma and taking Allopathic and 

Homeopathy medicine. Her family history discloses that her paternal grandmother and 

maternal uncle had psychiatric disorders.  
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69. When she was in class VI in 2009 problems initially started such as lack of interest in 

study, lack of interest in maintaining daily life activities, decreasing interest in attending 

school, breaking family rules, taking drugs with smoking, poor concentration, irritability, 

stealing money from her father’s pocket. Due to above problems and poor academic 

performance she had to change her school. She had a history of attempted suicide in 2009 by 

taking sedative overdose [20-30 sedative tables] and was hospitalized at that time and 

followed by another attempt after 3 or 4 months with insecticide of cockroaches and 3rd 

attempt was at the end of 2012 and tried to hang by netting rope but the rope tore and she was 

survived. She even got suicidal thought and ideas in jail. She started smoking cigarette when 

she was in class IV. Since 2008 she needed at least twenty sticks per day and is still 

continuing.    

  

70. The above problems were gradually increasing and more marked from class VIII 

[2011]. She then started to mix with different persons other than her classmates. At that 

moment her previous problems remarkably increased and were identified by her parents. 

Unmindful, impulsivity, continuous deceitfulness, destruction of household properties, 

violation of family rules, irritability, substance misuse, stealing, staying outside home 

overnight, thus caused clinically significant impairment of her social and academic 

functioning. It is noted that substance misuse behavior remarkably started when she was a 

student of class IV or V and the same was increased from class VIII in 2011.   

‘For the last few years she was less concerned about her family affairs. She had no 

feeling about her parents concern regarding her present and future. She had a 

tendency not to learn from the previous fault. Even she had no guilty feeling or 

remorse about her such activities. She had also a tendency to rationalize her own act, 

thinking and behavior.’ 

  

71. She started taking alcohol from her father’s store when she was in class four or five. 

Taking alcohol gradually became a habit for her from 2012. Habit of taking shisha started in 

2011 from different places and taking yaba irregularly started since 2012 and she used to take 

cannabis occasionally.  

  

72. From the above personal including family history, psychiatric, suicidal and drug 

history it has emerged that she has been suffering from, 

1. Personal disorder [dissocial personally disorder] 

2. Conduct disorder [before the age of eighteen years] and 

3. Mental and behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use-  

[a] mental and behavioral disorders due to use of tobacco and  

[b] harmful use of shisha [volatile substance], alcohol, yaba and cannabis 

[ganja] 

 

73. At the time of occurrence she was drunk according to her statement and it was 

confirmed by taking history from the condemned prisoner although there was no way to 

confirm it clinically as she was put on medical board for mental assessment after more than 

two months of the occurrence while suffering from the above illness. Immediately after the 

occurrence before her surrender to the police she was found anxious, restless, perplexed, 

helpless and hopeless. Possible mental condition after the incident it is clear from her history 

and assessment that her personality problems are still persisting. The medical board finally 

concluded that Oyshee Rahman currently is suffering from 

1. Post traumatic stress disorder [PTSD]  

2. Personal disorder [dissocial personally disorder]. 
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74. She was prescribed to take medication [mirtazepine 15mg] for her present psychiatric 

illness and need psychotherapy and further follow-up for her present condition. 

 

75. Although in the neighboring country like India in a case of murder, if proved, the 

imprisonment for life is the first option of punishment imposed upon the perpetrator and the 

second option is death penalty which can be imposed upon the perpetrator in a case of an 

extreme crime committed but it has to assign the reasons why the capital punishment i.e death 

penalty has been imposed upon the offender. But in our criminal justice system, if an offence 

of murder is proved beyond reasonable doubt, the capital punishment is the first choice to 

impose upon the offender and the second option is imprisonment for life imposed if the court 

finds any mitigating circumstances upon its discretionary power which means that court has 

to explain the reason why the sentence of death has been commuted to one of imprisonment 

for life. Our Apex Court very recently opined in a case of Ataur Mridha @ Ataur and another 

-Vs-The State [unreported] that the capital punishment is the rule while the imprisonment for 

life is an exception. It was further observed that when the question of commutation is 

considered the court has to assign the reasons as to why it has occurred and in case of 

commutation from death penalty to life imprisonment, this court may direct that the offender 

shall have to suffer rest of his natural life and such type of cases would be beyond the 

application of remissions.  

 

76. In the case in hand, it is evident that the condemned prisoner killed her parents in a 

pre-planned manner. Before the occurrence took place she made a plan to kill her parents and 

she brought a number of sedative tablets in the occurrence house and administered the same 

blending it in coffee to both the victims one after another. In these circumstances, the 

pertinent question is before us whether the commutation can be considered to the condemned 

prisoner while there is no sentencing guideline in law other than in practice. In the case of 

Nalu –Vs-The State, reported in ALR [AD][2012] the Apex Court considered four mitigating 

circumstances, two of them are as follows:  

[a] The condemned prisoner has no significant history or prior criminal activity 

in the police report and  

[b] The condemned prisoner was very young at the time of commission of the 

offence. 

 

77. In the case of State –Vs-Tasiruddin, reported in 13 DLR 203 where the age of the 

offender even up to 27 years, has been considered as a ground of commutation of the 

sentence of death. It finds more support from the decision held in the case of the State –Vs- 

Saifullah Al-Mahmood Tanvir and others, reported in 1 LM [AD] by which the Apex Court 

has accepted the opinion of the High Court Division to the effect that since the age of the 

appellants [the convicted- respondents] were not that much and they had just attained the age 

of majority they [the learned judges] found it justified to commute the sentences of death to 

imprisonment for life.” 

  

78. In the above discussions, we find that many developed and civilized countries’ higher 

judiciaries all over the world discourage the death sentence in the cases of murder, even if 

heinous in nature but our country has not achieved that much of a remarkable position in 

terms of such betterment. Yet, the people of this country are trying to be more conscious than 

the past about organizing the civilized society and focusing on primary education as well as 

higher education for self development. However, increasing rate of population growth means 

crimes are also increasing in the society day by day according to statistical reports.  



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  The State Vs. Oyshee Rahman   (Jahangir Hossain, J)                    255 

 

  

79. Apart from this, in a criminal case it is often found that both the parties in order to 

make their respective case strong, provide untrue statements or evidence in a real incident or 

occurrence which sometimes makes persons/men involved in the dispensation of justice, 

confused. Therefore, the dispensers have to face a lot of challenges while adjudicating justice. 

But there is no scope to take a back step from continuing to dispense justice until the end of 

the day when the offender is brought to the notice of the court in fear of any of these 

challenges. To develop and upgrade the highest credibility of the judiciary it needs more 

consciousness, more education, more patriotism and remarkable civilization among the 

people of the country to bring about pragmatic thinking in awarding punishment upon the 

perpetrator who commits the crime. In a country like ours it is yet not up to the remarkable 

position that the death penalty can be abolished or the same can be withdrawn by amending 

law of the land. But in order to impose the sentence upon a perpetrator for the crime 

committed by him/her, if proved, there must be a guideline or rules as to how it can be 

imposed. Because, the defence does not know as to whether the prosecution is being able to 

prove its case before delivery of the verdict, then how the defence can approach to the court 

to avail lesser punishment. If the defence, before pronouncement of judgment, urges the court 

for lesser punishment which indicates that the defence is admitting the commission of the 

offence. And as such, the concerned authorities may think about the guidelines on what and 

how the sentencing system is being applicable in law. 

  

80. In the present case, considering the social disruption learned trial judge in his findings 

showed some sort of emotion on how the condemned prisoner dared to kill her parents 

brutally by her own hands, but there is no scope to show such emotion in determination of 

awarding sentence or during adjudication of justice. The court has to consider legal evidence 

and materials that under what circumstances the occurrence took place by her cruel actions at 

the age of around 19[nineteen] years being a female member. It appears further from 

evidence that the condemned prisoner being a daughter killed her parents apparently in a pre-

planned manner which is undoubtedly a painful event for the family members and the people 

of a civilized society as well. At the same time it is evident by exhibit-15 that the condemned 

prisoner has been suffering from personal disorder [dissocial personally disorder], conduct 

disorder [before the age of eighteen years] and mental and behavioral disorders due to 

psychoactive substance use of tobacco, shisha [volatile substance], alcohol, yaba and 

cannabis [ganja]. A three member medical board also found her as anxious, restless, 

perplexed, helpless and hopeless immediately after occurrence before surrendering to the 

police station. They also found her personality problems still persisting from for possible 

mental condition after the incident.  

 

81. This Court during hearing of the death reference brought the condemned prisoner 

physically on 10.04.2017 from the prison to make an assessment for considering the exhibit-

15 by an order dated 03.04.2017 following section 375 of the Cr.P.C. During inquiry she did 

not show any kind of realization that she was facing gallows on hearing death reference and 

appeals for the crime committed by her. Rather she said she feels unwell when someone 

places something before her with a bad intention to recall her past conduct and finally she 

wishes to commit suicide. From the said direct inquiry it is found that she is still not in a 

position to ponder about the killing of her parents by her own hands on the dreadful night at 

their residence. In such a situation how far is it justifiable for gallows to be imposed on her? 

 

82. From the family history of the condemned prisoner it is also found that her father was 

a Police Officer and mother was working in Destiny [a private business organization] which 
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indicates that her parents were busy with their livelihood and also evident in the case that in 

her early life sufficient care did not take place by her parents although they could realize it at 

a later stage when her life had already been ruined by addiction and other things. And that is 

why, it can be said that parents or guardians are the only teachers of their children at the 

beginning of children’s their early lives. Parents should encourage their children to different 

books as it can prevent them from slipping into a wrong path. Children can be prevented from 

heading down the wrong path only by getting them involved in good environment and also 

good family atmosphere. The amount of time the parents spend with their children or they get 

involved in domestic chores is not very significant for the betterment of the children. They 

are to spend enough time for their children with a good environment in the early lives so that 

children can approach towards the good things for their future lives. 

 

83. This sentence that someone be punished in such a manner is referred to as ‘Death 

Sentence’, whereas the act of carrying out the death sentence is known as execution. The 

execution is not only an exemplary punishment alone that can erase the crime from the 

society forever. Lesser punishments may significantly prevent or reduce the crimes from the 

society depending on the good governance and awareness of the people.  

 

84. To consider the lesser punishment from death sentence to life imprisonment 

mitigating evidence or circumstances must be stronger than that of aggravating evidence 

produced by the prosecution. In this case we find the following circumstances outweigh the 

aggravating circumstances,  

6. Condemned prisoner committed double murder without any apparent 

motive and was suffering from mental derailment or  some sort of mental 

disorder and also suffering from ovarian cyst and bronchial asthma; 

7. Her paternal grandmother and maternal uncle had a history of 

psychiatric disorders according to exibit-15; 

8. She was around 19[nineteen] year old at the relevant time and the 

occurrence took place just immediately after her attaining the age of 

majority; 

9.  She has no such significant history of prior criminal activity [criminal 

cases] and  

10. She had willingly surrendered to the police station soon after two days of 

the occurrence. 

 

85. Therefore, we do find extraneous grounds to commute the sentence but we do not find 

any reason to interfere with the conviction recorded against her under section 302 of the 

Penal Code. 

 

86. In the above facts and circumstances of the case, we are of the view that ends of 

justice will be met if accused Oyshee Rahman is sentenced to one of imprisonment for life 

instead of awarding her sentence to death with a fine of Tk. 5,000/-[five thousand]. 

 

87. It is also found from the confession of Oyshee that she left the house along with her 

brother Ohee and maid Sumi the following day of occurrence i.e on 15.08.2013 and went to 

Badda after having a talk with accused Jony, who has been acquitted, but got no assistance 

from Jony. Thereafter she made contact with Rony who took her to his maternal aunt’s 

[Kulsum Begum] house at Mugda and having full knowledge that Oyshee has committed the 

murder still gave her shelter, which has been supported by the evidence of pws-4, 5, 9, 

seizure list witnesses at Mugda from where the belongings and some other materials were 
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recovered at the showing of accused Oyshee Rahman. Having considered the confession of 

accused Oyshee Rahman and evidence of the said witnesses and other circumstances it can be 

said that accused Mizanur Rahman Rony had knowledge about the offence of murder 

committed by Oyshee and by giving shelter he tried to conceal accused Oyshee Rahman with 

the intention of screening her from legal punishment. However, since there is no appeal 

before us with regard to the said accused Mizanur Rahman Rony, we are refrained ourselves 

from passing any order in this regard.  

 

88. In the result, the Death Reference No. 99 of 2015 is, hereby, rejected with the said 

modification in awarding sentence. The Criminal Appeal No.10281 of 2015 and Jail Appeal 

No. 206 of 2015 are dismissed.  

 

89. Accordingly, the condemned prisoner Oyshee Rahman is sentenced to imprisonment 

for life with a fine of Tk.5,000/- as stated above and be shifted from the condemned cell to 

normal cell meant for similar convicts at once. 

 

90. Let a copy of the judgment and order along with lower court’s records be transmitted 

to the Druto Bichar Tribunal No. 03, Dhaka for taking necessary measures.                  
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-Versus- 

The State 

Mr. S. M Abdul Mobin with 

Mr. Mahabub-Ule-Islam 

Mr. Md. Muhibullah Tanvir 

Mr. Md. Emran Khan and 

Mr. Md. Abdus Salam, Advocates 
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with 
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Md. Mintu Khan 

-Versus- 
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Mr. Zahirul Haque Zahir, D.A.G with 

Mr. Md. Atiqul Haque [Selim], A.A.G 

Ms. Bilkis Fatema, A.A.G and 

Mr. Nizamul Haque Nizam, A.A.G 
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Heard on: 10.01.2017, 11.01.2017, 

15.01.2017, 16.01.2017, 17.01.2017, 

18.01.2017, 22.01.2017, 23.01.2017, 

24.01.2017, 29.01.2017 and 29.03.2017. 

     

Judgment on 04.04.2017 

 

Present: 

Mr. Justice Jahangir Hossain 

And 

Mr. Justice Md. Jahangir Hossain 

 

Mitigating factors to consider the lesser punishment from death sentence to life 

imprisonment; 
 

The contention of learned Advocate Mr. S.M Abdul Mobin for the defence is that the 

sentence of death is too harsh in this case because both the accused persons tried to 

save the life of the victim removing him to more than one hospital from the place of 

occurrence as disclosed by the prosecution witnesses. Now the question is 

commutation of sentence as pointed out by the defence to be considered or not. In 

true sense, it is most difficult task on the part of a judge to decide what would be 

quantum of sentence in awarding upon an accused for committing the offence when 

it is proved by evidence beyond shadow of doubt but the judge should have 

considered the legal evidence and materials for punishment of the perpetrator not as 

a social activist [63 DLR 460, 18 BLD 81 and 57 DLR 591]. Sometimes, it depends on 
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gravity of the offence and sometimes, it confers upon an aggravating or mitigating 

factor.               ... (Para 82) 

 

In such a situation, it is a very hard job for the court to determine the quantum of 

sentence whether it will be capital punishment or imprisonment for life upon the 

accused persons since they played a role for saving the victim’s life soon after 

occurrence as evident by the said prosecution witnesses. At the same time it is very 

important to note that the victim was completely an innocent teenager who had no 

fault of such dire consequences at the hands of the accused persons. Since the 

determination of awarding sentence to the accused persons is at the middle point of 

views, it may turn to impose capital punishment or imprisonment for life and that is 

why, the advantage of lesser one shall find the accused persons to acquire in the 

instant case. More so, both the accused persons have no significant history of prior 

criminal activities and their PC and PR [previous conviction and previous records] 

are found nil in the police report. In this regard it finds support from the decision in 

the case of Nalu –Vs-The State, reported in 1 ALR(AD)(2012) 222 where one of the 

mitigating factors was previous records of the accused.         ... (Para 87) 

 

JUDGMENT 

Jahangir Hossain, J 

1. This Death Reference No. 92 of 2015 is the outcome of judgment and order of 

conviction and sentence dated 08.11.2015 referred by the learned Metropolitan Sessions 

Judge [in-charge], Khulna for confirmation of death sentence to condemned prisoners, 

Md. Sharif Sheikh and Md. Mintu Khan @ Mintu under section 374 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure [briefly Cr.P.C]. 

 

2. Challenging the said judgment and order of conviction and sentence condemned 

prisoners, Md. Sharif Sheikh and Md. Mintu Khan @ Mintu both filed two separate 

petitions of appeals being numbered as Criminal Appeal Nos. 9051 of 2015 and 9170 of 

2015 and also filed two separate Jail Appeal Nos. 222 of 2015 and 224 of 2015 

respectively. The aforesaid Death Reference and all criminal appeals have been heard 

together and are disposed of by this common judgment.  

 

3. The prosecution case is briefly described as under:  

On 04.08.2015 Md. Nurul Alam, the father of the deceased, being informant lodged an 

FIR with Khulna Police Station against the condemned prisoners and accused Beauty 

Begum, mother of condemned prisoner Md. Sharif Sheikh, alleging inter alia that his 

son Rakib Hawlader worked in the motorcycle service centre namely ‘Sharif Motors’ 

situated at North-East corner of Tutpara graveyard at Khan Jahan Ali Road, Khulna 

owned by condemned prisoner Sharif who used to give him less wages and often beat 

him. Due to this reason, Rakib left the job and joined another work place namely ‘Nur 

Alam Motors’ where he was doing the same task for about 3/4 months. On 03.08.2015 

around 04:30 pm when his son reached near the aforesaid place in order to purchase 

colour paint, condemned prisoner Sharif forcibly took him into his motor garage where 

condemned prisoner Mintu and accused Beauty Begum were also present. On an 

inquiry Rakib replied that he left the job because condemned prisoner Sharif did not 

give him adequate salary. Being enraged condemned prisoner Sharif used abusive 

words with him who raised his voice on it.  
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4. Thereafter, condemned prisoner Mintu along with accused Beauty Begum held 

Rakib and laid him down on the floor taking off his trousers and forcibly inserted a high 

pressure air pump nozzle into his rectum while condemned prisoner Sharif switched on of 

the inflator. As a result, his son became severely injured and his belly also got abnormally 

puffed having clotted blood in the rectum and intestines tore apart and lunges burst as air 

filled the abdomen. They all shut down the shutter of the garage to confirm his death while 

his son was groaning. Having reached the place on hearing hue and cry surrounding locals 

came to the spot and rescued him from the garage and instantly took him to local ‘Good 

Health Clinic’ from where he was referred to Khulna Medical College Hospital as his 

condition deteriorated. Thereafter, doctor of the KMCH referred him to Dhaka Medical 

College Hospital for better treatment. At about 09:30 pm on the way to Dhaka from 

Khulna he died in the ambulance. Having arrived home he [informant] came to know the 

incident from his wife and locals. The accused persons were confined and beaten by angry 

mobs on hearing death news of his son and handed them over to the police.  

 

5. Having received the FIR police recorded Khulna Police Station Case No.04 dated 

04.08.2015 against the aforesaid accused persons under sections 302/34 of the Penal Code. 

 

6. Police thereafter held inquest report of dead body of the deceased and seized some 

materials relating to the death of the deceased. During investigation of the case both the 

condemned prisoners and accused Beauty Begum made confessional statements before the 

magistrate under section 164 of the Cr.P.C. The investigating officer after completion of 

investigation submitted police report being charge sheet No. 275 dated 25.08.2015 against 

the three accused persons including the condemned prisoners under sections 302/34 of the 

Penal Code, 1860. All the accused persons were put on trial by the learned Metropolitan 

Sessions Judge [In-charge], Khulna in Metropolitan Sessions Case No. 1161 of 2015.  

 

7. Gravamen of charge against three accused persons was framed on 05.10.2015 under 

the aforesaid sections, as stated in the charge sheet which was read over and explained to 

them present on dock to which they pleaded not guilty and claimed to be innocent in the 

trial. The prosecution in order to prove its case, examined in all 38[thirty eight] out of 

40[forty] witnesses cited in the charge sheet while defence did not call any witness in their 

favour, but put their case by way of suggestions to the prosecution witnesses. 

 

8. On closure of the prosecution evidence, the accused persons present in dock, were 

also examined under section 342 of the Cr.P.C wherein the incriminating evidence and 

confessions brought to their notices and consequence thereof were explained to them. The 

accused persons present in the dock reiterated their innocence, non-complicity and 

declined to adduce any evidence in their favour through defence witnesses but they orally 

narrated before the court that they were compelled to confess by torture and also fearing 

cross-fire. 

 

9. Considering the evidence and facts and circumstances of the case, learned 

Metropolitan Sessions Judge found the condemned prisoners guilty of the offence 

punishable under sections 302/34 of the Penal Code and sentenced them to death while 

acquitted accused Beauty Begum from the charge levelled against her. Hence, the 

aforesaid death reference and criminal appeals have been arisen. 
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10. Mr. Md. Atiqul Haque @ Selim along with Mr. Md. Nizamul Haque Nizam and 

Ms. Bilkis Fatema, learned Assistant Attorney Generals has taken us to the FIR, inquest 

report, confessional statements, autopsy report, seizure list, seizing articles, testimony of 

the witnesses and impugned judgment and other connected documents on record 

wherefrom it transpires that the victim was killed by the condemned prisoners on 

03.08.2015 between 04:30 pm and 09:30 pm. 

 

11. Having gone through the evidence of all the prosecution witnesses it is found that 

pw-01 Nurul Alam, father of the victim, is not an eye witness to the occurrence but he 

heard the incident that accused Sharif forcibly took the victim inside the shop and 

switched inflator on while accused Mintu pressed inflator’s pipe in the rectum, as a result, 

victim’s belly got puffed and subsequently he died. Such facts he received from his 

relatives and locals. The story of ejahar [exhibit-01] lodged by him, has been supported by 

his subsequent evidence, deposed in court. 

 

12. Pw-02 Constable Badrul Alam is a member of rescue party, who saw the beating 

upon the three persons including a woman and took them to the hospital after rescue them 

from the angry mobs on 03.08.2015 at 11:30 pm.  

 

13. Pw-03 Zahidul Islam is also a hearsay witness who heard the incident from the 

mother of the victim that Sharif and Mintu gave blue air inside the rectum of the victim 

and pw-04 Mizan Howlader is an important witness in this case because he heard from the 

mouth of the accused Sharif that he pumped air inside the belly of the victim.  

 

14. Pw-05 Khokon Sheikh and pw-08 Ruksana heard from pw-14 Shahidul, a helper of 

‘Nur Alam Motors’ that accused Sharif and Mintu gave blue air through inflator’s pipe in 

the rectum of the victim but subsequently victim Rakib told pw-05 that Sharif held him 

and Mintu gave air into the rectum by machine. Pw-10 Rimi, pw-11 Lucky Begum and 

pw-13 Sujon directly heard from victim Rakib that accused Mintu pressed pipe while 

Sharif switched on of the inflator machine during the occurrence. 

  

15. Pw-06 Constable Maksudul Haque is a formal witness who received the dead body 

of the victim and took the same to the hospital for autopsy and signed the seizure list of 

wearing apparels of the victim. 

 

16. Pw-07 Md. Zahirul Islam is also a member of rescue party who rescued three 

persons including a woman from the angry mobs on 03.08.2015 at 23:10 pm and came to 

know that victim died due to sustaining blue air pumped by inflator machine in the anus 

and due to late night he could not prepare inquest report but the same was held next 

morning at 08:00 am [exhibit-02]. 

 

17. Pw-09 Khadiza, grandmother of the victim, saw the victim feeling unwell in the 

hospital on 03.08.2015 and she became unconscious and saw him died after regain. 

 

18. Pw-12 Selina Rahman heard the incident the following day that Rakib was given 

blue air and the shop of ‘Sharif Motor Garage’ was provided on a rental basis by her 

father. 

 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  The State Vs. Md. Sharif & another  (Jahangir Hossain, J)        262 

 

19. Pw-14 Shahidul Sheikh heard that blue air was given inside the rectum of the 

victim and he signed the seizure list of a navy blue trousers and a color paint pot recovered 

by police from the house of Rakib.  

 

20. Pw-15 Durgapada Bowliah, O.T in-charge of Gazi Medical College Hospital, 

Khulna, saw the belly of the victim Rakib abnormally puffed and saliva coming out from 

his nose and mouth on 03.08.2015 at 05:30 pm and victim told him that his one uncle by 

pressing inflator’s pipe in the rectum pumped blue air in the shop where the victim worked 

before. They committed the crime by calling him because he was working in another shop 

after resigning from the earlier one. Anaesthesia doctor told this witness that it was not 

possible to treat the victim in their hospital, then, they left with victim.  

 

21. Pw-16 Md. Nur Alam is a hearsay witness who heard that both the accused Sharif 

and Mintu gave air into his belly. Having gone to the surgical clinic he found victim 

Rakib’s belly being puffed and on the way to Dhaka he eventually died.  

 

22. Pw-17 Md. Sorowar Hossain is also a hearsay witness who heard that the victim 

died due to blue air pumped by inflator machine. In his presence police recovered two 

inflators and a sandal and prepared a seizure list which he signed as witness. He 

recognized the alamots in court. Pw-18 Kamrul Mollah echoed the same voice as deposed 

by pw-17. 

 

23. Pw-19 Sumon Howlader heard that Sharif and Mintu gave air inside rectum of the 

victim who felt sick severely and he gave a bag of blood for victim Rakib and he heard at 

night that Rakib had died. 

 

24. Pw-20 Nabil Hasan Fahim in his deposition stated that accused Mintu forcibly took 

the victim Rakib inside the shop and accused Sharif switched on of the machine. 

Thereafter, victim Rakib started vomiting while he was standing in front of the shop. He 

had seen Rakib vomiting on his own eyes. 

 

25. Pw-21 Md. Selim Sheikh stated in his examination-in-chief that accused Sharif and 

Mintu both have pumped blue air inside the rectum of the victim by pressing inflator 

machine.  

 

26. Pw-22 Md. Zahirul Islam said, police seized two inflator machines and a sandal of 

Rakib in his presence and signed the seizure list and also identified the sandal in court.  

 

27. Pw-23 Md. Robiul Islam Howlader testified that Rakib came to his shop and left 

after buying colour paint and he could see vomiting in front of the shop and he heard from 

pw-20 that accused Mintu took the victim inside the shop and pressed the inflator’s pipe in 

the rectum of the victim while Sharif switched on of the inflator and he heard at night that 

Rakib had died.  

 

28. The evidence of Pw-24 Tahmina Akhter is that she saw the belly of the victim hard 

and abnormally puffed when Rakib was taken to clinic. 

 

29. Pw-25 Sheikh Asaduzzaman Jalal is a seizure list witness who signed the seizure 

list of shirt, trousers and shawl of victim Rakib. 
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30. Pw-26 Sheikh Mosharaf Hossain, staff nurse of Khulna Sadar Hospital, saw a boy 

brought by some persons in the hospital on 03.08.2015 in the afternoon and he heard that 

some youths pumped air in the rectum by making fun. Doctor suggested to take him to 250 

beds’ hospital as his condition seemed to be fatal.  

 

31. Pw-27 Md. Zafor Kalifa, a staff nurse of Khulna Sadar Hospital, Pw-30 Constable 

Khusrul Alam and Pw-36 Provash Chandra Golder, an administrative officer of ‘Good 

Health Clinic’, Khulna have been tendered by the prosecution and defence declined to 

cross-examine them. 

 

32. Pw-28 S.I Md. Alam verified the address of accused Sharif and Beauty and found 

correct. 

 

33. Pw-29 Constable Nurul Islam testified that he was on patrol duty under leadership 

of S.I Zahirul Islam on 03.08.2015 and rescued accused Sharif, Mintu and Beauty Begum 

from the hands of angry people from Tutpara Tank Road after getting message at 23:30 

hours and heard that the boy named Rakib was killed by gas. 

 

34. Pw-31 Sukumar Biswas, officer-in-charge, Khulna Police Station is a formal 

witness who filled up the FIR form, marked as exhibit-12. 

 

35. Pw-32 S.I Taposh Kumar is also a formal witness who received the autopsy report 

[exhibit-13] of deceased Rakib from Khulna Medical College Hospital. 

 

36. Pw-33 Aysha Akhter Mousumi, Metropolitan Magistrate, Khulna recorded 

confession of accused Beauty Begum on 07.08.2015 under section 164 of the Cr.P.C. The 

accused signed the confessional statement, marked as exhibit-14 wherein she put her 

signatures. 

 

37. Pw-34 Md. Faruk Iqbal, Metropolitan Magistrate, Khulna recorded the 

confessional statements of accused Sharif and Mintu when they were produced before him 

on 11.08.2015 and 12.08.2015 respectively. Before recording their confessions he alerted 

both of them that he would not send them to the police custody if they do not confess and 

he also gave them sufficient reflection time. Accused Sharif signed the confessional 

statement, marked as exhibit-15 and he also put nine signatures thereon. Accused Mintu 

Khan signed his confessional statement, marked as exhibit-16 wherein this witness put 

nine signatures.  

 

38. Pw-35 Dr. Subrata Kumar Mondal, Assistant Registrar of Khulna Medical College 

Hospital, stated that Rakib [15] was admitted to their hospital on 03.08.2015. He placed 

the document, marked as exhibit-17. 

 

39. Pw-37 Dr. Mohammad Wahid Mahmud rendered autopsy report after examining 

the dead body of the victim on 04.08.2015. The autopsy report contains the following 

injuries, 

1. Bruise was present on both wrists joint. 

2. Bruise was present on both ankles joint. 

3. Abrasion was present on dorsum of the right foot. 

4. Clotted blood on anus. 

 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  The State Vs. Md. Sharif & another  (Jahangir Hossain, J)        264 

 

40. Dissection: The abdomen was distended. The anterior abdominal highly 

congested. Ante-mortem clotted blood was present on the peritoneal cavity. The small 

intestine and whole large intestine was ruptured and gangrenous. The urinary bladder was 

ruptured. Both lungs were collapsed. 

 

41. Opinion: The cause of death was due to haemorrhage as shock as a result of above 

mentioned injury which was ante-mortem and homicidal in nature.    

 

42. Pw-38 S.I Kazi Mustaque Ahmed submitted police report [charge sheet No. 275 

dated 25.08.2015] as investigator after completing investigation against the three accused 

persons under sections 302/34 read with section 201 of the Penal Code. 

 

43. In this case none of the prosecution witnesses saw the occurrence directly except 

pw-20 whose evidence reveals that accused Mintu grappled the victim inside the shop and 

pumped air inside his anus by inflator pipe while Sharif switched it on and this witness 

also saw the victim vomiting which was supported by pw-16 that he found sign of 

vomiting near his shop. Prior to the death, the victim made dying declarations before pws. 

03, 05, 10, 11, 13 and 15 that due to resigning from the job of ‘Sharif motors’, accused 

Sharif pumped air inside his rectum with the help of accused Mintu by inflator on the day 

of occurrence. This version of evidence has also been corroborated by the extra judicial 

confession of accused as disclosed by pw-04 in his evidence. In this case dying declaration 

made by the deceased prior to his death was not recorded by a magistrate or by any other 

way but it was made orally to the witnesses. Such declaration is admissible even if it were 

made orally [3 DLR 388, 7 BLC 265 and 8 BLC 132].  

 

44. A dying declaration is a valuable piece of evidence if it is from suspicion and 

believed to be true. If a dying declaration is found to be true and genuine, it can be by 

itself form a satisfactory basis for conviction [12 DLR (WP)Lahore 30 (DB)]. Dying 

declaration may not be natural if it is recorded by a person with the help of interested 

persons of the maker. Rather it could be quite natural and true statement when the victim 

utters orally and instantly the cause of his injuries to the neutral persons who provide 

version of the victim before the court on oath having is being tested. The court is to see 

whether the victim had the physical capability of making such a declaration, whether 

witnesses who had heard the deceased making such statements heard it correctly. Whether 

the reproduced names of assailants correctly and whether the maker of the declaration had 

an opportunity to recognise the assailants [42 DLR 397].  

 

45. In the present case dying declarations of the victim have been stated by pws 03, 05, 

10, 11, 13 and 15 such as Pw-3 in his deposition said,- ‘l¡¢Lh h−m, j¡j¡  Bj¡−L nl£g, ¢j¾V¥ Hhw 
¢hE¢V d−l f¡R¡u q¡Ju¡ ¢c−u ¢c−u−Rz’ Pw-5 said in his deposition, ‘®p  h−m (l¡¢Lh) nl£g dl−R  Bl ¢j¾V¥  
f¡R¡u  q¡Ju¡ ®j¢ne  Y¥¢L−u  ¢c−u−Rz’ Pw-10  in  his examination  said,  ‘¢j¾V¥, nl£g Hhw  ¢hE¢V  Bj¡−L  
j¡l−R h−m l¡¢Lhz  ¢j¾V¥ f¡Cf  Y¥¢L−u−R, nl£g  p¤CQ  ¢c−u−Rz  ¢hE¢V ®Q−f  d−l−R HV¡  l¡¢Lh  h−mz’ Pw-11 

stated in his deposition, ‘B¢j a¡−L ¢S‘¡p¡  L¢l  H AhØq¡ ®Lje L−l  q−m¡?  l¡¢Lh h−m,  nl£g,¢j¾V¥  
Hhw ¢hX~¢V  ®hNj Hl¡ l¡Øa¡ ¢c−u d−l  ¢e−u  ®c¡L¡−e ¢e−u  n¡V¡l  ®V−e ®l−M  nl£g p¤CQ  ®cu,  ¢j¾V¥¥  f¡Cf 
Y¤¢L−u  ®cu  Bl  ¢hE¢V ®gÓ¡−ll  p¡−b ®Q−f d−lz nl£g  l¡¢L−hl ®f−V  q¡Ju¡ Y¥¢L−u ®cuz’ Pw-13 stated in 

his examination-in-chief, ‘¢L q−u−R  S¡e−a Q¡C−m ®p  h−m,  j¡j¡ nl£g j¡j¡ Bj¡l f¡R¡u  q¡Ju¡ ¢c−u−Rz 
a¡l p¡−b ¢hE¢V, ¢j¾V¤ ¢Rm h−mz’ Pw-15 stated in his deposition, ‘®a¡j¡l ¢L q−u−R  ¢S‘¡p¡ L¢l−m ®R−m¢V 
h−m, “ Bj¡l HL j¡j¡ Bj¡l jmà¡l  ¢c−u N¡s£l Q¡L¡u  q¡Ju¡ ®cJu¡ ®j¢n−el f¡Cf ¢c−u  q¡Ju¡ Y¥¤¢L−u  ¢c−u−Rz 
“ B¢j  hmm¡j ®a¡j¡l j¡j¡  HV¡ Ll−h ®Le? ®p hm−a¡  “ j¡j¡l ®c¡L¡−e  B−N L¡S Lla¡jz HMe a¡l ®c¡L¡e 
®R−s AeÉ ®c¡L¡−e  −N¢Rz  a¡C  Bj¡−L  a¡l¡ ®X−L ¢e−u  d−l  HC L¡S L−l−Rz” The aforesaid 
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declarations were taken by the trial court as if in the words of the victim. Such statements 

made by the victim prior to his death [around 2-4 hours before his death], cannot be said to 

be untrue and unauthenticated. Even then, no inconsistent versions regarding dying 

declarations of the victim are found among the witnesses who provided the victim’s 

declarations of his attack. Here we find the dying declarations of the victim provided by 

the said witnesses are consistent and corroborative to each other.                     

 

46. It has emerged from the entire evidence through examination-in-chief and cross-

examination of pws-04, 05, 13, 16, 21, 24, 33 and 38 that the condemned prisoners took 

the victim to the hospitals for treatment immediately after the occurrence which proves 

that the allegation brought by the pw-01 against the condemned prisoners is absolutely 

true and genuine. So, there is no scope from the side of defence to say that the occurrence 

did not take place at the relevant time by the condemned prisoners and their subsequent 

denials and suggestions do not lead to them to be innocent in the alleged commission of 

offence. Their subsequent conduct as well as prosecution witnesses as discussed earlier 

proved that they have committed the offence of inserting blue air in the rectum of the 

victim and the cause of death of the victim, occurred for their heinous violence on his 

person. 

 

47. Apart from the evidence of live witnesses, there are 3[three] confessional 

statements made by condemned prisoners and accused Beauty Begum in this case. It has 

revealed from the confession of condemned prisoner Sharif that Rakib worked in his 

workshop for one year and left the job 4/5 months ago as he repeatedly demanded money 

back, lent by him to Rakib’s mother. Rakib stopped doing work in his Garage at the 

instance of his mother. One day Rakib suddenly told him that he would not come to do the 

work. On the day of incident at 04:00 pm Rakib came to the shop of Sumon to purchase 

colour paint and also came to his shop after buying the same. Mintu asked Rakib whether 

he was irregular to have food seeing him in the garage. In reply Rakib said, he was 

punctual to have his foods. Mintu said, in that case why Rakib became ill-health.  

 

48. Thereafter, Rakib started making fun with Mintu and he also pushed Mintu holding 

his belly. Before Rakib’s coming he was cleaning inflator machine. Then Rakib was 

offered by Mintu to have something. Rakib replied that he wouldn’t take anything. Then 

Mintu told him to take some blue air. At that time Mintu was sitting on the chair and 

putting his trousers off and telling him to take some air. He had some angriness with Rakib 

as he left his shop around 05/06 months ago. Thereafter, he pressed the pipe of inflator 

inside his rectum making fun and forgot to remember that the inflator machine switched 

on. Accordingly, air entered his belly while Mintu embraced holding Rakib. When Rakib’s 

belly was seen puffing up Mintu being enraged told that he did not tell him to give him 

blue air. In reply he told that he forgot to remind the same.  

 

49. Then and there they took Rakib to ‘Good Health Clinic’ wherein no doctor was 

found and they also took him to Sadar Hospital but no doctor was there. Thereafter, on the 

way to Khulna Medical College Hospital by EG bike Rakib feeling unwell started 

vomiting. In no way they took Rakib to ‘surgical clinic’ and having seen by doctor told 

them to admit him into it quickly. He filled up the form to admit him who was taken up to 

ICU by attendants. At that time Sumon made a call to him and he told him that Rakib was 

admitted to surgical department intimating the incident. Sometimes after, someone told 

them that they did not have good doctor in the hospital and thereafter the victim was 

removed to Khulna Medical College Hospital as suggested by that man. In need he along 
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with Sumon gave two bags of blood after examining blood groups of all. On primary 

examination in the operation room doctor found the condition of the victim deteriorated 

and suggested them to take the victim to Dhaka for better treatment.  

 

50. Secretary of Owners Association felt whether the victim would die on the way to 

Dhaka and then they brought medicines as per doctor’s prescription and gave the victim 

saline keeping him in the hospital. After sometimes, doctor gave him oxygen as his 

condition deteriorated and told them that the victim would die at any time. After around 

1[one] hour locals started to gather there and took the victim in the ambulance. Locals 

started beating them including his mother. They heard through mobile phone that on the 

way to Dhaka victim died when they reached Boikali by EG Bike and saw the ambulance 

coming back towards Khulna. Police rescued them from the angry mobs and took them to 

hospital by police van. He expressed to suffer punishment as he committed offence even 

capital punishment. But his mother is innocent. 

 

51. It appears from confession of accused Mintu Khan that he used to work on painting 

at different places. On the day of occurrence he was sitting in the Sharif’s shop being 

previously known. He called Rakib when he came to purchase colour paint from nearby 

shop. Having taken Rakib on his lap asked whether he was not taking food regularly. 

Rakib replied that he could not take food because of work pressure on him and he refused 

to take anything at the moment. Then he told him to take some blue air. At the moment 

Sharif was cleaning air tank and he took off his trousers under fun. He had no knowledge 

previously that Sharif was enraged with Rakib due to work in the garage. He asked Sharif 

to give some blue air to Rakib. Then Sharif pressed inflator’s pipe in the rectum of Rakib. 

He could not realise that blue air entered inside the belly of Rakib and saw his belly 

puffing up after a while and then and there took him to ‘Good Health Clinic’ where no 

doctor was found.  

 

52. Then they took him to Sadar hospital and subsequently removed him to surgical 

clinic by EG Bike and admitted there-under after being suggested by Sadar hospital. But 

they failed to give treatment initially as there was no experienced doctor in the clinic. 

Thereafter, they took the victim to 250’ beds hospital by EG Bike and admitted him 

accordingly. Sharif and Sumon gave two bags of blood in need. Although the doctor took 

the victim to the operation theatre but failed to operate him as his pulse was not found 

available. As per doctor’s prescription they brought medicine from the shop and the victim 

was given saline. Meanwhile, locals including members of Rakib’s house came to the 

hospital and told them that they would take him to Dhaka. Accordingly, Rakib was placed 

inside ambulance and started towards Dhaka. Locals confined and beat them up taking to 

the locality by EG Bike. When they reached Boikali could see the ambulance coming back 

and came to know that Rakib died on the way to Dhaka. Thereafter, they were brought to 

central road where locals beat them up. About 15/20 minutes later, police came and 

rescued them and took them to hospital by police van. The incident took place due to 

making fun with the victim. He had no intention to kill Rakib. 

 

53. The confessions made by both the accused are found similar to each other. There is 

no major difference between them. Both the accused narrated in their confessions that the 

victim came to a nearby shop for buying colour paint and on seeing him one of them 

invited him to enter their shop. Both of them, helping each other gave the victim air in the 

rectum by inflator in the afternoon of the alleged day of occurrence.  
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54. Although, confessional statement of accused Beauty Begum, mother of the 

condemned prisoner Sharif, is found as exculpatory in nature but she admitted that she saw 

her son Sharif and Mintu rendering air in the rectum of the victim by pressing inflator’s 

pipe and the incident took place within a minute and she became surprised to see the 

incident happening by the condemned prisoners. So, the admissions made by the 

condemned prisoners as regards to the commission of offence, has also been supported by 

the confessing accused Beauty Begum although she has been acquitted by the trial court. 

This confessing accused also supported regarding taking of the victim to the hospitals soon 

after occurrence and helping for treatment by condemned prisoners. 

 

55. The contention of Mr. Golam Mohammad Chowdhury, learned Advocate is that 

the confession made by condemned prisoner Sharif before a magistrate is not found to be 

true and voluntary. Such confession has been obtained from the accused person under 

torture and threat of cross-fire. From the evidence of pw-34 it reveals that he as a judicial 

magistrate endorsed their confessions that those were made voluntarily and after 

maintaining all formalities he recorded their confessions, marked as exhibits-15 and 16 

respectively on which he put several signatures and the confessing accused also put their 

signatures as well and contents of the confessional statements were read over and 

explained to them who signed the same after having found correct. In those confessions it 

is found that magistrate made remarks stating that confessions of the accused persons are 

seemed to be true and voluntary in nature.  

 

56. Before recording their confessions, he alerted them saying that it might be used 

against them as evidence if they confess. And further told them that he was not a police 

officer but a magistrate and the accused persons were not bound to confess and whether 

the accused were tortured by anybody. Having understood the questions they made the 

confessions willingly. Exactly same scenario has been found in the case of confessing 

accused Beauty Begum. Pw-33 being Magistrate recorded confession of the said Beauty 

Begum on 07.08.2015. Nothing remains from the part of this witness to follow during 

recording of her confession.      

 

57. Before or after recording the statements the confessing accused did not make any 

kind of complaints to the magistrates as to whether they were tortured or severely 

assaulted by the investigating officer or they were given any threat to make confessions. 

From the said evidence of these witnesses it has revealed that there was no sign of enmity 

between the recording officers or investigating officers and the confessing accused. And 

the defence failed to discard their evidence that any authority or interested quarter came 

forward to compel them to make such confessions. So, the arguments made by the defence 

seem to be unworthy in nature. Yes, there may have been some minor irregularities in 

recording the confessional statements of the accused but such irregularities are not being 

considered as major mistakes. 

 

58. It reveals from confessions of condemned prisoners that there was no complaint of 

police torture or any kind of threat before the magistrates by any one of them that they 

were compelled to confess beyond their willingness, if any violence or inducement is not 

made by the police then the confessions may be regarded as voluntary. Even then, 

recording magistrates rendered them reasonable time to think that if they confess it may go 

against them as evidence. Therefore, it can be firmly said that the confessional statements 

made by them are absolutely voluntary and true and can form the sole basis of conviction 

as against the maker of the same. It finds support from the decision in the case of Islam 
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Uddin –Vs-State, reported in 13 BLC [AD] 81 which is run as follows, “It is now the 

settled principle of law that judicial confession if it is found to be true and voluntary can 

form the sole basis of conviction as against the maker of the same. The High Court 

Division has rightly found the judicial confession of the condemned prisoner true and 

voluntary and considering the same, the extra judicial confession and, circumstances of the 

case found the condemned prisoner guilty and accordingly imposed the sentence of death 

upon him.” 

 

59. In the instant case pws-33 and 34 as recording magistrates have been produced 

before the trial court and examined thoroughly by the defence but nothing is found shaken 

with regard to the sanctity of both the confessions.   

 

60. The expression ‘confession’ has been defined by Stephen in his ‘Digest of the Law 

of Evidence’ that ‘a confession is an admission made at any time by a person charged with 

crime, stating or suggesting the inference that he committed the crime’. The presence of a 

magistrate is a safe-guard and guarantees the confession as not made by influence. When a 

confession is taken by a public servant there is a degree of sanctity and solemnity which 

affords a sufficient guarantee for the presumption that everything was formally, correctly 

and duly done. In this case the recording magistrates came forward to give the evidence 

and there have been found nothing that they failed to give the memorandums as to their 

confessions and both the pws 33 and 34 have been thoroughly cross-examined by the 

defence as to the genuineness of the confessions and memorandums issued by them. It is 

not necessary that the memorandums as to the confessions are issued separately. It is 

enough, if they are inserted in the prescribed form but it must have signature of the 

recording officer which is found present. So, no question of genuineness of the 

confessions is found present in this case. It finds support from the case of State-Vs-Munir 

and another, reported in 1 BLC, 345 which is run as follows, “....................The 

confessional statement of Munir Ext. 50 recorded in accordance with the provision of 

section 164 of the Code of Criminal Procedure was signed by the confessing accused and 

the Magistrate and, as such, the Court shall presume under section 80 of the Evidence Act 

that the document is genuine and that the statement as to the circumstances under which it 

was taken by the Magistrate are true and the confession was duly taken.”    

 

61. Although both the condemned prisoners, subsequently retracted their confessions 

by placing written statements at the time of examination under section 342 of the Cr.P.C 

that they were compelled to confess before the magistrate under threat of cross-fire. But 

that does not reflect on their confessions made by them because such history of 

confessions was unable on the part of any interested quarter to make falsely in such a way. 

And at what interest lying with the police who without having any interest or enmity 

brought those accused persons into book and put them on trial making a false story and 

also compelled them to make confessions, no such clue or document are found in the 

entire evidence of the prosecution case. More so, if the confessions are found to be true 

and voluntary, the retraction at a later stage does not affect the voluntariness of the 

confessions. The retraction of the confession is wholly immaterial once it is found 

voluntary as well as true.  

 

62. On a plain reading of their confessions it is clearly found that they made the 

confessions involving themselves in the commission of offence. So, there is no doubt that 

the confessions of the accused are inculpatory in nature. The confessions are so natural 

and spontaneous that one cannot harbor any doubt about its voluntariness. When a 
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confession is found to be true and voluntary and inculpatory in nature without 

corroborating evidence a conviction can be imposed upon the maker of the statement. It 

finds support from the case of Mufti Abdul Hannan Munshi @ Abul Kalam and another–

Vs-the State, judgment dated 7
th

 December, 2016, reported in 2017(1)LNJ (AD)38 in 

which the Apex Court opined that “Even if there is no corroborative evidence, if a 

confession is taken to be true, voluntary in nature, a conviction can be given against the 

maker of the statement relying upon it subject to the condition mentioned above. In view 

of the above, preposition of law, there is no legal ground to interfere with the conviction of 

the appellants and co-accused since the confessions are not only inculpatory but also true 

and voluntary. Deliberate and voluntary confession of guilt, if clearly proved, are among 

the most effectual proofs in the law-their value depending on the sound presumption that a 

rational being will not make admission prejudicial to his interest and safety, unless when 

urged by the promptings of truth and conscience.”                                         

  

63. Further contention of Mr. Golam Mohammad Chowdhury, learned Advocate for 

the defence is that the trial judge wrongly gave capital punishment to the condemned 

prisoners although it was not a pre-planned murder committed by them. We do agree with 

the contention of the learned Advocate that it was not an intended murder as the 

condemned prisoners prior to the occurrence did not go for any premeditation nor did they 

intend to kill the victim taking him forcibly in the ‘Motor Garage’. But the way they took 

the victim to their custody in the name of giving him unbearable things into his belly 

through his anus by a heavy weapon like inflator is obviously beyond imagination of the 

human integrity.  

 

64. None can say that human body and any of its parts are so strong that it can bear all 

sorts of inflicts made by another human being. Sometimes it is difficult to bear even a beat 

of an ant in any private organ of the human body but the inflicts made by the accused 

persons through a private organ like rectum is absolutely unbearable to a human being 

especially for the victim, a boy of only 14 year old. Generally, if a man takes food more 

than his tolerance, he then has to face severe sickness instantly because every limb of a 

human body is so soft it cannot afford unbearable and intolerable blows. The act 

committed by the condemned prisoners is so severe that this perhaps never happened over 

the past hundred years in the crime world of this sub-continent.    

 

65. In this case the intention of the perpetrators is totally absent. They did not call the 

victim with a pre-planned manner rather when they saw the victim near the motor garage, 

one of them took him inside the garage. So, it is a clear case of no evidence as regard to 

the intention of the perpetrators. But they intended to give him some blue air into his belly 

through his private soft organ after taking off his trousers is indicating that they made 

themselves to commit a heinous crime with a teenage victim.  

 

66. Mr. S.M Abdul Mobin, learned Advocate contends that although it is a case of no 

acquittal but it is not a clear case of murder. At best this can be attracted under section 304 

of the Penal Code as culpable homicide not amounting to murder because the alleged 

occurrence took place without any intention and due to making fun with the victim. 

 

67. Now the question is whether the inflator used in the rectum of the victim to be 

considered as heavy weapon. Admittedly, the said weapon is used in the wheels of the 

small and heavy vehicles to strengthen its capability to run on the street. Pressure of such 

air by the said inflator to the human body is not at all bearable in any way. Such inflator 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  The State Vs. Md. Sharif & another  (Jahangir Hossain, J)        270 

 

has been made for only those purposes stated above. So, it is undoubtedly a powerful 

weapon than that of a heavy fire arms. Question has been raised as to whether the conduct 

of the perpetrators by the said weapon to cause the death of the victim should be treated as 

murder or culpable homicide not amounting to murder.  

 

68. It can be determined by distinction between murder and manslaughter as 

enumerated in sections 299 and 300 of the Penal Code. Culpable homicide not amounting 

to murder or manslaughter is genus while murder its specie. All murders are culpable 

homicide but not vice versa. The punishments are described in sections 302 and 304 of the 

Penal Code if such offence, committed by the perpetrators is being proved by the 

prosecution evidence. To fix the punishment, proportionate to the gravity of this generic 

offence, the code apparently recognizes three degrees of culpable homicide. The gravest 

form of culpable homicide has been defined in section 300 of the Penal Code as murder 

and its punishment is laid down in section 302 of the Penal Code and the second degree 

may be termed as culpable homicide not amounting to murder and its punishment is 

prescribed in section 304 Part-I of the Penal Code while punishment of lowest type of 

culpable homicide has been provided under second part of section 304 of the Penal Code. 

 

69. A comparative table may be shown in appreciating the points of distinction 

between the two offences on the following manner.    

 

70. Section 299 provides that, ‘A person commits culpable homicide if the act by 

which the death is caused is done- 

[a] with the intention of causing death; or  

[b] with the intention of causing such bodily injury as is likely to cause death; and or 

[c] with the knowledge that the act is likely to cause death. 

 

71. Section-300 stipulates that, ‘subject to five exceptions culpable homicide is 

murder if the act by which the death caused is done,  

[1] with the intention of causing death; or 

[2] with the intention of causing such bodily injury as the perpetrator knows to be 

likely to cause the death of the person to whom the harm is caused; or 

[3] with the intention of causing bodily injury to any person and the bodily injury 

intended to be inflicted is sufficient in the ordinary course of nature to cause death; or 

[4] with the knowledge that the act is so imminently dangerous that it must in all 

probability cause death or such bodily injury as is likely to cause death and without 

any excuse for incurring the risk of causing death or such injury as is mentioned 

above. 

 

72. Clause [b] of section 299 along with clauses [2] and [3] of section 300 has no sign 

of intention to cause the death of a person in normal health or condition. It is very 

important to note here that the intention to cause death is not an essential requirement of 

clause [2] of section 300 of the Penal Code. Only the intention of causing the bodily injury 

coupled with the perpetrator’s knowledge of the likelihood of such injury causing the 

death of the particular victim is sufficient to bring the killing within the ambit of this 

clause. 

  

73. In clause [3] of section 300 of the Penal Code despite the words likely to cause 

death occurring in the corresponding clause [b] of section 299, the words ‘sufficient in the 

ordinary course of nature’ have been used. And therefore, the distinction lies between a 
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bodily injury likely to cause death and bodily injury in the ordinary course of nature. 

Undoubtedly it is a sophisticated distinction narrated above. The difference between 

clause [b] of section 299 and clause [3] of section 300 is one of the degrees of probability 

of death resulting from the intended bodily injury. It is the degree of probability of death 

which determines whether a culpable homicide is of the gravest, medium or the lowest 

degree. The word ‘likely’ in clause [b] of section 299 conveys the sense of probable as 

distinguished from a mere possibility. The words ‘bodily injury is sufficient in the 

ordinary course of nature to cause death’ mean that the death will be the ‘most probable’ 

resulting injury having regard to the ordinary course of nature. For the case to fall within 

clause [3] of section 300 of the Penal Code it is not necessary that the perpetrator intended 

to cause the death, as long as the death ensues from the intentional bodily injury or injuries 

sufficient to cause death in the ordinary course of nature. It finds support from the case of 

Rajwant –Vs- State of Kerala, reported in AIR 1966 SC, 1874 in this regard being an 

illustration. 

 

74. In the present case it is evident that the offence committed by both the condemned 

prisoners by using said weapon which resulted the death of the victim meant that the death 

of the victim by the action of the condemned prisoners would be the ‘most probable’ 

resulting from such injury in the ordinary course of nature. Although the intention to kill 

the victim is absent in this case but the act conducted by the condemned prisoners has 

been amounted to murder when such act has been done with the intention of causing such 

bodily injury as is likely cause death.  

 

75. If the act is having fallen within any of the five exceptions as enumerated in 

section 300 of the Penal Code that,  

[I] the perpetrator being deprived of the power of self-control by grave and sudden 

provocation causes the death of the person who irritated or causes the death of any 

other person by mistake or accident: or  

[II] the perpetrator, in exercise in good faith of the right of private defence of 

person or property, exceeds the powers given to him by law and causes the death 

of the person against whom he is exercising such right of defence without 

premeditation, and without any intention of doing harm than is necessary for the 

purpose of such defence: or  

[III] the offender being a public servant or aiding a public servant acting for the 

advancement of public justice exceeds the powers given to him by law, and causes 

death by doing an act which he, in good faith believes to be lawful and necessary 

for the due discharge of his duty as such public servant and without ill-will towards 

the person whose death is caused: or  

[IV] the offence is committed without premeditation in a sudden combat in the heat 

of passion on a sudden quarrel and without the offender’s having taken undue 

advantage or acted in a cruel or unusual manner: or 

[V] when the person whose death is caused, being above the age of eighteen years, 

suffers death or takes risk of death with his own consent:  

Only then the offence will fall within the ambit of culpable homicide not an 

amounting to murder or manslaughter but we do not find any materials on record 

that the act of the condemned prisoners has been fallen in any of the above five 

exceptions. In this regard it also finds support from the case of Govt. of 

Bangladesh –Vs- Siddique Ahmed, reported in 31 DLR [AD] [1997] 29 where it 

was held as under,  
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“It is to be observed that section 304 of the Penal Code which consists of two parts, 

does not create any offence but provides for the punishment of manslaughter or 

culpable homicide not amounting to murder. The section makes a distinction in the 

award of punishment. Under the first part of the section, the intention to kill is 

present, and the act would have amounted to murder if the act is done with the 

intention of causing such bodily injury as is likely to cause death, but the act 

having fallen within any one of the five exceptions, in Section 300 of the Code, the 

offence will fall within its ambit. The second part of the Section is attracted to a 

case where the act is done with the knowledge likely to cause death but without 

any intention of causing death or to a case where bodily injury is caused as is likely 

to cause death. The first part applies to a case where there is guilty intention and 

the second part where there is no such intention, but there is guilty knowledge.” 

“.....Here the finding of the High Court is one of the guilty intention, and it can 

only be converted into an offence under Part-I of section 304, if any of the five 

exceptions of section 300 is attracted, but the learned Judges of the High Court did 

not find any. The trial Court has clearly found that the accused was guilty of 

murder under section 302. The finding of High Court also cannot take the offence 

out of the ambit of section 302 in order to reduce it to one of manslaughter or 

culpable homicide amounting to murder under part I of section 304 of the Penal 

Code. According to High Court Division the respondent in the present case did not 

fire the shots aiming at deceased with the intention of causing death but he did so 

with the intention of causing such bodily injury as was likely to cause death. They 

also found that the death was caused by the gun-shot. From such a finding an 

offence under Part I of section 304 of the Penal Code could not be made out.” 

 

76. In the above case it is found that the respondent did not fire the shots aiming at the 

victim with the intention of causing death but he did so with the intention of causing such 

bodily injury as was likely to cause death. In the case in hand it appears from evidence that 

the death of the victim was caused by blue air pumped into his belly through inflator by 

the condemned prisoners. Such act of the condemned prisoners proves that they did it with 

the intention of causing such bodily injury and ultimate result came into death of the 

victim and as such they cannot escape themselves from such liability as stated above under 

section 302 of the Penal Code. 

 

77. More so, it appears from dissection of autopsy report, prepared by pw-37 that the 

abdomen of the victim was distended and the anterior abdominal highly congested. The 

small intestine and whole large intestine was ruptured and gangrenous and the urinary 

bladder was ruptured and also both lungs were collapsed. Such analysis proved that inside 

the body of the victim was disrupted by the blue air pumped through the inflator by the 

condemned prisoners. 

 

78. Injury Nos. 01 and 02 both are on wrists joints and ankles joint and injury No. 03 

present on the dorsum of the right foot of the victim meant that the perpetrators applied 

serious pressure on the victim. Not only this, clotted blood is found present in the rectum, 

a soft organ of the victim of 14[fourteen] year old.              

 

79. The aforesaid injuries they caused, were so imminently dangerous that it must, in 

all probability, have caused the death of the victim. It finds support from the case of Ayub 

Ali alias Md. Ayub Ali –Vs-The State, reported in 1987 BCR[AD]66 where it was held 

that, “The learned Judges of the High Court Division gave due consideration to this 
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question and found that though the offender namely, the appellant, had no intention to 

cause the death of the victim, he certainly had the intention to inflict bodily injury which, 

he knew, was most likely to cause death in the normal circumstances. Even if the 

contention of Mr. Serajul Huq that the appellant had neither any intention to cause the 

death nor any intention to inflict bodily injury most likely to cause death, still we find that 

the accused had the knowledge that the injuries he caused were so dangerous that they 

would, in all probability, cause the death and that in inflicting these injures he acted in a 

very cruel and unusual manner. This brings his action within clause (4) of section 300 of 

the Penal Code. The appellant is, therefore found to have been rightly convicted for 

murder. In the result, the appeal is dismissed.” 

 

80. Where the accused has the guilty intention of causing such injury as is likely to 

cause death the offence cannot be converted into one under first part of section 304 of the 

Penal Code, unless it is brought to any of the five exceptions of section 300 of the Penal 

Code. In the instant case, both the condemned prisoners had guilty intention and common 

intention to cause bodily injury as is likely to cause death. And therefore, there is no scope 

to alter the sentence to one under section 304 from 302 of the Penal Code as advanced by 

the learned Advocates, for the condemned prisoners. Furthermore, the common intention 

under section 34 of the Penal Code can be established as an inference from the fact of 

participation in the commission of the offence [Tera mean –Vs-Crown, reported in 7 DLR 

539]. Here, we find in the present case that the criminal act was committed by both the 

condemned prisoners jointly and the death of the victim was also caused by the result of 

their common conduct. So, in furtherance of the common intention of both, to cause bodily 

injury as is likely to cause has been proved beyond any doubt.  

 

81. Having considered the above discussions and findings and facts and circumstances 

of the case, we are constrained to hold that the prosecution has been able to prove the case 

beyond shadow of doubt under sections 302/34 of the Penal Code. 

  

82. The contention of learned Advocate Mr. S.M Abdul Mobin for the defence is that 

the sentence of death is too harsh in this case because both the accused persons tried to 

save the life of the victim removing him to more than one hospital from the place of 

occurrence as disclosed by the prosecution witnesses. Now the question is commutation of 

sentence as pointed out by the defence to be considered or not. In true sense, it is most 

difficult task on the part of a judge to decide what would be quantum of sentence in 

awarding upon an accused for committing the offence when it is proved by evidence 

beyond shadow of doubt but the judge should have considered the legal evidence and 

materials for punishment of the perpetrator not as a social activist [63 DLR 460, 18 BLD 

81 and 57 DLR 591]. Sometimes, it depends on gravity of the offence and sometimes, it 

confers upon an aggravating or mitigating factor. Under section 302 of the Penal Code 

discretion has been conferred upon the court to award two types of sentence either death or 

imprisonment for life and shall also impose fine.            

 

83. It is now pertinent to note that pw-3 in his deposition stated that the mother of the 

victim also told him that Rakib was removed by accused persons to Khulna Medical 

College Hospital. In cross-examination pw-5 said, ‘Bp¡j£l¡ l¡¢Lh−L ¢h¢iæ q¡pf¡a¡−m ¢Q¢Lvp¡l 
®Qø¡ L−l ¢L¿º Bj¡−cl−L S¡e¡u e¡Cz’ In cross-examination-pw-13 said, ‘a−h, Bp¡j£−cl Bs¡Cn ®hX 
q¡pf¡a¡−m f¡Cz .......... Bp¡j£l¡ l¡¢Lh−L M¤me¡ ®j¢X−L−m i¢aÑ L−l X¡š²¡−ll fl¡j−nÑ H¢V BC/J ®L h¢mz’ In 

cross-examination pw-16 replied, ‘Bp¡j£ ¢jW¥ fy¡S¡®L¡m¡ L−l l¡¢Lh−L …X ®qmb ¢LÓ¢e−L  ¢e−u  k¡uz 
®pM¡−e i¡−m¡ ¢Q¢Lvp¡ e¡ q−m pcl q¡pf¡a¡m, a¡lfl p¡¢SÑLÉ¡®m, ®pM¡e ®b−L  Bs¡Cn ®hX  q¡pf¡a¡−m ®euz’ 
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84. In examination-in-chief pw-19 deposed, ‘ B¢j e¡¢h−ml L¡−R öe−a f¡C  nl£g, ¢j¾V¥ Hl¡ 
l¡¢L−hl f¡R¡u q¡Ju¡  ¢c−u−Rz HSeÉ  l¡¢Lh  Ap¤Øq q−u fs−m nl£g,¢j¾V¥ Hl¡  q¡pf¡a¡−m ¢e−u k¡uz  Mhl ¢e−u 
p¡¢SÑLÉ¡−m k¡C nl£−gl L¡R ®b−L ®g¡−e ®S−ez p¡¢SÑLÉ¡−m l¡¢L−hl  ¢VÊV−j¾V  Qm−R Bl nl£g, ¢j¾V¥−L  h¡C−l hp¡ 
®c¢Mz Bjl¡ Bp¡j£−cl p¡−b l¡¢Lh−L  ¢e−u Bs¡Cn ®h−X  ¢e−u k¡Cz .........nl£gl¡ c¤C hÉ¡N lš²  jÉ¡−eS  L−lz 
HL hÉ¡N B¢j ®cC|, B−lL  hÉ¡N  nl£g ®cuz ¢j¾V¥ J~od Be−a k¡uz’ In cross-examination, ‘Bp¡j£l¡  
l¡¢Lh−L h¡Q¡−e¡l ®Qø¡ L−l¢Rmz’ Pw-20 in his deposition stated, ‘nl£g, ¢j¾V¥¥ Hl¡ l¡¢Lh−L  d−l ¢j¾V¤ 
f¡yS¡−L¡m¡ L−l ¢e−u q¡pf¡a¡−m ¢e−u k¡uz B¢j ®c−M¢Rz’ 

 

85. Pw-21 in his  deposition  said, ‘B¢j ®c¡L¡−el h¡C−l ®hl  q−u H−p  ®c¢M ¢j¾V¥−L 
f¡yS¡−L¡m¡ L−l ¢e−u ®k−a ®c¢Mz l¡¢Lh  ®L¡−m ¢Rmz nl£g−L ®c¢M ®c¡L¡−el  n¡V¡l ®V−e 
¢c−u  ¢j¾V¥l ¢fR−e ¢fR−e  nl£g−L ®c¡~s  ¢c−u  ®k−a ®c¢Mz’  Pw-23 in cross-examination 

said, ‘Bp¡j£l¡ Øq¡e£u ®m¡LSe pq l¡¢Lh−L  …X ®qmb ¢LÓ¢e−L  ¢e−u  k¡u H¢V  h−m¢Rm¡j  
BC/J ®Lz’  Pw-24 in cross-examination replied, ‘X−L   cy¡s¡−e¡ 2 Se Bp¡j£ ®l¡N£−L 
pw−N H−e¢Rmz ¢j¾V¥l  ®L¡−m  l¡¢Lh  ¢Rmz’ Pw-25 in cross-examination said,- ‘Bjl¡ 
Sea¡l  ®l¡o¡em  qC−a EÜ¡l e¡  Ll−m Hl¡ j¡l¡ ®k−a¡z H−cl j¡b¡ g¡V¡ ¢Rm, N¡−u  c¡N 
¢Rmz’ Pw-33 in cross-examination replied,- ‘nl£g Hhw ¢j¾V¥  ¢j−m N¤X  Eq~m  q¡pf¡a¡−m 
¢e−u k¡u  H¢V ®lLXÑ  q−u−Rz........ HL S¡uN¡u ®mM¡  B−R, SeNe nl£g−L j¡l¢fV 
L−lz’ Pw-34 in cross-examination said,- ‘Bp¡j£−L NZ ®d¡m¡C  ®cJu¡ q−u¢Rm ö−e¢Rz 
........NZ ¢fV¥¢e−a Bp¡j£ Bqa q−u−R H¢V Bp¡j£ Bj¡−L h−m¢Rm a¡q¡ B¢j ®lLXÑ 
L¢lz ...........Bp¡j£ h−m−R Cu¡¢LÑ Ll−a Ll−a OVe¡¢V O−V−Rz l¡¢Lh−L ¢Q¢Lvp¡l SeÉ 
i¢aÑ L−l, Kod ¢L−e B−e H¢V h−m−Rz l¡¢Lh−L j¡l¡l E−ŸnÉ ¢Rm e¡ H¢V Bp¡j£ 
h−m−Rz’ Pw-38 in cross-examination said,.... ‘Bp¡j£ ¢j¾Y¤~ l¡¢Lh−L ®L¡−m L−l 
q¡pf¡a¡−m ®eu H¢V B¢j ac−¿¹ ®f−u¢Rz.........ac−¿¹ f¡C, ¢j¾V¥ l¡¢Lh−L ®L¡−m a¥−m …X 
®qmb ¢LÓ¢e−L ¢e−u k¡uz’ 

 

86. From the evidence of aforesaid witnesses it is found that the accused persons 

removed the victim from the place of occurrence to the hospitals soon after incident. It is 

also evident by pws-25, 33 and 34 that the accused persons were beaten by angry mobs 

after occurrence meaning that the accused persons did not flea away rather they tried to 

save the life of the victim when they felt that they committed serious crime on the victim 

by pumping air into his belly by inflator.  

 

87. In such a situation, it is a very hard job for the court to determine the quantum of 

sentence whether it will be capital punishment or imprisonment for life upon the accused 

persons since they played a role for saving the victim’s life soon after occurrence as 

evident by the said prosecution witnesses. At the same time it is very important to note 

that the victim was completely an innocent teenager who had no fault of such dire 

consequences at the hands of the accused persons. Since the determination of awarding 

sentence to the accused persons is at the middle point of views, it may turn to impose 

capital punishment or imprisonment for life and that is why, the advantage of lesser one 

shall find the accused persons to acquire in the instant case. More so, both the accused 

persons have no significant history of prior criminal activities and their PC and PR 

[previous conviction and previous records] are found nil in the police report. In this regard 

it finds support from the decision in the case of Nalu –Vs-The State, reported in 1 

ALR(AD)(2012) 222 where one of the mitigating factors was previous records of the 

accused. It also indicates from the evidence of prosecution witnesses that doctors got 

confused as to how the treatment was given to the victim when he was taken to the 

hospitals in Khulna Divisional Head Quarters because it was an exceptional offence 
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committed by the accused persons and the victim died around four hours later on the way 

to Dhaka. Therefore, we do find an extraneous ground to commute the sentences but we 

do not find any reason to interfere with conviction recorded under sections 302/34 of the 

Penal Code. 

 

88. In the above facts and circumstances of the case, we are of the view that ends of 

justice will be met if the accused persons are sentenced to one of imprisonment for life 

instead of awarding them sentences to death with a fine of Tk. 50[fifty] thousand each, in 

default, to under R.I for 02[two] years. On recovery of the fine from both the convicts, the 

same has to be paid to the legal heirs of the deceased.      

 

89. In the result, the Death Reference No. 92 of 2015 is, hereby, rejected with the said 

modification in awarding sentences. The Criminal Appeal Nos. 9051 of 2015, 9170 of 

2015 and Jail Appeal No. 222 of 2015 and 224 of 2015 are dismissed. 

 

90. Accordingly, both the condemned prisoners are sentenced to imprisonment for life 

with a fine of Tk. 50[fifty] thousand as stated above and be shifted from the condemned 

cell to normal cell meant for similar convicts at once.  

 

91. Let a copy of the judgment and order along with lower court’s records be 

transmitted to the Metropolitan Sessions Judge, Khulna for taking necessary measures. 
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Therefore, since the very definition of the term ‘Coaching Business’ has only attracted 

the involvement teachers of the above mentioned institutions as a mischief, this Nitimala 

in fact has not prohibited the ‘coaching business’, or ‘coaching centers’, run by any 

individual in his or her private capacity who is not a teacher of the above mentioned 

institutions. This means involvement of an individual, who is not a teacher of the above 

mentioned institutions, in such coaching centers or business has not been prohibited by 

this Nitimala. Therefore, the prohibition, as provided by this Nitimala, only applies to 

the teachers of the above mentioned institutions and not to any individuals or private 

citizens or persons, who are not teachers of such educational institutions.      ... (Para 29) 
 

From the above discussions, it appears that even in the absence of the said Nitimala, the 

petitioners and other teachers of non-government and government schools and colleges 

are not allowed to engage themselves in any sort of coaching business. This prohibition 

has not been provided by the said Nitimala of 2012, rather this has been given by their 

concerned service Rules which are delegated legislations and applicable to them. When 

the petitioners, or other teachers of government and non-government schools and 

colleges, joined their services, they joined as such fully knowing that the said Service 

Rules would be applicable to them. Therefore, by the said Nitimala, the government has 

in fact supplemented the provisions which are already in the statute books and in doing 

so, the government does not need to show any other sanction of statute or Act of 

parliament. It is the part of the constitutional power of the government as executive to 

run the governance and in running such governance, it is the duty and obligation of the 

government to take steps for implementation of the laws and regulations time to time 

enacted by the parliament or by the delegatees of the parliament. Under such 

obligations, the governments in modern countries issue various Circulars, Paripatra, 

Nitimala etc. and this has now become essential and normal administrative technic in 

modern countries. The only limitation in issuing such Nitimala or Nirdeshika is that by 

such Nitimala or Nirdeshika, the government cannot curtail the rights of any citizen 

which is already granted in his/her favour either by the Constitution or by law or by 

any other legal instruments.                 ... (Para 34) 
 

Therefore, in the facts and circumstances of the present cases, the petitioners have 

failed to show that either the Constitution or any act of parliament or any delegated 

legislation of this Country has given them any right to get involved in coaching business. 

Rather, it has become evident from the above referred delegated legislations that in fact 

they have been prohibited by the law of the land from getting involved in coaching 

business. Thus, in so far as the said Nitimala is concerned, since the same has not 

curtailed any rights of the petitioners guaranteed either by the constitution or any law, 

it cannot be knocked down by this Court. Rather, it should be protected by this Court 

as it is the supplemental instrument to the already existing laws of the land. In this 

regard, the decisions of Indian Supreme Court in Bennett Coleman Co. v. Union of 

India, AIR 1973 SC 106, Bishamber Daval Chandra Mohan v State of UP, AIR 1982 SC 

-33 and Distt. Collector, Chittoor v Chittor Disttt. Groundnut Traders Assn, AIR 1989 

SC 989 may be looked into as references. Therefore, on this point of unconstitutionality 

and unimplementablity of the said Nitimala of 2012, as argued by the learned advocates 

for the petitioners, we find no substance.                 ...(Para 35) 
 

Therefore, it cannot be denied that when the teachers get involved themselves in 

coaching business, which is prohibited by law, they are disobeying the direction of law 

and they know it fully that such disobedience might cause injury to the students or their 

guardians in that by such engagement they are utilizing their resources, potentials  and 

capabilities in such coaching centers rather than using them in the class rooms. 
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Therefore, this Court is of the view that, since this provision under Section 166 of the 

Penal Code has been incorporated in the Schedule to the Dudak Act, 2004, Dudak thinly 

had technical jurisdiction to enquire into the allegations as published in the news paper 

regarding the involvement of teachers in the coaching business. However, this thin and 

technical jurisdiction is only confined to the teachers of government colleges and schools 

and not to the teachers of non-government schools and colleges.            ... (Para 41) 
 

Though we are saying that technically Dudak had jurisdiction to enquire into the said 

matters, we are of the view that Dudak should have priority list as to which offences 

should get priority in their such enquiry and investigation when it is repeatedly 

reported in newspapers that Dudak does not have enough resources and logistic 

supports. We are of the view that leaving behind serious allegations of corruptions in 

National Banks, Customs Houses, Ports, Court Premises, Government Offices, Land 

Offices, etc. Dudak should not have inquired into the mere involvement of some 

teachers in coaching business relying on a newspaper report. When there are some 

other serious reports of corruption in the country, it does not also look well when Dudak 

shows such importance to some basically disciplinary matters when teachers of 

government schools are not attending classes on time. These apparently disciplinary 

issues should be kept at the bottom of Dudak’s priority list in particular when almost 

each and every institution of this country is now suffering from huge corruption being 

committed by its employees and staffs. Though by engaging in coaching businesses the 

said teachers have disobeyed the direction of law, but it cannot be said that they have 

committed any ‘corruption’ as we understand the term in its general and common 

parlance. Therefore, we are of the view that, though thinly and technically Dudak had 

jurisdiction to enquire into the matters as published in the newspaper as regards 

involvement of the government teachers in coaching business, they should not have 

conducted such enquiry at all. Such enquires should have been done by the education 

directorate of the government or the concerned ministry itself.             ... (Para 42) 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

SHEIKH HASSAN ARIF, J 

 

1. Since the questions of law and facts involved in the aforesaid writ petitions are almost 
same, they have been taken up together for hearing and are now being disposed of by this 
common judgment. 

 
2. Rule in Writ Petition Nos. 2611 of 2018, 2842 of 2018 and 1954 of 2018 were issued 

in similar terms, namely calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why the “¢nr¡ 
fË¢aù¡−el ¢nrL−cl ®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ hå e£¢aj¡m¡-2012”, (in short, “the said Nitimala”), purporting to 
regulate commercial coaching, should not be declared to be discriminatory and violative of 
Articles 26(2), 27, 31 and 40 of Part-III of the Constitution and done without lawful authority 
and is of no legal effect and as to why different memos issued by the respondent authorities 
either initiating departmental proceedings against the petitioners or transferring them from 
one school to another for their alleged involvement in commercial coaching, should not be 
declared to be without lawful authority and are of no legal effect.  

 
3. In Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018, the petitioner is a non-MPO teacher of Viqarunnisa 

Noon School and College, which is a Non-Government Secondary and Higher Secondary 
educational institution, and has, apart from the said Nitimala, challenged the Memo No. 
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04.01.2600.612.01.014.17.36333 dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-B) issued by the Durniti 
Damon Commission (Dudak) and Memo No.04.00.0000.521.18.087.17-1123 dated 
05.12.2017 (Annexure-C) issued by the Cabinet Division of the Government, Memo dated 
05.02.2018 (Annexure-A) issued by the Education Board, Dhaka and Memo No. 
37.02.0000.107.99.35.2018-1167(10) dated 04.02.2018 (Annexure-G) issued by the 
Education Department of the Government. 

 
4. In Writ Petition No. 2842 of 2018, the petitioners, who are teachers of Motijheel 

Government Boys High School, Dhaka and Motijheel Government Girls High School, 
Dhaka, have, apart from the said Nitimala, challenged the Memo 
No.04.01.2600.612.01.014.17.36333 dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-E), Memo No. 
0400.0000.521.18.087.17-1123 dated 05.12.2017 (Annexure-D), Memo No. 
37.00.0000.000.27.001.17.6 dated 02.01.2018 (Annexure-C), Memo No. 6¢p/05-pj/2013/170 
dated 29.01.2018 (Annexure-A) and subsequent charge-cum-show cause Notices dated 
07.02.2018 issued upon them vide Memo Nos. 6¢p/05-pj/2013/244, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/245, 
6¢p/05-pj/2013/246, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/247, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/248, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/249, 6¢p/05-
pj/2013/250, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/251, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/252, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/253, 6¢p/05-
pj/2013/254, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/255, 6¢p/05-pj/2013/256  (Annexure-B series).  

 
5. In Writ Petition No. 1954 of 2018, the petitioners, who are teachers of Government 

Laboratory High School, Dhanmondi, New Market, Dhaka, have particularly challenged the 
Memo No. 04.01.2600.612.01.014.17.36333 dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-B) issued by the 
Dudak, Memo No. 0400.0000.521.18.087.17-1123 dated 05.12.2017 (Annexure C) issued by 
the Cabinet Division of the Government, Memo No. 37.00.0000.000.27.001.17.6 dated 
02.01.2018 (Annexure-D) issued by the Ministry of Education  and subsequent transfer of the 
petitioners vide Memo No. 6C/05-Somo/2013/170 dated 29.01.2018 issued by the Director 
General, Directorate of Secondary and Higher Secondary Education, Dhaka (Annexure E). 

 
6. Apart from the above three writ petitions, we have also heard two other earlier writ 

petitions analogously. They are Writ petition No. 7366 of 2011 and Writ Petition No. 11230 
of 2012. In Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011, this Court, at the instance of the petitioner, a 
public interest litigant, issued Rule calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why a 
direction should not be given upon the respondents to take appropriate steps to prohibit 
M.P.O. registered teachers and government teachers from providing coaching, teaching etc. 
commercially and also why the respondents should not be directed to declare such prohibition 
through publishing a gazette notification. After issuance of this Rule, the government 
circulated the impugned Nitimala, namely “¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡−el ¢nrL−cl ®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ hå e£¢aj¡m¡-2012” 
dated 20 June 2012. Some guardians then filed Writ Petition No.11230 of 2012 and obtained 
Rule from this Court calling upon the respondents to show cause as to why the said Nitimala 
should not be declared to be without lawful authority and is of no legal effect. At the time of 
issuance of the Rule, this Court also ordered for hearing of the Rule along with the above 
mentioned Writ Petition No.7366 of 2011.   

 
BACKGROUND FACTS: 
7. For the sake of clarity, let us start from the earlier writ petitions. Facts relevant for 

disposal of the Rule in Writ Petition No.7366 of 2011 are that the petitioner is the Chairman 
of Guardian United Forum and also a member of Ideal School Guardian Forum, which is a 
registered Social Welfare Organization having Registration No. Y-08227. That petitioner’s 
son and daughter are students in Ideal School and College, Motijheel, Dhaka and the 
petitioner is the founding Chairman of the said Ideal School Guardian Forum. That the 
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Ministry of Education on 10.08.2010 published a notification for providing extra classes to 
the weak students and the fees for such extra classes were also fixed by the said notification. 
However, it is contended, the said Motijheel Ideal School and College was taking extra 
money from the guardians for providing such extra classes without giving any receipts to 
them. Accordingly, the petitioner made complaint against such actions of the school and 
college authority, but did not get any positive response. It is further stated that the coaching 
centers in Dhaka and other areas of the country are destroying the education system in 
schools and colleges and have turned the education into a business product. Accordingly, the 
petitioner, on 31.05.2011, filed application before the Principal of the said school and college 
to stop such coaching businesses by the teachers. That the organization of the petitioner has 
also filed application before the Ministry of Education on 21.07.2011 for taking actions in 
order to stop coaching business in the country, which, according to the petitioner, was 
paralysing the education system of the country. That different daily newspapers have also 
published reports as regards mushrooming of coaching centers in Dhaka and other parts of 
the country, but the government, in particular the Ministry of Education, has not taken any 
effective steps to stop such coaching businesses which, according to him, discouraging the 
students from attending classes as well as the teachers from providing education to the 
students in the class rooms. Under such circumstances, the petitioner moved the said writ 
petition and obtained the aforesaid Rule seeking a direction on the government to take 
appropriate steps to prohibit coaching by the teachers in the said coaching centers.  

 
8. Immediate after issuance of the above Rule in Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011, the 

government circulated a Nitimala, being “¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡−el ¢nrL−cl ®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ hå e£¢aj¡m¡-2012”, 
vide Memo dated 20.06.2012. Thereupon, some guardians have filed Writ Petition No. 

11230 of 2012 challenging the said Nitimala. It is stated by the said guardians that the 
petitioner No.1 is the President of Ovibhabak Alliance, which was created with primary 
object of increasing educational awareness including rights to education etc., and petitioner 
Nos. 2, 3 and 4 are guardians of some students. It is stated by the said petitioners that the said 
Nitimala of 2012 is contradictory and direct violation of fundamental rights to education, 
renouncing the grading and even defaming the educated, trained and experienced teachers 
who practice their novel profession in the government and non-government educational 
institutions all over Bangladesh. It is further stated that the primary object of the said 
Nitimala is to restrict the teachers of the educational institutions having appropriate 
qualifications and experiences from providing teaching in the coaching centers thereby 
allowing the unqualified, untrained and unprofessional self-declared teachers to run the said 
coaching centers and to provide education in the said coaching centers. It is further stated by 
those guardians that the said Nitimala being a directive and policy document cannot be 
implemented. According to the petitioners in this writ petition, the guardians strongly feel 
that their children need extra guidance and tutoring facilities to be provided by the regulated 
teachers rather than profit making coaching operators with the help of unregulated self-
declared teachers. It is also contended that the definition of ®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ as provided by the 
said Nitimala has concentrated only on profit motive thereby totally ignoring the importance 
of quality education by the trained teachers of schools and colleges and as such the same has 
been framed with mala-fide intention in order to facilitate the commercial coaching by self-
declared teachers. It is also contended that since the coaching is widely provided to the 
students for medical admissions, engineering admissions and even entry in judiciary, such 
coaching cannot be stopped in respect of the students of schools and colleges only. It is 
contended that the definition of ‘private tuition’ as provided by Clause 1 (Ja) of the said 
Nitimala has given a narrow meaning in that it only means the tuition given by the teachers at 
their residence or the residence of the students. It is contended that by this Nitimala the 
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engagement or involvement of teachers in coaching centers has been stopped in one hand and 
coaching in the schools in the name of extra classes has been encouraged on the other hand, 
which itself is a contradictory policy. Accordingly, it is contended by these petitioners that, 
the said Nitimala should be knocked down by this Court.  

 
9. Facts relevant for disposal of the Rules in Writ Petition Nos. 2611 of 2018, 2842 of 

2018 and 1954 of 2018 are almost similar, the only difference being that the petitioner in 
Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018 is a teacher of non-government Secondary & Higher 
Secondary educational institution and the petitioners in Writ Petition Nos. 2842 of 2018 and 
1954 of 2018 are teachers of government Secondary & Higher Secondary educational 
institutions. It is commonly stated by these petitioners that, with proper qualification and 
through due recruitment process, they have been appointed as teachers of different schools in 
Dhaka. That the petitioner in Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018, being employed in a non-
government educational institution, does not receive any MPO from the government. On the 
other hand, the petitioners in Writ Petition No. 2842 of 2018 and Writ Petition No.1954 of 
2018 are teachers of different subjects in government educational institutions.  

 
10. The case of the petitioner in Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018 is that while she was 

serving as teacher of the Viqarunnisa Noon School and College, the school suddenly received 
a memo dated 05.02.2018 issued by the College Invigilator, Board of Intermediate and 
Secondary Education, Dhaka (respondent No.10) in pursuance of the order of the Chairman 
of the Board wherein instructions were given to the school authority of the petitioner along 
with other schools to take appropriate steps against the teachers involved in coaching 
business in violation of the said Nitimala. By such communication, it is stated, the petitioner 
came to know that an enquiry was conducted by the Anti-corruption Commission, (Dudak), 
which is reflected in Memo dated 03.12.2017 of the Anti-corruption Commission containing 
a list of the names of the teachers of various educational institutions in Dhaka including the 
name of the petitioner alleging that they were involved in coaching business. By the said 
Memo, Dudak requested the Cabinet Division of the Government to take immediate 
disciplinary actions against the petitioner and others. According to the petitioner, she further 
learnt that, upon receipt of the said memo from Dudak, the Cabinet Division of the 
government issued a memo dated 05.12.2017 to the Secretary, Secondary School and Higher 
Secondary Education Department of the Ministry of Education for taking necessary steps as 
per law in this regard and, accordingly, the Department of Secondary and Higher Secondary 
Education, Dhaka issued Memo dated 04.02.2018 asking the concerned school authorities 
including the school of the petitioner to take appropriate steps against the petitioner and 
others listed therein for violation of the provisions under Rule 13 of the said Nitimala. Under 
such circumstances, the petitioner moved this Court and obtained the aforesaid Rule.  

 
11. The factual scenario in other two writ petitions filed by the teachers are also similar in 

that while the petitioners in the said writ petitions were performing their duties as teachers in 
the said government schools and colleges, the Cabinet Division of the Government, by 
making reference to the aforesaid memo issued by Dudak, asked the concerned Ministry to 
take appropriate steps for stopping ‘commercial coaching’ and to take actions against the 
teachers involved therein. Thereupon, the concerned department of education issued memos 
asking the concerned schools of the petitioners to take appropriate legal actions against the 
petitioners and others for violation of Rule 13 of the said Nitimala on the allegation that they 
were involved in coaching business. Accordingly, impugned departmental proceedings were 
initiated against the petitioners in Writ Petition No. 2842 of 2018 asking them to show cause 
as to why they should not be punished in accordance with the provisions under Rule 3(b) of 
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the Public Servant (Discipline and Appeal) Rules, 1985, which was followed by the 
impugned transfer orders transferring them from their present schools to other schools.  

 
12. In Writ Petition No.1954 of 2018 as well, the petitioners came before this Court 

when the Education Ministry issued Memo dated 02.01.2018 (Annexure-D) asking the 
Director General of Secondary and Higher Secondary Department, Education Vavan, Dhaka 
to immediately transfer 25 teachers mentioned in the enclosed list including the petitioners 
out of Dhaka and initiate departmental proceedings against them for alleged violation of the 
said Nitimala on the allegation that they were involved in coaching business. Consequently 
they were transferred vide impugned Memo dated 29.01.2018 (Annexure-E) to different 
schools outside Dhaka. 

 
13. Under above circumstances, the teachers, who are petitioners in the aforesaid three 

writ petitions, came up before this Court and obtained Rules and ad-interim orders of stay 
against such actions initiated against them and such ad-interim orders were not interfered by 
the Appellate Division though, in Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018, the Government preferred 
Civil Petition for Leave to Appeal No. 1552 of 2018 before the Appellate Division. 

 
14. Common case of the petitioner-teachers in these three writ Petitions (Writ Petition 

Nos. 2611 of 2018, 2842 of 2018 and 1954 of 2018) are that the very Nitimala is a no-nest 
instrument as the same was not issued by the government as a delegated legislation in 
exercise of any power conferred on the government by any Act of parliament and as such any 
actions against the petitioners pursuant to the said non-est Nitimala are liable to be struck 
down by this Court. The further case as regards the said Nitimala is that since the said 
Nitimala has created an offence under the title ‘®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ' (Coaching Business) and provided 
punishment for the same, it is without lawful authority in that only the Parliament can create 
any punishable offence by enactment under Article 65 of the Constitution. It is also 
contended by these petitioners that since the mischief of involvement in coaching business by 
the teachers of government and non-government schools and colleges do not fall under any 
office as mentioned in the schedule to the Durniti Domon Commission Act, 2004, Dudak did 
not have any authority to initiate the said enquiry as regards such alleged involvement of the 
petitioners and other teachers in coaching business. Accordingly, it is contended that, since 
the impugned proceedings and actions against the petitioners were initiated pursuant to a 
memo of Dudak dated 03.12.2017, the same are liable to be declared to be without lawful 
authority and are of no legal effect. 

 
15. The Rules in these three writ petitions have been opposed by the D.G., Department of 

Secondary & Higher Secondary Education under the Education Ministry and Durniti Domon 
Commission (Dudak) by filing separate affidavits-in-opposition. It is contended by the 
education department that after issuance of the Rule in Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011 by the 
High Court Division as regards framing of Rules to stop coaching business, the Ministry of 
Education held various meetings attended by the headmasters and principals of various 
schools and colleges presided over by the Hon’ble Minister himself and through such 
meetings, it was resolved that a Nitimala should be promulgated for stopping such coaching 
business which is destroying the normal education system in this country. Therefore, 
according to this respondent, since the education policy of the government has made 
provisions for preventing coaching business and for encouraging class-room education, the 
government has committed no illegality in framing the said Nitimala thereby making 
provisions for departmental punishments of the teachers if found involved in such coaching 
business. It is further contended by this respondent that it is the executive responsibility of the 
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government to protect the education system of the country and, in order to do that, the 
government can time to time issue notifications, orders, circulars etc. Therefore, it is also 
contended that, since the Dudak has found involvement of some teachers in such coaching 
business and has recommended actions against them, the government has committed no 
illegality in instructing the concerned authorities to take appropriate departmental actions as 
well as other actions against the concerned teachers. It is also contended by this respondent 
that the said Nitimala has in the meantime been published in government gazette vide 
Bangladesh Gazette dated 24.01.2019. 

 
16. The case of respondent- Dudak is that it is the prime responsibility of Dudak to take 

steps for prevention of corruption and to detect corruption in any sector including the 
education sector and since the definition of the term ‘corruption’, as provided by the Durniti 
Domon Commission Act, 2004, includes the offences mentioned in the Schedule to the said 
Act, Dudak has committed no illegality in conducting enquiry in exercise of its power under 
Section 17 of the said Act as regards involvement of some teachers of non-government and 
government schools and colleges in the coaching business in violation of the said Nitimala of 
2012. It is further contended by Dudak that since the mischief, as has been detected by such 
enquiry, falls under the offences mentioned in the said schedule to the Durniti Domon 
Commission Act, 2004, Dudak did have the jurisdiction to initiate enquiry about the same 
and also did have the option to refer the matter to the government for taking appropriate 
actions against the concerned teachers instead of initiating criminal proceedings against them. 

 
SUBMISSIONS: 
17. Since the Rule in the above mentioned three writ petitions (Writ Petition Nos. 2611 of 

2018, 2842 of 2018 and 1954 of 2018) have in fact been contested by the parties seriously, 
we will give emphasis in our judgment on the submissions made by the parties in respect of 
the said Rules, as the same will cover the issues raised in other two writ petitions.  

 
18. Though Mr. M Amir-Ul-Islam and Ms. Tania Amir, learned senior counsels, have 

appeared for the petitioner-teachers in the said three writ petitions, it is in fact Ms. Tania 
Amir, learned advocate, who has extensively argued the case for them. She has made the 
following submissions:  

(1) That the said Nitimala, thereby making provisions for creating offence of coaching 
business as well as defining the ‘coaching business’ without any sanction of 
parliament or in exercise of any delegated power given by the parliament, is a no-nest 
instrument in the eye of law and as such the same should be declared to be without 
lawful authority;    

(2) Since the said Nitimala was and is a no-nest instrument, any actions including the 
enquiry initiated by Dudak as well as the departmental proceedings as 
proposed/initiated against the petitioners pursuant to a report of Dudak also do not 
have any legal footing to stand and, accordingly, the same should also be declared to 
be without lawful authority. 

(3) Drawing this Court’s attention to various provisions of the Durniti Domon 
Commission Act, 2004, in particular the definition of the term ‘Durniti’ as provided 
by Clause (Uma) of Section 2 of the same and the functions of Dudak as provided by 
Section 17 of the same, she submits that under no circumstances involvement of any 
teacher of government and non-government Schools and colleges fall under the radar 
of enquiry of Dudak in particular when such involvement of teachers is not an offence 
under any provisions of the Penal Code which have been mentioned in the schedule to 
the said Dudak Act, 2004. This being so, Dudak in fact did not have any jurisdiction 
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to initiate enquiry into the alleged involvement of the petitioners in the coaching 
business and thereby send any recommendation to the cabinet division of the 
government for taking appropriate actions against them. Therefore, according to her, 
each and every actions taken pursuant to the said recommendation of Dudak, as sent 
by Memo dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-B to the writ petition No. 2611 of 2018), do 
not have any legal footing to stand and as such the same should be declared to be 
without lawful authority.  

(4) Further referring to the provisions under Article 152 of the Constitution, in particular 
the definition of term ‘law’ as provided therein, she submits that this Nitimala does 
not come under the purview of law under any circumstances and as such the same 
cannot be implemented by Dudak, government or by the concerned authority and, 
accordingly, any actions taken on the basis of the said Nitimala as well as 
recommendation of Dudak pursuant to the said Nitimala are actions without lawful 
authority and as such the same should be struck down by this Court.        

(5) By drawing this Court’s attention to the said Nitimala itself, as annexed to the Writ 
Petition no. 2611 of 2018 as Annexure-D, learned advocate submits that even the 
preamble of the said Nitimala has given a wrong information deliberately in that the 
said Nitimala was claimed to have been issued pursuant to a direction of the High 
Court Division in Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011 inasmuch as that no such direction 
was ever given by the High Court Division in the said writ petition to frame any such 
Nitimala. Therefore, according to her, the government has committed fraud on this 
Court by making reference therein to a direction in the said writ petition. 

(6) Learned advocate further points out that during pendency of the Rules, the 
government has published the said Nitimala in the gazette without even waiting for 
the result of the said writ petition which, according to her, is a contemptuous act by 
the government.  

 
19. As against above submissions, Mr. Mokleshur Rahman, learned Deputy Attorney 

General, has made following submissions on behalf of the Director General, Secondary and 
Higher Secondary Education Department: 

(1)  Though there was no specific direction to frame any Nitimala in Writ Petition no. 
7366 of 2011, government can, on its own, frame such Nitimala as an expression of 
its policy decision in line with the Education Policy, 2010 as declared by the 
government which, according to him, clearly prohibits any coaching business;  

(2) By making reference to various reports as well as minutes of meetings as held in the 
Education Ministry under the leadership of the then Hon’ble Minister himself, learned 
DAG submits that after issuance of the said Rule in  Writ Petition No.7366 of 2011, 
the government itself decided to hold inquiry as well as to hold meetings with the 
concerned stake holders, in particular the headmasters and principals of different 
schools and colleges, and in the said meetings, it was unanimously  resolved that a 
Nitimala should be framed by the government for preventing such coaching business. 
In this regard, learned DAG has referred to the minutes of a meeting dated 
22.02.2012, as annexed to the affidavit-in-opposition as Annexure-C;  

(3) Further referring to the enquiry report dated 19.01.2012, learned DAG submits that a 
five member enquiry committee was constituted by the Education Ministry to find out 
the way- out from the burning problems as caused by the mushrooming of coaching 
centers in the country and it was recommended by the said committee, amongst 
others, to frame a Nitimala in this regard for prevention of such coaching business.  

(4) Referring to a relevant portion of the National Education Policy, 2010, in particular 
Clause 22 under the Chapter fl£r¡ J j§mÉ¡ue, learned DAG submits that it is the 
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policy of the government to discourage coaching business so that the students can 
concentrate on the text books upon avoiding guide books, note books etc. in order to 
make the class room education more popular and the only education system in the 
country. Therefore, according to him, since the said Nitimala is nothing but a 
reflection of the said education policy of the government, the same cannot be 
interfered with by this Court.  

(5) Learned DAG further submits that even the concerned service rules of the non-
government and government teachers of the said schools and colleges prohibit their 
involvement in the coaching business without proper sanction of the concerned 
authorities or the government. This being so, according to him, the said Nitimala has 
just supplemented the said statutory provisions as contained in the said service Rules 
by which no rights of the petitioner have been curtailed. 

 
20. Opposing the Rules, Mr. Khurshid Alam Khan, learned advocate appearing for the 

respondent Dudak, has made the following submissions: 
(1) That Dudak is an independent body to enquire and investigate the offences mentioned 

in the schedule to the Dudak Act, 2004 and as such since the involvement of the 
petitioners, in particular the petitioners who are serving in government schools and 
colleges, in the coaching business have violated the provisions under Section 166 of 
the Penal Code, 1860 and some other provisions of the Penal Code which are included 
in the said schedule, Dudak did have the ample authority and jurisdiction to initiate 
enquiry into the said involvement of the petitioners and other teachers in the coaching 
business.  

(2) Mr. Khan further submits that though Dudak is entitled to initiate such enquiry even 
on its own under the said law, without any complaint being lodged by any one, in the 
instant case Dudak has acted pursuant to a news report published in the Daily 
Jugantor on 04.04.2017 under the heading ¢nrL−cl L¡−R ¢S¢Çj A¢ii¡hL-¢nr¡b£Ñ. This being 
so, he submits, since Dudak has assigned its concerned officers to initiate enquiry into 
the matter and the said enquiry officers submitted a report finding such involvement 
of the teachers including the petitioners in such coaching business in violation of the 
said Nitimala, it opted to refer the matter to the government so that appropriate 
actions could be taken against the said teachers. Therefore, according to him, no act of 
without jurisdiction has been committed by Dudak in conducting such enquiry as well 
as in making recommendations to the government for taking actions against the said 
teachers.  

(3) Further referring to the provisions under Section 17 of the Dudak Act, 2004, Mr. 
Khan submits that it is one of the main functions of Dudak to conduct enquiry and 
investigation as regards offences mentioned in the schedule to the said Act. Therefore, 
according to him, since Section 166 of the Penal Code is one of the sections 
mentioned in the said schedule and since the teachers of the government schools have 
in fact committed offences under the said provision of the Penal Code, Dudak 
lawfully conducted the said enquiry and, accordingly, issued the impugned memo 
dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-B to the Writ Petition No.2611 of 2018) requesting the 
cabinet Secretary to take appropriate steps for containing such coaching business in 
this country.  

 
21. Since the learned advocates appearing for the petitioner-guardians in Writ Petition 

No.11230 of 2012 have not argued the case in favour of the said petitioners separately, rather 
they have adopted the submissions of Ms. Tania Amir, we do not need to address their 
submissions separately.  
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22. In the course of hearing, learned advocates for the petitioners have repeatedly argued 

that government cannot issue such Nitimala or any Nitimala without sanction of parliament 
or without being delegated by any Act of parliament. Since this issue involves interpretation 
of provisions of the Constitution and laws, we have requested Mr. A.F. Hasan Ariff and Mr. 
Fida M Kamal, learned senior counsels, to assist this Court as Amici Curiae. Accordingly, 
they have made extensive submissions, though contrary to each other to certain extent.  

 
23. According to Mr. A.F. Hasan Ariff, learned Amicus Curiae, when a Nitimala is 

framed by the government without making reference to any law or without being delegated 
by any Act of parliament, such Nitimala cannot be enforced or the same is not enforceable. In 
this regard, Mr. Ariff has referred to the fundamental principle of state policies as 
incorporated in our Constitution under Part II. According to him, though the said policies are 
the policies of the government and the State and will guide the Courts in respect of 
interpretation of the Constitution and laws, such policies of the State are not judicially 
enforceable. Therefore, according to him, same standard should be applicable in respect of 
the directions and Nitimalas as time to time framed by the government without any sanction 
of law in that the same may be the guidance as to how the government will act in respect of 
certain issues or on the basis of certain attending facts, but the same cannot be implemented 
or enforced. By referring to certain paragraphs of renowned text books on Administrative 
Law as authored by D. Smith and Hilaiare Barnelt, D. Smith, Judicial Review, 7th 
Addition-287 and Hilaiare Barnelt, Constitutional And Administrative Law, 5th Addition-798, 
he submits that by such Nitimala no rights of a citizen guaranteed by the Constitution or Act 
of Parliament can be curtailed. According to him, since the impugned Nitimala has defined an 
offence under the title ‘coaching business’ and provided punishment for the said offence, the 
same has curtailed the rights of the citizens of this country and as such the same, having not 
been issued under the authority of any act of parliament, cannot sustain as a valid Nitimala. 

 
24. Surprisingly, a bit opposite submissions have been made by the other Amicus Curiae, 

Mr. Fida M Kamal. According to him, the decision of the government as regards it’s policy 
are normally circulated by different instruments, and in Bangladesh, such instruments are 
called Nitimala, Nirdeshika, Paripotra, Biggopti, Rules, Regulations etc. Therefore, according 
to him, in a modern governance, a government cannot wait for a specific legislation every 
time to address each and every issue in the running of the affairs of the State. Therefore, he 
submits, government takes recourse to various Nitimala, Nirdeshika, Paripatra etc. which do 
not necessarily need to have the statutory backing or sanction of parliament always in 
particular when the governance by the executives has already been sanctioned by the 
Constitution itself. He further submits that since the National Education Policy, 2010 has 
clearly discouraged coaching business, the government has committed no illegality in 
framing the said Nitimala, even without any direction from the High Court Division, as a 
supplementary instrument to prevent such mischief of coaching business which has become a 
parallel educational system in this country. According to him, though the government has 
time and again taken preparations to enact Education Act, 2016 to regulate such affairs, it is 
yet to be enacted by the Parliament and as such until such enactment is made, the executives 
cannot sit idle whenever it faces problems like coaching business. Therefore, he submits, to 
prevent such mushrooming of coaching business in the country, government had no option 
but to frame a Rule in the form of instructions to the teachers and concerned authorities to 
deal with such problems. According to him, all the modern governments issue such circulars, 
Nitimala etc. for handling the situations they face time to time which are not directly covered 
by law or Act of parliament. In this regard, learned advocate has referred to some articles as 
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written by some jurists, namely “Circular Arguments: The status and Legitimacy of 

Administrative Rules” by Robert Baldwin and John Houghton, published in (1986) Public 

Law at page 239-284, “The Scope of Judicial Review: Public Duty” not “Source of Power” 

by C.F. Forsyth, published in (1987) Public law at Pages 356-367. According to him, since 
the MPO teachers in non-government schools and colleges receive government portions of 
salary and government benefits, they are also bound by any instructions and circulars issued 
by the government as regards their conduct and affairs. This being so, he submits, by such 
Nitimala, the government can also address the teachers of non-government schools and 
colleges as regards any illegalities committed by them. He further submits that the coaching 
business cannot be considered under any circumstances as a legal right of the petitioners 
under Article 40 of the Constitutions as such rights are restricted by laws like Rules, 
regulations and byelaws and legal instruments having force of law in Bangladesh. Therefore 
according to him, since the said Nitimala has prohibited the coaching business, not teaching 
or tuition, the same should not be interfered with by this Court as the same is the policy 
statement of the government in line with the National Education Policy, 2010. 

 
25. DELIBERATIONS OF THE COURT: 
Nitimala of 2012: 
Since the source of every grievance of the petitioners, in particular the petitioner-teachers 

in the above three writ petitions, is the “¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡−el ¢nrL−cl ®L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉ hå e£¢aj¡m¡-
2012” as circulated by the government vide Memo dated 20.06.2012 (Annexure-D to 
the writ petition No. 2611 of 2018), let us first decide whether this Nitimala is 
sustainable in law. In order to do that, let us first examine the very Nitimala itself.   

 
26. It appears from the said Nitimala that at the beginning, it was said that the same was 

framed pursuant to a direction of the High Court Division in Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011. 
However, upon examining the orders passed in the said writ petition, we have not found any 
such direction therein. On the other hand, it appears, this Court only issued Rule in the said 
writ petition upon the respondents to show cause as to why such Nitimala should not be 
framed. Therefore, apparently, a misleading information has been given at preamble of the 
said Nitimala, which should be corrected by the concerned authority immediately.  

 
27. It further appears that the said Nitimala has defined the ‘educational institutions’ to 

which is applicable and the ‘teachers’ to whom it is applicable. Some relevant definitions 
under Article 1 of the said Nitimala are quoted below; 

(L) ¢nr¡ fË¢aÖW¡ex H e£¢aj¡m¡u ¢nr¡ fË¢aÖW¡e hm−a plL¡¢l/−hplL¡l£ ú¥m (¢ejÈ j¡dÉ¢jL J j¡dÉ¢jL), 
L−mS (EµQ j¡dÉ¢jL, pÀ¡aL J pÀ¡a−L¡šl) j¡cl¡p¡ (c¡¢Mm, B¢mj, g¡¢Sm, L¡¢jm) J L¡¢lN¢l ¢nr¡ 
fË¢aÖW¡epj§q−L ®h¡T¡−hz 
(N) ¢nrLx ¢nrL hm−a Ef¡e¤−µRc (L) H h¢ZÑa ¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡epj§−q f¡Wc¡ela pLm ¢nrL−L ®h¡T¡−hz  
(Q) ®L¡¢Qwx ¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡−e AdÉuela ¢nr¡b£Ñ−cl ¢nr¡ L¡kÑH²j Qm¡L¡m£e ¢nr−Ll ¢edÑ¡¢la LÓ¡−pl h¡C−l h¡ 
Hl f§−hÑ Abh¡ f−l ¢nrL La«ÑL ¢nr¡ fË¢aù¡−el AiÉ¿¹−l/h¡C−l ®L¡e  Øq¡−e f¡Wc¡e Ll¡−L ®L¡¢Qw ®h¡T¡−hz 
(R)) −L¡¢Qw h¡¢ZSÉx Ef¡e¤−µRc (Q) Ae¤k¡u£ ¢h¢iæ S¡a£u/®~c¢eL/Øq¡e£u f¢œL¡u ¢h‘¢ç, ®f¡ØV¡l, ¢mg−mV, 
®gØV¤e, hÉ¡e¡l, ®cu¡m ¢mMe Abh¡ AeÉ −L¡e fËQ¡lZ¡l j¡dÉ−j j¤e¡g¡ ASÑ−el m−rÉ ¢nr¡b£Ñ i¢aÑl j¡dÉ−j 
®L¡¢Qw L¡kÑH²j f¢lQ¡me¡ Ll¡−L ®h¡T¡−hz 

            (Underlines supplied)  
 
28. It appears from the above quoted definitions that the teachers to whom this Nitimala 

will be applicable are the teachers who are imparting education in the ‘educational 

institutions’ mentioned under Article-1 (L). On the other hand, the institutions mentioned 
under Article-1 (L) are government/non-government Schools (lower secondary and 
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secondary), Colleges (higher Secondary, graduation and post graduation), Madrasah (Dakhil, 
Alim, Fazil, Kamil) and Technical Educational Institutions. At the same time, ‘Coaching’ 
means imparting education by teachers of the said institutions to the students of the said 
institutions during class time or beyond class time in the institutions or outside institutions. 
The definition of ‘Coaching Business’ as quoted above is very much important in that it only 
applies to sub-article (Cha), which means the involvement of the teachers of the above 
mentioned educational institutions has been defined as a mischief. Again, Article-2 has 
prohibited coaching by teachers except under certain circumstances mentioned therein. 
Article-3 has prohibited coaching of students of the said institutions by the teachers of the 
said institutions except that a teacher of an institution may indulge in coaching of ten students 
of some other institutions with the prior permission of the head of his/her institution. Article-
4 clearly prohibits the involvement of teachers of the above mentioned institutions, either 
directly or indirectly, in any coaching centers which are developed for coaching business. 
Article-9 has also prohibited any ‘coaching business’ upon renting any house in the name of 
coaching center.  

 
29. Therefore, since the very definition of the term ‘Coaching Business’ has only 

attracted the involvement teachers of the above mentioned institutions as a mischief, this 
Nitimala in fact has not prohibited the ‘coaching business’, or ‘coaching centers’, run by any 
individual in his or her private capacity who is not a teacher of the above mentioned 
institutions. This means involvement of an individual, who is not a teacher of the above 
mentioned institutions, in such coaching centers or business has not been prohibited by this 
Nitimala. Therefore, the prohibition, as provided by this Nitimala, only applies to the teachers 
of the above mentioned institutions and not to any individuals or private citizens or persons, 
who are not teachers of such educational institutions.  

 
30. Now, let us see whether the said Nitimala is sustainable in law. In doing so, let us first 

examine the relevant service laws applicable to the concerned teachers. The teachers in non-
government educational institutions are regulated by a delegated legislation issued by the 
concerned Board with prior approval of the government in exercise of the power of the Board 
under Section 39 of the Intermediate and Secondary Education Ordinance, 1961 (“the said 
Ordinance”). The said delegated legislation is titled ‘the Recognized Non-government 
Secondary School Teachers (Board of Intermediate and Secondary Education) Terms and 
Conditions of Service Regulations, 1979 (“in short, Regulation of 1979”). According to this 
Regulations of 1979, though the appointing authority of a teacher in non-government 
educational institutions is the concerned managing committee, the conduct of teachers of 
such institutions (schools and colleges) are somehow regulated by the Board or by the 
government through the Board. For example, any disciplinary proceedings initiated against a 
teacher of such institutions and punishment imposed on them are to be approved by the 
concerned Board through its Appeal and Arbitration Committee as constituted under section 
19 of the said Ordinance of 1961. Again, regulation 9 of the said Regulations of 1979 
provides as follows: 

9. hÉ¢J²Na ¢VEn¢e ¢e¢oÜ CaÉ¡¢cx ®L¡e f§ZÑL¡m£e ¢nrL ú¥−ml ü¡i¡¢hL L¡−Sl h¡C−l ¢e−u¡NL¡l£ LaÑªf−rl f§hÑ 
Ae¤−j¡ce hÉ¢a−l−L ®L¡e hÉ¢J²Na ¢VEne h¡ AeÉ ®L¡e ¢e−u¡N m¡i h¡ AeÉ ®L¡b¡J i¡a¡pq h¡ i¡a¡ hÉa£a ¢e−S−L 
¢e−u¡¢Sa Ll−a f¡l−he e¡z  

                                                             (Underlines supplied)  
 
31. Therefore, it appears from the above provisions under regulation 9 that a teacher in 

non-government educational institutions cannot engage himself/herself in any private tuition 
without prior approval of the governing body or managing committee. While the said 
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regulation has prohibited such private tuition by the teachers without prior approval of the 
governing body, it can be presumed that the legislatures even did not have in their mind that 
in near future the teachers of such schools or colleges would engage themselves in coaching 
business. Thus, when private tuition is prohibited by regulation 9 of the said Regulations of 
1979, involvement of teachers in coaching business is out of question. Therefore, it appears 
that, so far as the teachers of non-government schools and colleges are concerned, their 
service regulations, which is a delegated legislation having sanction of Parliament, clearly 
prohibits any such private tuition not to speak of their involvement in any coaching business 
as defined by the said Nitimala of 2012. 

 
 32. Now, the teachers of government schools and colleges. Some of the petitioners are 

admittedly serving in government schools and colleges. Thus, in view of the definition of the 
term ‘public servant’ as provided by Section 21 of the Penal Code, they are public servants or 
government servants. Therefore, their conducts and affairs are regulated by the provisions 
under the Government Servants (discipline and appeal) Rules, 1985 and the provisions of the 
Government Servants (Conduct) Rules, 1979, in addition to other Rules and Regulations as 
applicable to such government employees. The Government Servants (Conduct) Rules, 1979 
(in short, “Conduct Rules, 1979”) was framed by the Hon’ble President of Bangladesh in 
exercise of power conferred on him under Article 133 of the Constitution. Therefore, it 
cannot be said or argued that this Conduct Rules of 1979 does not have any sanction of 
parliament. Rather, it has sanction of the supreme law of the land, namely the Constitution. 
Rule 17 of the said Conduct Rules of 1979 provides as follows: 

“17. Private trade or employment–(1) Subject to the other provisions of this rule, no 

government servant shall, except with the previous sanction of Government, engage in 

any trade or undertake any employment or work, other than his official duties: 

Provided that a non-gazetteed Government servant may, without such sanction 

undertake a small enterprise which absorbs family labour and where he does so, he 

shall file details of the enterprise along with the declaration of assets.  

(2) A Government servant may undertake honorary work of a religious, social or 

charitable nature and occasional work of a literary or artistic character which 

includes publication of one or a few literary or artistic works, provided that his 

official duties do not suffer thereby; but the government may, at any time, forbid him 

to undertake or require him to abandon any employment which, in its opinion, is 

undesirable.  

(3) A Government servant shall not, without the previous sanction of the Government, 

permit any member of his family to engage in any trade in the area over which such 

Government servant has jurisdiction. 

(4) This rule shall not apply to sports activities and membership of recreation clubs.”    
 
33. It appears from the above quoted provisions under Rule 17 of the Conduct Rules of, 

1979 that no government servant may engage himself/herself in any trade or undertake any 
employment or work, other than his official duties, without previous sanction of the 
government. Though learned advocate Ms. Tania Amir has argued that the petitioner 
teachers, who are serving in government schools and colleges, have not employed themselves 
under any one, rather they are providing tuition on their own, we do not find any substance in 
such submissions inasmuch as that the said provisions under Rule 17 has even prohibited the 
government servant from undertaking any employment or work other than his/her official 
duties. Admittedly, the allegations against the petitioners are that they are engaged in 
coaching business. Now, if it is their case that they are not in fact engaged in coaching 
business and that they are providing private tuition with the prior approval of the head of the 
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institution, they may easily give such explanations in the departmental proceedings initiated 
or to be initiated against them. Under writ jurisdiction, we are not in a position to determine 
whether in fact they were involved in coaching business or not. Since the concerned authority 
has initiated proceedings against them on the said allegation that they are involved in 
coaching business, as has been found by Doduk in the enquiry, they can easily give such 
reply to the show cause notices that the allegations are not true.  

 
34. From the above discussions, it appears that even in the absence of the said Nitimala, 

the petitioners and other teachers of non-government and government schools and colleges 
are not allowed to engage themselves in any sort of coaching business. This prohibition has 
not been provided by the said Nitimala of 2012, rather this has been given by their concerned 
service Rules which are delegated legislations and applicable to them. When the petitioners, 
or other teachers of government and non-government schools and colleges, joined their 
services, they joined as such fully knowing that the said Service Rules would be applicable to 
them. Therefore, by the said Nitimala, the government has in fact supplemented the 
provisions which are already in the statute books and in doing so, the government does not 
need to show any other sanction of statute or Act of parliament. It is the part of the 
constitutional power of the government as executive to run the governance and in running 
such governance, it is the duty and obligation of the government to take steps for 
implementation of the laws and regulations time to time enacted by the parliament or by the 
delegatees of the parliament. Under such obligations, the governments in modern countries 
issue various Circulars, Paripatra, Nitimala etc. and this has now become essential and 
normal administrative technic in modern countries. The only limitation in issuing such 
Nitimala or Nirdeshika is that by such Nitimala or Nirdeshika, the government cannot curtail 
the rights of any citizen which is already granted in his/her favour either by the Constitution 
or by law or by any other legal instruments.  

 
35. The fundamental rights of citizens of this Country to do any lawful profession, 

occupation, trade or business is guaranteed by the Constitution only subject to restrictions 
imposed by law. Therefore, in the facts and circumstances of the present cases, the petitioners 
have failed to show that either the Constitution or any act of parliament or any delegated 
legislation of this Country has given them any right to get involved in coaching business. 
Rather, it has become evident from the above referred delegated legislations that in fact they 
have been prohibited by the law of the land from getting involved in coaching business. Thus, 
in so far as the said Nitimala is concerned, since the same has not curtailed any rights of the 
petitioners guaranteed either by the constitution or any law, it cannot be knocked down by 
this Court. Rather, it should be protected by this Court as it is the supplemental instrument to 
the already existing laws of the land. In this regard, the decisions of Indian Supreme Court in 

Bennett Coleman Co. v. Union of India, AIR 1973 SC 106, Bishamber Daval Chandra 

Mohan v State of UP, AIR 1982 SC -33 and Distt. Collector, Chittoor v Chittor Disttt. 

Groundnut Traders Assn, AIR 1989 SC 989 may be looked into as references. Therefore, 
on this point of unconstitutionality and unimplementablity of the said Nitimala of 2012, as 
argued by the learned advocates for the petitioners, we find no substance.  

 
36. Jurisdiction of Dudak: 

Another point raised by the petitioners in the above writ petitions is that the Durniti 
Daman Commission (Dudak) did not have any authority to conduct any enquiry, as has been 
done in the present case, regarding the alleged involvement of the petitioners and other 
teachers in the coaching business. In this regard, we need to examine the relevant provisions 
of the Durniti Daman Commission Act, 2004. The preamble of the Dudak Act, 2004 clearly 
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declares the intention of the Legislature as to why an independent body named ‘Durniti 
Daman Commission’ has been established. The said intention is to prevent act of corruption 
and to enquire and investigate such act of corruption. Therefore, since the key word in the 
entire Dudak Act, 2004 is the “corruption” (c¤e£Ñ¢a), we need to see how the said term 
‘Corruption’ has been defined by the Act itself.  

 
37. According to Clause (Uma) of Section 2 of the said Act, c¤e£Ñ¢a (corruption) means the 

offences mentioned in the schedule to the said Act. Section 17 of the said Act has described 
the functions of the Commission which, amongst others, provides that it is the functions of 
the Commission to enquire and investigate the offences mentioned in the schedule. Therefore, 
it appears that, the jurisdiction or authority of Dudak to initiate inquiry or investigation or to 
lodge a case depends on some specific offences and only on such offences which are 
mentioned in the schedule to the said Act. Thus, the Schedule to the said Act is quoted below 
for ready reference: 

 
ag¢pm 

[d¡l¡ 17(L) âøhÉ] 
 
(L) HC BC−el Ad£e Afl¡dpj§q; 
(M) The Prevention of Corruption Act, 1947 (Act II of 1947) Hl Ad£e n¡¢Ù¹−k¡NÉ Afl¡dpj§q; 
[(MM j¡¢emä¡¢lw fË¢a−l¡d BCe, 2002 (2002 p¡−ml 7 ew BCe)] 
(N) the Penal Code, 1860 (Act XLV of 1860) Hl Sections 161-169, 217, 218, 408, 409 and 
477A Hl Ad£e n¡¢Ù¹−k¡NÉ Afl¡dpj§qz 
(O) Ae¤−µRc (L) qC−a (N) ®a h¢ZÑa Afl¡dpj§−ql p¢qa pw¢nÔø h¡ pÇfªJ² the Penal Code, 1860 (Act XLV 
of 1860) Hl section 109 H h¢ZÑa pq¡ua¡pq AeÉ¡eÉ pq¡ua¡, H h¢ZÑa osk¿» Hhw section 120B H 
h¢ZÑa osk¿» Hhw section 511 H h¢ZÑa fË−Qø¡ Afl¡dpj§qz  
  
38. It appears from the above quoted Schedule that apart from some other offences, the 

offences punishable under Sections 161 to 169, 217, 218, 408, 409 and 477A of the Penal 
Code have been mentioned therein. Therefore, it can be concluded that Dudak also has 
jurisdiction to inquire into the offences mentioned in the said sections of the Penal Code. 
Though all the sections of the Penal Code as mentioned in the said Schedule are not relevant 
for our purpose, the provisions under Section 166 of the Penal Code is relevant. Therefore, 
the said provision as well as the illustration provided therein are quoted below:  

166. whoever, being a public servant, knowingly disobeys any direction of the law as 

to the way in which he is to conduct himself as such public servant, intending to 

cause, or knowing it to be likely that he will, by such disobedience, cause injury to 

any person, shall be punished with simple imprisonment for a term which may extend 

to one year, or with fine, or with both.  

Illustration 

A,  being an officer directed by law to take property in execution, in order to satisfy a 

decree pronounced in Z’s favour by a Court of Justice, knowingly disobeys that 

direction of law with the knowledge that he is likely thereby to cause injury to Z. A 

has committed the offence defined in this section.  

(Underlines supplied) 
 
39. It appears from the above quoted provision under Section 166 of Penal Code that it is 

an offence by a public servant if he knowingly disobeys any direction of law as to the way in 
which he is to conduct himself as such public servant either intending to cause or knowing it 
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to be likely that he will by such disobedience cause injury to any person, he shall be punished 
with simple imprisonment for a term which may extend to one year or with fine or with both.  

 
40. Now the question has arisen whether the petitioners, by their alleged involvement in 

the coaching business, have disobeyed the direction of law. The answer is given above 
already in that since their service rules clearly prohibit such engagement, they have in fact 
violated or disobeyed the direction of law as to the way in which they are supposed to 
conduct themselves. However, this provision is only applicable to the public servants, namely 
the petitioners who are teachers of government schools and colleges, and this provision does 
not apply to the teachers who are not government servants, namely the petitioner in W.P. No. 
2611 of 2018. The illustration given at the bottom of the said Section has also clarified one 
very important aspect in that the injury which is likely to cause to any person may be a civil 
injury as well.   

 
41. Therefore, it cannot be denied that when the teachers get involved themselves in 

coaching business, which is prohibited by law, they are disobeying the direction of law and 
they know it fully that such disobedience might cause injury to the students or their guardians 
in that by such engagement they are utilizing their resources, potentials  and capabilities in 
such coaching centers rather than using them in the class rooms. Therefore, this Court is of 
the view that, since this provision under Section 166 of the Penal Code has been incorporated 
in the Schedule to the Dudak Act, 2004, Dudak thinly had technical jurisdiction to enquire 
into the allegations as published in the news paper regarding the involvement of teachers in 
the coaching business. However, this thin and technical jurisdiction is only confined to the 
teachers of government colleges and schools and not to the teachers of non-government 
schools and colleges. Therefore, in so for as the petitioner in W.P. No. 2611 of 2018 is 
concerned, who is admittedly a teacher in non-government school and college, Dudak has in 
fact acted without jurisdiction in initiating enquiry in respect of her alleged involvement in 
the coaching business. However, it cannot be said that, she has not violated any law. But for 
such violation, it is the governing body of the institution which may initiate proceedings 
against her independently not being instructed by Dudak. Therefore, the proceedings or the 
actions proposed against the petitioner in the said W.P. No. 2611 of 2018, being proposed or 
taken pursuant to the said recommendation of the Dudak given on the basis of its 
unauthorized or unlawful enquiry, the same is liable to be declared to be without lawful 
authority. However, in so far as the petitioner-teachers in other writ petitions are concerned, 
since they are public servants or government servants, Dudak did have technical jurisdiction 
and authority to enquire into their alleged involvement in the coaching business as because by 
such involvement they have allegedly disobeyed the direction of law. Therefore, in so far as 
they are concerned, Dudak has technically committed no illegality in strict sense and, 
accordingly, the recommendations of Dudak as well as the actions proposed and taken against 
them pursuant to such recommendations do not suffer from any legal infirmity and, 
accordingly, the said actions should sustain in the eye of law. 

 
42. Though we are saying that technically Dudak had jurisdiction to enquire into the said 

matters, we are of the view that Dudak should have priority list as to which offences should 
get priority in their such enquiry and investigation when it is repeatedly reported in 
newspapers that Dudak does not have enough resources and logistic supports. We are of the 
view that leaving behind serious allegations of corruptions in National Banks, Customs 
Houses, Ports, Court Premises, Government Offices, Land Offices, etc. Dudak should not 
have inquired into the mere involvement of some teachers in coaching business relying on a 
newspaper report. When there are some other serious reports of corruption in the country, it 
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does not also look well when Dudak shows such importance to some basically disciplinary 
matters when teachers of government schools are not attending classes on time. These 
apparently disciplinary issues should be kept at the bottom of Dudak’s priority list in 
particular when almost each and every institution of this country is now suffering from huge 
corruption being committed by its employees and staffs. Though by engaging in coaching 
businesses the said teachers have disobeyed the direction of law, but it cannot be said that 
they have committed any ‘corruption’ as we understand the term in its general and common 
parlance. Therefore, we are of the view that, though thinly and technically Dudak had 
jurisdiction to enquire into the matters as published in the newspaper as regards involvement 
of the government teachers in coaching business, they should not have conducted such 
enquiry at all. Such enquires should have been done by the education directorate of the 
government or the concerned ministry itself. However, for the same technical reason, we 
cannot say that Dudak acted without jurisdiction.  

 
43. Accordingly, the order of this Court in the instant writ petitions are as follows:- 
 
Orders of the Court: 
1) The Rule in Writ Petition No. 7366 of 2011 has become infructuous and as such the 

same is discharged as being infructuous.      
2) Since we have found the said Nitimala of 2012 as a valid Nitimala being supplemental 

to the existing laws of the land, the Rule issued in Writ Petition No. 11230 of 2012 
and three other writ petitions, being Writ Petition Nos. 2611 of 2018, 2842 of 2018 
and 1954 of 2018, in so far as impugning the said Nitimala is concerned, are 
discharged.  

3) Since the petitioner in Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018 is admittedly a teacher of non-
government school and college, the Rule in that writ petition, in so far as the Memo 
dated 03.12.2017 (Annexure-B) issued by Dudak and other memos issued by the 
concerned authorities, in particular the Memo dated 04.02.2018 (Annexure-G) issued 
by the Secondary and Higher Secondary Department is concerned, is hereby declared 
to be without lawful authority and is of no legal effect as the same have been initiated 
on the basis of the said enquiry report of Dudak. Accordingly, no departmental 
proceedings pursuant to such report of Dudak or the subsequent memos emanating 
therefrom can be initiated against the petitioner in the said writ petition. Thus, the 
Rule in the Writ Petition No. 2611 of 2018 is made absolute-in-part. 

4) Since we have found the said Nitimala as valid Nitimala as well as the said enquiry 
report of Dudak being valid enquiry report in respect of the teachers of the 
Government colleges and schools, the Rules in Writ Petition Nos. 2842 of 2018 and 
1954 of 2018 are discharged. The petitioners in these writ petitions are at liberty to 
make out their cases as regards their non-involvement in coaching business, as 
submitted by their learned advocate before this Court, by way of reply to the show 
cause notices already issued or to be issued against them. 

 
44. At the end, we express our heart felt gratitudes to the learned Amici Curiae, Mr. A.F. 

Hassan Ariff and Mr. Fida M. Kamal, as their research and submissions have immensely 
helped us reach the conclusions above.  

 
45. Communicate this.        
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Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1958, Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012,Durnity 

Daman Commission, Corruption, The Code of Criminal Procedure; 
 

It may be mentioned that the names of the accused-petitioners are not mentioned in the 

FIR but the investigation officer after holding investigation having found prima facie 

case submitted charge-sheet against them. It may be noted that the money laundering 

offences are non-violent crimes which are usually committed in the commercial and 

financial institutions for financial gain. Sometimes it is very difficult to prosecute 

against the money laundering offenders because they resort to sophisticated means and 

techniques to conceal their activities through a series of complex transactions. In view of 

above situation, non-disclosure of the names of the accused-petitioners in the 161 

statements of the witnesses does not mean that they are not at all involved in the 

commission of money laundering offences. 
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Md. Nazrul Islam Talukder, J:  
 

1. On the applications under Section 10(1A) of the Criminal Law Amendment Act,1958, 

these Rules at the instance of the accused-petitioners were issued calling upon the opposite 

parties to show cause as to why order No.7 dated 21.03.2017 passed by the learned Special 

Judge (District Judge), Special Judge Court No. 9, Dhaka in Special Case No. 2 of 2017 

arising out of Metro Special Case No.16 of 2016 corresponding to Gulshan Police Station 

Case No. 24 dated 22.12.2014 and ACC GR No.1301 of 2014 framing charge against the 

accused-petitioners under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 

2012 now pending in the court of Special Judge, Court No. 9, Dhaka should not be set-aside 

and/or pass such other or further order or orders as to this court may seem fit and proper. 

         

2. Since both the Rules have been arisen out of the same F.I.R and the legal points 

involved in these Rules are all identical in nature, we have taken both the Rules together for 

hearing and disposal analogously and accordingly, both the Rules are disposed of in one 

consolidated judgment. 

         

3. The prosecution case for disposal of the Rules may be, briefly, stated as follows:- 

The Durnity Daman Commission  was requested by the Bangladesh Bank Financial 

Intelligence Unit (BFIU) to conduct an inquiry with regard to some financial 

transactions relating to predicate offences under serial Nos.(3) and (5) of Section 2(k) 

of the Money Laundering protirodh Ain, 2012. On inquiry, the Dudak found that on 

15.12.2011, the F.I.R named accused Nos. 1-3 applied to South East Bank Ltd, Progoti 

Sarani Branch, Dhaka to open a bank account in the name of Cross World Power Ltd 

introducing themselves as directors of the company. They provided copies of 

memorandum and articles of association, the incorporation certificate of the company, 

trade license, income certificate and national identity cards of the account holders and 

accordingly, a current account was opened. Later it was found that all the documents 

supplied by the accused persons were forged and fabricated. The F.I.R accused No.4 

identified the accused Nos.1-3 and signed the account opening form as identifier. On 

23.11.2013, one Md. Saiful Islam Khan, Finance Manager of Cross World Power Ltd. 

made a written complaint to the South East Bank, Progoti Sarani Branch that the F.I.R 

named accused No.2 Md. Shariful Islam Sharif, an employee of the company opened a 

false account with the aforesaid South East Bank branch in the name of Cross World 

Power Ltd. by creating forged documents and had been doing financial transactions in 

that account. The said Md. Shariful Islam collected cheques and bank drafts having 

issued in the name of Cross World Power Ltd from different companies and deposited 

those in the fake account opened in the name of the fake company and 

misappropriated the money. It has been further alleged in the F.I.R that in course of 

inquiry, it was revealed that the real Cross World Power Ltd. was established on 

08.03.2005 but by creating the fake account to misappropriate the money, the accused 

Nos.1-3 collected 57 cheques and pay orders having issued in the name of Cross 

World Power Ltd. and deposited those in the fake account and in such a way, the 

accused persons misappropriated Tk. 2,51,68,866.55. It is further alleged that the F.I.R 

named  accused No.2 Md. Shariful Islam Sharif transferred the said amount of money 

in 3 separate bank accounts and purchased a flat at Uttar Badda, Dhaka in his name at 

the cost of Tk. 50,10,573/-. It is stated in the F.I.R that the accused No. 5 Firoz Mollah 

was in-charge of collection and receipt of money coming from sale activities of the 

real Cross World Power Ltd. and the accused No. 2 Md. Shariful Islam who was 
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working under accused Firoz Mollah used to collect the cheques from the company’s 

customer, prepare collection statements and deposit the same to accused Firoz Mollah 

who after the occurrence quitted the job without any notice. Hence, the accused 

persons committed offences under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering 

Protirodh Ain, 2012. Accordingly, Gulshan police Case No.24 dated 22.11.2014 

corresponding to A.C.C. G.R No. 1301of 2014 under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the 

Money Laundering Protirodh Ain 2012 was started against the accused persons. 

Hence, the F.I.R. 

  

4. It is stated in the application that the investigating officer being appointed by the 

Durnity Daman Commission (hereinafter referred to as “Commission’’) during investigation 

of the case collected the prosecution materials, recorded the statements of the witnesses and 

after conclusion of investigation submitted memo of evidence before the Durnity Daman 

Commission. The Commission after perusal of memo of evidence gave sanction under 

Section 32 of the Anti-Corruption Commission Act, 2004 and after obtaining sanction, the 

investigating officer submitted charge-sheet along with sanction before the Chief 

Metropolitan Magistrate, Dhaka being charge-sheet No.236 dated 24.11.2015 under Sections 

4(2)/4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 against the accused-petitioners and 

others. 

       

5. After submission of charge-sheet along with sanction, the case record was transferred 

to the Court of Metropolitan Senior Special Judge, Dhaka who having received the case took 

cognizance against the accused-petitioners and others under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the 

Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 on 17.04.2016.  

  

6. Having taken the cognizance, the Metropolitan Senior Special Judge, Dhaka transferred 

the case record to the Court of Special Judge, Court No. 9, Dhaka and thereafter, the case was 

registered as Special Case No. 02 of 2017.  

  

7. The accused-petitioners filed separate applications under Section 241A of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure before the learned Special Judge, Court No. 9, Dhaka  for discharging 

them from the case but their applications were rejected by an order dated 21.03.2017 and the 

learned trial judge framed charge against the accused-petitioners and others under Sections 

4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 on the self-same date. The said 

charges were read over to the accused-petitioners to which they pleaded not guilty and 

claimed to be tried in accordance with law.  

          

8. The case is now ready for examination of witnesses and the accused-petitioners are 

now on bail. 

          

9. Being aggrieved by the order of framing of charge, the accused-petitioners filed two 

applications under Section 10(1A) of the Code of Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1958 

before this Court challenging the order of framing charge passed in Special Case No.2 of 

2017 arising out of Metro Special Case No.16 of 2016 corresponding to Gulshan Police 

Station Case No. 24 dated 22.12.2014 and ACC G.R. No.1301/2014 under Sections 4(2) and 

4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, now pending in the Court of Special 

Judge, Court No.9, Dhaka and  the aforesaid applications were heard on 29.03.2017 and 

16.05.2017 and learned Judges of the High Court Division after hearing the parties issued the 

Rules respectively and stayed the proceeding of the case so far as it relates to the accused-

petitioners. 
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10. Against the orders of the High Court Division passed in the above mentioned criminal 

revisions, the opposite party No.2 Durnity Daman Commission filed Criminal Petition for 

Leave to Appeal Nos. 531 and 543 of 2017 before the Hon’ble Appellate Division. On 

05.06.2017, the Hon’ble Judges of the Appellate Division after hearing the parties disposed 

of the Criminal Petition for Leave to Appeal Nos. 531 and 543 of 2017 directing the Rules 

issuing High Court Bench to hear and dispose of the Rules issued in Criminal Revision 

No.1256 of 2017 and Criminal Revision No. 778 on merit.  

        

11. At the instance of the Durnity Daman Commission, this Court fixed the Rules for 

hearing.  

         

12. Mr. Yousuf Hossain Humayun, the learned Advocate along with Mr. Md. Motiur 

Rahaman,the  learned Advocate appeared for accused-petitioners Mrs Dilruba Yasmin and 

Mrs. Ishrat Jahan and Mr. S.M Mobin, the learned Advocate with Mr. B.M Elias, learned 

Advocate appeared for accused-petitioner Mrs Mohua Ali.  

       

13. Mr. Md. Khurshed Alam Khan, the learned Advocate and Mr. Md. Omar Farook, the 

learned Advocate appeared for Durnity Daman Commission. 

        

14. At the very outset, Mr. Yusuf Hossain Khan, the learned Advocate appearing for the 

accused-petitioners namely Mrs. Dilruba Yeasmin and Mrs. Ishrat Jahan, submits that the 

names of the accused-petitioners were not mentioned in any of the statements of the 

witnesses recorded under Section 161 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. He next submits 

that the prosecution materials including the 161 statements of the witnesses neither disclose 

any offence nor indicate any circumstances from which it can be inferred that the accused-

petitioners are directly or indirectly involved in the commission of offences either as 

principle accused or as abettors or as conspirators. He then submits that the allegations 

brought against the accused-petitioners do not attract the ingredients of the offences under 

Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 and as such, since there 

is no iota of elements to frame charge against the accused-petitioners under the aforesaid 

sections of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, the charge so framed against the 

accused-petitioners is illegal and is liable to be set aside. He candidly submits that the 

allegations made in the charge-sheet against the accused-petitioners only relate to the alleged 

negligence in the performances of official duty and there is no allegation that they aided, 

abetted or conspired to commit the alleged offences and in the absence of such allegations, 

the accused-petitioners cannot be charged for the offence only for being negligent in 

performing their official duty, if any and as such, the charge so framed against the accused-

petitioners is illegal and is liable to be set aside. He vigorously submits that the accused-

petitioners have been made accused in the case on the basis of the principle of vicarious 

liability though the vicarious liability and/or superior responsibility do not constitute an 

offence for which the accused-petitioners have been charged with and that being so, the 

charge framed against the accused-petitioners is liable to be set aside. He lastly submits that 

the then branch Manager has neither been made an accused nor a witness in the case and for 

this reason also, the charge framed against the accused-petitioners is illegal and the same is 

liable to be set aside. 

        

15. Mr. S.M. Mobin, the learned Advocate appearing for this petitioner namely Mrs. 

Mohua Ali, submits that the allegation against the accused-petitioner is that she has facilitated 

the other accused in opening a bank account through which the other accused 
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misappropriated the fund of the company and if the allegation is taken to be true, the accused-

petitioner may be liable for abetment of misappropriation of  fund of the company and as 

such, the accused-petitioner under no circumstances can be made liable for the offence 

punishable under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 and 

therefore, the order of framing charge against the accused-petitioner under Sections 4(2) and 

4(3) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 is illegal and liable to be set aside. He 

next submits that in the instant case, the investigating officer was appointed by the letter 

dated 26.01.2015 and the charge-sheet was submitted on 24.11.2015 and prior to  submission 

of the charge-sheet, the Investigating Officer obtained sanction letter on 17.11.2015 but the 

Investigating Officer could not complete the investigation of the case  within (120+60)=180 

days as per mandate of Section 20A of the Anti-Corruption Commission Ain, 2004 amended 

by Act No.60 of 2013 violating Section 20A(3) of the Anti-Corruption Commission Ain, 

2004 amended by Act No.60 of 2013 which prescribes appointment of another Investigating 

Officer for completion of investigation within 90 days, but the investigating officer submitted 

charge-sheet on 24.11.2015 and the same being submitted beyond the period of limitation  is 

a nullity in the eye of law and shall be held to have been done without lawful authority in 

view of provision of Sub-section 3 of Section 20A  of the newly added provision by the Act, 

60 of 2013 and framing of charge on the basis of such charge-sheet is also illegal and liable to 

be set  aside.  He  lastly  submits that Ordinance No.2 of 2015 in respect of the Money  

Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 came into force on 11.10.2015 while the instant case was 

under investigation and by the provision of Section 2(L) of said Ordinance investigating 

agency has been changed and save and except the money  laundering offences relating to 

predicate offences  committed through corruption and bribery, other offences of money 

laundering relating to other predicate offences described in 2(k) have been taken away from 

the jurisdiction of Anti- Corruption Commission and from the moment the Ordinance No.02 

of 2015 came into force,  the jurisdiction  of Anti-Corruption Commission in holding 

investigation in the instant case has been ousted in view of enactment of Ordinance No.02 of 

2015 and it has been made  clear and expressed when the Act No.25 of 2016 amending the 

Anti-Corruption Commission Act, 2004 particularly it's schedule was made and therefore, the 

very investigation by the  Anti-Corruption Commission and submission of charge-sheet and 

subsequent orders of taking cognizance and framing charge are illegal and liable to be set 

aside.  

        

16. Per contra, Mr. Md. Khurshid Alam Khan, the learned Advocate along with Mr. Omar 

Farook, the learned Advocate appearing for the Durnity Daman Commission, submits that in 

spite of any amendment in the definition of  "Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v" made in section 2 (V) of the 

Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, the Commission is  not precluded from making 

inquiry and investigation  relating to the offences committed through  " ỳbx©wZ I Nyl under the 

Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 including this particular case besides other 

investigation agencies. He next submits that the provision of completion of investigation 

within the stipulated period is not mandatory in nature and as such, non submission of the 

report by the investigating  officer within the stipulated working days cannot be a ground for 

setting aside the order of framing charge, since no consequences have been provided 

regarding the proceedings pending before the trial court after submission of investigating 

report even after expiry of the stipulated period of investigation, and as such, it cannot be said 

that the time limit for investigation is mandatory in nature, rather the same can, at the best, be 

treated as a directory one and for this reason, the order of framing charge cannot be set aside. 

He further submits that the submissions made by the learned Advocate for the accused-

petitioners are totally mechanical, unspecific and vague in nature and as such, the order of 

framing charge against the accused-petitioners should not be set aside. He candidly submits 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Mrs. Mohua Ali Vs. The State & anr.       (Md. Nazrul Islam Talukder, J)  299 

 

 

that from the prosecution materials like F.I.R, seizure lists, 161 statements of the witnesses 

and the charge-sheet submitted by the Investigating Officer having obtained sanction from 

the Commission, it is crystal clear that there is sufficient prima-facie case to frame charge 

against the accused-petitioners under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering 

Protirodh Ain, 2012 and considering the aforesaid aspects of the case, the Rules are liable to 

be discharged.  

 

17. Mr. Gazi Md. Mamunur Rashid, learned Assistant Attorney-General appearing for the 

State, has adopted the submissions advanced by Mr. Khurshid Alam Khan, the learned 

Advocate for the Durnity Daman Commission and prayed for discharge of the Rules.  

 

18. We have gone through the revisional applications, the supplementary affidavits along 

with counter affidavits and the prosecution materials annexed therewith. We have also 

considered the submissions advanced by the learned Advocate for the respective parties. 

Upon hearing the submissions from the learned Advocates for the respective parties, we have 

formulated the following issues to be answered as raised by them during hearing of the Rules.  

 

19. First of all, we want to speak something about the money laundering matters 

particularly highlighting the nature of the money laundering offences and the consequences 

of the same on the society along with some thoughts and views with regard to tackling the 

offences since the present case has been arisen out of offences of money laundering which 

have been described in the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 as predicate offences 

which, amongst others, are much-talked-about issue in our country.  

 

20. Secondly, as per submissions of the learned Advocate for the accused-petitioners, we 

want to discuss whether the prosecution materials prima-facie disclose the alleged offences 

against the accused-petitioners under Sections 4(2) and 4(3) of the Money Laundering 

Protirodh Ain, 2012 . 

  

21. Thirdly, we want to come to a decision whether the Durnity Daman Commission has 

any locus standi to investigate the offences relating to money laundering after amendment of 

the Money Laundering  Protirodh Ain, 2012 amended by Act No.25 of 2015 following 

Ordinance No.2 dated 11.10.2015. 

 

22. Fourthly, the issue which has come to the light for decision is that if the investigation 

into the money laundering offences by the Investigating Officer is not concluded within 180 

days as contemplated in Section 20A of the Anti-Corruption Commission Ain,2004 as 

inserted and amended by Act No.60 of 2013, and the charge-sheet has been submitted beyond 

the period of limitation violating Section 20A(3) of the aforesaid Ain, what will be the 

consequence of taking cognizance and framing charge on the basis of such charge-sheet. 

 

23. Now we can take up the first issue for our discussion and decision. It may be 

mentioned that the present case brought against the accused-petitioner and others relates to 

predicate offences which are generally committed by 27 modes and means. The offences of 

money laundering perpetrated through corruption (`ybx©wZ) and bribery (Nyl) are all the schedule 

offences of the Anti-Corruption Commission Act, 2004. In "e¨envwiK evsjv Awfavb" published by 

"evsjv GKv‡Wgx" the word "`ybx©wZ" means bxwZwei“×, KzbxwZ, Am`vPib| According to WHARTON’S 

LAW LEXICON, the word corrupt does not necessarily include an element of bribe taking 

only, it is also used in a much larger sense denoting conduct which is morally unsound or 

debased which was decided in the case reported in AIR 1966 SC 523. According to Oxford 
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English Dictionary, the word 'corrupt' means- (of people) willing to use their power to do 

dishonest or illegal things in return for money or to get an advantage. The meaning of the 

word "corruption" is very wide and it has far reaching effect on our daily lives. The word 

corruption has a wide connotation and embraces all the spheres of our day-to-day life. In a 

limited sense, it connotes to decisions and actions of a person to be influenced not by rights 

or wrongs of a cause, but by the prospects of monetary gains or other selfish considerations 

which were settled in the case of State of A.P.V. Vasudeva Rao, (2004) 9 SCC 319 (323): 

AIR 2004 SC 960. The money laundering has been defined and described as predicate 

offence which is committed resorting to corruption and bribery.  

 

24. The definition of the money laundering offences has been defined in Section 2 (Fa) of 

the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, which runs as follows: 

(g) ""j¡¢emä¡¢lw'' AbÑ- 
    (A) ¢ejÀh¢ZÑa E−Ÿ−nÉ Afl¡−dl p¡−b pÇfªš² pÇf¢š ‘¡ap¡−l ÙÛ¡e¡¿¹l h¡ l¦f¡¿¹l h¡ qÙ¹¡¿¹lx 
     (1) Afl¡dmì B−ul A¯hd fÐL«¢a, Evp, AhÙÛ¡e, j¡¢mL¡e¡ J ¢eu¿»Z ®N¡fe h¡ RcÈ¡hªš Ll¡; Abh¡  
     (2) pÇfªš² Afl¡d pwNW−e S¢sa ®L¡e hÉ¢š²−L BCeNa  hÉhÙÛ¡ NËqZ qC−a lr¡l E−Ÿ−nÉ pq¡ua¡ Ll¡; 
    (A¡) °hd h¡ A¯hd Ef¡−u A¢SÑa AbÑ h¡ pÇf¢š ¢euj h¢qiÑ§ai¡−h ¢h−c−n f¡Q¡l Ll¡; 

(C) ‘¡ap¡−l Afl¡dmì B−ul A¯hd Evp ®N¡fe h¡ Bs¡m  L¢lh¡l E−Ÿ−nÉ Eq¡l qÙ¹¡¿¹l, ¢h−c−n ®fÐlZ h¡ 
¢h−cn  qC−a h¡wm¡−c−n ®fÐlZ h¡ Beue Ll¡; 

(D) ®L¡e B¢bÑL ®me−ce HCl¦fi¡−h pÇfæ Ll¡ h¡ pÇfæ L¢lh¡l ®Qø¡ Ll¡ k¡q¡−a HC BC−el Ad£e Eq¡ 
¢l−f¡VÑ L¢lh¡l fÐ−u¡Se qC−h e¡;  

(E) pÇfªš² Afl¡d pwOV−e fÐ−l¡¢Qa Ll¡ h¡ pq¡ua¡ L¢lh¡l A¢ifÐ¡−u ®L¡e °hd h¡ A¯hd pÇf¢šl l¦f¡¿¹l h¡ 
ÙÛ¡e¡¿¹l h¡ qÙ¹¡¿¹l Ll¡; 
        (F) pÇfªš² Afl¡d qC−a A¢SÑa S¡e¡ p−šÆJ HC dl−Zl pÇf¢š NËqZ, cM−m ®eJu¡ h¡ ®i¡N Ll¡;  
        (G) HCl¦f ®L¡e L¡kÑ Ll¡ k¡q¡l à¡l¡ Afl¡dmì B−ul  A¯hd Evp ®N¡fe h¡ Bs¡m Ll¡ qu;  
        (H) Ef−l h¢ZÑa ®k ®L¡e Afl¡d pwOV−e AwnNËqZ, pÇfªš²  b¡L¡, Afl¡d pwOV−e osk¿» Ll¡, pwOV−el 
fÐ−Qø¡ Abh¡  pq¡ua¡ Ll¡, fÐ−l¡¢Qa Ll¡ h¡ fl¡jnÑ fÐc¡e Ll¡; 
 
25. The suspicious transactions leading up to money laundering offences have been 

described in Section 2 (Ja) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, which runs as 

follows: 
(h) ÔÔm‡›`nRbK †jb‡`bÕÕ A_© GBl¦f †jb‡`b- 
 (1) hvnv ¯̂vfvweK †jb‡`‡bi aiY nB‡Z wfbœ; 
 (2) †hB †jb‡`b m¤ú‡K© GBl¦f aviYv nq †h,  
              (K) Bnv †Kvb Aciva nB‡Z AwR©Z m¤ú`, 
              (L) Bnv †Kvb mš¿vmx Kv‡h©, †Kvb mš¿vmx msMVb‡K ev  †Kvb mš¿vmx‡K A_©vqb; 
 (3) hvnv GB AvB‡bi D‡Ï‡k¨ c~iYK‡í, evsjv‡`k e¨vsK KZ„©K, mg‡q mg‡q, RvixK…Z wb‡`©kbvq ewY©Z Ab¨ †Kvb 

†jb‡`b ev †jb‡`‡bi cÖ‡Póv;  
 

26. The money laundering offences have been termed as predicate offences in Section 

2(k) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 which runs as follows: 
(1) `yb©xwZ I Nyl; 
(2) gy`ª RvjKib; 
(3)  `wjj `¯—v‡eR RvjKiY; 
(4) Puv`vevwR; 
(5)  cªZviYv ; 
(6) RvwjqvwZ; 
(7) A‰ea A‡ ¿̄i e¨emv; 
(8) A‰ea gv`K I †bkv RvZxq `ª‡e¨i e¨emv; 
(9) ‡PvivB I Ab¨vb¨ ª̀‡e¨i A‰ea e¨emv; 
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(10) AcniY, A‰eafv‡e AvUKvBqv ivLv I cYe›`x Kiv; 
(11) Lyb, gvivZ¥K kvixwiK ¶wZ; 
(12) bvix I wkï cvPvi; 
(13) ‡PvivKvievi; 
(14) ‡`kx I we‡`kx gy`ªv cvPvi; 
(15) Pzwi ev WvKvwZ ev `my¨Zv ev Rj`my¨Zv ev wegvb `my¨Zv; 
(16) gvbe cvPvi; 
(17) ‡hŠZzK; 
(18) ‡PvivPvjvbx I ïjK msG“vš— Aciva; 
(19) Ki msG“vš— Aciva; 
(20) ‡gav¯̂Z¡ jsNb; 
(21)  mš¿vm I mš¿vmx Kv‡h© A_© †hvMvb; 
(22) ‡fRvj ev ¯̂Z¡ jsNb K‡i cY¨ Drcv`b; 
(23) cwi‡ekMZ Aciva; 
(24) ‡hŠb wbcxob (Sexual Exploitation) ; 
(25) cyuwR evRvi m¤úwK©Z g~j¨ ms‡e`bkxj Z_¨ Rbmg¥y‡L cªKvwkZ nIqvi c~‡e© Zvnvi Kv‡R jvMvBqv 

†kqvi †jb‡`‡bi gva¨‡g evRvi myweav MªnY I e¨wI“MZ ev cªwZôvwbK myweavi j‡¶¨ evRvi wbqš¿‡Yi 
†Póv Kiv (Insider Trading & Market Manipulation); 

(26) msNe× Aciva (Organised Crime) ev msNe× Acivax `‡j AskMªnY; 
(27) fxwZ cª`k©‡bi gva¨‡g A_© Av`vq; Ges 
(28) GB AvB‡bi D‡Ïk¨ cyiYK‡í evsjv‡`k e¨vsK KZ…©K miKv‡ii Aby‡gv`bG“‡g †M‡R‡U cªÁvc‡bi 

gva¨‡g †NvwlZ Ab¨ †h †Kvb m¤ú„I“ Aciva; 
 

27. The money laundering offences are also termed as white collar crimes. Before coming 

to the conclusion in this matter, we want to describe the pattern and variety of the money 

laundering offences which are usually committed in national and trans-national level. The 

phrase "white-collar crime" was coined in 1939 during a speech given by Edwin Sutherland, 

an American sociologist and criminologist to the American Sociological Society. Sutherland 

defined the term as crime committed by a person of responsibility, respectability and high 

social status in the course of his occupation. Although there has been some debate as to what 

qualifies as a white-collar crime, the term today generally encompasses a variety of non-

violent crimes usually committed in commercial institutions for financial gain. Many white-

collar crimes are especially difficult to prosecute because the perpetrators use sophisticated 

means to conceal their activities through a series of complex transactions. The most common 

white-collar offences include:  anti-trust violations, computer and internet fraud, credit card 

fraud, phone and telemarketing fraud, bankruptcy fraud, healthcare fraud, environmental law 

violations like discharge of a toxic substance into the air, water and soil which pose 

significant threat of harm to people, property, or the environment including air pollution, 

water pollution, and illegal dumping, insurance fraud, mail fraud, government fraud, tax 

evasion, financial fraud, securities fraud, insider trading, bribery, kickbacks, counterfeiting, 

public corruption, money laundering, embezzlement, economic espionage and trade secret 

theft. "White collar crime" can describe a wide variety of crimes, but they all typically 

involve in crime committed through deceit and motivated by financial gain.  The most 

common white collar crimes are various types of fraud, embezzlement, tax evasion and 

money laundering. Many types of scams and frauds fall into the bucket of white collar 

crimes, including Ponzi schemes and securities fraud such as insider trading. More common 

crimes like insurance fraud and tax evasion also constitute white collar crimes. Many white 

collar crimes are frauds. Fraud is a general type of crime which generally involves deceiving 

someone for monetary gain. The money laundering are financial crimes which are committed 

and carried out by individuals, corporations or by organized crime groups for the purpose of 
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generating huge profits. In order to give colour of legitimacy, these profits are laundered by 

the criminals. Corrupt public officials launder their ill–gotten bribes and kick-backs to give 

them the colour of legitimacy. If the money laundering offences are unchecked, money-

laundering can destabilize the financial system and undermine development efforts in 

emerging markets. It weakens the social fabric and collective ethical standards. Money-

laundering can adversely affect economies by making interest and exchange rates more 

volatile changing the demand for cash and by causing inflation in economies where criminals 

are engaged in business. The siphoning away of huge volumes of money from normal 

economic growth poses a real danger to the economies and affects the stability of the national 

and global market. It empowers corruption and organized crime. Criminals always disguise 

the origin of investments out of the proceeds of crime. Money-laundering involves, at some 

point, a conversion process, with the objective to give the appearance that the money has a 

legitimate source, so that it raises no suspicions when it is finally turned into apparently 

legitimate wealth. 

 

28. The money laundering often involves a complex series of transactions but it generally 

includes the following three basic steps:  

1) Placement -It involves introduction of the proceeds of crime into the financial system. 

2) Clearing- This involves formation of complex layers of financial transactions which 

distance the illicit proceeds from their source and disguise the audit trail.  

3) Integration- This involves investment in the legitimate economy so that the money 

gets the colour of legitimacy. 

 

29. It may be noted that the concept of a "soft state" was famously articulated by the 

Nobel Laureate, Karl Gunnar Myrdal who was Swedish economist and sociologist and 

awarded the Nobel prize for Economics in 1974. Among the other books, he wrote a book 

under the name "An American Dilemma: The Negro problem and Modern Democracy" 

which kept huge influence in the landmark case of Brown v. Board of Education of Topeka 

in which the Supreme Court of United States declared State laws establishing separate public 

school for black and white students to be unconstitutional in 1954 and in an unanimous 

decision, it was decided that separate educational facilities are inherently unequal and 

violation of the equal protection clauses of the constitution of the United Stated of America 

overturning the previous rulings made in the cases of Plessy V. Ferguson (1896), Cumming 

V. Richmond County Board of Education (1899), Berea College V. Kentucky (1908). 

However, the term ‘soft state’ was introduced by Karl Gunnar Myrdal while comparing South 

Asian countries with European countries. According to him, South Asian countries follow the 

policy of ‘soft state’. The policy of ‘soft state’ means a lenient attitude of the State towards 

social deviance. The soft States do not take hard decisions, even if the situation demands. 

This soft state policy weakens the capacity of the State in enforcing rule of law. Not taking 

hard decision increases the crime rate, violence and corruption etc. The more soft the State is, 

the greater the likelihood is that there is an unholy nexus between the law maker, the law 

keeper, and the law breaker. Similarly, if the "greed is good" culture without restraint is 

nourished and appreciated at any stage of governance of the country, there is a huge chance 

of offences of money laundering including criminal breach of trust together with cheatings. 

From the discussions made above, we are of the view that the statutory predicate offences are 

quite different and distinct from the general offences, and they should be dealt with 

cautiously without leniency but of course in accordance with law.    

 

30. The second issue in this case is whether the prosecution materials disclose any 

offences against the accused-petitioners or not. In order to come to a decision in this matter, 
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we have gone through all the prosecution materials including the 161 statements of the 

witnesses recorded under Section 161 of the Code of Criminal Procedure.  It may be 

mentioned that the names of the accused-petitioners are not mentioned in the FIR but the 

investigation officer after holding investigation having found prima facie case submitted 

charge-sheet against them. It may be noted that the money laundering offences are non-

violent crimes which are usually committed in the commercial and financial institutions for 

financial gain. Sometimes it is very difficult to prosecute against the money laundering 

offenders because they resort to sophisticated means and techniques to conceal their activities 

through a series of complex transactions. In view of above situation, non-disclosure of the 

names of the accused-petitioners in the 161 statements of the witnesses does not mean that 

they are not at all involved in the commission of money laundering offences. Sometimes the 

offenders at the time of committing offences kept their footages or footsteps at the place of 

occurrence which may be evident and inferred from the facts and circumstances of the case as 

well as from the conducts and behaviors of the perpetrators. It appears from the charge-sheet 

that the investigating officer during investigation of the case collected so many papers and 

documents from the South East Bank from which it is evident that the accused-petitioner 

Mrs. Mohua Ali at the relevant time of occurrence had been working and serving as S.A.V.P 

and Manager-In-Operation in that branch of the Bank. From examining the papers and 

documents, it is noticed that the accused-petitioner Mahua Ali assisted the accused-persons to 

open the fake account by using her I.D without examining the papers and documents 

submitted by the accused persons. Apart from this, as from 15.12.2011 to 20.10.2013, the 

accused persons deposited and withdrew Tk. 31,71,472 using 12 cheque/pay orders, which 

were contrary to the banking laws and rules for the accused-petitioner Mrs. Mahua Ali was 

dismissed from service as she had been in lacking of supervision of the aforesaid matters. 

Accordingly, a prima-facie case has been disclosed against this accused-petitioner, which is 

required to be resolved on taking evidence by the trial Judge, whether this accused-petitioner 

was involved in the commission of  money laundering offences or not.  

 

31. Going through the charge-sheet, we find that the accused-petitioner Mrs. Dilruba 

Yeasmin was serving as senior officer in the Bank in question when the occurrence occurred. 

Having opened the fake bank account, this accused-petitioner sent the letter of thanks to the 

account holders by hand to hand method though she was supposed to deliver the letter of 

thanks to the customers either by currier service or through post office. It is alleged against 

her that she did not send the letter of thanks to the customers by currier service or through 

post office so that the fake addresses of the fake customers could not be traced out or come 

out to the notice of the other officers of the Bank. During investigation, the investigating 

officer came to know from the letter sending register that the letter of thanks was signed on 

21.12.2011 but the same was shown to have sent to the account holders on 20.12.2011 and 

received by the account holders on the self same date, which are evident from serial Nos. 297 

and 297/A of the concerned register, which appears to be absurd and unacceptable. The 

investigating officer found so many illegalities and irregularities which have been 

categorically described and disclosed in the charge-sheet. It is prima-facie apparent from the 

prosecution materials that the accused persons in connivance with the accused-petitioner 

opened the fake bank account and thereby, misappropriated an amount of Tk. 

2,51,68,866,55/- which being suspicious transaction  falls within the purview of money 

laundering offences as per mandate of the Money Laundering protirodh Ain, 2012. 

 

32. The accused-petitioner Mrs. Ishrat Jahan was also an officer of the Bank, who was in 

charge of Bank clearing branch from 17.10.2011 to 24.10.2013 i.e at the relevant time of 

occurrence. What is found from the prosecution materials is that she was not in charge of 
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account opening affairs of the Bank but she in the absence of senior officer Mrs. Dilruba 

Yeasmin put her signature on the form for opening bank account as identifier, which was not 

business of the accused-petitioners. However, it is found from the prosecution materials that 

the accused persons in collaboration with the accused-petitioner opened fake account and 

misappropriated Tk. 31,71,472/- by withdrawing the same through fake account.  

 

33. It is worthwhile to mention that the money laundering is a financial crime which are 

committed and carried out by individuals, corporations or by organized crime groups for the 

purpose of gaining unlawful financial profits. As regards setting aside of the order of framing 

charge, one of the grounds taken by the learned Advocates for the accused-petitioners is that 

the names of the accused-petitioners are not mentioned either in the F.I.R or in the 161 

statements of the witnesses recorded by the investigating officer. But we find that the 

prosecution materials collected by the Investigating Officer have disclosed prima-facie case 

against the accused-petitioners and others. 

 

34. Under the circumstances, we are of the view that non-implication of the accused-

petitioners in the F.I.R as well as non-mentioning of the names of the accused-petitioners in 

the 161 statements are not satisfactory grounds for setting the order of framing charge when 

the prosecution materials collected by the Investigating Officer during investigation of the 

case disclose prima-facie offences against the accused-petitioners. The allegations and 

involvements of the accused-petitioners so found during commission of money laundering 

offences are all disputed questions of fact which are required to be resolved or looked into on 

taking evidence by the learned trial Judge. Accordingly, we do not find any legal grounds to 

interfere with the order of taking cognizance and framing charge. 

   

35. Now we want to come to a decision, whether the Durnity Daman Commission has any 

locus standi to investigate the offences relating to money laundering after amendment of the 

Money Laundering  Protirodh Ain, 2012 by Act No. 25 of 2015 dated 26.11.2015 following 

Ordinance No. 2 dated 11.10.2015. 

 

36. It is known to us that the Durnity Damon Commission Ain, 2004 (Act No. 5 of 2004) 

came into force on 23.02.2004, wherein all the offences of the Prevention of corruption Act, 

1947 including some Penal offences were the schedule offences of Anti-Corruption 

Commission Act, 2004. In that schedule of the Ain, the offences of money laundering were 

not incorporated for investigation by the Durnity Damon Commission. Subsequently, the 

Durnity Damon Commission Ain was amended by Act No. 60 which came into force on 

20.11.2013 and included all the offences of money laundering in the schedule of the Anti-

Corruption Commission Ain. Accordingly, the offences of money laundering have been 

incorporated in the schedule of the Durnity Damon Commission Ain by Act No. 60 of 2013, 

which amongst others runs as follows:- 
(N) gvwb jÛvwis cÖwZ‡iva AvBb, 2012 (2012 m‡bi 5 bs AvBb) Gi Aaxb kvw¯—‡hvM¨ Acivamg~n; 
 

37. It is argued by the learned Advocates for the accused-petitioners that the Money 

Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 was amended by ordinance No. 2 of 2015 which came into 

force on 11.10.2015 giving power and authority to the police by Section 2(V) of the Money 

Laundering Protirodh Ain to investigate the offences of money laundering excluding the 

power and authority of the Anti-Corruption Commission to investigate the offences of money 

laundering. The aforesaid Ordinance became Act by Act No. 25 of 2015 which came into 

effect on and from 26.11.2015. Accordingly, for investigation into some other predicate 

offences eligible for investigation, the power and authority of the police in conducting 
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investigation into some eligible predicate offences has been vested in Criminal Investigation 

Department by way of amendment in Section 2(V) of the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain 

by Ordinance No. 2 of 2015 as well as by Act No. 25 of 2015 which runs as follows:- (L) `dv 
(V) Gi cwie‡Z© wbæi“c `dv (V) cÖwZ ’̄vwcZ, hvnv:- 

(V) "Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v" A_© GB AvB‡bi Ab¨ †Kvb weavb wfbœi“c †Kvb wKQy bv _vwK‡j-(A) `dv (k) G ewb©Z, 
m¤ú„³ AcivaÕ Z`‡š—i Rb¨ mswkó AvB‡b ¶gZvcÖvß Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v: 
Z‡e kZ© _v‡K †h, †h mKj  m¤ú„³ Aciva evsjv‡`k cywjk KZ„©K Z`š—‡hvM¨ Zvnv evsjv‡`k cywj‡ki Aciva 
Z`š— wefvM (Criminal Investigation Department) KZ„©K Z`š— Kwi‡Z nB‡e; 
(Av) miKv‡i mwnZ civgk©µ‡g evsjv‡`k dvBb¨vw›mqvj B‡›Uwj‡R›m BDwbU KZ„©K ¶gZvcÖvß Dc-`dv (A) G 
D‡j-wLZ GK ev GKvwa Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v;ÕÕ 
Prior to the said amendment the "Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v" was defined in the following manner: 
(V) "Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v" A_© `ybx©wZ `gb Kwgkb AvBb, 2004 (2004 m‡bi 5 bs AvBb) Gi Aaxb MwVZ `ybx©wZ 
`gb Kwgkb; Ges Kwgk‡bi wbKU nB‡Z Z`‡š—i  D‡Ïk¨ ¶gZvcÖvß Kwgk‡bi †Kvb Kg©KZ©v ev Ab¨ AvB‡b hvnv 
wKQyB _vKzK bv †Kb, Ab¨ †Kvb Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄vi Kg©KZ©v I Bnvi Aš—fy©³ nB‡eb;  
 

38. In the view of the above, as per submission of the learned Advocates for the accused-

petitioners, the investigating report dated 24.11.2015 submitted by the Anti-Corruption 

Commission after amendment of Money Laundering Protirodh Ain by Ordinance No. 2 dated 

11.10.2015 is illegal and not valid in the eye of law and the order of framing charge on the 

basis of the aforesaid charge-sheet is not maintainable and liable to be set aside. Now it is 

abundantly clear that before the amendment of the Anti-Corruption Act, 2004 made in 2016 

by Act of 25 of 2016, the Commission had the exclusive jurisdiction to investigate all the 

predicate offences under the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, but after the amendment of 

the Anti-Corruption Commission Ain by Act No. 25 of 2016, the Anti-Corruption 

Commission has been empowered to investigate the following predicate offences alongwith 

other offences:-  
(K)............... 
(L) (Av) section 420, 467, 468, 471 Ges 477A Gi Aaxb †Kvb Aciva miKvwi m¤ú` m¤úwK©Z nB‡j A_ev 
miKvwi Kg©Pvix ev e¨vs‡Ki Kg©KZ©v-Kg©Pvix ev Avw_©K cÖwZôv‡bi Kg©KZ©v-Kg©Pvix KZ©„K `vßwiK `vwqZ¡ (official 

duty) cvjbKv‡j msNwUZ nB‡j †Kej †mB‡¶‡Î ewY©Z Acivamg~n; 
(M)........... 
  (N) gvwbjÛvwis cÖwZ‡iva AvBb 2012 (2012 m‡bi 5 bs AvBb) Gi Aaxb Nyl I ỳb©xwZ msµvš— Acivamg~n|ÕÕ 
 

39. The word "`ybx©wZ" has been defined in the Anti-Corruption Act, 2004 in the following 

manner: 

2 (O) ỳbx©wZ A_© GB AvB‡bi  Zdwm‡j D‡j-wLZ Acivamg~nÕÕ 
  

40. Anyway, in the Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012, there is no definition of the 

word "`ybx©wZ" but  the Commission has been given power to investigate the offences relating 

to- "Nyl I `ybx©wZ msµvš— Aciva mg~n"- under the  Money Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012. 

 

41. As per submission of Mr. Khan, the Commission is entitled to submit charge-sheet in 

this particular case and in any cases/offences wherein there is a smell of "Nyl I ỳbx©wZ" in spite 

of the above amendment of the law.  

 

42. In order to come to a decision in this regard, let us see and examine the Jurisdiction, 

aim and object of the Anti-Corruption Commission that have been mentioned in Section 17 of 

the Anti-Corruption Commission Act, 2004, which run as follows: 
17| Kwgk‡bi Kvh©vewj| Kwgkb wbæewb©Z mKj ev †h ‡Kvb Kvh©m¤úv`b Kwi‡Z cvwi‡e, h_v; 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Mrs. Mohua Ali Vs. The State & anr.       (Md. Nazrul Islam Talukder, J)  306 

 

 

(K) Zdwm‡j D‡j-wLZ Acivamg~‡ni AbymÜvb I Z`š— cwiPvjbv; 
(L) Aby‡”Q` (K) Gi Aaxb AbymÜvb I Z`š— cwiPvjbvi wfwË‡Z GB AvB‡bi Aaxb gvgjv `v‡qi I cwiPvjbv; 
(M) `ybx©wZ m¤úwK©Z †Kvb Awf‡hvM ¯̂D‡`¨v‡M ev ¶wZMÖ ’̄ e¨w³ ev Zvnvi c‡¶ Ab¨ †Kvb e¨w³ KZ©„K `vwLjK…Z 
Av‡e`‡bi wfwË‡Z AbymÜvb; 
(N) ỳb©xwZ `gb wel‡q AvBb Øviv Kwgkb‡K Awc©Z †h †Kvb `vwqZ¡ cvjb Kiv; 
(O) `ybx©wZ cªwZ‡iv‡ai Rb¨ ‡Kvb AvB‡bi Aaxb ¯̂xK„Z e¨e ’̄vw` ch©v‡jvPbv Ges Kvh©Ki ev¯—evq‡bi Rb¨ ivó«cwZi 
wbKU  mycvwik †ck Kiv; 
(P) `ybx©wZ cÖwZ‡iv‡ai welq M‡elbv, cwiKíbv ˆZwi Kiv Ges M‡elbvjã djvd‡ji wfwË‡Z Kibxq m¤ú‡K© 
ivó«cwZi wbKU mycvwik †ck Kiv; 
(Q) ỳb©xwZ cÖwZ‡iv‡ai j‡¶¨ mZZv I wbôv‡eva m„wó Kiv Ges `yb©xwZi wei“‡× Mb‡PZbZv Mwoqv †Zvjvi e¨e ’̄v 
Kiv; 
(R) Kwgk‡bi Kvh©vewj ev `vwq‡Z¡i g‡a¨ c‡o Ggb mKj wel‡qi Dci †mwgbvi, wm‡¤úvwRqvg, Kg©kvjv BZ¨vw` 
Abyôv‡bi e¨e ’̄v Kiv; 
(S) Av_©-mvgvwRK Ae ’̄vi †cÖw¶‡Z evsjv‡`‡k we`¨gvb wewfbœ cÖKvi `ybx©wZi Drm wPwýZ Kiv Ges Z`vbymv‡i 
cÖ‡qvRbxq e¨e ’̄v MÖn‡bi Rb¨ ivó«cwZi  wbKU mycvwik †ck Kiv; 
(T) `yb©xwZi AbymÜvb, Z`š—, gvgjv `v‡qi Ges D³i“c AbymÜvb, Z`š— I gvgjv `v‡q‡ii †¶‡Î Kwgk‡bi  
Aby‡gv`b c×wZ wba©vib Kiv, Ges 
(U) ỳbx©wZ cÖwZ‡iv‡ai Rb¨ cÖ‡qvRbxq we‡ewPZ Ab¨ †h †Kvb Kvh© m¤úv`b Kiv|ÕÕ 
  

43. If we consider the above aims and objects of the Anti-Corruption commission as  

contemplated in Section 17 particularly in Sections 17(ga), 17(jha), 17(aaw) and 17(ta) of the 

Anti-Corruption Act, 2004, we have no hesitation to hold that to prevent " ỳbx©wZ" (corruption), 

the Commission has got the unfettered power to make any enquiry, investigation and to take 

necessary actions/steps in accordance with law as it thinks fit and proper in respect of any 

offences relating to " ỳbx©wZ", no matter whether the offence is investigatory by the police or by 

other investigating agencies.  

 

44. The word corruption does not necessarily include an element of bribe taking only, it is 

also used in a much larger sense denoting conduct which is morally unsound or debased. The 

word corruption has a wide connotation and embraces almost all the spheres of our day to day 

life affairs. It connotes to decisions and actions of a person to be influenced not by rights or 

wrongs of a cause but by the prospects of monetary gains or other selfish considerations. 

Hence, the meaning of the word " ỳbx©wZ" (corruption) is very wide and it has far reaching 

effects on our daily lives. 

  

45. Having considered the above facts and circumstances of the case, we are constrained 

to hold that whatever amendment is made in the definition of ''Z`š—Kvix ms ’̄v'' in the Money 

Laundering Protirodh Ain, 2012 by Ordinance No. 2 of 2015 and Act No. 25 of 2015, the 

Commission is not precluded from making inquiry and investigation in this particular case 

and in the matter of any offences relating to " ỳbx©wZ" under the Money Laundering Protirodh 

Ain, 2012 besides other investigating agencies." 

         

46. The last issue that has been raised by the learned Advocates for the accused-

petitioners is that the investigating officer could not submit charge-sheet within 180 days as 

per Section 20A of the Anti-Corruption Commission Ain, 2004 as amended by Act No.60 of 

2013 and thereafter, he submitted the charge-sheet beyond the period of limitation violating 

Section 20A sub Section 3 of the aforesaid Ain. Under the circumstances what will be the 

legal consequence of taking cognizance and framing charge on basis of such charge-sheet as 

mentioned above. As per submission of the learned Advocates for the accused-petitioners, 
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both the orders taking cognizance and framing charge will be set aside as those are not taken 

and framed on the basis of lawfully submitted charge-sheet. In order to come a decision, we 

have gone through Section 20K of the Durnity Damon Commission Ain, 2004 amended in 

2013 which runs as follow:- 
ÔÔ20K| Z`‡š—i mgqmxvg|-(1) Ab¨ †Kvb AvB‡b hvnv wKQyB _vKzK bv †Kb, aviv 20 Gi Aaxb ¶gZv cÖvwßi 
ZvwiL nB‡Z AbwaK 120 (GKkZ wek) Kg©w`e‡mi g‡a¨ Z`š—Kvix Kg©KZ©v‡K GB AvBb I Zdwm‡j Dwj-wLZ 
†Kvb Aciv‡ai Z`š— Kvh© m¤úbœ Kwi‡Z nB‡e| 
(2) Dc-aviv (1) G hvnv wKQyB _vKzK bv †Kb, †Kvb hyw³m½Z Kvi‡Y, D³ Dc-avivq Dwj-wLZ mgqmxgvi g‡a¨ 
Z`š— Kvh© m¤úbœ Kiv m¤¢eci bv nB‡j Z`š—Kvix Kg©KZ©v mgqmxgv e„w×i Rb¨ Kwgk‡bi wbKU Av‡e`b Kwi‡Z 
cvwi‡eb Ges D³ †¶‡Î Kwgkb AviI AbwaK 60 (lvU) Kg©w`em mgq e„w× Kwi‡Z cvwi‡e| 
(3) Z`š—Kvix Kg©KZ©v Dc-aviv (1) ev, †¶ÎgZ, (2) G Dwj-wLZ mgqmxgvi g‡a¨ Z`š— Kvh© m¤úbœ Kwi‡Z e¨_© 
nB‡j,- 
(K) D³ Z`š— Kvh© 90 (beŸB) Kg©w`e‡mi g‡a¨ mgvwßi Rb¨ b~Zbfv‡e Ab¨ †Kvb Kg©KZ©v‡K, aviv 20 Gi weavb 
Abymv‡i, ¶gZv Ac©Y Kwi‡Z nB‡e; Ges 
(L) mswk-ó Kg©KZ©vi wei“‡× A`¶Zvi Awf‡hv‡M, †¶ÎgZ, Kwgkb, cywjk ev mswk-ó ms ’̄vi Rb¨ cÖ‡hvR¨ AvBb 
ev wewa-weavb Abyhvqx wefvMxq e¨e ’̄v MÖnY Kwi‡Z nB‡e|ÕÕ 
 

47. Going through the above provision of law, we find that the investigating officer is 

lawfully obliged to submit charge-sheet within 180 working days from the date of receipt of 

the letter empowering him to investigate the matter. In this matter, the accused-petitioners did 

not submit any chart showing off the working days in that the investigating officer submitted 

the charge-sheet. The accused-petitioner also did not make any statement as to when the 

investigating officer submitted the memo of evidence before the commission for its perusal 

and consideration. It is true that the investigation officer submitted charge-sheet before the 

concerned court on 24.11.2015 having received sanction on 17.11.2015. In this respect, the 

Durnity Daman Commission relied upon the case of Anti-Corruption Commission vs. AAM 

Habibur Rahman reported in 67 DLR (AD) 278 in which it has been held by the Appellate 

Division that the provision of completion of investigation within the stipulated period is not 

mandatory in nature and as such, non-submission of the report by the investigating agency 

within the stipulated working days cannot be a ground for quashing the proceedings, since no 

consequences have been provided regarding the proceedings. Under the circumstances, it 

cannot be said that the time-frame for investigation is mandatory rather it can, at the best, be 

treated as directory. The aforesaid view finds support in the case of SM Mozammel Hoque 

Talukder @ Shahjahan Talukder @ Shahjahan and others vs. the State reported in 68 DLR 

(AD)(2016) 370. 

 

48. Before parting with the case, in view of the seized documents, charge-sheet, order of 

framing charge by the trial Judge, it is palpably clear that the accused-petitioners signed some 

documents, but their alleged bonafides in the matter of signed documents are the matter of 

evidence and trial and that cannot be gone into these criminal revisions under Section 10(1A) 

of the Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1958. On the face of the averments made in the 

charge-sheet over the accused-petitioners’ involvement, prima-facie criminal liability is 

apparent on the face of the record. Now it is settled proposition of law that question of 'mens 

rea' of an accused cannot be gone into a criminal revision under section 10(1A) of the 

Criminal Law Amendment Act, 1958. It is essentially a matter of evidence and trial. Their 

alleged bonafides can only be looked into and resolved during the trial of the case. At this 

stage, the accused-petitioners cannot presuppose their bonafides or innocence. In coming to a 

decision in this matter, we have taken into consideration of the decisions taken in the cases of 

Abdul Kader Chowdhury Vs State, 28 DLR(AD)38 and Ali Akkas Vs Enayet Hossain, 17 

BLD(AD)(1997)44.  
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49. Accordingly, we are of the view that the charge framed against the accused-

petitioners and others is not groundless. 

 

50. Considering the facts and circumstances of the case, the proposition of law and the 

legal decisions discussed above, we are not inclined to set aside the order of framing charge 

by making the Rules absolute. 

 

51. Consequently, both the Rules issued at the instance of the accused-petitioners are 

discharged.  

 

52. The orders of the stay of the proceedings passed at the time of issuance of the Rules 

are recalled and vacated. 

 

53. The learned Judge of the trial court is directed to proceed with the case in accordance 

with law. 

 

54. Let a copy of this judgment and order be communicated to the concerned Judge of the 

Special Court at once.   

                               

 



12 SCOB [2019] HCD  Md. Nasir Mia Vs. The State   (MD. SHOHROWARDI, J)             309 

12 SCOB [2019] HCD 

 

HIGH COURT DIVISION 

 

(CRIMINAL MISCELLANEOUS JURISDICTION) 

 

CRIMINAL MISCELLANEOUS CASE 

NO.3949 OF 2013. 

 

Md. Nasir Mia 

…….. Convict-petitioner. 

-Versus- 

The State. 

……… Opposite party 

 

Mr. Jhangir Ahmed Khan, Advocate 

………...For the convict-petitioner. 

 

Mr. Monjur Kader, D.A.G. with 

Ms. Helana Begum(Chaina), A.A.G. and 

Mr. Mohammed Akhter Hossain, A.A.G, 

......For the opposite party(State). 

 

Heard on 13.03.2018, 

20.03.2018,28.03.2018, 

10.04.2018, 10.5.2018 and 17.05.2018. 

Judgment delivered on 29.05.2018.   

 

 

       

PRESENT:  

MR. JUSTICE MD. EMDADUL HUQ  

AND 

MR. JUSTICE MD. SHOHROWARDI 

 

Application of Section 561A of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898.  

On a careful reading of the provision of section 561A of the Code of Criminal Procedure 

it is found that  by inserting  section  561A in the Code the legislature  did not  confer 

any new power to the Court  to bypass or override any  other statutory provision and 

this Court is not legally authorized to assess the evidence like an appellate court. On 

perusal of the evidence if this Court finds that there is no legal evidence to connect the 

convict with the charge framed against him then this Court to secure the ends of justice 

is competent to quash the judgment  and order of conviction  and sentence passed by the  

trial Court. If there is sufficient evidence against the convict it would not be just and 

proper to exercise its jurisdiction to quash the judgment and order of conviction and 

sentence passed by the trial Court.                 ... (Para 19) 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

MD. SHOHROWARDI  J: 

  

1. Upon an application filed by the convict petitioner under section 561A of   the Code of 

Criminal Procedure, 1898 a Rule was issued by this Court on 29.01.2013 for quashing the 

judgment and order of conviction and sentence dated  18.09.2011 passed by the Special  

Tribunal No.2, Brahmanbaria in Special  Tribunal  Case No. 175 of 2005 arising out of 

Brahmanbaria Police Station Case No. 19(08))05 convicting the petitioner  under section  

19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878 and sentencing him to suffer  rigorous imprisonment for 

14((fourteen) years. 

 

2. The prosecution case, in short, is that convict Md. Nasir Mia was in custody in 

connection with Brahmanbaria Police Station Case  No. 22 dated 13.06.2005 under section  
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392 of the Penal  Code was taken on police remand and he had given some information about 

possession of illegal arms which was used at the time of the alleged robbery. Thereafter on 

the basis of GD No.530 dated 09.08.2005, S.I. Ranjit Mojumder of Brahmanbaria  Thana 

along with police force and convict Md. Nasir Mia went to his house purchased in the name 

of his wife Nazma Begum and in presence of the local witnesses and Chowkider recovered 

one U.S. made revolver and two cartridges kept under the bedding of Chowki of his east 

facing tin-shed dwelling hut and the convict Md. Nasir Mia failed to show any valid license 

for keeping the said arms in his possession. Thereafter, the S.I. Ranjit Majumder lodged the 

F.I.R.   

 

3. S.I.  Md. Jashimuddin was appointed as Investigating Officer and after completing 

investigation he submitted the police report on 22.08.2005 against the convict petitioner 

under section 19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878. After that, the learned Magistrate sent 

the case records to the Special Tribunal No.1, Brahmanbaria for trial who by the order dated 

19.07.2006 transferred the case to the Special Tribunal No.2, Brahmanbaria for disposal of 

the case. During the trial, the charge was framed under section 19A and 19(f) of the Arms 

Act, 1878 by order dated 29.08.2006 against the convict petitioner which was read over in his 

presence and he pleaded not guilty and claimed to be tried.  

 

4. During the trial, the prosecution examined  9(nine) P.Ws and they were also cross-

examined by the convict petitioner. Pending trial, the convict petitioner was enlarged on bail 

by the Hon’ble High Court Division and thereafter on 08.09.2009  he absconded. On 

20.05.2010 an  Advocate  was  appointed by the legal aid  committee  to conduct the case on  

behalf of convict petitioner. 

 

5. Out of 9(nine) witnesses examined by the prosecution, P.W.1  SI. Ranjit Mojumder is 

the informant, P.W.2 Md.   Abdul Hai, P.W.3  Taleb Ali Bhuiyan, P.W.4 Abdul Hannan and 

P.W.5 Abu Taher are the seizure list witnesses. P.W. 6 Ajit Kumar Sarkar and P.W. 7 Md. 

Imtiaz Ahmed are police personnel and members of the raiding party. P.W.8  Muslim Miah is 

the local witness who was declared hostile. P.W. 9 Md. Jashim Uddin is the Investigating 

Officer. 

 

6. P.W. 1 Ranjit Mojumder stated that while convict  Md. Nasir Mia was on police 

remand in connection with Brahmanbaria Police  Station Case No.  22 dated 13.06.2005 

under section  392 on the basis of G.D entry No.  530 dated 09.08.2005, he along with police 

force and convict petitioner at 19.55 pm went to the house of convict Md. Nasir Mia situated 

at village Atla of Brahmanbaria Thana. On the basis of information given by the convict 

petitioner he along with the police force  raided the east facing tin-shed  dwelling-house of 

the convict petitioner and in presence of  the witnesses and the Constable No.269 Abu Taher 

recovered  one U.S. made revolver and two round cartridges kept under the bedding  of 

Chowki and  prepared the seizure list. P.W. 1 proved the seizure list as exhibit-1. During the 

trial, the recovered revolver was exhibited and proved as material exhibit No. 1 and the two 

rounds of cartridges was proved as material exhibit No. 2 series.  P.W. 1 proved the F.I.R. 

and he also proved his signature as exhibit No. 2/ 1. During cross-examination in reply to a 

question put to P.W.1, he stated that before recovery of arms the convict petitioner was taken 

on police remand, but he could not say how many days he was in custody before recovery of 

the arms. He also stated that Hannan member was present at the time of recovery of arms at 

the place of occurrence. He denied the suggestion that no arms and cartridges were recovered 

from the dwelling hut of the convict petitioner. He also denied the suggestion that since there 
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was an enmity between the neighbor of the convict petitioner and his wife, he falsely 

implicated the convict petitioner in this case. 

 

7. P.W. 2 Abdul Hai stated that on 09.01.2005 police recovered one revolver and two 

cartridges from the house of the convict petitioner kept under the bedding. He proved his 

signature put in the seizure list which was marked as exhibit-1 and 2. He also identified the 

recovered arms and cartridges.  During cross-examination, he stated that his house was 

situated far from the house of  Nazma, wife of convict petitioner and police taken him to the 

place of occurrence. He also stated that while he went to the house of convict petitioner,  he 

found the door open and he stayed at the place of occurrence for about  ½  an hour. He denied 

the suggestion that no arms were recovered from the possession of the convict petitioner.  

 

8. P.W.3 Teleb Ali Bhuiyan, inhabitant of village Atla, stated that on 09.08.2005 at about  

8.00 pm police recovered one revolver and two cartridges from the house of convict Md. 

Nasir Mia kept under the bedding and he proved the seizure list and his signature put on the 

seizure list. On recall, during cross-examination P.W.3 stated that  Kashem, Barik and many 

other neighbors of convict  Md. Nasir Mia  were present at the time of occurrence and  he 

was present at the shop of Abdur Mia and at about 7.30 pm he went to the place of 

occurrence and stayed there about ½ an hour and he also entered into the house of Md. Nasir 

Mia and at that time police personnels were also present there along with  Md. Nasir Mia. He 

denied the suggestion that no arms and cartridge were recovered from the possession of the 

convict petitioner.  

 

9. P.W. 4 Abdul Hannan of village Atla stated that on 09.08.2005 at about  8.00 pm 

police recovered one revolver and two cartridges from the house of convict Md. Nasir Mia 

kept under the bedding. He proved his signature put in the seizure list which has been marked 

as exhibit-1/4 and he identified the seized arms and cartridges. He admitted that the place of 

occurrence is the house of the wife of convict Md. Nasir Mia and his house was situated 

about ½ a kilometer far from the house of Md. Nasir Mia. He also stated that at about  7.30 

pm he went to the place of occurrence. He affirmed that he is a member of local Union 

Parishad and he along with police and convict Md. Nasir Mia entered the house of the wife of 

convict Md. Nasir Mia. He denied the suggestion that no arms and ammunition were 

recovered in his presence from the possession of the convict petitioner. 

 

10. P.W.5 Constable No. 269 Abu Taher stated that on 09.08.2005 at about 9.30 pm he 

along with police force went to the house of convict Md. Nasir Mia of village Atla and at 

about  10 to 11 pm as per showing of convict Md. Nasir Mia, he recovered one revolver and 

two cartridges kept under the bedding of chowki and at that time he was present inside the 

hut and in his presence the informant prepared the seizure list. He proved his signature which 

has been marked as  exhibit-1/5. In cross-examination in reply to a question  put to P.W.5, he 

stated that  at evening  he started  from thana and while he reached  at the place of 

occurrences, he saw  that the doors of the house  is closed and he  and the police force opened 

the door and 8/9 locals including Union Parishad member came at the place of occurrence. 

He denied the suggestion that convict petitioner was not aware of the recovered arms and 

cartridges.  

 

11. P.W. 6 Constable No. 970 Ajit Kumar Sarkar stated that on  09.05.2005, he along 

with S.I. Ranjit Mojumder and police force went to the house of convict Md. Nasir Mia of 

village Atla and at about  19.55 pm he recovered one revolver and two cartridges from his 

house kept under the bedding. He identified recovered arms in Court. In cross-examination, 
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he stated that he started at 17.50 pm from thana and after 3 and ½  an hour he reaches at 

village  Atla. He denied the suggestion that the place of occurrence is not the house of convict 

Md. Nasir Mia. He affirmed that he found  Hannan member, Taleb Ali and  50/60 locals at 

the place of occurrence. He denied the suggestion that the convict petitioner was falsely 

implicated in this case.  

 

12. P.W.7 Md. Imtiaz Ahmed, Inspector of Police, D.B stated that he along with S.I. 

Ranjit Mojumder and police force on 09.08.2005 on the basis of G.D Entry No. 530 at about  

17.50 pm started for village Atla  by a Government pickup. At about  19.55 pm they reached 

at the  house of   Nazma Begum  and in presence  of the local members and the  respectable  

persons  as per  showing of convict petitioner recovered  one 32 bore revolver and 2 

cartridges  from the east  facing  tin-shed dwelling  hut of the convict kept under the bedding 

in the polythene bag and in presence of the  witnesses police prepared the seizure list. During   

cross-examination, he admitted that  convict petitioner  was on remand before recovery of the 

arms and Nazma Begum, wife of convict Md. Nasir Mia is the owner of the house wherefrom 

the arms and cartridges were recovered. He also affirmed that the house of convict petitioner 

and his wife is the same house. He denied the suggestion that before one month of occurrence 

convict Md. Nasir Mia was detained at Brahmanbaria Thana and at the instance of his local 

enemy, he falsely implicated him in this case. He affirmed that it was a dark night while the 

arms were recovered and he did not enter into the house wherefrom the arms were recovered, 

but stated that the respectable persons of the locality went to the place of occurrence along 

with the informant.  He also denied the suggestion that no arms and cartridges were recovered 

from the possession of the convict petitioner.  

 

13. P.W.8 Muslim Mia is the inhabitant of village Atla wherefrom the alleged arms were 

recovered and convict Md. Nasir Mia is his neighbor. P.W. 8 was declared hostile. During the 

cross-examination, he stated that convict Md. Nasir Mia resides in the house of his wife at 

village Atla. He also stated that he does not know as to whether there is any local enemy of 

the convict petitioner.  

 

14. P.W. 9 S.I. Md. Jashimuddin  is the Investigating Officer and he stated that  during 

investigation  of the  case  he prepared the sketch map and index and recorded statement  of 

witnesses and after investigation he found  prima-facie truth of  the allegation made in the 

F.I.R  and submitted charge sheet against the convict petitioner  under section  19A and 19(f) 

of the Arms Act, 1878. 

 

15. Mr. Jahangir Ahmed Khan, the learned Advocate appearing on behalf of the convict 

Md. Nasir Mia submits that he was falsely implicated in the instant case at the instance of the 

police in connivance with his local rivals and he is also not the owner of the house wherefrom 

the alleged arms and cartridges were recovered. He further submits that at the relevant time 

the convict petitioner was in police remand and showing false recovery of arms the police 

falsely implicated him in the instant case. He also submits that the sentence imposed by the 

trial Court is too harsh and for ends of justice  the impugned judgment  and order of 

conviction and sentence is liable to be quashed. 

 

16. Mr. Monjur Kader, the learned Deputy Attorney General appearing on behalf of the 

state submits that   P.Ws. 2,3 and 4  who were present at the time of recovery of arms are 

locals and they also corroborated the evidence of P.Ws.1, 5,6 and 7 who were police 

personnel and there is no legal ground for quashing the judgment and order of conviction and 

sentence passed by the trial Court against the convict petitioner.  
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17. The issue involved  in the Rule as to whether  the prosecution successfully proved the 

charge against the  convict petitioner  under section  19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878 

and further question involved  as to whether  under section 561A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure, 1898  this Court is authorized  to review  the sentence  passed by the trial Court.  

 

18. To answer the points raised, it is required to quote the provision of section 561A of 

the Code of Criminal Procedure which runs as follows;  

“Nothing in this  Code shall be deemed  to limit or affect  the inherent power of the 

High Court Division  to make such orders as may be necessary to  give  effect  to any 

order under  this Code, or to prevent  abuse  of the process of any Court or otherwise 

to secure  such  the ends of justice.” 

 

19. On a careful reading of the provision of section 561A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure it is found that  by inserting  section  561A in the Code the legislature  did not  

confer any new power to the Court  to bypass or override any  other statutory provision and 

this Court is not legally authorized to assess the evidence like an appellate court. On perusal 

of the evidence if this Court finds that there is no legal evidence to connect the convict with 

the charge framed against him then this Court to secure the ends of justice is competent to 

quash the judgment  and order of conviction  and sentence passed by the  trial Court. If there 

is sufficient evidence against the convict it would not be just and proper to exercise its 

jurisdiction to quash the judgment and order of conviction and sentence passed by the trial 

Court. 

 

20. On perusal of the evidence, it transpires that  P.W.1 Ranjin Mojumder along with  

P.Ws. 5,6,7 and police force went to the house of convict Md. Nasir Mia on 09.08.2005 at 

about 19.55 pm and in presence of local witnesses recovered one 3.2 bore revolver and two 

cartridges from the east facing tin-shed dwelling hut of the convict petitioner kept under the 

bedding of Chowki.  P.Ws. 2,3 and 4 who are locals also corroborated the evidence of P.W.1. 

P.W. 4 Abdul Hannan is the local member of the Union Parishad. During the trial, P.W 5 

Police Constable No. 269 Abu Taher, P.W. 6 Constable No. 970 Ozid  Kumar Sarker  and 

P.W. 7 Inspector of Police Md. Imtiaz Ahmed also corroborated the evidence of  P.W.1 as 

regards recovery of arms from the possession of the convict Md. Nasir Mia. P.W. 8 was 

declared hostile by the prosecution, but during cross-examination, he affirmed that convict 

Md. Nasir Mia resides along with his wife at village Atla wherefrom the alleged arms were 

recovered. The defence cross-examined all the P.Ws but failed to bring out any material 

contradiction as regards statement made  in examination in chief regarding recovery of arms 

from possession of convict petitioner.  

 

21. Section  561A was inserted in the Code by the Code of Criminal Procedure( 

Amendment )  Act, 1923( XVIII of 1923) and after that the Privy Council in the  Case of  

Emperor  vs Khwaja Nazir Ahmed reported in AIR(1945) PC 18 examined the inherent  

power of this Court under section 561A and observed that; 

“It has sometimes been thought that 561A has given increased powers to the Court 

which it did not possess before that Section was enacted. But this is not so, the section 

gives no new powers, it only provides that those which the Court already inherently 

possess shall be preserved and is inserted as their Lordships think, lest it should be 

considered that only powers possessed by the Court are those expressly conferred by 

the Criminal Procedure Code and that no inherent powers had survived the passing of 
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the Act.” (1944) LR 71, I.A.203, 212, Privy Council, King Emperor vs Khawaja Nazir 

Ahmed. [As quoted in AIR 1963(SC)447] 

 

22. In the case of Md. Samiullah vs State reported in 15 DLR(SC)(1963)150, the 

Supreme Court  of Pakistan examined the inherent power of the Court under section  561A of 

the Code of Criminal Procedure as regards  alteration  and modification  of the sentence 

passed by the  trial Court and  held as  under;  

“The jurisdiction under Sec. 561A of the Criminal Procedure Code is, in our opinion, 

of an extraordinary nature intended to be used only in extraordinary cases where there 

is no other remedy available. It is of a limited scope and cannot be utilised where 

there is another express remedy provided by the Code of Criminal Procedure. In the 

exercise of the inherent jurisdiction under this section the High Court can neither 

exercise the powers of a Court of appeal nor can it enhance a sentence nor can it even 

re-consider the question of sentence.”  

 

23.  In the case of Abdul Quader Chowdhury and others and the state reported in 28 

DLR (AD)38 our Apex Court after elaborate discussion of the provision of section 561A 

of the Code of Criminal procedure,1898 made some category of cases where this Court 

can exercise its jurisdiction under the said section and observed in the following terms; 
“ a) some categories of cases may also be indicated where the inherent jurisdiction 

can and should be exercised for quashing the proceeding. There may be cases where it 

may be possible for the High Court to take the view that the institution or continuance 

of criminal proceedings against an accused person may amount to the abuse of the 

process of the Court or that the quashing of the impugned proceedings would secure 

the ends of justice. If the criminal proceedings in question are in respect of an offence 

alleged to have been committed by an accused person and it manifestly appears that 

there is a legal bar against the institution or continuance of the said proceedings the 

High Court would be justified in quashing the proceedings on that ground.  

b) Cases may also arise where the allegations in the first Information Report or the 

complaint even if they are taken at their face value and accepted in their entirety, do 

not constitute the offence alleged, in such cases no question of appreciating evidence 

arises, it is a matter merely of looking at the complaint or the First Information Report 

to decide whether the offence alleged is disclosed or not. In such cases, it would be 

legitimate for the High Court to hold that it would be manifestly unjust to allow the 

process of the criminal court to be issued against the accused person.  

c) The third category of cases in which the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court can be 

invoked may also arise. In cases falling under this category the allegations made 

against the accused person do constitute an offence alleged but there is either no legal 

evidence adduced in support of the case or the evidence adduced clearly or manifestly 

fails to prove the charge, In dealing with this class of cases it is important to bear in 

mind the distinction between a case where there is no legal evidence or where there is 

consistent with the accusation made and cases where there is legal evidence which on 

its appreciation may not support the accusation in question. In exercising the 

jurisdiction under section 561A the High Court would not embark upon an inquiry as 

to whether the evidence in question is reliable or not. That is the function of the trial 

Magistrate and ordinarily, it would not be open to any party to invoke the High 

Court’s inherent jurisdiction and contend that on a reasonable appreciation of the 

evidence the accusation made against the accused would not be sustained. Broadly 

speaking that is the nature and scope of the inherent jurisdiction of the High Court 

under section 561A in the matter of quashing criminal proceedings.  
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24. In the case of Golam Rasul vs Habibubullah Shakir reported in 20 BLC(AD) 58, 

Judgment dated 11.06.2013 our Apex Court considering the other decisions of the Apex 

Court as regards jurisdiction under section 561A of the Code of Criminal procedure observed 

in the following terms; 

“The exercise of jurisdiction under inherent power as envisaged under section 561A 

of the Code of Criminal procedure to have the criminal proceedings quashed is an 

exception rather than a rule and the case for quashing must be treated as rarest of rare 

cases so that it can’t scuttle or bury a prosecution case on flimsy and unfounded 

reasons. The High Court Division though, is clothed with inherent power to quash a 

proceeding or to make such order or orders as may be necessary for the ends of justice 

that power should be exercised in appropriate case, sparingly and cautiously but in the 

above case the High Court Division on a flimsy ground quashed the proceeding of a 

Criminal Case which is liable to be knocked down by this Division. “  

 

25. In the case of Mir Mohammad. Ali vs The State, Judgment dated 11
th

 May 

1993.(Special Tribunal Case) , para 10 as regards the jurisdiction of the High court Division   

under section  561A of the Code of Criminal Procedure his Lordship Mr. AKM Sadeque J 

observed in the following term;    

“This section enables the Court to invoke the inherent jurisdiction in order (I) to give 

effect to any order under the Code, or (2) to prevent abuse of the process of any Court 

or (3) otherwise to secure the ends of justice. In the instant case there is no allegation 

that the Tribunal who tried the case was Coram non-judice or that Law of Limitation 

cannot strike down there was any legal bar to try the cases; nor is there any allegation 

of abuse of process of the Court. “ 

 

26. In the referred case his Lordship  Mr. Justice AKM Sadeque echoes the view made in 

the case of Md Salimullah vs the State reported in 15 DLR(SC)150 and further observed that  

“But in the cases under consideration, it is not the provisions under the Code which 

seek to limit the inherent jurisdiction of the Court. It is the law of limitation which 

limits the jurisdiction. In other words, it is the law of limitation and not any provisions 

of the Code that has taken off the cases out of the jurisdiction of the Code sealing 

their fate. Therefore, section 561A of the Code of Criminal Procedure cannot be 

conceived to give the High Court the jurisdiction to retrieve the case from moratorium 

after they have been barred by limitation. The section 561A of the Code of Criminal 

Procedure has not given any new jurisdiction to the High Court to override other laws. 

It is easy to see that this Court cannot have any inherent jurisdiction to strike down the 

law of limitation in t he following terms;“ 

 

27. Subsequently in the case of Jahangir Alam(MD) alias  Zakir vs State reported in  

56DLR(AD)(2004) page 217 our Apex Court  modified the sentence  under section  561A of 

the Code of Criminal Procedure and observed that; 

“ Having regard to the above finding of the  High Court Division, we are of the view 

that the ends of justice will be met if this application is disposed of with modification 

of sentence. Accordingly maintaining the conviction, the sentence is modified to 10 

(ten) years rigorous imprisonment and to a fine of TK.5,000 in default to suffering 

rigorous  imprisonment for 6(six) months more.”  

 

28. Since our Apex Court in the referred case modified the sentence under section 561A 

of the Code of Criminal Procedure, we are of the view that this Court also in an appropriate 
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case is legally authorized to review or modify the sentence passed by the trial Court to secure 

ends of justice.  

 

29. In the instant case, it is found that P.Ws. 2,3 and 4 who are the local respectable 

persons of the locality of the crime site corroborated evidence of P.Ws.1 and 5 to 7 who are 

police personnel as regards recovery of arms from the possession of the convict Md. Nasir 

Mia and their evidence remains unshaken during cross-examination. Therefore, we are of the 

view that the prosecution successfully proved the charge up to the hilt against the convict 

petitioner under section 19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878. In view of the  above, we do 

not find any valid ground for quashing the judgment and order of conviction and sentence 

passed by the  trial Court.  

 

30. As regards sentence, we have found that the trial Court convicted accused Md. Nasir 

Mia under section  19A  and 19(f) of the  Arms Act, 1878 and sentenced him to suffer 

rigorous imprisonment for 14(fourteen) years. We hold that the trial Court rightly convicted 

the accused under section  19A and 19(f) of the Arms  Act, 1878. But so far it relates to the 

sentence we are of the view that theere  is no previous  record  of  commission  of any 

offence  by the  petitioner  and therefore  the  minimum  sentence  may be  imposed  on him.  

Accordingly, we are inclined to modify the sentence passed by the trial Court maintaining the 

conviction under section 19A and 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878.   

 

31. In the result, the Rule is disposed of in the following terms; 

(1) The conviction of the petitioner Md. Nasir Mia under section 19A and 19(f) of the 

Arms Act, 1878  as found and decided by the trial Court is maintained. 

(2) The sentence of 14 (fourteen) years imposed by the trial Court is modified to the 

effect that the petitioner is convicted and sentenced to suffer 10(ten) years rigorous 

imprisonment under section 19A and 7 (seven) years rigorous imprisonment under 

section 19(f) of the Arms Act, 1878. 

(3) Both the sentences shall run concurrently. 

(4) The custody period of the convict petitioner  before  the pronouncement  of  the 

judgment  by the trial Court shall be deducted under section 35A of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure, 1898 from the sentence  as modified above. 

 

32. Send down the lower court records along with a copy of the judgment and order to the 

concerned Court below.   

 

 

 


